

.



PUBLICATIONS OF THE NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH, INC.

NUMBER 26

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS IN THE UNITED STATES

The National Bureau of Economic Research was organized in 1920 in response to a growing demand for scientific determination and impartial interpretation of facts bearing upon economic and social problems. Freedom from bias is sought by the constitution of its Board of Directors without whose approval no report may be published. Rigid provisions guard the National Bureau from becoming a source of profit to its members, directors or officers, or from becoming an agency for propaganda.

Officers

OSWALD W. KNAUTH, Chairman George Soule, Vice-President JOSEPH H. WILLITS, President Shepard Morgan, Treasurer Charles A. Bliss, Executive Secretary

Research Staff

WESLEY C. MITCHELL, Director of Research Arthur F. Burns Frederick R. Macaulay Simon Kuznets Frederick C. Mills Leo Wolman Eugen Altschul, Associate

Directors at Large

OSWALD W. KNAUTH H. W. LAIDLER L. C. MARSHALL GEORGE O. MAY ELWOOD MEAD Shepard Morgan George Soule N. 1. Stone

Directors by University Appointment

EDWIN F. GAY, Harvard Walton H. Hamilton, Yale Harry Jerome, Wisconsin HARRY ALVIN MILLIS, Chicago Wesley C. Mitchell, Columbia Joseph H. Willits, Pennsylvania

Directors appointed by other Organizations

DATID LEIDAI
American Economic Association
LEE GALLOWAY
American Management Association
GEORGE E. ROBERTS
American Bankers Association

M. C. RORTY American Statistical Association ARCE W. SHAW National Publishers Association

National Publishers Association Robert B. Wolp American Engineering Council

RELATION OF THE DIRECTORS

TO THE WORK OF THE NATIONAL BUREAU

OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH

1. The object of the National Bureau of Economic Research is to ascertain and to present to the public important economic facts and their interpretation in a scientific and impartial manner. The Board of Directors is charged with the responsibility of ensuring that the work of the Bureau is carried on in strict conformity with this object.

2. To this end the Board of Directors shall appoint one or more Directors of Research.

3. The Director or Directors of Research shalf submit to the members of the Board, or to its Executive Committee, for their formal adoption, all specific proposals concerning researches to be instituted.

4. No study shall be published until the Director or Directors of Research shall have submitted to the Board a summary report drawing attention to the character of the data and their utilization in the study, the nature and treatment of the problems involved, the main conclusions and such other information as in their opinion will serve to determine the suitability of the study for publication in accordance with the principles of the Bureau.

5. A copy of any manuscript proposed for publication shall also be submitted to each member of the Board. If publication is approved each member is entitled to have published also a memorandum of any dissent or reservation he may express, together with a brief statement of his reasons. The publication of a volume does not, however, imply that each member of the Board of Directors has read the manuscript and passed upon its validity in every detail.

6. The results of an inquiry shall not be published except with the approval of at least a majority of the entire Board and a two-thirds majority of all those members of the Board who shall have voted on the proposal within the time fixed for the receipt of votes on the publication proposed. The limit shall be forty-five days from the date of the submission of the synopsis and manuscript of the proposed publication unless the Board extends the limit; upon the request of any member the limit may be extended for not more than thirty days.

7. A copy of this resolution shall, unless otherwise determined by the Board, be printed in each copy of every Bureau publication.

(Resolution of October 25, 1926, revised February 6, 1933)

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS IN THE UNITED STATES

RALPH C. EPSTEIN

PROFESSOR OF ECONOMICS, UNIVERSITY OF BUFFALO

ASSISTED BY

FLORENCE M. CLARK

A PUBLICATION OF THE NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH IN COOPERATION WITH THE COMMITTEE ON RECENT ECONOMIC CHANGES NEW YORK · 1934

Gokhale Institute of Politics and Economics, Poont 4. COPYRIGHT, 1934, BY NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH, INC., 1819 BROADWAY, NEW YORK, N. Y. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

X:328.73 GA 10409

TYPOCRAPHY: ERNST REICHL PRINTED AND BOUND IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA BY H. WOLFF, NEW YORK .

AUTHOR'S PREFACE

THE data upon which this study mainly rests have been published by the Department of Commerce under the title Source-Book for the Study of Industrial Profits, by the author in collaboration with Florence M. Clark. As pointed out in the Source-Book and at various places in the present volume, the data are statistical samples and as such are subject to certain qualifications. These qualifications are discussed in Chapter 43, which should be consulted by critical readers who wish to examine the statistical bases for many of the conclusions presented in earlier chapters. Attention is called also to the Glossary.

It is not possible here to name all of the persons consulted in connection with the statistical, accounting and other problems encountered in the preparation of both this volume and the basic tables on which it rests. I do wish, however, to make mention of the generosity of Professor. William L. Crum, Mr. George O. May, former Secretary of Commerce Robert P. Lamont, Dr. Julius Klein, Mr. Arch W. Shaw, Dr. Frank M. Surface and Professor Rov B. Kester in having given valuable aid on numerous occasions. Less directly, but also very kindly, the following persons have helped in either the collection or interpretation of the materials: Mr. W. T. Sherwood, Mr. Edward White, Mrs. S. B. Blandy, Professor J. Franklin Ebersole, Mr. George B. Roberts, Mr. Carl Snyder and Mr. Lawrence H. Sloan. I am indebted to Professors Frank H. Knight, Charles S. Tippetts, Shaw Livermore and Mrs. John D. Sumner for criticism of the manuscript (to Mrs. Sumner [vii]

[viii]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

for valuable statistical assistance also), as well as to members of the staff and the Board of Directors of the National Bureau of Economic Research.

The faith of Edwin F. Gay and Wesley C. Mitchell in the ultimate outcome of what at even an early stage was seen to be a difficult and somewhat hazardous undertaking, and their constant support, are largely responsible for the study's completion.

Finally Mrs. Alice W. Herbst and Mrs. Lorna J. Marple are due thanks for their efficient services in helping to prepare the manuscript for press. The debt to Miss Clark throughout the entire course of the investigation is evident from the title page.

R. C. E.

CONTENTS

_

3

The Problem of Measuring Profits, a Preliminary Note by Wesley C. Mitchell

Воок І

THE BROAD FINDINGS

1	An Introductory Summary	31
2	A General View of Industry	49
3	Earnings Rates in Different Industries	70
4	Return upon Sales in Different Industries	114
5	Size and Geographical Location of Corporations	128
6	Cyclical Fluctuations in Profits	144
7	Cyclical Fluctuations (Continued)	161

Воок II

EARNINGS OF LARGE CORPORATIONS

8	Introduction	209
9	Manufacture and Its Major Groups	216
10	Foods and Food Products	246
11	Textiles and Textile Products	252
12	Leather and Leather Products	258
13	Rubber and Rubber Products	262
14	Lumber and Lumber Products	266
15	Paper and Paper Products	270
16	Printing and Publishing	274
17	Chemicals	278
18	Stone, Clay and Glass	283
19	Metals	287
20	Special Manufacturing Industries	295
	_ [ix]	

[x]		INDUSTRIAL	PROFITS
21	Trade and Its Major Groups		300
22	Retail Trade		313
23	Wholesale Trade		318
24	Retail and Wholesale Trade		323
25	Mining and Its Minor Groups		327
26	Finance and Its Minor Groups	3	337

Book III

EARNINGS OF SMALL CORPORATIONS

27	Introduction	349
28	Manufacture and Its Major Groups	353
29	Foods and Food Products	371
30	Textiles and Textile Products	378
31	Leather and Leather Products	384
32	Rubber and Rubber Products	390
33	Lumber and Lumber Products	394
34	Paper and Paper Products	400
35	Printing and Publishing	406
36	Chemicals	412
37	Stone, Clay and Glass	418
38	Metals	424
39	Special Manufacturing Industries	430
40	Trade and Its Major Groups	436
41	Retail Trade	442
42	Wholesale Trade	44 7

Book IV

PROBLEMS OF ESTIMATION AND

.

INTERPRETATION

43	Problems of Sampling and Weighting	455
44	Comparison of Minor Group Samples	496
45	The Valuation of Assets: Capitalization Problems	524
46	Problems of Classification	548
47	Profits and the Regulation of Production	577

CONTENTS	[xi]
Glossary	595
Appendices	
A Explanations of Methods Used in Preparing Certain	
Charts and Tables	601
B Absolute Data Underlying Certain Charts and Tables	611
C Supplementary Frequency Distributions	649
D Block Diagrams of Earnings Rates	654
List of Tables	659
List of Charts	
Index	671

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS IN THE UNITED STATES

THE PROBLEM OF MEASURING PROFITS

A Preliminary Note by Wesley C. Mitchell¹

THIS book is one of the series which has resulted from the cooperation of the Committee on Recent Economic Changes and the National Bureau of Economic Research. The publication of the two volumes on Recent Economic Changes carried the study of a major business cycle through its upward phase. This report provided a point of departure for the investigation of the complex and remarkable economic processes which the next phase, the ensuing depression, revealed. The opportunity thus afforded and the urgent need to interpret the phenomena of the depression decided the Committee to continue its explorations. It wished to examine, against the background of the research presented in Recent Economic Changes, the perplexing inter-acting factors of the depression itself, and to develop a rationale for the comprehension and appraisal of these factors. The comparative aspects of the situation, the contrast of post-War and pre-War changes, were illuminated by F. C. Mills in Economic Tendencies in the United States. In Strategic Factors in Business Cycles J. M. Clark provided an analysis of the broad relationships of the various causal factors. The present study is directed to the dynamic factor the varia-

[3]

¹Three Directors of the National Bureau, Messrs. George O. May, George E. Roberts and Malcolm C. Rorty have given generous help to the writer of this note. He is heavily indebted also to Professors Ralph C. Epstein, Frederick C. Mills and Horace Secret as well as to Mr. Solomon Fabricant.

tions of which dominate the direction and extent of business enterprise, viz., profits.

Like other studies in the series, this one was made possible through funds contributed by the Rockefeller Foundation, the Economic Club of Chicago, the Carnegie Corporation and a group of socially-minded citizens. To these and specifically to the members of the Committee on Recent Economic Changes: Arch W. Shaw, *Chairman;* Renick W. Dunlap; William Green; Julius Klein; John S. Lawrence; Dr. Max Mason; Honorable A. C. Miller; Lewis E. Pierson; John J. Raskob; Samuel W: Reyburn; Louis J. Taber; Daniel Willard; Clarence M. Woolley; Owen D. Young; E. E. Hunt, Secretary; grateful appreciation is expressed.

Business profits are one of the hardest kinds of income to measure. Any business enterprise should be able to state accurately the sums that it has paid out in the course of a year as wages, interest and rents; it should be able to state also what income it has paid out to its owners. But the profits of the enterprise itself are not definite sums fixed by past transactions. On the contrary, they are appraisals of net changes in the position and prospects of the business as a whole—appraisals that look forward to the uncertain future as well as back to the irrevocable past. Like all mixtures of past history and future anticipations, statements of profits are necessarily subject to variable margins of uncertainty.

Besides ascertaining the difference between actual receipts for whatever the business has sold and actual payments for whatever commodities and services the business has bought, the accountant who is estimating income must put values upon all the property belonging to the business. What will the raw materials, goods in process and finished products realize when sold? What part of the accounts receivable

[4]

THE PROBLEM OF MEASURING PROFITS [

will prove uncollectable? What will the holdings of shares in other business enterprises be worth? If the enterprise owns franchises, patents or other income-bearing rights, what allowances should be made for their approaching termination? At what rate is the physical plant depreciating? Is it becoming obsolete faster than it is wearing out? Are there wasting assets for which a depletion charge should be made? Has the business other properties, such as lands or long-term contracts, that are growing more valuable or less valuable? What part of the profits flows from current operations such as will probably be continued and what part from 'capital gains and losses', such as the sales of securities owned by an enterprise, or the redemption of its own obligations at less than face value? Is the profits estimate to be made on the assumption that the enterprise will continue in business, or on the assumption that it will liquidate its affairs?

Questions like these call not only for technical skill but also for good judgment. Hence statements of profits are affected both by accounting methods and by the optimistic or pessimistic light in which the future is viewed at the time when the accounts are made up. So important a matter as making allowance for depreciation was often neglected by American corporations in the pre-War days and some inadequacy in this respect may still persist.² The

[5]

² In testifying before the Federal Trade Commission, March 22, 1918, Mr. George O. May, who had practiced accounting in this country a little over twenty years, said: "... in the early days of my experience here I lost a great deal of work because I refused to sign accounts as being correct unless they provided for depreciation." He thought the development of proper practice in this respect had been "more or less general ... during the last ten or twelve years." This development he attributed to the influence of public accountants, to the Federal Trade Commission and even more to the Federal tax upon corporation profits adopted in 1909. See *Testimony before the Federal Trade Commission to Determine the Maximum Selling Price of Newsprint Paper*, Price, Waterhouse and Co., New York (no date), pp. 2, 25, 26.

influence exercised by business 'sentiment' upon profit statements is harder to gauge; but no one who compares the reports issued by corporations to their stockholders in January 1929 and January 1933 can doubt that this factor also affects the figures, though its influence may be hidden among the data used by the accountants in making valuations.

It follows that a statistician who is trying to measure profits must be critical of his basic data. It is risky to compare income statements from American companies in pre-War years with statements drawn up since public accountants and the Federal income tax have done their educational work. Even in dealing with recent statements, the statistician cannot take it for granted without inquiry that the figures are proper. The basis on which the valuations in the income statement (as contrasted with the records of actual transactions) have been made may be open to question. Another question concerns the line between profits and other types of income. Sometimes the partners in a firm or the executives of a corporation draw salaries less than they might command on a strictly commercial basis, and the 'profits' reported contain part of the 'wages of superintendence'. Sometimes the executives get compensation larger than they could obtain from corporations in which their stock holdings were relatively small, so that the ('profits' are understated. If an attempt is made to discriminate between pure profits and interest, the investigator must ask what amount of capital has been invested in the business and what is a proper rate of interest to allow. Even when no such line is drawn, the amount of the investment must be ascertained if rates of return are to be found. Finally since profits as figured in practice depend partly on accruals and deferred items, a competent income statement drawn up at the end of a year may turn out to be seriously in error.

[6]

Unforeseen changes in collections, in prices, in competitive conditions, in market demand, in replacement costs may raise or lower the values set upon the receivables, the inventory of stock on hand, the securities owned and even the physical plant. No doubt these changes will affect the next year's accounts, but new errors of forecast may vitiate this statement in its turn. A minutely accurate record of profits cannot be made up until the last transaction in the life of a business has been completed, and by that time the earlier records are likely to have disappeared!

How grave the inaccuracies of business income statements really are no one can say. Probably they are subject to a secular decline and to cyclical fluctuations; at a given time they must vary widely from enterprise to enterprise and may vary somewhat from industry to industry. The relative size of the items upon which an accounting valuation has to be placed and of the items that are matters of record is a crucial point. Often the valuation items are relatively few and susceptible of fairly accurate estimate, so that the margin of error in the profits reported for a given year can be kept narrow. Moreover, a statistician may claim that in a large sample of income statements there will be more or less offsetting of unduly liberal against unduly conservative figures.

It is pedantic, however, to treat profit statements as if their significance depended wholly upon their accuracy. To take that view would be to misconceive the role that profit statements play in modern life. They are made primarily as guides to future action. However difficult the task and uncertain the result, every business man who wishes to plan intelligently must make periodical attempts to ascertain whether his past policies have been successful, where they have left him at the moment, and what his prospects seem to be. Perfect accuracy is not attainable, but for working purposes it is not required—a fair approximation serves most practical needs. Anyone who wishes to get some insight into modern economic life must accept this situation as it is. The profits reported by business enterprises influence directly the policies of the enterprises themselves, of bankers and of investors; indirectly they influence the fortunes of the whole community. These influences are not diminished by the possibility that the reports of profits may turn out later to have been decidedly over-optimistic on the whole or over-pessimistic. Hence the uncertainties attendant upon all statements of profits do not lessen the practical importance or the theoretical interest of collecting and analyzing whatever sample statements can be had.

A second difficulty in the way of measuring business profits is that they are the most variable of the income streams. An individual's income from wages cannot fall more than 100 per cent; the profits of a business enterprise may, and often do, turn into losses. The National Bureau's latest estimates of national income paid to individuals show a fall of 40 per cent between 1929 and 1932; wage disbursements in the industries for which proper data are obtainable fell 60 per cent.⁸ But according to another National Bureau study, based upon the figures of the Internal Revenue, the aggregate net income of all corporations in the United States, except tax-exempt and life insurance companies, suffered an even more catastrophic fall in the same period. Net profits of nearly eight billion dollars in 1929 were succeeded by net losses of over three billion in 1931 and of nearly five billion in 1932.4

[8]

^aSee Simon Kuznets, National Income, 1929-32; Bulletin 49 (National Bureau of Economic Research, January 26, 1934), Table 2.

⁴See Solomon Fabricant, Recent Corporate Profits in the United States, Builetin 50 (National Bureau of Economic Research, March 1934), Table 1.

In dealing with certain problems—for example, business cycles—it is necessary to stress these violent fluctuations of profits from one year to the next. But in dealing with other problems it is necessary to work through the short-period oscillations to representative averages covering a longer run. That is clearly the case if one seeks to ascertain what return business enterprises realize over a period upon their investment, or if one asks what price society as a whole pays for the capital employed in supplying its needs.

Ouestions of the latter sort are so often asked that it is well to show in some detail why it is so difficult to answer them. An investigator who attempted to find out what is the average long-run return upon capital invested in Ameri- V can business would need a vast array of data. (1) His sample of profits should cover a considerable term of years, and this term should include average proportions of business-cycle expansions and business-cycle contractions, both of average intensity. (2) Even in the worst years some enterprises make good profits, and even in the best years some enterprises suffer heavy losses. To yield reliable results the sample should contain a fair representation of the successful and of the unsuccessful concerns. Furthermore, the losses which result when businesses conclude particular or final chapters of their life histories by liquidation, sale, or drastic reorganization, are only in small part borne by other going concerns and thus reflected in reduced averages of business profits. The major portion of these losses falls upon individuals and has its effect-substantial, but not readily determinable on the basis of available figures-in reducing the broad average of returns to investors.⁵

The net income referred to is that left after payment of income taxes, but before payment of dividends.

⁶Colonel M. C. Rorty adds this comment: The distinction between the average rate of return of going businesses on their capital investment and the corresponding average returns to investors on the money they supply is,

(3) If the business enterprises included in the sample change materially from year to year, the investigator cannot tell whether a given alteration in profits results from an alteration in the earnings of business at large or from the shifting character of his data. This ambiguity in the results is reduced if it is possible to secure returns from an unchanging list of enterprises. But the ambiguity cannot be wholly eliminated in this way; for business enterprises are most unstable units. Identity of name does not guarantee identity of products, management, or ownership. (4) As the present volume demonstrates more conclusively than any other investigation known to me, profits in certain industries may remain relatively high for years at a time, while profits in other industries remain relatively low. Hence the sample should cover a wide industrial range. Indeed, the sample should cover all important lines of investment if conclusions are to be drawn concerning average rates of profits in the country. (5) While statements of profit in millions of dollars have much importance, they do not show what rate of return a business enterprise gets, or what price society pays for capital, unless the amount of profits is related to the amount of the investment. Therefore, the sample should contain statements concerning the capital used by every enterprise every year, and these statements should separate the capital belonging to the enterprise from capital borrowed. The difficulties of getting reliable figures concerning actual investments need not be enlarged upon. (6) After

perhaps, necessary, owing to the almost insuperable difficulties in the way of determining the magnitude of unreported liquidation and reorganization losses. However, it is important to note that, with this distinction made, an adequate supply of capital for social needs can be assured only if the average of business profits of going concerns is substantially higher than the rate of net return, whatever that may be, which is required to maintain a continuing flow of new money from private investors. The social cost of private capital is determined by the necessary net return to such investors, rather than in terms of the current earnings of going concerns.

[10]

what was said above concerning the difficulty of estimating profits, it is scarcely necessary to add that the investigator would need to assure himself that the methods of accounting used in preparing his original data were sound at the outset of the period covered and that they did not change greatly in later years.

This formidable list of requirements for ascertaining 'the' average long-run rate of profits in all trades does not mean that it is impossible to learn anything valuable about business profits unless carefully audited income statements can be had for an unchanging sample including tens of thousands of successful and unsuccessful enterprises, fairly distributed among all of the industries of a country, continued for decades and supported by reliable records of capital invested. But what can be learned is obviously conditioned by the scope and character of the samples of profit statements that can be collected. The paucity and the indefiniteness of our knowledge of business profits is due to the narrow range or the defective quality of the data that have been available for analysis.

It has been hard enough to secure representative quotations of commodity prices at wholesale over considerable periods. Even today we have few price series for highly fabricated products. In view of the vastly greater difficulties of ascertaining what profits are realized, and the common reluctance to make income statements public, it is not surprising that the volume of properly authenticated data has not been sufficient to establish broad conclusions. But some samples have been available for years.

Governmental supervision led to the compilation and publication of statements concerning the profits of National Banks, later of interstate railroads, and later still of certain other public utilities. Dependence upon the general market

for capital has led a growing list of corporations to publish condensed statements of income: but there has been little assurance that the accounting methods followed were sufficiently uniform to guarantee the comparability of these materials. Similar doubts have limited the usefulness of the data concerning profits in Great Britain that have been compiled for many years by the London Economist. A promising step was taken by Mr. J. E. Sterrett when he published carefully audited reports from 158 industrial companies, largely small manufacturing concerns, for the calendar years 1912 and 1913, or for the fiscal years covering substantially that period. "During this time," Mr. Sterrett held, "business conditions have been generally unfavorable It may, therefore, be assumed that the profits earned . . . have not been more than a fair average" The average annual net profits shown by this sample were 13.67 per cent upon the capital invested.⁶ Unfortunately. the example set by Mr. Sterrett has not been widely imitated. It is true that numerous studies have been made of profits in particular industries; but the periods of time covered, the methods of stating profits, and the adequacy of the samples used have varied so much that it is impossible to make an adequate composite photograph by assembling these individual sketches.7

⁶ The Comparative Yield on Trade and Public Service Investment, American Economic Review, March 1916. Compare the critique of the representative character of Mr. Sterrett's average by M. C. Rorty in Some Problems in Current Economics (Chicago, 1922), pp. 108-10. Many practical business men, says Colonel Rorty, refuse to accept such figures. "They claim that a study of 'going' concerns is meaningless and misleading, and that, if all the legitimate ventures in any competitive industry were followed through from birth to death, with full account taken of all gains and losses, the average earnings on the invested money would very slightly, if at all, exceed the going rate of interest."

⁷As examples of the literature, see the following books, reports and bulletins:

Horace Secrist, The Triumph of Mediocrity in Business (Northwestern University, 1933)

A far more comprehensive sample of American data was started when the Federal government incorporated an excise tax upon corporations having net incomes in excess of \$5,000 per annum in the tariff act of August 5, 1909. The exemption of small incomes was dropped when the excise provision was superseded by the income tax law of 1913. The compilations of income statements required by these laws and by numerous amending statutes have grown into a formally continuous record of the net incomes of all business corporations in the United States during a quarter of a century.

Comprehensive as the income tax data are, they fall short of what is desirable in several important respects. (1) Those types of business which are carried on mainly by individuals or partnerships are under-represented, or even misrepresented by the inclusion of a few non-typical corporations; for example, farming, most of all, repair work, the professions and in considerable degree retail trade. (2) The returns are regularly divided into two groups—corporations reporting net incomes and corporations reporting no

Keith Powlison, Profits of the National Banks (Richard G. Badger, 1931) Ralph C. Epstein, The Automobile Industry (A. W. Shaw, 1928) Laurence H. Seltzer, A Financial History of the American Automobile

Laurence H. Seltzer, A Financial History of the American Automobile Industry (Houghton Mifflin, 1928) Melvin T. Copeland, The Cotton Manufacturing Industry of the United

Melvin T. Copeland, The Cotton Manufacturing Industry of the United States (Harvard Economic Studies, Vol. viii, 1912)

Herbert Müller, Kosten- und Rentabilitätsprobleme im deutschen und amerikanischen Buchdruckereibetrieb (Betrieb und Unternehmung, Band 8, Leipzig, 1930)

Cecil E. Fraser and Georges F. Doriot, Analyzing Our Industries (McGraw-Hill, 1932)

Bureau of Business Research, University of Illinois, The Earning Power Ratios of Public Utility Companies (Bulletin No. 15, 1927)

Federal Trade Commission, A Report on Prices, Profits, and Competition in the Petroleum Industry (70th Cong., 1st Sess., Sen. Doc. No. 61, 1928)

Department of Finance and Accounting, United Typothetae of America, 1932 Ratios for Printing Management (1933, annual)

Bureau of Business Research, Harvard University, Operating Results of Department and Specialty Stores in 1930 (Bulletin No. 85, 1931)

net income. It is not possible to ascertain accurately the aggregate net income of all corporations by subtracting the deficits of the second group from the profits of the first group. For, as has been pointed out by George O. May. there is a certain duplication of losses in the income tax returns which is not offset by a similar duplication of income-this for the reason that the net income figures exclude dividends received from other corporations: but if one corporation loses money and fails, it will report its loss directly, and other corporations which are its creditors or stockholders will also report what they have lost by its failure.⁸ Of course this duplication of losses in the returns varies from year to year, being a much more serious matter in 1921 and 1932, for example, than in 1919 and 1929. (3) Changes in the law and in administrative rulings have affected the amount of profits reported in successive years.

During the period of the excess-profits tax (1917-21) profits were affected by several unusual factors. For example, war contracts were let in many cases on highly profitable terms, with the thought in mind that a major fraction of the profits would be recouped through the tax. On the other hand, large sums were spent upon advertising or other plans for future expansion and charged as current expenses.

One of the chief reasons why the profits reported in 1917 were so much larger than in 1918 is that in the former year the tax was retroactive. Hence there was less opportunity in 1917 than in 1918 to enter into transactions which would reduce taxable income. In comparing 1917 with later years, it should be noted also that the law has been made more liberal to the taxpayer in important respects; for instance, by allowing discovery depletion and by increasing depletion

⁸See the footnote in *Recent Economic Changes in the United States* (National Bureau of Economic Research, 1929), II, 854-5.

[14]

THE PROBLEM OF MEASURING PROFITS [15]

allowance at large." (4) The classification of the returns is inadequate. For example, the classification by size of net income has varied from year to year, it is not available for 1919 and 1924, and is not crossed upon the classification by industrial groups. The latter classification is not carried out in sufficient detail to answer many important questions. There is no classification by total assets (except in 1931), capital, gross income, net income (except in 1926), or any other criterion indicating the size of the corporations. (5) The taxable net income reported excludes certain items that an accountant or an economist would include in profits; particularly, dividends received from other corporations and interest upon tax-exempt bonds. In one of the following chapters, an attempt to ascertain the relative magnitude of these items is made. They appear to run on the average about one-ninth of the taxable net income reported to the government. (6) While the official reports show by 'major industrial divisions' the assets and liabilities of most corporations, a considerable number do not submit balance sheets, and no attempt is made in the reports preceding 1931 to relate the amount of the net incomes to the amount of capital invested. (7) The corporations included in the tables change from year to year. Corporations that have been wound up by bankruptcy or amalgamation disappear from the list; newly-formed corporations appear. A corporation that one year appears in the group reporting net income may shift next year to the group reporting deficits, and the year after may reappear in the first group. A student of the returns has no means of knowing what part of the fluctuations in profits is due to these changes in the corporations reporting and in the way they are classified.

[•] The same. Compare the official statement of 'Changes in the revenue acts affecting the comparability of statistical data from income tax returns of corporations'; *Statistics of Income for 1929*, pp. 404-7.

As part of its work upon national income, the National Bureau of Economic Research has had to estimate the . profits withdrawn by individuals from business enterprises of which they are sole owners or partners, and the dividends received by stockholders. In some of its estimates it has ventured to include rough figures for corporate surpluses. To attempt a systematic study of business profits is a natural sequel of these earlier efforts. But the difficulty of securing adequate samples of data has delayed that undertaking.

Despite these difficulties, the National Bureau has been able to secure the use of two bodies of sample data upon profits, which, though they fall far short of what is desirable, merit study. One is a small collection of audited statements secured through public-spirited action by the American Institute of Accountants. Income statements and balance sheets covering the years 1927-29 were obtained from 714 corporations. Of these returns the greater part, but not all, were available in full detail for all of the corporations in the list for each of the three years covered. Though no very large corporations were included, the average book assets of the concerns in the sample were between three and four times the average net assets of all corporations submitting balance sheets to the Internal Revenue in the years covered (\$2,244,000 as compared with \$643,000). The average rate of earnings upon the equity of the stockholders during the three years was 9.2 per cent.¹⁰

The second sample, analyzed in this volume, consists of materials made public by the United States Department of Commerce in 1932, when it published in rotoprinted form a Source-Book for the Study of Profits by Ralph C. Epstein in collaboration with Florence M. Clark. While this official report made available to specialists a relatively large collec-

¹⁹ This collection of profits data may be published at a later date.

[16]

THE PROBLEM OF MEASURING PROFITS [17]

tion of data concerning corporate earnings and investments in the fields of manufacturing, trading and finance, it contained no averages and no text aside from a brief prefaceand list of definitions. To work up these materials into a form useful to many people was a task requiring much additional thought and labor, which Professor Epstein undertook at the National Bureau's request.

The basic data underlying the first half of this report include statements for the ten years 1919-28 concerning the incomes and investments of 2,046 manufacturing corporations, 664 trading corporations, 88 mining corporations and 346 financial corporations. In all four groups, the same corporations are represented in each of the ten years covered. This use of strictly identical lists of corporations for a full decade gives the present body of materials a notable advantage over the official Statistics of Income and over the above-mentioned collection of audit reports. In addition, Professor Epstein has three sets of data concerning the profits of relatively small corporations which vary in identity and number from year to year. One of these sets covers a decade while the other two cover 1924-28. The annual number of corporations in the 'non-identical' lists varies from 1,421 to 1,665 in one case, from 406 to 1,118 in a second, and from 1.337 to 1.350 in a third.

All in all, this is the best authenticated and largest collection of data concerning the profits of American business enterprises in numerous non-regulated industries that has been made. Its scope and representativeness are impressive when subjected to detailed examination.

(1) In respect to the time covered, ten years is long enough to permit considerable shifts among investments though of course, a longer series of records would be better. According to the National Bureau's chronology of business cycles, the decade 1919-28 contains 68 months of general

business expansion and 52 months of general business contraction. The durations of expansions and contractions work out 57 and 43 per cent. During the full period covered by our American chronology (1855-1933), the corresponding figures are 53 per cent for expansion and 47 per cent for contraction. Of the three contractions in 1919-28, that of 1920-21 was very severe, that of 1923-24 was of average intensity, and that of 1926-27 was decidedly mild. The expansion of 1919 was feverishly rapid; that of 1921-23 was of more than average vigor; that of 1924-26 was oujeter, and that which began in 1928 did not run to grave extremes by the end of the year, except in stock-exchange and urban real-estate operations.¹¹ On the whole, I think the character of the period gives the sample a slight bias in the direction of over-average profits; but it might be difficult to select any other decade that is more representative of 'long-run' conditions.

(2) A second question concerning the character of the period concerns, not the volume of current earnings, but the ratio of profits to book capital. Doubtless some of the corporations in the sample were in existence before the War. If these corporations did not 'write up' the value of their fixed investments when prices rose in 1915–20, then profits in 1919–28, expressed as percentages of capital invested, would tend to run on high levels. On the other hand, the sample doubtless contains corporations that were established or reorganized with a changed capitalization at various times in 1916–18, when the general level of prices was high. It may contain other corporations that 'wrote up' their fixed investments in 1919–20 to match the advance of prices and earnings. If these corporations did not 'write down' their fixed investments after prices fell in 1920–21,

¹¹ These judgments are based upon the National Bureau's as yet unpublished studies of a large number of economic time series.

[18]

then profits in 1921–28 would form relatively low percentages of the capital invested. How important these two distortions of the percentages are we do not know. That they tend to offset each other is clear, but there may remain a net bias towards high profit ratios or towards low profit ratios.

(3) The lists of identical corporations contain both enterprises having net incomes and enterprises having deficits. But Professor Epstein points out that the proportion of corporations having deficits in most if not all of his lists is substantially lower than the proportion among the corporations reporting to the Internal Revenue. If the latter vastly larger body of returns is fairly representative of average experience, then the present sample tends to over-state profits.¹² Further, the supplemental lists of non-identical corporations contain only enterprises having net incomes and tend to over-state profits for that reason.

(4) The use of reports from the same corporations, year after year reduces one grave doubt concerning the meaning of the variations in profits as reported in the official Statistics of Income. It is true, as said above, that the continuing life of an enterprise is not incompatible with very consider-

¹⁸ See Professor Epstein's critique of his materials in Ch. 43. Colonel M. C. Rorty points out that the use of lists of identical corporations over a series of years has a bias towards exaggerating profits, because it excludes all corporations that go bankrupt within the period covered. When the period extends over a decade, this factor becomes of considerable moment, particularly in the field of trade where, as Professor Epstein remarks, the average life of corporations is relatively short. On the other hand, where fixed investments are large, corporations of considerable size are seldom abandoned, though often reorganized. It may be, however, that large corporations which suffer very heavy losses are more likely to be reorganized under new names and so not to appear in a list of 'identical' encerns.

Of course Professor Epstein's sample excludes concerns coming into existence during his period as well as concerns going out of existence. This exclusion may tend to depress the average profit rates. Compare the remarks of Frederick C. Mills concerning the probable bias in a smaller sample of identical corporations used in his *Economic Tendencies in the United States* (National Bureau of Economic Research, 1932), footnote pp. 144-5. able shifts in the nature of the business carried on. But only those changes in industrial activities which go so far as to call for the shifting of corporations from one group in the classifications used to another group can affect seriously the conclusions drawn. In Chapter 46 Professor Epstein shows that there is no reason to fear grave distortion on this count.

(5) The industries covered include a wide variety of manufacturing; ten branches of retail and eight of wholesale trade; mining and quarrying of coal, oil, metals, stone, salt, clay, sand and gravel; banking of several types and other financial business, except life insurance. No data are presented for farming, construction work, transportation and other public utilities, the practice of professions, commercial amusements, hotels and restaurants. Considerable as is the range of the data, they cannot, of course, be made to reveal the average rate of return upon capital in the United States, except upon the assumption that this average is nearly the same whether the investment is made in one industry or in another. That is an assumption which Professor Epstein shows to be even more untenable than has been supposed.

(6) How high a standard of accounting prevailed among the corporations preparing the returns utilized by the Department of Commerce in its Source-Book for the Study of Profits there is no way of telling. Probably the larger concerns employed skilled auditors; many of the smaller ones may have relied upon their own rather simple bookkeeping. But the earliest of the returns included cover 1919. By that time the Federal income tax upon corporations had been in operation for several years and had brought the advantages of proper depreciation allowances home to all but the most careless of business men. As compared with the data contained in the Statistics of Income, Professor Epstein's results are better in that he includes two substantial items of non-taxable income—dividends of other corporations and tax-exempt bonds. As said above, careful analysis of a portion of the sample indicates that these items increase net corporate incomes by about oneninth.¹³

(7) Another feature of the sample that bears upon its representative character is pointed out by Professor Epstein. All four of his lists of 'identical' corporations show an average size larger than that of the corresponding groups shown by Statistics of Income, For example, the 2,046 corporations in his manufacturing list make up only 2 or 3 per cent of the manufacturing corporations reporting to the Internal Revenue in 1919-28, but they receive from 57 to 66 per cent of the total income. Similarly, the list for trade represents less than 1 per cent of the number of reporting corporations, but about 30 per cent of the income reported in the official income-tax document. The supplementary use of 'non-identical' lists of small corporations engaged in manufacturing and trading redresses the balance in a degree. But Professor Epstein makes clear that his sample represents the earnings of large-scale business more fully than it represents those of small-scale business.

¹¹ If the sample included all corporations much double counting of income would result from the inclusion of inter-corporate dividends, just as double counting in the opposite direction would result from the subtraction of the deficits of corporations that lost money in any year from the profits of corporations that made money. Since the whole sample includes only 3,114 corporations in the 'identical lists', plus at most three or four thousand a year in the 'non-identical' lists, and since 300,000 to 500,000 corporations have reported to the Internal Revenue in successive years from 1919-28, it may seem that double counting of income and losses cannot give rise to serious error. But the proportion of corporations that both receive and pay dividends is probably far higher among the 3,114 corporations of the 'identical lists' than among the three to five hundred thousand that report, and an appreciable sum of profits may appear twice in the sample. Whatever double counting there is does not affect profit rates; for the value of stocks owned by the corporations in the sample are included in the investments upon which the profit rates are figured. (8) It may not be superfluous to add that data concerning the profits of business corporations as going concerns do not show what returns individuals receive upon their investments in corporate shares. To establish upon a statistical basis any conclusions concerning investors' profits would call for data different from those utilized here and a different method of analysis.¹⁴

¹⁴ This distinction, mentioned in an earlier footnote, between the profits of investors in a business and the profits of the business itself seems to be overlooked so often that it requires elaboration.

In good years, the dividends paid to stockholders are likely to be smaller than the current profits of the business; in bad years dividends are likely to be larger than profits; sometimes a corporation pays dividends while it is incurring losses. Besides his dividends, a stockholder may receive 'rights' to subscribe to new issues of stock upon favorable terms-'rights' that he can exercise or sell as he thinks fit. On the other hand, the stockholder may be assessed upon the value of his shares, and so have a negative income from them. Further, the stockholder may make profits for himself, or suffer losses, from the purchase and sale of shares. He may have the value of his shares wiped out wholly or largely by the liquidation of the company or the sale of its assets; on the other hand he may have the value of his shares much enhanced by an amalgamation on favorable terms. Thus the sums received by the stockholders from their investments in a corporation's shares differ from the profits of the corporation and cannot be ascertained from the corporation's books. Likewise the amount invested by the stockholders in their shares differs from the amount invested by the corporation in its business, except perhaps when the corporation is launched or when there is no buying and selling of shares.

Since neither the investments nor the net gains of the stockholders equal the investments or the net profits of the corporation, it is only by accident that the rate of profits made by any investor equals the rate of profits made by the corporation. Suppose that a corporation starts with a cash capital of \$100,000, makes profits of \$20,000, distributes \$10,000 in dividends, and that its shares rise from par to 200. If one of the original stockholders sells at that price, he receives 10 per cent upon his investment plus a capital gain of 100 per cent; but if conditions remain unchanged the new holder will get only 5 per cent upon his investment. Suppose instead that our corporation makes profits of 2 per cent, pays dividends of 1 per cent and that its shares fall from par to 20. Then the original stockholder who sells gets a meager dividend and suffers a heavy capital loss; but the new stockholder who buys at 20 may get 5 per cent upon his investment, like the man who pays 200 for shares in a highly profitable business. Of course the profits and losses of individual investors in business enterprises are related to the profits and losses of the business enterprises in question; but this relation is far from simple.

[22]

THE PROBLEM OF MEASURING PROFITS [23]

What, then, can be learned from this notable collection of data covering the profits of business enterprises?

Though the data do not suffice to show the average longtime earnings of capital in the United States, they throw some light upon that question which many ask and no one can answer with full confidence. Professor Epstein shows conclusively that, within the period and the industrial field covered, his sample is biased in the direction of over-stating

Colonel Rorty offers the following observations:

"The question of the average earnings from diversified investments in the common shares of legitimate business ventures is one that has been debated at great length by investment experts. The majority opinion among such experts is that, even with somewhat more than average skill in selection, a diversified list of investments at 'par' in new ventures will tend to earn less, rather than more, than an equal investment at average market prices in the shares of seasoned companies-or, in other words, that the premium usually paid, above book values, for seasoned shares is no more than an offset to the reduced risk. With respect to seasoned shares, there is also a similar majority opinion, supported by statistical studies, to the effect that the high rates of earnings on common share investments, so extensively advertised during the 'new era', were based on the fallacy of choosing the especially successful companies of a given date and calculating the results from prior investments in such shares. Selections made (as in practice they must be made) of the promising and popular issues of prior dates, when carried forward for a term of years, have shown radically lower rates of return. Long-term studies, covering periods of from 30 to 50 years prior to 1930, indicate that common shares in the United States could be bought, at normal average market levels, to promise returns in cash and stock dividends, rights, etc., averaging between 6 and 7 per cent, before allowance for losses through failures, reorganization and other major adverse developments. Opinions and experience as to the latter losses vary widely. Barring purely speculative profits, or profits due to extraordinary skill in selection, there are, however, few qualified observers who would count on a net return in excess of 6 per cent, and there are many who would set the net figure at 5, or even 4 per cent. These reduced figures correspond to estimates of from 1 to 3 per cent per annum for major losses which are generally unreported in income tax returns and current corporation accounts.

So far as skilled estimates may be relied upon, the preceding figures seem to indicate the range within which the true long-term return on investments in corporation equities may lie, whether such investments be made at 'par' in new ventures, or at a normal average market in seasoned issues. And with very minor adjustments, if any, they would seem to represent, also, the true long-term earnings on the actual investment in corporation equities, after allowance has been made for all reported and unreported losses."

average profits. As said above, the years 1919-28 appear to have been on the whole slightly more favorable to profit making than an average decade drawn from the last eighty years of American experience. More important is the fact that corporations having deficits are not included in the supplemental lists of small 'non-identical' corporations and are under-represented in the lists of large 'identical' corporations; for corporations that survive for ten years or more represent successful, or at any rate large-scale, business rather than average business. Another factor that lifts Professor Epstein's figures for profits above the official returns is the inclusion of dividends from other corporations and interest on tax-exempt bonds. Of course this inclusion is a merit in the sample; but it may well be that large corporations receive a larger percentage of their gross income from such sources than do the under-represented small corporations. If so, that fact does not affect profit ratios; for security holdings make part of the base upon which these ratios are computed.

Unfortunately, we have no means of determining just how much the averages yielded by the sample over-state profit rates. Of course that could be told definitely only if we knew the average long-run rate of earnings upon capital for all enterprises. Comparisons with other samples do not settle the point, but they are interesting. The grand average rate of return which Professor Epstein gets for his 3,144 'identical' corporations in 1919-28 is 9.2 per cent after Federal taxes are deducted. This figure is substantially lower than the average derived by Mr. Sterrett from his small but interesting pre-War sample, namely 13.67 per cent. It happens to be just the same as the average derived from the National Bureau's collection of audit reports for about 700 corporations in 1927-29. It is substantially higher than the average which Professor Epstein himself gets from

the official income tax data for all corporations engaged in manufacturing, trade, finance and mining in 1924-28, namely 6.2 per cent after the deduction of Federal taxes.¹⁵ But even this comparison with the average earnings of over 300,000 corporations for five years does not show how far 9 per cent is above the 'true' average earnings of business enterprises. The five years 1924-28 were a relatively favorable period for profit making-slightly more favorable than the full ten years covered by Professor Epstein's study. The corporations engaged in manufacturing, trade, finance and mining that reported to the Internal Revenue are a changing list varying in number from 315,-340 in 1924 to 359,992 in 1928. Of these changing corporations the vast majority are small concerns. In small corporations the accounting is often defective. On the one hand, allowances for depreciation may be inadequate; on the other hand, part of what should be reckoned as profits may be paid out in salaries. The capital on which the rate of earnings is reckoned excludes capital represented by funded debt. If funded debt be added to capital and interest payments to income, the average returns are reduced a trifle. This new figure for Epstein's 3,144 'identical' corporations after Federal taxes are paid comes out 9.0 per cent in 1924-28, while the corresponding figure for the changing list of corporations reporting to the Internal Revenue comes out 6.1 per cent. And there we must leave the problem.

However, too much stress can be laid upon the search for the 'true' average rate of business profits. If we knew that missing figure, we should have to say that it gives a most inadequate representation of the facts of greatest significance to business men and to the community as a whole.

¹⁰ See Table 1 in Ch. 2. The corresponding figure for Professor Epstein's 3,144 'identical' corporations is 9.4 per cent.
More important than the precise arithmetic or geometric mean of earning rates over a long period of time are the facts that the profits earned by business enterprises as a whole fluctuate violently from year to year, that in every year the returns to different enterprises cover a range running from very high profits to very heavy losses, that certain industries remain relatively profitable and others relatively unprofitable for years at a stretch, and finally that business enterprises stabilize the disbursement of income to individuals in some degree by paying out dividends substantially greater than current profits in bad years.

In a vague and general way these facts have been surmised. But if we are to have the type of knowledge that is most useful to investors, to business executives, to bankers, to public commissions and courts concerned with regulating rates of different types, to accountants, to economists, to legislators and to government officials, we must replace our vague and general impressions as rapidly as may be by definite measurements. This volume makes a significant advance from the realm of personal opinion towards the realm of established fact. The materials here analyzed constitute the largest collection that has been published of wellauthenticated data concerning the profits of the same business enterprises over a considerable period of years. Within their field, the figures show definitely the wide differences in the average profits made by numerous branches of business, the persistence of these differences over a period sufficiently long to admit of large shiftings of investments, the range covered by the profits of individual enterprises in numerous industries, the comparative profits of large, middle-size and small enterprises, the violent fluctuations of profits from phase to phase of business cycles, the differences between profits on the stockholders' equities and the

[26]

THE PROBLEM OF MEASURING PROFITS [27]

returns upon this equity plus funded debt, and the differences in profits before and after the payment of Federal taxes.

The findings presented here can be put to many different uses and construed in various ways. One of their merits is that they raise as many questions as they answer and indicate what further work needs to be done in the field. The publication of Professor Epstein's inquiry should stimulate and guide the collection of larger samples of data concerning profits and the more thorough analysis of existing data.

Βοοκ Ι

THE BROAD FINDINGS

CHAPTER 1

AN INTRODUCTORY SUMMARY

1. PURPOSE OF THE INVESTIGATION

WHAT rates of profit do representative American corporations, large and small, earn upon their capital investments in various branches of manufacture, trade, finance and mining—that is, in fields of enterprise in which competition is relatively free and where there is little public regulation?

Over how wide a range are the profit rates of these going concerns scattered at a given time? In what part of the range is there dense concentration of profit rates?

How do these rates fluctuate from one year to the next?

Do the rates that prevail at a given time in one industry tend to equal the rates that prevail in other industries? Do such differences as appear in one year in the profitableness of various industries tend to disappear shortly, or to maintain themselves for considerable periods?

How do the earnings of individual corporations vary, from good years to bad, in different industries?

Do the larger enterprises in one or another industry earn profits at higher or lower rates than the smaller ones?

Such are the principal questions for which the present investigation seeks answers. The answers are not always complete or final. In some instances they seem to be of definite character; in others, they constitute merely what are believed to be good approximations. But the attentive

[31]

reader will find that estimates and actual figures are clearly distinguished throughout the volume. Upon the whole, the data are more complete for manufacture and trade, and for their various subgroups, than for the two other divisions, finance and mining.

It should be noted that the questions dealt with concern variations in profit rates-variations from year to year. from industry to industry, from small to large concerns, from one corporation to another. To show what these variations are it is convenient to use average rates of profits for the groups treated. Though some of the averages cover over three thousand corporations and a period of ten years. no one should assume that any figure in this book shows the average long-time earnings of all business enterprises in the United States. To guard against such a misconception. as well as to indicate what the results do mean, a detailed examination of the representative value of the samples of data underlying the investigation is made in Book IV. There it appears that the samples yield average profit rates distinctly higher than those realized by all corporations that report to the Bureau of Internal Revenue. But it is no part of the present investigation to determine the grand average rate of profits earned by all business enterprises either in the short or in the long run.

The raison d'être of an investigation into the variations among profits of business corporations scarcely requires extended discussion. In all descriptions of the industrial system it is a commonplace that no set of agencies or individuals consciously controls our economic activities. Despite some degree of 'government in business', business men in the United States, indeed in most countries apart from the highly exceptional instance of Russia, are on the whole free to engage in the production, the market distribution or the financing of whatever commodities or services seem

[32]

to promise an attractive return upon the capital invested. Not only are men free to choose what products they will [make or sell, but also the amount of each commodity that is offered, per day, per month, per year, is left entirely to the decisions of the individual entrepreneurs responsible for its production. That is to say, neither the fixing of specific sales quotas nor the allocation of productive equipment is undertaken by the community itself. Rather is reliance placed upon the unconscious and spontaneous working of the twin forces of price and profit as the instrument of production control. If too much of one product is offered for sale—so runs the common explanation of the operation of this mechanism—its price will fall. Profits in that branch of manufacture or trade will therefore shrink, and production will be contracted until a happy balance is restored. Conversely, an undersupply of any one commodity is supposed to cause a rise of price and an enhancement of profit 1 which lead to an expansion of output. The phrase employed may be 'a balancing of demand and supply', 'an equation', or 'an equilibrium'; but from Adam Smith to Alfred Marshall, this concept of prices and profits as the controlling mechanism that regulates production is fundamentally the same. Under a free economic system it is supposed that men unconsciously and automatically supply one another's wants by varying the relative output of this or that commodity or service in accordance with the comparative rates of net return to be made in the several fields of business enterprise.

To make this mechanism work rapidly and precisely, it would be necessary that (1) business men should have accurate information about the profits realized in all branches of enterprise; (2) capital which had been invested in trades that yield less than average returns could be withdrawn quickly; and (3) no obstacles should hinder

the investment of additional capital in trades that yield profits above the average. Since these conditions have never existed, 'the tendency of profits to an equality' in different branches of industry has been a speculative tenet. How far that 'tendency' has been realized in practice has been a matter of opinion and opinions have varied. Some economists have written as if, over a wide field, business men can make fairly reliable estimates of the profits in different trades, as if sufficient capital can be withdrawn from unfortunate investments to restrict supply and raise prices to a profitable level rather promptly, and as if the hindrances to the investment of fresh capital in flourishing trades, either by those already engaged or by newcomers, are not sufficiently serious to prevent the reduction of prices and profits within a relatively short time. Other economists have hedged about their statement of the 'tendency' towards an equalizing of profits with such careful qualifications that it is difficult to determine what they think concerning actual conditions.¹

To all who are concerned with the functioning of our economic organization, whether as men of affairs, government officials or investigators, the question of prime importance is the question of what happens in fact. Do the earnings of different industries really cluster closely about some central or average figure, over a period of time? Does competition so function in the industrial system that the differences in earnings rates during any one year are only temporary? That it does so function has often been challenged; but heretofore sufficient data to give a convincing

[34]

¹ It is interesting to compare the rather bold statements of Adam Smith (*Wealth of Nations*, Book I, Ch. X) with the more cautious exposition of John Stuart Mill (*Principles of Political Economy*, Book II, Ch. XV) and with the elaborately guarded discussion of Alfred Marshall (*Principles of Economics*, 8th ed., Book VI, Ch. VIII).

answer have not been available.² A comprehensive body of materials that has been developed in the Department of Commerce,⁸ however, affords a basis for more complete answers to the several questions involved, and the findings obtained through the analysis of those and other data are presented in this volume.⁴

2. CHARACTER OF THE INQUIRY

Book I gives the principal facts and conclusions, which Books II and III develop more fully. Doubtless the busi-

^a William L. Crum, Corporate Earning Power (1929), presents data for the net return on gross revenues over a considerable period, while Lawrence H. Sloan, Corporation Profits (1929), analyzes the return upon investment for specific industrial companies and groups in 1926 and 1927. Other investigators-J. E. Sterrett, J. P. Müller, David Friday, J. H. Bliss and S. H. Nerlove-have discussed the return upon invested capital, but not for both a ten-year period and for the numerous subdivisions of industry designated in the present volume as 'specific industries' or 'minor groups'. Nerlove's A Decade of Corporate Incomes (1932) covers the period 1919-29. Raymond T. Bowman, The Statistical Study of Profits (1934), discusses the frequency distributions of earnings rates in a wide number of industries, utilizing data developed by the Federal Trade Commission, the Department of Commerce, and other agencies. Other writers, Lucille Bagwell, Horace Secrist, and most recently Leland Rex Robinson (Corporate Earnings on Share and Borrowed Capital in Ratios of Gross Income, American Statistical Association Journal, March 1934) have made illuminating contributions to the subject of earnings ratios, but have not had available comprehensive data for specific sub-branches of industry, or what in the present volume are termed 'minor groups'.

^aRalph C. Epstein, in collaboration with Florence M. Clark, *A Source-Book for the Study of Industrial Profits*, 1932. This is the source for all the basic data on which the analyses of the present investigation rest, unless otherwise indicated.

⁴Only the competitive fields of manufacture, trade, finance and mining are covered by the statistical data of the *Source-Book* cited, and only those four divisions will be discussed in the present study. They include the great bulk of what is ordinarily termed 'competitive' as distinguished from 'regulated' industry; construction and 'service' activities, such as restaurants, hotels and garages, are all that is omitted, save agriculture, in which the corporate form is somewhat anomalous. Earnings data upon railroads, public utilities and other regulated industries are available in the reports of the Interstate Commerce Commission and those of other Governmental rate-making and regulating bodies.

ness man, the investment banker and the general reader will find that Books I-III surpass in interest Book IV, which goes further into detail as to the significance of the data, methods of compilation and the like. But it must be borne in mind that most of the summary facts and estimates presented in Books I-III do not hold entirely without qualification, even though in many instances this qualification may be slight. The reader who wishes to utilize either the actual figures or certain of the estimates to obtain more than a 'sense of direction' or a notion of 'general drift' concerning a particular industry or group ought therefore to examine such qualifications as they are discussed in Book IV. This is also true for the more general purposes of either the economic theorist or the student of business cycles. Frequently the significance of the findings in one direction or another, even when the data are taken en masse, depends upon the importance attached to the several margins of error to which they may be subject.

There are, to be sure, scholars who would allow the inevitable obstacles to the attaining of precise results to deter them entirely from pursuing any investigations such as the present one. These persons can adduce many cogent reasons why this conclusion or that can never properly be regarded as possessing much validity, if it is in part predicated upon assumptions that cannot always quantitatively, within the closest of limits, be proved correct in all their implications. There being doubt concerning the absolute impeccability of some of its conclusions, such a study, they reason, ought not to have been made. This, however, is a defeatist attitude. Moreover, it does not entitle the holder to be regarded as 'scientific' simply because of his skepticism. The important thing is not the presence of ambiguity or errors; but, how great are the probable margins of error and to what extent can they affect the ultimate results? These are the sole

[36]

AN INTRODUCTORY SUMMARY

questions of interest in appraising the validity, or the usefulness, of any piece of knowledge of the statistical, as contrasted to either the historical or the mechanical type.⁵ An effort has thus been made to explain, either in the footnotes of Books I-III or in the text of Book IV, the underlying and contributory factors that may reasonably throw doubt upon, as well as support, the validity of the figures finally arrived at, for one purpose or another.

But in appraising the scientific utility of this or that summary figure—whether it be an amount or a ratio—the phrase, 'for one purpose or another' should be especially noted. Granted that the proper degree of care and conscience has been employed in the mechanics of its tabulation, a set of statistics such as this is rarely either entirely good or bad in an absolute or 'intrinsic' sense; its worth is purely functional or 'purposive'. To be sure, some collections of statistics are for almost no purposes useful. But the value of any compilation that has been honestly made and is reasonably free from mathematical error is variable. It may range all the way from *nil* to a very high point indeed, depending on the problems one seeks to solve.

3. RELATIVITY IN THE INTERPRETATION OF STATISTICAL DATA

Take, for example, the bearing which the valuation of assets has upon the validity of profit rates. Probably most corporations, by and large, no longer overvalue rather than undervalue their assets, relative to 'prudent investment' or to actual cost. But imagine that this is not so; and

[37]

^aCf. F. C. Mills, On Measurement in Economics, in *The Trend of Economics* (R. G. Tugwell, ed.); also Hans Vaihinger's concept of the 'as it' (*Die Philosophie des Als Ob*, cited by Havelock Ellis in *The Dance of Life*, Ch. III).

assume that the corporations included in manufacturing industry as a whole carry their assets at figures which average 50 per cent over actual (original) cost. Under these conditions, if net worth or invested capital amounts were drawn off the balance sheets, the aggregate capital investment would exceed by about one-half the figure at which it would otherwise be shown. This is of course an extreme assumption. If, however, it were so (and sufficient facts were not known to make possible any reliable correction or adjustment), the data would be valueless for purposes of, say, the social theorist whose primary interest lay in seeing just how much the return to entrepreneurial capital is, or of the socialist or other critic of the economic order who wished to see how 'high' a return was being made by 'capitalists' in general. But to the economic theorist whose interest lay in ascertaining whether an equality of return among different industries really is approximated, such inaccuracies in investment figures[®] would not much impair the usefulness of the data unless it appeared that the practice of one industry was, in general, very different in this respect from that of another. Or to the student of business cycles, whose interest lay in the fluctuations of profit rates from year to year, such inaccuracy in valuation might not constitute a vital defect unless the extent or direction of the error itself substantially changed during the period under review.

Questions such as these are treated in Book IV. It is not believed, however, that such extreme qualifications as the hypothetical one just suggested really attach to any of the data here presented, taken in their aggregate or average forms. Errors of 50 per cent or more may well be present in the individual figures for any one, two or three corpora-

[38]

⁶ Inaccuracies, that is to say, from the point of view of valuation based upon original cost.

tions in a group, but hardly for the entire series averaged together. Some reliance, in other words, may be placed upon the 'stability of large numbers' in assaying the probable validity of many of the data presented.

The reader who is willing to take on faith the underlying technique of compilation may accept without any great reservation the findings given in the present chapter, and also in the other chapters of Book I, as representing general summaries of fairly accurate approximations. Certainly this holds true of all 'major' group figures (for example, Food Products or Textiles). The 'minor' group figures (for example, Bakery Products or Railway Equipment), presented mainly in Books II and III, are sometimes to be used more carefully: but doubtless their representativeness as 'samples' will be appraised by the persons most interested in, and best acquainted with, the specific industries in question. Finally, the careful and patient reader who takes nothing on faith and who wishes to know the limits of error present, in so far as these can be estimated, can supplement his provisional acceptance of Books I-III with a close study of Book IV, which necessarily is addressed to the professional economist or accountant rather than to the lay analyst or general reader.

4. A CONCISE SUMMARY OF RESULTS

For the convenience of the reader who first desires a short summary of some of the outstanding results of the study, concise answers are here given to the questions raised at the beginning of this chapter. Qualifications are omitted, only the bare findings being outlined. Their economic and social implications are discussed elsewhere, particularly in Chapter 47.

(1) The average rate of return earned upon invested

capital by the large American manufacturing, trading, financial and mining corporations of our sample in 1928 was 10.7 per cent before the payment of Federal income taxes, and 9.6 per cent after such taxes,⁷ as shown by the figures for 3,144 companies for which data were compiled over a ten-year period. The return in 1926 was 11.5 per cent before taxes and 10.2 per cent after taxes. In the depression year 1921 the figure was 4.4 per cent before taxes and 3.4 per cent after taxes. In all instances the income figures are the net amounts remaining after subtraction of the deficits of corporations which suffered losses.⁶

For the ten-year period 1919-28 as a whole, the aggregate net earnings of these 3,144 large corporations amounted to 10.5 per cent upon their combined investment before taxes, and to 9.2 per cent after taxes. In other words, an owner of the capital stocks of *all* these corporations would over this ten-year period have averaged approximately a 9 per cent return upon his equity, year in and year out, although in one year his return might have been four or five times as great as in another, the range being from 12.8 per cent after taxes in 1919 to 2.4 per cent^o in 1921. Between 1922 and 1928, however,

⁷These averages are weighted, in accordance with the relative importance of manufacture, trade, finance and mining in the nation's economic structure. For details, see Appendix A, section that discusses Table 2, Ch. 2.

^aThe averages cited in this section, however, are for the earnings of large corporations that remained in business continuously during the period 1919-28; they do not reflect earnings rates for *all* corporate enterprise; see Ch. 43.

*These figures are not weighted as are those explained in a preceding note, since an hypothetical 'owner of the capital stocks' of the 3,144 corporations of the sample would receive simply the arithmetic average return. The difference between the weighted and unweighted figures, however, is slight. 'Equity' includes, of course, the book value of reinvested earnings (corporate surplus) as well as capital stock, and is shareholder's equity in the accounting and economic senses; the expression does not refer to the market prices that may be paid for such equities by other than original holders.

[40]

the range of the return was only from 9.6 to 11.5 per cent before taxes, and from 8.6 to 10.2 per cent after taxes. Since the comparability of earnings rates from year to year is somewhat affected by changes in Federal income tax rates, the figures given in the remainder of this summary (and elsewhere in the volume unless otherwise noted) will be for earnings before the payment of such taxes.¹⁰

(2) The range between the earnings rates of different industries and trades is wide indeed, either in any given year or over a period. In 1928, of the 106 different manufacturing, trading, mining and financial groups in which our large corporations data can be separately tabulated, 8 industries show earnings of less than 5 per cent upon their invested capital, while 3 industries show rates of over 25 per cent. The extreme range of the 106 earnings rates is from 1.3 to 27.3 per cent. Summarizing the situation more completely, 42 of the industries earned under 10 per cent, 59 from 10 to 19.9 per cent, and 5 from 20 to 27.3 per cent.

The year 1928, however, was one of prosperity. What

¹⁰ There are arguments for and against doing this. To be sure, the income that the owners of corporations actually realize is what remains after income tax payments. But when tax rates change markedly, or when they are themselves based upon the rate of profit upon capital (as with excess profits taxes), a better clue to comparative earning power—at different times and between different industries—is perhaps afforded by the figures before Federal income tax payment. (This is said with recognition of the possible inconsistency involved because local and state taxes are treated as deductions in both cases.) The figures for Federal income taxes are, however, given in Appendix B and may be utilized by the reader who wishes to compute any particular figures after subtracting all taxes.

It is further to be remarked that consideration of net income figures before the payment of income taxes is quite as permissible in analyzing corporate earning power as in surveying the incomes of persons. When we think of one individual's income being, say, twice that of another, or of "86 per cent of incomes being under \$2,000 a year", we have in mind earnings before taxes (levied in some proportion to earnings) have reduced them. do similar figures show for a year of depression? In 1928 none of the 106 industries showed deficits (some *companies* in each industry did, but not any industry as a whole). But in 1921 the range of earnings rates was from a net loss of 12.6 per cent upon investment to a net profit of 29.2 per cent. Fifteen of the 106 industries had deficits, the figures running from a fraction of 1 per cent of the amount of their capitals to the 12.6 per cent loss just indicated. Sixty-one industries showed earnings rates of from 1 to 9.9 per cent; 25 more earned from 10 to 19.9 per cent; and 5 earned over 20 per cent.

Taking the decade 1919–28 as a whole, and aggregating the annual earnings for all ten years in each of these 106 industries, we find that their earnings rates for the entire period range from 1.9 to 31.6 per cent. Twenty industries show earnings of from 1.9 to 9.9 per cent; 57 earned from 10 to 14.9 per cent; 22 earned from 15 to 19.9 per cent. The remaining seven industries earned from 20 to 31.6 per cent. The most common return is thus between 10 and 14.9 per cent; but as will appear shortly, this does not denote the existence of an average or central rate towards which all industries tend to 'gravitate'.

(3) Data for 71 large manufacturing corporations, available for the 13-year period 1919-31, show a 3.8 per cent return upon investment in 1921, a 10.4 per cent return in 1928 and a 3.6 per cent return in 1931. For all 13 years together the aggregate return is 10 per cent.

(4) For the ten years 1919-28 aggregated, 2,046 large manufacturing corporations show a net return of 10.8 per cent upon investment. The most profitable industry shows earnings of 31.6 per cent for the period, while the least profitable records earnings of only 1.9 per cent.

Of the 73 industries into which the entire manufacturing

[42]

field has been divided, the following ten are most profitable (aggregate results for the entire ten years in question):

Per Cent
31.6
25.6
25.5
22.9
20.8
19.7
17.8
17.7
17.5
17.3

The following ten industries are least profitable:

	Per Cent
Meat Packing	1.9
Beverages	3.8
Castings and Forgings	5.8
Rubber Products	5.9
Miscellaneous Leather Products	6.8
Weaving Woolens	7.2
Stationery	7.4
Miscellaneous Food Products	7.9
Railway Equipment	8.1
Blank Paper	8.4

Half of the 73 industries show earnings, for the ten years, of over 13.6 per cent upon investment; the highest quarter earn over 15.8 per cent, while the lowest quarter earn under 10.6 per cent.

(5) When the industries that show the highest rates of profits in any given year are followed through successive years and their earnings rates checked, they show no substantial declines in earning power. In other words, not only do discrepancies exist among the earnings rates of different industries for a period, but the 'high' industries of any given year are also high industries in most succeeding years. While considerable shifting of position takes place, no general tendency towards an 'equality of profit rates' is discernible. To illustrate, Toilet Preparations was the third most profitable of all 73 manufacturing industries in 1919. It was the most profitable in the depression year 1921, again the most profitable in 1922, and the third most profitable in 1928.

In some industries long-time increases or declines in relative earning power are to be observed, but secular influences of this sort in no way suffice to bring about any approximately uniform rate of long-run return; at least, competition brings no such result about over the ten-year period studied. It is to be observed in this connection that while some of the 'high' industries are those characterized by the possession of trade-marks, etc., on the part of the corporations that belong to them, few are industries commonly regarded as subject to monopoly control. Nor *are* they really 'monopolized' in any usual sense of the term; numerous independently-owned enterprises operate and 'compete' in each of the industries in question.

(6) In every industry wide variations exist between the average return on investment and the rates received by the individual corporations whose incomes and capitals contribute to that average figure. Taking first manufacturing as a whole, the average return on investment received by 2,046 large corporations in 1928 was 11 per cent. But onequarter earned under 6.6 per cent; half earned from 6.6 to 18.4 per cent. The highest quarter earned over 18.4 per cent.

Generalizing upon the basis of the data of this and other samples for smaller corporations, our estimate is that in years other than those of depression, about a third of all manufacturing corporations in the country earn over 10 per cent upon their investments, and about a sixth earn over 18 per cent. But at the same time roughly half of the com-

[44]

panies earn under 5 per cent, a number experiencing deficits.¹¹

(7) But of the manufacturing corporations that show net incomes, approximately half earn over 10 per cent on their investments in years of prosperity, while one-fourth earn over 18 per cent. The earnings of the lowest quarter range from 1 to 5 per cent.

Of the trading corporations with net incomes of over \$2,000, in years other than those of depression, one-half earn over 13 per cent upon their investments; one-fourth, over 20 per cent, and the lowest quarter, from 1 to 8 per cent.

(8) Shifting our emphasis from the number of corporations earning net returns upon their capitals to the amount of capital on which a profit is earned, we find that in prosperous years such as 1926 or 1928 about 95 per cent of the capital of our 2,046 large manufacturing companies earns a net income. In a poorer year such as 1927 about 90 per cent of the capital shows a net return, while in a year of severe depression such as 1921 net incomes are earned on 70 per cent of the total capital investment.

(9) The larger manufacturing enterprises, in the main, do not earn profits at higher rates than the smaller ones. In 1928, for example, 1,421 small companies, with invested

¹⁹ No effort is made to estimate the exact proportion with deficits. The definition of a true deficit in the case of small corporations is difficult because many enterprises that report deficits are 'close' concerns in which the deficit appears after the payment of relatively large managerial salaries (large relative to the corporation's income before their deduction) to the corporation's owners (see Ch. 43). The common impression, based upon Bureau of Internal Revenue data for *taxable* net incomes (in the technical or legal sense of that term), that "about 50 per cent of the corporations in the country lose money" is misleading because of this difficulty of definition. To be sure, the figures for publicly-owned corporations are frequently subject to questionable accounting practices also, ordinarily of other sorts (see Ch. 45). Apart from exceptional instances, however, the latter are seldom so pronounced as to convert book profits into nominal losses.

capitals mostly under \$250,000, earned an average net profit of 11.3 per cent, while 1,970 larger companies, with capitals of over \$250,000, earned 10.6 per cent.

But the net incomes received by companies with capitals ranging from \$250,000 to several hundred million dollars each indicate that by far the highest rates of profit are earned by the corporations with capitals of from \$250,000 to \$500,000. In both 1924 and 1928 the latter averaged earnings of 20 per cent upon their investment, while the very largest companies of all, those with capitals of over 50 million dollars each, earned less than 10 per cent in both years. The evidence seems fairly clear that, beyond a certain point, mere size is accompanied by no increased effectiveness in production, at least as reflected in terms of earning power. In spite of the successful income showings of some of our largest corporations, numerous smaller companies not only equal but excel them in earning capacity per dollar of capital invested in the business.

(10) Analysis of the data upon earnings rates, sales and investment for the broad upswing in general business that occurred between 1922 and 1929 shows that the peak of profits, in terms of the rates earned upon investment in many industries, was reached in 1926 rather than in 1928 or 1929. Contrary to popular belief, 1926 was a more prosperous year than 1928, and was just as good as 1929.

(11) The percentage of manufacturing industry's gross income, as measured by sales, that goes to 'capital' in the form of long-time interest and net income together shows no substantial change during the years 1926-28. Interest payments on funded debt plus net income on capital stock and surplus amounted to about 10 per cent of the gross product of industry in *each* of the years 1925, 1926, 1928.

(12) As has already been remarked, the major groups of manufacturing industries (such as Foods, Textiles,

[46]

Metals) and likewise specific industries in each group (such as Castings and Forgings, Motor Vehicles) varied greatly among themselves in respect of earnings rates in any one year. But more important, for purposes of cyclical study, the courses of their earnings over the period 1922–28 varied enormously. Only one-fifth of the 73 industries analyzed show increasing earnings rates over this period. Another two-fifths show marked declines. The remaining two-fifths either remain stable or show such fluctuations that no trends are detectable.

In over one-sixth of these 73 industries capital investment increased faster than the volume of sales, in spite of the fact that earnings rates were declining both absolutely and comparatively. This indicates either that the facts were unknown to entrepreneurs or that changes in profit rates fail to function in directing the flow of productive resources as efficiently as is ordinarily supposed. One reason for the failure of declining earnings rates to halt investment may be that the cost of new capital during the period in question was substantially less than even the declining return that was being obtained upon the capital already invested in these industries. But, in order to be permanently profitable, any additional fixed investment in plant and equipment must yield a return that exceeds its annual charge over the period ofeits entire life, and not just for a few years. Whether many of the investments made in these industries during the late years of the period 1921-29 will do this remains to be seen. But there can be no doubt that unwise expansion in several industries contributed to the crisis of 1929-30.

(13) Consumers' goods industries in general enjoy both higher and steadier earnings than those which manufacture producers' goods. When consumers' goods industries are divided into those making highly durable goods, those making goods of intermediate durability and those making

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

quickly consumable goods, the sales of highly durable goods show by far the greatest increase in 1922–28. The sales growth that occurred in the group of industries making consumers' goods of the highly durable type points significantly to the relatively high state of 'consumers' inventories' that prevailed at the time of the 1929–30 collapse.

[48]

CHAPTER 2

A GENERAL VIEW OF INDUSTRY

1. AVERAGE FIGURES FOR ALL CORPORATIONS

IN YEARS of prosperity American industry in the aggregate, as represented by all Manufacturing, Trading, Financial and Mining corporations, earns a net return of approximately 7 per cent upon the tapital invested by its owners. This is just an average figure. It includes both the relatively profitable and unprofitable industries, the successful and unsuccessful corporations, the large and small enterprises. These several classes of industries and enterprises vary substantially in profitableness among themselves. What percentage of the corporations, what proportion of the separate industries, and what part of the total capital invested, earn profits at rates higher or lower than the average level will appear later. But for the moment, we may fasten our attention upon the general figures.

The average of 7 per cent presented is for the net return upon what may be termed 'entrepreneurial capital'. The net return includes both operating and non-operating income, after deducting all charges other than Federal income taxes, while the investment figure is the combined capital stock and surplus of the corporations in question.¹ Upon 'total capital', including under that head not only the sharehold-

[49]

¹See Ch. 45 for a discussion of the meaning of book or stated capital figures, broadly viewed for industry and industrial groups at large.

ers' equity in the enterprise, but all of its funded debt as well, the return is fractionally lower, but still approximates 7 per cent. Throughout this volume the first investment concept, that of entrepreneurial capital, is termed *capitalization*, while the second concept, that of capital stock, surplus, and funded debt as well, is termed *total capital*. In correspondence with these two concepts of investment are the two concepts of earnings: *net income*, in an entrepreneurial sense, the return after all charges; *total profits*, in a more inclusive sense, the return before the subtraction of interest payments upon permanent but borrowed capital.

The data for both types of net return, for all corporations in Manufacturing, Trade, Finance and Mining combined, for the years 1924–28, are presented in Table 1.²

TABLE 1

ESTIMATED EARNINGS RATES, ALL CORPORATIONS IN MANU-FACTURING, TRADE, FINANCE AND MINING, 1924-28

(before and after Federal income tax)¹

	1924	1925	1926	1927	
Percentage income to capitalization					
before tax	6.0	7.8	7.4	6.5	7.6
ajter tax	5.2	6.8	6.4	5.7	6.7
Percentage profit to total capital					
before tax	5.9	7.5	7.2	6.4	7.3
after tax	5.2	6.6	6.4	5.6	6.6
Number of corporations	315,340	333,372	355,634	345,212	359,992

¹See Appendix A for method of computation, and Appendix Table 1 for absolute figures.

The absolute figures on which the percentages are based are not given here in detail, but appear in Appendix B. The net income figures for all corporations in the four divi-

^a This table, as well as Tables 3 and 4, is based upon data taken from *Statistics of Income* (Bureau of Internal Revenue), adjusted as described in Appendix A. See Ch. 46 for a discussion of the character of that publication as a source for industrial earnings data, broadly viewed.

[50]

sions run from a little over five billion dollars in 1924 to a little over eight billion in 1928, whereas the capitalization figures show an aggregate investment of about 86 billion in 1924 and 108 billion in 1928.

It will be observed that the variation between different years, for either series during the period 1924–28, is but slight. But in years of deep depression such as 1921 or 1931 this general average return falls considerably below 7 per cent. For 1921, in the Manufacturing division it may be estimated at approximately $2\frac{1}{2}$ per cent, and for 1931, at about $2\frac{1}{3}$ per cent.³

2. A TEN-YEAR SERIES FOR LARGE CORPORATIONS

What, however, is the aggregate return over a continuous period long enough to include several good and bad years alike? In other words, what does industry earn during an eight- or ten-year succession of cyclical fluctuations? For this purpose no series of comparable figures that includes data for all American corporations in Manufacturing. Trade, Finance and Mining is available; but we do have a comprehensive and typical sample for the larger enterprises. The records of 3,144 companies that were engaged in business continuously from the beginning of 1919 to the end of 1928 comprise this series. Their capitalization, in most years of the period, amounts to more than 22 billion dollars, their net income to more than two and one-half billion. Including funded debt, their aggregate capital amounted to about 28 billion in 1924 and to over 35 billion in 1928.4

^{*}These estimates are explained in Appendix A.

⁴As to the size of these companies, more specifically, it may be said that the lower decil for the array of total capitals in 1927, in the Manufacturing division, was about \$500,000, while the median was about \$2,000,000 (see Ch. 43).

The combined return of these large corporations, for the entire ten-year period, all gains and losses in good and bad years alike included, aggregated 10.5 per cent upon their combined capitalizations.⁵ The three thousand odd corporations in question, to be sure, constitute but a small fraction of the total number of enterprises in the country, but their capitalization comprises approximately one-third of the entire corporate investment in the four broad industrial divisions that they represent. The series, as has been said, contains identical corporations throughout the ten-year period.⁶

In every year from 1922 through 1928 these corporations earned an aggregate net income of from 9.6 to 11.5 per cent upon capitalization. Upon total capital the return for 1924-28 ran between 9.2 and 10.9 per cent. Further details are given in Table 2. Basic data for this and similar tables are given in Appendix B.

3. AVERAGE FIGURES BY INDUSTRIAL DIVISIONS

For both the larger and the smaller groups of corporations discussed, however, the percentages of return vary among the four broad industrial divisions, Manufacturing, Trade, Finance and Mining. The general average ratio of

⁵ This is a weighted average, in several senses: (1) it is automatically weighted by the respective sizes of the several firms' capitals (as it would have to be in order to ascertain the aggregate return upon the entire capital of industry as a whole); (2) it is unavoidably weighted by the trend of investment growth from year to year; (3) it is deliberately weighted by giving to both the investment and income figures for Manufacture, Trade, Finance and Mining, respectively, the same relative importance (in combining the sample data for these four divisions) as the investment figures of years in which actual data are available. For amplification and a discussion of method see Appendix A.

⁶ The investment figure given is for 1926. The 'entire corporate investment' figure is derived as explained in Appendix A. See Ch. 43 for a discussion of the 'representativeness' of these 3,144 corporations in this and other years.

[52]

TABLE 2

EARNINGS RATES, 3,144 CORPORATIONS IN MANUFACTURING, TRADE, FINANCE AND MINING, 1919-28 AND 1924-28

(before and after Federal income tax)¹

	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923
Percentage income to capitalization					
before tax	17.1	11.6	4.4	10.6	10.9
after tax	12.8	9.3	3.4	· 9.6	9.8
	1924	1925	1926	192 7	1928
Percentage income to capitalization					
before tax	9.6	11.3	11.5	9.8	10.7
after tax	8.6	10.0	10.2	8.7	9.6
Percentage profit to total capital					
before tax	9.2	10.7	10.9	9.4	10.2
after tax	8.3	9.6	9.7	8.4	9.2

¹ Absolute figures in Appendix Table 2.

net income to capitalization for all corporations in all divisions stands, as has been said, at around 7 per cent during the years 1924–28. But the Manufacturing division, which possesses roughly half of the four divisions' aggregate capitalization, runs close to 9 per cent in three of these five years. The eight to twelve billions of entrepreneurial capital invested in Mining, on the other hand, earn far less than in the general average—in only one year of the five is a return of more than 3 per cent shown.⁷ In part, this low return is the result of large depletion charges which in the nature of the case are merely accounting and engineering estimates of the rates at which resources below the earth's surface are being exhausted. But to some extent also, the carnings rates of the Mining division are low for other

⁴ It should, however, be noted that by no means all mining activity is included under 'Mining' in these data, as many large mining properties are wholly or partly owned by industrial concerns classified under 'Manufacturing'. See Ch. 8, sec. 4 for the pertinent data relating to the extent of such ownership, as evidenced by depletion charges.

reasons—are 'really' lower than those which prevail in Manufacturing, Trade and Finance (see Ch. 25).

In Finance and Trading, on the whole, the rate of return is around 6 or 7 per cent. Table 3 gives the detailed data.

TABLE 3

ESTIMATED EARNINGS RATES, ALL CORPORATIONS BY INDUSTRIAL DIVISIONS, 1924-28

(before and after Federal income tax)¹

		1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Manufacturing				-		
Percentage income to ca	apitalization					
	before tax	7.8	8.8	8.7	7.2	8.7
	after tax	6.7	7.6	7.5	6.2	7.6
Percentage profit to tota	d capital					
	before tax	7.6	8.5	8.4	7.1	8.3
	after tax	6.6	7.5	7.4	6.1	7.4
Number of corporations	ł	86,803	88,674	93,244	89,816	91,573
Trade						
Percentage income to ca	apitalization					
	before tax	7.1	8.5	7.1	6.6	7.3
	after tax	6.1	7.3	6.0	5.5	6.4
Percentage profit to tota	l capital					
	before tax	7.1	8.2	7.0	6.5	7.2
	after tax	6.1	7.2	6.0	5.5	6.3
Number of corporations		105,323	109,588	112,705	119,678	126,347
Finance						
Percentage income to ca	pitalization					
	before tax	5.5	8.0	6.8	6.9	7.5
	after tax	5.0	7.2	6.1	6.3	6.9
Percentage profit to tota	l capital					
	before tax	5.5	7.5	6.5	6.7	7.1
	after tax	5.1	6.9	6.0	6.1	6.6
Number of corporations		104,761	115,947	130,433	122,682	129,139
Minina						
Percentage income to ca	nitalization					
	hefore tor	_0 1	27	35	11	23
	after tax	_0 3	2.2	2.9	07	1.8
Percentage profit to tota	capital					
	before tax	0.7	2.9	3.7	1.5	2.6
	after tax	0.5	2.6	3.2	1.2	2.2
Number of corporations		18,453	19,163	19,252	13,036	12,933
		-	-	-	-	

¹See Chapter 43 for description of method.

The aggregate capitalization of the Finance division is from 21 to 33 billion dollars in the years 1924–28, while the entrepreneurial investment in Trade is from 12 to 14 billion.

The immediately foregoing figures are for the inclusive



group: all of the country's corporations in the four fields in question, for the five years 1924–28. But for the 3,144 companies representing large-scale industry, we again have a ten-year series, running from 1919 through 1928. These data are presented in Table 4 and Chart 1. Here the Manufacturing division earns from 10 to 12 per cent in most

[55]

TABLE 4

EARNINGS RATES, 3,144 CORPORATIONS BY INDUSTRIAL DIVISIONS, 1919-28 and 1924-28 (before and after Federal income tax)

			Per	centage	income	to capit	alization	L			
	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
Manufacturing: 2,046 corporations											
before tax	18.3	12.3	2.9	10.2	11.2	10.0	12.1	12.4	9.5	11.0	
after tax	13.1	9.6	1.9	9.1	10.0	8.9	10.7	11.0	8.4	9.8	
Trade: 664 corporations											
before tax	24.2	11.4	6.6	14.9	15,4	13.4	14.0	13.6	13.1	12.3	
after tax	17.1	8.6	4.9	13.3	13.7	11.8	12.2	11.8	11,4	10.9	
Finance: 346 corporations											
before tax	15.0	12.6	7.8	12.2	9.8	10.2	10.8	10.4	10.2	10.4	
after tax	13.2	10.9	7.0	11.3.	9.2	9.4	9.8	9.5	9.3	9.5	
Mining: 88 corporations											
before tax	4.5	6.0	.9	2.9	5.1	3.7	5.4	6.4	5.1	7.9	-
after tax	3.8	4.7	.5	2.5	4.6	3.2	4.8	5.7	4.5	7.2	N E
Manufacturing						Perc	entage	profit to	total c	apital	č
before tax						9.5	11.4	11.7	9.0	10.4	<u>s</u>
after tax						8.5	10.2	10.4	8.0	9.3	
Trade						_					
before tax						13.0	13.4	13.1	12.6	11.7	
after tax						11.4	11.7	11.4	11.0	10.5	- H
Finance											heri
before tax						9.9	10.3	10.1	10.0	9.9	
after tax						9.2	9.4	9.3	9.1	9.1	- 6
Minina									/11		Ē
before tax						3.9	5.3	6.2	5.1	7.5	
after tax						3.5	4.8	5.6	4.5	6.9	

[36]

.

good years, Trade from 13 to 15 per cent, Finance about 10 per cent, and Mining 3 to 6 per cent.

Of especial interest in connection with the ten-year record of these large corporations is the aggregate result for each division over the entire period. This 'year-in-year-out' ratio of net income to capitalization for Manufacturing is 10.8 per cent, for Trade, 13.6 per cent, for Finance, 10.7 per cent, and for Mining, 4.9 per cent.

4. EARNINGS OF CORPORATIONS WITH NET INCOMES

For all of the country's corporations from 1924 through 1928, and for our 3,144 large corporations from 1919 through 1928, the average rates of earnings just discussed include the losses of the unsuccessful, subtracted from the gains of the successful. But in a competitive system of industry the number of corporations failing to earn net incomes in some years is almost as large as that with net incomes.⁸ This is not to say that the total losses by any means equal the gains-or the aggregate rate of return on capital would of course be nil. Nor is it to say that either half the gross business done, or half the capital employed, fails to retain a 'net'." It remains true, however, that the inclusion of data for the 'no net' firms with those for the 'with net' corporations greatly lowers the general figure, and that the rate of return as thus compiled is, like most broad arithmetic averages of this type, a somewhat abstract datum. For these reasons it is of interest to examine separately the higher rates of return which prevail for the corporations that do earn net incomes.

⁴ More accurately, in prosperous years about two-fifths of the corporations engaged in competitive industry fail to return a net, at least as defined for purposes of the Federal income tax (see Ch. 43).

^{*}See Ch. 43 and 47 for a discussion of these two points.

In all four divisions combined the country's entire group of something over 200,000 corporations with net incomes earns, in prosperous years, about 11 per cent instead of 7 per cent upon capitalization. In each division the figure in round numbers is as follows: Manufacturing, 12 per cent instead of 9; Trade, 12 per cent instead of 7; Finance, 11 per cent instead of 7; Mining, 7 to 10 per cent instead of 2 or 3.¹⁰ Details appear in Tables 5 and 6.

TABLE 5

ESTIMATED EARNINGS RATES, ALL CORPORATIONS WITH NET INCOMES IN MANUFACTURING, TRADE, FINANCE AND MINING, 1926-28

(before and after Federal income tax)¹

	1926	1927	1928
Percentage income to capitalization			
before tax	11.8	10.7	11.4
after tax	10.5	9.6	10.3
Percentage profit to total capital			
before tax	11.2	10.2	10.7
after tax	10.0	9.2	9.8
Number of corporations	209.322	211,699	220,250

¹See Chapter 43 for description of the method. Absolute figures in Appendix Table 3.

TABLE 6

ESTIMATED EARNINGS RATES, ALL CORPORATIONS WITH NET INCOMES IN MANUFACTURING, TRADE, FINANCE AND MINING, BY INDUSTRIAL DIVISIONS, 1926-28

(before and after Federal income tax)¹

		192 6	1927	1928
Manufacturing Percentage income to				
I ercentage meome to	before tax	12.3	10.9	12.0
	after tax	10.9	9.7	10.7

¹⁰ The data for Mining fluctuate from year to year. It again is to be recalled that much mining activity is classed under manufacturing, as stated in Ch. 8, sec. 4.

[58]

TABLE 6 (continued)

ESTIMATED EARNINGS RATES (before and after Federal income tax)¹

	1926	1927	1928
Percentage profit to total capital			
before lax	11.8	10.5	11.4
after tax	10.4	9.3	10.2
Number of corporations	55,094	53,620	55,007
Trade			
Percentage income to capitalization			
before tax	11.8	11.2	11.7
after tax	10.4	9.9	10.7
Percentage profit to total capital		•	
before tax	11.5	10.9	11.3
after tax	10.2	9.7	10.3
Number of corporations	71,403	74,747	79,745
Finance			
Percentage income to capitalization			
before tax	11.0	10.9	11.0
after tax	10.1	10.0	10.1
Percentage profit to total capital			
before tax	10.1	10.0	10.1
after tax	9.4	9.3	9.4
Number of corporations	76,819	78,100	80,315
Mining			
Percentage income to capitalization			
before tax	10.2	7.4 ·	7.8
after tax	9.1	6.6	7.1
Percentage profit to total capital			
before tax	9.8	7.2	7.5
after tax	8.7	6.5	6.9
Number of corporations	6,006	5,232	5,183

¹See Chapter 43 for description of the method.

A ten-year series for these same data is desirable, but is available only upon the basis of a sample representing corporations with absolute net incomes of over \$2,000, and in the Manufacturing division only.¹¹ This series is shown in

"Ten-year series for corporations with net incomes in Trade, Finance and

Table 7. In all years except 1919 and 1921 the return is around 12 per cent. For the entire ten years aggregated it is 12.3 per cent.

TABLE 7

EARNINGS RATES, MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS WITH NET INCOMES OF OVER \$2,000, 1919-28

(before Federal income tax)

	PERCENTAGE INCOME
YEAR	TO CAPITALIZATION
1919	19.1
1920	13.8
1921	7.8
1922	11.4
1923	12.2
1924	10.7
1925	12.5
1926	12.9
1927	10.9
1928	12.2

³Absolute figures in Appendix Table 4. The number of corporations varies in different years as explained in Chapter 43.

5. FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF INDIVIDUAL EARNINGS RATES

But all of the general data given thus far remain arithmetic means. They are weighted, to be sure, by the relative preponderance of capital and income prevailing between the several divisions, but they are still simply general averages. For numerous purposes far more precise information concerning the typical earnings of corporate enterprise is supplied by ranges, medians and other measures of the distribution of individual earnings rates among the multitude

Mining are shown in Ch. 21-26, but only for large corporations. In the series presented in Table 7 sample figures for large and small corporations are combined into a weighted average, as explained in Appendix A.

[60]

of corporations which make up this general or composite picture; and we may now present in summary form these estimated frequency distributions.²²

Take first the distribution for Manufacturing. About half of the 53,000 manufacturing corporations in the United States that enjoyed net incomes in 1925, 1926 or 1928 earned profits at individual rates of over 10 per cent upon their invested capitals. The lower fourth of these 53,000 companies earned under 5 per cent; the upper fourth, over 18 per cent. The figures hold about equally well for each of the three prosperous years in question, 1925, 1926 and 1928; and they are not greatly different even for 1927.

To recapitulate, in prosperous years the arithmetic mean return for all Manufacturing corporations is about 9 per cent, while for those 'with net' it is about 12 per cent. Of the concerns with net incomes, half earn over 10 per cent, while one-fourth earn over 18 per cent. The interquartile range ¹³ runs from 5 to 18 per cent. In absolute terms, about 27,000 manufacturing corporations earn over 10 per cent, 13,000 earn over 18 per cent, 5,000 earn over 30 per cent, but only 2,500 earn over 40 per cent. Further information

¹⁹ Those for Manufacture and Trade have been developed upon the basis of data compiled from a total of some 25,000 individual corporate records in the four years 1925–28; that is to say, about 4,000 manufacturing and 2,000 trading corporations are included in the original samples of those divisions in each year. The final distributions are estimates in the sense that the frequencies of the original samples have been expanded or 'stepped up' to represent the entire group or 'universe' of the country's corporations with net incomes in the case of Manufacturing, and the entire group of Trading corporations with net incomes of over \$2,000. The results, however, both in absolute and percentage terms, are probably subject to rather slight margins of error. See Ch. 43 for a full explanation of the 'stepping up' method employed. The distributions for Finance and Mining are less comprehensive; they represent only large corporations and are presented in their simple form—that is to say, no 'stepping up' of the frequencies is attempted.

²⁸ That is the distance or spread between the two figures ('quartiles') standing one-fourth of the way up or down from the top and bottom of the list respectively.

is given in Table 8, which shows the distributions of the absolute figures in detail, while Chart 2 presents them in the form of a block diagram.



For Trade similar data are not available for all 'with net' corporations, but only for those with incomes over \$2,000. For this group the lower quartile is regularly 8 per cent, the median is 13 per cent, and the upper quartile, in each year, either 20 or 21 per cent. To make possible a valid comparison of Trading with Manufacturing, the Manufacturing distribution has been recomputed so as also to include only corporations with net incomes of over \$2,-000. When this is done, the three quartiles become almost exactly the same as those for Trade: 8 per cent, 13 per

[62]

TABLE 8

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, MANU-FACTURING CORPORATIONS WITH NET INCOMES, 1925-28

(A) ABSOLUTE NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS SHOWING GIVEN RATES OF PROFIT					(в) PERC	ENTAG GIVE	E OF C N RATE	ORPOR S OF P	ATIONS ROFIT	SHOW	ING	NER.
					rage Class	LATED SSIVE ES	LAGE	LATED ISSIVE ES	rage Lass	LATED ISSIVE ES	rage Class	CATED SSIVE E3	A L
					EACH	CLASS	EACH	CUMUI CLASS	EACH	CUMU V SUCCE	ERCEN:	CUMUI SUCCE	VIEV
PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO						× A	4 N	AC B	I N	A C	⁴ 2	¥ A	<
TOTAL CAPITAL	1925	1926	1927	1928	1	925	1	926	1	927	1	928	0
Under 5	12,915	14,352	15,204	13,920	24.2	24.2	26.6	26.6	29.2	29.2	25.7	25.7	Ŧ
5 to 9	12,240	12,575	12,030	12,572	23.0	47.2	23.3	49.9	23.1	52.3	23.2	48.9	ы
10 to 14	9,255	9,263	9,216	10,184	17.4	64.6	17.1	67.0	17.7	70.0	18.8	67.7	z
15 to 19	6,401	6,318	5,346	6,176	12.0	76.6	11.7	78.7	10.3	80.3	11.4	79.1	9
20 to 24	4,309	4,201	3,527	3,908	8.1	84.7	7.8	86.5	6.8	87.1	7.2	86.3	đ
25 to 29	2,874	2,138	2,104	2,040	5.4	90.1	4.0	90.5	4.0	91.1	3.8	90.1	Ś
30 to 34	1,823	1,429	1,628	1,428	3.4	93.5	2.6	93.1	3.1	94.2	2.6	92.7	H
35 to 39	867	1,087	890	1,052	1.6	95.1	2.0	95.1	1.7	95.9	2.0	94.7	R
40 to 44	743	767	648	596	1.4	96.5	1.4	96.5	1.2	97.1	1.1	95.8	ĸ
45 to 49	485	469	492	428	.9	97.4	.9	97.4	.9	98.0	.8	96.6	
50 to 54	353	224	217	500	.7	98.1	.4	97.8	.4	98.4	.9	97.5	
55 to 59	203	283	209	220	.4	98.5	.5	98.3	.4	98.8	.4	97.9	
60 to 64	99	113	133	288	.2	98.7	.2	98.5	3	99.1	.5	98.4	
65 to 69	92	136	166	136	.2	98.9	.3	98.8	.3	99.4	.3	98.7	
70 to 74	65	133	40	104	.1	99.0	.2	99.0	.1	99.5	.2	98.9	
75 and over	533	532	301	620	1.0	100.0	1.0	100.0	.5	100.0	1.1	100.0	_
Total number of													0
corporations	53,257	- 54,020	52,151	54,172									പ്പ

₽

ଦ Ē

z
cent (median) and 21 per cent respectively. Further details are afforded by Tables 9 and 10.

TABLE 9

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, TRADING CORPORATIONS WITH NET INCOMES OF OVER \$2,000, 1925-28 (A) ABSOLUTE NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS SHOWING GIVEN RATES OF PROFIT

PERCENTAGE ·				
PROFIT TO				
TOTAL CAPITAL	1925	1926	1927	1928
Under 5	3,000	3,010	3,080	3,160
5 to 9	8,205	7,710	9,420	7,465
10 to 14	7,860	6,800	7,380	6,635
15 to 19	5,100	4,035	4,680	4,400
20 to 24	2,855	2,655	2,715	3,100
25 to 29	1,835	1,270	1,570	1,380
30 to 34	1,045	1,315	1,175	1,060
35 to 39	740	865	750	800
40 tọ 44	715	450	365	480
45 to 49	440	425	300	290
50 to 54	240	370	. 260	260
55 to 59	160	260	185	245
60 to 64	200	65	200	280
65 to 69	180	65	80	100
70 to 74	100	80	80	60
75 and over	450	425	580	280
Total number of corporations	33,125	29, 800	32,820	29,995

(B) PERCENTAGE OF CORPORATIONS SHOWING GIVEN RATES OF PROFIT

PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO	PERCENTAGE In Each Class	ACCUMULATED BT SUCCESSIVE CLA8SES	PERCENTAGE In Each Class	ACCUMULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENTAGE In Each Class	ACCUMULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENTAGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCUMULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES
TOTAL CAPITAL	192	:5	19	26	19	27	19	28
Under 5	9.1	9.1	10.1	10.1	9.4	9.4	10.5	10.5
5 to 9	24.8	33.9	25.9	36.0	28.7	38.1	24.9	35.4
10 to 14	23.7	57.6	22.8	58.8	22.5	60.6	22.1	57.5
15 to 19	15.4	73.0	13.5	72.3	14.2	74.8	14.7	72.2
20 to 24	8.6	81.6	8.9	81. 2	8.3	83.1	10.3	82.5
25 to 29	5.5	87.1	4.5	85.5	4.8	87.9	4.6	87.1

[64]

TABLE 9 (continued)

(B) PERCENTAGE OF CORPORATIONS SHOWING GIVEN RATES OF PROFIT

PERCENTAGE	PERCENTAGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCUMULATED BY SUCCE88IVE CLASSE8	PERCENTAGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCUMULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENTAGE In Each Class	ACCUMULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENTAGE In Each Class	ACCUMULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES
TOTAL CAPITAL	19	25	19	26	19	27	19	28
30 to 34	3.2	90.3	4.4	89.9	3.6	91.5	3.5	90.6
35 to 39	2.2	92.5	2.9	92.8	2.3	93.8	2.7	93.3
40 to 44	2.2	94.7	1.5	94.3	1.1	94.9	1.6	94.9
45 to 49	1.3	96.0	1.4	95.7	.9	95.8	1.0	95.9
50 to 54	.7	96.7	1.3	97.0	.8	96.6	.9	96.8
55 to 59	.5	97.2	.9	97.9	.6	97.2	.8	97.6
60 to 64	.6	97.8	.2	98.1	.6	97.8	.9	98.5
65 to 69	.5	98.3	.2	98.3	.2	98.0	.3	98.8
70 to 74	.3	98.6	.3	98.6	.2	98.2	.2	99.0
75 and over	1.4	100.0	1.4	100.0	1.8	100.0	1.0	100.0

TABLE 10

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, MANUFAC-TURING CORPORATIONS WITH NET INCOMES OF OVER \$2,000, 1925-28

(A) ABSOLUTE NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS SHOWING GIVEN RATES OF PROFIT

DEPORTACE

Total number of corporations	\$5,799	35,876	34,576	\$6,300
75 and over	518	488	276	524
70 to 74	65	115	40	88
65 to 69	92	118	116	104
60 to 6 4	99	77	108	288
55 to 59	203	229	184	188
50 to 54	353	188	192	420
45 to 49	356	433	392	412
40 to 44	614	677	548	500
35 to 39	824	907	740	892
30 to 34	1,608	1,267	1,428	1,140
25 to 29	2,358	1,796	1,804	1,672
20 to 24	3,922	3,697	3,052	3,412
15 to 19	5,756	5,310	4,696	5,312
10 to 14	7,664	7,625	7,616	8,184
5 to 9	8,155	8,561	8,580	8,220
Under 5	3,412	4,388	4,804	4,944
TOTAL CAPITAL	1925	1926	1927	1928
PROFIT TO	_			
· DRUE - CHICZ				

TABLE 10 (continued)

(B) PERCENTAGE OF CORPORATIONS SHOWING GIVEN RATES OF PROFIT

PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO Total capital	PERCENTAGE	A ACCUMULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENTAGE	X ACCUMULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENTAGE IN EACH CLASS	Z ACCUMULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENTAGE IN EACH CLASS	BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES
Under 5	9.5	9.5	12.2	12.2	13.9	13.9	13.6	13.6
5 to 9	22.8	32.3	23.9	36.1	24.9	38.7	22.7	36.3
10 to 14	21.4	53.7	21.3	57.4	22.0	60.7	22.6	58.9
15 to 19	16.1	69.8	14.8	72.2	13.6	74.3	14.6	73.5
20 to 24	10.9	80.7	10.3	82.5	8.8	83.1	9.4	82.9
25 to 29	6.6	87.3	5.0	87.5	5.2	88.3	4.6	87.5
30 to 34	4.5	91.8	3.5	91.0	4.2	92.5	3.1	90.6
35 to 39	2.3	94.1	2.5	93.5	2.1	94.6	2.5	93.1
40 to 44	1.7	95.8	1.9	95.4	1.6	96.2	1.4	94.5
45 to 49	1.0	96.8	1.2	96.6	1.1	97.3	1.1	95.6
50 to 54	1.0	97.8	.5	97.1	.6	97.9	1.2	96.8
55 to 59	.6	98.4	.7	97.8	.6	98.5	.5	97.3
60 to 64	.3	98.7	.2	98.0	.3	98.8	.8	98.1
65 to 69	.2	98.9	.3	98.3	.3	99.1	.3	98.4
70 to 74	.2	99.1	3	98.6	.1	99.2		98.6
75 and over	.9	100.0	1.4	100.0	8	100.0	14	100.0
					.0		A. T	a

For Finance and Mining sample data relating only to large corporations¹⁴ are available. The quartiles for Finance, in each year of the period 1925–28, are approximately as follows: 7 per cent; 11 per cent (median); 14 per cent. For Mining they run (varying in different years) 5 to 7 per cent; 11 to 13 per cent (median); and 17 to 21 per cent.¹⁵

The several quartiles just enumerated pertain to the groups of corporations earning net incomes only, or to

[66]

³⁴ Those of the 3,144 corporations series for which arithmetic averages were previously presented. There are only 344 Financial and 82 Mining corporations in these two distributions (that is, in 1925; in other years some slight variation from these numbers occurs).

¹⁶ The complete distributions are given in Ch. 26 and 25.

parts of those groups. But it is, of course, to be remembered that in all instances these groups comprise only a portion of the total number of corporations if those with net losses as well as net incomes are considered. To facilitate the analysis of similar frequencies for 'all corporations', in this inclusive sense, Table 11 repeats the quartiles for Manufacturing and then gives in parallel columns these data converted into percentiles, for the 'with net' group alone and

TARLE	1	1
*****	•	-

PERCENTAGES OF MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS EARNING LESS THAN GIVEN RATES OF PROFIT UPON CAPITAL, 1925–28¹

RATE OF PROFIT UPON CAPITAL	PERCENTAGE OF COR- PORATIONS WITH NET INCOMES	PERCENTAGE OF ALL CORPORATIONS
1925		
5.17%	25	54.7
10.80%	50	69.8
19.33%	75	84.8
Total number of corporatio	ns 53,527	88,674
1926		
4.71%	25	56.5
10.05%	50	71.0
18.43%	75	85.5
Total number of corporatio	ns 54,020	93,244
1927		
4.29%	25	56,4
9.52%	50	71.0
17.49%	.75	85.5
Total number of corporation	ns 52,151	89,816
1928		
4.87%	25	55.6
10.29%	50	70.4
18.20%	75	85.2
Total number of corporatio	ns 54,172	91,573

'The 'given rates of profit' are in each year the first, second and third quartiles for the distribution of the corporations with net incomes.

for 'all corporations'. The last column of the table shows, in other words, the proportions of *all* corporations earning either losses or net incomes at rates lower than the quartile figures for the 'with net' group.

This analysis—taking *all* corporations, whether they earned net incomes or not—shows that about two-fifths of the 90,000 companies engaged in Manufacturing suffer losses ¹⁵ in prosperous years such as 1925, 1926, 1927 and 1928. About one-half, including the two-fifths just mentioned, earn under 5 per cent. Nearly one-third of the total number earn over 10 per cent; but only about one-sixth earn over 18 per cent. Unfortunately, similar analyses cannot be made with any great exactness for Trade, Finance or Mining.

6. SUMMARY

In years of prosperity all corporations in Manufacture, Trade, Finance and Mining average a total net income of 7 per cent upon their capitalization. In years of severe depression this falls as low as two or two and one-half per cent. The larger corporations, those with capitals of over \$500,000¹⁷ earn from 9 to 11 per cent in prosperous years.

[68]

¹⁶ These, it should be remarked, are losses as shown in, and allowed by, Federal income tax schedules; that is to say, the number of Manufacturing corporations showing no net incomes is taken from *Statistics of Income* (Bureau of Internal Revenue) and is then combined with the expanded data of our several samples of corporations with positive total net incomes to yield the dispersion measurements (percentiles) for the entire universe, as shown in Table 11. The term 'net income' as here applied to the corporations showing losses is *taxable net income*, whereas applied to the corporations of our sample data it is *total net income*. In the main, however, and for the purpose at hand, the difference is not appreciable; see Ch. 43 for a full discussion of the point.

³⁷ This figure is approximately the ninth (lowest) decil of the array of individual total capital figures for the 2,046 manufacturing companies belonging to the 3,144 corporations series in 1927, as stated in note 4; see also Ch. 43.

A GENERAL VIEW OF IMDUSTRY

In good years and bad alike the aggregate return for this group over the ten-year period 1919–28 is 10.5 per cent. Of all Manufacturing corporations with net incomes onequarter earn profits of under 5 per cent upon their individual capitals in prosperous years; another two-quarters earn from 6 to 18 per cent, with a median of 10 per cent; while the highest quarter earn over 18 per cent.

[69]

CHAPTER 3

EARNINGS RATES IN DIFFERENT INDUSTRIES

1. VARIATION IN PARTICULAR YEARS

IF ONE takes any single year of the period 1919–28 and examines the rates of net income upon capitalization earned by the numerous specific industries into which Manufacture, Trade, Finance and Mining can be divided, he finds a substantial variation. The purpose of the present chapter is to examine the discrepancies that prevail in individual years and to see if they disappear over a period.

In 1919, a year of pronounced post-War prosperity, the average return for the 3,144 Manufacturing, Trading, Financial and Mining corporations belonging to our ten-year series¹ was 17.7 per cent.² Dividing Manufacture, Trade, Finance and Mining, however, into specific individual industries or trades such as Bakery Products, Castings and Forgings, or Department Stores, we obtain 73 groups in Manufacturing, 22 in Trade, 5 in Finance, and 6 in Mining, or 106 separate groups in all. These we may call either

¹The larger corporations for which average figures were discussed in the preceding chapter.

³ This is not precisely equal to the average given in Ch. 2, Table 2. That figure, 17.1 per cent, was a deliberately weighted average, applied to the sample for the four divisions (see note 5, Ch. 2). The present average of 17.7 per cent is weighted only because it is an aggregate, i.e., is weighted only in the first of the three senses described in note 6. Deliberate weighting of the present average was avoided because of the mathematical treatment to which data that were compared with it were subjected.

[70]

'industries' or 'minor groups'.³ The number of corporations contained in each depends upon the nature of the group; it ranges from nine or ten in some groups to 100 or more in others.⁴ But in every case, identical corporations are classified in the same groups from year to year. Corporations with losses as well as those with gains are thus included. The classification of industries is given in Table 12.⁵

Examining the average rates of return in these 106 industries during 1919, we find the median minor group earning 21.2 per cent, as compared with the arithmetic mean

^{*} In contrast to the broader 'major groups', for example, Food Products, Metals or Retail Trade, to which they belong respectively and which are discussed in the next chapter.

[•]Three-quarters of the groups, however, contain 16 or more corporations each. The complete list is given in Table 12.

⁶ In toto, of course, these 106 minor groups comprise the 3,144 companies series for which general averages were discussed in the preceding chapter. See, for qualifications, Ch. 43, 46.

It will also be noted in Table 12 that the numbering of the groups runs from 1 through 111. This is because of the necessity of combining several groups into miscellaneous categories in preparing the original *Source-Book* tables. The numbering scheme of the *Source-Book*, however, is retained in the present volume, although only 106 separate groups are available for analysis. (For illustration, consult Table 12 where Group 8 does not appear separately but is shown in combination with Group 11, as 'Group 11-8'.) The original Group 8 was Cane Sugar manufacturing, but the sample contained too few corporations to be significant as a separate classification, hence Cane Sugar was thrown into the Miscellaneous Food Products category.

It may here also be observed that in the analysis of these 106 groups, the term 'median industry' or 'median group' is often used because it has a less abstract connotation than merely 'the median' or 'median value'. By it is meant the industry that stands in the middle of the list when the 106 groups are arrayed according to their rates of return. To be sure, in an array containing an even number of items, such as 106, the mid-point is statistically not item 53 or 54 but $53\frac{1}{2}$. But with the 53rd industry showing a return of perhaps 12.6 per cent and the 54th industry showing a return of 12.5, the median is taken as 12.6, which is the value obtained by rounding off 12.55 per gent.

When the upper or lower quarter of these 106 industries is discussed, reference is to the first 27 industries from the top or bottom of the list and not to an interpolated value.

TABLE 12

MINOR GROUP CLASSIFICATION, 3,144. CORPORATIONS, SHOWING SIZE OF SAMPLES

		NUMBER OF		2	OF
MINOR GROUP	•	CORPO- RATIONS	MINOR GROUP		CORPO-
Manui	facturing		35	Book and music publis	h-
.1	Bakery products	17		ing	- 17
2	Flour	32	36	Tob printing	46
3	Confectionery	21	37	Miscellaneous printin	2
4	Package foods	19		and publishing	1 7
5	Dairying	26	38	Crude chemicals	9
6	Canned goods	16	39	Paints	42
7	Meat packing	23	40	Petroleum refining	52
9	Beverages	11	41	Proprietary preparatio	ns 56
10	Tobacco	23	42	Toilet preparations	9
11-8	Miscellaneous food		43	Cleaning preparations	16
	products	27	44	Miscellaneous chemica	ls 26
12	Cotton spinning	12	45	Ceramics	48
13	Cotton converting	18	46	Glass	18
14	Cotton weaving	49	47	Portland cement	21
15	Weaving woolens	31	48	Miscellaneous stone an	nd
16	Silk weaving	17		clay products	27
17	Carpets	18	49	Casting and forgings	99
18	Men's clothing	25	50	Sheet metal	20
19	Missellessens slothier	44	51	Wire and nails	20
20	Miscellaneous clothing	g 43 . EA	52	Heating machinery	42
22	Roote and above	3 34	53	Electrical machinery	54
22	Miscellaneous losther	43	54	Textile machinery	18
23	Twiscentaneous leatuer	70	55	Printing machinery	12
24	Pubber products	43 26	56	Road machinery	22
25	Tumber menufacture	20 24	57	Engines	11
25	Disping mills	24	58	Mining machinery	12
27	Millmosk	40	59	General factory	
29	Euroiture (con motol) 66		machinery	23
20	Miscellaneous lumbas	1 22	60	Office machinery	13
47	Droducts	20	61	Railway equipment	25
80	Blank paper	20	62	Motor vehicles	32
21	Condboard house	33	63	Firearms	11
22	Stationard Doxes	33	64	Hardware	40
34	Miscellenery	20	65	Toole	30
23	Aviscenaneous paper		66	Rolte and puts	15
24	Nemenanes and	23	67	Miscellaneous machines	
34	neriodicale	20	20	Man farrous match	- 19
	periodicals	24U	60	MOR-LELLORS INCISIS	40

.

TABLE 12 (continued)

MINOR GROUP CLASSIFICATION

		NUMBER			NUMBER
		OF			OF
MINOR		CORPO-	MINOR		CORPO-
GROUP		KATIONS	GROUP		KATIONS
Manuf	acturing (cont.)		91	Building material an	d
69	Jewelry	24		hardware	13
70	Miscellaneous metal		92	Paper	18
	products	45	9385	Miscellaneous wholes	ale
71	Scientific instruments	23		trade	82
72	Тоуз	12	Trade-	—Wholesale and Reta	til
73	Pianos	11	95	Commission dealers	
74	Miscellaneous special		96	Coal, wood and fuel	10
	manufacturing	43	97	Hardware	16
Trade-	-Retail		98	Lumber	11
75	Automobiles	15	99– 95	Miscellaneous wholes	ale
76	Men's clothing	17		and retail trade	52
77	Department stores	93	Mining	,	
78	Drygoods	27	100	Bituminous coal	33
79	Furniture	12	101	Gas and oil wells	11
80	Groceries	14	102	Stone quarrying	9
81	Jewelry	11	103	Clay, sand and grave	9
82	Building material and	l	104	Metals, various	15
	hardware	27	105	Miscellaneous mining	,
83	Lumber and coal	15		other than metal	11
84	Miscellaneous retail		Financ	e	
	trade	52	106	Savings banks	18
Trade-	—Wholesale		107	Commercial banks	30
85	Coal, fuel and wood		108	National banks	105
86	Drugs	25	109	Trust companies	56
87	Drygoods	29	410	Investments, various	
88	Groceries	59		SOFTS	
89	Hardware	43	111-11(All other finance (ex	C -
90	Importers and exporte	rs 23		cept life insuranc	e) 137

figure of 17.7 per cent above cited. But some industries earn more than 40 per cent, while others earn less than 1 per cent. The upper quarter of these 106 industries all show rates of over 29 per cent; the lowest quarter, under 16 per cent. The average departure or 'spread' of all 106 minor groups above or below the median figure is 8.5 per cent^e---

"The expression 'per cent' is here, of course, used in an absolute, not a

a spread equal to about two-fifths as much as the median itself. In appraising these figures, it is of course to be recalled that 1919 was an exceptionally prosperous year.

Turn, however, to a year of depression such as 1921. The median industry here earns only 7.1 per cent on its capitalization. Fifteen groups suffer actual losses. At the same time five others earn 20 per cent or more. The actual variation, in absolute terms, is less than in 1919; the average departure from the median is 5.2 per cent as against 8.5 per cent. But in relative terms the variation between these 106 industries in 1921 is substantially greater than in 1919; their average departure of about 5 per cent from the median represents an amount two-thirds as large as the median figure itself.

Finally, as a third example, take a prosperous year such as 1928. Here the median industry earns 11 per cent. The upper quarter earn 14.8 per cent or over; the lower quarter, 8.5 per cent or under. The average departure from the median is 3.8 per cent, a smaller figure than in either 1919 or 1921. Even so, it amounts to about one-third of the median figure.

These three distributions of earnings rates, together with those for other years, are shown in Chart 3. In no year is anything approaching a uniformity of return seen between the different industries, although it is true that in the last

relative, sense. The rate of return upon which attention is fastened in this chapter is the percentage of total net income to capitalization. In some ways, the rate of total profits to total capital (as these terms are defined in Ch. 2 and in the Glossary) would be preferable as a measure of comparative earning power. It is not employed in this chapter because our data show funded debt figures only for 1924-28, and ten-year comparisons are thus not available in terms other than those of total income upon capitalization. The two ratios, however, are not very different for the purpose in hand. On the close correspondence between them see Table 4, Ch. 2; also Ch. 8.

[74]

five years of the period the majority (slightly over half) of those 106 minor groups earn between 8 and 15 per cent." The earnings rates of each individual industry, for 1921 and 1928, are given in Table 13.⁸

TABLE 13

EARNINGS RATES, 106 MINOR GROUPS IN 1921 AND 1928, RANGED IN ORDER OF PROFITABLENESS FROM THE LOWEST TO THE HIGHEST FIGURES

Trade Groups are Distinguished from Manufacturing by the Letters R (Retail), W (Wholesale) or W-R (Wholesale and Retail)

1921 percentage income to capitalization

- -12.6 Rubber products
- -12.4 Sheet metals
- -7.0 Meat packing
- -6.6 Miscellaneous leather products
- -5.4 Miscellaneous food products
- -3.1 Tools
- -2.9 Miscellaneous metal products
- -2.7 W-Paper
- -2.6 Miscellaneous machinery
- -2.5 Stationery
- -2.3 Metals, various
- -1.8 Bolts and nuts
- -1.5 W-Hardware
- -0.4 Castings and forgings
- -0.4 Wire and nails
- 0.8 Cardboard boxes
- 0.9 Beverages
- 1.1 Gas and oil wells
- 1.4 Miscellaneous R-Trade

1928 percentage income to capitalization

- 1.3 Rubber products
- 1.5 Weaving woolens
- 3.4 Railway equipment
- 4.5 W-Building material and hardware
- 4.5 Bituminous coal
- 4.6 Meat packing
- 4.7 Cotton weaving
- 4.7 Silk weaving
- 5.1 Miscellaneous leather products
- 5.1 Blank paper
- 5.1 W-R Lumber
- 5.8 Gas and oil wells
- 5.9 Pianos
- 6.0 Castings and forgings
- 6.7 Carpets
- 6.8 Lumber manufacture
- 6.9 Engines
- 7.4 Groceries

'The shape of the distributions varies somewhat from year to year, although in several years a rough approach to symmetry is approximated. Whether or not a symmetrical pattern would be approximated more closely if the samples were larger is debatable; but even so, the ranges of variation would scarcely be narrowed. As to the degree of reliability attaching to the present samples, see Ch. 43-45.

*Data for other years may be found in the chapters which contain detailed discussion of particular major and minor groups (the several chapters of Book II). TABLE 13 (continued)

EARNINGS RATES, FROM THE LOWEST TO THE HIGHEST FIGURES

1921

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION

- 1.5 Miscellaneous stone and clay products
- 1.8 Millwork
- 1.9 Blank paper
- 1.9 Hardware
- 1.9 Non-ferrous metals
- 2.0 Miscellaneous W-Trade
- 2.0 W-R Hardware
- 2.1 Firearms
- 2.1 Jewelry
- 2.3 Pianos
- 2.5 Lumber manufacture
- 2.5 W-Building material and hardware
- 2.6 Groceries
- 3.4 Mining machinery
- 3.8 General factory machinery
- 4.2 R—Lumber and coal
- 4.3 Miscellaneous clothing
- 4.3 Railway equipment
- 4.7 R-Jewelry
- 4.9 Paints
- 5.1 Heating machinery
- 5.3 Miscellaneous paper products
- 5.3 Miscellaneous chemicals
- 5.9 Stone quarrying
- 6.0 All other finance (except life insurance)
- 6.1 W-Drygoods
- 6.4 Ceramics
- 6.4 Electrical machinery
- 6.4 Office machinery
- 6.6 Confectionery
- 6.6 Crude chemicals
- 6.7 Men's clothing
- 6.8 R-Building material and hardware
- 7.0 W-R Coal, wood and fuel
- 7.2 Trust companies
- 7.3 W-R Lumber

1928 PERCENTAGE INCOME TO **CAPITALIZATION**

- 7.6 W-R Hardware
- 7.7 Miscellaneous textiles
- 7.9 Miscellaneous mining, other than metal
- 8.1 Commercial banks
- 8.3 Cotton converting
- 8.3 Millwork
- 8.4 R-Building material and hardware
- 8.4 W-Drygoods
- 8.5 Planing mills
- 8.5 Ceramica
- 8.5 Metals, various
- 8.6 Beverages
- 8.6 W----Hardware
- 8.7 Miscellaneous W-Trade
- 9.0 Miscellaneous paper products
- 9.2 Heating machinery
- 9.4 Miscellaneous food products
- 9.4 R-Department stores
- 9.4 National banks
- 9.5 Cotton spinning
- 9.7 Dairying
- 9.7 Miscellaneous W---R Trade
- 9.8 Petroleum refining
- 9.8 R—Furniture
- 10.1 Miscellaneous lumber products
- 10.2 Mining machinery

- 10.7 W-Importers and exporters
- 10.8 W-R Coal, wood and fuel
- 10.8 Stone quarrying
- 10.9 Trust companies
- 11.0 Hardware
- 11.2 Knit goods
- 11.2 Savings banks

- - 10.2 W-Paper
 - 10.4 W-Drugs
 - 10.5 Furniture (non-metal)
 - 10.5 Stationery

 - 10.6 R-Lumber and coal

TABLE 13 (continued)

EARNINGS RATES, FROM THE LOWEST TO THE HIGHEST FIGURES

1921

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION 7.6 W-Drugs 8.0 Miscellaneous lumber products 8.1 Portland cement 8.1 Clay, sand and gravel 8.3 Dairying 8.3 Silk weaving 8.3 Cleaning preparations 8.4 Furniture (non-metal) 8.4 Motor vehicles 8.5 Printing machinery 8.7 Road machinery 8.9 Flour 9.0 Bituminous coal 9.0 National banks 9.1 Canned goods 9.1 R-Men's clothing 9.2 W-Importers and exporters 9.4 Cotton weaving 9.4 Engines 9.5 Glass 9.9 Planing mills 10.3 R-Furniture 10.4 Cotton spinning 10.6 Miscellaneous special manufacturing 10.7 Miscellaneous W-R Trade 11.1 R-Automobiles 11.2 Toys 11.4 Weaving woolens 11.4 Boots and shoes 11.4 Proprietary preparations 11.4 Savings banks 11.6 Commercial banks 11.7 R-Drygoods 11.9 Cotton converting 12.2 Miscellaneous textiles 12.6 R-Department stores

- 13.0 Miscellaneous mining, other than metal
- 13.1 Tobacco

1928 percentage income to capitalization

- 11.4 Men's clothing
- 11.8 Glass
- 11.8 Sheet metal
- 11.9 Crude chemicals
- 11.9 R-Drygoods
- 11.9 All other finance (except life
- insurance)
- 12.0 Flour
- 12.1 Book and music publishing
- 12.1 Jewelry
- 12.3 Printing machinery
- 12.4 Miscellaneous clothing
- 12.4 Miscellaneous special manufacturing
- 12.5 Clay, sand and gravel
- 12.6 R-Men's clothing
- 12.7 Canned goods
- 12.8 Cardboard boxes
- 12.8 Portland cement
- 13.4 General factory machinery
- 13.5 Miscellaneous machinery
- 13.8 Wire and nails
- 13.9 Job printing
- 14.6 Textile machinery
- 14.8 Boots and shoes
- 14.8 Paints
- 14.8 Non-ferrous metals
- 15.1 Confectionery
- 15.1 R-Jewelry
- 15.2 Tools
- 15.2 Miscellaneous R-Trade
- 15.6 Tobacco
- 15.6 Miscellaneous metal products
- 16.1 Motor vehicles
- 16.1 Toys
- 16.5 Electrical machinery
- 17.0 Road machinery
- 17.1 Miscellaneous printing and publishing

TABLE 13 (continued)

EARNINGS RATES, FROM THE LOWEST TO THE HIGHEST FIGURES

1921 percentage income to capitalization

13.1 Job printing

- 13.1 Scientific instruments
- 13.5 Book and music publishing
- 14.5 Petroleum refining
- 14.9 Package foods
- 15.0 Bakery products
- 15.9 Carpets
- 16.5 Knit goods
- 21.5 Newspapers and periodicals
- 21.5 Newspapers and periodicals
- 22.6 Textile machinery
- 24.4 Miscellaneous printing and publishing
- 26.1 R-Groceries

÷ ...

29.2 Toilet preparations

1928 PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION 17.1 Miscellaneous clay and stone products 17.5 Bakery products 17.6 Package foods 17.7 Office machinery 17.8 Miscellaneous chemicals 18.2 R---Automobiles 19.0 Bolts and nuts 19.4 Cleaning preparations 19.6 Firearms 21.6 R-Groceries 21.8 Proprietary preparations 25.4 Toilet preparations 26.5 Newspapers and periodicals

27.3 Scientific instruments

The degree of departure of the earnings rates of these 106 industries from the median figure, in particular years of the period 1919–28, is highest in 1919, 1920 and 1921. In all years subsequent to 1921 the relative variation remains almost constant from year to year, at a figure about equal to one-third of the median itself. These figures— 'coefficients of variation'—are printed with the diagrams of Chart 3.° They indicate that, over the period 1922–28, no significant change in the extent of the variation between different industries took place. Chart 4 affords another measure of the relative variation of earnings in different years by presenting the 'interquartile ranges' to supplement the broader figures.

⁸ The term 'coefficient of variation' is employed in the sense of the ratio of the arithmetic mean deviation to the median, and not to represent, as is more usual in statistics, the ratio of the standard deviation to the arithmetic mean.

2. VARIATION IN TEN-YEAR RATES

But neither the fact that the variation between industries is less in 1928 than in years before 1922, nor the fact that it remains much the same from 1922 to 1928 affords evidence as to the degree in which the alleged tendency of the return in different industries to approach an equality over a period is realized in practice. For it is conceivable that the several industries might constantly be changing their positions, yet the average amount or extent to which their rates varied from the median remains much the same. This might be true even were a pronounced tendency to equality indeed present; for it might be exactly through such a shifting of the high industries of one year into the low positions of another year, and vice versa, that the aggregate average earnings of a particular industry for a period would correspond with those of other industries for the same period. One industry might enjoy prosperity during one set of years, other industries earn above average rates in different years. To reiterate, a marked variation during any given year could conceivably be the mechanism through which approximate equality was realized in the long run.¹⁰

But is this what takes place? The available evidence would indicate that it is not—at least, over the ten-year period for which we have continuous data.

The 106 industries, the net incomes of each totalled for ten successive years and then divided by the aggregate capitalizations shown by each industry over the ten successive years, display a wide diversity indeed in their 'ten-year

¹⁰ Were the frequency distributions entirely symmetrical, such shifting as would equalize earnings rates over a period could conceivably result not only in the absolute maintenance of a marked annual variation during the period but also in yearly variation coefficients of exactly the same magnitude.



[80]

CHART 3 (CONT.)

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGE OF INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, 106 MINOR GROUPS





CHART 3 (CONT.)

CHART 3 (CONT.)

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGE OF INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, 106 MINOR GROUPS



rates' of earnings. Some industries, for example, Meat Packing, Castings and Forgings, or Rubber Products, earn less than 6 per cent upon capitalization for the period. Others, such as Scientific Instruments, Newspapers, Toilet Preparations, earn over 25 per cent. The lowest quarter of the 106 industries earns under 10.6 per cent; the highest quarter, over 15.4 per cent. The median return is 12.6 per cent, as compared with an arithmetic mean of 10.7 per cent. Chart 3, section K shows the distribution of all of these 'ten-year aggregate' figures.

A comparison of this distribution with those for the several individual years of the period (in other parts of Chart 3) does, however, establish the fact that although the tenyear earnings of the different industries in no sense approach uniformity, they do vary somewhat less widely than the earnings rates of any one year. The average departure from the median, in the case of the ten-year figures, is 3.3 per cent, or about one-fourth of the median itself, whereas the average departure in individual years is equal to onethird of the median figure. Likewise the interquartile range for the period is somewhat less than in all individual years. save one. Yet, in spite of this, we are not able to conclude that equality of return in different industries over a period is at all realized. It is not attained, at least, over the tenyear period covered by this investigation. All that can be said is that the rather wide discrepancies found in all individual years are narrowed somewhat over a run of years. But so substantial a variation still remains that no 'leveling mechanism' can be said to operate very effectively, over our ten-year period.

While we do not have continuous data for any longer period it will be of interest briefly to examine those for a somewhat shorter span. The first few years of the period 1919–28 are characterized by rather violent fluctuations in

[84]



business conditions. On the other hand, the last six years, 1923-28, constitute a period of general expansion, broken by recessions far less severe than during the earlier period.¹¹ We may, therefore, survey the 'six-year rates' for this relatively stable period and observe to what extent they differ. from those for the ten-year figures.

Chart 3, section L shows this distribution. It is to be compared with Chart 3, section K. The six-year distribution is roughly symmetrical: the 106 industries are grouped on either side of the median (which is 12.1 per cent) in a somewhat more regular pattern than in the case of the

¹¹ This statement refers, of course, to industrial activity and not to security speculation.

[85]

other distributions. The quartiles, however, are not very different, and the coefficient of variation from the median is only slightly higher than for the ten-year figures.

We leave these distributions without extended comment at this point. But it seems clear that the 'tendency towards equality over a period' is scarcely more effective over a tenyear period than over a six-year one. It would also appear, so far as the evidence goes, that the distorting influences which prevent this tendency from actually working itself out are quite as much in evidence during a stable and prosperous period as over a longer period which includes extreme expansion and depression phases (1919–21) in addition to years of relatively stable prosperity.¹²

3. INVALIDITY OF THE RISK EXPLANATIONS OF DIFFERENT EARNINGS RATES

Without endeavoring in this chapter to account for the non-equality of earnings rates which has been established, we must, however, comment upon one matter. It is fre-

Distorting elements which prevent profits from reaching equality do indeed exist, as our present data show; but they are no more operative in the entire period under survey than in that portion which contains 'normal' years chiefly. In fact, upon the basis of the above ranges and coefficients, they seem even somewhat less operative during the shorter period; but the margins of possible error in the data prevent attaching much importance to this slight difference.

[86]

¹² This conclusion contradicts the tentative hypothesis set forth by R. C. Epstein in Statistical Light Upon Profits, As Analyzed in Recent Literature, *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, February 1930, in which it was said: "Crum (in his *Corporate Earning Power*) alludes to 1926 as 'a fairly typical year' (p. 138). Probably he is right. In the sense of being relatively free from price fluctuations, and from customarily accepted boom or depression characteristics, 1926 was 'normal'. But profits and losses in business appear not merely during such normal years, but in years less typical as well. And it may indeed be that the principal distorting elements which perhaps prevent profits from reaching either relative equality or relative stability, as between different industries and trades, occur during the *non-typical* years which every business repeatedly goes through."

quently said that a tendency to equality between the several industries is operative, 'differences in risks considered'. Such statements are loose and betray a misconception of the problem.

Differences in the degree of risk to which industries are subject, to be sure, do exist. If the hazards are susceptible of close estimation in advance, they may be allowed for. The charge then becomes one for insurance and is deducted from gross income before net earnings appear. If, as is more often the case, no actuarial estimate of such risks is possible, then in the profits of any one (good) year there might appear a component that would properly be characterized as compensation for risk, or more accurately, for the uncertainty attaching to the economic circumstances of an industry in any particular year.¹³ But here what holds true of the short run is emphatically not true of the long run. An excess of return in any one industry over the average rate in a good year, in so far as it constitutes a risk differential, would be received in order to offset a deficiency / of return in a bad year; and if the principle which holds that differences in profits serve to equalize differences in risks were true, the 'differential surpluses' of the good years would, over a period, exactly equal the 'differential deficits') of the poor years.

If this did not occur, then it would always be advantageous to invest capital in the most risky, or rather the most 'uncertain', industries, for they would consistently return earnings (over a time period) at higher than average rates! In other words, the classical doctrine of compensation for risk can properly be applied in the explanation of such differences in earnings rates as exist in any one year, (but not in the explanation of discrepancies that prevail over (

¹¹ See Frank H. Knight, Risk, Uncertainty and Profit (1921).

a long period. Interpreted correctly, the principle of "the tendency towards an equality of profit rates in different industries differences in risk considered", in so far as it operated perfectly, would result in absolutely *no* differences in returns, extraordinary gains and losses combined, over a period sufficiently long to include years in which the hazards were realized.¹⁴ Accordingly, 'differences in risk' can scarcely be said to account for the variation in earnings shown by the ten-year aggregate rates of the 106 industries here under examination.¹⁵

4. PERMANENCE OF THE POSITIONS OF 'HIGH' AND 'LOW' INDUSTRIES

The evidence afforded by the discrepancies found to exist among the 'ten-year earnings rates' of different industries may be supplemented by a somewhat less summary set of analyses. Earnings rates in general, we have found, fail to attain equality over a decade. But exactly how great and 'how continuous are the differences which specific minor

²⁴ Smith and Ricardo were perhaps not so explicit upon this score as might be desired, but a careful reading of Mill or a fair interpretation of Marshall leaves no doubt as to the logic of the position here taken: differences in risk, if compensated accurately, would equalize, not vary rates of return.

¹⁵ This is not to say that capital is not withdrawn from industries in which, over a ten-year or longer period, it receives remuneration at substantially *less* than 'average' rates; in this sense, continued and recurrent uncertainties may affect the decisions of entrepreneurs just because they are not compensated for. The whole question of the calculation of risk is, however, involved, and in most discussions of it, gratuitous assumption and guesswork have played all too prominent parts. The question of the renewal or non-renewal of capital is again mentioned in Ch. 47.

Professor F. C. Mills, in commenting upon the general argument of the text, agrees that differences in risk do not account for the wide variations in earnings shown by our ten-year figures but suggests that the average return in a risky business might in the long run exceed that in a less risky enterprise, "the differential representing a reward for the high (year-to-year) variability of the return".

[88]

groups are able to maintain year by year? Do the influences which in some instances serve to reduce the extreme differential advantages enjoyed by specific industries operate steadily throughout a period or only at certain times? And do any industries manage to escape entirely the 'erosive' influences of competition upon persistently high profit rates?

Numerous statistical measures were applied to our data in an effort to answer these questions as completely as possible. From the several analyses made, two types of approach were finally selected as most suitable for the purpose at hand, in terms of fruitfulness and comparative simplicity alike. Neither method, however, avoids making some demand upon the reader's patience. For the benefit of the non-statistically minded reader, each is explained rather fully.

The first method of approach is to list the 106 industries, for each of the ten years separately, in the order of their respective rates of return upon capitalization in that year. Each list or array is then divided into four equal parts, the points of division being termed 'quartiles'. The 27 industries that are highest in point of net return may be said to stand 'above the first (or upper) quartile'. Similarly, in the list for any year the 27 lowest ranking industries occupy positions below the third (or lower) quartile. The industry at the second (or middle) quartile is the median industry and its rate of return is the median figure.¹⁶

Thus any particular industry, or set of industries, may

¹⁹ In a series of 106 items the twenty-seventh item (counting from either end of the array) is theoretically merely a point of division between groups and does not, strictly speaking, belong to the group of items above or below it. In order, however, to include all of the 106 industries in the analysis, both the twenty-seventh item and the eightieth item have been included in the groups above the first quartile and below the third quartile. There are thus actually 27 items in each of these two groups, and 26 items in each of the two groups between the median and the upper and lower quartiles. See note 5, Ch. 3.

be compared with the median industry in any one year, or its position relative to the quartiles in any year may be traced throughout the period. The same industry might, of course, stand above the first quartile in one year but below it in another. Both with individual industries and with different sets of industries it is of interest to know not merely whether they consistently remain above the highest (or below the lowest) quartiles in position, but also the *extent* to which either their individual or their averaged rates of earnings regularly stand above or below the median figure. Our first method of measuring the degree and the permanence of profit differentials, therefore, consists of counting the changes in position, and examining the earnings rates, of the various minor groups that consistently remained above or below certain division points in the list.

Of the 106 industries four are to be found above the first quartile in all ten years: Scientific Instruments, Toilet Preparations, Miscellaneous Printing and Publishing, and Retail Automobiles. The first three are manufacturing groups, the last a trading group. The Scientific Instrument group includes 23 corporations, with an aggregate capitalization of 149 million dollars (annual average). Its net income upon capitalization ranges from 13.1 to 33.1 per cent per year. In six years of the ten its rate is equal to twice or more that of the median industry in the same year.¹⁷ In no year does the return fail to exceed the median by about one-half.

In the case of Toilet Preparations the group includes only nine corporations. Their aggregate capitalization annually averages about nine million dollars. But on this capitalization three million dollars or over is earned in six of the ten years. The result is a rate of return that is ordinarily

"That is, the coefficient of variation for this one item is always 1.00 or more.'

[90]

two or three times the median figure in each year. Beyond question, the great differentials enjoyed by the companies in this group rest upon the combination of low manufacturing expense and the high market prices that can be obtained for strongly advertised trade marked products.

The Retail Automobiles group comprises 15 corporations with a total investment of 13 million dollars (annual average). This group's variation from the median rate is in some years much like that of the Scientific Instruments group, but shows greater year-to-year fluctuation. Since 1925, however, its differential advantage has declined. Doubtless this is an instance in which the advantage would not be of permanent character if a period longer than ten years were taken, for we know that the secular trend of motor vehicle consumption has changed during the last half of the period. It is also to be noted that the corporations in question are relatively large for retail trading establishments and may not be very typical of motor car and distribution experience as a whole, even for this period.

Of the Miscellaneous Printing and Publishing group nothing need be said here other than to state that in most years the earnings of the 17 companies involved stood at a figure half as large again as the median.

Table 14 shows the ratios by which the earnings rates of the four groups in question exceeded the median rates. In each case the 'median difference coefficient' represents the difference between the group's earnings rate for the year and the median rate, divided by the median rate for the same year.

Although only four of the 106 minor groups are found above the first quartile in every year, two others, Newspapers and Retail Groceries, remained there in all years of the period save one. Details for these and other groups discussed in this section appear in Tables 14 and 15.

TABLE 14

MEDIAN DIFFERENCE COEFFICIENTS, RELATIVELY PROFITABLE INDUSTRIES¹

CROUP NAME	1919	1920	1921	1922	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
Above first quartile during ten years											
Miscellaneous printing and publishing	.47	2.23	2.44	.92	.31	.55	.74	.53	.66	.55	
Toilet preparations	.85	.39	3.11	2.91	1.48	2.30	1.63	1.30	1.58	1.31	
Scientific instruments	.56	.57	.85	1.26	1.00	.47	1.35	1.36	1.31	1.48	
Retail automobiles	2.86	1.42	.56	1.15	.91	1.22	1.71	.85	.61	.65	
Above first quartile during nine years											
Newspapers		1.13	2.03	1.64	.87	1.14	.48	1.38	1.17	1.41	
Retail groceries	.40		2.68	1.01	.55	1.06	.71	.74	1.02	.96	
Above median during ten years											
Boots and shoes	.56	.29	.61	.50	.13	.44	.31	.22	.61	.35	
Newspapers	.25	1.13	2.03	1.64	.87	1.14	.48	1.38	1.17	1.41	
Miscellaneous printing and publishing	.47	2.23	2.44	.92	.31	.55	.74	.53	•.66	.55	
Proprietary preparations	.31	.21	.61	.92	.35	.72	.71	.78	1.07	.98	
Toilet preparations	.85	.39	3.11	2.91	1.48	2.30	1.63	1.30	1.58	1.31	H
Road machinery	.27	.56	.23	.03	.34	.66	.48	.40	.44	.55	Z
Motor vehicles	.83	.30	.18	.86	.45	.52	.93	.66	.48	.46	9
Scientific instruments	.56	.57	.85	1.26	1.00	.47	1.35	1.36	1.31	1.48	9
Retail automobiles	2.86	1.42	.56	1.15	.91	1.22	1.71	.85	.61	.65	പ്
Retail groceries	.40	.14	2.68	1.01	.55	1.06	.71	.74	1.02	.96	
Above median during nine years											្ព
Furniture	.46	.73	.18	.49	.28	.32	.34	.22	.07		
Job printing		.86	.85	.23	.09	.36	.21	.16	.17	.26	- 14
Paints	.28	.17		.47	.20	.30	.29	.24	.19	.35	ਮ
Glass	.38	1.28	.34	.29	.66	.52	.26	.09	••	.07	ਸ਼ੋ
Textile machinery	.29	.22	2.18	.64	.28	••	.20	.15	.46	.33	Ö
Тоуз	.24	.74	.58		.10	.38	.26	.12	.37	.46	ъ
Miscellaneous special manufacturing	.24	.28	.49	.49	.24	.04		.26	.21	.13	H H
¹ See text for explanation.											5

[92]

The six groups just discussed all maintained positions above the first quartile for either nine or ten years. But what is the situation with respect to the groups that remained continuously, or almost continuously, below the third quartile?

Only one industry, Meat Packing, persistently retains sufficiently large (negative) differentials to place it below the lowest quartile in all ten years.¹⁸ Regularly over the ten-year period the rate of return in this group falls far short of the median figure. For the ten-year period the aggregate rate of return in Meat Packing is 1.9 per cent as compared with the median group's ten-year aggregate rate of 12.6 per cent.

Four groups remained in the lowest division in every year except one. Two are manufacturing groups, Beverages and Castings and Forgings. The latter contains 99 corporations with an aggregate capital of about \$3.4 billion (annual average). On this capital it earns in most years less than 8 per cent. From 1923 to 1928, the degree to which its earnings stand below the median changed hardly at all.

The other two industries that remained below the third quartile in all years except one are mining groups, Gas and Oil Wells, and Metals (ferrous and other). In the case of Gas and Oil Wells, however, the regularly low earnings may be more apparent than real because of the accounting practices in the matter of depletion that are peculiar to this field.¹⁹ It is here somewhat difficult to distinguish the causes of low return due to the aleatory character of the industry from those due to the peculiar circumstances of accounting and valuation methods.

¹² In the case of these negative differentials the 'median difference coefficient' is, of course, the amount by which the group rate falls short of the median, divided by the median figure.

¹⁹ See Ch. 25, where so-called 'discovery depletion' and related matters are discussed.

5. PERMANENT POSITIONS OF GROUPS ABOVE AND BELOW THE MEDIAN

A similar analysis may be made of the comparative profitableness of those industries that remained above the median in all years. This set of industries comprises ten groups. If we average their several median difference coefficients, we find that these ten industries regularly earned from about one and one-half to two times the median rate, and that, from 1924 to 1928, the differential scarcely narrowed at all.

If to these ten industries we add the seven that remained above the median in all years but one, we have 17 groups in the 'almost permanently-above-the-median' category.

Take now those groups that remained *below* the median in all years, as well as those which did so in all years but one. In the first category are seven groups, in the second, .six. In some instances, for example, in Railway Equipment and in Rubber, declining secular rates of growth in the industry may partly account for the persistently poor showing, but in most instances such an obvious explanation is not apparent. The seven groups that remain below the median in all years average a 'median difference' which in most years amounts to at least 50 per cent of the median itself. Data for all groups discussed in this section appear in Tables 14 and 15.

6. SPECIFIC PROGRESS OF THE LEADING GROUPS OF EACH YEAR

Another method of analysis, in our search for measures of the permanence or non-permanence of differences in earnings rates, may now be employed. This is not to isolate the industries that remain above or below any quartile or

		Таві	в 15								× S
MEDIAN DIFF	ERENCE UNPROFI	COEF TABLE	FICIEN E INDU	ITS FO Istrie	OR REL S'	ATIVE.	ELY				TES
CROUP NAME	<i>1919</i>	<i>1920</i>	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1 92 7	1928	-
Below third quartile during ten years Meat packing	1.17	.98	1.99	.86	.73	.61	.74	.50	.79	.58	N D
Below inita quarine auting nine years Beverages	1.09	.99	.87	.76	.57	.74	.46	.48	.59		L F
Castings and forgings	.46		1.06	.85	.52	.59	.54	.38	.59	.45	-
Gas and oil wells	.76		.85	1.08	1.13	.89	.84	.69	.72	.47	(H)
Metals (mining)	.93	.91	1.32	.96	.78	.78	.62	.61	.64		R
Below median during ten years											E
Meat packing	1.17	.98	1.99	.86	.73	.61	.74	.50	.79	.58	Z
Beverages	1.09	.99	.87	.76	.57	.74	.46	.48	.59	.22	, H
Miscellaneous food products	.18	.51	1.76	.43	.35	.15	.45	.27	.35	.15)
Castings and forgings	.46	.26	1.06	.85	.52	.59	.54	.38	.59	.45	Z
Railway equipment	.20	.25	.39	.47	.06	.26	.57	.39	.49	.69	Ð
Gas and oil wells	.76	.23	.85	1.08	1.13	.89	.84	.69	.72	.47	C
Metals (mining)	.93	.91	1.32	.96	.78	.78	.62	.61	.64	.23	0
Below median during nine years											
Rubber products	.10	.85	2.77	.74	.58	.36	• •	.31	.37	.88	- 2
Blank paper	,38		.73	.51	.31	.08	.44	.47	.48	.54	E.
Wholesale drygoods		.62	.14	.15	.12	.35	.26	.45 ′	.17	.24	6
Wholesale hardware	.01		1.21	.32	.98	.40	.30	.38	.29	.22	
Wholesale paper	.15		1.38	.27	.07	.07	.15	.33	.23	.07	
Wholesale groceries	••	.67	.63	.15	.23	.05	.24	.38	.11	.33	

'See text for explanation.

[95]

other division point throughout successive years, but to take the highest or the lowest industries of each year and, whatever their positions in succeeding years, ascertain the degree to which they maintain or lose their advantage or disadvantage.

Specifically, we take the 27 highest ranking industries in, say, 1919 (those above the first quartile) and tabulate the amount by which the return in each exceeds the median rate. We then total these differences and divide by the number of industries (27). This gives us the average amount by which the return of the 27 industries exceeds the median rate. To illustrate, in 1919—a highly prosperous year—the median return is 21.2 per cent. Some of the highest 27 industries earn over 45 per cent, others around 30 per cent; they average an earnings rate of 37.5 per cent as compared with the median, as we have termed it in another connection earlier in this chapter, we may now, in accordance with the language of statistics, term the average deviation.²⁰

But for purposes of comparison with the deviations prevailing in other years, such an average deviation can best be expressed as a ratio to the median itself. In this instance we regard the difference of 16.29 not as 16.29 but as about three-quarters (.77) of the median rate, 21.2. Again in the language of statistics this figure of .77 we may term the coefficient of variation. It expresses the degree to which the several rates of earnings in the 27 highest industries

²⁰ Deviations may, of course, be based upon other averages than the median as statistically conversant readers are aware. To such readers much of the explanation contained in this and other chapters of Book I will prove somewhat tedious because of its elementary character. But in view of the needs of other readers, some prolixity of explanation as well as a relative simplicity of statistical methods seems desirable, at least throughout Book L. However, for the sake of accuracy of expression, it is perhaps wise to employ the terminology of statistics in most instances where repeated use is made of the same statistical device. vary, on an average, from the median rate. It will be noted that this comparison is relative rather than absolute—the median is divided into the average of the deviations from it, and the resulting coefficient simply shows the proportion of the median which the average deviation is. For this reason, coefficients of average deviation afford better comparisons, between data of different years, than do the absolute deviations themselves, and will thus be employed throughout the remainder of this chapter.

We take, then, the industries that are the 27 highest in point of earnings in 1919, and analyze the earnings rates of those same industries in each of the succeeding nine years. If a tendency towards equality between different industries were effective, the coefficient of variation for these 27 industries would steadily decline, and to the extent that this tendency operated perfectly, would approach zero. Chart 5 shows that the coefficient does indeed decline at first; during the first five years the excessively large variation of these 27 groups' earnings from the median rate is reduced. The ratio falls from .77 in 1919 to .33 in 1923. But from 1923 through 1928 the average advantage of these 27 industries is consistently maintained; their earnings are always from .33 to .46 in excess of the median figure (that is, are from 1.33 to 1.46 times it). The course of these coefficients may be traced in Chart 5, while Table 16 gives them in numerical form.

In similar fashion coefficients are computed for the 27 industries that stood highest in 1920 (some of which were found above the first quartile in 1919, others not), and these same industries are then followed through the remaining years of the period.

Exactly the same analysis is applied to the highest industries of 1921, 1922, 1923 and 1924 respectively. The results of the several analyses, data for all of which are

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

COEFFICIENTS OF VARIATION OF 27 HIGHEST MINOR GROUPS IN EACH YEAR, 1919-24, FOLLOWED THROUGH SUCCESSIVE YEARS1 1.00 .75 -50 -25 ۵ 1.00 .75 .50 -25 o 1.00 .75 •50 .25 0 ' **1.00** .75 . .50 .25 0 1.00 **75**، .50 .25 0 1.00 .75 .50 .25 0 1928 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1928 1927

CHART 5

[98]

SEE TEXT.

А	TABLE 16AVERAGE DEVIATIONS AND COEFFICIENTS OF VARIATION FOR PERCENTAGES OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, 27 HIGHEST MINOR GROUPS 1									
	1919	1920	19 21	<i>1922</i>	1923	1924	1925	1926	<i>192</i> 7	1928
Average deviation Coefficient	16.289 .768	8.863 .629	5.878 .828	7.259 .534	4.737 .331	5.241 .460	5.211 .424	4.856 .388	1.930 .361	4.230
Average deviation Coefficient		12.759 .905	5.659 .797	7.000	5.541 .387	4.985 .437	5.026 .409	4.833 .387	4.319 .396	4.470
Average deviation Coefficient			7.900 1.113	8.707 .640	5.081 .355	5.604 .492	5.244 .426	5.748 .460	5.281 .484	5.419 .493
Average deviation Coefficient	······································			10.741 .790	5.778 .404	5.930 .520	5.933 .482	5.719 .458	5.070 .465	4.978 .453
Average deviation Coefficient					7.111 .497	5.967 .523	6.311 .513	5.807 .465	4.770 .438	5.252 .477
Average deviation Coefficient						8.137 .714	6.948 .565	6.341 .507	6.022 .552	5.89
¹ See text for explan	ation.								۱. -	

[99]

ᄫ
shown in Chart 5 and Table 16, are identical in that the earnings differentials are in all cases permanent. In the three series starting before 1922 a marked decline in the coefficient takes place after 1921, but in nearly all of the series the coefficients exhibit no appreciable fall from 1923 on.

That the coefficients in several instances do show a substantial decline after the first year or two might seem to indicate that competition, while not serving to equalize profit rates, reduces excessive discrepancies. But a careful examination of these figures, and other rather complicated data related to them, reveals that two fortuitous factors are mainly responsible for the initial, but really specious, declines in the coefficients. The first is the presence, in any given year, of a few very high earnings rates enjoyed by industries that are not persistently 'big money-makers'. The second is the excessively low average or median rate of earnings in 1921. A coefficient of variation affords a better measure of relative disparities than does the mere average deviation itself, but the coefficient may nevertheless be unstable and misleading if considered apart from fluctuations of the average on which it is based. In this case, that average is the median return for our 106 groups, and this figure fell from 21.2 in 1919 and 17.9 in 1920 to 7.1 per cent in 1921. It then jumped to 13.6 per cent in 1922.

In other words a large part of the explanation of the initial fall in the coefficients of Table 16 is that a year of depression such as 1921 brings about temporarily greater relative differentials in the standing of profitable industries relative to the median group because the latter in such a year shows a very much lower figure.²¹ When recovery occurs the following year, the median return rises more sharply

ⁿ Mrs. John D. Sumner has given valuable criticism and aid in the interpretation of the misleading initial declines of these coefficients. than the earnings rates of the most profitable groups (in general); and the relative differential between the median and the rates of the 'high groups' is reduced—not because the earnings rates of the latter (in general) *decline* but because the median rate rises. Competition does not greatly reduce the earning power of the high groups, but general cyclical improvement disproportionately enhances that of the others. This is evident if one glances at Table 17. The median increased from 7.1 in 1921 to 13.6 in 1922, or nearly doubled. (Similarly, the arithmetic mean of the 106 groups jumped from 4.4 to 10.6.) The average earnings rates of the 27 groups which were highest in 1921, however, increased only from 15.0 to 21.8, or by less than one-half.

As final evidence that the initial declines in the coefficients are largely spurious, so far as signifying any very effective tendency towards an equality of profit rates is concerned, we may 'run back' all of our computations into earlier years, that is, in the case of the ten industries that were highest in 1920, calculate their average deviations and coefficients for 1919; similarly, in the case of the highest industries for 1921, calculate their coefficients for 1920 and 1919, etc. When this is done, the 1919 coefficients for all series are much smaller than those for 1921: most of them are roughly half as large. And, roughly again, all of the 1919 coefficients are the same size as the 1928 figures. In other words, no marked reduction in the average deviation of any of these series from the median, in relative terms, took place over the ten years in question. Table 18 repeats the data of Table 16, but contains, in addition, data for the years preceding that in which the industries of each series are the ten highest. The figures for that year-the year of origin for each series, as it were-are shown in italics.

We are thus forced to conclude that the industries in which earnings exceed the median return by the largest rela-

			Таві	Le 17								
	AVERA E	AGE EARNINGS RA Ach year 1919–28, years and 1	TE, 27 TRACI RUN BA	HIGH ED TH ACK TI	IEST N IROUG HROUG	MINOR H SUC H 1919	GROU CESSIV	IPS IN E	ſ			02]
		(Arithmetic mean a for	nd med all 100	lian fig 6 grou _j	ures sh ps)	own fi	rst are					
10.10		1919	1920	1921	<i>1922</i>	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
Arithmetic mean Median		17.1 21.2										
Average rate, 27	groups	37.5	17.9	9.6	19.4	16.9	13.6	15.7	14.6	13.8	13.1	
1920 Arithmetic mean			11.6									
Median Average rate, 27	21011Da	27.0	14.1 26.9	8.7	17.9	17.3	14.2	15.1	14.5	12.5	13.1	н
1021	81-	_,,,,										N
Arithmetic mean Median				4.4 7.1			. •					sΩc
Average rate, 27	groups	27.8	16.9	15.0	21.8	18.1	15.5	16.2	15.7	14.6	14.2	TF
1922 Arithmetic mean					10.6							I A I
Median Average rate, 27	groups	29.8	17.8	13.4	13.6 24.3	19.7	17.0	17.2	16.8	15.0	14.8	P
1923 Arithmetia mann						10.0						RO
Median Average rate, 27	Proune	27.8	20.4	11.6	22.7	10.9 14.3 21.4	17 2	177	17.2	14.9	14.6	FIT
	Pronha	47.8	4V. 1	11'0	44.1	41. +	17.4	17.7	11.4	14.0	14.0	Ű

1924 Arithmetic mean Median Average rate, 27 groups	27.4	17.8	11.7	20.8	19.7	9.6 11.4 19.5	18.8	18.6	16.3	16.2	RATES
1925 Arithmetic mean							11.3				IN
Median Average rate, 27 groups	27.0	16.7	10.5	21.1	19.1	18.0	12.3 19.7	19.0	16.7	16.3	DI
1926 Arithmetic mean Median Average rate, 27 groups	27.2	16.4	10.0	20.3	18.8	••••	18.6	11.5 12.5 19.6	17.1	17.0	FFERE
1927 Arithmetic mean Median Average rate, 27 groups	27.0	17.0	10.9	20.0	18.5	17.2	19.0	19.2	9.8 10.9 18.3	17.5	NT IND
1928 Arithmetic mean Median Average rate, 27 groups	26.8	15.9	9.3	18.6	17.6	16.6	18.4	19.0	`17 .2	10.7 11.0 18.2	USTRIES

TABLE 18

[104]

AVERAGE DEVIATIONS AND COEFFICIENTS OF VARIATION FOR PERCENTAGES OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, 27 HIGHEST MINOR GROUPS¹

	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Average deviation	16.289	8.863	5.878	7.259	4.737	5.241	5.211	4.856	3.930	4.230
Coefficient	.768	.629	.828	.534	.331	.460	.424	.388	.361	.385
Average deviation	10.322	12.759	5.659	7.000	5.541	4.985	5.026	4.833	4.319	4.470
Coefficient	.487	.905	.797		.387	.437	.409	.387	.396	.406
Average deviation	9.422	6.837	7.900	8.707	5.081	5.604	5.244	5.748	5.281	5.419
Coefficient	. 414	.485	1.113	.640	.355	.492	.426	.460	.484	.493
Average deviation	11.041	7.204	6.693	10.7 <i>41</i>	5.778	5.930	5.933	5.719	5.070	4.978
Coefficient	.521	.511	.943	.790	.404	.520	.482	.458	.465	.453
Average deviation	10.096	7.752	6.163	9.078	7.111	5.967	6.311	5.807	4.770	5.252
Coefficient	.476		.868	.668	.497	.523	.513	.465	.438	.477
Average deviation	9.152	9.085	5.681	7.856	5.763	8.137	6.948	6.341	6.022	5.896
Coefficient	.432	.644	.800	.578	.403	.714	.565	.507	.552	.536
¹ See text for explanation.										

tive amounts in any one year lose no significant part of their high relative earning power over a six-, eight- or even tenyear period. Indeed except for such temporary changes in . average levels of earnings as accompany a year of marked depression, they retain a rather constant measure of advantage. This dictum does not necessarily apply to every individual industry that enjoys a large advantage in a particular year, but is based upon averages illustrative of the general situation.²²

Much the same sort of process is at work in the case of the industries which stand, not highest, but lowest in each year. Taking the 27 minor groups standing under the lowest quartile in 1919, we find their coefficient of variation to be .50. By 1922 it falls to .37, but it continues regularly to stand at about that figure. Table 19 presents the data for the 1919 'low' groups and those starting with other years.

In the second and third of these cases, those of the industries standing lowest in 1920 and 1921 respectively, there is a sharp fall in the coefficient after one or two years that is, the average return in the 'low' industries rises greatly. But for the remainder of the period this return remains definitely and steadily below the median rates. In the case of the last three series, those starting in 1922, 1923 and 1924 respectively, the fall (denoting an increase in the relative prosperity of the 'low' industries) is not so marked. Perhaps this is because 1922–24 were not as extreme years, cyclically speaking, after which readjustments could be expected to take place, as were 1919–21.

²⁵ Although these coefficients are derived from arithmetic means, they are not as non-typical as most arithmetic averages. It is to be noted that the selection of the items is such that *all* the components of each series stand above the first quartile in the initial year. Thus the mean of the deviations from the median is not so much influenced by the presence of extreme variants from the central figure, or by an extreme range, as it would be were all items of the entire range employed as components—as was done in some earlier sections of this chapter.

٠

TABLE 19

AVERAGE DEVIATIONS AND COEFFICIENTS OF VARIATION FOR PERCENTAGES OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, 27 LOWEST MINOR GROUPS'

	1919	1920	1921	<i>1922</i>	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
Average deviation Coefficient	10.530 .497	6.556 .465	4.019 .566	5.004 .368	4.448 .311	3.719 .326	3.959 .322	4.119 .330	4.081 .374	3.615 .329	
Average deviation Coefficient		9.674 .686	5.285 .744	4.544	4.204 .294	3.915 .343	3.581	4.252 ,340	3.826 .351	4.022 .366	
Average deviation Coefficient			8.763 1.234	5.737 .422	4.993 .349	3.570 .313	4.185 .340	3.819 .306	3.504 .321	3.856 .351	11
Average deviation Coefficient				6.896 .507	5.589 .391	3.985 .350	4.037 ,328	3.930 .314	3.693 ,339	3.852 .350	DU
Average deviation Coefficient					6.485 .453	4.207 .369	4.141	4.122 .330	3.304 .303	3.622 ,329	STRI
Average deviation Coefficient						5.367 .471	4.470	4.881 .390	3.589 .329	4.215 .383	[A]
¹ See text for explanation.											PROFITS

.

Our conclusion here is thus more tempered than in the case of the highest ranking industries above discussed, but it remains true that the industries showing low earnings in any one year, while tending to lose *some* of their disadvantage, still permanently retain a substantial and rather constant measure of disadvantage.

If, as corroborative evidence of a more extreme sort, we perform similar analyses upon, not the 27 highest or lowest of our 106 industries, but upon the ten highest and lowest groups of each year, we again obtain approximately the same results. These are presented in Tables 20 and 21. The coefficients are, of course, larger. The initial declines that occur are sharper. But even towards the ends of the several spans of years in question the coefficients never go below .24, and the advantage or disadvantage of both sets of groups is permanent for the period. Here again the sharp initial declines suggest that competitive influences, cyclical readjustments, technological changes, and consumption shifts all do indeed force some reduction of extreme differ-) entials, whether positive or negative. But the regular persistence of the coefficients above zero also affords clear evidence that competitive influences do not serve to bring about equality, over the period of years under survey, in different industries. Whether any greater tendency towards such an approximate equality would assert itself over longer than a ten-year period cannot, of course, be told.

Undoubtedly the highly specialized character of much fixed capital in modern industry, making it difficult if not impossible to withdraw all of the capital of an enterprise over a ten-year period, is one factor that prevents whatever 'tendencies towards equality' that may exist from becoming effective. Many enterprises that do not earn returns at rates that accord with the expectations of their owners still continue in business, for a smaller return is better than

TABLE 20

AVERAGE DEVIATIONS AND COEFFICIENTS OF VARIATION FOR PERCENTAGES OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, 10 HIGHEST MINOR GROUPS¹

	1919	1920	1921	1922	<u>1923</u>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
Average deviation Coefficient	24.25 1.144	7.51 .533	5.08 .715	9.76 .718	5.83 .408	6.89 .604	7.02 .571	5.40 .432	4.46 .409	4.54 .413	
Average deviation Coefficient		19.86 1.409	6.73 .948	8.46 .622	6.15 .430	5.26 .461	5.38 .437	5.07 .406	4.71 ,432	4.41 .401	
Average deviation Coefficient			12.96 1.825	14.88 1.094	7.47	8.02 .704	6.06 .493	7.49 .599	7.61 .698	6.90 .627	IN
Average deviation Coefficient			<u>-</u> -	18.21 1.339	10.0 2 .701	9.35 .820	10.02 .815	9.43 .754	8.38 .769	8.79 .799	DUS
Average deviation Coefficient					11.27 .788	9.41 .825	8.79 .715	8.08 .646	6.69 .614	7.34	TRI
Average deviation Coefficient			/			12.24 1.074	8.83 .718	8.40 .672	8.22 .754	8.02 .729	AL :
¹ See text for explanation.											PROFI
											T S

AVERAGE DEVIATIONS AND COEFFICIENTS OF VARIATION FOR PERCENTAGES OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, 10 LOWEST MINOR GROUPS¹

TABLE 21

	PERCENTAGES OF NE	ST INC Frt Mi	NOP C	TO CA	1	IZATI	UN,			
Average deviation Coefficient	1919 15.25 .719	<i>1920</i> 8.19 .581	1921 5.69 .801	1922 8.07 .593	<i>1923</i> 8.00 .559	<i>1924</i> 6.15 .539	<i>1925</i> 6.60 .537	<i>1926</i> 5.80 .464	<i>1927</i> 5.49 .504	1928 3.77 .343
Average deviation Coefficient		14.87 1.055	7.94 1.118	6.30 .463	6.07 .424	6.62 .581	5.68 .462	6.67 .534	5.96 .547	5.87 .534
Average deviation Coefficient		<u>.</u>	12.88 1.814	6.92 .509	5.43 .380	3.24 .284	3.66 .298	3.71 .297	2.62 .240	3.70 .336
Average deviation Coefficient				10.35 .761	8.31 .581	5.69 .499	5.86 .476	5.18 .414	5.02 .461	4.30 .391
Average deviation Coefficient					9.86 .690	6.14 .539	5.95 .484	5.34 .427	4.84 .444	3.89 .354
Average deviation Coefficient						8.00 .702	6.99 ,568	6.78 .542	5.06 .464	4.51 .410

¹See text for explanation.

[109]

Ħ AT Ħ s

> m z

[110]

none at all; were production entirely abandoned, all fixed capital investment of a specialized character might be completely lost. In extreme cases operations may be continued for considerable periods even though the product is sold at an absolute loss, if prices that repay something more than prime costs (direct labor and material) are realized. Then, too, under the corporate form of enterprise, reorganization is far more frequent than liquidation. Old enterprises are not discontinued in one field and new ones readily started in another. The old shell-the framework of the enterprise-continues; but policies are drastically altered, methods are changed, executive personnel is replaced. The corporation may remain in the same industry, but its activities are reorganized and reoriented. New types of product within the same general field may be developed: and these new products or methods may prove no more successful competitively than their predecessors. At all events, it is often a long time before an unsuccessful corporation gives up the struggle entirely. Even then, the enterprise frequently disappears in name only; if the establishment is of any size, it may be absorbed by, or merged with, some other concern.

When reorganizations or mergers of this sort take place, 'capital values' are written down on the books of the unsuccessful corporation, or the fact of failure to earn a satisfactory return is recognized by the payment of far smaller amounts, in cash or stock, for the securities of the unsuccessful companies, than the sums that have been invested in them. In other words, declines in capital values are often formally recognized by owners or purchasers of unsuccessful enterprises, but the physical plant is not abandoned or even necessarily devoted to other uses. It may continue to produce the same products, but since book investment has been lowered, the same earnings as before will show as a higher rate of return on the capital as currently valued. Practices such as these do not affect our figures for industries of low return in the sense that the discrepancy between them and the median industry is accentuated, for, as just stated, the 'new' rate of return after capital values are written down is higher than the old and tends to raise the apparent earnings level of the industry in question. But such practices do throw light upon the reasons why ten-year differences in earnings rates prevail in spite of such recapitalizations: the recapitalization device is utilized just because large, specialized corporate capitals usually can not be withdrawn in the physical sense.

Finally, the imperfect character of competition-the prevalence of trade-marks, special designs of products, quasi-monopoly advantages of all sorts-serves also to explain why the tendency towards equality is not realized. Just as the classical doctrine of value-the standard explanation of the prices of individual commodities-assumed that the price of an article could not long remain much below cost of production because capital would be withdrawn from the field of enterprise, so did it also assume that new producers would soon enter the field were price long above cost of manufacture. It was thus tacitly assumed that what one producer could do, another could and would do; that identical products, in other words, are offered by different producers competing for the consumer's favor. The manufacture and sale of modern trade-marked products and specialty goods, however, do not fit this description. Great numbers of consumer goods commonly used todayautomobiles, radios, vacuum cleaners, washing machines, electric cooking devices, furniture, even many articles of clothing and numerous food specialties-are given highly distinctive characters by virtue of their differentiated designs and particular specifications. The same is true of some producers' goods—machinery of different types designed to perform the same kinds of work. So long as different sets of purchasers either see or are led to believe they see advantages of the one product over the other, the markets for such products will not be fully competitive in the orthodox sense of that term. And competition, while preventing the very large net revenues that might accrue under conditions of real monopoly, will not necessarily equalize returns between either industries or enterprises.

The character of modern manufacturing and merchandising, therefore, furnishes some explanation of the lack of uniformity in the average profit rates of large corporations, when classed by industries, for two important conditions essential to perfect competition-a quick mobility of capital and a homogeneity of competing products-are absent in a large proportion of industries. To be sure, a substantial mobility of capital exists over a period of time. But, on the side of withdrawal, this mobility exists in the possibility of not creating new plant and organizations of particular types rather than in withdrawing from service those that at any given time are under way. We do not thus undertake to say that the classical doctrine of equality of profit rates is invalid as a 'tendency'; but we do say that under modern conditions, as they existed in 1919-28, the evidence seems clear that the tendency was scarcely effective over this tenvear period.28

³⁴ Whether or not a long-run tendency' ought to show an effect over a ten-year period depends upon one's definition of long-run'. The writer's feeling is that a fairly considerable effect ought to be noted within *ten* years if over, say, fifteen or twenty years the tendency really works out as alleged. But present data relate to ten years only.

Probably the persistence in an individual industry of an earnings rate far lower than the median figure would indeed not continue for several decades if the rate fell much short of the 'normal' interest rate or the cost of borrowed capital. Nor might an earnings rate in an individual industry, even if equal to this cost, persist for several decades at a level far below the median—assuming that the median were known. Either or both of these

RATES IN DIFFERENT INDUSTRIES

[113]

situations might cause the withdrawal of capital or its 'non-renewal' in one industry, and its investment in another. To grant deductively that secular trends in one industry may serve to cause the eventual withdrawal of capital is one thing; but to allege that this process results in an equality of the rate of earnings upon capital *between* industries over a period is quite another. Sometimes it results, as in the case of wagon manufacture, in a gradual collapse of the entire industry. And returns in the successor industry can hardly be added to losses of the capital employed in the predecessor and 'averaged' so as to see if equality with other industries over a quarter-century or more perhaps results.

Statistically it would be interesting to have data for twenty or thirty years running, but the problems of classification and analysis would be more difficult, and the results in some ways accordingly less significant, than with data covering only a ten-year period. See Ch. 46 on industrial classification; see also Ch. 47, where the question of the non-renewal of capital is again touched upon.

CHAPTER 4

RETURN UPON SALES IN DIFFERENT INDUSTRIES

1. SALES AND INVESTMENT: CAPITAL TURNOVER

THUS far, our discussion of earnings rates has been restricted either to the return on capitalization or to that on total capital. These indeed are the most fundamental measures of earning power. But another measure of profitableness that calls for examination, even though it is not of the same ultimate significance as the return upon capital, is that of the relation of net earnings to sales.

There is a close connection, of course, between the two measures. The one "expresses the rate of return on the investment, the other the margin of profit on the volume which produced that return".¹ If an industry or a company 'turns over' its capital exactly once during the year, that is, if the sales for the year are equal to the average investment of capital during that year, then its percentage of return upon sales exactly corresponds with that upon investment. Actually, however, the rate of capital turnover is seldom such that sales and investment precisely equal each other. Some enterprises and some industries, for example Meat Packing, turn over their capital four or five times in

¹ James H. Bliss, Financial and Operating Ratios in Management (1923), p. 65.

[114]

the course of a year; others, such as Factory Machinery, evidence annual sales of only about one-half or two-thirds the amount of their capital. Accordingly, differences between industries in the rates of return upon sales cannot be taken as indicative of differences in ultimate profitableness. although changes in the rate of return upon sales, if no substantial alteration in capital turnover takes place during the same period, of course suggest changes in the rate of earnings upon investment. As a measure of cyclical conditions, therefore, the return upon sales is of importance.² In any event, the business world commonly attaches sufficient importance to the relation between net earnings and sales to justify analysis of the ratio in this chapter. It is clearly to be borne in mind, however, that this measure of earning power is often more useful as an operating ratio to be employed in the current observation and control of particular enterprises than in general considerations relating to the theory of profits, and the qualifications that attach to such broader use should not be neglected.

This chapter will consider only the minor groups that make up the Manufacturing and Trade divisions. While sales and gross income (more accurately, aggregate receipts) figures are available for Mining and Finance respectively, those data⁸ are either incomplete or else made up in a different way than the data for Manufacture and Trade, and are thus not really comparable with the sales

³ This is largely the point of view from which William L. Crum's Corporate Earning Power (1929) is written. That volume presents a comprehensive and scholarly analysis of the rate of net income to aggregate receipts (which in Manufacturing and Trade are virtually tantamount to sales volume, sales in all manufacturing industries combined being about 60/63 of Crum's 'gross income'), both by industrial divisions and by what in this book are termed 'major groups' within the Manufacturing division, but not by specific industries or minor groups. The trends of absolute sales figures, by minor groups, are discussed in Ch. 7 of the present volume.

⁸ See Ch. 25 and 26.

figures of the two latter divisions. Nor will any effort be made, even within the Manufacturing and Trade divisions. to carry out the same detailed analysis of the positions of the several minor groups as was undertaken in Chapter 3 in connection with the return upon investment. If the return on sales were of as great ultimate significance as that upon capital, such an elaborated analysis might be warranted. But since that is not the case, this chapter will present only the outline figures, will point out such discrepancies as regularly exist between rates of capital turnover, and will leave to the accountant or other interested reader any more extended analysis of these sales data, all of which are given in detailed tables either here or elsewhere in the book." This comment concerning the limited significance of sales data, however, applies only to the rate of return on sales in one industry as compared with another, either at any one time or for an aggregate of years. With respect to year-toyear changes-or their absence-and the rate of sales growth in particular industries, much will be said in Chapter 7.

2. RETURN ON SALES AND CAPITAL: ALL MANUFACTURING

The 2,046 large manufacturing corporations for which we have a continuous ten-year series of data earn an average return which runs from 3.1 per cent upon sales in poor years to 10 or 11.5 per cent in good years. Chart 6 shows the annual rates. These general average figures for All Manufacture do not differ very strikingly from the ratios shown in Chapter 2 for the return upon capitalization. In 1924-28 they run fairly close to those for the percentage

[116]

⁴ Under the headings of particular major and minor groups in Ch. 9-14, for the large corporations series, and Ch. 28-42, for the small corporations series.

٥

1919

1920

of net profit to total capital, which for convenience are charted with them.

The ten-year aggregate figure for the rate of return on sales in Manufacture is 9.1 per cent, whereas that upon



capitalization is 10.8. In 1928 the return on sales is 9.7 per cent, while that on total capital is 10.6. In other words, in the Manufacturing division as a whole the rate of capital turnover is roughly one.⁵

1923

1924

1922

1921

1926

1927

1928

1925

3. RETURN ON SALES AND CAPITAL: MINOR MANUFACTUR-ING GROUPS

This average relationship, however, is very far from holding true in many of the 73 individual industries that compose the Manufacturing division. In these particular minor groups the return upon sales, in 1928, ranges from 0.8 per cent in Meat Packing to 28.8 per cent in Miscellaneous Chemicals. The median industry, which in that year

⁶This conclusion pertains to the large corporations series here discussed, but it also holds as a general statement. See note 7 for the definition of capital turnover, as the term is employed here. For all manufacturing corporations in the country sales in 1928 equalled \$64,361,000,000 whereas capitalization as here defined equalled \$53,919,000,000 and total capital, \$59,790,-000,000 (the investment data are estimates as explained in Appendix A).

happens to be either Boots and Shoes or Toys (the return is the same in both industries), earns 10.3 per cent on its sales volume. Table 22 gives the data for 1928⁶ as well as the capital turnover figures, that is, the quotients obtained by dividing the sales by the capitalization figures.⁷

TABLE 22

73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS, RETURN ON SALES AND RATE OF CAPITAL TURNOVER, 1928

MINOR		PERCENTAGE	CAPITAL
GROUP		RETURN ON SALES	TURNOVER
1	Bakery products	12.9	1.4
2	Flour	3.4	3.5
3	Confectionery	14.5	1.0
4	Package foods	7.5	2.4
5	Dairying	4.5	2.2
6	Canned goods	8.6	1.5
7	Meat packing	.8	5.7
9	Beverages	15.8	.5
10	Tobacco	11.2	1.4
11-8	Miscellaneous food products	8.4	1.1
12	Cotton spinning	6.3	1.5
13	Cotton converting	6.9	1.2
14	Cotton weaving	4.6	1.0
15	Weaving woolens	1.8	.9
16	Silk weaving	3.8	1.2
17	Carpets	7.3	.9
18	Men's clothing	7.8	1.5
19	Knit goods	8.0	1.4
20	Miscellaneous clothing	7.1	1.7
21	Miscellaneous textiles	6.6	1.2
22	Boots and shoes	10.3	1.4
23	Miscellaneous leather products	3.1	1.7
24	Rubber products	.8	1.6
25	Lumber manufacture	10.5	.7

⁶ Data for other years are given in Ch. 10-20.

^t Sales divided by total capital would theoretically be a better way in which to calculate these ratios, but total capital figures are not available for the first five years of the period. The 'capital turnover' here arrived at is really the turnover of stockholders' equity; but since funded debt is relatively small in most of the minor groups of Manufacture in question, the difference between the two results is not appreciable. This would not be so in all instances if individual corporations were being compared, but here the comparison is between arithmetic means for different industries.

[118]

TABLE 22 (continued)

73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS, RETURN ON SALES AND RATE OF CAPITAL TURNOVER, 1928

CROUP RETURN ON SALES TURNOVER 26 Planing mills 7.4 1.1 27 Millwork 9.2 .9 28 Furniture (non-metal) 8.4 1.2 29 Miscellaneous lumber products 6.5 1.5 30 Blank paper 7.2 .7 31 Cardboard boxes 10.0 1.3 32 Stationery 8.6 1.2 33 Miscellaneous paper products 9.2 1.0 34 Newspapers and periodicals 17.1 1.5 35 Book and music publishing 13.9 .9 36 Job printing 12.4 1.1 37 Miscellaneous printing and publishing 11.4 1.5 38 Crude chemicals 15.9 1.3 39 Paints 11.8 1.3 40 Petroleum refining 16.1 .6 41 Proprietary preparations 20.4 .8 43 Cleaning prepara
26 Planing mills 7.4 1.1 27 Milwork 9.2 .9 28 Furniture (non-metal) 8.4 1.2 29 Miscellaneous lumber products 6.5 1.5 30 Blank paper 7.2 .7 31 Cardboard boxes 10.0 1.3 32 Stationery 8.6 1.2 33 Miscellaneous paper products 9.2 1.0 34 Newspapers and periodicals 17.1 1.5 35 Book and music publishing 13.9 .9 36 Job printing 12.4 1.1 37 Miscellaneous printing and publishing 11.4 1.5 38 Crude chemicals 15.9 1.3 39 Paints 11.8 1.3 40 Petroleum refining 16.1 .6 41 Proprietary preparations 23.7 .9 42 Toilet preparations 10.2 1.9 43 Cleaning preparations 10.2 1.9 44 Miscellaneous ch
27 Millwork 9.2 .9 28 Furniture (non-metal) 8.4 1.2 29 Miscellaneous lumber products 6.5 1.5 30 Blank paper 7.2 .7 31 Cardboard boxes 10.0 1.3 32 Stationery 8.6 1.2 33 Miscellaneous paper products 9.2 1.0 34 Newspapers and periodicals 17.1 1.5 35 Book and music publishing 13.9 .9 36 Job printing 12.4 1.1 37 Miscellaneous printing and publishing 11.4 1.5 38 Crude chemicals 15.9 1.3 39 Paints 11.8 1.3 40 Petroleum refining 16.1 .6 41 Proprietary preparations 23.7 .9 42 Toilet preparations 10.2 1.9 44 Miscellaneous chemicals 28.8 .6 45 Ceramics 13.2 .6 46 Glass <t< td=""></t<>
28 Furniture (non-metal) 8.4 1.2 29 Miscellaneous lumber products 6.5 1.5 30 Blank paper 7.2 .7 31 Cardboard boxes 10.0 1.3 32 Stationery 8.6 1.2 33 Miscellaneous paper products 9.2 1.0 34 Newspapers and periodicals 17.1 1.5 35 Book and music publishing 13.9 .9 36 Job printing 12.4 1.1 37 Miscellaneous printing and publishing 11.4 1.5 38 Crude chemicals 15.9 1.3 39 Paints 11.8 1.3 40 Petroleum refining 16.1 .6 41 Proprietary preparations 23.7 .9 42 Toilet preparations 20.4 .8 43 Cleaning preparations 10.2 1.9 44 Miscellaneous chemicals 28.8 .6 45 Ceramics 13.2 .6 46 Glass
29 Miscellaneous lumber products 6.5 1.5 30 Blank paper 7.2 .7 31 Cardboard boxes 10.0 1.3 32 Stationery 8.6 1.2 33 Miscellaneous paper products 9.2 1.0 34 Newspapers and periodicals 17.1 1.5 35 Book and music publishing 13.9 .9 36 Job printing 12.4 1.1 37 Miscellaneous printing and publishing 11.4 1.5 38 Crude chemicals 15.9 1.3 39 Paints 11.8 1.3 40 Petroleum refining 16.1 .6 41 Proprietary preparations 23.7 .9 42 Toilet preparations 20.4 .8 43 Cleaning preparations 10.2 1.9 44 Miscellaneous chemicals 28.8 .6 45 Ceramics 13.2 .6 46 Glass 10.4 1.1 47 Portland cement
30 Blank paper 7.2 .7 31 Cardboard boxes 10.0 1.3 32 Stationery 8.6 1.2 33 Miscellaneous paper products 9.2 1.0 34 Newspapers and periodicals 17.1 1.5 35 Book and music publishing 13.9 .9 36 Job printing 12.4 1.1 37 Miscellaneous printing and publishing 11.4 1.5 38 Crude chemicals 15.9 1.3 39 Paints 11.8 1.3 40 Petroleum refining 16.1 .6 41 Proprietary preparations 20.4 .8 43 Cleaning preparations 10.2 1.9 44 Miscellaneous chemicals 28.8 .6 45 Ceramics 13.2 .6 46 Glass 10.4 1.1 47 Portland cement 23.4- .5 48 Miscellaneous stone and clay products 18.2 .9 49 Castings and fo
31 Cardboard boxes 10.0 1.3 32 Stationery 8.6 1.2 33 Miscellaneous paper products 9.2 1.0 34 Newspapers and periodicals 17.1 1.5 35 Book and music publishing 13.9 .9 36 Job printing 12.4 1.1 37 Miscellaneous printing and publishing 11.4 1.5 38 Crude chemicals 15.9 1.3 39 Paints 11.8 1.3 40 Petroleum refining 16.1 .6 41 Proprietary preparations 20.4 .8 42 Toilet preparations 10.2 1.9 44 Miscellaneous chemicals 28.8 .6 45 Ceramics 13.2 .6 46 Glass 10.4 1.1 47 Portland cement 23.4- .5 48 Miscellaneous stone and clay products 18.2 .9 49 Castings and forgings 7.8 .8
32Stationery8.61.233Miscellaneous paper products9.21.034Newspapers and periodicals17.11.535Book and music publishing13.9.936Job printing12.41.137Miscellaneous printing and publishing11.41.538Crude chemicals15.91.339Paints11.81.340Petroleum refining16.1.641Proprietary preparations20.4.842Toilet preparations10.21.944Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
33Miscellaneous paper products9.21.034Newspapers and periodicals17.11.535Book and music publishing13.9.936Job printing12.41.137Miscellaneous printing and publishing11.41.538Crude chemicals15.91.339Paints11.81.340Petroleum refining16.1.641Proprietary preparations23.7.942Toilet preparations20.4.843Cleaning preparations10.21.944Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
34Newspapers and periodicals17.11.535Book and music publishing13.9.936Job printing12.41.137Miscellaneous printing and publishing11.41.538Crude chemicals15.91.339Paints11.81.340Petroleum refining16.1.641Proprietary preparations23.7.942Toilet preparations20.4.843Cleaning preparations10.21.944Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
35Book and music publishing13.9.936Job printing12.41.137Miscellaneous printing and publishing11.41.538Crude chemicals15.91.339Paints11.81.340Petroleum refining16.1.641Proprietary preparations23.7.942Toilet preparations20.4.843Cleaning preparations10.21.944Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
36Job printing12.41.137Miscellaneous printing and publishing11.41.538Crude chemicals15.91.339Paints11.81.340Petroleum refining16.1.641Proprietary preparations23.7.942Toilet preparations20.4.843Cleaning preparations10.21.944Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
37Miscellaneous printing and publishing11.41.538Crude chemicals15.91.339Paints11.81.340Petroleum refining16.1.641Proprietary preparations23.7.942Toilet preparations20.4.843Cleaning preparations10.21.944Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
38 Crude chemicals 15.9 1.3 39 Paints 11.8 1.3 40 Petroleum refining 16.1 .6 41 Proprietary preparations 23.7 .9 42 Toilet preparations 20.4 .8 43 Cleaning preparations 10.2 1.9 44 Miscellaneous chemicals 28.8 .6 45 Ceramics 13.2 .6 46 Glass 10.4 1.1 47 Portland cement 23.4- .5 48 Miscellaneous stone and clay products 18.2 .9 49 Castings and forgings 7.8 .8
39Paints11.81.340Petroleum refining16.1.641Proprietary preparations23.7.942Toilet preparations20.4.843Cleaning preparations10.21.944Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
40Petroleum refining16.1.641Proprietary preparations23.7.942Toilet preparations20.4.843Cleaning preparations10.21.944Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
41Proprietary preparations23.7.942Toilet preparations20.4.843Cleaning preparations10.21.944Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
42Toilet preparations20.4.843Cleaning preparations10.21.944Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4.548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
43Cleaning preparations10.21.944Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4*.548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
44Miscellaneous chemicals28.8.645Ceramics13.2.646Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4*.548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
45 Ceramics 13.2 .6 46 Glass 10.4 1.1 47 Portland cement 23.4- .5 48 Miscellaneous stone and clay products 18.2 .9 49 Castings and forgings 7.8 .8
46Glass10.41.147Portland cement23.4.548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
47Portland cement23.4.548Miscellaneous stone and clay products18.2.949Castings and forgings7.8.8
48 Miscellaneous stone and clay products 18.2 .9 49 Castings and forgings 7.8 .8
49 Castings and forgings 7.8 .8
50 Sheet metal 9.5 1.2
51 Wire and nails 14.2 1.0
52 Heating machinery 9.4 1.0
53 Electrical machinery 15.6 1.1
54 Textile machinery 24.7 .6
55 Printing machinery 19.1 .6
56 Road machinery 14.9 1.1
57 Engines 13.2 .5
58 Mining machinery 9.3 1.1
59 General factory machinery 25.0 .5
60 Office machinery 17.0 1.0
61 Railway equipment 6.9 .5
62 Motor vehicles 8.6 1.9
63 Firearms 19.9 1.0
64 Hardware 10.4 1.1
65 Taols 19.0 .8

TABLE 22 (continued)

73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS, RETURN ON SALES AND RATE OF CAPITAL TURNOVER, 1928

MINOR		PERCENTAGE	CAPITAL
GROUP		RETURN ON SALES	TURNOVER
66	Bolts and nuts	17.2	1.1
67	Miscellaneous machinery	12.9	1.0
68	Non-ferrous metals	12.2	1.2
69	Jewelry	9.7	1.3
70	Miscellaneous metal products	15.1	1.0
71	Scientific instruments	27.7	1.0
72	Тоуз	14.0	1.1
73	Pianos	7.8	.8
74	Miscellaneous special manufacturing	10.3	1.2

Turn, however, directly to the ten-year results. The five manufacturing industries showing the highest rates of return upon sales are Scientific Instruments, Textile Machinery, Portland Cement, General Factory Machinery and Proprietary Preparations. They all earn about 20 per cent or more on total business volume. In two groups, Scientific Instruments and Textile Machinery, this high return on sales is accompanied by a high return upon investment also; in Textile Machinery the return on capitalization, although substantially less than that on sales, is still high; but in Portland Cement and General Factory Machinery the returns on sales and investment differ widely. The latter group shows a return of 20.3 per cent on sales, but only 10.7 per cent upon investment, its capital turnover being only about one-half. The pertinent figures for these five minor groups (ten-year aggregate returns, 1919-28) are given below.

The five lowest groups, on the other hand, in point of their returns on sales for the ten-year period, are Meat Packing, Flour Milling, Rubber Products, Dairying, Miscellaneous Leather. Three show relatively low earnings upon

RETURN UPON SALES

		groups		
		Per-		Earn-
		centage or	1	ings on
Group	Percentage on sales	ca pital- ization	Earnings on sales	capital- ization
Scientific Instruments	26.5	25.1	1	3
Textile Machinery	22.6	17.1	2	11
Portland Cement	21.4	14.2	3	31
General Factory Machinery	20.3	10.7	4	52
Proprietary Preparations	19.8	20.8	5	5

investment also, but the other two, Flour Milling and Dairying, both show earnings rates three times as great upon investment as upon sales. The ten-year aggregate data are given below.

		Ran	in list of 73	groups
		Per-	•	Earn-
		centage on	r	ings on
	Percentage	ca pital-	Earnings	ca pital-
Group	on sales	ization	on sales	ization
Meat Packing	0.4	1.9	73	73
Flour Milling	3.1	11.4	72	54
Rubber Products	4.0	5.9	71	70
Dairying	4.1	12.7	70	39
Miscellaneous Leather Product	s 4.2	6.8	69	69

If all 73 Manufacturing industries are ranked in this manner, some general degree of correspondence between the rank in earnings on sales and that in earnings on investment appears. In general, however, it is far from exact, and in many instances very different returns and rankings alike prevail. Table 23 presents these arrays, together with the capital turnover figures which constitute the links of connection, so to speak, between the two rates of net return —that on sales and that on investment. For the general list the correspondence between the two is about one-half perfect: the coefficient of rank correlation is +.496, on a scale in which +1.0 would indicate exactly the same ranks throughout the entire list.

[122]

•

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

TABLE 23

73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS RANKED BY EARNINGS RATES

MINOR	RA	NK, RETURN	RANK, RETURN	RATE OF CAPITAL
GROUP		ON SALES	ON INVESTMENT	TURNOVER
1	Bakery products	35	13	1.49
2	Flour	72	50	3.66
- 3	Confectionery	22	7	1.30
4	Package foods	66	17	2.48
5	Dairying	70	41	3.12
6	Canned goods	52	35	1.46
7	Meat packing	73	73	4.99
9	Beverages	56	72	.46
10	Tobacco	39	33	1.36
11-8	Miscellaneous food product	67	66	1.22
12	Cotton spinning	47	23	1.58
13	Cotton converting	61	53	1.45
14	Cotton weaving	57	62	1.15
15	Weaving woolens	65	68	1.05
16	Silk weaving	60	57	1.38
17	Carpets	20	22	1.11
18	Men's clothing	58	46	1.52
19	Knit goods	53	16	1.75
20	Miscellaneous clothing	62	32	1.97
21	Miscellaneous textiles	51	38	1.38
22	Boots and shoes	50	10	1.80
23	Miscellaneous leather produc	ts 69	69 -	1.62
24	Rubber products	71	70	1.47
25	Lumber manufacture	13	59	.65
26	Planing mills	46	8	1.80
27	Millwork	44	60	.96
28	Furniture (non-metal)	30	15	1.34
29	Miscellaneous lumber produc	ts 55	36	1.59
30	Blank paper	41	64	.81
31	Carboard boxes	43	20	1.54
32	Stationery	68	67	1.16
33	Miscellaneous paper products	3 49	45	1.27
34	Newspapers and periodicals	6	2	1.31
35	Book and music publishing	19	25	1.08
36	Job printing	25	19	1.20
37	Miscellaneous printing and			
	publishing	17	4	1.60
38	Crude chemicals	21	52	.80
39	Paints	38	21	1.45
40	Petroleum refining	34	63	.76
41	Proprietary preparations	5	5	1.06
42	Toilet preparations	9	1	1.75
	Packananana	-	-	

TABLE 23 (continued)

73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS RANKED BY EARNINGS RATES

MINOR	1	RANK, RETURN	RANK, RETURN	RATE OF CAPITAL
GROUP		ON SALES	ON INVESTMENT	TURNOVER
43	Cleaning preparations	59	27	1.91
44	Miscellaneous chemicals	8	40	.70
45	Ceramics	11	51	.70
46	Glass	32	12	1.45
47	Portland cement	3	31	.66
48	Miscellaneous stone and c	lay	•	
	products	15	14	1.10
49	Castings and forgings	64	71	.84
50	Sheet metal	63	61	1.32
51	Wire and nails	36	47	1.09
52	Heating machinery	24	34	1.06
53	Electrical machinery	18	26	1.07
54	Textile machinery	2	11	.76
55	Printing machinery	10	48	.65
56	Road machinery	14	9	1,18
57	Engines	7	39	.68
58	Mining machinery	45	37	1.34
59	General factory machines	ty 4	55	.52
60	Office machinery	23	28	1,09
61	Railway equipment	4 2	65	.80
62	Motor vehicles	33	6	1.71
63	Firearms	31	49	.97
64	Hardware	28	30	1.20
65	Tools	12	43 -	.77
66	Bolts and nuts	16	24	1.06
67	Miscellaneous machinery	29	44	1.00
68	Non-ferrous metals	48	56	1.09
69	Jewelry	54	42	1.39
70	Miscellaneous metal produ	ucts 27	58	.81
71	Scientific instruments	1	3	.96
72	Тоуз	26	18	1.21
73	Pianos	37	54	.98
74	Miscellaneous special mai	nu-		
	facturing	4 0	29	1.41

4. RETURN ON SALES IN TRADING GROUPS

In Trade we have 664 companies in our large corporations series. Their combined return upon sales runs from under 3 per cent in a poor year, such as 1921, to 6 or 7 per cent in good years. But because Trade as a whole turns over its capital about two and one-half or more times a year (in contrast to the average turnover of roughly 1.00 in Manufacture), the rate on investment runs far higher than that on sales. For the ten-year period, the aggregate return on sales in Trading is 5.1 per cent, whereas upon capitalization it is 13.6 per cent. The average turnover of capitaliza-



tion, over the same period, is thus two and six-tenths times per year. Chart 7 shows the percentage of net income to sales in Trading for the ten years 1919–28, and that of total profits to total capital for the five years 1924–28.

The Trade division, however, may be separated into 22 minor groups. As in the case of the 73 groups of the Manufacturing division, these vary widely in both the return upon sales and the degree of correspondence between that rate and the return upon capital investment. There is, however, generally less variation in the percentage of earnings upon sales than in that upon investment. Table 24 gives the data for 1928: the return on sales, and the rate of capital turnover.

TABLE 24

22 TRADING GROUPS, RETURN ON SALES AND RATE OF CAPITAL TURNOVER, 1928

MINOR		PERCENTAGE	RATE OF CAPITAL
GROUP	1	RETURN ON SALES	TURNOVER
Retail			
75	Automobiles	3.4	4.4
76	Men's clothing	7.4	1.7
77	Department stores	4.6	1.7
78	Drygoods	6.0	1.6
79	Furniture	6.0	1.6
80	Groceries	3.1	6.8
81	Jewelry	13.6	1.0
82	Building material and lumber	7.0	1.2
83	Lumber and coal	9.0	1.2
84	Miscellaneous retail trade	7.9	1.8
Whole.	sale		
85	Coal, fuel and wood		
86	Druga	4.3	2.4
87	Drygoods	3.6	2.3
88	Groceries	2.0	3.6
89	Hardware	4.5	1.8
90	Importers and exporters	4.7	2.1
91	Building material and lumber	2.0	2.3
92	Paper	2.7	3.6
9385	Miscellaneous wholesale trade	3.2	2.6
Retail	and Wholesale		
96	Coal, wood and fuel	6.2	1.7
97	Hardware	3.9	1.9
98	Lumber	4.0	1.2
99-95	Miscellanous retail and wholesale tra-	de 6.0	1.5

But again we may fasten attention upon the distribution of the ten-year aggregate figures.⁸ The diversity of capital turnover relationships may be illustrated by three minor groups: Retail Jewelry, Retail Dry Goods⁹ and Wholesale Paper. Retail Jewelry stands highest of the 22 trading groups in its profit margin upon sales: 10.7 per cent. Its turnover is, however, low for a trading group, and its re-

[•]The detailed data are given in the tables of the various chapters of Book II.

* Including ladies' ready-to-wear goods.

turn upon investment is 12.7 per cent, which places it only ninth highest in the list. Retail Drygoods, on the other hand, earns a lower rate upon sales: 6 per cent. But a high turnover gives it a 14.3 per cent return upon capitalization, which places it fourth in that list as against only ninth in the percentage-on-sales column. Finally, take the case of Wholesale Paper. It earns only 2.3 per cent on sales, but with a turnover of more than four, shows 11.3 per cent on its investment.

For all 22 Trading groups the general correspondence between their ranks in earnings on sales and earnings on investment is less marked than in the Manufacturing groups, the coefficient of rank correlation for the ten-year aggregate figures being \pm .347. Table 25 gives the array for these ten-year aggregate data, together with the capital turnover figures.

	44 IRADING GROUPS R	ANKED	DI EARNING	MILO
MINOR	RA	NK, RETUR	N RANK, RETURN	RATE OF CAPITAL
GROUP		ON SALES	ON INVESTMENT	TURNOVER
Retail				
75	Automobiles	14	1	6.3
76	Men's clothing	6	3	2.1
77	Department stores	10	6	2.3
78	Drygoods	9	4	2.3
79	Furniture	4	11	1.7
80	Groceries	20	2	6.5
81	Jewelry	1	9	1.2
82	Building material and lumb	er 3	14	1.5
83	Lumber and coal	2	10	1.5
84	Miscellaneous retail trade	5	5	2.0
Whole	sale			
86	Drugs	16	13	3.0
87	Drygoods	15	17	2.7
88	Groceries	22	21	4.0
89	Hardware	13	20	2.1
90	Importers and exporters	19	16	3.2
91	Building material and lumb	er 18	22	2.3
92	Paper	21	15	4.3
93-85	Miscellaneous wholesale tra	de 17	12	5.0

TABLE 25

TRADING OROTIDE RANKED BY FARMINGS RATES

[126]

RETURN UPON SALES

[127]

TABLE 25 (continued)

22 TRADING GROUPS RANKED BY EARNINGS RATES

MINOR		RANK, RETURN	RANK, RETURN	RATE OF CAPITAL
GROUP	ON SALES ON INVESTMENT		TURNOVER	
Retail	and Wholesale			
96	Coal, wood and fuel	11	7	2.8
97	Hardware	12	19	2.2 •
98	Lumber	8	18	. 1.7
99-95	Miscellaneous retail and	l		
	wholesale trade	7	8	1.9

CHAPTER 5

SIZE AND GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION OF CORPORATIONS

1. THE SIZE OF ENTERPRISE AND ITS MEASUREMENT

IT IS frequently contended that larger corporations earn profits at higher rates than smaller ones. Indeed, this alleged greater efficiency of large-scale enterprise is held, by some persons, to constitute the *raison d'être* of the trend towards concentration which so markedly characterized post-War industrial development through 1929.¹ Others, while agreeing in their impressions as to the greater profitableness of

¹ See, for descriptions of this trend, Gardiner C. Means, American Economic Review, March 1931, The Large Corporation in American Economic Life; Charles S. Tippetts and Shaw Livermore, Business Organization and Control (1932), especially Ch. XVI, The Recent Modern Merger Movement; and Harry W. Laidler, Concentration of Control in American Industry (1931). Statistical measures of the relation between size and the rate of return on sales volume in various retail trades have been given in the several bulletins of both the Harvard and Northwestern University Bureaus of Business Research; and data on size of capital and the return upon investment in certain manufacturing industries, of limited scope, in papers by Ralph C. Epstein: Industrial Profits in 1917, Quarterly Journal of Economics (February 1925); Profits and the Size of Firm in the Automobile Industry, American Economic Review (December 1931). More recently, in an admirable paper in the May 1932 Quarterly Journal of Economics, A Comparison of the Rates of Large-Scale and Small-Scale Industries, H. B. Summers gives data for manufacturing industries that lead him to the conclusion reached in this chapter. Summers' data are compared below with our own.

On geographical location, see W. L. Crum, Corporate Earning Power (1929).

[128]

the larger firms, have asserted that not superior productive effectiveness but monopolistic advantages—resulting in the ability to charge 'good prices'—underlie the higher relative earnings of the larger establishments.

Nevertheless, many observers have urged that although in many industries, plants of *certain* sizes are undoubtedly more efficient than smaller ones, this affords no evidence that there do not exist limits beyond which further growth becomes relatively less profitable. In any particular industry such an optimum might be either tangible or intangible; it might pertain to the size of the actual plant or to a financial or corporate unit which operates or controls several establishments.

The data which we shall analyze in this chapter afford no definite answers to these questions, either in terms of what this optimum may be in any particular branch of industry or as to the causes of varying profitableness in enterprises of different size. They do, however, offer both for Manufacturing as a whole, and for three of its major groups—Foods, Chemicals and Metals—fairly comprehensive facts as to the size of the corporate unit and the rate of earnings. It is to be noted that the data pertain simply to *corporate* units, not to *physical production* units. While a large number of the corporations included perhaps do operate only single plants, many others own two or several establishments. Our comparisons, therefore, are of financial and not necessarily physical or engineering magnitudes.

The measure of size employed, in all cases, is the fundamental one of the amount of total capital invested. This, it will be noted,² includes the capital contributed by bondholders as well as by shareholders, and is a better index of size, for most comparative purposes of this sort, than would

² See Ch. 2; also Glossary.

be capitalization alone. Although from the accountant's point of view, interest upon borrowed capital is regarded as a cost, while that upon owned capital is not, both returns are income upon a corporation's capital in an economic sense; and differences of capital structure between enterprises, even though less marked on the whole in Manufacturing than in other industrial divisions (notably public utilities), ought not to be allowed to influence size comparisons.³ For this reason, total capital and not capitalization is employed as the basis of all our size classifications; but for corporations of any given size of total capital, the net return upon either total capital or simply capitalization can, of course, be shown.

It might be possible to employ as a still more inclusive measure of size, total assets instead of total capital. Such data, however, are not here available. Were they at hand, they would provide a somewhat better measure of size in some ways, and a poorer one in others, than do total capital figures. From the point of view of managerial accounting, total assets afford a somewhat better basis for comparison —they include working capital borrowed for short periods from the banks, etc. But from the point of view of the permanent investment of capital in the business by its owners

[130]

^a If only capitalization were considered as the measurement of size (and the ratio of net income *after* interest payments on long-term debt were then related to it) most misleading results might ensue. Of two corporations, one might have its total capital all in the form of common stock; another, with exactly the same investment, might have one-third of its capital represented by a bonded debt bearing 5 per cent interest. Both might earn, say 10 per cent on total capital, but the corporation with the bond issue would show a net return of 12.5 per cent upon its capitalization exclusive of bonded debt. It may be desirable to show the return upon capitalization, after charges, for corporations of different sizes, as well as that upon total capital before fixed charges; but, both to avoid difficulties arising from variations in capital structure and also because the capital contributed by stockholders, the basic *classification* by size rests upon the total capital of each corporation, as above stated.

or other security-holders, total capital figures give a more realistic picture than do total assets; for in a balance sheet of either an enterprise or an industry, short-time advances cancel out—that is, the 'receivables' of one corporation constitute the 'payables' of another. For our purposes, therefore, total capital probably provides the most satisfactory measure of the size of the corporate unit in terms of the permanent investment made by those who receive incomes upon it, whether they be stockholders or bondholders.

2. EARNINGS RATES BY SIZE OF CORPORATIONS: ALL MANUFACTURING

Our data as to size consist of the 2,046 large manufacturing corporations series for which other analyses have been made in previous chapters. The data are available only for the two years 1924 and 1928. In each of these years these 2,046 concerns have been grouped into seven classes, according to the amount of total capital possessed by each company. The lowest class includes those with capitals of less than half a million dollars; the highest, those with capitals of over fifty million. The number of corporations falling into any one class in either year ranges from about 65 to 600.

The results seem rather conclusive. In both years, in Manufacturing as a whole, by far the highest percentage of profit to capital is earned by the smallest corporations those with investments of less than \$500,000. In 1924 the 230 companies belonging to this class show aggregate profits of 20.3 per cent, upon an aggregate investment of 82 million dollars. (The average investment per firm of the corporations in this class, it should be noted, is substantially less than \$500,000, the mean figure being about \$350,000). In 1928 almost exactly the same rate of return, as well as the same average investment figure, characterizes this group.

Conversely, the largest corporations of all—those with capitals of over fifty million each—earn the very lowest rate of return in 1924 and almost the lowest rate of all in 1928. In the former year the concerns in this highest class—66 in all—show an aggregate return of only 8.1 per cent, upon their aggregate investment of over 14 billion dollars, as against 20.3 per cent for the smallest concerns.

In 1928 the very largest companies—now numbering 82, all with capitals over fifty million each—earn 9.8 per cent, as compared with 20.2 per cent for the smallest concerns. Thus, in both years the companies with capitals of under half a million dollars show earnings rates that are double or more those of the companies with capitals of over fifty million.

A less extreme comparison of sizes, however, is to lump together the two classes having capitals under one million, and likewise to consolidate all classes containing firms with capitals of over one million. When this is done, the 'Under \$1,000,000' group in 1924 shows earnings of about 18 per cent while the '\$1,000,000 or over' group shows profits of only 9 per cent. In 1928 the first group earns about 15 per cent, the second group 10 per cent.

So much for the general summary. Beyond question, among manufacturing corporations of all sizes of capital from \$250,000⁴ to over \$50,000,000, the smaller corporations earn profits at higher rates than the larger ones. Table 26 gives these results in detail. It will be noted that the rate of return regularly falls as the capital class in-

[132]

^{*}The frequency distributions of total capital for the 2,046 corporations (see Appendix C) show that less than 2 per cent have capitals of under \$250,000; but in 1924 and 1928 about 12 per cent and 10 per cent, respectively, have capitals of under \$500,000.

TABLE 26

EARNINGS RATES, 2,046 MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS BY CAPITAL CLASSES, 1924 AND 1928

81ZE OF CAPITAL (in dollars)	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PBRCENTAGE 100008 TO CAPITALIZATION	PBRCBNTAGB PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE 56 JNCOME TO 86 CAPITALIZATION	PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL
Under 500,000	230	20.4	20.3	187	20.3	20.2
500,000 to 999,999	461	17.9	17.7	376	13.5	13.4
1,000,000 to 2,499,999	596	15.6	15.4	607	13.8	13.6
2,500,000 to 4,999,999	310	13.1	12.9	351	•14.3	14.0
5,000,000 to 24,999,999	315	9.8	9.5	376	10.0	9.7
25,000,000 to 49,999,999	68	13.0	12.6	67	12.3	11.8
50,000,000 and over	66	8.6	8.1	82	10.5	9.8

creases, with the exception of but one class interval, in which a slight recovery occurs.⁵ For comparative purposes, the percentages of net income to capitalization are given in the table together with those for the rate upon total profits to total capital. That the two do not greatly differ is because of the relatively small amount of funded debt that characterizes manufacturing generally. Certain individual corporations, of course, possess enormous funded debts; that is the reason for having made total capital and not capitalization the basis of our size classification. But in the aggregate the combined long-term borrowed capital of our 2,046 companies constitutes slightly less than 10 per cent of their combined total capital figures, in both 1924 and 1928.

With these results for our 2,046 manufacturing corporations we may compare the broad findings of a similar analysis undertaken by H. B. Summers⁶ for a smaller

• Op. cit.

⁶ It is to be observed that the class intervals are unequal and that the somewhat broad range covered by the limits of this particular class may not disclose some variation within these limits themselves.

sample of 1.130 companies. His data are based on published reports as presented in Moody's and Poor's Manuals and not upon Government data; but broadly speaking, his definition of income and investment are the same as our own. His investigation, however, covers the twenty-year period 1910-29 inclusive, and his series is not one of identical corporations. The earnings rates that he develops are averages for this twenty-year period. With these reservations in mind, we may note that his results show a higher earnings rate for the corporations with capitals of under \$2 million than either for those with capitals from 50 to 100 million or for those with capitals of 100 million and over. The discrepancy-the figures are 11.6 per cent as compared with 9.8 and 9.5 per cent respectively-is not nearly so large as that between our size groups, but the two samples, drawn from different sources as they are, serve to confirm each other.⁷

3. EARNINGS RATES BY SIZE OF CORPORATIONS: MAJOR GROUPS

Unfortunately, we are not able to present these size data by minor industrial groups or even by all major groups. For three major fields—Foods, Chemicals, Metals—separate figures are, however, available.

a. Foods

In both 1924 and 1928 the largest corporations of the

⁷The less decisive discrepancy in Summers' results may well be due not only to the fact that his sample is half the size of ours, but also, because, as stated in his paper, it contains an inadequate representation of the smaller companies among the enterprises which we have termed large corporations'. Relatively few corporations with capitals of under \$500,000 have published financial statements; and beyond question, Summers' 'under two million' group, which is his lowest separate category, contains few if any corporations possessing capitals of from \$250,000 to \$500,000. Foods group show earnings rates of less than half those shown by the smallest concerns. In 1924 the companies with capitals of over \$50 million earned 8.8 per cent on their investment, while those with capitals of under \$500,000 earned 24.3 per cent. The 1928 figures are almost the same -9.5 per cent for the larger companies, 22.6 per cent for the smaller ones.

When narrowed by major groups and further divided. into class intervals, the number of corporations in the sample, however, sometimes becomes small. Thus there are in the Foods group only 12 corporations with capitals of over \$50,000,000 in the sample for 1924, and 14 in 1928. Our broad results for this major group, therefore, will be more certain if we enlarge the comparison by combining the two classes with capitals of under one million, and likewise the six classes with capitals of over that amount. This gives, in 1924 for example, 74 Food Corporations in the 'small' companies group and 141 companies in the 'large' group. The 'small' group, thus defined, in 1924 earns 21.0 per cent, while the 'large' one earns only 9.9 per cent. In 1928, the one group earns 16.3 per cent, the other 10.3. Full data for these two broad sizes of capital classes are presented in Table 27.

b. Chemicals

The Chemical corporations with capitals of less than \$500,000 in 1924 earned 42.1 per cent upon their investments, while those with capitals of over \$500,000 earned 7.9 per cent. In 1928 the figures were 68.4 and 10.6 per cent respectively. The exceptional figure of 68 per cent for the 14 smaller companies with capitals of less than \$500,000 suggests that something may be wrong with the sample. On the other hand, it is quite conceivable that certain small chemical concerns, possessing secret formulae or patented
TABLE 27

EARNINGS RATES IN FOODS, CHEMICALS AND METALS, BY BROAD CAPITAL CLASSES

	1	924	1928	
MAJOR GROUP	NUMBER	PERCENTAGE	NUMBER	PERCENTAGE
AND	OF COR-	PROFIT TO	OF COR-	PROFIT TO
CAPITAL CLASS	PORATIONS	TOTAL CAPITAL	PORATIONS	TOTAL CAPITAL
1: Foods				
Under \$1,000,000	74	21.0	59	16.3
\$1,000,000 and over	141	9.9	156	10.3
8: Chemicals				
Under \$1,000,000	62	31.5	48	26.0
\$1,000,000 and over	148	8.7	162	11.1
10: Metals				
Under \$1,000,000	187	16.2	151	14.6
\$1,000,000 and over	461	9.1	497	10.4

processes, might in some years earn 100 per cent or more upon their investments, and thus raise the average rate for those 14 concerns to something over 50 or 60 per cent. Very probably this is indeed the case, for a frequency distribution of the *individual* rates of profit to capital earned by the 210 corporations of our entire Chemical group sample actually shows, for 1928, 8 Chemical companies with profit rates of over 68 per cent, 6 with rates of over 90 per cent, and 3 with rates of over 200 per cent each; and, if these happen to be included in our 14 companies with capitals of under \$500,000, an average rate of 68 per cent upon investment in 1928 is entirely possible.⁸

But to be more certain of the broad tendencies involved, we may again combine the 'under one million' classes and

[136]

⁸These individual frequencies, for the higher earnings rates brackets in Chemicals in 1928, are shown on p. 40 of the *Source-Book*. They appear, but with classes of '30 per cent and over' lumped together, in Ch. 17 of the present volume. It may be added that Summers presents data for the chemical industry in the paper previously cited, and his results show chemical corporations of under two million dollar capitals as earning 24.5 per cent (average for a 20 year period) whereas for all those with capitals of over that amount, the average rate is 12.0 per cent.

also merge the several classes with capitals of over that amount. The result, in 1924, is that the 62 smaller Chemical companies belonging to the first group earn 31.5 per cent while the 148 concerns of the second group earn only 8.7 per cent. In 1928 the figures are 26.0 and 11.1 per cent respectively.

c. Metals

The Metals group sample contains 648 corporations, a far greater number than either of the two major groups already discussed. Of these 648 companies 61 had capitals of less than \$500,000. Upon their investment these 61 companies earned 16.9 per cent. In the same year the Metals corporations with capitals of over \$50 million—29 in number—earned only 8 per cent. About the same situation prevailed in 1928, the figures being 16.7 per cent and 9.6 per cent respectively.

Combining the capital classes of 'under one million' and similarly combining all those of over that amount, in 1924 we see the 187 smaller Metals companies of the first group earning 16.2 per cent, while the 461 larger concerns of the second group earn but 9.1 per cent. In 1928 the figures for the two groups are 14.6 and 10.4 per cent respectively.

Complete data for all three major groups are presented in Table 28.

4. CONCENTRATION OF CAPITAL AND INCOME

In a recent study Gardiner C. Means estimated that the 200 largest non-financial corporations of the country control 44 per cent of all non-financial corporate gross assets. Our figures upon corporate size will not enable us to develop, for the Manufacturing division or for any of its specific major groups, such striking evidence as this con-

TABLE 28

EARNINGS RATES IN FOODS, CHEMICALS AND METALS, BY DETAILED CAPITAL CLASSES

MAJOR GROUP AND CAPITAL CLASS (in dollars)	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PBRCENTAGE INCOMB TO CAPITALIZATION	PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	NUMBER OF Corporations	PBRCENTAGB INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION	PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL
		192 4			1928	
1: Foods						
Under 500,000	28	25.0	24.3	27	22.9	22.6
500,000 to 999,999	46	20.2	20.0	32	13.9	13.6
1,000,000 to 2,499,999	57	16.5	16.1	55	12.4	12.2
2,500,000 to 4,999,999	30	10.7	10.5	39	15.3	14.9
5,000,000 to 24,999,999	29	10.5	10.3	37	9.2	8.8
25,000,000 to 49,999,999	13	13.3	12.7	11	14.3	13.6
50,000,000 and over	12	9.6	8.8	14	10.4	9.5
8: Chemicals						
Under 500,000	19	42.5	42.1	14	69.1	68.4
500,000 to 999,999	43	30.0	29.4	34	18.5	18.0
1,000,000 to 2,499,999	68	17.9	17.7	71	15.9	15.7
2,500,000 to 4,999,999	24	11.8	11.7	33	20.9	20.6
5,000,000 to 24,999,999	33	12.2	11.8	30	13.8	13.6
25,000,000 to 49,999,999	8	12.6	12.2	9	11.8	11.5
50.000.000 and over	15	8.0	7.9	19	11.1	10.6
10: Metals						
Under 500.000	61	16.9	16.9	47	16.8	16.7
500.000 to 999.999	126	16.2	16.0	104	14.3	14.2
1 000 000 to 2 499 999	196	14.8	14.7	185	159	157
2 500 000 to 4 999 999	107	154	15.2	124	15.9	154
\$ 000 000 to 24 999 999	00	4J.T Q 2	91	121	11.0	10.6
75 000 000 to 24,999,999	20	12.2	12.0	20	12.0	12.6
50 000 000 and over	20	9.6	20.7	47	10.2	44-0
Solocologo and CACL	47	0.0	0.V	20	1V.J	7.0

cerning the degree of concentration existing in Manufacturing; but we may nevertheless utilize the data of the preceding sections for what they are worth in this connection.

For Manufacturing as a whole the 82 corporations in our sample with capitals of over \$50 million each in 1928 possessed a combined capital of about \$19 billion. In num-

[138]

ber, these 82 corporations constitute only 0.1 per cent of all manufacturing corporations in the country, but their capital equals 31 per cent, and their total profit amounts to 39 per cent of the aggregate figure for the country. That the share of the total profit received by these 82 corporations is somewhat larger than their share of the total capital does not contradict our previous figures showing that large corporations earn lower rates of return than smaller companies. In our size comparisons, we considered companies that had capitals of over \$250,000 (with but few exceptions) and compared them with one another. Here, in discussing concentration, the comparison is of these 82 largest companies with *all* corporations in the country, many of which, of course, have capitals of much less than \$250,000.

For the three major groups—Foods, Chemicals, Metals —separate data are available. In Foods the 14 corporations of the sample with capitals of over \$50 million in 1928 number 0.1 per cent of all Food manufacturing corporations in the country. They possess, however, 26 per cent of all the capital and receive 30 per cent of the total profit. In Chemicals 19 corporations with capitals of over \$50 million constitute 0.3 per cent of all Chemical corporations by number, but account for 52 per cent of the capital and 59 per cent of the income. Finally, in Metals the 36 corporations of the sample having capitals of over \$50 million constitute only 0.2 per cent of all Metal manufacturing companies in number but possess 42 per cent of the total capital and 44 per cent of the total income.

These measures, it should be noted, are not necessarily indicative of the maximum degree of concentration in each group, that is, the 14 Food corporations of our sample with capitals of over \$50,000,000 may not include every Food company in the country having a capital of that amount. All we can say is that 14 of the larger Food companies

(or 0.1 per cent of the total number) own at least 26 per cent of the country's corporate investment in the Food manufacturing industry, that 0.3 per cent of the Chemical firms have at least 52 per cent of the aggregate investment. and that 0.2 per cent of the Metals corporations possess at least 42 per cent of the country's total investment in that industry: while for Manufacturing as a whole (which includes such other major groups as Textiles, Rubber and Leather, as well as Foods, Chemicals and Metals), 0.1 per cent of all the corporations in the country own at least 31 per cent of the aggregate corporate investment in all manufacturing industry, and receive at least 38.5 per cent of the total profit. In some major groups for which separate data are not available, however, concentration is not so high as the average figures for Manufacturing as a whole imply.

5. EARNINGS BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGIONS

The companies belonging to our large manufacturing and trading corporations series may be classified upon the basis of geographical location, and the earnings rates for these several regions compared. While such a classification is subject to substantial qualification because a given corporation, whether consolidated or otherwise, may possess production units located in two or more geographical regions, it is nevertheless of interest to note whatever broad differences prevail between those regions for which the sample contains a sufficient number of corporations to seem at all significant. But it is to be borne in mind that classification is based upon the place at which the corporation has its head office.^o The country is divided into seven regions

*See Ch. 46 for further discussion of this important qualification.

[140]

based upon the classification employed by the Census: New England, Middle Atlantic, East North Central, West North Central, South Atlantic, East South Central, West South Central, Mountain and Pacific. The states included in these regions are shown in Table 29. Our data pertain to the years 1924 and 1928.

TABLE 29

CODE FOR GEOGRAPHICAL REGIONS

New England Maine New Hampshire Vermont Massachusetts Rhode Island Connecticut Middle Atlantic New York New Jersey Pennsylvania East North Central Ohio Indiana Illinois Michigan Wisconsin West North Central Minnesota Iowa Missouri North Dakota South Dakota Nebraska Kansas South Atlantic Delaware Maryland **District of Columbia**

South Atlantic (continued) Virginia West Virginia North Carolina South Carolina Georgia Florida East South Central Kentucky Tennessee Alabama Mississippi West South Central Arkansas Louisiana Oklahoma Texas Mountain Montana Idaho Wyoming Colorado New Mexico Arizona Utah Nevada Pacific Washington Oregon California

For Manufacture the West South Central region in both years shows the highest rates of return upon capitalization: 14.4 per cent in 1924 and 14.7 per cent in 1928. The region showing the lowest return in 1924 is New England with an earnings rate of 8.3 per cent, while the lowest rate in 1928 is for the Pacific region, 6.3 per cent. The number of corporations contained in the sample for the Pacific region is less than 100, so the figures may be accepted with some reservation.

In both years, however, certain disparities persist. The New England region is near the bottom of the list and shows earnings rates of about 8 or 9 per cent, while the East North Central region, for example, shows rates of nearer 12 per cent. It is, of course, to be remarked that these disparities in part reflect differences in the industrial composition of the several sections of the country. Much New England manufacturing consists of Textiles in which the trend of earnings rates has been downward, while the East North Central region (containing the state of Michigan) has a large number of Metals establishments and includes virtually the entire automobile industry, in which the earnings rates were relatively high during the years in question. Table 30 gives the data, except for the Mountain

TABLE 30

EARNINGS RATES, 2,046 MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS CLASSIFIED BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGIONS, 1924 AND 1928 ¹

		1924		1928	
REGION	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTACE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION	
New England	268	8.3	269	8.7	
Middle Atlantic	681	8.8	680	11.3	
East North Centra	վ 648	12.7	651	11.2	
West North Centra	al 126	12.7	121	13.4	
South Atlantic	133	9.5	134	13.4	
East South Centra	al 50	13.3	49-	8.4	
West South Centr	al 57	14.4	57	14.7	
Pacific	74	9,2	75	6.3	

¹ Mountain region omitted, see text.

[142]

region. Earnings rates for that region have not been computed because of the small number of corporations contained in the sample.

In Trade somewhat different results prevail. New England does not appear towards the bottom of the list in either year. The highest rate of return in both years is earned by the Middle Atlantic region: 15.5 per cent in 1924 and 12.2 per cent in 1928. The lowest rates of return are earned by the West North Central section: 7.1 per cent in 1924 and 9.6 per cent in 1928. For 1928, however, the several differences in these earnings rates for Trade are much slighter than in Manufacturing. Table 31 makes pos-

TABLE 31

EARNINGS RATES, 664 TRADING CORPORATIONS CLASSIFIED BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGIONS, 1924 AND 1928¹

		1924		<i>1928</i>		
REGION	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION		
New England	60	12.6	59	11.9		
Middle Atlantic	152	15.5	152	12.2		
East North Centra	l 148	13.5	147	12.0		
West North Centr	al 94	7.1	96	9.6		
West South Cent	ral 61	11.5	61	10.8		
Pacific	64	13.5	65	11.3 ·		

¹ South Atlantic, East South Central and Mountain regions omitted, see text.

sible a detailed comparison. Three of the nine regions, however, are here omitted: the South Atlantic, the East South Central and the Mountain sections. In the first case the figures contained in the *Source-Book* suggested errors in either the original data or the tabulation, while in each of the last two cases the number of corporations contained in the sample is too small to be significant.

CHAPTER 6

CYCLICAL FLUCTUATIONS IN PROFITS

1. EARNINGS RATES FROM 1919 THROUGH 1928

THIS chapter will examine, in somewhat broad terms and from a somewhat different point of view, data which are presented in more specific detail in other parts of the volume. Our interest here is not in the particular industry that may be named in the discussion, but in its behavior along with, or relative to, certain other groups during the up- and down-swings of the business cycle. The analysis will be restricted to Manufacturing and its various branches; nothing will be said of Trade. Mining or Finance. These three divisions, to be sure, exhibit cyclical variations which it is important to examine: but the smallness of the Mining sample (see Ch. 25), and the fact that in Finance somewhat different accounting procedures are the rule than in Manufacturing, make it inadvisable to compare these four divisions in the present chapter. Data for Trade, Mining and Finance, with a limited discussion of their cyclical character, will be found in Chapters 21, 25 and 26.

Considered as a whole, the period 1919–28 indeed afforded opportunities for profit to many manufacturing enterprises. Our list of 2,046 large corporations, in all manufacturing fields together, shows an aggregate net return of 10.8 per cent upon capitalization for the ten years in question. Even the severe depression year 1921 did not

[144]

greatly lower this average. If that poor year, 1921, is eliminated by taking figures for only the years 1922–28, the return is almost the same, 10.9 per cent.¹ While there exist no data for other periods with which to compare these figures, it would seem that, judged absolutely, the series of profit ratios presented in Chart 8 confirms our general knowledge that 1919–28 was a prosperous decade (the underlying table for Chart 8 is Table 42). The Trading





¹The concept of investment here employed, it will be noted, is that of capitalization as earlier defined. This assumes, for valid comparison in a time series, that no substantial alterations in capital structure have 'taken place (see Ch. 5). Even apart from this, it would be better from some points of view to include funded debt as well as stockholders' equity in order to show the total return on the full investment of capital in an economic sense. Funded debt figures for this series are not, however, available over more than the last half of the 1919-28 period and are therefore not used in most portions of the present analysis. While in analyses that seek to determine the rate of return as between establishments or enterprises of different *sizes* (such as appear in Ch. 5), the capital figures employed should preferably be those which include funded debt (and the income figures, those before instead of after fixed charges on such debt), for purposes both of *time* comparison and of the comparison of different branches of *industry* over a

field was even more profitable than Manufacturing, showing an average (aggregate) net return of 13.6 per cent upon capitalization for the ten years 1919–28 and one of 13.7 per cent for the seven years 1922–28.

But the year-to-year variation in earnings is substantial. The year 1919 afforded manufacturing industry an 18.3 per cent return; 1920 saw this reduced to 12.3 per cent, and the harsh year 1921 cut the figure down to 2.9 per cent. Recovery came in 1922. From that time through 1928 fluctuations in the rate of net income were less severe, between 9.5 and 12.4 per cent being earned in every year.

Examining Chart 8 further, it is surprising to note that the peak of profits, in terms of the rate upon capital, occurred in 1926 and not in 1928. Clearly, 1928 was a better year in the stock market, relatively speaking, than in industry. Not only was 1926 more prosperous for these 2,046 corporations than was 1928; it probably was about as good a year as 1929. While the data now under discussion do not run beyond 1928, other figures charted later in this chapter justify this inference.

It will be noted that Chart 8 is drawn to a semi-logarithmic scale, to make possible observation of the relative year-to-year change in the rate of profits upon investment. In Chart 9, the same data are shown upon a natural scale, but in the form of an index with 1927 as the base year.

That 1926 was as prosperous as 1928, or even more prosperous, can be seen again in the actual percentages of total profit to total capital enjoyed by the 2,046 individual

ten-year period, one set of figures probably serves almost as well as the other, if alterations in capital structure are not generally great. That the difference between the two sets of figures in the aggregate is not large may be seen by comparing the two ratios for all manufacturing for 1928: net profits after interest payments on funded debt to invested capital excluding funded debt, 11.0 per cent; the same before interest charges upon funded debt to capital including funded debt, 10.4 per cent. corporations comprising the series. Frequency distributions affording knowledge of the range of individual earnings are presented graphically in Chart 10. In 1926, 2.5 per cent



of the 2,046 companies suffered losses; in 1928, 3.7 per cent. In 1926, 33 per cent earned profits at less than 10 per cent; in 1928, 38 per cent. Then, jumping to the higher brackets, in 1926 over one-quarter of the total earned 20 per cent or over upon their capitals, whereas in 1928 only one-fifth did so.²

The absolute figures for net income, for capital investment and for dollar volume of sales are given in Chart 11.

³ The distributions are given in detail in Ch. 9. The figures in these distributions are for total profits upon total capital, i.e., they include funded debt and the interest thereon. But distributions of the rates of net income to capitalization would yield about the same results; see Appendix Table 8.



[148]

It will be noted that the rate of growth in sales volume (the scale is semi-logarithmic)³ exceeds that in capital investment from 1922 through 1926; thereafter, the reverse is true. Comparing 1928 and 1923, however, the growth in the two series is almost exactly the same. Of the relation between sales and investment something will be said below, when the analysis of trends in particular industries is essayed.

2. RELATION OF PROFITS TO TOTAL VALUE OF PRODUCT

One point in connection with these aggregate sales figures commands especial attention. It is often contended that the cause of an industrial collapse is the increase of profits at such a rate that the mounting incomes of entrepreneurs and capitalists, during the period of expansion, leave a progressively smaller proportion of the total industrial product in the hands of wage earners and other income receivers. This is admittedly difficult to measure, but some clue can be obtained from data such as these by taking the absolute amounts of net incomes of these manufacturing corporations, adding to them the interest paid on bonded debt, and comparing the growth of those combined figures with the gross value of the product as represented by total sales volume.

This is done in Chart 12.4 It will be observed that while

⁸ Semi-logarithmic, or 'ratio', scales will be used in most of the charts of this chapter, since interest in these data centers more on their relative changes than in absolute amounts.

'This analysis is based only on the period 1924-28 because funded debt figures are not available for earlier years. Interest charges were estimated by assuming an average rate of 5 per cent on the issues of large industrial corporations (see Appendix A). The income figures are before Federal taxes, but the relative differences, were taxes subtracted, would be slight for this period, and the trend of the series not be altered.

It is also true that sales do not represent the entire receipts of these

total profits, including interest payments to bondholders, increased somewhat more rapidly than did total volume of product, as measured by sales, the disparity is not great. The discrepancy between the increase in the amount of income actually disbursed to security-holders and total sales indeed looms somewhat larger. It indicates a more liberal dividend policy towards the peak of the cycle; relatively less of earnings is 'ploughed back' into industry, at least less is directly so reinvested.



corporations; non-operating income of various kinds frequently appears as well. But the aggregate of gross non-operating revenue in manufacturing as a whole is small in comparison with that received from sales, however large the former may be in certain individual cases; and unless the ratio of the one to the other changed very markedly over the period under examination, sales serve quite as well as would a more refined total gross revenue figure for purposes of *time* comparison. Of course, for certain other purposes this might not be so. The question of 'value of products' *versus* 'value added' is likewise pertinent; but for the immediate purpose at hand its discussion does not seem essential. In the flow of money income through manufacturing industry at least, the volume of sales best represents industry's aggregate product in terms of purchasing power received and passed on again to the one or the other productive factor. What is not disbursed to security-owners or retained in the surplus account is (apart from taxes) spent for wages, materials, supplies or rentals.

[150]

But the total net earnings of all capital—the aggregate of income ploughed back and income disbursed to both stock- and bondholders—bore no very different relation to the total product of manufacturing industry in 1928 than in 1925 or 1926. The bars of Chart 13 show these ratios,



those for the three years just mentioned standing at about 10 per cent. We shall discuss this matter further in the concluding section of this chapter.

3. CYCLICAL FLUCTUATIONS THROUGH 1931

Although it is not possible to obtain 1929 and 1930 figures for all of the 2,046 manufacturing companies just analyzed, a somewhat restricted but still closely representative sample of that group can be constructed and carried straight through from 1919 to the end of 1931. This has been done by selecting from the list of 2,046 companies, through an empirical process of trial and error, 71 corporations in various industries for which the consolidated income and balance sheet accounts in 1927 and 1928 showed ratios quite the same as those characterizing the larger group from which they were drawn. Then, for these 71 corporations, data drawn from other than Government sources were obtained⁵ for 1927 through 1931.

In 1927 and 1928 the new figures 'fit' the data for these years drawn from the original 1919-28 series very closely, thus justifying the belief that the two series, although taken from different original sources, are for these two overlapping years indeed not only comparable but virtually identical. So far as concerns these 71 companies themselves, we may beyond question regard the last two years of the later series as a continuation of the earlier one.⁶

The only questions remaining before using the 1929-31 portion of this 71 companies series, in lieu of data for the original list of 2,046 concerns from which the 71 companies were selected, are these: how well does the earnings rate curve for the 71 companies series fit that for the 2,046

⁶ See notes in Tables 50 and 52, pp. 60-1, of the Department of Commerce document previously cited.

⁶ For 1927, the ratio of net income to capitalization shown for these 71 companies, when data are taken from the original 1919-28 series, is 9.6 per cent; when taken from the new 1927-31 series, 10.3 per cent. For 1928 the two figures are 10.4 and 11.4 per cent respectively. (These figures are all for net income after Federal taxes). This correspondence in ratios is quite as close when individual major industrial groups are taken in the two series as for all manufacturing groups together. It is not, as will be pointed out below, possible to divide these 71 companies into quite as many major groups as the original 2,046 concerns, since in certain groups too small numbers would result; but when classified into eight (instead of 11) such groups, the 'old' and 'new' series respectively show, for 1927, net income percentages upon invested capital as follows: Foods, 8.4, 9.3; Textiles, 7.6, 9.1; Chemicals, 7.5, 8.0; Metals, 11.2, 11.5; Paper and Printing combined, 23.6, 23.7; Stone and Lumber combined, 8.4, 9.2; Leather and Rubber combined, 6.1, 8.6; Special Manufacturing Industries, 18.5, 18.2.

[152]

concerns over the entire period *prior* to 1927; and how representative industrially is the smaller list? Chart 14 shows that the two curves follow each other, on the whole,

CHART 14



quite closely; in only one year is there an absolute difference of much over 2 per cent between the earnings ratios of the two series.⁷ The other test, that of representativeness by

'The expression 'per cent' is here used in an absolute sense, i.e., '2 per cent' meaning the two points spread between, say, 11.2 per cent and 13.2 per cent. For a discussion of the significance of such differences, and for their interpretation upon a sliding scale of permissible amounts of difference, see Ch. 43. Here it may merely be said that the amount of discrepancy present, in view of the inaccuracies to which the data are subject, is not serious (cf. note 6, Ch. 7). The only exception to this statement occurs in 1922, and could readily have been caused by some dominantly large concern in one group or the other having enjoyed an inordinately

the relative amounts of capital investment in the different major groups, is fairly met also. The proportions of total capitalization shown in each of the various groups correspond fairly well in the sample and the larger list; however, because of the small number of companies in some groups, three combinations of groups had to be effected.⁸

We have then, in Chart 15, a tested series representing manufacturing industry from 1919 through 1931.° For the



high profit in that year. Such a circumstance would have affected the ratio for the smaller list of 71 companies far more than for the larger list of 2,046 concerns. But even here, the discrepancy is not tremendous; the two figures are 12.1 and 9.1 per cent respectively.

*These percentages for the amount of capitalization in each major group (in 1927) for the list of 71 companies and for the list of 2,046 companies respectively are as follows: Food, 14.6, 11.1; Textiles, 4.2, 5.2; Chemicals, 24.3, 26.1; Metals, 41.1, 42.8; Paper and Printing, 1.9, 4.9; Stone and Lumber, 4.2, 4.1; Leather and Rubber, 7.8, 3.8; Special Manufacturing Industries, 1.9, 2.0. It should also be said that just as the capital percentages in Paper and Printing, and Leather and Rubber are somewhat 'off', so is the earnings ratio in Paper and Printing. For the group in the list of 71 companies (in 1927) it is 23.6 per cent, while for the same two groups combined in the list of 2,046 companies the figure is only 13.1 per cent.

^o The 71 companies included have an aggregate capital of \$5.3 billion in 1927, which is 22.4 per cent of the aggregate capital of the 2,046 concerns.

[154]

thirteen-year period as a whole, the aggregate return was 10.0 per cent. Taking only the 1921-29 portion of the period—which gives a 9-year span from the trough of a serious depression to the crisis in which the 'new era' prosperity culminated—the figure becomes 10.9 per cent. Table 32 gives the series divided into eight major manufacturing groups.

The most surprising thing about these figures, on the whole, is that no great or sustained upward trend characterizes them between 1922 and 1929. The period was one of relative prosperity, to be sure, but in industry (as distinguished from the stock market) no generally higher level of profits was attained during the last few years of the expansion than during its earlier phases. And the recession of 1927, commonly viewed as merely a ripple on the sea of general business prosperity, is seen to have had a more severe effect upon profits than has been realized. Manufacturing industry on the whole earned almost as high a return in 1930 as in 1927. The 1931 figure, of course, registers a tremendous drop. It stands at 3.6 per cent, or at almost exactly the 1921 level. But it is worthy of note that 1927, regarded generally as a year of very slight recession, was actually one of scarcely greater profitableness than 1930, regarded properly as a year of poor business activity and great unemployment. (The 1932 figure indeed is lower than 1921—a preliminary computation shows it to be nearly zero, 0.8 per cent).10

That the 1931 figure is virtually the exact rate recorded for 1921 is a rather interesting coincidence. One would have expected it to be lower. (It is fractionally lower, that is, 3.6 instead of 3.8 per cent, but this difference is negligible

¹⁹ This figure rests upon a slightly (but not significantly) different basis of computation than the 1919–31 figures. See *Bulletin 44*, National Bureau of Economic Research, January 27, 1933.

TABLE 32

EARNINGS RATES, 71 COMPANIES BY MAJOR GROUPS, 1919-31

YEAR	FOODS	TEXTILES	LEATHER AND RUBBER	LUMBER AND STONE	PAPER AND PRINTING	CHEMICAL 3	METALS	SPECIAL MANU- Facturing Industries	
1919	2	18.0	13.4	12.7	10.5	14.0	22.3	17.2	
1920	4.5	5.0	2.7	14.3	14.7	8.3	12.3	9.2	
1921	4.9	7.4	-7.4	6.7	6.4	2.4	7.0	5.3	
1922	8.3	11.7	5.7	12.5	17.0	9.3	18.4	18.4	
1923	8.3	12.2	4.6	17.3	15.4	5.4	14.4	19.3	
1924	7.9	5.7	6.7	12.4	19.9	8.5	13.7	17.0	- 5
1925	8.3	7.4	12.2	11.3	20.9	11.7	16.2	16.4	- 2
1926	9.8	7.0	10.2	10.9	21.0	12.2	16.2	17.8	ă
1927	8.4	7.6	6.1	8.4	23.6	7.5	11.2	18.5	S
1928	9.2	5.7	2.3	9.1	29.0	12.2	11.1	16.5	Ч
1929	10.5	7.2	4.5	11.5	26.7	11.6	16.8	11.9	R
1930	11.6	7	-3.7	3.7	22.3	7.5	10.4	8.2	I
1931	9.5	_2.3	-3.4	5	13.7	3.1	3.2	4.3	Ĥ
19193	8. 0	6.7	4.1	9.6	18.8	8.5	12.7	14.2	Ą
									オ
									0
									ㅋ
									ភ
									Ś

in view of the character of the data; see note 8.) Economic conditions in general were worse in 1931; certainly unemployment was greater, and the several indexes of general business activity all dipped much lower.¹¹ Yet the average rate of net income to capitalization earned by large manufacturing corporations was virtually the same as in 1921.

This is not, to be sure, true of every manufacturing group. Some major groups are seen to have made relatively better showings in 1931 than in 1921 while others appear in a relatively worse light. Table 33 gives the earnings

TABLE 33

71 COMPANIES SERIES, PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZA-TION AFTER TAX, BY MAJOR GROUPS (as relatives on 1927 base)

GROUP	RELATIVES			
	1921	1927	1928	1931
Foods	58	100	110	113
Textiles	97	100	75	-30
Chemicals	32	100	163	41
Metals	63	100	99	29
Paper and printing	27	100	123	58
Stone and lumber	80	100	108	-11
Leather and rubber	121	100	29	-56
Special manufacturing industries	29	100	89	23
All groups	40	100	108	38

'Estimated; see Appendix A.

rates of the groups in several years, expressed as relatives with the year 1927 taken as 100.

Returning to the composite figures, in which the rate of return for all manufacturing groups stands at 3.6 per cent in 1931 as compared with 3.8 per cent in 1921, we may

¹³ For example, the *Annalist* index stood at 65.0 in November, the 1931 low, as against 81.6 per cent in March, the 1921 low. The index of the American Telephone and Telegraph Company in December 1931, stood at -47.4, whereas in July 1921, it was only -27.4.

note the relationships prevailing between the general net income curve and the indexes of general business activity. Chart 16 presents three series of relative or index figures. The curve showing by far the largest fluctuations is that for



the rate of net income. The two business activity series are the *Annalist* and American Telephone and Telegraph Company indexes, converted into relatives with the same base as that of all the net income series, the year 1927 being taken as 100 in all three series.

The index of corporate net income, or rather of the rate of return for large corporations in Manufacturing industries, is seen to fluctuate from about 140 to 40, while the two indexes of general business activity move only from

[158]

about 107 or 104 to about 70 or 60 respectively. In other words, the amplitude of the extreme swing is roughly twice as great in the rate of net corporate incomes as in general business activity.

In closing this chapter, we revert to a point made earlier. This last series of figures, like a preceding one that was examined, fails to show any continuous increase in the earnings rates of large corporations¹² during the five years leading up to the 1929–30 collapse. The data thus do not lend support to explanations of recession that hold that cumulatively increasing profit rates in industry at large are the fundamental cause of general overexpansion, eventual crisis and subsequent liquidation. If anything, closer examination of the figures suggests that the collapse of 1929 was not caused principally by generally high earnings rates prevailing in the period immediately preceding.¹⁸

It has been remarked that the curve for all manufacturing fell about as low in 1927 as in 1930. It is also true that *it stood as high in 1926 as in 1929*. This is likewise true of the showing of most of the major groups themselves. The rate of return in Metals was virtually as high in 1926 as in 1929. The same is true in every other group with the sole exception of Paper and Printing; and here the adequacy of the sample is somewhat questionable (see note 9). Most of the series, it may be repeated, show no sharp upswing whatever in the rate of profits upon investment during the three or four years ending in 1929; no more so than during the three or four years prior to 1926.

Observe carefully the data for Metals and Chemicals for 1926 and 1927; and again for 1929 and 1930. Ex-

²⁹ That is, in terms of their ratio to investment, which is the proper way to measure the profitableness of industry. In absolute amounts, of course, profits increased greatly.

¹¹ Cf. Gordon Hayes, Profits Destroy Prosperity, New Republic, June 3, 1931, pp. 67–9.

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

amine the Food figures; then turn back to the curve for All Manufacturing (Chart 15). The declines in the important Metals and Chemicals groups are about as severe between 1926 and 1927 as from 1929 to 1930. In Foods, also an important group, a decline occurred in 1927, but none in 1930. In All Manufacturing together the 1926–27 decline is from 13.3 to 9.6 per cent while that in 1929–30 is from 13.2 to but 8.3 per cent—a difference not at all striking.

Why, then, did not 1927 turn into a year of pronounced recession such as 1930; or 1928 become a year of deep depression such as 1921 or 1931? Certainly the answer is not that the profits situation was essentially different in 1928–29 from that in 1925–26. As a matter of fact, aggregate earnings upon investment for the three years 1924–26, for All Manufacturing, actually stand at a higher level than do those of the three years 1927–29. If 'profits destroyed prosperity' in 1929, as has been said, they should have done so equally in 1926.

But to say that generally high earnings in industry (or even in large major groups of industries) exerted no causative influence upon the cessation of prosperity does not mean that the large net incomes enjoyed by particular branches of manufacturing may not have resulted in an overexpansion of investment in those specific industries during the years 1927-29, and thus contributed to bring about a general collapse. To examine the evidence for or against this somewhat different point, we may next, returning to the data for the 2,046 companies from 1919-28, analyze the rates of earnings and the growth of capital in 73 sub-branches of the several major groups just discussed.

[160]

CHAPTER 7

CYCLICAL FLUCTUATIONS (Continued)

1. RATE OF EARNINGS IN MINOR MANUFACTURING GROUPS

THE 71 corporations series analyzed in the latter part of the preceding chapter, containing data that run through 1931, cannot be subdivided into individual industries or minor groups. Our 2,046 large manufacturing corporations series running from 1919 through 1928, can, however, be so treated. Furthermore, it will be recalled that we have sales data available for this series as well as income and investment figures. This chapter seeks to examine these three items, sales, income and investment, in terms of comparative growth or decline, by individual minor groups of industry. The reader is referred to Table 12 if he wishes to refresh his recollection of the full classification of 73 industries into which the several major manufacturing groups have been divided.¹ Our purpose at this point is not to discuss or even to mention in turn each one of these groups as is done in Book II, but rather to summarize the situation concerning the types of behavior shown by their several curves, and to chart the series that deserve particular attention.

Before commencing the analysis, some remarks about the nature of the period are pertinent. While business men often

¹These 73 industries should not be confused with the 71 companies discussed in the preceding chapter.

[161]

termed 1922-29 a period of 'profitless prosperity', the expression was a misnomer. In nearly all industries, some years were quite profitable, some less so, but for no industry was the period as a whole 'profitless'. The expression was derived from the fact that although the volume of business increased in many lines, commodity prices failed to advance appreciably-indeed, in comparison with the War and immediate post-War years, prices were remarkably stable during the entire 1922-28 period. However, the volume of production in most lines showed a general increase between 1922 and 1928. Although this growth was in no sense steady, in many industries it was persistent; the checks administered in 1924 and 1927 were more than overcome in succeeding years. This growth of general business, particularly towards the end of the period when it became confused with a concomitant and more dramatic expansion of stock market speculation and a rise in stock prices, then caused the period as a whole to be popularly thought of as one of marked prosperity. Talk of 'profitless prosperity' subsided, and towards the end of 1928, only 'prosperity' was mentioned. And after the crisis of 1929-30, it became common to regard an alleged 'increasing profitableness' of industry during the years 1922-29 as a cause of the 1929-30 collapse.

We have in this chapter to examine the course of profit rates, of sales and of investment in manufacturing industries during the years in question. Our interest is not only in seeing what were the cyclical fluctuations of 1923-24, 1926-27 or 1929-30, but also in examining the 1922-28 period as a unit. (For our 2,046 corporations, the 1929 data, unfortunately, are not available.)

In terms of strict business cycle theory, the years 1922–28 are not, of course, a unit. They begin with a year of recovery from severe depression, cover one full cycle (1924–27),

[162]

and end with a year of recovery from mild depression. Nevertheless, from the point of view of the business man interested in the expansion or contraction of the fixed capital investment in his enterprise or industry, the years 1922-28 possess certain characteristics which stamp them as 'good years'. For many products, the market grew greatly. For many lines of production, new and markedly cheaper processes, often involving greatly increased mechanization, were developed. And finally during 1922-28, despite the cyclically low years of 1924 and 1927, no severe and sustained general depression was encountered. For these reasons it seems to us desirable to examine the period as a unit as well as to note its year-to-year cyclical aspects; and it seems not inaccurate, likewise, to describe it as a period of good times, bearing in mind, of course, that the prevailing prosperity was in no sense unbroken.³

During 1922–28, then, we find that most of our 73 manufacturing industries showed no general increases in earnings upon investment.³ Fifteen industries, or about one-fifth of

^aThe recessions of 1924 and 1927, while sharp in their effects on corporate earnings, were not so violent as to belie the statement that 1922-28 constituted 'a prosperous 7-year period'. Dr. Mitchell points out that the data analyzed in this chapter are annual, not monthly, figures and therefore do not match the cyclical turning points very well. He observes that what he would expect is not an increase in 1922-28, but a sharp rise in '22-'23, fall in '23-'24, rise in '24-'25 or '26, fall in '26-'27, and rise in '27-'28. In many industries such movements, of course, occurred. Granting the correctness of these observations, it still seems proper for the present purpose to regard 1922-28 as a unit. To find a satisfactory term to describe such a period is difficult; 'cyclical upswing' does not serve because the period contains parts of three cycles; years of 'generally (although not consistently) sustained industrial expansion' seems fairly accurate, though cumbersome. Another expression, also imperfect, might be 'period between holocaustic depressions'. The problem of different 'wave-lengths' in cycle theory is, of course, one on which much work is now being done.

^a In this chapter 'investment' is mainly used in the sense of capitalization. Similarly, 'rate of earnings' or 'earnings rate' means the percentage of total net income to capitalization and is employed as a briefer substitute for that expression. the total number, show a rise in earnings rates. Thirty more, or about two-fifths of the total number, show scarcely any trends whatever. And in the 28 others, or the remaining two-fifths, definitely declining trends are shown. The term 'trend' is used loosely to denote the general slope of the curves in question—reference is not to computed, mathematically fitted curves. Nor is the term ever employed (unless specifically so stated) in the sense of long-time or secular trend; reference is only to the period under discussion. The footnotes of the next section explain this more fully.

These findings merit further analysis. How great were the increases in earnings rates in those industries which did record gains? How large were the losses in the group that actually showed declining trends? And what were the courses of sales and investment, in comparison with one another, and with earnings rates, in various industries?

2. INDUSTRIES WITH RISING EARNINGS RATES, 1922-1928

The 15 industries that enjoyed a general increase in their rates of return may be divided into two sets: those in which earnings rates, generally rising after 1922-23, reached their peaks in 1926; and those in which earnings rates reached their peaks in 1928.⁴ Rates of earnings in the following industries reached their peaks in 1926 (or 1925):

....A. ..

[164]

⁴ In all of the 'trends' now discussed either 1922 or 1923 (whichever is lower) is taken as the initial year from which the growth in the profits rates and the ranges of these rates over the period are determined. In a few cases the peaks in the one set of curves are reached in 1925; these are classified with the 1926 peak group. In a few cases also, when expansion continues beyond 1926, the peak is reached in 1927; these are classed with the 1928 peak group.

As previously stated, the word 'trend' is used loosely throughout this chapter, in the sense of general slope---not as a mathematical derivative. See footnote 6 for discussion of the determination of 'general slope'.

Meat Packing Cleaning Preparations Castings Electrical Machinery Miscellaneous Machinery

Similarly, earnings rates reached their peaks in 1928 (or 1927) in the following industries:

Beverages	Office Machinery
Stationery	Firearms
Crude Chemicals	Tools
Miscellaneous Chemicals	Non-ferrous Metals
General Factory Machinery	Miscellaneous Metals

Of course, were figures available for 1929 the dating of these peaks might be changed.

It will be noted that most of these industries showing increases are engaged in the manufacture of producers' rather than consumers' goods. The 15 industries combined show earnings of about 5 per cent in 1922, and of about 11 per cent in both 1926 and 1928, or approximately a doubling in the rate of return over the period. Chart 17

CHART 17

PERCENTAGE OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION 15 INDUSTRIES SHOWING INCREASING EARNINGS RATES, 1922-28



presents the averages for the group. Sales in this group about doubled also, while capital investment rose about 23 per cent. These growths are observable in Chart 18. The

CHART 18

SALES AND CAPITALIZATION, 15 INDUSTRIES SHOWING INCREASING EARNINGS RATES, 1922-28



individual ranges for the period (high and low earnings years) for each industry are presented in Table 34.

TABLE 34

RANGES IN PERCENTAGES OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZA-TION, FOR 15 INDUSTRIES SHOWING INCREASING EARNINGS RATES, 1922-28

Industry	Low 1922 (or 1923) (per cent)	HIGH 1928 (or 1926) (per cent)
Meat packing	2	6
Beverages	5	7
Stationery	4	10
Crude chemicals	9	11
Cleaning preparations	16	24
Miscellaneous chemicals	8	18
Castings and forgings	2	8
Electrical machinery	13	18
General factory machinery	7	13

[166]

TABLE 34 (continued)

RANGES IN PERCENTAGES OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZA-TION, FOR 15 INDUSTRIES SHOWING INCREASING EARNINGS RATES, 1922-28

Industry	LOW 1922 (or 1923) (per cent)	HIGH 1928 (or 1926) (per cent)
Office machinery	9	19
Firearms	10	19
Tools	8	15
Miscellaneous machinery	10	15
Non-ferrous metals	9	15
Miscellaneous metals	3	16

3. INDUSTRIES WITH FALLING EARNINGS RATES, 1922-28

The 28 industries in which earnings rates showed definitely declining trends are given below:

Dairy Products	Blank Paper
Canned Foods	Miscellaneous Paper
Cotton Converting	Book and Music Publishing
Weaving Woolens	Paints
Silk Weaving	Toilet Preparations
Carpets	Ceramics
Knit Goods	Glass
Miscellaneous Textiles	Portland Cement
Lumber Manufacturing	Heating Machinery
Planing Mills	Textile Machinery
Millwork	Engines
Furniture (non-metal)	Railroad Equipment
Miscellaneous Lumber	Hardware
Pianos	
Miscellaneous Special	Manufacturing Industries

It will be noted that no great preponderance of clearly definable producers' goods over consumers' goods industries is here apparent, at least not in sufficient measure to warrant any significant conclusions in this connection.

How great actually is the decline in earnings in these industries during 1922-28? The ranges for the individual industries vary greatly, as shown in Table 35; but the com-

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

TABLE 35

RANGES IN PERCENTAGES OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZA-TION, FOR 28 INDUSTRIES SHOWING DECLINING EARNINGS RATES, 1922-28

	HICH	LOW
Industry	1922 (or 1923)	1928 (or 1927)
-	(per cent)	(per cent)
Dairying	20	10
Canned goods	20	12
Cotton converting	15	8
Weaving woolens	15	1.5
Silk weaving	13	5
Carpets	35	6
Knit goods	25	10
Miscellaneous textiles	20	8
Lumber manufacture	25	7
Planing mills	26	7
Millwork	25	8
Furniture (non-metal)	19	10
Miscellaneous lumber	17	10
Blank paper	10	5
Miscellaneous paper	11	8
Book and music publishing	19	11
Paints	20	9
Toilet preparations	50	25
Ceramics	15	8
Glass	23	12
Portland cement	20	12
Heating machinery	21	9
Textile machinery	21	14
Engines	14	6
Railway equipment	13	3
Hardware	20	11
Pianos	12	5
Miscellaneous special manufacturing	. 20	12

bined figures for the group, as presented in Chart 19, evidence a drop of from 14.5 per cent in 1922 (and 16.4 per cent in 1923) to 8.5 per cent in 1928. Doubtless in several of these industries declining secular trends in the consumption of the product are one cause of the fall in the rate of return: in certain of them the volume of sales shows an absolute decrease. But in others sales show a substantial

CHART 19



increase; here different factors primarily cause the relative profitableness to shrink. The word 'relative' is used advisedly, for the average (aggregate) return for this group in 1927 and 1928 still stood at about 9 per cent. Only 11 of the 28 industries, by 1928, fell to a point lower than that; and of these 11, only 4 fell below 6 per cent (Woolen Weaving, Silk Weaving, Blank Paper, Railway Equipment). Aggregate sales, for this declining profits trend group, remained virtually constant from 1923 through 1928; they are shown in Chart 20. Capital investment after 1923, however, increased steadily.

4. INDUSTRIES SHOWING NO TRENDS IN EARNINGS RATES

The final group, that of the 30 industries for which the rates of return either remained practically stable over the period or else showed such fluctuations that no trend could



be detected,^{*} earned from 12 to 13 per cent in both 1922

* In grouping the earnings ratio curves for these 73 industries a common sense interpretation in terms of reasonable approximation was used, rather than an abstract or refined mathematical technique. Some of the curves classified either as 'stable' or as 'no trends' showed small general increases over the period, but at best relatively slight ones; e.g., a change from a return of 11.3 per cent in 1922 to one of 12.2 per cent in 1928. This eannot be regarded, by anyone who possesses a sense of humor along with a sliderule, as clearly constituting an increasing trend in the rate of net income for the period: there are altogether too many possible sources of error in the original data of individual companies, in the dropping of decimal points from the millions figures during the processes of computation, etc., to regard absolute variations of 1 per cent or less, in ratios such as these, as having any significance. When mere inspection of the curves (all were plotted on the same semi-logarithmic scales) failed to yield satisfactory knowledge as to the direction of the trend, then three-year moving averages were computed and their slopes over the period were allowed to influence the decision. In no instance were terminal values alone allowed to determine the classification; general slope or contour was always considered. One other factor was considered: where the slope established by inspection was so slight that a 1929 figure (which was not available) might readily have made questionable the direction of the trend-were it added to the series and did it chance to run counter to the 1922-28 result-then, too, the chart was placed in the 'no trend' group. (I.e., if the slope of the 1922-28 curve was downward, but so slightly that a high 1929 figure might readily have made the 1922-29 curve not clearly downward in general slope, then the chart was relegated to the no-trend category; if the 1922-28 curve showed

and 1928, although, as Chart 21 discloses, the curve fluc-

CHART 21



tuated about this level during the period. Sales for this group, however, increased at about as rapid a rate as did those of the group in which earnings rates for the period increased. Chart 22 shows the steady upswing in sales and

CHART 22





an upward slope, but a very *low* 1929 figure might have made the 1922–29 curve not clearly upward in general slope, then too the chart was cast aside.)
investment for this stationary or 'no trend' group, which includes several leading industries, among them Motor Vehicles, Rubber Goods, Petroleum Refining and Sheet Metal Products.

. 5. SUMMARY:

RELATION OF SALES GROWTH TO INVESTMENT GROWTH

Net earnings rates did not, then, increase in most industries during the 1922-29 period. We may with assurance include 1929 in this statement, for while our data run only through 1928, the addition of the 1929 figures would not alter the direction of many of the trends that have been noted.⁶ Earnings did, however, increase in absolute amount in slightly over one-half of the 73 branches of manufacture; and in their percentage upon capital investment in about one-fifth of the total number of manufacturing industries.

In most of the individual industries that exhibit rising rates of earnings in 1922–28, this rise does not seem to call forth additional capital investment at a rate more rapid than that of the increase in sales. But the case is different with certain of the industries that manifest *declining* earnings trends over the period of prosperity. Sales for the 28 industries of this group as a whole grew not at all from 1923 to 1928; but the aggregate investment and re-investment of capital in these industries increased steadily.⁷

* See note 5 preceding.

⁷That is, investment and re-investment by the corporations included in this series, which takes no account of new companies entering these industries or of old ones leaving during the period in question. In some instances, too, the effect of mergers is reflected, although presumably in the investment and sales figures alike. Despite these and other qualifications the fact that the corporations here included so expanded their capital investment in the face of the other trends mentioned is of significance. These trends, however, as will be suggested below, probably were unknown to those responsible for the expansion.

[172]

Circumstances in the following 13 of these 28 industries were responsible for this result:

Dairy Products	Glass
Knit Goods	Portland Cement
Miscellaneous Textiles	Textile Machinery
Miscellaneous Lumber	Engines
Miscellaneous Paper	Railroad Equipment
Book and Music Publishing	Pianos
Toilet Preparations	

These 13 groups will repay study. In each the rate of earnings declined. In some sales remained stationary, in some they declined, in some they grew. But in every instance additions to capital investment were made, either as sales declined or remained stationary, at a faster rate than sales increased.

It is no part of the present analysis to survey the detailed circumstances of each industry, although analyses by persons familiar with such details might yield explanations of the situation that do not appear on the surface. The aggregate situation, however, is shown in Charts 23 and 24. Between



CHART 23

CHART 24



1923 and 1928 the aggregate sales of these 13 industries declined by 10 per cent. The rate of return fell from 16.7 to 8.5 per cent. Investment grew from nearly one and onehalf billion dollars to almost two billion, the exact increase being 32 per cent.

This illustrates, it seems fair to remark, the failure of competition to function, as is often assumed, in directing the flow of productive resources between industries and groups. Seemingly, in no one of these 13 industries was the expansion of productive facilities called for; and in several, declining sales⁸ indicated, or might have indicated, the wisdom of curtailing productive facilities. Yet these facts were either unknown to certain of the corporate entrepreneurs

^aThe effect of price changes is here ignored. Since over the period 1923–28 commodity prices were on the whole quite stable, we may assume, with mass data of this sort, that large changes in the dollar volume of sales indicate approximately equal changes in the physical volume of goods. involved, or else they were not heeded. So long, apparently, as there is a substantial profit to be made, or the promise of one exists, the fact that a particular industry already has more than sufficient equipment to satisfy the demand for its products need make no difference to the individual business establishment. Even a generally declining trend of earnings may still yield an absolutely high return to the successful producer, especially if the rate is well above the cost of new capital,⁹ and under these conditions, apparently, the industrial capacities of particular branches of manufacture are freely expanded.

In Charts 25 to 28, four examples of unwise industrial expansion are given; that is, presumably unwise in the light of subsequent maladjustments in production and employment in these industries as a whole. The expansion of any individual concern may or may not be wise for itself, of course, depending upon the given conditions in each case. But even additions to investment that result in profits to individual producers may cause losses and in some instances disaster for other producers, as well as for large numbers of workers employed in the industries. There are no accepted or standardized criteria for the wise and unwise investment of capital by individual producers in a competitive system. But in the absence of such criteria, a rate of investment expansion that clearly outstrips the rate of market expansion (as represented by the growth of sales) seems presumptive evidence of future economic difficulty, from the point of view of the industry as a whole.

To the four examples of such expansion already cited— Book and Music Publishing, Toilet Preparations, Portland Cement, and Railway Equipment—we may now add a

⁶Either the direct expense of interest payments upon working or fixed capital, if it is borrowed, or the opportunity cost involved in investing one's own, or one's shareholders', capital.

fifth, one taken not from the declining earnings trend group but from the stationary or 'no-trend' group discussed earlier. This is Motor Vehicles. It is included with the other four

because while its rate of return from 1922 to 1928 did not decline sufficiently to place it in the group exhibiting definitely falling trends for that entire period, its earnings rates from 1925 onward manifest a clearly falling course: from 24 per cent in 1925 to 16 per cent in 1928.

1925

1926

1927

1928

1924

Yet because either 24 or 16 per cent is more than a satisfactory return upon capital, and with a competitive situation under which no producer is restrained from expanding

[176]

10

1922

1923

his capacity, each felt that he had a better chance than his competitor to capture a larger portion of the market, and

CHART 26 SALES AND CAPITALIZATION IN TWO MINOR GROUPS, 1922-28 CAPITALIZATION -BOOK AND MUSIC PUBLISHING: SALES --TOILET PREPARATIONS: SALES == _ _ CAPITALIZATION 60 50 40 30 MILLIONS OF DOLLARS 20 10 9 8 7

additions to plant capacity in Motor Vehicles continued to be made. Frequently, of course, the general trends of the earnings upon capital and the growth of aggregate investments are not really known to the business executive

1925

1926

1927

1928

1922

1923

1924

concerned. And in some instances, further capital investment may be socially desirable in an industry yielding profits decidedly above the average even if the rate of profit is

CHART 27

PERCENTAGE'OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION



falling, but presumably only if sales are increasing more rapidly than productive capacity.

It is in this sense that the lure of profits over-rides the so-called law of supply and demand during a period of prosperity. Ultimately, a reckoning comes. But it comes

[178]

CYCLICAL FLUCTUATIONS

neither automatically nor quickly enough to prevent enormous investments of capital being made, over a period of six or eight years, in quarters where they are not really

CHART 28



needed and where they later serve to reduce profits below levels which, again under a competitive system, allow anything like the full employment of the capital so invested. It is, in other words, the possibility of absolutely high rates of income that causes overinvestment, relative to market needs, in *particular industries*. This overinvestment in pro-

ductive facilities for *particular* products, rather than increasing rates of earnings *in general*, is what later occasions difficulty so far as the profits situation is concerned. How, under a fully competitive system of industry, such investments can be checked, save by fuller disclosures and current publication of the figures and trends involved, it is difficult to see. On the other hand, our final chapter points out the statistical difficulties—to say nothing of the several political problems—connected with any plans for a centrally controlled economic system.

6. CONSUMERS' AND PRODUCERS' GOODS INDUSTRIES

A final question relates to the situation of industries which make consumers' goods as compared with those which manufacture producers' goods. Since any classification of industries in this respect is somewhat difficult, the criterion employed is this; is the principal commodity made one eventually destined for human consumption in substantially the form in which it is produced, or is it simply a piece of equipment or a facilitating device of some sort in the production of other goods? Thus flour is regarded as an article destined for consumption; so also is cotton cloth. Castings and forgings on the whole are not; nor are most classes of machinery other than automobiles. Where, however, great doubt exists-where the products of an industry are used in large quantities both by producers and consumers, for example, Lumber, Electrical Machinery, Scientific Instruments -the industry is put into neither class but is omitted from the calculations.

Thus classed, the 18 industries manufacturing producers' goods show an aggregate earnings rate that runs from 6 per cent in 1922 to 10 per cent in both 1923 and 1926, and stands at 8 per cent in 1928. The group making consumers'

[180]

goods (26 industries) enjoys much higher and much steadier earnings—from 12 to 16 per cent in all years of the same period. The two curves are shown in Chart 29.



Sales in the consumers' goods group grew somewhat more rapidly than did capital investment (Chart 30). In the producers' goods, sales grew more rapidly from 1922 to 1926; thereafter, the growth of capital invested greatly exceeded that of sales (Chart 31). This relatively excessive investment of capital by producers' goods industries just prior to the peak of a cycle is a significant phenomenon. It accounts, for one thing, for the great distress of the 'heavy industries' in the ensuing period of depression. And it emphasizes the 'roundabout' character of modern methods of production, under which enormous commitments of capital are regularly made solely *in anticipation* of a demand







SALES AND CAPITALIZATION PRODUCERS' GOODS INDUSTRIES, 1922-28



[182]

which, in either an absolute or a relative sense, is already declining even as the investments of capital made to satisfy it are increased.

The consumers' goods group, however, in which no such overinvestment—in the sense of a capital expansion altogether disproportionate to the growth of sales—took place towards the peak of the cycle, may be analyzed further. Producers' goods industries, after all, exist basically in order to feed or to maintain the industries that make consumers' goods; and the rates at which sales, profits and the like grow in various classes of consumers' goods industries are deserving of further attention.

The numerous consumers' goods industries for which aggregate data were just presented may arbitrarily be divided into three classes: those making goods that are quickly consumed; those making durable goods; and those making goods of intermediate durability. In the Quick consumption group have been placed all Food products, including Tobacco; Proprietary Preparations; Toilet Preparations. In the Intermediate consumption group have been placed all types of Clothing. Finally, in the Durable group have been put Furniture, non-metal; Motor Vehicles; Jewelry; Toys;¹⁰ Pianos.

The volume of sales in each of these groups from 1922 through 1928 is shown in Chart 32. The annual sales of Durable goods more than doubled between 1922 and 1928, the degree of this increase greatly exceeding that of either of the other two types of commodity. Again, the growth in the capital investment devoted to the production of Durable

²⁰ One may question the inclusion of Toys in the Durable group; however, what is in mind is not the length of life, or the article's physical condition as it ages, so much as the greater or lesser degree of necessity for replacement as it becomes old. Most large toys, at least, are probably not articles for which the 'replacement' demand is elastic.

goods proceeded at a far more rapid rate than in the other two groups (Chart 33).

Finally, however, it is to be observed that the rate of



earnings did not take the same course (Chart 34). In Durable goods, it fell; in Intermediate consumption goods, it fell too; in Quick consumption goods the rate showed a very slight increase. But even at the 1928 low point (of the period 1922–28), the return in Durable consumption goods stood higher than that in either of the other two groups. This illustrates again how falling earnings rates fail to check the investment of capital as long as their downward slope remains absolutely high—or at least high relative to other industries. In this instance, however, there is present no striking lack of proportion between the growth of sales and

CYCLICAL FLUCTUATIONS

the expansion of investment. The Durable consumption

CHART 33

CAPITALIZATION IN 'QUICK', 'INTERMEDIATE' AND 'DURABLE' CONSUMPTION GOODS INDUSTRIES, 1922-28





PERCENTAGE OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION IN 'QUICK', 'INTERMEDIATE' AND 'DURABLE' CONSUMPTION GOODS INDUSTRIES, 1922-28



goods industries merely became increasingly important in the national economy between 1922 and 1928. The increase that took place in their sales over this period, however, was greatly out of proportion to the growth of sales in other consumption goods industries and points to the relatively high state of 'consumers' inventories' that prevailed at the peak of prosperity and the beginning of depression.

7. INVESTMENT EXPANSION BY 71 COMPANIES, 1927-29

We may here return to the series of 71 manufacturing companies discussed in the preceding chapter, for which we have data running beyond 1928, and examine the capital assets of these corporations as shown by a set of condensed, composite balance sheets, in Table 36.

Between 1927 and 1929 both the aggregate fixed assets of these corporations and their combined capital stock and surplus increased about 18 per cent. Some part of this extraordinarily rapid increase is to be explained upon the basis of the merger of some of these companies with corporations not included in the list as of the end of 1927. But inquiry has disclosed that few of these corporations increased their assets by any very large relative amount for this reason. Lumping together the increases due to the effect of important mergers, the maximum net growth ascribable to this factor may roughly be estimated at 125 million dollars. This still leaves a net increase of 861 million dollars in the capital stock and surplus of these companies between 1927 and 1929, or a growth of approximately 15.9 per cent in these two years alone.

The bulk of this increase is found in the Chemical and Metals groups in which the gross increases in the capital stock and surplus items were 34 and 21 per cent. While data are not available for the sales of these groups in our

[186]

CON	DENSED	COMPOSIT	TABL TE BALAN	e 36 NCE SHEET	FS OF 71	COMPANI	ES	•	CICLICAL
	IN AL	L MAJOR I	MANUFAG	TURING	GROUPS /	AS OF			뉟
		DE	CEMBER	31, 1927-30)				
	10	027	;	1928		1929		1930	- C
Assets	Millions of dollars	Percentage of total	E C						
Cash and equivalent	1185	17.1	1255	17.3	1269	15.9	1289	16.5	P
Inventories	1338	19.2	1424	19.6	1512	19.0	1395	17.8	سر بر
Other current assets	543	7.8	576	7.9	600	7.5	544	7.0	C
Total current assets	3066	44.1	3255	44.8	3381	42.4	3228	41.3	1
Fixed assets	3879	55.9	4010	55.2	4596	57.6	4586	58.7	G
Total assets	6945	100.0	7265	100.0	7977	100.0	7814	100.0	
Liabilities									
Total current liabilities	610	8.8	694	9.6	677	8.5	459	5.9	
Funded debt	722	10.4	715	9.8	656	8.2	696	8.9	
Capital stock and surpl	us 5416	78.0	5655	77.8	6402	80.3	64 94	83.1	
Other liabilities	197	2.8	201	2.8	- 242	3.0	165	2.1	
Total liabilities	6945	100.0	7265	100.0	7977	100.0	7814	100.0	

• . [187]

[188]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

71 companies series, we may note that in our larger samples (which include the corporations of the 71 companies series) sales in the Chemical group fell off substantially between 1927 and 1928 and in the Metals group showed only an 11 per cent increase. Sales data for 1929 are not available for either series, but it seems fairly certain that whatever increase occurred between 1927 and 1929 was not nearly so great as the increases in investment just noted.

NOTE UPON

ABSOLUTE SALES AND INCOME CHANGES

DECLINE IN SALES, 1920-1921

IN THIS and the preceding chapter, interest was centered chiefly upon the general course of sales, income and investment in different industries over the period 1922-28. This note summarizes an examination of some shorter-run phenomena: the decline of sales and income. in each industry, from the cyclical peak to the trough which, within a year or two, follows; and the recovery from the bottom of the trough to the immediately succeeding point of recovery. Which industries suffer the severest, which the mildest, drops? Which soon recover to a greater, which to a lesser extent? How does a decline in sales affect the amount of net income in one industry as compared with another? The discussion is couched in terms of absolute amounts of income and sales and their relative changes—not rates of return upon either sales or investment. For, over so short a period as from one year to the next, it may be assumed that investment does not ordinarily vary sufficiently to make adjustments in the data essential. By and large, the typical manufacturing plant or retail store possessed roughly the same total capital or capitalization at the beginning of 1920 as a year later in 1921; it is thus roughly accurate to compare the sales made or incomes received during 1920 with those of 1921. The procedure, then, is to measure the percentage by which actual sales in a prosperous year such as 1920 are 'off' in a depression year such as 1921; and similarly to compare the actual amounts of net income earned, or lost in such years. The cycles through which all, or nearly all, individual industries pass, however, are not exactly the same. While most of our 73 manufacturing minor groups have sales peaks in 1920, some show peaks in 1919. In such cases, 1921 is com-

[189]

pared not with 1920 but with 1919. This is also, of course, true of the volume of income; and there the same procedure is followed.¹

Examining the contraction in sales volume that took place in the 73 manufacturing industries from 1920 (or 1919) to 1921, we find a wide variation in the percentages of decline. Two industries show not declines but increases; in 16 others the declines range from 4 to 25 per cent, while 44 more suffer declines of from 25 to 50 per cent. In the remaining 11 groups, decreases of from 50 to 82 per cent occurred. The quartiles are shown in Chart 35.

CHART 35

DISPERSION OF PERCENTAGE DECLINES IN SALES AND INCOME IN 73 MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES, 1921 COMPARED WITH 1920 (OR 1919; (WITH QUARTILES OF THE DISTRIBUTION INDICATED)



¹ In the case of net income, in certain instances when the peak occurs in 1919, the low point is reached in 1920 and recovery is evidenced in 1921. In such instances the 1920 low is the figure that is compared with the peak. Appendix Table 6 gives the absolute data, which may be consulted or charted by the reader who cares to extend the analysis.

[190]

DECLINE IN NET INCOMES, 1920-21

The same procedure may be followed in analyzing the amounts of net incomes received by the 73 manufacturing groups in 1920 and 1921. Of the 73 industries 3 showed increases in income and 4 had declines of less than 25 per cent. Eight industries underwent declines of from 25 to 50 per cent, while 58 industries suffered declines of 50 per cent or over. Of these, 44 showed income shrinkages of from 50 to 100 per cent, while 14 declined over 100 per cent, that is, they had deficits in 1921.

COMPARISON, 1921 SALES AND INCOME DECLINES

The fact that sales declined by 50 per cent or more in only 11 of the 73 industries, while income fell by 50 per cent or over in 58, vividly corroborates the oft-repeated statement that a "small drop in gross revenues may cause a large drop in net". In all 73 manufacturing groups combined, sales fell, roughly 33 per cent between 1920 and 1921, from 25 billion dollars to 16 billion. But total net income fell 75 per cent from exactly two billion to almost precisely one-half billion. This, of course, is because overhead expense remains relatively constant over short periods, or at least seldom contracts in proportion to the reduction in sales. The discrepancy is emphasized graphically in Chart 35. The two sections of the chart are drawn to the same scale, but in the income diagram the available space prevents carrying down fully the lines representing drops of over 100 per cent.

Although certain industries are conspicuous in the degree to which given declines in sales cause disproportionate shrinkages in net earnings, there is nevertheless a fairly close general correspondence between the relative standing of the different industries with respect to their declines in sales and in income.² If we compare specifically the list of the ten industries showing the smallest declines in sales from 1920 to 1921 with that of the ten showing the slightest falling off in incomes, we find that seven industries are common to both lists.

Similarly, if we compare the industries that suffer the largest sales

³Only the industries occupying extreme positions are analyzed here, but a general measurement of the correlation in ranks is undertaken later. declines with those undergoing the greatest income curtailment, we find a high degree of correspondence in the two lists. Here, however, the industries with the greatest declines in incomes suffered actual deficits—13 industries in all. Comparing with this list, then, not the 10 but the 13 industries in which sales declined the most, we find 10 names common to both lists.

SALES AND INCOME DECLINES, 1923-1924

The year 1924, while not nearly so depressed as 1921, recorded a general drop in business activity. The *Annalist* index fell from 108 in 1923 to 97 in 1924 and the index of the American Telephone



CHART 36'

[192]

and Telegraph Company from 108 to $95.^{8}$ The 1921 figures for the two indexes respectively were 85 and 76. Although annual figures by no means indicate the full extent of the drop, it is nevertheless of interest to examine the 1923–24 recessions in sales and income in the 73 manufacturing industries and to compare them with the 1920–21 situation. Nearly half of these industries showed no sales declines at all in 1924 (more accurately, 32 failed to show declines). Rather, in 27, sales increased. In 5 others, sales equalled the 1923 figures. Only in the remaining 41 minor groups did sales fall off. More than ever, one is impressed with the fact that what we term 'general business' (however useful a concept) is a composite, an abstraction.

The 1923-24 declines in the 41 manufacturing groups where sales fell off are not large as compared with the declines of 1920-21. In 28 groups they are less than 10 per cent; in 9 more they run from 10 to 15 per cent; in only 4 groups are they 20 per cent or more.

Net income, 1923-24, either remains constant or increases in about one-third of the 73 industries. Of these 25 groups, one shows the same income in 1924 as in 1923, while the other 24 all register gains ranging from 3 to more than 100 per cent. In the 48 groups that show declines in income, the drops range from 1 to 89 per cent.

sales and income declines, 1926–1927

The year 1927 is customarily regarded as one of mildest recession. While the general drop of that year was hardly felt in comparison with either that of 1921 or even 1924, data for the rate of net earnings upon capital presented in Chapters 6 and 7 have suggested that 1927 recorded a more severe business contraction than is ordinarily thought to have been the case. A survey of the absolute declines in sales and income, 1926–27, seemingly corroborates this earlier conclusion, although again annual figures do not tell the entire story. Of the 73 manufacturing industries, 39 show declines in sales. Most of the declines are of almost the same magnitude as the declines ranging from 1 to 10 per cent; in 1927, 31 groups fell into the same category.

In 1924, 13 groups showed declines of 10 per cent or over, while in 1927, 8 groups did so.

^aThese figures are annual averages of the monthly data.

As regards net income, the number of groups showing declines in 1927 is almost the same as that for 1923-24, 47 in one case and 48 in the other. The range is not greatly different, although a smaller proportion of industries suffers extreme changes: in 1927, 3 groups show income drops of 50 per cent or over, as against 8 groups in 1924.



INCREASES IN SALES AND INCOME, 1921-22

We may now inquire how the rate of recovery in sales and incomes varied.

The 1922 upswing in sales ranges from 1 to 82 per cent over the

[194]

1921 figures.⁴ In 15 industries the gains were under 10 per cent; in 25, from 10 to 19 per cent; in 30, from 20 to 49 per cent; in 3, 50 per cent or over.

Increases in net income, 1921–22, range from 6 to several hundred and even more than a thousand per cent; in some of the industries, however, actual deficits prevailed in 1921. Fifty-eight show gains of 50 per cent or over; 44, of 100 per cent or over.

GENERAL RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN INCOME AND SALES CHANGES

Thus far, this note has dealt broadly with the character of the variation in income and sales changes. There remain to be given certain measurements of the general degree to which decreases and increases in income and sales correspond.

a. High Correspondence in Sales and Income Declines

If the 73 industries be arrayed (or ranked) according to their percentages of sales decline, and then, in parallel columns, are entered their positions in terms of their income declines, we obtain the two lists presented in Table 37. The general correspondence in ranks prevailing between these two lists is close, about 70 per cent perfect.

TABLE 37

RANK OF 73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS IN SALES DECLINE COMPARED WITH RANK IN INCOME DECLINE, 1920-21

MINOR	RANK IN	RANK IN
GROUP	SALES DECLINE	INCOME DECLINE
26 Planing mills	1	45
65 Tools	2	10
66 Bolts and nuts	3	12
12 Cotton spinning	4	39
50 Sheet metal	5	2
70 Miscellaneous metals	6	8
23 Miscellaneous leather	7	4
31 Cardboard boxes	8	17
51 Wire and nails	9	14
11 Miscellaneous foods	10	6

⁴ In 10 industries out of the 73, the increases are for 1923 over 1922, the latter year being in those 10 industries lower than 1921. In 3 other industries, the comparison is also that of 1923 over 1922 because the latter is as low as 1921.

[196]

.

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

TABLE 37 (continued)

RANK OF 73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS IN SALES DECLINE

MINC)R	RANK IN	RANK IN
GROU	P	SALES DECLINE	INCOME DECLINE
49	Castings and forgings	11	13
32	Stationery	12	9
24	Rubber products	13	3
68	Non-ferrous metals	14	28
4	Package foods	15	7
61	Railway equipment	16	38
48	Miscellaneous clay and stone products	17	21
38	Crude chemicals	18	57
25	Lumber manufacture	19	25
63	Firearms	20	31
27	Millwork	21	23
58	Mining machinery	22	26
67	Miscellaneous machinery	23	11
14	Cotton weaving	24	40
30	Blank paper	25	15
64	Hardware	26	22
69	Jewelry	27	19
7	Meat packing	28	1
33	Miscellaneous paper	29	33
62	Motor vehicles	30	36
44	Miscellaneous chemicals	31	53
21	Miscellaneous textiles	32	49
46	Glass	33	42
52	Heating machinery	34	37
3	Confectionery	35	32
13	Cotton converting	36	24
57	Engines	37	55
29	Miscellaneous lumber	38	56
39	Paints	39	34
2	Flour	40	27
6	Canned goods	41	44
20	Miscellaneous clothing	42	29
45	Ceramics	43	54
59	General factory machinery	44	35
72	Тоуз	45	65
37	Miscellaneous printing and publishing	46	63
18	Men's clothing	47	4 1
19	Knit goods	48	51
73	Pianos	49	30
28	Furniture (non-metal)	50	47
40	Petroleum refining	51	20
16	Silk weaving	52	18
		34	~~

TABLE 37 (continued)

RANK OF 73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS IN SALES DECLINE

MINOR	RANK IN	RANK IN
GROUP	SALES DECLINE	INCOME DECLINE
17 Carpets	53	61
53 Electrical machinery	54	48
55 Printing machinery	55	64
36 Job printing	56	62
43 Cleaning preparations	57	5
60 Office machinery	58	43
1 Bakery products	59	72
56 Road machinery	60	50
71 Scientific instruments	61	58
41 Proprietary preparations	62	59
15 Weaving woolens	63	16
74 Miscellaneous special manufacturing	64	60
5 Dairying	65	46
22 Boots and shoes	66	52
54 Textile machinery	67	67
47 Portland cement	68	69
34 Newspapers	69	68
35 Book and music publishing	70	70
10 Tobacco	71	71
9 Beverages	72	73
42 Toilet preparations	73	66

Coefficient of rank correlation +0.71

That is to say, the coefficient of rank correlation is +0.71, on a scale in which 1.00 would express perfect correspondence of positions. With due allowance for individual exceptions, we may therefore say that in general the industries that show the larger sales declines are also those which show the greater *net income declines*.

b. Lack of Correspondence in Sales and Income Increases

Similarly arraying the 1921–22 percentages of sales and income increase, we obtain the lists given in Table 38. The general correspondence in ranks is very slight and does not justify a conclusion similar to that concerning the two sets of decreases previously discussed. On the whole, it cannot be said that the industries which enjoy the larger *increases* in sales in the year of recovery following one of severe depression are those which also show the greater increases in net income. The coefficient of rank correlation here is only

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

+0.13, expressing little more than a chance relationship between the two sets of ranks.

TABLE 38

RANK OF 73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS IN SALES INCREASE COMPARED WITH RANK IN INCOME INCREASE, 1921-22

MINC	R	RANK IN	RANK IN
GROU	P	BALES INCREASE	INCOME INCREASE
66	Bolts and nuts	1	4
50	Sheet metal	2	35
57	Engines	3	71
65	Tools	4	17
29	Miscellaneous lumber	5	39
12	Cotton spinning	6	63
17	Carpets	7	61
56	Road machinery	8	55
25	Lumber manufacture	9	19
62	Motor vehicles	10	27
26	Planing mills	11	32
27	Millwork	12	7
53	Electrical machinery	13	47
58	Mining machinery	14	22
64	Hardware	15	8
68	Non-ferrous metals	16	16
51	Wire and nails	17	2
48	Miscellaneous clay and stone products	18	5
45	Ceramics	19	50
19	Knit goods	20	67
21	Miscellancous textiles	21	73
31	Cardboard boxes	22	5
63	Firearms	23	15
38	Crude chemicals	24	31
39	Paints	25	21
47	Portland cement	26	48
52	Heating machinery	27	33
59	General factory machinery	28	45
9	Beverages	29	26
23	Miscellaneous leather	30	25
28	Furniture (non-metal)	31	38
72	Toys	32	64
73	Pianos	33	14
49	Castings and forgings	34	6
6	Canned goods	35	42
46	Glass	36	51
5	Dairying	37	62
18	Men's clothing	38	54

[198]

TABLE 38 (continued)

RANK OF 73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS IN SALES INCREASE

MINOR	RANK IN	RANK IN
GROUP	SALES INCREASE	INCOME INCREASE
24 Rubber products	39	41
33 Miscellaneous paper	40	44
70 Miscellaneous metals	41	30
69 Jewelry	42	11
3 Confectionery	43	37
13 Cotton converting	44	29
44 Miscellaneous chemicals	45	56
15 Weaving woolens	46	1
55 Printing machinery	47	59
71 Scientific instruments	48	36
42 Toilet preparations	49	52
1 Bakery products	50	65
14 Cotton weaving	51	66
22 Boots and shoes	52	46
32 Stationery	53	18
41 Proprietary preparations	54	43
11 Miscellaneous foods	55	23
61 Railway equipment	56	60
7 Meat packing	57	40
34 Newspapers	58	53
36 Job printing	59	69
60 Office machinery	60	58
67 Miscellaneous machinery	61	13
37 Miscellaneous printing and publishin	g 62	72
54 Textile machinery	63	68
74 Miscellaneous special manufacturing	64	49
4 Package foods	65	10
20 Miscellaneous clothing	66	20
35 Book and music publishing	67	57
10 Tobacco	68	70
16 Silk weaving	69	12
30 Blank paper	70	28
43 Cleaning preparations	71	24
2 Flour	72	34
40 Petroleum refining	73	9
Coefficient of rank correlation +0.1	3	

c. Correspondence in Sales Declines and Sales Increases

We now may, in the same way, ask whether the industries that experienced the greater sales declines in 1921 were those which enjoyed the larger sales increases in 1922. The two lists of ranks are [200]

٠

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

TABLE 39

RANK OF 73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS IN SALES DECLINE, 1920-21, COMPARED WITH RANK IN SALES INCREASE, 1921-22

OR	RANK IN	rank in
JP	SALES DECLINE	SALES INCREASE
Planing mills	1	11
Tools	2	4
Bolts and nuts	3	1
Cotton spinning	4	6
Sheet metal	5	2
Miscellaneous metals	6	41
Miscellaneous leather	7	30
Cardboard boxes	8	22
Wire and nails	9	17
Miscellaneous foods	10	55
Castings and forgings	11	34
Stationery	12	53
Rubber products	13	39
Non-ferrous metals	14	16
Package foods	15	65
Railway equipment	16	56
Miscellaneous clay and stone products	17	18
Crude chemicals	18	24
Lumber manufacture	19	9
Firearms	20	23
Millwork	21	12
Mining machinery	22	14
Miscellaneous machinery	23	61
Cotton weaving	24	51
Blank paper	25	70
Hardware	26	15
Jewelry	27	42
Meat packing	28	57
Miscellaneous paper	29	40
Motor vehicles	30	10
Miscellaneous chemicals	31	45
Miscellaneous textiles	32	21
Glass	33	36
Heating machinery	34	27
Confectionery	35	43
Cotton converting	36	44
Engines	37	3
Miscellaneous lumber	38	5
Paints	39	25
Flour	40	72
Canned goods	41	35
Miscellaneous clothing	42	66
	Planing mills Planing mills Tools Bolts and nuts Cotton spinning Sheet metal Miscellaneous metals Miscellaneous leather Cardboard boxes Wire and nails Miscellaneous foods Castings and forgings Stationery Rubber products Non-ferrous metals Package foods Railway equipment Miscellaneous clay and stone products Crude chemicals Lumber manufacture Firearms Millwork Mining machinery Miscellaneous machinery Cotton weaving Blank paper Hardware Jewelry Meat packing Miscellaneous chemicals Miscellaneous chemicals Miscellaneous textiles Glass Heating machinery Confectionery Confectionery Cotton converting Engines Miscellaneous lumber Paints Flour Canned goods Miscellaneous clothing	DRRANK IN SALES DECLINEPlaning mills1Tools2Bolts and nuts3Cotton spinning4Sheet metal5Miscellaneous metals6Miscellaneous leather7Cardboard boxes8Wire and nails9Miscellaneous foods10Castings and forgings11Stationery12Rubber products13Non-ferrous metals14Package foods15Railway equipment16Miscellaneous clay and stone products17Crude chemicals18Lumber manufacture19Firearms20Millwork21Miscellaneous machinery23Cotton weaving24Blank paper25Hardware26Jewelry27Meat packing28Miscellaneous textiles31Miscellaneous textiles32Glass33Heating machinery35Cotton converting36Engines37Miscellaneous textiles32Gotton converting36Engines37Miscellaneous lumber38Paints39Flour40Canned goods41Miscellaneous clothing42

TABLE 39 (continued)

RANK OF 73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS IN SALES DECLINE

MINO	R	RANK IN	RANK IN
GROU		SALES DECLINE	SALES IN CREASE
45	Ceramics	43	19
59	General factory machinery	44	28
72	Toys	45	32
37	Miscellaneous printing and publishing	46	62
18	Men's clothing	47	38
19	Knit goods	48	20
73	Pianos	49	33
28	Furniture (non-metal)	50	31
40	Petroleum refining	51	73
16	Silk weaving	52	69
17	Carpets	53	7
53	Electrical machinery	54	13
55	Printing machinery	55	47
36	Job printing	56	59
43	Cleaning preparations	57	71
60	Office machinery	58	60
1	Bakery products	59	50
56	Road machinery	60	8
71	Scientific instruments	61	48
41	Proprietary preparations	62	54
15	Weaving woolens	63	46
74	Miscellaneous special manufacturing	64	64
5	Dairying	65	37
2 2	Boots and shoes	66	52
54	Textile machinery	67	63
47	Portland Cement	68	26
34	Newspapers	69	58
35	Book and music publishing	70	67
10	Tobacco	71	68
9	Beverages	72	29
42	Toilet preparations	73	49

Coefficient of rank correlation +0.41

given in Table 39. The correspondence is only about 40 per cent perfect, the coefficient of rank correlation being +0.41.

d. High Correspondence in Income Declines and Increases Finally, and in like manner, we ask whether the industries in which income declined most, 1920-21, are in general the industries in which it increased most, 1921-22. The correspondence here is high—over 70 per cent perfect. The two sets of ranks are shown in [202]

.

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

TABLE 40

RANK OF 73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS IN INCOME DECLINE, 1920-21, COMPARED WITH RANK IN INCOME INCREASE, 1921-22

MINOR	RANK IN	RANK IN
GROUP	INCOME DECLINE	INCOME INCREASE
7 Meat packing	1	40
50 Sheet metal	2	35
24 Rubber products	3	41
23 Miscellaneous leather	4	25
43 Cleaning preparations	5	24
11 Miscellaneous foods	6	23
4 Package foods	7	10
70 Miscellaneous metals	8	30
32 Stationery	9	18
65 Tools	10	17
67 Miscellaneous machinery	11	13
66 Bolts and nuts	12	4
49 Castings and forgings	13	6
51 Wire and nails	14	2
30 Blank paper	15	28
15 Weaving woolens	16	1
31 Cardboard boxes	17	3
16 Silk weaving	18	12
69 Tewelry	19	11
40 Petroleum refining	20	9
48 Miscellaneous clay and stone products	21	5
64 Hardware	22	8
27 Millwork	23	7
13 Cotton converting	24	29
25 Lumber manufacture	25	19
58 Mining machinery	26	22
2 Flour	27	34
68 Non-ferrous metals	28	16
20 Miscellaneous clothing	29	20
73 Pianos	30	14
63 Firearma	. 31	15
3 Confectionery	32	37
33 Miscellancous naner	33	44
39 Paints	34	21
59 General factory machinery	35	45
62 Motor vehicles	36	27
52 Heating machinery	37	33
61 Railway equipment	38	60
12 Cotton spinning	39	63
14 Cotton weaving	40	66
18 Men's clothing	41	54
46 Glass	42	51

TABLE 40 (continued)

RANK OF 73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS IN INCOME DECLINE

MINOR	RANK IN	RANK IN
GROUP	INCOME DECLINE	INCOME INCREASE
60 Office machinery	43	58
6 Canned goods	44	42
26 Planing mills	45	32
5 Dairying	46	62
28 Furniture (non-metal)	47	38
53 Electrical machinery	48	47
21 Miscellaneous textiles	49	73
56 Road machinery	50	55
19 Knit goods	51	67
22 Boots and shoes	52	46
44 Miscellaneous chemicals	53	56
45 Ceramics	54	50
57 Engines	55	71
29 Miscellaneous lumber	56	39
38 Crude chemicals	57	31
71 Scientific instruments	58	36
41 Proprietary preparations	59	43
74 Miscellaneous special manufacturing	60	49
17 Carpets	61	61
36 Job printing	62	69
37 Miscellaneous printing and publishing	. 63	72
55 Printing machinery	64	59
72 Toys	65	64
42 Toilet preparations	66	52
54 Textile machinery	67	68
34 Newspapers	68	53
47 Portland cement	69	48
35 Book and music publishing	70	57
10 Tobacco	71	70
1 Bakery products	72	65
9 Beverages	73	26
Coefficient of rank correlation +0.72	2	

Table 40, the coefficient of rank correlation being +0.72. This correspondence between the ranks in income declines and increases is just about the same as that found in a preceding section for sales declines and income declines, and justifies the statement that, on the whole, the manufacturing groups that suffer the severest curtailment of income in depression enjoy the greatest relative enhancement of income upon the return of prosperity. At least, this was the case in

[203]

the period 1920–22. Whether the generalization holds, in the same strong measure, for all periods of decline, depression and revival cannot, of course, be said; but one is inclined to suspect that some substantial degree of positive correlation, at least, in this respect prevails for other periods as well.

Finally by way of summary it may be of interest to have a more refined and yet not too abstract measure of the extent to which sales and income declines are correlated than that afforded by the coefficient of rank correlation and the other devices employed in the preceding sections. It has been pointed out that because of the presence of either fixed or relatively fixed overhead costs in nearly all manufacturing industries, a comparatively small drop in gross revenues will cause a large shrinkage in net earnings. It was also shown graphically that the general dispersion in net income declines, 1920-21, was far greater than that in sales declines. We did not, however, undertake to measure the varying degrees to which declines of a given magnitude in the one factor were accompanied by proportionately greater declines in the other. This could be done in several ways, but the simplest as well as the most illuminating for our purpose is to classify the sales decline percentages by given intervals, and to compute the average income declines of the industries so ranged.

Specifically, we find that 2 industries out of the 73 manufacturing groups had sales declines of from 1 to 10 per cent. Their average decline (simple mean of the individual percentages) was 6 per cent. But the average of their *income* declines was 8 per cent. Dividing the latter by the former figure, we have a ratio of 1.3 between the income decline and the sales decline.

Going to the next higher bracket, 6 industries suffered sales declines of from 10 to 19 per cent, their average being 15 per cent. But their average *income* decline was 47 per cent. Here the ratio between the two figures is 3.1, that is, sales declines ranging from 10 to 19 per cent are accompanied by income declines about three times as large.

Table 41 gives the entire distribution by 10 per cent class intervals, while the bars of Chart 38 make possible a quick comparison of the several ratios. (The total number of frequencies is only 67 instead of 73 because of the omission of four industries that showed sales increases, and two that showed declines in sales but increases in income).

CYCLICAL FLUCTUATIONS

TABLE 41

AVERAGE INCOME AND SALES, DECLINES, 1920-21, RANGED BY SALES DECLINE CLASSES, 67 MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES (SAMPLES OF IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS IN BOTH YEARS)

(1) Amount of Sales decline		(1) (2) UNT OF NUMBER OF DECLINE INDUSTRIES		(3) Average Sales decline	(4) Average income decline	(5) RATIO OF (4) TO (3)	
1	to	9%	2	6	8	1.3	
10	to	19%	6	15	47	3.1	
20	to	29%	18	23	61	2.6	
30	to	39%	21	35	197	5.7	
40	to	49%	12	43	97	2.3	
50	to	59%	8	54	124	2.3	

CHART 38

RATIO OF INCOME DECLINES TO SALES DECLINES, RANGED BY SALES DECLINE CLASSES, 1921 COMPARED WITH 1920



[205]

BOOK II EARNINGS OF LARGE CORPORATIONS

CHAPTER 8

INTRODUCTION

1. CHARACTER OF THE DATA

THE chapters in Book II are concerned with detailed information on the earnings, sales and capital investment of the various major and minor groups that make up the Manufacturing, Trading, Mining and Financial divisions. Data only for fairly large corporations ¹ are given here; those for smaller enterprises appear in Book III. In Book II, all of the companies included in each group are identical from year to year. That is to say, each of the minor group tables for Manufacture will contain a portion of the 2,046 corporations for which aggregate data have been presented in various parts of Book I; each of the Trading minor groups contains a portion of the 664 Trading corporations that have been previously discussed; and the Mining and Financial minor groups deal with the subdivisions of the 88 Mining and 346 Financial corporations for which we possess identical data over the ten-year period 1919-28.

With the exception of two broader chapters—Chapter 9, Manufacture and Its Major Groups, and Chapter 14, Trading and Its Minor Groups—each of the chapters that follow presents tabular data in the same general form.

The first table of each chapter describes the size and character of the minor groups that make up the major group; for example, in the major group Food Products, data for such minor groups as Bakery Products and Package Foods appear. Next come the earnings rates for each minor group. Then the proportion of earnings

³The arithmetic average and median sizes of the corporations in each group in terms of capital investment will be found in the tables at the close of each chapter. Additional data and comment on their size will be found in Ch. 43, sec. 3.

[209]
paid out in cash dividends is given. Finally, frequency distributions of the earnings rates of individual corporations are presented.

These chapters obviously are intended for reading or reference on the part of persons interested in any particular industry or major industrial group. They are not designed primarily for the use of statistical specialists whose concern is rather with more technical questions such as frequency distribution patterns, average deviations and ranges of dispersion. While the data of these chapters invite such extended analyses, what has been undertaken in this direction is placed in Appendix A. Likewise, the more technical questions involving the character of the various samples involved are discussed in Chapters 43-46.

2. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

When the phrase, 'the period as a whole', is used without any specification of dates, the expression refers to the ten years 1919–28. The 'first half of the period' thus refers to the years 1919–23, and the 'second half' to 1924–28. By 'first part' of the period is meant the two or three years starting with 1919, and by 'last part', the years 1926–28. The context will make clear the occasional slight departures from this practice.

The phrase 'earnings upon investment', and the expression 'rate' or 'return' upon capital investment are used indiscriminately to refer either to the percentage of net income to capitalization or to the percentage of total profits to total capital. It will be recalled that the two latter terms have been defined as involving the rate of earnings before and after fixed charges upon capital respectively, the capital in the one case including, in the other case excluding, funded debt.² The reason in these chapters for not distinguishing these two concepts (apart from a few places in which attention is specifically called to the desirability of so doing) is that, in nearly all of the minor groups of the several industrial divisions here under discussion, the difference between the two rates of return is negligible. This would not be true generally of Railroads or Public Utilities: nor is it true of some individual corporations in the industrial divisions here under survey. But, in the main, even with frequency distributions of individual earnings rates, the two ratios amount to one

¹See Ch. 2 and Glossary.

[210]

and the same thing in the fields of Manufacture, Trade, Mining and Finance. (The evidence for this statement is given in Appendix Table 8.) In discussing the average rate of net return upon invested capital in the various minor groups, therefore, the expression 'percentage of net income to capitalization' is avoided because it implies that a difference exists between this return and the 'percentage of total profit to total capital', whereas our findings show that no appreciable difference is evident. The reason is that most Manufacturing, Trading, Mining and Financial groups are characterized by a very low ratio of funded debt to total capital—in sharp contrast to the railroad and public utility fields. The amount of funded debt in each minor group is given in Appendix B, while the rates of earnings upon capital including such debt are shown in the tables at the end of each chapter and may be compared with the 'after charges' figures by any interested reader.

The term 'all', when employed in such phrases as 'all Manufacturing', 'all Food Products corporations', or 'all Trading enterprises', refers to all of the corporations of our sample—not to all corporations in the United States. When in rare instances the latter meaning is intended, the phrase 'all corporations in the country' is used.

Likewise, and this it is hardly necessary to remark, the use of the word 'earned' implies no judgment as to an income, whatever its rate, being deserved or not deserved as a reward for services performed or for any other reason; the word is used simply to denote an amount or rate of income received by the corporations in question or shown by the figures of their profit and loss and balance sheet accounts.

3. RELATIVE VERSUS ABSOLUTE CHANGE

The charts on which percentages are plotted are drawn to ordinary or natural scales. Those showing absolute amounts, however, are drawn to semi-logarithmic or ratio scales in which equal vertical distances represent unequal absolute amounts, but equal percentages, of increase or decrease. In these absolute figures it is the comparative rates of change that are important. As a matter of fact, the actual size of these data themselves in some instances are not significant because the corporations in any particular group represent only a sample of the entire industry. Over a period the significance of the relations between the several series of data involved is not, however, thereby impaired. Again, if these charts, which do not always give a clear picture of the absolute amounts involved, fail to serve the reader's purpose, the actual data can always be found in Appendix B.

While the text discusses the comparative course of these figures rather than their absolute amounts, in the case of each group an actual sales or investment figure is given for at least one year of the period in order to afford some indication of the approximate size of the sample. Incidentally, the word 'actual' is occasionally employed in the text as a synonym for 'absolute'. In this sense it merely affords a contrast to the term comparative or relative but is not intended to imply that the figure in question, especially if it be an investment amount, is necessarily valid, correct, 'real' or final in any basic or ultimate sense. The investment figures in most instances are simply to be taken for what they may be worth. For any individual corporation they reflect, or at least are subject to, the vagaries of corporation accounting. Taken en masse, either in aggregate amounts or as the individual data of a frequency distribution, they are probably subject to no error great enough to vitiate the figures with respect to any purposes for which they are here employed; but on this subject the critical reader must consult other portions of the volume.8

Then, too, all the sales, income and investment data given as absolute amounts are, of course, expressed in dollars; and a dollar of sales represented more goods in 1921 than it did in 1919 or 1920. No effort is made to correct or adjust the data because of such price changes. To do so for each of the 106 minor groups would involve the use of different index numbers for the commodities of every group, and even then no great accuracy could be attained. It seems wiser, as regards the first part of the period, not to attempt any such wholesale revision of the data; but it is to be borne in mind that declines of dollar sales between 1919 and 1921 do not represent equivalent declines in the physical volume of goods produced and marketed. As regards the last five or six years of the period, price changes are far less important, and fluctuations in sales volume probably represent changes in the course of physical volume with fair accuracy in most instances.

All earnings figures are for net income or profits before the pay-

See Ch. 43-46.

[212]

ment of Federal income taxes. The 'after taxes' data were available, but to have given all of the ratios in each form, that is, both before and after taxes, would have entailed the presentation of just twice as much tabular material and it was not believed that, for most purposes of analysis, this would have been justified. The reasons for this decision are given in Appendix A. The amount of Federal income tax paid by each minor group is also shown there; and the reader interested in any particular group or year may readily perform the necessary subtractions and compute the desired percentages.

4. LIMITATIONS OF MINING AND FINANCE SAMPLES

While all of the data represent samples, those for the Manufacturing and Trading groups constitute better samples, on the whole, than those for Mining and Finance. The aggregate capital investments of the corporations in both the Manufacturing and Trading samples are far larger parts of the investment of all the corporations in the country engaged in these fields than is the Finance sample.⁴ In Mining, this is not technically true; nevertheless the sample falls far short of representing much typical large-scale mining activity. The reason is that a very large portion of ferrous, as well as non-ferrous, metal mining is carried on by iron and steel companies and by brass, zinc, lead and copper enterprises, which own their own mines. Similarly, many companies classified in Manufacturing, under the head of Petroleum Refining, operate their own oil wells. The extent to which figures for Mining, as carried on by corporations which engage only or predominantly in mining activities, fall short of typifying the entire business of extracting ores, oil, etc., from the earth is shown by comparing the total amount of depletion reported to the Bureau of Internal Revenue by Manufacturing corporations and by corporations classified under Mining and Quarrying. In 1928 the corporations which reported that they were engaged in Mining

⁴The proportions which the investment (capitalization) of the companies in the four samples discussed in Book II bear to the total investment of all of the country's capitalization in these four fields are as follows in 1928: Manufacture, 46 per cent; Trade, 17 per cent; Mining, 17 per cent; Finance, 8 per cent. The absolute investment figures are as follows: our samples—Manufacture, 25 billion; Trade, two and one-half billion; Mining, one and seven-tenths billion; Finance, three billion; all corporations (estimated as explained in Appendix A)—Manufacture, 54 billion; Trade, 15 billion; Mining, 10 billion; Finance, 36 billion.

and Ouarrying show total depletion charges of 212 million dollars: while under the head of Manufacturing, total depletion charges of 254 million were reported. Because such companies as the United States Steel Corporation are really mining as well as manufacturing enterprises, there is no good way to accumulate total figures for Mining which would represent all such activity.⁶ We obtain a better picture of steel manufacturing, as a completely integrated undertaking, because such companies merge their accounts, but a poorer picture of mining. A more cumbersome caption but one better descriptive of our Mining division would thus be: 'Mining carried on by corporations which engage only or primarily in mining, but excluding a probably larger volume of mining activity which is carried on by corporations in which mining is integrated with manufacturing operations.' Other comment upon the nature of the Mining data, particularly in respect of qualifications surrounding charges for depletion, appears in Chapter 46.

In the Finance groups no figures for sales or the return upon sales are, of course, given. Instead, the figure employed is 'total gross income'. This is defined more carefully in the Finance chapter, but here it may be said that the term is tantamount to gross profits from sales or turnover, or from services billed as would be sales in a Manufacturing or Trading business, plus profits, both gross and net, from other operations. It excludes, however, the items of interest upon government bonds or other securities which are not taxable under the Federal income tax law. Except in the case of certain individual corporations, this omission is not serious, as the total of such non-taxable interest is probably less than 5 per cent of total gross income.⁶

A final and more serious qualifying factor is the fact that in one of the Finance groups (minor group No. 110, Investments, etc.) the cost of securities purchased for customers may in certain instances be included in total gross income. This practice—to the extent that it prevails—is both unfortunate for our purposes and an utterly incorrect accounting use of the term 'income'. The rate of net re-

^s See Ch. 46, on classification.

⁶For all Financial corporations reporting to the Bureau of Internal Revenue in 1928 total gross income plus tax exempt interest (termed 'total compiled receipts' in the Bureau's report *Statistics of Income* for that year) amounted to over 20 billion dollars, while non-taxable interest reported by these same corporations was 371 million dollars or less than 2 per cent of the first figure.

EARNINGS: LARGE CORPORATIONS [215]

turn upon total gross income in Financial groups is clearly not to be compared with that on sales in Manufacturing or Trading groups. And more serious, as an impairment of the representativeness of the data for Finance as a major group, is that the sample excludes all life insurance companies.

CHAPTER 9

MANUFACTURE AND ITS MAJOR GROUPS

1. RETURNS ON SALES AND INVESTMENT: ALL MANUFACTURE

THE corporations included in our series of 2,046 large manufacturing companies, while constituting only about a 2 per cent sample, in number, of all manufacturing corporations in the country, in 1928 enjoyed sales of 28 billion dollars, possessed an invested capital of 25 billion, and received a net income of 234 billion. In other words, their business was nearly one-half of the total business done by the country's 95,000 manufacturing corporations, and, as pointed out in the preceding chapter, they possessed about half of the total invested capital.

In the prosperous year 1919 these 2,046 corporations showed net earnings of 12 per cent upon sales volume. In 1920 this was cut to 8 per cent; and in the depression year 1921, to 3 per cent. Chart 39 shows the severe decline in the rate of net return on sales that took place from 1919 to 1921, and the recovery in 1922, when 10 per cent was earned. But the curve of this chart also shows the absence of similar fluctuations during the seven years 1922-28. In each year except 1927 the return was either 9 or 10 per cent; in 1927 it was 8 per cent. The data are given in numerical form in Table 42 at the end of the chapter.

Upon investment the return for Manufacture as a whole was 18 per cent in 1919. This fell to 12 per cent in 1920, and in 1921 to 3 per cent, the rate earned also upon sales in that year. The annual turnover of the capital investment of these 2,046 Manufacturing corporations, in other words, averaged just one.

In 1922, earnings upon investment amounted to 10 per cent. Between 1923 and 1928 the turnover of investment was in several

[216]

years slightly more than one. The return on investment, in other words, somewhat exceeded that on sales. But it showed about the same degree of stability: from 10 to 12 per cent (rounding off the figures) was earned consistently during the seven years 1922–28. The most profitable of these years, it will be observed, was 1926, when 12.4 per cent was earned. The figure fell to 9.5 per cent in 1927, and stood at 11 per cent in 1928.

The relative stability which both the return on sales and on investment show in the years 1922-28 should not, of course, be taken to suggest that this same stability characterizes the individual major and minor groups that make up Manufacture as a whole. As has been pointed out, some manufacturing industries during these same years show generally increasing earnings rates, others declining earnings rates, others stable rates, and still others highly fluctuating rates in which no trends are apparent (see Ch. 7). This is one reason why the average figure for All Manufacture is so stable-some industries decline in their rates from one year to the next, others increase and roughly offset the first set of changes; thus, except in periods of severe depression or exceptional price upheaval, a comparative stability in the broad average rate for Manufacturing industry as a whole prevails. The detailed figures for the 73 Manufacturing industries, presented in the next ten chapters, show clearly these varying specific situations.

2. ABSOLUTE EARNINGS, SALES AND INVESTMENT: ALL MANUFACTURE

The variations in the actual amounts of sales, investment and net income for the Manufacturing sample as a whole over these same years are next of interest, although again it must be remembered that the data here plotted are composite figures, from which the trends in any particular branch of manufacture may differ greatly.

Chart 39 shows these absolute data. Sales volume stood at about 21 billion dollars in 1919, then jumped to 25¼ billion in 1920. But in 1921 declining physical volume accompanied by lower prices reduced the figure to 16 billion.

Recovery in 1922 and 1923 brought the figure to 22½ billion in the latter year. The 1924 figure was only fractionally higher. But between 1924 and 1928 sales grew from slightly under 23 billion to



slightly over 28 billion a year. This 1928 figure of 28 billion represented an increase of 33 per cent over the 1919 level, and of 12 per cent over the 1920 peak.

Investment showed a somewhat steadier, and for the entire period a greater, rate of growth—from 13 billion dollars in 1919 to 16 billion in 1920, and 25 billion in 1928. From 1924 to 1928, however, investment increased at only a slightly greater rate than sales. With the margin of possible error to which the investment data are subject, this difference between a 25 and a 22 per cent increase is not to be regarded as possessing any significance.¹ Indeed the two series may be regarded as having grown at approximately the same rate during the last five years of the period. This close correspondence in the general growth of sales and investment affords an illuminating contrast to the specific situation prevailing in particular industries.²

The course of net income over the ten years, as would be expected, is far less regular than that of either sales or investment. From about 2½ billion in 1919, income fell to just 2 billion in 1920, then to half a billion in 1921. Thus while the volume of sales, as we have seen, declined by only 33 per cent between 1920 and 1921, net income was reduced by 75 per cent.

Recovery in 1922 brought the income figure to $1\frac{34}{4}$ billion. From then to 1928 a general upward trend was evident, although a temporary decline of 9 per cent occurred in 1924, and of 18 per cent in 1927. In 1928 net income stood at about $2\frac{34}{4}$ billion, as compared with $2\frac{14}{2}$ billion in 1919. The data for all ten years are plotted in Chart 39, while the absolute figures may be found in Appendix B.

3. SURVEY OF THE MAJOR MANUFACTURING GROUPS

a. Foods and Food Products

In the Food and Food Products group are 215 corporations. They averaged a net return of about 4 per cent on sales in 1919, about 2 per cent in 1920 and slightly less than 2 per cent in 1921. Between 1922 and 1928 the return ran between 4 and 5 per cent in every year, about half the figure for All Manufacturing during the same period.

The return on investment in the Food group is much higher than on sales by reason of a capital turnover of two to two and one-half times a year. In 1919 the return on investment was 12 per cent.

¹Attention is again called to the valuation of capital assets, etc., discussed in Ch. 45; see also Ch. 7.

³Discussed in Ch. 7 (the second of the two chapters on cyclical fluctuations) and also in Ch. 47.

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

This was cut in half in 1920, and again cut in half in 1921, when it reached 3 per cent. Recovery in 1922 brought the return up to 10 per cent and it remained on a level of 10 or 11 per cent in every year from then until the end of the period, except for 1926, when it approached 12 per cent. These rates represent approximately the same level as that for All Manufacturing.

Sales in the Food group declined from about 6 billion dollars in





[220]

both 1919 and 1920 to a little over 4 billion in 1921 and 1922. They then expanded until they reached almost 7 billion in 1925 and remained approximately upon that level, or somewhat above it, until the end of the period. Investment showed general growth from 1919 to 1926 and then remained stable. In 1928 it stood at 234 billion dollars as compared with somewhat less than 2 billion in 1919. Net income fell from about 220 million in 1919 to about 75 million in 1921; then recovered to about 220 million again in 1922, and showed a general although irregular growth to the end of the period, when it stood at slightly over 300 million.

Tabular data for the Food and other major groups appear in the chapters following.

b. Textiles

In the Textile group are 289 corporations. The peak for this group occurred in 1919, when the net return upon sales was 17 per cent. This fell to a low point of 5 per cent in 1920, but with the recovery of 1921 the rate rose to 9 per cent. In 1922 it rose still more, reaching 13 per cent. In 1923, at the end of the first half of the period, it was 11 per cent. From 1924 on it fluctuated between 6 and 8 per cent in every year.

Upon investment the return was in all years higher. It fell from 30 per cent in 1919 to 8 per cent in 1920; then rose to 17 per cent by 1922. But after that year earnings declined to a much lower level. Between 1924 and 1928 the return ranged from 7 to 9 per cent, standing at the end of the period at 7 per cent.

Sales volume shows a substantial decline in 1921 and recovery in 1922 and 1923, but no growth for the period as a whole. In 1919 sales were about 1400 million; in 1928, they were almost exactly the same figure.

Investment shows a general increase over the period, growing from about 800 million in 1919 to 1200 million in 1928. The 1928 figure, however, represents a very slight decline from that of 1927. Net income shows excessive oscillation for the entire period, but fluctuates about a lower level during the last five years than during the first five. The 1927 figure was about 110 million, the 1928 figure 80 million. Unlike most groups, the Textile industry as a whole showed a higher net income, both in absolute terms and relative to capital investment, in 1927 than in 1928.

[222]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS









[224]

c. Leather

The 54 corporations belonging to the Leather group earned 12 per cent on sales in 1919, but only 2 per cent in both 1920 and 1921. Between 1922 and the end of the period the rate fluctuated between about 7 and 9 per cent, or about a level somewhat below that for Manufacturing as a whole.

Upon investment, earnings are substantially higher. In 1919 they stood at 34 per cent, but fell to 4 per cent in 1920 and 2 per cent in 1921. In 1922 the rate recovered to 16 per cent. For the remainder of the period it was about 12 or 13 per cent in most years, or at almost the level for Manufacturing as a whole.

Sales declined from 436 million in 1919 to slightly under 300 million in 1921. They increased gradually from 1921 to the end of the period; but the 1928 figure of 380 million is slightly less than the 1927 figure and is below the level of 1919. Investment increased during the period, from about 150 million in 1919 to 250 million in 1928. Net income shrank from over 50 million in 1919 to 5 million in 1921; then recovered to about 30 million in 1922. Between 1922 and 1928 it manifested no trend, but fluctuated about a level of 30 million annually.

d. Rubber

The 26 corporations of the Rubber group earned 12 per cent on sales in 1919; 1 per cent in 1920; and suffered an aggregate deficit of 13 per cent in 1921. By 1925 the return rose to 11 per cent, and then by 1928 declined to 1 per cent.

Upon investment much the same striking upswings and downswings occurred. A deficit of 13 per cent was recorded in 1921; then an upward movement culminated in 1925 with a return of 19 per cent; this declined to 1 per cent in 1928.

Because funded debt occupies a proportionately larger place in the capital structures of the corporations belonging to this group than is the case with the other major groups, the percentages of total profit to total capital, as well as those for net income to capitalization, are plotted in Chart 43. Earnings upon total capital (interest on funded debt being included in earnings) amounted to 2 per cent in 1928.

Sales amounted to about a billion dollars in 1920. They declined to half that figure in 1921 and recovered to about a billion dollars in 1925. In 1926 the figure was the same. In 1927 and 1928 sales declined somewhat, standing at 935 million at the end of the period. Investment increased from 489 million in 1919 to 660 million in 1927, but dropped to 583 million in 1928. Net income fluctuated enormously, declining from over 90 million in 1919 to a deficit of 77 million in 1921. It then increased to 115 million in 1925, and fell off to eight million in 1928.

e. Lumber

The 190 corporations of the Lumber group showed a return on sales that oscillated between 6 and 15 per cent during the years





1919-23. From 1923 to the end of the period the return showed a general decline, falling from 15 per cent in 1923 to 8 per cent in 1928. The return on investment in all these years was almost the same as that upon sales.

Sales volume declined from 456 million in 1919 to 286 million in 1921. By 1925 it recovered to 531 million and fluctuated about a level of approximately half a billion dollars annually from then until the end of the period. Investment showed a general increase, growing from about 300 million in 1919 to slightly over 500 million in 1928. Net income oscillated greatly from 1919 to 1923 but there-

[226]

[227]



after showed a general decline, falling from 77 million in that year to 44 million in 1928.

f. Paper

The 111 corporations of the Paper group earned 13 per cent upon

sales in 1919 and 16 per cent in 1920. This return was cut to 2 per cent in 1921, but recovered to 8 per cent in 1922 and for the remainder of the period was either 8 or 9 per cent in every year, a level somewhat lower than that for All Manufacturing.

Upon investment the rate of return fell from 28 per cent in 1920 to 2 per cent in 1921; then recovered to 8 per cent in 1922 and ranged from 7 to 10 per cent for the remainder of the period, again a level somewhat lower than that for Manufacturing as a whole. The 1928 figure was 7 per cent.

Sales declined from 552 million in 1920 to 300 million in 1921. They showed general and steady growth from 1922 to the end of the period, but in 1928 stood at almost exactly half a billion dollars which was about 50 million less than the 1920 figure. Net income fell from about 90 million in 1920 to 6 million in 1921; then recovered to 27 million in 1922. In 1924 it stood at 40 million and remained closely at that level throughout the last half of the period.

g. Printing and Publishing

The 100 corporations of the Printing group, which includes Publishing, earned from 16 to 18 per cent on sales in every year of the period except in 1921 and 1922, when the figures were 14 and 21 per cent respectively. These rates are, of course, far higher than the level for Manufacturing as a whole.

Upon investment even larger returns were obtained, the rates in most years being 20 per cent or higher. In no year was less than 17 * per cent earned; in several years earnings ran from 23 to 27 per cent.

Sales, with the exception of a relatively slight decline from 1920 and 1921, show a steady and marked upswing for the period, growing from 229 million in 1919 to 623 million in 1928. Investment follows much the same course, expanding from 164 million in 1919 to 457 million in 1928. Net income, except for temporary and relatively slight declines in 1921 and 1925, shows an upward course that roughly parallels the trends of sales and investment, growing from under 4 million in 1919 to about 100 million in 1928.

h. Chemicals

The 210 corporations of the Chemicals group show a return on sales that fluctuates from 14 to 4 per cent between 1919 and 1922. From 1923 to the end of the period the trend might be said to be generally upward were it not for a substantial fluctuation between

[228]



[230]





[231]

1926 and 1928. The 1926 return was 16 per cent; 1927, 10 per cent, and 1928, 18 per cent. During the second half of the period the return on sales thus fluctuated between 10 and 18 per cent, or upon a level substantially higher than that for Manufacture as a whole.

Upon investment lower earnings are shown. The return dropped from 18 per cent in 1919 to 3 per cent in 1921; then recovered to 9 per cent in 1922. Between 1922 and 1928 it fluctuated from 7 to 12 per cent, but showed some general upward sweep, standing at about 12 per cent at the end of the period.

Sales declined from 4 billion in 1920 to 3 billion in 1921 and showed but scant recovery in 1922. From 1922 to 1927 they grew steadily, reaching nearly 5 billion in the latter year. In 1928, however, they declined to about 4.5 billion. Investment expanded over the entire period, growing from 2.5 billion in 1919 to 6.75 billion in 1928. Net income dropped from about 500 million in 1920 to 109 million in 1921. It recovered to about 400 million in 1922, but showed great fluctuations in succeeding years. The income figure recorded in 1928, however, was nearly 800 million dollars.

i. Stone, Clay and Glass

The 114 corporations of the Stone, Clay and Glass group showed great fluctuations in the rate of return upon sales for the first half of the period, the return ranging from 16 per cent in 1919 down to 8 per cent in 1921 and up again to 19 per cent in 1923. From 1924 to 1928, however, the rate varied only between 15 and 17 per cent, a level much higher than that for All Manufacture.

Upon investment much the same thing is true for the first half of the period. In 1927 and 1928, however, the return was only about 12 per cent instead of 16 per cent as in 1924-26.

Sales declined from nearly half a billion in 1920 to 330 million in 1921; then recovered to half a billion again by 1923; from 1923 to the end of the period they grew but little, standing at 550 million in 1928 as against 525 million six years earlier. Investment showed a general increase for the period, rising from 320 million in 1919 to about 700 million in 1928. Net income oscillated greatly during the first half of the period but remained relatively stable at between about 85 and 100 million annually during the last half.

[232]





[234]

j. Metals

The 648 corporations of the Metals group showed a return of 15 per cent upon sales in 1919, 10 per cent in 1920, and 3 per cent in 1921. With recovery in 1922 the rate rose to 10 per cent, and remained at either 10 or 11 per cent in every year from 1922 to 1928.

Upon investment 18 per cent was earned in 1919, 12 per cent in 1920 and only 2 per cent in 1921. For the remainder of the period from 9 to 13 per cent was earned, the return in 1928 standing at 11 per cent or at exactly the figure for All Manufacturing. The Metals group, however, it is proper to point out, influences the figures for All Manufacture more than any other single group since it possesses 60 per cent of the total investment for all major manufacturing groups combined.

Sales exhibit great fluctuation, declining from nine and two-thirds billion dollars in 1920 to 5.5 billion in 1921; then increasing to the previous figure again by 1923. From 1923 to 1928 they show some fluctuation, but record a general increase of about 17 per cent, standing at 11.25 billion in 1928. Investment shows a sustained increase over the period, growing from 6.5 billion in 1919 to 10.5 billion in 1928. Net income fluctuates greatly between 1919 and 1923, falling from over a billion dollars in 1919 to 166 million in 1921; then reaching over a billion dollars again in 1923. From 1923 to 1928 it fluctuates between 880 and 1175 million annually.

k. Special Manufacturing Industries

The 89 corporations belonging to this major group carry on manufacturing activities which cannot be well classified under the heading of Foods, Metals, Textiles, or some other specific commodity caption. They include establishments engaged in the production of Scientific Instruments, Toys, Pianos and other fabricated articles not elsewhere classified. But although it comprises a heterogeneous collection of activities, the group is quite as important quantitatively as two or three others of the major groups, its annual sales volume and investment amounting to half a billion dollars each at the end of the period.

The return on sales fluctuates between 10 and 20 per cent during the first half of the period; from 1924 to 1928, between 15 to 18 per cent in most years. Upon investment the return during the first half of the period varies between 11 and 28 per cent; during the last half of the period, between 17 and 20 per cent in most years.



In both 1927 and 1928 earnings on investment stand at 17 per cent, which is a substantially higher figure than that for All Manufacture.

Sales show a decline in 1921 but show growth for the period as a whole, the 1928 figure being 539 million as compared with 394 million in 1919 and 469 million in 1920. Investment increases at a faster rate, particularly during the first part of the period, expanding from 258 million in 1919 to 353 million in 1922. At the end of the period it stood at 502 million. Net income was cut in half between 1919 and 1921, but by 1922 more than regained its earlier level. It showed a substantial decline in 1924; then, a marked increase in 1925 and 1926. Between 1926 and 1928 it was about 80 or 90 million dollars annually.

4. DIVIDENDS AND EARNINGS, 1924–1928

We have data upon the amount of earnings paid out in the form of dividends, for these 2,046 Manufacturing corporations, over the last half of the period, that is, for the years 1924–28. The percentages that the cash dividends paid in each of these years bore to net income are shown in Table 42. The figure was either 50 or 55 per cent in each of the three years 1924, 1925 and 1926; but in 1927 it reached 72 per cent and in 1928 stood at 65 per cent.

Thus for Manufacture as a whole the average dividend disbursement in most years apparently runs between 50 and 65 per cent of income. The 1927 ratio is somewhat higher because many groups suffered a substantial decline of income in that year but maintained their regular dividend rates.

The figures for the Food, Printing and Metals groups are much like those for All Manufacturing. In each, the ratio runs between about 50 and 65 per cent in most years; and in each, 1927 shows the highest percentage of disbursement, the rate being something like 70 per cent. In viewing these several ratios as typical or non-typical, however, it is again to be recalled that the Metals group is by far the largest of all major manufacturing groups and thus influences the aggregate figures for All Manufacturing more than does any other single group, or even any two groups, combined.

The other eight major groups show figures that do not conform so closely with those for All Manufacturing. Details for all groups are given in Table 42.

[236]



5. EARNINGS OF INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS

In the first section we discussed the general average rates of return on investment earned by our 2,046 Manufacturing corporations in the various years of the period 1919–28. We have now to inquire how the earnings of these individual corporations ranged above and below the general average figures obtained when their income and investment figures are combined. The present section will discuss these ranges for the 2,046 corporations in All Manufacturing as one large industrial division. Similar data for the major groups separately are presented in succeeding chapters. It may be remarked here, however, that the wide variation in earnings rates characterizing these 2,046 corporations in All Manufacturing does not appear simply because the companies in question belong to several diverse major groups. Much the same variation is found in several of the major groups themselves for which charts and data are presented elsewhere.

In 1919 our 2,046 Manufacturing corporations earned a combined return of 18 per cent upon their investment. Seventy-one per cent, however, earned more than this rate. Half earned over 27 per cent, while one-fourth earned over 43 per cent. In 1920 the general average return was reduced to 12 per cent. Still nearly 70 per cent (to be exact, 67 per cent) of the corporations earned more than the average rate. Half earned over 19 per cent, while the upper quarter earned in excess of 32 per cent.

The depression year 1921 brought the general average figure for All Manufacture down to 3 per cent. Again, however, 70 per cent of the corporations earned in excess of this rate; half earned more than 8 per cent, while the upper fourth earned over 17 per cent. At the same time, more than one-fifth earned no net income at all; in fact, they suffered actual deficits. Here is variation indeed! In a year of undeniably deep depression half of these large manufacturing corporations succeed in earning net incomes at rates clearly in excess of what we are accustomed to call 'normal interest'. That is to say, exactly one-half of these corporations earned more than 8.6 per cent; a few less than half earned over 10 per cent; a fifth earned over 20 per cent; and less than a tenth earned over 30 per cent.

In 1922 the general average return recovered to 10 per cent. Again, however, almost three-quarters of the corporations earned in

MANUFACTURE AND MAJOR GROUPS [239]

excess of this figure; half earned over 17 per cent; the upper quarter earned over 28 per cent; while the lower quarter earned under 9 per cent. Over a fifth, in this year of recovery, earned over 30 per cent.

Between 1922 and 1928 the distribution of the earnings of individual corporations, while continuing to show substantial variation, exhibited a general decline in the number of companies receiving the highest earnings (and a corresponding increase in the number receiving the lowest). Chart 51 presents these changes in the distribution by broad classes of earnings rates.³ It will be observed that while in 1922 and 1923 something like a fourth of the corporations earned under 10 per cent, about 40 per cent did so in 1928. Examining the highest bracket of the chart, we see that whereas almost two-thirds of the corporations earned 20 per cent or over in 1922 and 1923, only about one-fifth did so in 1928. The proportion of companies occupying the middle of the three brackets of the chart-the 10 to 19 per cent class of earnings rates-remains roughly constant between 1923 and 1928, that is, approximately two-fifths of the corporations in most years earned between 10 and 19 per cent upon their investment. Detailed figures for the distribution in each year are given in Table 42.

³The four broad class intervals of this chart, and of those like it in succeeding chapters, are shown as 'Under Zero', '1 to 9 per cent', '10 to 19 per cent', and '20 per cent and over' respectively. This appears to omit the range from zero to one per cent. Actually it does not. The theoretically possible case of an exact zero income was never encountered in the original calculations. The original data themselves, on which the *Source-Book* is based, had been rounded off to the nearest dollar. All calculated percentages for income to capitalization were thus either positive or negative. But these calculated percentages themselves were rounded off to the nearest whole per cent. In the case of all positive percentages falling in the 0.1 to 0.9 class, these were regarded as belonging to the 'one per cent' category. Thus 'Under Zero' means negative earnings rates of any size, and '1 to 9' per cent includes the positive rates which may have been fractional before they were rounded off in the preparation of the *Source-Book*.



MANUFACTURE AND MAJOR GROUPS [241]

TABLE 42

MANUFACTURING AND ITS MAJOR GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES

•	NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER CORPORAT (millions of dollars)					
	CORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN				
All manufacturing	2,046	13.50	1.97				
Major group							
1 Foods	215	14.76	2.17				
2 Textiles	289	4.30	1.73				
3 Leather	54	4.85	2.40				
4 Rubber	26	31.03	2.83				
5 Lumber	190	2.95	1.15				
6 Paper	111 ·	6.00	1,58				
7 Printing and put	lishing 100	5.69	1.36				
8 Chemicals	210	34.44	2.22				
9 Stone, clay and g	lass 114	6.48	2.08				
10 Metals	648	18.31	2.38				
11 Special manufact	uring						
industries	- 89	5.75	2.32				

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

TABLE 42 (continued)

•

		I AB	LB 44	{contin	ued)							<u> </u>
	<i>1919</i>	1920	<i>1921</i>	1922	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919- 1028	242
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SA	ALES									-/	2/20	<u> </u>
All manufacturing	11.5	7.9	3.1	9.9	9.8	8.9	10.0	10.1	8 1	97	0 1	
Major group							- • • •		0.3	2.1	2.1	
1 Foods	3.7	2.3	1.7	5.1	5.3	4.4	1 8	48	41	A A	4.0	
2 Textiles	16.9	4.9	9.0	12.6	11.0	5.4	7.2	5 5	77	T.T 2 0	T. U	
3 Leather	12.1	2.2	1.6	9.2	6.8	84	76	71	0 5	3.0	ð.) 7 A	
4 Rubber	12.1	1.1	-13.2	2.9	4 3	5 6	11.0	1.3	7.3	7.0	7.4	
5 Lumber	12.4	14.7	6.3	14 3	15.2	12 2	11.4	3.4	4.8	0.8	4.0	
6 Paper	12.5	16.1	1.9	7.6	92	00	02	10.0	7.0	8.2	11.5	
7 Printing and publishing	16.5	16.5	14.4	20.7	17.8	19.4	0.0	0.7	ð.7	8.1	9.5	
8 Chemicals	14.0	12.5	3.7	12.9	04	12 2	15.4	17.7	17.3	15.8	17.0	
9 Stone, clay and glass	15.5	13.1	7.9	14.4	18.9	16.5	12.4	12.0	9.0	17.5	12.6	
10 Metals	14.7	9.7	3.0	10.2	11 1	10.5	10.9	10.8	15.0	16.2	15.4	
11 Special manufacturing industries	18.3	12.9	10.0	19.9	18.1	12.2	15.0	17.6	7.0 16/	10.4	10.4	
							23.0	17.0	13.4	12.9	12.0	_
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CA	APITAL	IZATIC	N									5
All manufacturing	18.3	12.3	2.9	10.2	11.2	10.0	12.1	12.4	9.5	11.0	10.8	i
Major group											2010	ă
1 Foods	11.9	6.5	3.4	10.3	10.4	10.9	10.1	11.7	10.5	11.1	0 2	Š
2 Textiles	30.2	8.1	10.6	16.5	14.5	6.7	9.2	7.1	9.0	67	11.2	H
3 Leather	34.1	4.3	2.4	15.5	11.2	12.8	12.7	12.1	15.4	11 5	127	77
4 Rubber	19.0	2.1	-12.6	3.6	6.0	7.3	18.9	8.6	69	1 2	50	H N
5 Lumber	19.1	18.0	4.6	14.2	16.9	12.8	12.3	11.6	71	9 6	12.1	2
6 Paper	16.6	27.6	1.7	7.8	9.5	9.9	8 1	70	76	6.5	14.1	ſ
7 Printing and publishing	23.0	26.9	17.6	26.6	21.7	21.0	17.2	23.0	104	21.5	7.0	P
8 Chemicals	18.0	16.5	2.9	9.2	6.7	9.1	12.2	12.1	7.5	11.6	10.2	RO

OFITS

9 Stone, clay and glass	16.7	17.4	6.3	14.1	19.6	15.6	16.2	15.2	12.3	12.8	14.5	X
10 Metals	18.0	12.0	2.1	8.8	12.1	9.8	12.1	13.1	9.8	11.1	10.8	⋗
11 Special manufacturing industries ¹ Ten-year aggregate.	28.0	19.4	10.6	23.1	21.5	13.9	16.9	20.2	17.0	17.0	18.4	NU
	(D) PERC	ENTAG	E PROF	іт то		(E) PERCENTAGE OF INCOME					Α C
		TO	TAL CA	PITAL			PAI	DOUT	IN ÇAŞ	H DIVIL	BNDS	H
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928		1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	g
All manufacturing	9.5	11.4	11.7	9.0	10.4		55.0	50.0	55.0	72.0	65.0	R H
Major group												(-/
1 Foods	10.1	9.3	10.9	9.7	10.3		58.3	64.7	59.4	76.7	61.2	≽
2 Textiles	6.6	9.1	7.0	8.9	6.6		82.3	58.6	72.6	52.6	71.0	z
3 Leather	12.6	12.5	12.0	15.0	12.2		26.7	33.0	33.7	24.4	58.4	9
4 Rubber	6.8	15.7	7.6	6.4	2.3		24.1	21.4	56.4	114.1	270.1	-
5 Lumber	12.4	11.9	11.4	7.0	8.2		53.4	60.3	73.7	97.8	66.1	≦
6 Paper	9.4	7.5	7.3	7.0	6.7		45.7	56.5	48.6	66.4	76.4	<u>></u>
7 Printing and publishing	19.4	15.6	20.2	16.5	18.3		44.3	58.3	59.0	69.9	48.6	7
8 Chemicals	8.9	11.8	11.6	7.3	11.1		66.8	54.0	60.5	88.7	70.5	2
9 Stone, clay and glass	15.3	15.9	15.0	12.1	12.3		42.3	45.8	59.7	60.0	49.9	~
10 Metals	9.2	11.3	12.2	9.3	10.4		49.2	44.2	48.4	67.5	62.7	С С
11 Special manufacturing industries	13.7	16.7	20.1	16.9	16.8		71.9	74.5	61.5	47.5	72.3	RO
												U I
												Š

.

[243]

TABLE 42 (continued)

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. ALL MANUFACTURING

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	
	19.	19	19.	20	19.	<i>1921</i>		<i>1922</i>		23	
Under zero	1.0	1.0	6.0	6.0	21.2	21.2	3.2	3.2	1.9	1.9	
Zero to 4	2.2	3.2	7.1	13.1	15.5	36.7	9.2	12.4	6.3	8.2	
5 to 9	6.5	9.7	13.3	26.4	18.4	55.1	15.4	27.8	15.1	23.3	
10 to 14	10.9	20.6	14.0	40.4	14.8	69.9	16.5	44.3	19.4	42.7	
15 to 19	12.6	33.2	13.0	53.4	10.2	80.1	14.2	58.5	20.0	62.7	
20 to 24	12.4	45.6	9.9	63.3	6.3	86.4	10.9	69.4	13.2	75.9	Ы
25 to 29	9.4	55.0	8.5	71.8	4.2	90.6	9.2	78.6	9.3	85.2	H
30 and over	45.0	100.0	28.2	100.0	9.4	100.0	21.4	100.0	14.8	100.0	s n c
(G) FREQU PORATI	ENCY DIST IONS, 1924	RIBUTIOI —28. ALI	NS OF PERG	CENTAGE CTURING	S OF TOTA	L PROFIT	TO TOTAL	CAPITAL	INDIVIDU.	AL COR-	TRIAL
	19	24	19	25	19.	26	192	27	19.	28	

							· •				
Under ze10	2.9	2.9	1.8	1.8	2.4	2.4	3.0	3.0	3.7	3.7	R
Zero to 4	10.0	12.9	8.3	10.1	10.6	13.0	12.4	15.4	13.0	16.7	U H
5 to 9	23.3	36.2	21.4	31.5	22.2	35.2	25.7	41.1	25.4	42.1	H
10 to 14	22.0	58.2	25.9	57.4	23.8	59.0	23.5	64.6	23.0	65.1	TS

[244]

13 TO 19	16.4	74.6	14.6	72.0	15.2	74.2	15.5	80.1	14.6	79.7	1
20 to 24	10.0	84.6	10,3	82.5	11.0	85.2	8.2	\$8.3	8.7	88.4	
25 to 29	5.6	90.2	7.0	89.3	5.2	90.4	4.2	92.5	4.5	92.9	
\$0 and over	9.8	100.0	10.7	100.0	9.6	100.0	7.5	100.0	7.1	100.0	1

MANUFACTURE AND MAJOR GROUPS [245]
FOODS AND FOOD PRODUCTS

THE major group, Food Products, is made up of 11 minor groups, each in turn consisting of smaller, but in the main rather closely related, sets of food manufacturing activities: Bakery Products; Flour, Feed and Grist Mills; Confectionery; Package Foods; Dairying: Canned Goods: Meat Packing: Beverages; Tobacco; Miscellaneous Food Products. The last-mentioned is shown mainly in order to round out the sample so that the major group is representative of food manufacturing activities as a whole. The number of corporations in each group and their average size are shown in Table 43. The groups are described briefly:

Bakery Products: Bread, ice cream cones, pie, cakes, etc.

Flour, Feed and Grist Mills: All sorts of milling activity concerned with the processing of grains and cereals. Bran, alfalfa, grits, hominy, buckwheat, corn, oats, rye and their products, are all included, as well as wheat and wheat flour.

Confectionery: Candy, chewing gum, cocoa, glacé fruits, icings, etc.

Package Foods: A long list of items makes up this group of branded and trade-marked products. Breakfast foods, bouillon cubes, spaghetti, starch, egg noodles, shredded cocoanut, tea and coffee are among them.

Dairying and Dairy Products: Butter and cheese, evaporated, condensed, malted and pasteurized milk.

- Canned Goods: Canned sea food, canned fruit and vegetables; pickles, relishes, catsup, sauerkraut, flavoring extracts and fruit juices. Canned meats are excluded.
- Meat Packing: All sorts of meats whether fresh or canned, beef and pork products, and slaughtering.

Beverages: These beverages are non-alcoholic; liquors are classified under Miscellaneous Food Products. Here are mineral waters, grape juice, cereal beverages and near-beer, and other soft drinks.

Tobacco: Cigarettes, cigars, snuff, smoking and chewing tobacco. Miscellaneous Food Products: Butter substitutes, poultry, distilled and vinous liquors, ice, ice cream, beet sugar, and cane sugar.

[246]

FOODS

[247]

TABLE 43

FOODS GROUPS: LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

	NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER CORPORATION (millions of dollars)						
	CORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN					
Major group								
1 Foods	215	14.76	2.17					
Minor group								
1 Bakery products	17	14.27						
2 Flour	32	2.07						
3 Confectionery	21	5.34						
4 Package foods	19	5.05						
5 Dairying	26	8.06						
6 Canned goods	16	7,17						
7 Meat packing	23	41.65						
9 Beverages	11	4.22						
10 Tobacco	23	33,68						
11-8 Miscellaneous foo	đ							
products	27	20.45						

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

		Тав	LE 43	(contin	ued)						1010	
	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1026	1027	1028	10291	N)
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO S.	ALES					-/-/	1725	1700	1761	1740	1940	- 48
Major group												Ē
1 Foods	3.7	23	17	5 1	5 7	A: A						
Minor group	•	A.3	1.7	3.1	3.3	4.4	3.8	4.8	4.1	4.4	4.0	
1 Bakery products	85	61	10.2	122	11.2	10.0						
2 Flour	4.8	7	0.4	26	11.4	14.3	11.9	12.9	13.5	12.9	11.3	
3 Confectionery	197	•/	2.0	4.3	3.5	5.1	2.8	2.9	3.4	3.4	3.1	
4 Package foods	A D	1.0	3.7	13./	13.7	15.8	15.1	14.8	15.4	14.5	13.7	
5 Dairving	7.0	-1.4	7.5	10.2	7.5	8.4	6.2	8.7	8.0	7.5	6.5	
6 Canned goode	4.1	1.2	2.5	5.0	4.8	3.7	4.7	4.8	4.6	4.5	4.1	
7 Mant posking	12.0	2.0	6.7	12.7	10.5	11.6	9.2	8.5	7.7	8.6	9.4	
9 Reveneere	5	.1	-1.9	.5	1.1	.9	.6	1.2	.4	.8	.4	
10 Tohooo	-4.6	.2	1.9	9.7	14.6	6.8	13.0	13.1	9.6	15.8	8.2	
10 10Dacco	10.0	7.9	9.7	11.0	10.9	10.0	10.9	11.2	11.3	11.2	10.5	
11-8 Miscellaneous food products	10.3	4.1	5.4	7.4	8.5	8.4	6.0	8.1	6.1	8.4	64	
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO O			-							••••		
Major group	APITAL	ZATIO	N									-
I Foods												z
Minor group	П.У	6.5	3.4	10.3	10.4	10.9	10.1	11.7	10.5	11.1	9.8	Ð
1 Bakery products												q
2 Flour	15.2	12.1	15.0	18.0	15.0	18.6	16.2	18.8	19.0	17.5	16.8	Ś
1 Confectionary	25.3	3.2	8.9	9.0	9.4	16.2	9.9	9.9	11.9	12.0	11.4	Ľ
A Dechampford	41.9	13.2	6.6	17.1	17.9	19.2	18.4	17.4	17.0	15.1	17.8	R
T Fackage foods	19.8	-3.5	14.9	20.7	16.7	20.7	16.0	20.2	17.9	17.6	16.2	⊳
5 Dairying	20.7	6.7	8.3	15.6	20.6	12.1	13.0	13.2	12.8	9.7	12.7	Ē
o Canned goods	29.2	8.7	9.1	20.5	13.3	14.7	12.4	12.2	10.1	12.7	13.9	•
7 Meat packing	-3.6	.3	-7.0	1.9	3.8	4.4	3.2	6.3	23	4.6	10	P
9 Beverages	-1.9	.1	.9	3.2	6.1	3.0	6.7	6.5	45	8.6	2.9	~
10 Tobacco	14.0	11.7	13.1	14.2	13.4	13.5	15.0	14.7	14.0	16.0	3.0	2
11-8 Miscellaneous food products	17.4	6.9	-5.4	7.7	9.3	9.7	6.8	9 1	71	11.0	17.4	Ŧ
Ten-year aggregate.							0.0	2.1	<i>4</i> • 4	7.4	1.9	н
												\$

FOODS

[249]

TABLE 43 (continued) FOODS GROUPS: LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING

CORPORATION SERIES

(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL

		1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Major	group					
1	Foods	10.1	9.3	10.9	9.7	10.3
Minor	r group					
1	Bakery products	17.9	15.6	18.3	18.6	17.1
2	Flour	16.2	9.9	9.8	11.7	11.8
3	Confectionery	18.7	17.9	17.0	16.6	14.9
4	Package foods	20.1	15.6	19.7	17.1	16.8
5	Dairying	11.8	12.3	13.0	12.5	9.5
6	Canned goods	14.7	12.4	12.1	10.1	12.7
7	Meat packing	4.5	3.8	6.0	3.0	4.7
9	Beverages	3.0	6.6	6.5	4.5	8.6
10	Tobacco	12.7	14.1	14.2	15.0	14.6
11-8	Miscellaneous food products	9.3	6.6	8.7	6.9	8.9

(E) PERCENTAGE OF INCOME PAID OUT IN CASH DIVIDENDS

Major	r group					
1	Foods	58.3	64.7	59.4	76.7	61.2
Minor	· group					
1	Bakery products	54.9	52.5	62.4	63.6	75.3
2	Flour	50.2	70.8	72.2	71.3	106.0
3	Confectionery	44.2	53.3	62.7	65.1	65.4
4	Package foods	52.5	55.6	43.5	57.3	71.2
5	Dairying	52.7	41.4	53.0	60.5	51.0
6	Canned goods	39.7	49.0	53.0	59.8	40.4
7	Meat packing	130.5	150.9	56.2	175.2	75.0 ·
9	Beverages	89.9	53.3	74.8	133.8	67.6
10	Tobacco	43.2	59.3	55.2	70.8	57.8
11-8	Miscellaneous food products	57.0	64.0	77.2	95.5	44.9

TABLE 43 (continued)

.

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 1: FOODS

		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		VCCA-		ACCU-
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED	F	MULATED		MULATED		MULATED
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE
TALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES
	19	19	192	20	19	21	19.	22	19	23
Under zero	3.7	3.7	11.6	11.6	12.1	12.1	3.7	3.7	1.4	1.4
Zero to 4	1.9	5.6	12.1	23.7	8.8	20.9	6.5	10.2	8.8	10.2
5 to 9	5.1	10.7	17.7	41.4	13.5	34.4	14.0	24.2	16.3	26.5
10 to 14	15.3	26.0	16.3	57.7	17.2	51.6	16.3	40.5	24.2	50.7
15 to 19	12.1	38.1	12.1	69.8	13.0	64.6	11.6	52.1	15.8	66.5
20 to 24	10.2	48.3	7.4	77.2	9.3	73.9	14.4	66.5	12.1	78.6
25 to 29	13.0	61.3	6.5	83.7	5.6	79.5	11.2	77.7	8.8	87.4
30 and over	38.7	100.0	16.3	100.0	20.5	100.0	22.3	100.0	12.6	100.0
(G) FREQU	BNCY DIST	RIBUTION	IS OF PERC	ENTAGE	S OF TOTAI	L PROFIT	TO TOTAL	CAPITAL,	INDIVIDU	AL COR-
PORAT	IONS, 1924	-28 MAJ	OR GROUP	1: FOOI	D\$					
	19.	24	19	25	19	26	19	27	19	28
Under zero	2.8	2.8	3.7	3.7	3.3	3.3	4.2	4.2	1.9	1.9
Zero to 4	5.1	7.9	9.8	13.5	8.3	11.6	9.3	13.5	10.7	12.6
5 to 9	15.4	23.3	20.9	34.4	20.0	31.6	24.7	38.2	25.1	37.7

[250]

JSTRIA

10 to 14	24.2	47.5	23.3	57.7	26.5	58.1	20.9	59.1	26.1	63.8	μ,
15 to 19	20.0	67.5	16.7	74.4	12.5	70.6	17.7	76.8	16.7	80.5	õ
20 to 24	15.8	83.3	12.1	86.5	19.1	89.7	13.5	90.3	10.2	9 0.7	2
25 to 29	6.5	89.8	5.6	92.1	3.3	93.0	3.7	94.0	3.7	94.4	š
30 and over	10.2	100.0	7.9	100.0	7.0	100.0	6.0	100.0	5.6	100.0	

TEXTILES AND TEXTILE PRODUCTS

THE Textile Products group is made up of ten minor groups: Cotton Spinning; Cotton Converting; Cotton Weaving; Weaving Woolens; Silk Weaving; Carpets; Men's Clothing; Knit Goods, including Sweaters, Bathing Suits, Gloves, etc; Miscellaneous Clothing, Men's and Women's; Miscellaneous Textiles and Textile Products. The number of corporations included in each group and their average size are shown in Table 44. The groups are described briefly:

Cotton Spinning: Both coarse and medium yarns.

Cotton Converting: Cloths, threads and tape.

Cotton Weaving: Cloths.

Weaving Woolens: Cloths.

Silk Weaving: Includes rayon and other artificial silks.

Carpets: Carpet yarns, ropes and cordage are included.

Men's Clothing: Includes suits, shirts, bathrobes, vests and all boys' clothing. Knit Goods: Sweaters, bathing suits, gloves, etc.

Miscellaneous Clothing: Custom made clothing, ladies' clothing, men's and women's hats, and underwear other than knit goods.

Miscellaneous Textile Products: Includes some 24 different types of Textile manufacture, such as cotton bags, cotton upholstery, dyeing woolens, silk ribbons and labels, felt, fur goods and moss gins.

TABLE 44

TEXTILE GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

		NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER CORPORATE (millions of dollars)					
		CORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN				
Majo	r group							
2 Міпо	Textiles r group	289	4.30	1.73				
12	Cotton spinning	¹² Γ252	.83					

TEXTILES

.

[253]

TABLE 44 (continued)

TEXTILE GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

		N UMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of d	CORPORATION. ¹
	C	ORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Mino	r group			
13	Cotton converting	18	3.01	
14	Cotton weaving	49	5.46	
15	Weaving woolens	31	6.47	
16	Silk weaving	17	6.95	,
17	Carpeta	18	4.63	
18	Men's clothing	25	5.09	
19	Knit goods	42	2.88	
20	Miscellaneous clothi	ng 23	2.36	
21	Miscellaneous textil	es 54	3.84	•
' T	otal capital (i.e., incl	udes funded d	ebt) as of December 31	, 1928.

		Тав	LE 44	(contin	ued)						10.10	[2
	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919- 19281	54
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO	O SALES											Ц
Major group												
2 Textiles	16.9	4.9	9.0	12.6	11.0	5.4	7.2	5.5	7.7	5.8	8.5	
Minor group												
12 Cotton spinning	18.1	15.4	11.9	10.2	8.9	4.7	7.7	7.2	8.0	6.3	9.9	
13 Cotton converting	13.9	1.7	8.2	11.7	9.9	5.1	7.4	4.5	8.2	6.9	7.6	
14 Cotton weaving	19.4	7.6	9.4	10.9	10.5	1.3	3.8	3.0	9.9	4.6	8.1	
15 Weaving woolena	16.0	.3	11.8	14.5	10.5	2.1	4.1	1.4	4.2	1.8	6.9	
16 Silk weaving	18.9	1.0	6.9	10.7	9.5	5.6	9.7	5.8	3.6	3.8	7.6	
17 Carpets	20.9	9.2	17.4	26.0	21.1	11.8	10.2	8.1	9.7	7.3	14.1	
18 Men's clothing	13.1	5.3	4.8	8.1	9.3	6.5	8.3	7.8	9.0	7.8	8.0	
19 Knit goods	15.9	5.2	9.3	12.7	8.3	6.7	10.6	9.9	7.7	8.0	9.2	
20 Miscellaneous clothing	12.6	2.9	2.4	8.9	8.5	5.9	7.6	8.1	8.4	7.1	7.2	
21 Miscellaneous textiles	17.5	6.0	10.1	13.5	12.8	9.1	8.4	5.2	7.8	6.6	9.5	E
(C) PERCENTACE INCOME T	0.04017477	7 4 7 1 0 1										2
Weite anot	U CAPITALI	ZATIO	N									ã
2 Touties						•						Ś
2 L'Excles	30.2	8.1	10.6	16.5	14.5	6.7	9.2	7.1	9.0	6.7	11.2	T
Minor group												RI
12 Cotton spinning	47.0	37.4	10.4	16.0	13.8	7.6	12.3	10.1	10.4	9.5	15.5	⋗
13 Cotton converting	27.7	3.6	11.9	14.8	16.8	6.7	9.8	5.9	10.1	8.3	11.1	H
14 Cotton weaving	32.5	12.1	9.4	11.4	11.0	1.3	4.3	3.2	10.2	4.7	9.3	
15 Weaving woolens	22.5	.4	11.4	15.2	11.6	2.1	4.1	1.5	3.8	1.5	7.2	-10 Mail
16 Silk weaving	38.4	1.2	8.3	14.3	13.2	8.1	14.3	8.3	4.8	4.7	10.5	õ
17 Carpets	26.5	12.2	15.9	36.3	24.6	12.2	11.4	8.9	10.0	6.7	15.6	Ŧ,
18 Men's clothing	25.3	9.4	6.7	11.3	14.2	9.1	12.0	11.7	13.3	11.4	12.1	H.
19 Knit goods	38.1	12.6	165	257	100	11.0	160	164	11 /	11.0	16.0	-

20 Miscellaneous clothing	34.7	7.6	4.3	18.4	16.5	10 .9	13.8	15.1	14.6	12.4	14.2		
21 Miscellaneous textiles ¹ Ten-year aggregate.	34.3	11.1	12.2	19.7	18.5	12.2	11.3	6.9	8.7	7.7	13.1		
	(D)	(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL						(B) PERCENTAGE OF INCOM PAID OUT IN CASH DIVIDEND					
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928		1924	1925	1926	1927	1928		
Major group		•		-			-						
2 Textiles	6.6	9.1	7.0	8.9	6.6		82.3	58.6	72.6	52.6	71.0		
Minor aroup													
12 Cotton spinning	7.6	12.3	10.1	10.4	9.5		65.6	35.0	58.4	64.4	57.9		
13 Cotton converting	6.6	9.6	5.9	9.9	8.1		79.6	56.1	94.7	53.7	61.3		
14 Cotton weaving	1.3	4.3	3.4	9.7	4.7		344.7	91.8	100.8	32.0	91.8		
15 Weaving woolens	2.1	4.1	1.6	3.8	1.6		236.7	106.0	308.5	73.4	155.9		
16 Silk weaving	7.8	14.2	8.1	4.8	4.7		69.7	36.1	67.5	91.4	90.2		
17 Carpets	12.2	11.4	8.9	10.0	6.7		73.0	70.3	78.2	59.8	93.7		
18 Men's clothing	9.0	11.8	11.6	13.2	11.4		61.2	51.6	64.6	57,0	50.1		
19 Knit goods	10.8	15.8	15.6	11.3	10.8		45.9	28.9	28.4	44.9	51.3		
20 Miscellaneous clothing	10.7	13.5	14.9	14.4	12.2		45.1	35.2	39.2	38.8	48.1		
21 Miscellaneous textiles	11.9	11.1	6.8	8.6	7.6		52.1	66.1	82.1	68.2	72.6		

-

[255]

TABLE 44 (continued)

.

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 2: TEXTILES

		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED		MULATED		MULATED	1	MULATED
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CE88IVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGB IN	CESSIVE
TALIZATION	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES
	<u>1</u> 9.	19	19	20	19	21	19	22	19	23
Under zero	.0	.0	14.9	14.9	9.3	9.3	1.4	1.4	2.1	2.1
Zero to 4	.7	.7	10.7	25.6	10.7	20.0	4.5	5.9	2.1	4.2
5 to 9	.7	1.4	18.0	43.6	20.1	40.1	14.5	20.4	14.2	18.4
10 to 14	3.8	5.2	8.6	52.2	18.4	58.5	16.3	36.7	22.5	40.9
15 to 19	8.7	13.9	11.1	63.3	11.4	69.9	16.6	53.3	27.0	67.9
20 to 24	12.1	26.0	7.6	70.9	10.7	80.6	11.8	65.1	13.5	81.4
25 to 29	10.0	36.0	8.0	78.9	6.2	86.8	11.1	76.2	7.9	89.3
30 and over	64.0	100.0	21.1	100.0	13.2	100.0	23.8	100.0	10.7	100.0
(G) FREQU	ENCY DIST	RIBUTION	IS OF PERC	ENTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT T	O TOTAL C	APITAL, I	NDIVIDUAI	, CORPO-
RATIO	NS, 1924-2	28. МАЈС	OR GROUP	2: TEXT	ILES					
	19	24	15	25	19	26	19	27	19	28
Under zero	8.0	8.0	1.7	1.7	5.5	5.5	1.4	1.4	5.5	5.5
Zero to 4	12.5	20.5	9.3	11.0	18.4	23.9	11.4	12.8	24.6	30.1
5 to 9	28.0	48.5	28.0	39.0	27.7	51.6	26.0	38.8	28.4	58.5

[256]

10 to 14	20.4	68.9	26.0	65.0	20.1	71.7	27.0	65.8	21.4	79.9	H
15 to 19	17.3	86.2	13.2	78.2	11.4	83.1	20.4	86.2	11.1	91.0	E
20 to 24	4.8	91.0	9.7	87.9	6.9	90.0	7.6	93.8	3.5	94.5	L X
25 to 29	3.5	94.5	5.9	93.8	4.5	94.5	3.1	96.9	3.8	98.3	Ĥ
30 and over	5.5	100.0	6.2	100.0	5.5	100.0	3.1	100.0	1.7	100.0	LES

-

LEATHER AND LEATHER PRODUCTS

THE major group, Leather and Leather Products, is made up of but two smaller groups: Boots and Shoes, and Leather and Miscellaneous Leather Products. The number of corporations in each and their average size are shown in Table 45. The groups are described briefly:

Boots and Shoes: All footwear made of leather.

Miscellaneous Leather Products: Saddlery, trunks, gaiters, gloves, leather substitutes, etc.

TABLE 45

LEATHER AND LEATHER PRODUCTS, LARGE IDENTICAL MAN-UFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

	NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER CORPORAT (millions of dollars)					
	CORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN				
Major group							
3 Leather	54	4.85	2.40				
Minor group							
22 Boots and shoes	25	6.68					
23 Miscellaneous leath	er						
products	29	3.27					

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

[258]

	TABLE 45 (continued)										1919-	LE
	1919	1920	1921	192 2	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919- 1928 ¹	A
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SA	LES											TΗ
Major group 3 Leather	12.1	2.2	1.6	9.2	6.8	8.4	7.6	7.3	9.5	7.6	7.4	ER
Minor group 22 Boots and shoes 23 Miscellaneous leather products	11.8 12.2	7.7 4 .2	6.1 -6.0	10.6 6.9	9.1 2.9	10.4 5.2	8.7 5.4	9.2 4.2	11.1 7.0	10.3 3.1	9.5 4.2	
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CA	PITALIZ	ATION										
Major group 3 Leather	34.1	4.3	2.4	15.5	11.2	12.8	12.7	12.1	15.4	11.5	12.7	
Minor group 22 Boots and shoes 23 Miscellaneous leather products	33.1 35.0	18.2 6.8	11.4 6.6	20.4 9.7	16.2 4.3	16.4 7.4	16.1 7.9	15.2 6.9	17.6 11.6	14.8 5.1	17.3 6.8	
'Ten-year aggregate.												
							•					
	(D) PERČ TO	ENTAG TAL CA	E PROI PITAL	nt to		(B) Pail	PERCE: OUT I	NTAGE N CASH	OF IN I DIVID	COME ENDS	
Major Group	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928		1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
3 Leather	12.6	12.5	12.0	15.0	12.2		26.7	33.0	33.7	24.4	58.4	
Minor group 22 Boots and shoes 23 Miscellaneous leather products	16.2 7.2	15.9 7.8	15.0 6.9	17.3 11.3	14.7 5.1		16.6 60.3	25.4 55.4	26.8 59.4	15.9 46.5	49.3 108.3	259]

TABLE 45 (continued)

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 3: LEATHER AND LEATHER PRODUCTS

		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED		MULATED		MULATED		MULATED
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-						
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE						
TALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLAS	CLASSES

	E,	1919 1920		19	21	• 1	922	1923		
Under zero	.0	.0	25.9	25.9	25.9	25.9	3.7	3.7	9.3	9.3
Zero to 4	.0	.0	11.1	37.0	18.5	44.4	5.5	9.2	9.3	18.6
5 to 9	1.8	1.8	20.4	57.4	14.8	59.2	24.0	33.2	24.0	42.6
10 to 14	1.8	3.6	16.7	74.1	16.7	75.9	13.0	46.2	22.2	64.8
15 to 19	13.0	16.6	7.4	81.5	11.1	87.0	22.3	68.5	14.8	79.6
20 to 24	14.8	31.4	3.7	85.2	5.6	92.6	7.4	75.9	13.0	92.6
25 to 29	5.6	37.0	7.4	92.6	.0	92.6	11.1	87.0	.0	92.6
30 and over	63.0	100.0	7.4	100.0	7.4	100.0	13.0	100.0	7.4	100.0

'G) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 3: LEATHER AND LEATHER PRODUCTS

	1924		19	1925		1926		27	1928		
Under zero	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	3.7	3.7	1.9	1.9	9.3	9.3	
Zero to 4	13.0	14.9	16.6	18.5	24.1	27.8	9.3	11.2	11.1	20.4	
5 to 9	27.7	42.6	25.9	44.4	16.6	44.4	20.3	31.5	27.8	48.2	

10 to 14	33.3	75.9	22.2	66.6	27.7	72.1	29.6	61.1	29.6	77.8	H
15 to 19	11.1	87.0	18.5	85.1	13.0	85.1	24.0	85.1	18.5	96.3	Ŧ
20 to 24	7.4	94.4	5.6	9 0.7	9.3	94.4	9.3	94.4	3.7	100.0	P.
25 to 29	3.7	98.1	5.6	96.3	3.7	98.1	3.7	98.1	.0	100.0	T
30 and over	1.9	100.0	3.7	100.0	1.9	100.0	1.9	100.0	.0	100.0	HER

RUBBER AND RUBBER PRODUCTS

UNLIKE the other major groups, the Rubber group is not susceptible of division into several minor groups. Its 26 corporations, which in 1928 possessed a total capital of about 600 million dollars, manufacture rubber clothing, mechanical rubber goods such as belting, hose, tires and tubes, celluloid novelties, insulation, bakelite, bone, ivory and shell products. By far the principal product is mechanical rubber goods, consisting mainly of motor car tires.

TABLE 46

RUBBER AND RUBBER PRODUCTS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of d	CORPORATION ¹
CORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Major group 4 (minor group 24) Rubber and rubber products 26	31.03	2.83

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

[262]

TABLE 46 (continued)												×
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SALES												ΔI
Major group 4 (minor group 24)	1919	1920	1921	1922	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919–28 ¹	3BE
Rubber and rubber products	12.1	1.1	-13.2	2.9	4.3	5.6	11.2	5.2	4.8	.8	4.0	×
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO C. Major group 4 (minor group 24)	APITALI	ZATIO	N								_	
Rubber and rubber products	19.0	2.1	-12.6	3.6	6.0	7.3	18.9	8.6	6.9	1.3	5.9	
¹ Ten-year aggregate.												
	(1	D) PE	RCENTA Total (GE PRO Capita	DFIT TO L		(E) Pai	PERCI	IN CAS	COF II H DIV	NCOMB Idends	
	192-	4 192	25 192	6 192	27 192	8	1924	1925	<i>1926</i>	1927	' 1928	
Major group 4 (minor group 24) Rubber and rubber products	6	8 15	.7 7	66	.4 2.	3	24.1	21.4	56.4	114.1	270.1	

TABLE 46 (continued)

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 4: RUBBER AND RUBBER PRODUCTS

		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED	1	MULATED		MULATED		MULATED
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE
TALIZATION	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES
	192	19	19	20	15	21	19.	22	19	23
Under zero	.0	.0	23.1	23.1	46.2	46.2	7.7	7.7	7.7	7.7
Zero to 4	.0	.0	19.2	42.3	7.7	53.9	7.7	15.4	7.7	15.4
5 to 9	.0	.0	15.4	57.7	11.5	65.4	23.1	38.5	15.4	30.8
10 to 14	19.2	19.2	11.5	69.2	19.2	84.6	7.7	46.2	34.7	65.5
15 to 19	15.4	34.6	15.4	84.6	7.7	92.3	23.1	69.3	23.1	88.6
20 to 24	11.6	46.2	7.7	92.3	7.7	100.0	15.4	84.7	3.8	92.4
25 to 29	19.2	65.4	7.7	100.0	.0	100.0	3.8	88.5	3.8	96.2
30 and over	34.6	100.0	.0	100.0	.0	100.0	11.5	100.0	3.8	100.0
(G) FREQU	ENCY DIST	RIBUTION	IS OF PERC	ENTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT T	O TOTAL C	APITAL, I	(NDIVIDUAI	CORPO-
RATION	NS, 1924-2	8. мајо	R GROUP 4	: RUBBI	R AND RU	BBER PRO	DUCTS			
	19	24	19	25	1	926	19	27	19	28
Under zero	7.7	7.7	.0	.0	15.4	15.4	19.2	19.2	23.1	23.1
Zero to 4	7.7	15.4	3.8	3.8	15.4	30.8	3.8	23.0	15.4	38.5
5 to 9	26.9	42.3	11.5	15.3	11.5	42.3	15.4	38.4	19.2	57.7

[264]

10 to 14	19.2	61.5	27.0	42.3	23.1	65.4	27.0	65.4	27.0	84.7	70
15 to 19	30.8	92.3	27.0	69.3	23.1	. 88.5	15.4	80.8	7.7	92.4	
20 to 24	7.7	100.0	23.1	92.4	3.8	92.3	3.8	84.6	.0	92.4	8
25 to 29	.0	100.0	3.8	96.2	7.7	100.0	7.7	92.3	3.8	96.2	в
30 and over	.0	100.0	3.8	100.0	.0	100.0	7.7	100.0	3.8	100.0	ت ۲۲

•

LUMBER AND LUMBER PRODUCTS

THE Lumber Products group is composed of five minor groups: Lumber Manufacture; Planing Mill Products; Millwork; Furniture and Miscellaneous Lumber Products. The number of corporations included in each group and their average size are shown in Table 47. The groups are described briefly:

Lumber Manufacture: Includes establishments which produce piling, pulp wood, railroad ties, sawdust, shingles, and various other saw mill products.

Planing Mill Products: Doors, sashes, flooring, vencer, etc. Millwork

Furniture: Includes all types of furniture, whether household, store, school or office, except those made of metal.

Miscellaneous Lumber Products: Includes numerous types of lumber products, such as automobile bodies, wagons, boxboard, cork, coffins, foundry patterns and shoe lasts.

TABLE 47

LUMBER GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING COR-PORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

	NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of d	CORPORATION ¹
	CORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Major group			
5 Lumber	190	2.95	1.15
Minor group			
25 Lumber manufactur	c 64	3.91	
26 Planing mills	26	1.05	
27 Millwork	17	2.30	
28 Furniture	55	1.47	
29 Miscellaneous lumbe	er 28	5.82	
¹ Total capital (i.e., incl	udes funded d	ebt) as of December 31	, 1928.

[266]

		TABLE 47 (continued)										L
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SAL	1919 ES	1920	1921	1 922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919- 1928'	JMB
Major group												R
5 Lumber	12.4	14.7	6.3	14.3	15.2	12.3	11.7	10.8	7.8	8.2	11.5	
Minor group												
25 Lumber manufacture	18.5	21.9	5.7	17.0	22.6	14.0	14.0	13.6	10.6	10.5	15.3	
26 Planing mills	2.8	16.9	8.6	17.4	16.4	14.8	12.9	10.1	8.1	7.4	9.8	
27 Millwork	15.6	11.8	2.4	13.1	15.0	8.2	7.0	8.1	8.9	9.2	10.2	
28 Furniture	17.1	14. 2	7.6	15.0	14.2	11.8	12.4	11.6	9.2	8.4	12.0	
29 Miscellaneous lumber	11.6	6.3	6.7	10.7	9.1	11.6	10.3	9.1	4.7	6.5	8.6	
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAP	ITALI	ZATION										
Major group												
5 Lumber	19.1	18.0	4.6	14.2	16.9	12.8	12.3	11.6	7.1	8.5	12.1	
Minor group												
25 Lumber manufacture	16.0	17.7	2.5	10.2	15.8	9.0	8.8	9.4	5.9	6.8	10.0	
26 Planing mills	26.7	35.9	9.9	27.5	24.3	18.6	17.0	12.3	9.6	8.5	17.7	
27 Millwork	18.6	15.5	1.8	13.1	15.7	7.8	6.4	7.1	7.3	8.3	9.8	
28 Furniture	31.0	24.4	8.4	20.3	18.3	15.0	16.5	15.3	11.7	10.5	16.2	
29 Miscellaneous Jumber	18.5	11.3	8.0	18.3	17.2	19.2	17.4	14.3	6.1	10.1	13.7	

'Ten-year aggregate.

.,

		Tabli	3 47 (a	continu	ed)						[2
	(D)	PERCE TOT	NTAGE	PROFI PITAL	т то	(E) Paii	PERCE	NTAGE	OF IN H DIVIE	COME	• [89
16-1	1924	<i>1925</i>	1926	<i>1927</i>	<i>1928</i>	1924	1925	1926	19 <i>2</i> 7	1928	
5 Lumber	12.4	11.9	11,4	7.0	8.2	53.4	60.3	73.7	97.8	66.1	
Minor group											
25 Lumber manufacture	8.7	8.5	9.3	5.9	6.7	79.1	72.2	86.7	115.1	92.7	
26 Planing mills	18.5	17.0	12.2	9.5	8.5	56.2	63.0	88.1	110.8	96.9	
27 Millwork	7.8	6.3	7.0	7.3	8.2	93.1	98.8	178.0	91.6	71.3	
28 Furniture	14.8	16.4	14.8	11.1	10.0	41.5	41.9	48.7	65.4	59.8	
29 Miscellaneous lumber	. 18.4	16.6	13.8	6.1	9.7	29.4	53.8	57.0	100.0	35.7	

(F) FREQU	ENCY DISTR	IBUTION	S OF PERCE	NTAGES	OF TOTAL	NET INCO	OME TO CA	PITALIZA	TION, IND	IVIDUAL
CORPO	RATIONS, I	919-23.1	MAJOR GRO	UP 5:L	UMBER					
PROPRIES		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-
INCOME TO CAPI-	PERCENT-	BY SUC- CESSIVE	PERCENT- AGE IN	BY SUC- CESSIVE						
ALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES
	19.	19	19	20	19	21	19.	22	19	23
Under zero	0.5	0.5	2.6	2.6	14.2	14.2	2.1	2.1	.0	.0
Zero to 4	1.6	2.1	3.7	6.3	21.1	35.3	3.7	5.8	3.7	3.7
5 to 9	7.4	9.5	5.3	11.6	22.1	57.4	13.7	19.5	10.0	13.7
10 to 14	9.5	19.0	13.2	24.8	17.9	75.3	16.3	35.8	14.7	28.4
15 to 19	13.7	32.7	13.7	38.5	13.7	89.0	12.6	48.4	22.6	51.0

20 to 24 13.2 45.9 10.0 48.5 4.2 93.2 16.3 64.7 17.4 68.4 LUMBE 25 to 29 9.5 55.4 12.1 60.6 3.2 96.4 8.4 73.1 13.7 82.1 30 and over 44.6 100.0 39.4 100.0 3.6 100.0 26.9 17.9 100.0 100.0 × (G) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 5: LUMBER

	1	924	1	925	19	926	19	227	1	928
Under zero	1.1	1.1	1.6	1.6	1.1	1.1	1.6	1.6	1.1	1.1
Zero to 4	9.5	10.6	11.6	13.2	12.6	13.7	17.4	19.0	18.9	20.0
5 to 9	17.4	28.0	14.7	27.9	24.2	37.9	33.7	52.7	27.9	47.9
10 to 14	26.3	54.3	30.0	57.9	26.3	64.2	19.5	72.2	25.3	73.2
15 to 19	16.8	71.1	14.2	72.1	11.6	75.8	11.5	83.7	13.1	86.3
20 to 24	14.2	85.3	8.9	81.0	13.2	89.0	5.7	89.4	7.9	94.2
25 to 29	4.7	90.0	9.5	90.5	6.8	95.8	5.3	94.7	3.2	97.4
30 and over	10.0	100.0	9.5	100.0	4.2	100.0	5.3	100.0	2.6	100.0

PAPER AND PAPER PRODUCTS

THE Paper Products group consists of four minor groups: Blank Paper, Cardboard Boxes, Stationery, and Miscellaneous Paper Products. The number of corporations in each group and their average size are shown in Table 48. The Miscellaneous Group includes paper utensils, wall paper, wrapping paper, fibre, paper pulp, etc.

TABLE 48

PAPER GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

	NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of d	CORPORATION ¹
	CORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Major group			
6 Paper	111	6.00	1.58
Minor group			
30 Blank paper	35	12.83	
31 Cardboard boxes	33	1.58	
32 Stationery	20	3.08	
33 Miscellaneous paper	r 23	4.49	

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

[270]

	Tab	sle 48	(conti	nued)								P
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO	<i>191</i> 9 SALES	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919- 1928 ¹	A P E
Major grout												R
6 Paper	12.5	16.1	1.9	7.6	9.2	9.9	8.6	8.9	8.9	8.1	9.5	
Minor arout												
30 Blank paper	12.4	19.4	2.5	7.6	11.9	13.2	9.2	9.4	8.5	7.2	10.4	
31 Cardboard boxes	1.4	15.0	.8	9.2	10.2	8.1	8.8	8.4	12.2	10.0	10.2	
32 Stationery	9.5	10.9	-2.9	5.9	3.6	4.5	5.7	5.8	8.4	8.6	6.4	
33 Miscellaneous paper	13.9	14.3	4.6	8.2	7.6	8.6	9.1	10.0	7.9	9.2	9.5	
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO	CAPITAL	IZATIO	N									
Major group												
6 Paper	16.6	27.6	1.7	7.8	9.5	9.9	8.1	7.9	7.6	6.9	9.6	
Minor group												
30 Blank paper	13.2	27.3	1.9	6.6	9.8	10.5	6.9	6.6	5.7	5.1	8.4	
31 Cardboard boxes	30.8	38.0	.8	12.1	16.1	11.8	13.4	13.1	17.9	12.8	15.7	
32 Stationery	11.3	19.4	-2.5	5.4	3.9	4.9	6.1	6.5	11.2	10.5	7.4	
33 Miscellaneous paper	26.3	30.7	5.3	11.8	10.1	11.0	10.7	10.5	7.7	9.0	12.1	
¹ Ten-year aggregate.												
	(1	D) PER	CENTAC	SE PRO	FIT TO		(E)	PERCE	NTAGE	OF IN	COMB	
		T	OTAL C	APITAL	,		PAII	OUT I	N CASI	H DIVID	ENDS	
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928		1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	[2
Major group												· 3
6 Paper	9.4	7.5	7.3	7.0	6.7		45.7	56.5	48.6	66.4	76.4	L

		TABLE	: 48 <i>(</i> -	continu	ed)						2
	(D)	PBRC) TO:	ENTAGI Fal ca	I PROFI PITAL	т то	(E) Pai	PERCE	NTAGE	OF IN H DIVII	COME DENDS	72
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
Minor group											
30 Blank paper	9.8	6.5	6.2	5.5	5.1	44.1	64.5	47.0	82.1	102.8	
31 Cardboard boxes	11.5	13.1	13.0	17.6	12.6	43.2	52.6	67.4	56.4	50.6	
32 Stationery	4.9	6.0	6.3	10.5	9.9	60.7	48.4	52.5	33.3	39.2	
33 Miscellaneous paper	10.5	10.1	10.0	7.4	8.7	46.7	45.2	39.5	61.3	60.1	

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 6: PAPER

	-		-								
PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- Age in Rach Class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE	PERCENT- A GE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE	PERCENT- Age in Bach Class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	INDUSJ
		~D110020	DAVIA CENTO		ane n conso	CEASUBS	Dirett egitte			•=====	۲,
	19	19	19	20	19	21	19.	22	19	23	_ H
Under zero	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	32.4	32.4	5.4	5.4	0.9	0.9	⋗
Zero to 4	2.7	3.6	0.9	1.8	15.3	47.7	9.0	14.4	10.8	11.7	H
5 to 9	8.1	11.7	1.8	3.6	14.4	62.1	18.0	32.4	22.5	34.2	_
10 to 14	12.6	24.3	5.4	9.0	15.3	77.4	16.2	48.6	22.5	56.7	- 75
15 to 19	9.9	34.2	10.8	19.8	12.7	90.1	19.8	68.4	13.5	70.2	- 6
20 to 24	16.2	50.4	10.8	30.6	4.5	94.6	5.4	73.8	11.7	81.9	ㅋ
25 to 29	5.4	\$5.8	9.0	39.6	0.9	95.5	9.0	82.8	4.6	86.5	-
30 and over	44.2	100.0	60.4	100.0	4.5	100.0	17.2	100.0	13.5	100.0	TS

		•									
	1	924	1	925	1	926	19	227	1	928	t
Under zero	0.9	0.9	1.8	1.8	1.8	1.8	0.9	0.9	1.8	1.8	7
Zero to 4	9.9	10.8	10.8	12.6	11.7	13.5	12.6	13.5	12.6	14.4	
5 to 9	29.7	40.5	24.3	36.9	29.7	43.2	26.1	39.6	35.1	49.5	
10 to 14	25.2	65.7	32.4	69.3	22.5	65.7	25.2	64.8	24.3	73.8	
15 to 19	13.5	79.2	13.5	82.8	15.3	81.0	18.0	82.8	9.9	83.7	
20 to 24	6.3	85.5	4.6	87.4	9.0	90.0	5.4	88.2	7.3	91.0	
25 to 29	3.6	89.1	6.3	93.7	3.6	93.6	5.4	93.6	4.5	95.5	
10 and over	10.9	100.0	6.3	100.0	6.4	100.0	6.4	100.0	4.5	100.0	

.

,

PRINTING AND PUBLISHING

FOUR industries make up the Printing group: Newspaper and Periodical Publishing, Book and Music Publishing, Job Printing, and Miscellaneous Printing and Publishing. The number of corporations in each group and their average size are given in Table 49. The groups are described briefly:

Newspaper and Periodical Publishing

Book and Music Publishing: Includes various types of books, also sheet music and bound music volumes.

Job Printing: Advertising novelties, signs, art calendars, tickets, bonds and notes, sales books, catalogues, stationery, playing cards, etc.

Miscellaneous Printing and Publishing: Bookbinding, photo-engraving, typefounding, etc.

TABLE 49

PRINTING AND PUBLISHING GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

	NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of d	CORPORATION ¹
(ORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Major group			
7 Printing and publish	ing 100	5.69	1.36
Minor group			
34 Newspapers	20	19.23	
35 Books and music	17	5.18	
36 Job printing	46	2.57	
37 Miscellaneous printin	ng		
and publishing	- 17	.72	

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

[274]

		Tabl	е 49 (contin	ued)						1010	ΡF
	191 9	1920	1921	192 2	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	<i>1928</i>	1919- 1928 ¹	ĩ
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SA	ALES											H
Major group												Ę
7 Printing and publishing	16.5	16.5	14.4	20.7	17.8	18.4	15.2	17.7	17.5	15.8	17.0	ି ଜ
Minor group												
34 Newspapers	19.4	18.8	17.2	25.9	20.5	21.8	16.4	20.5	21.1	17.1	19.6	
35 Books and music	12.6	10.5	11.2	16.7	16.1	16.8	15.8	14.9	12.6	13.9	-14.2	
36 Job printing	14.2	15.1	11.4	14.6	14.2	13.4	12.9	12.7	11.1	12.4	13.2	
37 Miscellaneous printing and												
publishing	17.0	20.3	16.9	16.8	13.4	11.8	13.4	12.4	11.1	11.4	14.3	
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CA	PITALIZ	Ation										
Maior group												
7 Printing and publishing	23.0	26.9	17.6	26.6	21.7	21.0	17.2	23.0	19.4	21.5	21.4	
Minor group												
34 Newspapers	26.4	30.1	21.5	35.9	26.8	24.4	18.2	29.7	23.6	26.5	25.6	
35 Books and music	17.6	13.8	13.5	20.4	18.3	18.9	16.9	14.9	11.4	12.1	15.4	
36 Job printing	19.8	26.2	13.1	16.7	15.6	15.5	14.9	14.5	12.7	13.9	15.8	
37 Miscellaneous printing and												
publishing	31.2	45.6	24.4	26.1	18.8	17.7	21.4	19.1	18,1	17.1	22.9	

¹ Ten-year aggregate.

TABLE 49 (continued)

	(D)	PERCI TO1	INTAGE	: PROFI PITAL	т то	(e) Paii	PERCE O OUT I	NTAGE	OF INC H DIVID	COM B BNDS
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Major group										
7 Printing and publishing	19.4	15.6	20.2	16.5	18.3	44.3	58.3	59.0	69.9	48.6
Minor group										
34 Newspapers	21.5	15.6	23.8	18.7	20.7	42.1	61.9	61.0	71.1	45.4
35 Books and music	18.7	16.6	14.6	11.2	12.1	36.5	51.0	46.0	54.7	51.6
36 Job printing	15.1	14.4	14.2	11.9	13.2	52.6	52.3	57.0	73.1	62.4
37 Miscellaneous printing and						-				
publishing	17.7	21.3	19.1	17.9	16.8	65.5	59.8	60.5	57.8	53.2

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 7: PRINTING AND PUBLISHING

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES
	19	19	19	20	19	21	19	22	19	23
Under zero	1.0	1.0	.0	.0	5.0	5.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Zero to 4	.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	4.0	9.0	2.0	3.0	5.0	6.0
5 to 9	11.0	12.0	8.0	11.0	15.0	24.0	14.0	17.0	13.0	19.0
10 to 14	14.0	26.0	7.0	18.0	17.0	41.0	14.0	\$1.0	18.0	\$7.0
15 to 19	11.0	37.0	9.0	27.0	13.0	54.0	13.0	44.0	22.0	59.0
20 to 24	15.0	52.0	11.0	\$8.0	10.0	64.0	17.0	61.0	11.0	70.0
29 to 29	9.0	61.0	7.0	45.0	16.0	80.0	4.0	65.0	11.0	81.0
30 and over	39.0	100.0	\$5.0	100.0	20.0	100.0	35.0	100.0	19.0	100.0

[276]

ш

(G) FREQUE RATIONS	NCY DIST , 1924:	RIBUTION 28. MAJOR	S OF PERC	ENTAGES (: Printin	OF TOTAL	PROFIT TO UBLISHING) TOTAL C 3	APITAL, IN	DIVIDUA	L CORPO-
1		1924 1925		19	1926		27	1928		
Under zero	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Zero to 4	4.0	4.0	6.0	6.0	9.0	10.0	15.0	15.0	6.0	6.0
5 to 9	18.0	22.0	20.0	26.0	13.0	23.0	22.0	37.0	18.0	24.0
10 to 14	20.0	42.0	17.0	43.0	23.0	46.0	20.0	57.0	30.0	54.0
15 to 19	19.0	61.0	18.0	61.0	20.0	66.0	16.0	73.0	21.0	75.0
20 to 24	15.0	76.0	15.0	76.0	10.0	76.0	8.0	81.0	6.0	81.0
25 to 29	10.0	86.0	8.0	84.0	9.0	85.0	8.0	89.0	8.0	89.0
30 and over	14.0	100.0	16.0	100.0	15.0	100.0	11.0	100.0	11.0	100.0

CHEMICALS

THE Chemical group is made up of seven minor groups: Crude Chemicals; Paints; Petroleum Refining; Proprietary Preparations; Toilet Preparations; Cleaning Preparations; Miscellaneous Chemicals and Products. The number of corporations in each group and their average size are shown in Table 50. The groups are described briefly:

Crude Chemicals: Sulphuric and other acids, camphor, cyanide, chlorine, lye, zinc and other oxides are among the products of this group. All fertilizers are included.

Paints: House paints, varnishes, lacquers and shellac, putty, shoe polish, dyes and inks.

Petroleum Refining: Processing of gasoline, benzine, kerosene, fuel, cutting and lubricating oils, vaseline and paraffin.

Proprietary Preparations: All sorts of druggist compounds, pills, powders, ointments, tonics and patent medicines.

Toilet Preparations: Cosmetics, cold creams, hair dyes, perfumery, etc.

Cleaning Preparations: Includes soaps, bleaching powder, furniture and metal polish, and glycerine.

Miscellaneous Chemicals: Includes baking powder, boiler compound, artificial fuel, adhesives, etc. Also contains some large general chemical enterprises, each making paints, crude chemicals, etc., in such roughly equal proportions (in respect of total volume of business done), that no clearly predominant activity made feasible their assignment to the Paint or Crude Chemicals group specifically.

[278]

CHEMICALS

[279]

TABLE 50

•

CHEMICAL GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

		NUMBER OF	MBER AVERAGE CAPITAL PE OF (millions of			
	0	RPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN		
Majo	r group					
8	Chemicala	210	34.44	2.22		
Mino	r group					
38	Crude chemicals	9	14.89			
39	Paints	42	2.91			
40	Petroleum refining	52	109.96			
41	Proprietary preparatio	ons 56	4.24			
42	Toilet preparations	9	1.78			
43	Cleaning preparations	16	8.95			
44	Miscellaneous chemica	ls 26	33.14			

¹ Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

		Tae	sle 50	(conti	nued)						
	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928 .	1919–281
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO	SALES										
Major group											
8 Chemicals	14.0	12.5	3.7	12.9	9.4	12.3	15.4	15.6	9.6	17.5	12.6
Minor group											
38 Crude chemicals	15.0	10.9	10.5	22.7	12.3	11.9	13.8	12.0	13.9	15.9	13.9
39 Paints	12.9	8.6	4.1	13.0	12.4	10.8	11.2	11.1	9.8	11.8	10.7
40 Petroleum	14.8	14.4	1.9	11.8	6.9	10.8	15.3	14.7	6.5	16.1	11.5
41 Proprietary preparations	19.0	13.0	11.5	22.7	19.6	19.4	20.5	21.8	22.8	23.7	19.8
42 Toilet preparations	17.4	7.5	12.5	22.8	17.8	21.1	19.1	19.2	19.2	20.4	18.0
43 Cleaning preparations	5.0	-3.9	5.7	10.1	8.9	9.4	9.0	10.7	9.9	10.2	7.9
44 Miscellaneous chemicals	13.8	8.2	10.3	14.3	16.5	19.4	18.9	23.5	23.8	28.8	18.4
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO	CADITAL	7 4 101	NT.								
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME IO	CALITY	241101									
8 Chemicala	18.0	16.5	2.9	9.2	6.7	9.1	12.2	12.1	7.5	11.6	10.2
	2010	1015			0.7						
Minor group											
38 Crude chemicals	15.0	11.9	6.6	18.3	9.7	8.6	10.5	9.6	10.3	11.9	11.1
39 Paints	27.2	16.5	4.9	20.0	17.2	14.8	15.9	15.5	13.0	14.8	15.6
40 Petroleum	18.4	19.8	14.5	7.9	4.6	7.3	11.0	10.3	4.8	9.8	8.7
41 Proprietary preparations	27.7	17.1	11.4	26.1	19.3	19.6	21.0	22.2	22.6	21.8	20.8
42 Toilet preparations	39.3	19.6	29.2	53.2	35.5	37.6	32.4	28.8	28.1	25.4	31.6
43 Cleaning preparations	13.9	-6.0	8.3	13.6	15.7	18.5	19.5	24.4	22.6	19.4	15.1
44 Miscellaneous chemicals	14.1	8.1	5.3	8.1	9.9	12.6	14.1	18.0	17.0	17.8	12.9
Ten year aggregate											
ren-year aRRicRate.											

OFITS

	(D)	(E) PERCENTAGE OF INCOME PAID OUT IN CASH DIVIDENDS								
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Major group										
8 Chemicals	8.9	11.8	11.6	7.3	11.1	66.8	54.0	60.5	88.7	70.5
Minor group										
38 Crude chemicals	8.6	10.5	9.6	10.3	11.9	71.2	56.1	64.4	57.7	40.6
39 Paints	14.4	15.6	15.4	13.0	14.8	47.7	47.9	56.8	84.4	59.4
40 Petroleum	7.2	10.7	9.9	4.8	9.4	70.5	50.1	56.0	104.5	70.2
41 Proprietary preparations	19.0	20.3	21.8	22.1	21.4	58.0	57.3	61.2	63.2	65.5
42 Toilet preparations	37.4	32.4	28.8	28.1	25.4	62.7	38.6	31.6	60.3	47.7
43 Cleaning preparations	18.4	19.4	24.4	22.6	19.4	54.8	56.9	59.6	57.3	55.1
44 Miscellaneous chemicals	12.2	14.0	17.7	16.8	17.3	65.4	71.6	78.4	80.4	81.5

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 8: CHEMICALS

		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-	
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED)	MULATED		MULATED		MULATED	•
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	
CAPITAL	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	
	1 91 9		1920		1921		<i>1922</i>		19		
Under zero	1.0	1.0	2.9	2.9	19.5	19.5	2.9	2.9	6.2	6.2	
Zero to 4	4.3	5.3	11.9	14.8	18.1	37.6	11.4	14.3	10.0	16.2	_
5 to 9	8.6	13.9	16.6	31.4	19.5	57.1	14.3	28.6	17.6	33.8	2
10 to 14	11.0	24.9	14.8	46.2	12.9	70.0	12.4	41.0	18.1	51.9	81
Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14	4.3 8.6 11.0	5.3 13.9 24.9	11.9 16.6 14.8	14.8 31.4 46.2	18.1 19.5 12.9	37.6 57.1 70.0	11.4 14.3 12.4	14.3 28.6 41.0	10.0 17.6 18.1	16.2 33.8 51.9	[20, 2

CHEMICA

-0
TABLE 50 (continued)

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 8: CHEMICALS

PERCENTAGE INCOME						ACCO-		ACCO-		ACCO
INCOME		MULATED		MULATED	I.	MULATED		MULATED		MULATE
	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PBRCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE
TALIZATION E	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES
	1919		1920		<i>1921</i>		1	922	1923	
15 to 19	14.2	39.1	14.3	60.5	7.1	77.1	13.3	54.3	14.3	66.2
20 to 24	12.4	51.5	9.0	69.5	6.7	83.8	11.0	65.3	10.5	76.7
25 to 29	10.0	61.5	6.7	76.2	2.4	86.2	7.6	72.9	5.2	81.9
10 and over	38.5	100.0	23.8	100.0	13.8	100.0	27.1	100.0	18.1	100.0
(G) FREQUEN RATIONS,	NCY DISTR , 1924–28	IBUTION: MAJOR	GROUP 8:	NTAGES Chemic	OF TOTAL Als	PROFIT TO) TOTAL CA	APITAL, II	NDIVIDUAL	CORPO-
(G) FREQUEN RATIONS,	NCY DISTR ;, 1924—28 <i>192</i>	IBUTION: 1. Major 24	S OF PERCE GROUP 8: 192	NTAGES Chemic. 25	OF TOTAL Als 19	PROFIT TO) TOTAL CA 192	APITAL, II 27	NDIVIDUAL 19	CORPO-
(G) FREQUEN RATIONS; Jnder zero	NCY DISTR , 1924—28 <i>192</i> 3.8	IBUTION: 6. MAJOR 24 3.8	S OF PERCE GROUP 8: 192 1.4	NTAGES Chemic. 25 1.4	OF TOTAL ALS 2.9	26 2.9	9 TOTAL CA 19/ 6.2	арітаl, Іі 27 6. 2	NDIVIDUAL 19. 3.3	CORPO- 28 3.3
(G) FREQUEN RATIONS, Under zero Zero to 4	NCY DISTR 1924—28 192 3.8 9.0	1BUTION: . MAJOR 24 3.8 12.8	S OF PERCE GROUP 8: 192 1.4 8.6	ENTAGES Chemic 25 1.4 10.0	OF TOTAL Als 2.9 7.1	26 29 10.0	0 TOTAL CA 192 6.2 13.3	27 6.2 19.5	NDIVIDUAL 19. 3.3 12.4	CORPO- 28 3.3 15.7
(G) FREQUEN RATIONS, Juder zero Zero to 4 5 to 9	NCY DISTR 5, 1924–28 <i>192</i> 3.8 9.0 24.2	IBUTION: . MAJOR	S OF PERCE GROUP 8: 192 1.4 8.6 22.8	NTAGES CHEMIC 25 1.4 10.0 32.8	OF TOTAL Als 2.9 7.1 19.0	PROFIT TO 26 10.0 29.0	0 TOTAL CA 19/ 6.2 13.3 17.2	APITAL, II 27 6.2 19.5 36.7	NDIVIDUAL 19. 3.3 12.4 18.1	CORPO- 28 3.3 15.7 33.8
(G) FREQUEN RATIONS; Under zero Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14	NCY DISTR 1924–28 192 3.8 9.0 24.2 18.6	IBUTION MAJOR 4 3.8 12.8 37.0 55.6	S OF PERCE GROUP 8 : 192 1.4 8.6 22.8 20.5	NTAGES CHEMIC 25 1.4 10.0 32.8 53.3	OF TOTAL ALS 2.9 7.1 19.0 23.3	PROFIT TO 26 10.0 29.0 52.3	970 TOTAL CA 6.2 13.3 17.2 21.4	APITAL, II 27 6.2 19.5 36.7 58.1	NDIVIDUAL 3.3 12.4 18.1 22.4	CORPO- 28 3.3 15.7 33.8 56.2
(G) FREQUEN RATIONS, Under zero Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19	NCY DISTR ; 1924–28 <i>192</i> 3.8 9.0 24.2 18.6 8.6	IBUTION MAJOR 4 12.8 37.0 55.6 64.2	S OF PERCE GROUP 8 : 192 1.4 8.6 22.8 20.5 12.8	NTAGES CHEMIC 25 1.4 10.0 32.8 53.3 66.1	OF TOTAL ALS 2.9 7.1 19.0 23.3 14.8	PROFIT TO 26 10.0 29.0 52.3 67.1	97 TOTAL CA 6.2 13.3 17.2 21.4 14.8	APITAL, II 6.2 19.5 36.7 58.1 72.9	19. 3.3 12.4 18.1 22.4 11.4	CORPO- 28 3.3 15.7 33.8 56.2 67.6
(G) FREQUEN RATIONS; Under zero Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24	NCY DISTR 1924-28 192 3.8 9.0 24.2 18.6 8.6 12.4	IBUTION: . MAJOR .4 12.8 37.0 55.6 64.2 76.6	S OF PERCE GROUP 8 : 192 1.4 8.6 22.8 20.5 12.8 8.6	ENTAGES CHEMIC 25 1.4 10.0 32.8 53.3 66.1 74.7	OF TOTAL ALS 2.9 7.1 19.0 23.3 14.8 10.0	26 2.9 10.0 29.0 52.3 67.1 77.1	0 TOTAL CA 6.2 13.3 17.2 21.4 14.8 7.1	APITAL, I 27 6.2 19.5 36.7 58.1 72.9 80.0	19. 3.3 12.4 18.1 22.4 11.4 12.9	CORPO- 28 3.3 15.7 33.8 56.2 67.6 80.5
(G) FREQUEN RATIONS, Under zero Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 29	NCY DISTR 1924-28 192 3.8 9.0 24.2 18.6 8.6 12.4 4.8	IBUTION MAJOR 3. 8 12.8 37.0 55.6 64.2 76.6 81.4	S OF PERCE GROUP 8 : 192 1.4 8.6 22.8 20.5 12.8 8.6 6.2	ENTAGES CHEMIC 25 1.4 10.0 32.8 53.3 66.1 74.7 80.9	OF TOTAL ALS 2.9 7.1 19.0 23.3 14.8 10.0 4.3	26 2.9 10.0 29.0 52.3 67.1 77.1 81.4	0 TOTAL CA 6.2 13.3 17.2 21.4 14.8 7.1 4.3	APITAL, 11 27 6.2 19.5 36.7 58.1 72.9 80.0 84.3	19. 3.3 12.4 18.1 22.4 11.4 12.9 4.3	CORPO- 28 3.3 15.7 33.8 56.2 67.6 80.5 84.8

CHAPTER 18

STONE, CLAY AND GLASS

THE four minor groups comprising the Stone, Clay and Glass Products industry are: Ceramics; Glass; Portland Cement; and Miscellaneous Clay and Stone Products. The number of corporations in each and their average size are shown in Table 51. The groups are described briefly:

Ceramics: Includes the manufacture of both building and paving brick, terra cotta, china, crockery, porcelain ware and specialties of all sorts, tile and tile drain, refractory materials of various kinds, etc.

Glass: Includes window glass, plate glass, glassware.

Portland Cement

Miscellaneous Clay and Stone Products: Includes corporations making abrasives, concrete, lime plaster, asbestos, etc., and a few engaged in stone cutting.

TABLE 51

STONE, CLAY AND GLASS GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

	NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of d	CORPORATION ¹
c	ORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Major group			
9 Stone, clay and glass	114	6.48	2.08
Minor group			
45 Ceramics	48	3.46	
46 Glass	18	7.51	
47 Portland cement	21	11.73	
48 Miscellaneous clay a	nd		
stone	27	7.08	
¹ Total capital (i.e., incl	udes funded ([28]	debt) as of December : 3]	51, 1928.

.

	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919–28 ¹	
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO S.	ALES											
Major group												
9 Stone, clay and glass	15.5	13.1	7.9	14.4	18.9	16.5	16.9	16.8	15.0	16.2	15.4	
Minor group												
45 Ceramica	19.8	17.0	11.4	16.3	19.3	16.2	16.1	16.3	14.7	13.2	16.0	H
46 Glass	15.0	13.3	7.3	11.2	15.8	12.5	11.3	10.3	8.2	10.4	11.7	Z
47 Portland cement	14.6	12.1	12.5	19.4	26.5	23.7	24.5	25.1	21.8	23.4	21.4	B
48 Miscellaneous clay and stone	14.2	11.0	1.9	12.6	16.3	- 15.2	17.4	17.3	16.3	18.2	14.8	_С С
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO C	APITAI	IZATIO,	N									TR
Maior group												11
9 Stone, clay and glass	16.7	17.4	6.3	14.1	19.6	15.6	16.2	15.2	12.3	12.8	14.5	
Minor group												
45 Ceramics	12.3	14.6	6.4	10.8	15.2	11.9	12.1	12.2	10.0	8.5	11.3	7
46 Glass	29.2	32.1	9.5	17.5	23.8	17.3	15.5	13.6	10.0	11.8	16.9	R
47 Portland cement	9.3	9.7	8.1	15.1	20.8	17.0	17.1	15.2	12.4	12.8	14.2	0
48 Miscellaneous clay and stone	20.7	17.2	1.5	14.2	19.1	16.3	19.7	19.6	16.0	17.1	16.4	FI
¹ Ten-ycar aggregate.												ΤS

			(D)	(E) PERCENTAGE OF INCOME PAID OUT IN CASH DIVIDENDS							
			1924	1925	1926 1927	1928	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Major group	•										
9 Stone, cl	lay and glas	8	15.3	15.9	15.0 12.3	12.3	42.3	45.8	59.7	60.0	49.9
Minor group											
45 Ceramics			11.7	12.0	12.0 9.3	8.4	50.4	53.6	50.9	72.4	67.2
46 Glass			16.9	15.3	13.5 9.9	11.8	56.5	63.1	73.4	79.7	42.7
47 Portland	cement		16.3	16.6	14.8 12.0) 11.9	29.9	43.0	63.3	57.1	52.9
48 Miscellar	neous clay a	nd stone	16.3	19.6	19.5 15.9	16.8	39.1	31.9	53.5	47.0	43.4
(F) FREQUE	ENCY DISTR	IBUTION	S OF PERCE	NTAGES	OF TOTAL	NET INC	OME TO CA	PITALIZA	ATION	, IND	IVIDUAI
CORPOR PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CALSS	19-23, 1 ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	MAJOR GRO Percent- Age in Each class	UP 9: S' ACCU- MULATEE BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	D PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	Y AND GL ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVB CLASSES	ASS Percent- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERC Ági Bach	CENT- E IN I CLASS	ACCU- MULATEE BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES
CORPOR PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CALSS 191	19-23, 1 ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	MAJOR GRO Percent- Age in Each class 194	UP 9: S' ACCU- MULATEE BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 20	TON E, CLA PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	Y AND GL ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVB CLASSES 921	ASS PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 192	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 22	PERC Agi Bach	CENT- E IN I CLASS 19	ACCU- MULATEC BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 23
CORPOR PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION Under zero	PERCENT- ACE IN EACH CALSS 191 0	19-23. 1 ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 9 .0	MAJOR GRO PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 194 0.9	UP 9: S' ACCU- MULATEE BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 20 0.9	TON E, CLA PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS <i>I</i> 14.0	Y AND GL ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVB CLASSES 221 14.0	ASS PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 192 -0	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 22 .0	PERC Agi Bach	CENT- E IN I CLASS 19 .0	ACCU- MULATEC BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 23 .0
CORPOR PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION Under zero Zero to 4	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CALSS 193 0 6.1	19-23. 1 ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 9 .0 6.1	MAJOR GRO PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 19, 0.9 3.5	UP 9: S' ACCU- MULATEE BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 20 0.9 4.4	TON E, CLA PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS <i>1</i> 14.0 21.9	Y AND GL ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVB CLASSES 021 14.0 35.9	ASS PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 192 .0 10.5	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 22 .0 10.5	PERC Agi Bach	CENT- E IN I CLASS 19 .0 2.6	ACCU- MULATEC BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 23 .0 2.6
CORPOR PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION Under zero Zero to 4 5 to 9	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CALSS 0 6.1 17.5	19-23. 1 ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 9 .0 6.1 23.6	MAJOR GRO PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 19, 0.9 3.5 12.3	UP 9: S' ACCU- MULATEE BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 20 0.9 4.4 16.7	TON E, CLA PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 14.0 21.9 16.7	Y AND GL ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 021 14.0 35.9 52.6	ASS PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 192 .0 10.5 17.5	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 22 .0 10.5 28.0	PERC Agi Bach 1	CENT- E IN I CLASS 19 .0 2.6 1.4	ACCU- MULATEC BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 23 .0 2.6 14.0
CORPOR PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION Under zero Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CALSS 0 6.1 17.5 18.4	19-23. 1 ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 79 .0 6.1 23.6 42.0	MAJOR GRO PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 19, 0.9 3.5 12.3 21.9	UP 9: S' ACCU- MULATEE BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 20 0.9 4.4 16.7 38.6	TON E, CLA PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 14.0 21.9 16.7 14.9	Y AND GL ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 021 14.0 35.9 52.6 67.5	ASS PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 192 .0 10.5 17.5 19.3	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 22 .0 10.5 28.0 47.3	PERC AGI BACH 1 1	CENT- E IN I CLASS 19 .0 2.6 1.4 4.0	ACCU- MULATEC BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 23 .0 2.6 14.0 28.0
CORPOR PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION Under zero Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CALSS 0 6.1 17.5 18.4 13.2	19-23. 1 ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 9 .0 6.1 23.6 42.0 55.2	MAJOR GRO PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 19, 0.9 3.5 12.3 21.9 15.8	UP 9: S' ACCU- MULATEE BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 20 0.9 4.4 16.7 38.6 54.4	TON E, CLA PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 14.0 21.9 16.7 14.9 14.0	Y AND GL ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 021 14.0 35.9 52.6 67.5 81.5	ASS PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 192 .0 10.5 17.5 19.3 8.8	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 22 .0 10.5 28.0 47.3 56.1	PERC AGI BACH 1 1 1	CENT- E IN I CLASS 19 .0 2.6 1.4 4.0 7.5	ACCU- MULATEC BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 23 .0 2.6 14.0 28.0 45.5
CORPOR PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION Under zero Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CALSS 0 6.1 17.5 18.4 13.2 9.6	19-23. 1 ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 9 .0 6.1 23.6 42.0 55.2 64.8	MAJOR GRO PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 19: 0.9 3.5 12.3 21.9 15.8 7.9	UP 9: S' ACCU- MULATEE BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 20 0.9 4.4 16.7 38.6 54.4 62.3	TON E, CLA PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 14.0 21.9 16.7 14.9 14.0 6.1	Y AND GL ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 021 14.0 35.9 52.6 67.5 81.5 87.6	ASS PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 192 .0 10.5 17.5 19.3 8.8 6.1	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 22 .0 10.5 28.0 47.3 56.1 62.2	PERC AGI BACH 1 1 1 1 1	CENT- E IN I CLASS 19 .0 2.6 1.4 4.0 7.5 7.5	ACCU- MULATEC BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 23 .0 2.6 14.0 28.0 45.5 63.0
CORPOR PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION Under zero Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 29	PERCENT- ACE IN EACH CALSS 0 6.1 17.5 18.4 13.2 9.6 7.0	19-23. 1 ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 9 .0 6.1 23.6 42.0 55.2 64.8 71.8	MAJOR GRO PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 19: 0.9 3.5 12.3 21.9 15.8 7.9 7.0	UP 9: S' ACCU- MULATEE BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 20 0.9 4.4 16.7 38.6 54.4 62.3 69.3	TON E, CLA PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 14.0 21.9 16.7 14.9 14.0 6.1 7.0	Y AND GL ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 221 14.0 35.9 52.6 67.5 81.5 87.6 94.6	ASS PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 192 .0 10.5 17.5 19.3 8.8 6.1 16.7	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSE3 22 .0 10.5 28.0 47.3 56.1 62.2 78.9	PERC AGI BACH 1 1 1 1 1 1	CENT- E IN I CLASS 19 .0 2.6 1.4 4.0 7.5 7.5 3.3	ACCU- MULATEC BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 23 .0 2.6 14.0 28.0 45.5 63.0 76.3

TABLE 51 (continued)

.

(G) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 9: STONE, CLAY AND GLASS

PERCENTAGE		ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATEI)	ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATED
PROFIT TO TOTAL	PERCENT-	BY SUC-								
CAPITAL	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES
	192	24	19	25	19	26	19	27	- 19	28
Under zero	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	.0	.0	0.9	0.9	2.6	2.6
Zero to 4	7.9	8.8	5.3	6.2	5.3	5.3	12.3	13.2	11.4	14.0
5 to 9	16.7	25.5	16.7	22.9	22.8	28.1	28.9	42.1	28.9	42.9
10 to 14	18.4	43.9	21.9	44.8	21.2	49.3	26.3	68.4	20.2	63.1
15 to 19	24.6	68.5	19.3	64.1	24.6	73.9	11.4	79.8	13.2	76.3
20 to 24	11.4	79.9	14.0	78.1	10.4	84.3	8.8	88.6	8.8	85.1
25 to 29	7.9	87.8	8.8	86.9	6.1	90.4	2.6	91.2	5.3	90.4
30 and over	12.2	100.0	13.1	100.0	9.6	100.0	8.8	100.0	9.6	100.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[286]

CHAPTER 19

METALS

THE Metals group is made up of 22 minor groups: Castings and Forgings; Sheet Metal; Wire and Nails; Heating and Ventilating Machinery; Electrical Machinery; Textile Machinery; Printing Machinery; Road Machinery; Engines; Mining Machinery; Factory Machinery; Office Machinery; Railway Equipment; Motor Vehicles; Firearms; Hardware; Tools; Bolts and Nuts; Miscellaneous Machinery; Non-ferrous Metals; Jewelry; and Miscellaneous Metals. The number of corporations in each group and their average size are shown in Table 52. The groups are described briefly:

- Castings and Forgings: Foundries, rolling mills, iron and steel plants of all sorts are included. Among their products are anchors, anvils, bars, chains, steel plates, pipes, springs and rails. Blast furnaces, sheet metals, machinery, and tools appear, however, in other minor groups; likewise, all non-ferrous metals are shown elsewhere.
- Sheet Metals: Includes corrugated iron, cornices, pipes, gutters, stove and furnace parts, barrels, etc.
- Wire and Nails: Includes wire, nails, fences, screens, and springs.
- Heating and Ventilating Machinery: Blowers, boilers, furnaces, ovens, stoves, radiators, incinerators, air conditioning apparatus.
- Electrical Machinery: Motors, dynamos, pumps, furnaces, stoves, fixtures, conduit wires, vacuum cleaners, washing machines, fans, flashlights, light bulbs, etc.
- Textile Machinery: Carding and spinning machines, looms, dyeing machines and other textile manufacturing equipment.
- Printing Machinery: Includes typesetting machines, printing presses, newspaper presses, lithographing machines, etc.
- Road Machinery: Includes hoisting and excavating machinery and tractors as well as road machinery; also cranes, derricks, elevators, steam shovels, dredges, concrete mixers, graders and street sprinklers.
- Engines and Parts: Stationary and marine engines, but not automobile motors.
- Mining Machinery: Coal chutes, cars, tools, drills, drilling equipment, etc. Factory Machinery: Includes flour and grist mill machinery, metal working

[287]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

machinery such as drill-presses, forges, planers, gear-cutters, and general plant machinery for shoe factories, paper mills, laundries, etc., that is, all machinery other than textile, railroad equipment, and printing, electrical, and automotive machinery, which are classified in minor groups of their own.

Office Machinery: Cash registers, accounting machines, typewriters, mimeographing devices and all office appliances other than furniture.

- Railway Equipment: Railroad cars, car wheels, locomotives, air brakes, couplings, parts and supplies.
- Motor Vehicles: Passenger automobiles, trucks, trailers, and all automobile parts and accessories.

Firearms: Guns, rifles, gunpowder and explosives.

Hardware: Includes plumbers' supplies as well as hardware.

- Tools: All manner of hand and shop tools, as well as machine tools are included: awls, axes, chucks, chisels, drills, files, hammers, jacks, jigs, pliers, shovels, saws, vises, wrenches, etc.
- Bolts and Nuts: Includes related small iron and steel articles as screws, gaskets, rivets, taps and turnbuckles.
- Miscellaneous Machinery: Includes machinery and machining processes not otherwise classified, such as ice machinery; air, oil and steam pumps, gasoline service station equipment; sewing machinery shops, blacksmith, machine and boiler shops, bottle capping machines; condensers and meat cutters.
- Non-ferrous Metals: Aluminum, copper, lead, zinc and tin refining activities, as well as the refining of precious metals. Products made with precious metals (gold, iridium, platinum and silver) are not included;¹ but both the products of the other non-ferrous metals themselves and articles made of brass, bronze, nickel, babbitt and other alloys are here classified.
- Jewelry: Precious stones, precious metal products of various sorts, watch cases (but not watches), bags, emblems, and novelty jewelry.
- Miscellaneous Metals: Includes metals and metal processes not elsewhere classified: the principal activities and products are blast furnaces, agricultural implements, ornamental iron and steel, safes and vaults, cutlery and enameled granit ware.

¹These are shown in the next group, together with jewelry.

[288]

METALS

[289]

TABLE 52

METALS GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

	NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of c	CORPORATION ¹ lollars)
c	ORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Major group			
10 Metals	648	18.31	2.38
Minor group			
49 Castings and forging	s 99	49.27	
50 Sheet metal	20	3.09	
51 Wire and nails	20	4.31	
52 Heating machinery	42	4.91	
53 Electrical machinery	54	16.68	
54 Textile machinery	18	4.95	
55 Printing machinery	12	4.97	
56 Road machinery	22	6.09	
57 Engines	11	5.98	
58 Mining machinery	12	10.75	
59 Factory machinery	23	8.32	
60 Office machinery	13	9.38	
61 Railway equipment	25	21.71	
62 Motor vehicles	32	61.95	
63 Firearms	11	4.74	
64 Hardware	40	8.60	
65 Tools	30	3.85	
66 Bolts and nuts	15	1.93	
67 Miscellaneous machin	nery 32	4.58	
68 Non-ferrous metals	48	20.34	
69 Jewelry	24	1.53	
70 Miscellaneous metal	s 45	15.89	

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

		TA	ble 52	(conti	inued)							
	1919	1920	1921	1922	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919–28 ¹	00
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO) SALES											Ľ
Major group												
10 Metals	14.7	9.7	3.0	10.2	11.1	10.1	11.4	11.1	9.8	10.4	10.4	
Minor group												
49 Castings and forgings	11.6	9.7	-7.0	3.3	7.3	5.9	6.5	7.4	5.9	7.8	6.9	
50 Sheet metal	9.8	7.7	-18.3	6.5	9.2	7.9	7.9	9.1	7.0	9.5	7.1	
51 Wire and nails	12.7	9.9	6	12.2	13.8	11.1	10.7	10.7	10.3	14.2	10.9	
52 Heating machinery	17.4	9.8	6.5	14.6	18.3	15.6	15.0	14.4	10.3	9.4	13.2	
53 Electrical machinery	17.1	9.8	7.2	14.6	16.8	15.3	15.9	15.6	13.3	15.6	14.2	
54 Textile machinery	25.3	15.3	23.0	29.4	20.4	19.0	23.2	23.1	25.3	24.7	22.6	
55 Printing machinery	25.5	18.5	16.5	21.6	20.9	15.6	12.1	16.5	16.0	19.1	17.9	
56 Road machinery	17.0	16.5	8.5	14.7	17.2	16.4	15.4	13.8	12.9	14.9	14.8	
57 Engines	21.0	16.0	13.3	15.1	17.1	35.0	17.1	20.6	21.8	13.2	19.1	
58 Mining machinery	15.1	12.6	3.4	9.9	11.2	5.5	9.1	11.4	10.1	9.3	10.1	
59 Factory machinery	22.3	13.9	8.1	18.8	24.2	18.9	25.8	24.3	21.9	25.0	20.3	Ħ
60 Office machinery	18,2	12.5	6.9	9.6	10.6	11.1	14.6	14.3	17.7	17.0	13.6	z
61 Railway equipment	13.5	10.6	7.4	9.9	11.6	10.4	7.4	10.3	9.1	6.9	10.2	Ð
62 Motor vehicles	18.6	9.3	6.6	16.1	11.6	11.5	13.9	11.8	9.8	8.6	11.5	Ч
63 Firearms	12.0	7.5	2.7	11.4	13.0	10.6	11.1	13.0	13.2	19.9	11.9	3
64 Hardware	17.5	13.6	2.3	12.9	16.7	13.0	12.8	10.9	9.4	10.4	12.2	2
65 Tools	25.3	18.8	-8.3	14.1	16.5	11.5	15.1	16.5	13.4	19.0	15.9	RI
66 Bolts and nuts	15.5	15.3	-3.4	17.5	16.6	11.0	14.5	16.0	13.4	17.2	14.4	≥
67 Miscellaneous machinery	18.4	10.5	-3.8	12.2	14.4	11.6	13.0	14.7	11.1	12.9	12.1	÷
68 Non-ferrous metals	10.0	4.8	2.5	10.0	9.9	9.9	11.6	10.6	10.7	12.2	9.6	_
69 Jewelry	14.0	7.9	1.8	9.5	10.4	8.5	7.5	8.3	9.5	9.7	9.0	P
70 Miscellaneous metals	16.4	9.0	-6.3	5.2	13.4	11.5	15.7	16.6	15.3	15.1	12.4	õ
¹ Ten-year aggregate.												FI

.

ITS

		1010	1020	1021	1022	10.22	1024	1025	1026	10.27	1028	1010 201	5
(c) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO) CAPITA	LIZATI	0N	1766	1765	1767	1723	1760	1761	1760	1717-20	A E
ц-, Ма													H
10	Matala	19.0	12.0	21	2 2	121	0.9	121	12.1	6 9	11.1	10.9	2
мі.	ITICLAIS	10.0	14.V	4 /+ A	0.0	14.1	1.0	14.1	13.1	7.0	11.1	10.0	
40	Castings and forgings	11.5	10.5	4	2.1	6.8	4.7	5.6	77	45	6.0	5 8	•
50	Sheet metal	16.1	12.6	-12.4	7.2	13.2	10.4	11.8	13.1	8.9	11.8	9.3	
\$1	Wire and nails	17.9	15.6	4	12.4	16.1	11.4	11.4	11.7	0.0	13.8	11.9	
52	Heating machinery	20.5	12.8	5.1	15.0	21.8	17.3	15.5	17.0	9.5	9.2	14.0	
53	Electrical machinery	21.8	12.1	6.4	13.4	16.5	16.7	16.8	17.9	14.2	16.5	15.2	
54	Textile machinery	27.4	17.2	22.6	22.3	18.3	10.6	14.8	14.4	15.9	14.6	17.1	
55	Printing machinery	17.8	13.3	8.5	13.0	13.8	10.3	9.1	10.9	9.6	12.3	11.6	
56	Road machinery	26.9	22.0	8.7	14.0	19.2	18.9	18.2	17.5	15.7	17.0	17.5	
57	Engines	28.0	19.2	9.4	10.6	14.6	28.0	9.2	14.1	11.1	6.9	12.9	
58	Mining machinery	36.3	25.1	3.4	13.9	15.2	6.2	11.2	16.0	11.6	10.2	13.6	
59	Factory machinery	15.8	9.5	3.8	7.7	11.3	8.2	13.0	13.3	11.2	13.4	10.7	
60	Office machinery	22.5	15.8	6.4	9.0	12.9	11.5	17.3	15.8	19.1	17.7	14.9	
61	Railway equipment	17.0	10.6	4.3	7.2	13.5	8.4	5.3	7.6	5.6	3.4	8.1	
62	Motor vehicles	38.8	18.4	8.4	25.3	20.8	17.3	23.7	20.7	16.1	16.1	19.7	
63	Firearms	11.7	9.4	2.1	11.4	12.4	10.4	10.4	12.3	11.9	19.6	11.5	
64	Hardware	29.0	21.7	1.9	15.7	20.9	15.1	15.9	13.6	10.4	11.0	14.7	
65	Tools	29.8	19.5	-3.1	8.5	12.4	7.9	11.5	14.6	9.6	15.2	12.3	
66	Bolts and nuts	19.6	21.8	-1.8	17.5	18.6	10.6	16.9	17.2	13.4	19.0	15.4	
67	Miscellaneous machinery	24.2	12.8	-2.6	9.9	13.5	10. 9	13.4	15.5	11.5	13.5	12.1	
68	Non-ferrous metals	12.5	5.9	1.9	8.6	11.1	9.8	14.2	12.6	11.3	14.8	10.5	٠
69	Jewelry	36.7	15.5	2.1	12.6	13.7	10.1	9.0	10.3	11.7	12.1	12.5	
70	Miscellaneous metals	17.0	9.6	-2.9	3.0	9.0	8.1	12.9	14.7	13.3	15.6	10.1	

¹ Ten-year aggregate.

[291]

		TABLE	: 52 (continu	ed)						[2
	(¤)	PERCE TOT	NTAGE	F PROFI PITAL	т то	(E) PERCENTAGE OF INCOME PAID OUT IN CASH DIVIDENDS					92]
	1924	1925	<i>1926</i>	1927	1928	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
Major group											
10 Metals	9.2	11.3	12.2	9.3	10.4	49.2	44.2	48.4	67.5	62.7	
Minor group											
49 Castings and forgings	4.8	5.5	7.1	4.6	5.8	69. 9	53.4	44.6	76.4	58.7	
50 Sheet metal	9.9	11.0	12.1	8.7	10.8	46.6	38.5	38.7	54.3	40.3	
51 Wire and nails	11.3	11.4	11.7	9.9	13.7	76.4	60.8	79.9	108.9	67.3	
52 Heating machinery	16.8	15.1	16.7	9.1	8.9	44.7	48.8	52.0	84.0	79.8	
53 Electrical machinery	15.9	16.2	17.2	13.6	15.8	38.1	43.7	41.2	65.7	58.2	
54 Textile machinery	10.6	14.1	14.2	15.1	13.9	68.5	56.0	67.3	66.5	61.6	
55 Printing machinery	9.6	8.6	10.3	9.1	10.9	49.4	43.6	48.5	57.1	36.1	
56 Road machinery	18.9	18.2	17.5	15.3	16.5	36.7	39.5	44.1	\$5.5	49.6	
57 Engines	27.5	9.2	14.0	11.0	6.9	28.6	71.1	50.5	58.8	87.3	
58 Mining machinery	6.1	11.1	15.8	11.6	10.2	69.8	48.8	41.2	50.0	43.1	5
59 Factory machinery	8.1	12.8	13.1	11.1	13.3	63.6	62.8	57.1	70.1	66.4	1
60 Office machinery	11.4	17.1	15.6	19.0	17.6	49.6	37.5	60.3	54.2	54.4	ă
61 Railway equipment	8.3	5.3	7.5	5.6	3.4	69.2	152.6	85.6	123.1	195.0	ŝ
62 Motor vehicles	17.0	23.3	20.4	15.9	16.0	32.6	34.6	47.3	66.5	82.3	Ĥ
63 Firearms	10.4	10.4	12.3	11.9	19.5	59.5	63.6	56.8	50.1	34.6	×
64 Hardware	14.9	15.3	13.2	10.1	10.7	47.2	49.9	57.3	85.5	63.6	Ľ
65 Tools	7.9	11.4	14.5	9.5	14.9	84.0	60.0	57.0	66.8	\$0.4	Ľ
66 Bolts and nuts	10.6	16.9	17.2	13.4	19.0	72.8	66.0	59.4	63.5	44.6	r.
67 Miscellaneous machinery	10.9	13.3	15.2	11.0	12.7	112.3	39.8	55.0	68.7	63.4	ъ
68 Non-ferrous metals	9.4	13.5	12.0	10.8	13.8	48.1	39.9	57.0	57.5	49.9	R
69 Jewelry	10.1	9.0	10.3	11.6	12.0	54.3	61.4	60.9	56.3	42.8	0
70 Miscellaneous metals	7.9	12.4	14.3	12.8	15.0	48.9	21.1	33.1	45.2	24.3	FI

•

ΤS

CORPO	RATIONS, I	919-23.	MAJOR GR	OUP 10:	MBTALS					
PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- Age in Each Class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATER BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES
	19.	19	19.	20	19	21	19	22	19	23
Under zero	1.2	1.2	3.2	3.2	33.5	33.5	4.9	4.9	0.9	0.9
Zero to 4	2.6	3.8	5.4	8.6	18.4	\$1.9	14.4	19.3	7.4	8.3
5 to 9	6.3	10.1	13.4	22.0	20.1	72.0	17.0	36.3	15.1	23.4
10 to 14	11.6	21.7	16.1	38.1	10.9	82.9	17.3	53.6	17.4	40.8
15 to 19	13.9	35.6	13.4	51.5	7.1	90.0	13.0	66.6	20.5	61.3
20 to 24	11.7	47.3	12.5	64.0	3.4	93.4	8.6	75.2	13.6	74.9
25 to 29	8.7	56.0	8.8	72.8	2.0	95.4	8.3	83.5	10.4	85.3
30 and over	44.0	100.0	27.2	100.0	4.6	100.0	16.5	100.0	14.7	100.0

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL

(G) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 10: METALS .

Under zero	1924		1925		1926		1927		1928		
	2.2	2.2	1.7	1.7	1.5	1.5	3.9	3.9	4.5	4.5	
Zero to 4	12.8	15.0	6.5	8.2	8.5	10.0	12.2	16.1	8.8	13.3	
5 to 9	25.9	40.9	21.5	29.7	21.9	31.9	27.0	43.1	25.1	38.4	- 29
10 to 14	21.3	62.2	27.5	57.2	24.1	56.0	23.9	67.0	19.9	58.3	പ

ΜE ΤA

TABLE 52 (continued)

.

(G) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 10: METALS

		ACCU-								
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED	1	MULATED		MULATED		MULATED
PROFIT	PERCENT-	BY SUC-								
TO TOTAL	AGE IN	CESSIVE								
CAPITAL	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES						
	19.	24	19	25	19	26	19	27	19	728
15 to 19	15.1	77.3	13.7	70.9	16.4	72.4	13.6	80.6	17.6	75.9
20 to 24	8.2	85.5	10.3	81.2	10.5	82.9	7.2	87.8	9.9	85.8
25 to 29	5.7	91.2	6.9	88.1	5.1	88.0	3.9	91.7	5.1	90.9
30 and over	8.8	100.0	11.9	100.0	12.0	100.0	8.3	100.0	9.1	100.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[294]

CHAPTER 20

SPECIAL MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES

FOUR minor groups which do not well fit into any other major manufacturing group are classified under the head of Special Manufacturing. They are: Professional and Scientific Instruments, including Optical Goods; Toys, Stationery Goods and School Supplies; Pianos, Organs and Parts; and Miscellaneous Special Manufacturing. The number of corporations contained in each group and their average size are shown in Table 53. The groups are described briefly:

- Scientific Instruments: Included are not only bacteriological, X-ray, dental and optical apparatus, slide-rules, gyroscopes, thermometers, pyrometers, nautical and surveying instruments, cameras, eye glasses and binoculars, but also many kinds of medical, dental and optical supplies such as surgical gauze, elastic bandages, trusses, artificial eyes and teeth.
- Toys: Includes not only dolls, games, sleds, velocipedes, but also stationers' supplies such as pencils, pens and school supplies.
- Pianos: Pianos, player pianos, organs, keys, strings, sounding boards and other parts.
- Miscellaneous Special Manufacturing: Contains branches of manufacture which could not be classed with Textiles Metals or with some other welldefined major group. The list of products includes artificial flowers, athletic goods, brooms, clocks, watches, hair goods, fire apparatus, soda fountains and umbrellas. (Since, however, 45 corporations comprise the group and in the pursuit of these diverse activities marketed nearly 300 million dollars worth of goods in 1928, the inclusion of their data is essential to complete the sample of large corporations engaged in manufacturing pursuits.)

[295]

[296]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

TABLE 53

SPECIAL MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

	N UMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of a	CORPORATION ¹ dollars)
	CORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Major group			
11 Special manufacturi	ng		
industries	- 89	5.75	2.32
Minor group			
71 Scientific instrument	9 23	7.77	
72 Toys	12	2.36	
73 Pianos	11	5.38	
74 Miscellaneous specia	I man-		
ufacturing industr	ics 43	5.71	

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

		TAB	LE 53	(conti	nued)						
	1 919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919281
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SA	ALES										
Major group											
11 Special manufacturing industrie Minor group	s 18.3	12.9	10.0	19.9	18.1	12.2	15.0	17.6	15.4	15.9	15.6
71 Scientific instruments	26.2	20.2	16.5	35.5	31.3	18.1	30.6	29.9	26.6	27.7	26.5
72 Toys	16.4	12.9	11.2	12.4	13.7	12.6	12.6	12.0	13.3	14.0	13.1
73 Pianos	13.6	11.0	2.7	12.0	13.7	11.7	12.5	12.1	9.0	7.8	10.8
74 Miscellaneous special manufac-											
turing industries	14.2	9.5	7.8	13.6	12.1	8.9	5.9	11.9	10.2	10.3	10.4
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO C	APITA	LIZATIO	N								
Major group											
11 Special manufacturing industrie	s 28.0	19.4	10.6	23.1	21.5	13.9	16.9	20.2	17.0	17.0	18.4
Minor group											
71 Scientific instruments	33.1	22.1	13.1	30.8	28.6	16.8	28.9	29.5	25.2	27.3	25.5
72 Toys	26.3	24.6	11.2	13.1	15.7	15.7	15.5	14.0	14.9	16.1	15.9
73 Pianos	17.2	13.9	2.3	12.0	14.3	11.7	13.2	11.9	7.5	5.9	10.7
74 Miscellaneous special manufac-											
turing industries	26.2	19.0	10.6	20.1	179	11 8	76	157	13.2	124	14.7

¹Ten-year aggregate.

[297]

TABLE 53 (continued)

1

	(D)	PERCI TOT	ENTAGE Fal cai	PROFI	т то	(E) PERCENTAGE INCOME PAID OUT IN CASH DIVIDENDS					
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
Major group											
11 Special manufacturing industries	13.7	16.7	20.1	16.9	16.8	71.9	74.5	61.5	47.5	72.3	
Minor group											
71 Scientific instruments	16.8	28.9	29.5	25.2	26.8	89.7	82.0	84.3	51.9	83.9	
72 Toys	15.7	15.5	14.0	14.4	15.6	36.3	46.2	43.3	46.5	35.9	
73 Pianos	11.5	12.9	11.9	7.4	5.8	43.2	30.1	39.6	53.9	72.5	
74 Miscellaneous special manufac-											
turing industries	11.5	7.5	15.5	13.2	12.3	63.1	77.2	33.6	40.1	59.2	

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 11: SPECIAL MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- Cessive Classes	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES
	19	19	19	20	19	21	19	22	19	23
Under zero	.0	.0	1.1	1.1	14.6	14.6	.0	.0	1.1	1.1
Zero to 4	.0	.0	3.4	4.5	14.6	29.2	10.1	10.1	1.1	2.2
5 to 9	7.9	7.9	13.5	18.0	18.0	47.2	5.6	15.7	12.4	14.6
10 to 14	9.0	16.9	19.1	37.1	18.0	65.2	27.0	42.7	22.5	37.1
15 to 19	13.5	30.4	20.2	57.3	11.2	76.4	20.2	62.9	23.6	60.7
20 to 24	15.7	46.1	10.1	67.4	7.9	84.3	10.1	73.0	11.2	71.9
25 to 29	10.1	56.2	12.4	79.8	6.7	91.0	6.8	79.8	13.5	85.4
30 and over	43.8	100.0	20.2	100.0	9.0	100.0	20.2	100.0	14.6	100.0

[298]

ы

	1	924	1	925	19	26	15	27	1	928
nder zero	1.1	1.1	2.2	2.2	.0	.0	.0	.0	2.2	2.2
ero to 4	5.6	6.7	5.6	7.8	6.8	6.8	12.4	12.4	11.2	13.4
5 to 9	20.2	26.9	15.7	23.5	21.3	28.1	25.8	38.2	22.5	35.9
10 to 14	23.6	50.5	32.6	56.1	25.8	53.9	21.3	59.5	29.3	65.2
15 to 19	20.3	70.8	11.3	67.4	15.8	69.7	15.8	75.3	9.0	74.2
20 to 24	10.1	80.9	11.3	78.7	14.6	84.3	14.6	89.9	15.7	89.9
25 to 29	11.2	92.1	10.1	88.8	9.0	93.3	5.6	95.5	6.7	96.6
and over	7.9	100.0	11.2	100.0	6.7	100.0	4.5	100.0	3.4	100.0

CHAPTER 21

TRADE AND ITS MAJOR GROUPS

1. EARNINGS RATES ON SALES AND INVESTMENT: ALL TRADE

THE 664 companies included in our series of large Trading corporations in 1928 possessed a combined capitalization of \$2.5 billion dollars. This investment was 'turned over' about two and one-half times, so that sales amounted to nearly \$6.5 billion, while the net income amounted to about one-third of a billion. In the first few sections of this chapter, we shall examine the earnings, sales and capital investment of these companies over the period 1919–28, both in the All Trade group as a whole and in each of the three major groups that compose it; then we shall consider the income disbursed as dividends and the earnings of individual companies, in the three latter groups combined.

In 1919, a year of marked prosperity, these 664 companies earned a net return of 7.4 per cent upon their sales volume. In 1920, this was reduced to 3.7 per cent and in 1921 to 2.7 per cent. Recovery in 1922 brought the figure to 5.9 per cent. Between 1923 and 1928, however, the return figure showed a slight general decline, falling from 6 per cent in 1923 to 4.8 per cent in 1928. Chart 52 shows the course of this gradual decline.

Upon investment the return dropped from 24 per cent in 1919 to 7 per cent in 1921. Earnings recovered to 15 per cent in 1922; but from 1923 on showed a general fall, dropping from 15.4 per cent to 12.3 per cent in 1928. It is to be noted that the return upon investment is in all years two or three times as high as that upon sales. The capital turnover of these 664 large Trading corporations, in other words, is approximately 2.5 times a year. This general average, however, should not be assumed to hold for many of the specific

[300]

TRADE AND MAJOR GROUPS

1919

1920

1921

1922

1923

1924

CHART 52 IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES, 1919-28 ALL TRADING CORPORATIONS PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SALES PER CENT 0 S S PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION 25 20 LN 15 D N 10 N 10 5 ٥ SALES CAPITALIZATION . INCOME ---7000 6000 MILLIONS OF DOLLARS 1000 400 SB 300 LAR -. 150 SNOITJIN

1926

1925

1927

1928

[301]

minor groups in Trade, the figures for a number of which deviate markedly from this ratio.

2. ABSOLUTE INCOME, SALES AND INVESTMENT: ALL TRADE

The sales volume of these 664 corporations increased from about 4,100 million dollars in 1919 to 4,800 million in 1920; then declined to 3,900 million in 1921. In 1922 only a slight recovery took place, the 4,121 million dollar level of 1919 being regained.¹ From 1922 on, however, a steady growth took place and by the end of the period in 1928 an annual volume of about 6,400 million dollars was attained. Investment likewise showed marked expansion over the period, growing from 1,300 million in 1919 to 2,500 million in 1928. Net income declined from about 300 million in 1919 to about 100 million in 1921; then, recovered to 288 million in 1923. During the last half of the period it showed a steady although not large growth, reaching 307 million in 1928.

3. SURVEY OF THE MAJOR TRADING GROUPS

a. Retail Trade

In the Retail Trade group are 283 corporations. Upon sales volume, they averaged a return of about 9 per cent in 1919, but only 3.5 per cent in 1920 and 1921. Recovery in 1922 brought the figure to 6.9 per cent; but before the end of the period it showed a general decline, reaching 5.3 per cent in 1928.

The return on investment is much higher but follows the same general course. In 1919, it stood at 26 per cent but fell to 8 per cent in 1921. In 1922, it reached 17 per cent, but before the end of the period it showed general decline, standing at 14 per cent in 1928.

Sales volume shows a less marked decline between 1920 and 1921 than does the figure for All Trade. Between 1922 and the end of the period it increases steadily, rising from 2,462 million dollars to about 4,600 million in 1928. Investment expands at much the same general rate, from 1,022 million dollars in 1922 to 1,758 million in 1928. Net income shows a great drop between 1919 and 1921, but

¹ In physical volume, of course, sales in 1922 exceeded those in 1919, e.g., commodity prices were substantially lower in the latter year.

[302]

TRADE AND MAJOR GROUPS

[303]



recovers in 1922 and shows a fairly steady growth for the remainder of the period, standing at about 204 million in 1927 and 1928.

b. Wholesale Trade

The Wholesale Trade group contains 292 corporations. The return on sales is much lower than for Retail Trade. It falls from 6 per cent in 1919 to 1 per cent in 1921; then recovers to 4.4 by 1923. During the last half of the period it runs slightly over 3 per cent in most years.

Upon investment, earnings are higher, but not so high as for the Retail Trade group. They show a general fall, from 14 per cent in 1923 to 9 per cent in 1928.

Unlike the Retail Trade group, sales show no increase whatever for the period, standing at almost exactly \$1.5 billion in 1919, in 1923, and in each year thereafter. Investment shows a general increase from 1919 to 1923, but thereafter remains stable at approximately \$525 million. Net income shows violent fluctuations between 1919 and 1923; then from 1923 to the end of the period exhibits a general decline, from \$71 million to \$49 million.

c. Wholesale and Retail Trade

Eighty-nine corporations belong to this group, each engaging in both wholesale and retail trading activities. The return on sales corresponds fairly closely with that for Retail Trade, running about 6.5 per cent during the last half of the period.

Upon investment, the return falls from 20 per cent in 1919 to 9 per cent in 1921; then increases to 15 per cent in 1923 but thereafter generally declines, reaching 9 per cent at the end of the period.

Sales fluctuate substantially between 1919 and 1923, but show some decline from then on, as well as for the period as a whole. The 1919 figure is 335 million, the 1923 figure 375 million and the 1928 figure 304 million. Investment, however, increases from 121 million in 1919 to 174 million in 1923, and stands at 185 million in 1928. Net income fluctuates between 1919 and 1923 but from 1923 to 1928 declines substantially, falling from 26 million to 17 million.

4. DIVIDENDS AND EARNINGS, 1924–1928

Of the total net income of the 664 corporations in All Trade, a somewhat varying proportion was paid out in the form of cash divi-

[304]

CHART 54 IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES, 1919-28

MAJOR GROUP 13: WHOLESALE TRADE





dends during the five years 1924-28. In both 1924 and 1925 approximately 40 per cent of net earnings was so disbursed; in 1924, 38 per cent; and in 1925, 39 per cent. In the years 1926-28, however, this proportion increased to approximately 50 per cent. The exact figures are 47 per cent in 1926, 54 per cent in 1927 and 48 per cent in 1928. The three major Trading groups show substantial variations in

[306]

these ratios of dividend disbursements to total net income. The Retail Trade group shows ratios of only about 30 per cent in 1924 and 1925 and about 40 or 45 per cent in the other years. The Wholesale Trade group shows much higher ratios, the figures being about 60 per cent in 1924 and 1925 and over 65 per cent in the other years. The Wholesale and Retail Trade group exhibits ratios of approximately 50 per cent in 1924 and 1925, but higher ones in the other years, the figure reaching 78 per cent in 1928. Complete data are given in Table 54.

5. EARNINGS OF INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS: ALL TRADE

The 664 large corporations in All Trade averaged a return of 24 per cent upon their combined investment in 1919. About 70 per cent, however, earned more than this rate. Half earned over 31 per cent. The highest quarter earned over 45 per cent, the lowest quarter, under 22 per cent. In this extremely prosperous post-War year, however, only 3 per cent of these companies earned less than 10 per cent.

In 1920, the average return was cut to 11 per cent. Again, however, about 70 per cent of the companies earned more than the average figure. Half earned over 17 per cent. A quarter earned over 27 per cent, while the lowest quarter earned under 10 per cent—a sharp contrast to the preceding year.

The year 1921 saw the general average figure decline to under 7 per cent; but 60 per cent of the companies earned in excess of this average rate, and half earned under 8 per cent. The upper quarter earned in excess of 14 per cent, but the lowest quarter earned under 2 per cent.

Between 1922 and 1928 the number of corporations occupying the upper brackets declined greatly. In 1922 almost a third earned more than 20 per cent upon their investments, but by 1928 less than a tenth did so. Conversely, in 1922 less than a third earned under 10 per cent but by 1928 half did so. The proportion of companies earning between 10 and 19 per cent remained approximately constant, about two-fifths of the total number being in this middle bracket in both of the years in question. Chart 56 shows the year-to-year course of this distribution, the trends of which in general corresponds with those for the All Manufacturing division.



TRADE AND MAJOR GROUPS

[309]

TABLE 54

TRADE AND ITS MAJOR GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

	NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER CORPORATI (millions of dollars)				
	CORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN			
All trade	664	4.07	1.24			
Major group						
12 Retail trade	283	6.81	1.59			
13 Wholesale trade 14 Wholesale and ret	292 ail	1.99	.99			
trade	89	2.15	1.01			

¹ Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

		TA	ble 54	(cont	inued)							[3
	191 9	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919-281	10
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO	SALES											Ē
All trade	7.4	3.7	2.7	5.9	6.0	5.3	5.5	5.2	5.0	4.8	5.1	
Major group												
12 Retail trade	8.7	3.6	3.5	6.9	6.7	6.2	6.4	5.9	5.7	5.3	5.8	
13 Wholesale trade	5.7	3.6	.9	3.8	4,4	3.4	3.3	3.2	3.0	3.2	3.5	
14 Wholessle and retail trade	7.2	5.6	4.5	6.6	6.9	6.4	6.0	6.7	5.9	5,7	6.1	
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO	CAPITA	LIZATIO	ON									
All trade	24.2	11.4	6.6	14,9	15.4	13.4	14.0	13.6	13.1	12.3	13.6	
Major group												
12 Retail trade	25.5	9.5	8.3	16.7	16.2	15.1	16.1	15.3	15.2	13.7	14.9	
13 Wholesale trade	23.0	13.8	2.4	11.2	13.7	10.0	9.6	9.5	8.6	8.7	10.7	
14 Wholesale and retail trade	19.8	17.0	9.4	14.3	14.9	12.0	10.6	11.5	9.8	9.3	12.5	
(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO	TOTAL CA	PITAL				•						H
All trade						13.0	13.4	13.1	12.6	11.7		Z
Major group						-						Ð
12 Retail trade						14.4	15.2	14.6	14.3	12.9		q
13 Wholesale trade						9.8	9.5	9.4	8.5	8.5		പ
14 Wholesale and retail trade						11.6	10.3	11.2	9.6	9.1		3
(-)												Ē
(E) PERCENTAGE OF INCOME	PAID OUT	IN CA	SH DIV.	IDENDS								2
All trade						38.0	39.4	47.3	53.5	48.1		ſ
Major group												P
12 Retail trade						30.4	33.6	41.7	46.1	42.2		R
13 Wholesale trade						59.8	58.9	67.9	86.2	66.9		0
14 Wholesale and retail trade						52.2	53.5	57.2	64.6	78.1		휜
												Ē
												Ś

PERCENTAGE		ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATED	I	ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATED
INCOME TO CAPI-	PERCENT- AGE IN	BY SUC- CESSIVE								
ALIZATION	193	19	192 192	20	19 EACH CLASS	21	19.	22	19	23
Jnder zero	0.1	0.1	6.6	6.6	17.2	17.2	2.0	2.0	0.5	0.5
Zero to 4	0.5	0.6	7.5	14.1	15.5	32.7	6.6	8.6	5.3	5.8
5 to 9	2.1	2.7	10.7	24.8	24.2	56.9	19.7	28.3	17.5	23.3
10 to 14	6.3	9.0	16.7	41.5	18.1	75.0	24.1	52.4	27.7	51.0
15 to 19	11.0	20.0	16.4	57.9	11.1	86.1	16.3	68.7	21.7	72.7
20 to 24	13.6	33.6	10.9	68.8	5.0	91.1	11.6	80.3	12.7	85.4
25 to 29	13.1	46.7	9.5	78.3	2.9	94.0	6.6	86.9	6.8	92.2
20 and over	58 2	100.0	21.7	100.0	6.0	100.0	13.1	100.0	7.8	100.0

(G) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1924-28. ALL TRADE

	19	24	19	25	19	26	19	27	19	28	
Under zero	1.8	1.8	1.1	1.1	1.2	1.2	0.6	0.6	2.0	2.0	
Zero to 4	8.7	10.5	9.6	10.7	11.7	12.9	13.3	13.9	15.7	17.7	
5 to 9	26.1	36.6	26.6	37.3	29.2	42.1	33.7	47.6	33.9	51.6	31
10 to 14	32.7	69.3	30.1	67.4	28.9	71.0	29.5	77.1	27.6	79.2	

TABLE 54 (continued)

.

(G) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1924-28. ALL TRADE

PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	PERCENT- Age in Bach Class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Ea <u>c</u> h class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES
	19.	24	19	25	19	26	19	27	19	28
15 to 19	15.1	84.4	18.7	86.1	16.7	87.7	12.6	89.7	12.0	91.2
20 to 24	6.9	91.3	5.9	92.0	5.9	93.6	4.1	93.8	4.8	96.0
25 to 29	4.2	95.5	3.5	95.5	2.8	96.4	3.3	97.1	2.4	98.4
30 and over	4.5	100.0	4.5	100.0	3.6	100.0	2.9	100.0	1.6	100.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[312]

CHAPTER 22

RETAIL TRADE

THE major group, Retail Trade, is subdivided into ten minor trading groups: Automobiles; Men's Clothing; Department Stores; Drygoods; Furniture; Groceries; Jewelry; Building Material and Hardware; Lumber and Coal; Miscellaneous Retail Trade. The number of corporations in each group and their average size are shown in Table 55. The groups are described briefly:

Automobiles: Includes corporations selling and servicing either passenger cars or trucks. This sample is not typical of the trade which it represents in that the average size of the corporations included is unusually large.

Men's Clothing

Department Stores Drygoods

Furniture

Groceries: The 14 enterprises belonging to this group are exceptionally large in comparison with the typical firms engaged in the retailing of groceries, as chain store corporations are included. Average sales per company in 1928 were about 100 million dollars.

Jewelry

Building Material and Hardware: Stores which merchandise building supplies and hardware, some also selling lumber at retail. Lumber and Coal

Miscellaneous Retail Trade: Includes all manner of articles sold at retail but not classified under any other minor group. Among them are: Boots and Shoes; Millinery; Music and Instruments; Notions; Cigars; Tobacco and Smokers' Supplies; also, the miscellany of products sold by mailorder houses.

[313]

[314]

-

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

TABLE 55

RETAIL TRADE GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL TRADING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

NU	MBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER CORPORATION (millions of dollars)					
CORPO	RATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN				
Major group							
12 Retail trade	283	6.81	1.59				
Minor group							
75 Automobiles	15	1.64	•				
76 Men's clothing	17	2.01					
77 Department stores	93	7.39					
78 Drygoods	27	3.24					
79 Furniture	12	1.59					
80 Groceries	14	16.06					
81 Jewelry	11	1.25					
82 Building material and							
hardware	27	1.03					
83 Lumber and coal	15	1.20					
84 Miscellaneous retail trade	52	15.22					

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

			TA	ble 55	(cont	inued)							Ž
		<i>1919</i>	1920	<i>1921</i>	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919281	Ĥ
(B) PERCENT	TAGE INCOME TO	SALES											A
Major group													F
12 Retail tra	de	8.7	3.6	3.5	6.9	6.7	6.2	6.4	5.9	5.7	5.3	5.8	щ
Minor group													
75 Automobil	es	7.5	4.9	1.8	4.1	4.6	4.3	4.9	3.8	3.1	3.4	4.1	>
76 Men's clot	thing	12.9	3.7	3.8	7.6	7.7	7.2	8.0	6.0	6.8	7.4	7.1	e
77 Departmen	nt stores	10.7	4.3	5.0	7.3	7.4	5.9	5.9	5.6	5.4	4.6	6.1	E
78 Drygoods		10.6	6.1	5.3	7.1	6.6	5.3	6.1	6.0	5.2	6.0	6.3	
79 Furniture		7.3	11.1	6.3	15.7	9.2	7.5	5.6	4.3	5.7	6.0	7.4	
80 Groceries		3.5	2.0	4.1	4.1	4.0	4.3	3.7	3.4	3.2	3.1	3.5	
81 Jewelry		20.0	9.2	4.4	9.0	8.2	6.4	9.2	12.3	10.0	13.6	10.7	
82 Building r	naterial and hardw	are 5.6	9.5	5.0	8.5	8.2	7.7	8.1	7.4	6.2	7.0	7.4	
83 Lumber a	nd coal	10.4	11.4	3.3	8.9	6.7	7.4	8.1	7.1	8.1	9.0	8.2	
84 Miscellane	cous retail trade	8.1	2.1	.8	8.2	7.7	8.0	9.1	8.3	8.6	7.9	7.2	
(C) PERCEN	TAGE INCOME TO	CAPITA	LIZATIO	N									
Major group													
12 Retail tra	de	25.5	9.5	8.3	16.7	16.2	15.1	16.1	15.3	15.2	13.7	14.9	
Minor group													
75 Automobil	es	81.8	34.1	11.1	29.2	27.3	25.3	33.3	23.1	17.5	18.2	25.8	
76 Men's clot	thing	47.4	10.4	9.1	19.5	16.7	13.9	14.6	10.9	11.4	12.6	14.9	
77 Departme	nt stores	34.0	12.0	12.6	17.4	14.3	12.6	12.7	12.2	11.7	9.4	14.1	
78 Drygoods		38.0	15.8	11.7	16.1	11.3	11.1	12.9	12.7	12.2	11.9	14.3	
79 Furniture		13.1	23.0	10.3	19.1	16.4	14.4	7.9	7.5	8.9	9.8	12.2	
80 Groceries		29.6	16.1	26.1	27.3	<u>22.1</u>	23.5	21.0	21.7	22.0	21.6	22.5	_
81 Jewelry		43.8	12.8	4.7	10.0	8.9	6.6	10.1	14.2	11.2	15.1	12.7	်ယ
¹ Ten-year a	ggregate.												15]

		TABL	в 55	(contis	nued)							ີພ
	1919 1	920 1	921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	<i>1919–28</i> 1	16
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CA	PITALIZ	ATION	(cont	inued))							نت
82 Building material and hardware	13.3 2	23.1	6.8	13.6	13.6	10.7	11.6	10.0	8.2	8.4	11.4	
83 Lumber and coal	26.7 2	24.1	4.2	11.9	9.1	9.7	11.4	10.1	10.7	10.6	12.2	
84 Miscellaneous retail trade	16.3	4.0	1.4	14.2	14.9	16.3	19.0	17.5	17.3	15.2	14.1	
	(p)	PERC	ENTAG	E PRO	FIT TO		(в)	PERCI	INTAGE	OF I	NCOME	
	(-)	TO	TAL C	APITAL	, ,		PAI	ID OUT	IN CAS	H DIV	IDENDS	
	1924	1925	1926	1927	7 1928	3	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
Major group									_			
12 Retail trade	14.4	15.2	14.6	14.3	3 12,9)	30.4	33.6	41.7	46.1	42.2	
Minor group												
75 Automobiles	24.2	27.9	20.0	15.7	7 15.6	5	38.4	28.7	36.7	54.7	45.3	
76 Men's clothing	13.9	14.6	10.9	11.4	12.6	5	28.3	35.7	50.8	51.8	54.7	
77 Department stores	11.9	11.7	11.4	10.7	7 8.8	3	34.3	35.6	38.7	45.6	42.8	
78 Drygoods	9.8	11.2	11.1	11.0) 10.6	5	53.5	48.3	47.0	45.0	39.9	<u>z</u>
79 Furniture	14.3	7.9	7.4	8.9	9.6	5	61.0	65.7	85.4	58.8	47.8	5
80 Groceries	23.5	21.0	21.7	21.8	8 21.3	3	21.9	37.6	41.3	38.2	35.5	9
81 Jewelry	6.5	9.6	13.2	10.6	6 14.:	3	77.1	60.0	44.4	62.3	30.0	- T
82 Building material and hardware	e 10.7	11.6	10.0	8.2	2 8.4	1	49.2	38.1	46.8	65.2	45.7	Ŕ
83 Lumber and coal	9.7	11.4	10.1	10.7	7 10.5	5	55.0	52.4	68.7	54.1	70.0	H
84 Miscellaneous retail trade	16.0	18.5	17.0	16.1	8 14.3	7	26.0	28.9	42.1	48.0) 43.8	

-

н PROFITS

(F) FREQUE CORPOR	ENCY DISTR RATIONS, 1	UBUTION 919—23.	S OF PBRCH MAJOR GR	ENTAGES OUP 12:	OF TOTAL RETAIL T	NET INCO RADE	оме то са	PITALIZA	TION, IND	IVIDUAL	
PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Bach Class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY 8UC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	
	1919		1920		19	21	1922		1923		
Under zero	0.4	0.4	2.5	2.5	9.2	9.2	0.4	0.4	0.0	0.0	
Zero to 4	0.4	0.8	6.7	9.2	10.6	19.8	3.9	4.3	6.0	6.0	
5 to 9	1.4	2.2	12.7	21.9	24.7	44.5	15.5	19.8	13.1	19.1	
10 to 14	4.9	7.1	20.1	42.0	20.5	65.0	23.3	43.1	21.9	41.0	
15 to 19	9.5	16.6	15.6	57.6	14.7	79.7	15.5	58.6	23.3	64.3	
20 to 24	9.2	25.8	11.7	69.3	7.7	87.4	15.5	74.1	18.0	82.3	
25 to 29	10.6	36.4	10.2	79.5	4.9	92.3	9.2	83.3	8.1	90.4	
30 and over	63.6	100.0	20.5	100.0	7.7	100.0	16.7	100.0	9.6	100.0	

(G) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 12: RETAIL TRADE

Under zero	1924		1	1925		1926		1927		1928	
	1.1	1.1	0.0	0.0	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.8	1.8	
Zero to 4	7.8	8.9	5.7	5.7	6.0	7.1	11.3	12.4	11.3	13.1	
5 to 9	19.4	28.3	20.8	26.5	21.5	28.6	27.6	40.0	30.0	43.1	
10 to 14	32.9	61.2	28.3	54.8	31.1	59.7	28.6	68.6	26.5	69.6	
15 to 19	17.3	78.5	23.7	78.5	22.3	82.0	16.6	85.2	16.6	86.2	
20 to 24	9.2	87.7	8.1	86.6	9.2	91.2	5.3	90.5	7.4	93.6	2
25 to 29	6.4	94.1	4.6	91.2	3.5	94.7	4.6	95.1	4.2	97.8	Ĩ
30 and over.	5.9	100,0	8.8	100.0	5.3	100.0	4.9	100.0	2.2	100.0	1
CHAPTER 23

WHOLESALE TRADE

EIGHT minor groups comprise Wholesale Trade. Two—Drygoods and Groceries—are the wholesale equivalents of two minor groups bearing these names in the Retail Trade sample already discussed. Two others—Hardware, and Building Material and Lumber—correspond in part with two other Retail Trade groups. Three groups of this Wholesale Trade sample, however, were not found separately in Retail Trade. These are Drugs, Importers and Exporters, and Paper. The eighth group is the Miscellaneous category. The number of corporations in each group and their average size are shown in Table 56. Except for the Miscellaneous group, descriptions are unnecessary here.

Miscellaneous Wholesale Trade: Comprises 82 corporations engaged in all sorts of wholesale trading activities. Principal trades included are: Coal; Fuel and Wood; Cigars; Tobacco and Smokers' Supplies; Jewelry; Music and Instruments; and Jobbers of Electrical and Plumbing Supplies.

TABLE 56

WHOLESALE TRADE GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL TRADING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

			NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of d	CORPORATION [†] lollars)
		C	RPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Major	group				
13	Wholesale	trade	292	1.99	.99
Minor	group				
86	Drugs		25	1.25	
87	Drygoods		29	1.53	
88	Groceries		59	1.56	
89	Hardware		43	2.25	
			[318	3]	

WHOLESALE TRADE

[319]

TABLE 56 (continued)

WHOLESALE TRADE GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL TRADING CORPORATIONS SERIES

		NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of d	CORPORATION ¹
		CORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Minor g	roup			
90 -	Importers and			
	exporters	- 23	2.34	
91	Building mate	rial and		
	lumber	13	1.39	
92	Paper	18	2.32	
93-85	Miscellaneous	whole-		
	sale trade	82	2.49	

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

			TA	BLE 56	(cont	inued)							ເລ
		1919	1920	1921	1922	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919281	20
(B) P	ERCENTAGE INCOME TO SA	LES											╘╾┙
Мајот	group												
13	Wholesale trade	5.7	3.6	.9	3.8	4.4	3.4	3.3	3.2	3.0	3.2	3.5	
Minor	group												
86	Drugs	4.5	5.0	2.7	3.7	4.5	4.2	4.1	3.8	3.5	4.3	4.0	
87	Drygoods	10.2	1.6	2.3	4.3	4.5	3.0	3.6	2.8	3.8	3.6	4.0	
88	Groceries	3.9	.9	.7	3.2	2.9	2.7	2.4	2.0	2.1	2.0	2.3	
89	Hardware	7.6	6.3	8	4.5	6.1	3.5	4.3	3.9	4.0	4.5	4.5	
90	Importers and exporters	7.1	3.1	2.2	4.0	3.9	3.7	2.0	2.5	3.5	4.7	3.5	
91	Building material and lumber	5.0	6.2	2.0	5.4	3.4	3.0	2.8	2.9	2.2	2.0	3.5	
92	Paper	3.5	4.6	1	2.3	3.0	2.4	2.5	2.2	2.1	2.7	2.6	
93-85	Miscellaneous wholesale trade	5.8	4.2	.8	4.0	5.5	3.9	3.8	4.2	3.2	3.2	3.9	
(C) P Major 13 Minor 86 87 88	ERCENTAGE INCOME TO CA group Wholesale trade group Drugs Drygoods Groceries	PITAL 23.0 18.0 37.2 21.7	IZATIO 13.8 19.7 5.4 4.7	N 2.4 7.6 6.1 2.6	11.2 10.2 11.6 11.5	13.7 13.2 12.6 11.0	10.0 11.8 7.4 10.8	9.6 11.5 9.1 9.3	9.5 11.0 6.9 7.7	8.6 9.9 9.1 7.8	8.7 10.4 8.4 7.4	10.7 11.9 10.9 9.2	INDUSTRIAI
89	Hardware	21.1	16.8	-1.5	9.2	12.9	6.8	8.6	7.7	7.7	8.6	9.5	. .
90	Importers and exporters	24.9	12.2	9.2	16.3	13.5	11.1	6.5	6.8	9.7	10.7	11.3	Å
91	Building material and lumber	28.1	14.2	2.5	11.0	8.5	6.7	6.2	6.7	4.8	4.5	7.9	7
92	Paper	18.1	28.4	-2.7	9.9	13.3	10.6	10.5	8.4	8.4	10.2	11.3	0
93-85 ¹ Tei	Miscellaneous wholesale trade n-year aggregate.	22.3	15.6	2.0	11.4	16.6	11.5	11.2	12.9	9.3	8.7	11.9	FITS

		(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL					(E) PERCENTAGE OF INCOME PAID OUT IN CASH DIVIDENDS					
		1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
Major	group											
13	Wholesale trade	9.8	9.5	9.4	8.5	8.5	59.8	58.9	67.9	86.2	66.9	
Minor	group											
86	Drugs	11.7	11.4	10.9	9.8	10.3	47.3	48.4	54.3	52.5	41.9	
87	Drygoods	7.4	9.1	7.0	9.1	8.4	59.1	51.8	64.0	39.5	57.6	
88	Groceries	10.8	9.3	7.7	7.8	7.3	54.8	58.3	60.3	66.9	64.3	
89	Hardware	6.7	8.5	7.6	7.6	8.5	69.2	57.4	96.5	237.0	58.6	
90	Importers and exporters	10.5	6.3	6.6	9.3	10.2	46.7	63.1	69.3	34.9	29.6	
91	Building material and lumber	6.7	6.2	6.6	4.8	4.5	58.6	56.2	58.5	100.0	93.8	
92	Paper	10.3	10.4	8.3	8.3	10.0	58.2	.77.5	78.4	83.4	60.2	
93-85	Miscellaneous wholesale trade	11.4	11.1	12.7	9.2	8.5	64.4	58.6	62.5	61.9	90.7	

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 13: WHOLESALE TRADE

,

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES							
	19.	19	19.	20	19	21	19.	22	19	23	
Under zero	0.0	0.0	12.0	12.0	25.0	25.0	3.4	3.4	1.0	1.0	
Zero to 4	0.0	0.0	9.2	21.2	20.9	45.9	8.9	12.3	5.1	6.1	
5 to 9	2.1	2.1	8.9	30.1	23.3	69.2	24.7	37.0	20.6	26.7	
10 to 14	7.9	10.0	15.4	45.5	16.4	85.6	25.7	62.7	33.9	60.6	
15 to 19	12.3	22.3	16.1	61.6	8.6	94.2	14.0	76.7	20.6	81.2	
20 to 24	16.4	\$8.7	8.2	69.8	2.1	96.3	8.9	85.6	7.9	88.1	
25 to 29	15.4	54.1	9.2	79.0	1.0	97.3	4.5	90.1	5.8	94.9	Ň
30 and over	45.9	100.0	21.0	100.0	2.7	100.0	9.9	100.0	5.1	100.0	_ <u> </u>

-

TABLE 56 (continued)

.

(G) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 13: WHOLESALE TRADE

		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED)	MULATED		MULATED		MULATED
PROPIT	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-						
TO TOTAL	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE						
CAPITAL	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES
	19	24	19	25	19	26	19	27	19	28
Under zero	2.4	2.4	2.1	2.1	1.7	1.7	0.3	0.3	2.4	2.4
Zero to 4	9.9	12.3	13.4	15.5	16.4	18.1	14.4	14.7	18.2	20.6
5 to 9	33.6	45.9	31.8	47.3	36.3	54.4	41.1	55.8	38.3	58.9
10 to 14	32.9	78.8	31.5	78.8	27.1	81.5	28.8	84.6	28.4	87.3
15 to 19	12.7	91.5	15.1	93.9	13.0	94.5	8.9	93.5	8.9	96.2
20 to 24	3.8	95.3	3.1	97.0	1.7	96.2	2.7	96.2	2.1	98.3
25 to 29	2.0	97.3	2.7	99.7	2.1	98.3	2.4	\$ 8.6	1.0	99.3
30 and over	2.7	100.0	0.3	100.0	1.7	100.0	1.4	100.0	0.7	100.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[322]

CHAPTER 24

RETAIL AND WHOLESALE TRADE

THE major group designated as Retail and Wholesale Trade does not include corporations engaged in either retail or wholesale trade alone, but only enterprises which carry on *both* wholesaling and retailing activities. The major group is subdivided into only four such trades, one a miscellaneous category: Coal; Hardware; Building Material and Lumber; Miscellaneous Retail and Wholesale Trade. The number of corporations in each group and their average size are shown in Table 57. Only the Miscellaneous group need here be described, since the others have been treated in the two preceding chapters.

Miscellaneous Retail and Wholesale Trade: The 52 corporations of this group are engaged in all sorts of trading activities, the principal pursuits followed or commodities dealt in being: Commission Dealers; Boots and Shoes; Drugs and Chemicals; Furniture; Glass, Paints and Oils; Stationery.

TABLE 57

WHOLESALE AND RETAIL TRADE GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL TRADING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

		NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of a	CORPORATION ¹
	C0	RPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Major	group			
14	Wholesale and retai	1		
	trade	89	2.15	1.01
Minor ;	group		-	
96	Coal, wood and fuel	10	2.24	
97	Hardware	16	1.16	
98	Lumber	11	1.10	
99-95	Miscellaneous whole	E-		
	sale and retail tra	de 52	2.66	
-				

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928. [323]

		TAI	BLE 57	(contr	inued)							5
	1919	1920	1921	<i>1922</i>	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919–281	ž
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO S	ALES											Ľ
Major group												
14 Wholesale and retail trade	7.2	5.6	4.5	6.6	6.9	6.4	6.0	6.7	5.9	5.7	6.1	
Minor group												
96 Coal, wood and fuel	3.1	3.6	2.1	4.5	5.0	5.2	5.9	6.3	5.5	6.2	4.8	
97 Hardware	8.0	6.5	1.1	4.3	5.0	3.6	4.9	4.5	3.8	3.9	4.7	
98 Lumber	3.5	9.0	4.3	8.2	8.5	7.5	5.6	5.0	5.0	4.0	6.3	
99-95 Miscellaneous wholesale an	nd											
retail trade	7.8	5.5	5.3	7.2	7.5	7.0	6.2	7.3	6.5	6.0	6.6	
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO C	APITAL	IZATIO	N									
14 Wholesale and retail trade	19.8	17.0	9.4	14.3	14.9	12.0	10.6	11.5	9.8	9.3	12.5	
14 Wholesale and retail trade Minor group	19.8	17.0	9.4	14.3	14.9	12.0	10.6	11.5	9.8	9.3	12.5	11
14 Wholesale and retail trade Minor group 96 Coal, wood and fuel	19.8 11.7	17.0 16.4	9.4 7.0	14.3 15.0	14.9 17.8	12.0 14.8	10.6 13.7	11.5 15.5	9.8 10.7	9.3 10.8	12.5 13.3	I N L
Major group 14 Wholesale and retail trade Minor group 96 Coal, wood and fuel 97 Hardware	19.8 11.7 22.6	17.0 16.4 17.6	9.4 7.0 2.0	14.3 15.0 8.7	14.9 17.8 11.4	12.0 14.8 8.0	10.6 13.7 10.3	11.5 15.5 9.6	9.8 10.7 7.7	9.3 10.8 7.6	12.5 13.3 10.2	INDO
Major group 14 Wholesale and retail trade Minor group 96 Coal, wood and fuel 97 Hardware 98 Lumber	19.8 11.7 22.6 6.7	17.0 16.4 17.6 25.4	9.4 7.0 2.0 7.3	14.3 15.0 8.7 17.3	14.9 17.8 11.4 17.5	12.0 14.8 8.0 11.4	10.6 13.7 10.3 8.3	11.5 15.5 9.6 7.1	9.8 10.7 7.7 6.8	9.3 10.8 7.6 5.1	12.5 13.3 10.2 10.7	INDUS
Major group 14 Wholesale and retail trade Minor group 96 Coal, wood and fuel 97 Hardware 98 Lumber 99-95 Miscellaneous wholesale an	19.8 11.7 22.6 6.7	17.0 16.4 17.6 25.4	9.4 7.0 2.0 7.3	14.3 15.0 8.7 17.3	14.9 17.8 11.4 17.5	12.0 14.8 8.0 11.4	10.6 13.7 10.3 8.3	11.5 15.5 9.6 7.1	9.8 10.7 7.7 6.8	9.3 10.8 7.6 5.1	12.5 13.3 10.2 10.7	INDUST
Major group 14 Wholesale and retail trade Minor group 96 Coal, wood and fuel 97 Hardware 98 Lumber 99-95 Miscellaneous wholesale an retail trade	19.8 11.7 22.6 6.7 nd 21.2	17.0 16.4 17.6 25.4 16.4	9.4 7.0 2.0 7.3 10.7	14.3 15.0 8.7 17.3 14.8	14.9 17.8 11.4 17.5 14.8	12.0 14.8 8.0 11.4 12.1	10.6 13.7 10.3 8.3 10.4	11.5 15.5 9.6 7.1 11.5	9.8 10.7 7.7 6.8 10.2	9.3 10.8 7.6 5.1 9.7	12.5 13.3 10.2 10.7 12.8	INDUSTRI
Major group 14 Wholesale and retail trade Minor group 96 96 Coal, wood and fuel 97 Hardware 98 Lumber 99-95 Miscellaneous wholesale an retail trade ¹ Ten-year aggregate.	19.8 11.7 22.6 6.7 nd 21.2	17.0 16.4 17.6 25.4 16.4	9.4 7.0 2.0 7.3 10.7	14.3 15.0 8.7 17.3 14.8	14.9 17.8 11.4 17.5 14.8	12.0 14.8 8.0 11.4 12.1	10.6 13.7 10.3 8.3 10.4	11.5 15.5 9.6 7.1 11.5	9.8 10.7 7.7 6.8 10.2	9.3 10.8 7.6 5.1 9.7	12.5 13.3 10.2 10.7 12.8	
Major group 14 Wholesale and retail trade Minor group 96 Coal, wood and fuel 97 Hardware 98 Lumber 99-95 Miscellaneous wholesale an retail trade ¹ Ten-year aggregate.	19.8 11.7 22.6 6.7 ad 21.2	17.0 16.4 17.6 25.4 16.4	9.4 7.0 2.0 7.3 10.7	14.3 15.0 8.7 17.3 14.8	14.9 17.8 11.4 17.5 14.8	12.0 14.8 8.0 11.4 12.1	10.6 13.7 10.3 8.3 10.4	11.5 15.5 9.6 7.1 11.5	9.8 10.7 7.7 6.8 10.2	9.3 10.8 7.6 5.1 9.7	12.5 13.3 10.2 10.7 12.8	INDUSTRIAL

FITS

			(D)	PERCER TOTA	NTAGE	3 PROF Pital	TT TO	(e) Pai	PERCEN D OUT IN	TAGE OF I Cash I	INCOME IVIDENDS	> t
			1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1924	1925	1926 19	27 1928	Þ
Major group	5											Ē
14 Retai	l and wholes	ale trade	11.6	10.3	11.2	9.6	9.1	52.2	53.5	57.2 6	4.6 78.1	
Minor group	l i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i					40.0						2
96 Coal			14.6	13.7	15.5	10.7	10.7	23.0	35.9	40.0 4	2.9 90.8	
97 Hard	ware		8.0	10.3	9.5	7.6	7.5	66.2	50.0	57.1 6	9.3 75.0	
98 Lumb	er		11.4	8.3	7.2	6.9	5.1	43.3	62.2	70.0 6	16.3 98.3	
99-95 Misce	ellaneous ret	and and								~~~		
wh	olesale trade		11.7	10.0	11.1	9.9	9.5	56.7	56.8	60.2 0	7.7 75.2	
CORPOI	RATIONS, 1	ACCU- MULATED	MAJOR GR	OUP 14 ACCU- MULATE	RET	AIL A	ACCU- MULATED	LESALE TR.	ADE ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATER	
TO CAPI-	AGR IN	CFSSIVE	ACF IN	CRANIVE	ACI	E IN	CESSIVE	ACR IN	CRSSIVP	ACE IN	CESSIVE	
TALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH	CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CL	ASS CLASSES	
	10	10	10	20		102	21	10:	2 2		1023	
Under zero	0.0	0.0	2.2	2.2	1	6.9	16.9	2.2	2.2	0.0	0.0	Ę.
Zero to 4	2.2	2.2	4.5	6.7	1	3.5	30.4	7.9	10.1	3.4	3.4	
5 to 9	4.5	6.7	10.1	16.8	2	5.8	56.2	16.9	27.0	21.4	24.8	
10 to 14	5.6	12.3	10.1	26.9	1	5.7	71.9	21.3	48.3	25.8	50.6	
15 to 19	11.2	23.5	20.2	47.1		9.0	80.9	25.8	74.1	20.2	70.8	
20 to 24	18.0	41.5	16.9	64.0		5.6	86.5	7.9	82.0	11.2	82.0	
25 to 29	13.5	55.0	7.9	71.9		2.2	88.7	5.6	87.6	6.8	88.8	- F.
30 and over	45.0	100.0	28.1	100.0	1	.1.3	100. 0	12.4	100.0	11.2	100.0	

.

5

TABLE 57 (continued)

(G) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 14: RETAIL AND WHOLESALE TRADE

PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLAS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE S CLASSES
	19	24	19	25	19	26	19.	27	1	928
Under zero	2.2	2.2	1.1	1.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.1	1.1
Zero to 4	7.9	10.1	10.1	11.2	14.6	14.6	15.7	15.7	21.3	22.4
5 to 9	22.5	32.6	28.1	39.3	30.3	44.9	29.2	44.9	31.5	53.9
10 to 14	31.5	64.1	31.5	70.8	28.1	73.0	34.8	79.7	28.1	82.0
15 to 19	15.7	79.8	14.6	85.4	11.2	84.2	12.4	92.1	7.9	89.9
20 to 24	10.1	89.9	7.9	93.3	9.0	93.2	4.6	96.7	5.6	95.5
25 to 29	4.5	94.4	2.2	95.5	2.2	95.4	2.2	98.9	1.1	96.6
30 and over	5.6	100.0	4.5	100.0	4.6	100.0	1.1	100.0	3.4	100.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[326]

CHAPTER 25

MINING AND ITS MINOR GROUPS

1. THE MINING GROUP AS A WHOLE

IN the terminology which we have been employing, the industrial division Mining may be regarded as one major group. Included in it are all types of extractive operations: coal mining, oil drilling and gas producing; ferrous and non-ferrous metal mining, including gold and silver; the quarrying of stone, salt, clay, sand and gravel, etc.

As previously pointed out, some of the Mining minor groups are not such representative samples of the extractive activities carried on by these industries as is the case with the various Manufacturing and Trading groups discussed in preceding chapters.¹ It is also to be observed that not only are the samples rather small in several instances, but that neither the investment nor net income figures are to be taken as possessing as high a degree of validity as in the case of the Manufacturing or Trading samples.² The qualifications which attach to most accounting appraisals-which in the nature of things are never more than close estimates-apply with peculiar cogency to figures for the Mining industry. Investment, in the case of a mine, means the cost of acquisition and development, rather than of construction in the ordinary sense of original cost or 'prudent investment'. As carried on the books, it may even involve a 'discovery value'-the engineers' appraisal of the extent and market value of veins or deposits as vet unworked. The computation of net income is likewise in some instances beclouded—so far as a valid comparison with Manufacturing or Trade incomes is concerned-because of the inclusion of depletion charges as a large proportion of total deduction from revenues. To what extent depletion charges represent deductions accurately based upon the exhaustion of an original investment, to what degree they represent, beyond this, an attempt to show

³ See Ch. 8, sec. 4.

³As to the general reliability of the two latter, see Ch. 44 and 45.

[327]

lower net earnings figures for one reason or another—these are questions not easily solved. Particularly in the case of gas and oil wells are net income figures to be accepted only provisionally for any comparative purposes. The fact that the income tax law, in its several revisions, has changed the provisions affecting the charging of depletion ⁸ undoubtedly has influenced the accounting practices of certain mining enterprises; and in any minor industrial groups for which the samples are as small as those discussed in this chapter, such variations in accounting practice on the part of even a few corporations might well affect the comparability of the income series over a time period.

With these preliminary remarks of warning, the tabular data for Mining may be presented. In computing the return on sales, however, data for one of the six minor groups, Gas and Oil Wells, are omitted from the total Mining figures because of incompleteness in the sample (see section 2 below). Data for the return on investment, however, include all six minor groups.

The return on sales declines from 13 per cent in 1920 to 3 per cent in 1921; then increases to 8 per cent in 1922. Although temporary declines occur in 1924 and 1927, the trend is upward during the years from 1922 to 1928, the figure standing at 16 per cent at the end of the period.

Upon investment, much lower earnings are the rule. The return declines from 6 per cent in 1920 to barely 1 per cent in 1921; then recovers to 5 per cent by 1923. During the second half of the period,

³For example, the Revenue Acts of 1919, 1921 and 1924 all provided for depletion charges based on either original cost, valuation as of March 1, 1913, or discovery value; but where discovery value was employed, the Act of 1921 limited the depletion charge to the amount of net income (reckoned before depletion). The Act of 1924, however, where discovery value was employed, limited the charge to 50 per cent of the net income. These provisions applied to all types of mining. But the Act of 1926 provided that, in the case of gas and oil wells, the depletion charged upon any valuation had to be limited to 27.5 per cent of the amount of sales volume and to 50 per cent of the net income. But whereas previous acts had permitted the annual depletion charges on any given mining property to accumulate only to the aggregate amount of the investment (cost, March 1913 value, or discovery value), the Act of 1926 imposed no limit whatever upon the accumulation of charges in the case of gas and oil wells, i.e., the entire cost of a gas or oil property could be written off and depletion could still be charged on the same property in subsequent years, subject only to the 27.5 per cent of current sales and 50 per cent of current net income limits above mentioned.





it runs between 4 and 8 per cent, the latter figure prevailing in 1928.

Sales⁴ show a generally rising trend, expanding from 435 million in 1919 to 783 million dollars in 1928. Investment grows at a somewhat slower rate, increasing from 972 million dollars in 1919 to 1,539 million dollars in 1928. Net income fluctuates greatly during the first half of the period, but shows an increasing trend thereafter. Between 1922 and 1928 it increases from 40 million to 125 million dollars.

2. MINOR GROUPS IN MINING

The major group Mining is divided into six minor groups: Bituminous Coal; Gas and Oil Wells; Stone Quarrying; Clay, Sand and Gravel; Metals; Miscellaneous Mining. The number of corporations in each group and their average size are shown in Table 58. The groups may be listed and some of them described briefly:

Bituminous Coal

Gas and Oil Wells: Data for the return on sales cannot be shown for this group. The original Source-Book states in connection with sales figures for the group in question that "figures for minor group No. 101 contain only eight of the eleven corporations belonging to this group because of data lacking for the other three corporations" (p. 152).

Stone Quarrying: Includes the extraction of granite, gypsum, limestone, marble and slate, and the various processes of rock crushing.

Clay, Sand and Gravel

Metals: Basic ferrous, non-ferrous, as well as the precious metals are included: iron, copper, lead, zinc, iridium, platinum, silver and gold and complex ores.

Miscellaneous Mining: Includes a diversity of mining activities, but no metals. Principal components are anthracite coal and salt.

3. EARNINGS OF INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS: MINING

We may now inquire into the variation in earnings rates between individual corporations engaged in Mining, limiting our examination to the available data for the major group as a whole.

In 1919, the 88 corporations of the Mining group earned an average return of 4.5 per cent upon their investment. Four-fifths of the corporations, however, earned more than this average figure,

⁶The absolute sales, investment and income figures given in this paragraph omit the Gas and Oil Wells group, for the reason given in sec. 2 below.

[330]

[331]



[332]

while half earned over 13 per cent. The upper quarter earned over 26 per cent, while the lower quarter earned under 7 per cent. At the same time 8 per cent recorded deficits.

In 1920, the general average return was 6 per cent. Again, about four-fifths of these corporations earned more than the average return; and half earned over 18 per cent. The upper quarter earned in excess of 35 per cent, while the lower quarter all earned under 9 per cent.

The depression year 1921 brought the general average return to less than 1 per cent upon investment. Once more, however, fourfifths of the corporations earned more than the average figure. Half earned more than 8 per cent, while the upper quarter earned over 16 per cent. The lower quarter earned under 2 per cent, and a few over one-sixth had deficits.

A slight recovery brought the general average to 3 per cent in 1922. Still four-fifths of the corporations earned more than the average figure. Half earned over 12 per cent and the upper quarter earned over 22 per cent. The lowest quarter earned under 5 per cent, and 9 per cent had deficits.

Between 1923 and 1928, the number of corporations in the higher and lower brackets fluctuated greatly. Chart 58 shows this distribution by broad classes of return. At the end of the period in 1928, the distribution was such that only about 13 per cent of the corporations earned over 20 per cent. Approximately 40 per cent earned from 10 to 19 per cent, while about 45 per cent earned from 1 to 9 per cent. About 3 per cent had deficits.

TABLE 58

MINING GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

	NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of a	CORPORATION ¹ follars)
	CORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Major group			
15 Mining	88	22.15	3.50
Minor group			
100 Bituminous coal	33	6.60	
101 Gas and oil wells	11	12.93	
102 Stone quarrying	9	6.66	
103 Clay, sand and grave	l 9	4.91	
104 Metals	15	87.67	
105 Miscellaneous minin	g 11	15.45	

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

		TA	ble 58	(cont	inued)						
	1919	1920	1921	192 2	1923	1924	1925	<i>1926</i>	1927	1928	1919–28 ¹
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO) SALES										
Maior oroup											
15 Mining [*]	9.9	12.6	3.2	8.2	12.0	9.4	12.6	13.0	11.3	15.9	11.4
Minor group											
100 Bituminous coal	14.8	25.4	14.5	18.0	15.5	8.2	11.4	13.4	10.8	10.2	14.8
101 *											
102 Stone quarrying	18.1	15.7	10.0	18.9	20.5	20.0	23.2	21.7	21.8	15.9	18.9
103 Clay, sand and gravel	20.0	20.0	18.9	31.0	23.6	24.6	32.7	31.7	32.9	26.3	27.2
104 Metals	4.1	4.1	-15.2	1.9	7.7	6.9	11.2	10.5	9.0	16.7	8.0
105 Miscellaneous mining	21.9	20.1	18.8	18.6	22.8	16.4	14.5	20.6	15.6	14.2	11.4
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO	CAPITAL	IZATIO	N								
Major group											
15 Mining	4.5	6.0	0.9	2.9	5.1	3.8	5.4	6.4	5.1	7.9	4.9
Minor group											
100 Bituminous coal	10.5	23.5	9.0	8.1	9.0	3.6	5.2	7.7	5.4	4.5	8.2
101 Gas and oil wells	5.0	10.9	1.1	-1.1	-1.8	1.3	2.0	3.9	3.0	5.8	2.9
102 Stone quarrying	13.2	12.9	5.9	11.0	13.2	12.2	14.5	14.3	15.7	10.8	12.6
103 Clay, sand and gravel	9.3	10.0	8.1	14.1	13.2	11.9	16.9	18.4	18.1	12.5	13.8
104 Metals	1.4	1.3	-2.3	0.6	3.1	2.5	4.7	4.9	3.9	8.5	3.0
105 Miscellaneous mining	16.8	16.9	13.0	17.6	20.8	14.2	10.9	14.6	10.0	7.9	13.8

¹Ten-year aggregate. ²In this calculation, major group 15 contains data for only 77 corporations instead of 88, minor group 101 being entirely omitted (see following note).

³Sales figures for minor group 101 contains only 8 of the 11 corporations belonging to this group, because of lack of data for the other three corporations, therefore no percentages have been worked.

[333]

[334]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

TABLE 58 (continued)

MINING GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES

(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL

	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Major group					
15 Mining	3.9	5.3	6.2	5.1	7.5
Minor group					
100 Bituminous coal	3.8	5.2	7.5	5.4	4.5
101 Gas and oil wells	1.3	2.2	4.0	3.1	5.7
102 Stone quarrying	11.7	14.0	13.4	14.3	9.8
103 Clay, sand and gravel	11.6	16.7	18.2	17.6	11.8
104 Metals	2.9	4.7	4.9	4.1	7.9
105 Miscellaneous mining	11.6	9.4	12.8	9.1	7.4

TABLE	58	(continue	d)
	~~		- /

(E) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 15: MINING

		ACCU-								
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATE)	MULATED		MULATED		MULATED
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-								
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CESSIVE								
TALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES								
	19	919	19	20	19	21	19.	22	19	23
Under zero	8.0	8.0	5.7	5.7	17.0	17.0	9.1	9.1	9.1	9.1
Zero to 4	11.4	19.4	11.4	17.1	21.6	38.6	14.8	23.9	11.4	20.5
5 to 9	18.2	37.6	9.1	26.2	21.6	60.2	22.7	46.6	18.2	38.7
10 to 14	20.4	58.0	15.9	42.1	12.5	72.7	8.0	54.6	21.6	60.3
15 to 19	10.2	68.2	15.9	58.0	10.2	82.9	18.2	72.8	12.5	72.8
20 to 24	5.7	73.9	9.1	67.1	9.1	92.0	8.0	80.8	6.8	79.6
25 to 29	9.1	83.0	3.4	70.5	2.3	94.3	5.7	86.5	5.7	85.3
30 and over	17.0	100.0	29.5	100.0	5.7	100.0	13.5	100.0	14.7	100.0

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 15: MINING

	1	924	1	925	19	26	19	27	19	28	
Under zero	6.8	6.8	6.8	6.8	5.7	5.7	11.4	11.4	3.4	3.4	
Zero to 4	18.2	25.0	13.6	20.4	14.8	20.5	13.6	25.0	22.7	26.1	<u>မ</u>
5 to 9	27.3	52.3	22.7	43.1	21.6	42.1	22.7	47.7	21.6	47.7	<u>с</u>

INDLE JO (COMMMENT	T.	ABLE	58 (continued)	
--------------------	----	------	------	------------	--

٠

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 15: MINING

		ACCU-								
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED)	MULATED		MULATED		MULATED
PROFIT	PERCENT-	BY SUC-								
to total	ACE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	ACE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE
CAPITAL	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLA39E3	EACH CLASS	CLASSES
	19.	24	19	25	19	26	19	27	19	28
10 to 14	19.3	71.6	21.6	64.7	18.2	60.3	15.9	63.6	21.6	69.3
15 to 19	13.6	85.2	13.6	78.3	13.6	73.9	15.9	79.5	18.2	87.5
20 to 24	9.1	94.3	10.2	88.5	10.2	84.1	8.0	87.5	6.8	94.3
25 to 29	4.6	98.9	2.3	90.8	10.2	94.3	6.8	94.3	4.6	98.9
30 and over	1.1	100.0	9.2	100.0	5.7	100.0	5.7	100.0	1.1	100.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[336]

CHAPTER 26

FINANCE AND ITS MINOR GROUPS

1. THE FINANCE GROUP AS A WHOLE

THE industrial division, Finance, may be regarded as one major group in the terminology which we have been employing. Included in it are all financial activities, such as commercial banking, trust companies, with the important exception of life insurance companies. The Finance group therefore differs from other divisions and major groups which have been considered in preceding chapters. In Textiles, or in Retail Trade, for example, *all* textile manufacturing activities or *all* retail trading activities were represented, whereas in Finance no life insurance activity whatever is included. Other forms of insurance, however, such as casualty or fire, appear in the Miscellaneous Finance category.

The 346 identical Financial corporations for which we have continuous data from 1919 through 1928 possessed an aggregate capitalization of over a billion dollars in 1919 and almost three billion dollars in 1928. No measure of the total volume of business which they carry on is as readily available as in the case of Manufacturing or Trading groups, where sales figures afford an accurate index of operating volume. However, a provisional index of the amount of activity is to be had in the figures for total gross income. This may be defined as the sum of three categories: (1) gross profit from sales or turnover (or services billed as would be sales in a manufacturing or trading business); (2) gross profits from other operations; (3) such other gross or net items of income as are not included in the first two categories (that is, all non-operating income), with the exception of interest receipts upon tax-exempt securities. Because of the varied character of the services provided by different financial groups, for example, a brokerage house as compared with a savings

[337]

bank. the absolute significance of this gross income figure is not so consistent a concept as is the sales figure in the case of manufacturing or trading enterprises. Assuming that there has been no very great change in accounting practices in the one financial field or the other during the period under examination, however, year-to-year comparisons of the amount of gross income-or in the percentages of net to gross-are not necessarily invalidated because of the varying significance of the term as between different types of financial enterprise. With these qualifications in mind, it may be stated that the total gross income of the 346 corporations of the Finance group in 1919 was somewhat over half a billion dollars, as compared with the investment figure of something over a billion above cited, while in 1928 the gross income was a little over one billion dollars as compared with an investment of approximately three billion. So much for the character of the major group and the absolute magnitudes of the sample involved.¹

Upon gross income, net earnings run between about 25 and 32 per cent a year, except in 1921 when the rate fell to 20 per cent. Chart 59 shows these rates plotted upon both natural and semi-logarithmic (ratio) scales. Since the year-to-year fluctuations occur about a much higher absolute level than was the case with the data for the return upon sales in Manufacturing and Trading groups which we considered in previous chapters, the ratio scale serves some purposes of analysis better than does the simpler diagram.

Upon investment, the return is much lower, running around 10 or 11 per cent in all years since 1923. The rates for all ten years are plotted in Chart 59, again upon both types of scale.

Total gross income, net income, and investment all show general and rather steady growth over the period. Gross income fell off by about only 3 per cent between 1920 and 1921 and by 6 per cent from 1921 to 1922. Net income, however, declined by about 30 per cent between 1920 and 1921.

Between 1922 and the end of the period, gross income grew from 661 million to over a billion dollars; investment, from about one and one-half to three billion; net income from 200 to 300 million.

It is to be noted that the rate of return upon investment showed no general upswing during the last few years of the period. This is interesting in view of the widespread impression that the financial

¹ For the discussion of the relative magnitude of the sample, see Ch. 43.

[338]

CHART 59 IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES, 1919-28









[339]



community enjoyed rampant prosperity during the few years which terminated in 1929. It is, however, to be remarked that investment banking and brokerage houses proper constitute but a small proportion of the aggregate of the major group, Finance, and the exceptional earnings which they enjoyed in such a year as 1928 does not therefore appreciably affect the general average figures for the group.

2. FINANCIAL MINOR GROUPS

The Finance group may be divided into five minor groups: Savings Banks, Commercial Banks, National Banks, Trust Companies, and Miscellaneous Finance (that is, all other finance excluding life insurance). The number of corporations in each and their average size are given in Table 59.

3. EARNINGS OF INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS: FINANCE

The 346 corporations of the Finance group earned an average return of 15 per cent upon their investment in 1919. About two-

[340]

[341]

•



[342]

fifths, however, earned more than the average figure. The highest fourth earned over 20 per cent; the lowest fourth, under 8 per cent.

In 1920, the general average rate was 13 per cent. Approximately half of the corporations earned more, and the other half less, than this amount. The highest quarter earned over 18 per cent; the lowest quarter, under 8 per cent.

The average return in 1921 was cut to 8 per cent. About 70 per cent of the companies, however, earned more than this amount. Half earned over 10 per cent; and the upper quarter, over 14 per cent. The lowest quarter earned under 7 per cent. Only 3 per cent had deficits.

In 1922 the average return was 12 per cent. Just half of the companies earned more than this amount and half less. The upper quarter, however, earned over 18 per cent and the lower quarter, under 8 per cent.

From 1922 to 1928 the proportion of companies found in the higher brackets greatly declined. Chart 60 shows the year-to-year course of this distribution by broad earnings classes. Eighteen per cent of the corporations earned in excess of 20 per cent in 1922; but in 1928 only 6 per cent did so. Conversely, in 1922, 35 per cent earned under 10 per cent; whereas in 1928, 48 per cent did so. The detailed figures are given in the tables. It is again to be emphasized that in all years an almost negligible portion of these Finance corporations suffered deficits, the figure even in 1921 being less than 3 per cent of the total.

TABLE 59

FINANCE GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

		NUMBER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER (millions of a	CORPORATION [®] lollars)
	C	ORPORATIONS	ARITHMETIC MEAN	MEDIAN
Major g	roup			
16	Finance	346	9.30	\$.05
Minor g	roup			
106	Savings banks	18	4.46	
107	Commercial ban	ks 30	12.77	
108	National banks	105	10.21	
109	Trust companies	56	7.60	
111-110	All other finance.	ex-	-	
	cept life insura	ince 137	9.18	
⁴ Total	canital (i.e., inclu	udes funded d	ebt) as of December 3	1. 1928.

			TAI	BLE 59	(cont	inued)						
		<i>1919</i>	1920	1921	<i>1922</i>	1923	1924	<i>1925</i>	<i>1926</i>	1927	1928	1919–28
(B) P	ERCENTAGE NET INCOME	то то	TAL GR	OSS IN	COME							
Major	group											
16	Finance	31.5	27.7	19.9	30.3	26.5	25.7	26.3	25.3	26.9	28,6	26.8
Minor	group											•
106	Savings banks	29.6	27.2	22.9	32.2	26.7	23.8	26.8	26.5	20.8	25.6	25.8
107	Commercial banks	35.1	26.6	23.1	30.7	32.5	26.2	26.0	19.8	29.2	28.1	27.3
108	National banks	39.9	37.1	24.0	37.2	34.4	30.4	28.9	30.6	28.6	30.1	31.8
109	Trust companies	26.6	28.3	16.6	25.7	21.8	26.9	29.1	25.5	29.8	31.0	26.4
111-1	10 All other finance, except											
	life insurance	25.1	18.7	16.4	26.6	21.4	22.4	23.7	22.7	24.5	27.0	23.1
(C) P	ERCENTAGE INCOME TO C	APITAL	IZATIO	N								
Major	group											
16	Finance	15.0	12.6	7.8	12.2	9.8	10,2	10.8	10.4	10.2	10.4	10.7
Minor	group											
474 \$16 W F	· · · · ·							444	***			
106	Savings banks	11.9	14.0	11.4	16.3	13.3	12.0	13.4	13.3	9.8	11.2	12.5
106	Savings banks Commercial banks	11.9 19.5	14.0 15.3	11.4 11.6	16.3 13.5	13.3 14.0	12.0 11.2	13.4	13.3 7.9	9.8 9.9	11.2 8.1	12.5 10.8
106 107 108	Savings banks Commercial banks National banks	11.9 19.5 17.7	14.0 15.3 16.7	11.4 11.6 9.0	16.3 13.5 12.1	13.3 14.0 9.9	12.0 11.2 9.2	13.4 11.6 9.1	13.3 7.9 9.7	9.8 9.9 9.1	11.2 8.1 9.4	12.5 10.8 10.7
106 107 108 109	Savings banks Commercial banks National banks Trust companies	11.9 19.5 17.7 16.0	14.0 15.3 16.7 13.8	11.4 11.6 9.0 7.2	16.3 13.5 12.1 9.3	13.3 14.0 9.9 7.6	12.0 11.2 9.2 9.8	13.4 11.6 9.1 10.6	13.3 7.9 9.7 10.0	9.8 9.9 9.1 11.9	11.2 8.1 9.4 10.9	12.5 10.8 10.7 10.5
106 107 108 109 111-1	Savings banks Commercial banks National banks Trust companies 10 All other finance, except	11.9 19.5 17.7 16.0	14.0 15.3 16.7 13.8	11.4 11.6 9.0 7.2	16.3 13.5 12.1 9.3	13.3 14.0 9.9 7.6	12.0 11.2 9.2 9.8	13.4 11.6 9.1 10.6	13.3 7.9 9.7 10.0	9.8 9.9 9.1 11.9	11.2 8.1 9.4 10.9	12.5 10.8 10.7 10.5

¹ Ten-year aggregate.

[343] .

[344]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

TABLE 59 (continued)

(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL

		1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Major	group					
16	Finance	9.9	10.3	10.1	10.0	9.9
Minor	group					
106	Savings banks	11.9	13.4	13.2	9.8	11.2
107	Commercial banks	11.1	11.5	7.8	9.9	8.1
108	National banks	9.2	9.1	9.7	9.1	9.4
109	Trust companeis	9.8	10.5	10.0	11.9	10.9
111-11	0 All other finance, except life					
	insurance	10. 2	10.8	10.9	10.3	10.4

TABLE	59	(continued)
_		

(E) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 16: FINANCE

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES
	19	19	19	20	19	21	19	22	19	23
Under zero	1.2	1.2	0.9	0.9	2.6	2.6	0.3	0.3	1.2	1.2
Zero to 4	6.1	7.3	8.1	9.0	6.9	9.5	5.5	5.8	4.3	5.5
5 to 9	19.4	26.7	24.0	33.0	39.0	48.5	29.5	35.3	36.4	41.9
10 to 14	32.6	59.3	26.9	59.9	32.6	81.1	31.8	67.1	35.8	77.7
15 to 19	17.3	76.6	22.3	82.2	12.4	93.5	14.7	81.8	11.6	89.3
20 to 24	10.7	87.3	9.2	91.4	4.1	97.6	8.4	90.2	4.3	93.6
25 to 29	3.2	90.5	4.9	96.3	0.9	98.5	2.9	93.1	1.7	95.3
30 and over	9.5	100.0	3.7	100.0	1.5	100.0	6.9	100.0	4.7	100.0

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 16: FINANCE

	1	924	1	925	19	26	19	27	· 19	28	
Under zero	1.2	1.2	0.6	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	1.7	1.7	
Zero to 4	6.6	7.8	6.4	7.0	5.8	6.1	8.1	8.4	7.2	8.9	
5 to 9	41.9	49.7	37.3	44.3	40.7	46.8	38.1	46.5	38.7	47.6	
10 to 14	30.6	80.3	35.0	79.3	37.0	83.8	37.3	83.8	37.3	84.9	
15 to 19	12.4	92.7	10.4	89.7	9.3	93.1	10.7	94.5	9.5	94.4	
20 to 24	3.2	95.9	4.3	94.0	2.0	95.1	3.2	97.7	2.7	97.1	<u> </u>
25 to 29	1.2	97.1	2.3	96.3	2.3	97.4	0.3	98.0	0.9	98.0	4
30 and over	2.9	100.0	3.7	100.0	2.6	100.0	2.0	100.0	2.0	100.0	ц С

FINANCE

BOOK III EARNINGS OF SMALL CORPORATIONS

CHAPTER 27

INTRODUCTION

LIKE several chapters of Book II, the succeeding chapters of Book III present detailed information on the earnings rates of corporations engaged in various branches of Manufacture and Trade. But unlike those of Book II, the present chapters contain data for no series of identical corporations, that is, the sample does not contain exactly the same companies from year to year. Furthermore, the non-identical corporations about to be discussed are small enterprises compared with those belonging to the series already analyzed. In 1928 the average (arithmetic mean) size of the corporations in All Manufacture for the large corporations to be presented, the average size of capital is only \$171,000.¹ About nine-tenths of the corporations with net incomes in the large corporations series have incomes of over \$50,000, whereas nearly 90 per cent of those in the small corporations series have incomes under \$50,000.

These smaller corporations are termed 'non-identical' not because there is no repetition whatever of the same companies from year to year, but because the extent of such repetition is uncertain. The samples in the several Manufacturing minor groups vary considerably in size from year to year. In a very few instances there are less than 20 corporations in a minor group in any one year; in other instances there are as many as 100. Most of the minor groups, in most years, contain between 25 and 50 companies each; but in any 'The median figure for total capital in 1928 for the large corporations is \$1,972,222, while for the small corporations, it is probably under \$200,000. The mean and median capitals in each major group, for the small corporations of this Book, are given in the tables at the close of each chapter. Corresponding data for the large corporations series have already been presented in the tables at the ends of the several chapters of Book II.

[349]

one group the number of companies might, for example, be 30 in one year and 40 or 45 in another.

Since no small corporations series for either Mining or Finance are available, our analysis is limited to the Manufacture and Trade divisions.

A second important distinction between the data of the present chapters and those of Book II is that these samples of non-identical corporations contain only companies with net incomes; that is to say, these small corporations, while varying in their rates of earnings, include in no year any enterprises that suffered deficits. The data therefore do not show average rates of earnings for 'small corporations in general' but only for 'small corporations that earn profits'.

When comparisons are sought, in any minor group, between the arithmetic mean figures for these small corporations and the larger corporations of the preceding series, it is thus to be borne in mind that the arithmetic average earnings rates of the minor groups include only corporations with net incomes in one case and corporations with both net incomes and negative incomes in the other case. For the years 1922–29, however, the inclusion of some corporations with negative incomes in the large corporations series is not, in most instances, at all serious because of the relatively slight number and extent of such deficits. It will be recalled that in the large corporations with deficits between 1922 and 1928 amounted to little more than 3 per cent in any one year.²

In the several major groups, data for median earnings are available —or more precisely, the rate of net income earned by the median corporation in the major group. These medians are used in preference to general averages (arithmetic means) in the analysis of major groups; and whenever major group figures for the small corporations are compared—in charts or discussion—with those for the large corporations, the data for the latter are recast so as to exclude corporations with deficits from that series.⁸ The median figures, as well as the complete frequency distributions of the earnings of individual

² In most years the figure was less than this; in only one year, 1928, was it as high as 3.7 per cent.

³This can be done in the computation of the medians, by major groups, but not in that of arithmetic means by minor groups. Frequency distributions for the earnings rates of individual corporations by minor groups are available for neither sample. corporations, for the two series are therefore directly comparable.⁴ The general plan of the chapters is the same as that of Book II, save that no chapters for Mining or Finance are included. It is not, however, possible to present detailed data for as many minor groups as in the case of the large corporations series of Book II because in some minor groups the corporations were too few either to afford significant samples or to conceal the identity of the individual corporations. In either case the group is not shown separately, but the corporations that belonged to it nevertheless are carried in the major group data.

But a further distinction now needs to be drawn between the data of the several major groups and those of the minor groups contained in this Book. In Book II the large corporations constituting each minor group, when aggregated, directly made up the respective major groups, that is, the total of any set of figures for the minor groups gave the major group figure. In Book III, however, this is not always necessarily so. In some sets of minor groups it has been found possible to provide a more complete coverage, and frequently a better series of minor group samples, by showing, for certain minor groups, data from samples that were originally drawn independently of the major groups under which they fall. In other words, any one minor group here is to be regarded as a sample in itself-some more adequate than others, but all of them together not comprising a typical major group sample.⁵ The various frequency distributions of earnings rates for the several major groups, however, are constructed in the same manner as those of Book II, that is, are samples containing as well rounded a representation of the various minor groups as in the earlier cases.

The description of the component activities of each minor group, for example, such statements as "the Bakery group includes such products as bread, ice cream cones, pie and cakes", are omitted in these chapters. The general descriptions of all minor groups correspond with those given under the same headings in the various chapters of Book II, and since the captions are given in the same

⁴For qualifications concerning the character of the two sets of samples in other respects, however, see Ch. 43.

⁵ That is to say, both to obtain better minor group samples and to avoid burying as many minor groups under 'Miscellaneous' as would otherwise have been necessary, resort has been had to separate 'sub-code' samples of the sort explained more fully in Ch. 44, sec. 2. [352]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

order here as there, the previously presented statements may readily be consulted when desired.

The use of terms is in general the same as in Book II, and the reader who has not already done so is asked to read the introductory chapter of that Book.

No absolute data upon sales, investment and net income are presented in Book III, because the corporations are non-identical and the samples vary too greatly in size from year to year. The reader who wishes to investigate the character of the samples more closely may, however, find all of the absolute data in the Source-Book.

CHAPTER 28

MANUFACTURE AND ITS MAJOR GROUPS

1. ALL MANUFACTURE: EARNINGS ON SALES

THE small manufacturing corporations sample contains approximately 1,500 corporations in each year of the period 1919–28.¹ As remarked in the preceding chapter, not all of the corporations contained in the series are identical from year to year, nor are any companies with deficits included.

The percentage of net income to sales earned by these small Manufacturing corporations is shown in Chart 61. The rate is quite stable, and during the last half of the period varies only between 5.5 and 5.7 per cent. It is, however, to be remarked that this is just a general average rate and that many of the groups contributing to it show quite different figures.

With these percentages for the average return on sales received by these small Manufacturing corporations are plotted in Chart 61 the earnings on sales volume for the large Manufacturing corporations series discussed in preceding chapters. These data are shown only from 1922 on because in all years they contain figures for a few corporations with deficits. The proportion of such corporations is almost negligible between 1922 and 1928; but this is not so in 1921, hence the exclusion of figures for the first few years.

It is to be observed that the return on sales for the large corporations series runs very much higher than that for the small corporations, being roughly 8 to 10 per cent in nearly all years as compared with 5.5 to 7 per cent for the small companies. The inclusion, in the

¹ The exact number in each year is: 1919, 1,562; 1920, 1,487, 1921, 1,539; 1922, 1,440; 1923, 1,545; 1924, 1,560; 1925, 1,461; 1926, 1,468; 1927, 1,665; 1928, 1,421.

[353]

large corporations series, of some companies with deficits accentuates this difference, for otherwise the large corporations series figures would be somewhat higher.

This discrepancy between the figures for the two series in terms of their return on sales is not, however, characteristic of the two sets of figures in terms of the return upon investment. Full treatment of

CHART 61

PERCENTAGE NET INCOME TO SALES ALL MANUFACTURE



this return is reserved for a later section; but it may here be noted that, whether general arithmetic mean figures or medians of the sort to be presented later are taken, the large corporations series shows no markedly higher return upon investment than does the small corporations series. The great difference in the rates of return on sales that exists is therefore to be attributed to a very much higher average turnover of capital on the part of the smaller corporations. The annual capital turnover figures² for the years 1924–28 for the two series are given below.

Years	Large corporations	Small corporations
1925	1.1	1.9
1926	1.1	2.0
1927	1.0	1.9
1928	1.0	2.0

³Total capital divided into sales as explained in Ch. 4. The figures used here are for all the companies in the large corporations series, i.e., those with deficits as well as those with net incomes.

2. SURVEY OF MANUFACTURING GROUPS: EARNINGS ON SALES

We may now divide All Manufacture into 11 major groups just as has been done in previous chapters and examine the net return upon sales in each group as shown in Table 60. The treatment of the return upon investment is reserved for a later section since the character of the data makes it desirable to employ a different type of analysis.

a. Foods

The return on sales runs between 3 and 4 per cent in all years. In six of the ten years it stands somewhat lower than in the case of the large corporations series.

b. Textiles

Earnings on sales run between 4 and 7 per cent during the first half of the period and between 4 and 5 per cent during the last half. In all years the return is substantially lower than for the large corporations series.

c. Leather

The return on sales runs from 4 to 6 per cent during the first half of the period and between 4 and 5 per cent during the last half. It stands well below the level of the large corporations series.

d. Rubber

The return on sales rises from about 5 per cent in 1919 to 6 per cent in 1922. During the last half of the period it also shows a general increase, rising from 4 per cent in 1924 to 8 per cent in 1928. For reasons given previously, no comparison with the large corporations series is attempted in this group.

e. Lumber

The return on sales fluctuates between 6 and 8 per cent in most years. It stands consistently below that for the large corporations series, but does not exhibit the generally falling trend of the latter between 1923 and 1928.
[356]

f. Paper

The return on sales fluctuates from 5 to 8 per cent, standing at about 5 or 6 per cent in most years. It is below that for the large corporations series in nine years.

g. Printing

Earnings upon sales vary only between 9 and 11 per cent from 1919 through 1926; but in 1927 and 1928, stand at 8 and 7 per cent respectively. In all years these ratios are far below those for the large corporations series.

h. Chemicals

The return on sales runs between 6 and 9 per cent over the period. It stands at a lower level than that for the large corporations series, but shows far less fluctuation.

i. Stone, Clay and Glass

Earnings upon sales fluctuate between 7 and 11 per cent during the first half of the period but stand at 9 per cent throughout the last half, except in 1928 when they fall to 7 per cent. In all years the figure is much lower than that for the large corporations series.

j. Metals

The return on sales varies between 6 and 8 per cent throughout the period. It is consistently lower than that for the large corporations series.

k. Special Manufacturing Industries

The return on sales fluctuates between 6 and 8 per cent. In all years it is below the level for the large corporations series.

3. ALL MANUFACTURE: EARNINGS ON INVESTMENT

In analyzing the return upon investment received by the small corporations series as a whole we may make use both of the general average (arithmetic mean) figures and the median returns derived from the frequency distributions for the earnings of individual corporations presented in a later section. In both, these data may be compared directly with those for the large corporations series for the entire period, it here being possible to exclude in each year those large corporations which did not earn net incomes.

The arithmetic mean return upon investment for the small corporations series is shown in Chart 62. Comparable data for the large



corporations series are also shown in Chart 62, from 1922 on. It will be noted that from 1924 to 1928 the large corporations series evidences greater fluctuation in the rate of earnings than does the small corporations series, although the two figures are never very far apart. It is of interest to observe that in the aggregate the business recession of 1927 was felt to an appreciable extent by the large corporations but not at all by the small corporations, that is, so far as general average figures for the rate of earnings upon investment go.⁸

We have, however, available for comparison with these data the earnings rates of the median corporations in the case of each series, the data for the large corporations series again being computed for the companies with net incomes only. These figures are shown in Chart 63. The median return upon investment for the small corporations fell from about 20 per cent in 1919 to 13 per cent in 1921. It recovered to 16 per cent in 1922 but declined to 13 per cent by 1924.

*This is not, however, true of the median rates of return, as will appear in a moment.

CHART 63



During 1924 and 1928 it varied only between about 13 and 14 per cent. In the case of the large corporations series the median return showed a far greater drop between 1919 and 1921, falling from 28 to 12 per cent. It then increased to 18 per cent in 1922 but declined to 13.5 per cent in 1924. During the five years from 1923 to 1928 the median return for the large corporations followed very closely that for the small corporations, the 1928 figure being 12.1 per cent for the one series and 13.4 per cent for the other.

In both series a substantial difference between the arithmetic mean and the median figures prevails during the first half of the period, the medians being markedly higher in every year. But these discrepancies are narrowed after 1923. During the last part of the period the difference between the two figures is not significant in the large corporations series; but for the small corporations the medians are somewhat greater than the means.

4. SURVEY OF THE MAJOR MANUFACTURING GROUPS: EARNINGS ON INVESTMENT

Our analysis of the return upon investment for the small corporations in the Food group as well as in the other major groups which are treated in this section can best be undertaken, as already explained, in terms of the median corporation's earnings rate instead of the group's arithmetic mean return which we customarily have had in mind in speaking of 'the general average'. In referring to the large corporations series for comparison, medians are also used, these being made directly comparable with those for the small corporations series by calculating them for the large corporations with net incomes only.

a. Foods

The return on investment in the Food group declines from 19 per cent in 1919 to 15 per cent in 1921. It varies between 14 and 16 per cent in the years 1922–25 and then falls to about 13 per cent for the remainder of the period. These rates roughly coincide with those for the large corporations series except in 1919 and 1922, when those for the latter stand substantially higher.

b. Textiles

Earnings upon investment in the Textile group decline from 22 per cent in 1919 to 15 per cent in 1920. Between 1920 and 1923 they fluctuate closely about 15 per cent. During the last half of the period earnings fluctuate about a somewhat lower level, varying from 12 to 14 per cent. The return for the large corporations series stands higher in some years and lower in others, and evidences both greater fluctuation and a sharper general decline over the period.

c. Leather

In this group, the return on investment declines from 22 per cent in 1919 to 13 per cent in 1920; then fluctuates between 10 and 17 per cent during the remainder of the period. In several years it stands lower, in others higher, than that for the large corporations series, but during the last three years of the period the two practically coincide.

d. Rubber

The return on investment in this group declines from 25 per cent in 1919 to 10 per cent in 1920. It recovers slightly in 1921 and then falls to 8 per cent in 1922. It rises to 16 per cent in 1923 and then fluctuates widely from this level during the remainder of the period, standing at 10 per cent in 1927 and 21 per cent in 1928. The figures are not greatly different from those for the large corporations series, save in 1922 when the return is much lower, and in 1928 when it is far higher. Again the reader is to be reminded that in both the small corporations and the large corporations series, the Rubber group sample consists of a small number of companies.

e. Lumber

The return on investment declines from about 20 per cent in 1919 and 1920 to 13 per cent in 1921; then recovers to 18 per cent in 1923. Between 1923 and 1928, however, it shows a general decline, falling from 18 to 13 per cent. In most years the curve follows that for the large corporations series quite closely.

f. Paper

Earnings on investment in this group fall from 24 per cent in 1920 to 13 per cent in 1921; then oscillate between 9 and 16 per cent for the remainder of the period. Broadly speaking, the rates of return are not greatly different from those for the large corporations series, but less fluctuation is shown during the first part of the period and more during the last part.

g. Printing

In this group earnings on investment decline from 25 per cent in 1920 to 17 per cent in 1921 and 16 per cent in 1922. Between 1922 and the end of the period they run from 13 to 16 per cent. In most years these rates stand somewhat lower than those for the large corporations series.

h. Chemicals

Earnings on investment in this group decline from 19 per cent in 1919 to 13 per cent in 1921. They then recover to 16 per cent in 1922 and fluctuate between 13 and 16 per cent for the remainder of the period. During the first half of the period these rates are below for three years and above for two years those for the large corporations series, but during the last half the two nearly coincide.

i. Stone, Clay and Glass

In this group the return upon investment declines from 18 per cent in 1919 to 12 per cent in 1921, then recovers to 16 per cent

[360]

in 1923. From 1923 to 1928, it shows a gradual decline, falling to 12 per cent by the end of the period. In most years the return is below that for the large corporations series, although in 1928 scarcely any difference prevails.

j. Metals

In this group the return on investment declines from 17 per cent in 1919 to 11 per cent in 1921; then recovers to 16 per cent by 1923. During the last half of the period, it fluctuates between 12 and 14 per cent. In all years other than 1919 and 1920, these rates are virtually identical with those for the large corporations series.

k. Special Manufacturing Industries

The return on investment in this group declines from 21 per cent in 1919 to 14 per cent in 1921. It then rises to 19 per cent in 1922 and declines to 14 per cent in 1923. During the last half of the period it fluctuates between 12 and 16 per cent. These rates of return are sometimes somewhat above, and sometimes somewhat below, those for the large corporations series.

5. ALL MANUFACTURE: EARNINGS OF INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS

The small manufacturing corporations series may now be analyzed in terms of the earnings of its individual corporations upon their invested capitals in the several years from 1919 through 1928. The term 'general average' will here be used in the sense of the arithmetic mean return, with which the range of individual corporations' earnings may be compared.

In 1919, the general average rate of return was 17 per cent. About three-fifths of all the corporations, however, earned more than this amount; about half earned over 20 per cent; the upper quarter earned over 31 per cent, while the lowest quarter earned under 12 per cent.

In 1920, the average return was 14 per cent. Nearly two-thirds of the companies, however, earned more than this amount; the highest quarter earned over 29 per cent and the lowest quarter, under 10 per cent.

The year 1921 saw the general average reduced to 11 per cent, but again nearly two-thirds of the corporations earned in excess of

CHART 64



MANUFACTURE: SMALL CORPORATIONS [363]

this rate. The highest quarter earned over 23 per cent; the lowest quarter, under 8 per cent.

Between 1922 and 1928 a general decline took place in the number of corporations occupying the higher earnings rates brackets. In 1922, more than a third earned over 20 per cent upon their invested capitals, but in 1928 less than a third did so. Conversely, in 1922, just under a third earned under 10 per cent, whereas in 1928, just over a third did so. The year-to-year course of the distribution by broad classes of earnings rates is shown in Chart 64, while detailed data are given in the tables.

TABLE 60

MANUFACTURING AND ITS MAJOR GROUPS, SMALL NON-IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

			N	UMBER	OF CORPO	RATIONS	-				AVERAGE CAPITAL PER CORPORATION ¹ (thousands of dollars)
	<i>1919</i>	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	19 28 /	RITHMETIC MEAN
All manufacturing	1562	1487	1539	1440	1545	1560	1461	1468	1665	1421	171
Major group											
1 Foods	275	222	305	231	264	293	255	258	293	220	168
2 Textiles	247	161	232	200	215	199	20 9	206	247	191	194
3 Leather	57	36	45	42	48	39	44	40	49	40	154
4 Rubber	12	8	11	11	9	15	13	11	12	11	139
5 Lumber	206	207	194	189	204	205	169	112	177	146	175
6 Paper	44	49	41	42	48	- 54	36	48	57	44	161
7 Printing and publishing	144	184	203	162	152	154	145	146	179	153	126
8 Chemicals	77	76	61	84	86	108	91	84	109	110	213
9 Stone, clay and glass	70	83	94	76	84	88	81	91	83	67	214
10 Metals	357	387	271	332	359	336	352	372	373	369	166
11 Special manufacturing											
industries	73	74	82	71	76	69	66	100	86	70	153

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[364]

	1919	1920	1921	1922	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	<i>1927</i>	1928	M
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SALES											A
All manufacturing	6.7	5.6	5.8	6.5	6.3	5.7	5.6	5.6	5.7	5.5	ũ
Major group											ㅋ
1 Foods	4.0	3.1	3.8	3.7	4.1	3.8	3.6	3.7	4.2	3.6	⋗
2 Textiles	6.8	4.4	5.4	5.6	5.1	4.3	4.3	3.6	4.1	3.7	0
3 Leather	6.3	3.7	5.5	5.5	4.0	3.7	5.3	3.5	4.5	4.0	H
4 Rubber	4.5	2.1	4.6	5.6	3.9	3.5	5.9	6.8	6.0	8.3	d
5 Lumber	9.0	7.7	6.8	7.9	7.6	6.6	6.2	5.9	6.0	6.8	×
6 Paper	7.3	6.9	6.2	7.0	8.1	5.0	5.4	6.8	5.9	6.6	E
7 Printing and publishing	10.9	10.8	9.1	11.1	9.1	9.6	9.9	10.9	8.0	6.8	••
8 Chemicals	6.2	6.1	6.4	7.3	5.7	7.6	7.1	8.6	8.2	6.5	S
9 Stone, clay and glass	10.2	8.2	7.4	9.9	11.0	8.7	8.6	8.7	8.6	7.4	2
10 Metals	7.6	6.3	7.8	7.7	8.1	7.7	6.5	7.1	7.0	7.5	2
11 Special manufacturing industries	7.9	6.8	7.3	7.7	6.7	5.7	7.8	6.1	7.7	5.5	Г
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITAL All manufacturing	LIZATION 16.8	ז 13.7	10.9	13.5	13.6	11.1	11.4	11.7	11,6	11.5	COR
Major group										-	~
1 Foods	16.7	10.8	11.5	12.0	12.8	12.3	14.3	12.5	10.4	10.7	. .
2 Textiles	20.0	12.5	12.6	14.5	12.8	11.0	11.5	9.6	11.7	9.8	- 5
3 Leather	23.3	9.9	12.7	17.0	11.0	14.4	18.9	9.2	14.6	11.0	4
4 Rubber	10.4	10.0	8.2	7.4	8.4	10.0	15.0	16.2	12.3	12.7	ંનું
5 Lumber	18.2	17.0	11.0	13.8	16.8	10.4	7.9	10.7	11.0	11.6	<u> </u>
6 Paper	19.0	23.2	11.3	16.6	13.3	6.4	8.4	13.0	10.1	14.9	Z
7 Printing and publishing	22.1	21.1	16.2	16.3	14.4	14.2	13.2	14.4	13.2	12.3	\$
8 Chemicals	18.4	13.9	11.4	13.0	11.8	15.6	13.3	14.0	13.3	9.8	
9 Stone, clay and glass	9.0	13.3	7.4	13.9	15.0	10.1	12.7	13.2	11.6	8.8	
10 Metals	14.8	12.7	10.6	12.4	14.4	10.8	10.8	11.3	11.4	13.5	6
11 Special manufacturing industries	16.8	13.1	6.1	15.8	10.7	10.3	13.1	11.7	13.4	12.7	2

- · ·

	Тав	le 60	(contin	ued)							5
	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	<i>192</i> 7	1928	66]
(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL	CAPITAL										
All manufacturing						10.8	11.1	11.4	11.3	11.3	
Major group											,
1 Foods						12.1	13.9	12.0	10.1	10.5	
2 Textiles						10.7	11.3	9.6	11.6	9.8	
3 Leather						13.9	18.7	9.0	14.5	10.9	
4 Rubber						9.7	14.7	16.2	12.0	12.4	
5 Lumber						10.3	7.8	10.5	10.8	11.3	
6 Paper						6.4	8.2	12.5	9.7	14.1	
7 Printing and publishing						14.0	12.6	13.9	12.8	11.9	
8 Chemicals						15.3	13.2	13.8	12.0	9.7	
9 Stone, clay and glass						9.9	11.9	12.6	11.3	8.6	
10 Metals						10.6	10.6	11.2	11.1	13.1	_
11 Special manufacturing industries						10.1	12.7	11.5	13.0	12.3	Ŋ
(E) MEDIAN PERCENTAGE INCOME 1	O CAPITA	LIZATI	0N ¹								DUS
All manufacturing	196	20.1	125	160	16 6	124	14.1	12.0	10.0	12.4	Ĥ
Maior aroup	17.0	40.1	221.7	13.3	1313	13.4	14.1	14.0	14.0	13.4	7
1 Foods	19.1	16.6	15.0	16.8	14.5	125	100	124	12 1	12.0	I >
2 Textiles	22.1	14.7	14.7	16.9	14.5	17 8	14.1	107	13.1	14.7	í
3 Leather	22.1	11 7	157	160	17.3	14.3	14.1	14.7	11./	12.0	
4 Rubber	24.1	10.0	12 6	76	14.3	13.7	10.0	10.0	13.0	11.9	Þ
5 Lumber	107	20.7	12.3	160	10.3	12.3	13.9	10.0	10.0	20.8	×
6 Paner	10.7	40.7	13.4	13.9	10.4	13./	13,1	13.1	10.0	13.3	0
7 Printing and publishing	19.3	24.4 26 A	17.3	10.4	12.0	9,2	14.2	14.0	11.8	15.0	벽
8 Chemicale	47.3 197	40.4	17.5	10.2	15.9	14.1	14.0	15.0	14.0	12.9	-
	10./	17.1	12.7	10.4	14.4	12.8	15.8	13.1	15.4	13.7	Ś

10 Metais 17.2 16.0 11.4 14.8 13.4 13.4 13.3 12.3 13.3 11 Special manufacturing industries 21.0 19.3 14.0 18.8 14.4 13.0 13.3 12.2 16.1 15.3 11 Special manufacturing industries 21.0 19.3 14.0 18.8 14.4 13.0 13.3 12.2 16.1 15.3 12 of 1924-28, total profit to total capital. (F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. ALL MANUFACTURING ACCU- ACCU- ACCU- ACCU- MULATED PERCENT- BY SUC- PERCENT- BY SUC- <td< th=""><th>9 Stone, cla</th><th>ay and glas</th><th>18</th><th></th><th>17.7 16</th><th>.3 12.4</th><th>15.0</th><th>6.0 13.9</th><th>14.9</th><th>13.6 12.</th><th>5 11.6</th></td<>	9 Stone, cla	ay and glas	18		17.7 16	.3 12.4	15.0	6.0 13.9	14.9	13.6 12.	5 11.6
¹ For 1924-28, total profit to total capital. (F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. ALL MANUFACTURING ACCU- ACCU- ACCU- ACCU- ACCU- ACCU- MULATED TO CAPI- ACE IN CESSIVE AGE	11 Special n	nanufacturi	ng indust	ries	17.2 10 21.0 19	.0 11.4	18.8 1	4.4 13.0	13.4	13.0 12.	5 15.8 1 15.3
(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. ALL MANUFACTURING ACCU- ACCU- ACCU- ACCU- ACCU- MULATED MU	¹ For 1924-	28, total pr	ofit to tot	al capital.							
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	F) FREQUE CORPOR	INCY DISTR	RIBUTION 919-23.	S OF PERCE All Manu	INTAGES	OF TOTAL Ing	NET INC	OME TO CA	PITALIZA	TION, INI	VIDUAL
TO CAPI ACE INCESSIVEACE INCESSIVEIn Signal InIn Signal In <th>ERCENTAGE</th> <th>PERCENT-</th> <th>ACCU- MULATED BY SUC-</th>	ERCENTAGE	PERCENT-	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC-	PERCENT-	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC-	PERCENT-	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC-	PERCENT-	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC-	PERCENT-	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC-
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	TO CAPI-	- AGE IN EACH CLASS	CESSIVE CLASSES	AGE IN EACH CLASS	CESSIVE CLASSES	AGE IN EACH CLASS	CESSIVE	AGE IN EACH CLASS	CESSIVE CLASSES	AGE IN EACH CLAS	CESSIVE S CLASSES
Zero to44.74.78.08.012.412.410.210.29.89.85 to911.716.416.724.720.733.121.231.419.329.110 to1418.935.316.341.020.753.816.347.719.648.715 to1915.851.114.855.815.569.314.962.614.262.920 to2412.263.311.667.49.678.99.672.211.274.125 to299.973.28.375.76.185.06.378.56.680.730 and over26.8100.024.3100.015.0100.021.5100.019.3100.0		19	919	19	20	19	21	19	22	1	923
5 to 9 11.7 16.4 16.7 24.7 20.7 33.1 21.2 31.4 19.3 29.1 10 to 14 18.9 35.3 16.3 41.0 20.7 53.8 16.3 47.7 19.6 48.7 15 to 19 15.8 51.1 14.8 55.8 15.5 69.3 14.9 62.6 14.2 62.9 20 to 24 12.2 63.3 11.6 67.4 9.6 78.9 9.6 72.2 11.2 74.1 25 to 29 9.9 73.2 8.3 75.7 6.1 85.0 6.3 78.5 6.6 80.7 10 and over 26.8 100.0 24.3 100.0 15.0 100.0 21.5 100.0 19.3 100.0	Cero to 4	4.7	4.7	8.0	8.0	12.4	12.4	10.2	10.2	9.8	9.8
10 to 14 18.9 35.3 16.3 41.0 20.7 53.8 16.3 47.7 19.6 48.7 15 to 19 15.8 51.1 14.8 55.8 15.5 69.3 14.9 62.6 14.2 62.9 20 to 24 12.2 63.3 11.6 67.4 9.6 78.9 9.6 72.2 11.2 74.1 25 to 29 9.9 73.2 8.3 75.7 6.1 85.0 6.3 78.5 6.6 80.7 10 and over 26.8 100.0 24.3 100.0 15.0 100.0 21.5 100.0 19.3 100.0	5 to 9	11.7	16.4	16.7	24.7	20.7	33.1	21.2	31.4	19.3	29.1
15 to 19 15.8 51.1 14.8 55.8 15.5 69.3 14.9 62.6 14.2 62.9 20 to 24 12.2 63.3 11.6 67.4 9.6 78.9 9.6 72.2 11.2 74.1 25 to 29 9.9 73.2 8.3 75.7 6.1 85.0 6.3 78.5 6.6 80.7 10 and over 26.8 100.0 24.3 100.0 15.0 100.0 21.5 100.0 19.3 100.0	10 to 14	18.9	35.3	16.3	41.0	20.7	53.8	16.3	47.7	19.6	48.7
20 to 24 12.2 63.3 11.6 67.4 9.6 78.9 9.6 72.2 11.2 74.1 25 to 29 9.9 73.2 8.3 75.7 6.1 85.0 6.3 78.5 6.6 80.7 30 and over 26.8 100.0 24.3 100.0 15.0 100.0 21.5 100.0 19.3 100.0	15 to 19	15.8	51.1	14.8	55.8	15.5	69.3	14.9	62.6	14.2	62.9
25 to 29 9.9 73.2 8.3 75.7 6.1 85.0 6.3 78.5 6.6 80.7 10 and over 26.8 100.0 24.3 100.0 15.0 100.0 21.5 100.0 19.3 100.0	20 to 24	12.2	63.3	11.6	67.4	9.6	78.9	9.6	72.2	11.2	74.1
io and over 26.8 100.0 24.3 100.0 15.0 100.0 21.5 100.0 19.3 100.0	25 to 29	9.9	73.2	8.3	75.7	6.1	85.0	6.3	78.5	6.6	80.7
	30 and over	26.8	100.0	24.3	100.0	15.0	100.0	21.5	100.0	19.3	100.0

[367]

.

TABLE 60 (continued)

(C) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1924-28. ALL MANUFACTURING

PERCENTACE		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATED
PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	EY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES
	19	24	19	25	19	26	19	27	19	28
Zero to 4	12.6	12.6	9.9	9.9	12.7	12.7	14.2	14.2	13.6	13.6
5 to 9	22.6	35.2	23.1	33.0	24.2	36.9	24.3	38.5	21.6	35.2
10 to 14	22.7	57.9	20.0	53.0	20.3	57.2	21.4	59.9	22.2	57.4
15 to 19	13.4	71.3	16.4	69.4	14.6	71.8	12.9	72.8	14.5	71.9
20 to 24	10.1	81.4	11.1	80.5	10.0	81.8	8.9	81.7	9.5	81.4
25 to 29	5.2	86.6	6.4	86.9	4.9	86.7	5.5	87.2	4.6	86.0
30 and over	13.4	100.0	13.1	100.0	13.3	100.0	12.8	100.0	14.0	100.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[368]

		TABL	е 61								M
MANUFACTURING	G AND I CORF ompanies	TS MA PORATI s with	JOR GI IONS S net inc	ROUPS, ERIES o <i>mes o</i>	, LARG nly)	E IDE	NTICA	L			ANUF
	191 9	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	်
(A) MEDIAN PERCENTAGE INCOME T	O CAPITA	LIZATI	ION ¹								TI
All manufacturing Major group	27.6	19.8	11.8	17.5	17.1	13.5	13.8	14.0	12.2	12.1	JRE
1 Foods	26.4	14.4	16.8	20.0	15.0	16.0	13.8	13.8	13.3	12.6	••
2 Textiles	37.0	17.3	14.0	19.3	16.9	11.4	12.3	10.3	12.2	9.0	0
3 Leather	34.0	11.6	11.1	16.2	12.9	11.3	11.5	11.3	13.3	11.1	3
4 Rubber	26.0	11.6	12.0	16.6	13.3	13.0	16.4	13.3	13.9	10.7	≥
5 Lumber	27.5	26.3	10.0	20.8	19.5	14.3	13.8	14.4	9.7	10.5	H
6 Paper	25.0	37.9	11.5	16.1	13.6	12.0	12.2	11.7	12.1	10.3	H
7 Printing and publishing	24.5	32.8	19.4	21.9	18.1	17.1	16.9	16.1	13.2	14.3	0
8 Chemicals	24.6	16.8	11.0	18.9	19.2	14.0	14.4	14.8	13.8	14.0	ö
9 Stone, clay and glass	18.0	18.8	11.5	16.5	21.3	16.3	16.5	15.2	11.3	12.1	7
10 Metals	26.9	20.0	8.7	14.7	17.3	12.4	13.9	13.9	11.9	13.5	Ā
11 Special manufacturing industries	26.9	18.3	12.8	16.8	17.9	12.6	14.2	14.2	12.8	12.6	OR.

¹ For 1924-28, total profit to total capital.

.

•

TABLE 61 (continued)

(B) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. ALL MANUFACTURING

PERCENTAGE		ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATEE)	ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATED
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-								
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CESSIVE								
TALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES						
	19	19	19	20	19	21	192	22	19	23
Zero to 4	2.2	2.2	7.6	7.6	19.7	19.7	9.5	9.5	6.4	6.4
5 to 9	6.6	8.8	14.2	21.8	23.4	43.1	15.9	25.4	15.4	2148
10 to 14	11.0	19.8	14.9	36.7	18.8	61.9	17.1	42.5	19.7	41.5
15 to 19	12.7	32.5	13.8	50.5	13.0	74.9	14.6	57.1	20.4	61.9
20 to 24	12.5	45.0	10.5	61.0	8.0	82.9	11.2	68.3	13.5	75.4
25 to 29	9.5	54.5	9.0	70.0	5.3	88.2	9.5	77.8	9.5	84.9
30 and over	45.5	100.0	30.0	100.0	11.8	100.0	22.2	100.0	15.1	100.0
(C) FREQU	ENCY DISTR	UBUTION	S OF PERCE	NTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT T	O TOTAL CA	PITAL. I	NDIVIDUAI	CORPO-
RATION	vs, 1924—2	8. ALL M	ANUFACTU	IRING				,		
	19.	24	192	25	19	26	19.	27	19	28
Zero to 4	10.3	10.3	8.4	8.4	10.8	10.8	12.7	12.7	13.5	13.5
5 to 9	24.0	34.3	21.8	30.2	22.7	33.5	26.5	39.2	26.4	39.9
10 to 14	22.7	57.0	26.3	56.5	24.4	57.9	24.2	63.4	23.9	63.8
15 to 19	16.9	73.9	14.9	71.4	15.6	73.5	16.0	79.4	15.1	78.9

11.3

5.4

9.8

84.8

90.2

100.0

8.4

4.4

7.8

87.8

92.2

100.0

9.0

4.8

7.3

87.9

92.7

100.0

20 to 24

25 to 29

30 and over

84.2

90.0

100.0

10.3

5.8

10.0

10.5

7.1

11.0

81.9

89.0

100.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[370]

CHAPTER 29

FOODS AND FOOD PRODUCTS

THE major group Food Products is made up of eleven minor groups. Each in turn consists of smaller, but in the main rather closely related, sets of Manufacturing activity. For several, however, no small corporations samples are available. Descriptions of the groups appeared in Ch. 10.

[371]

TABLE 62

FOODS GROUPS, SMALL NON-IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE

•••				N	UMBER (OF CORPO	RATIONS				P	NVERAGE CAPITAL BR CORPORATION ¹ (thousands of dollars)
		1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928 AI	RITHMETIC MEAN
Major	r group											
1	Foods	275	222	305	231	264	293	255	258	293	220	168
Minor	r group											
1	Bakery products	84	86	87	90	94	88	80	92	96	95	166
2	Flour	90	98	95	92	94	88	79	93	92	86	225
3	Confectionery	21	16	17	8	20	21	15	14	15	15	316
5	Dairying	82	92	93	82	91	86	84	92	93	89	96
7	Meat packing	48	45	43	39	45	44	45	48	46	46	219
11-8	Miscellaneous food								-			
	products	56	40	67	53	49	64	50	79	73	53	145

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[372]

		1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	FO
(B)	PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SALES											ŏ
Majo	r group							• /			• /	D
1	Foods	4.0	3.1	3.8	3.7	4.1	3.8	3.0	3.7	4.2	3.0	
Mino	r group											s
1	Bakery products	4.0	3.5	4.7	4.8	4.9	4.8	4.9	5.4	5.7	2.2	Z
2	Flour	3.1	1.6	2.4	2.9	2.3	2.7	2.0	2.1	2.4	2.2	>
3	Confectionery	6.7	4.6	4.5	5.6	5.0	5.5	4.5	1.9	6.1	4.3	Η
5	Dairying	1.7	1.7	1.9	2.4	2.6	2.5	2.5	2.4	2.6	2.3	F
7	Meat packing	1.6	1.8	2.9	2.1	2.5	2.4	2.5	1.7	2.6	1.5	•
11-8	Miscellaneous food products	3.8	4.8	4.5	6.1	4.5	6.1	9.1	6.8	5.5	4.7	CO
(c)	PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITA	LIZATION	r									RPO
Majo	r group											2
1	Foods	16.7	10.8	11.5	12.0	12.8	12.3	14.3	12.5	10.4	10.7	>
Minor	r group											H
1	Bakery products	13.3	16.0	11.0	12.4	15.3	12.8	12.3	13.7	14.7	20.8	5
2	Flour	21.5	9.4	9.2	10.8	9.2	10.7	9.8	8.9	8.9	10.3	2
3	Confectionery	32.7	15.7	11.1	11.8	19.0	16.2	12.1	7.5	16.7	8.1	5
5	Dairying	17.9	13.3	14.9	15.2	14.8	15.3	14.6	13.7	12.8	11.7	
7	Meat packing	13.0	12.9	11.4	9.6	13.1	11.9	11.3	9.2	12.2	10.0	
11-8	Miscellaneous food products	12.5	9.9	17. 2	14.7	13.5	13.7	17.9	12.1	12.3	11.6	
(D) 1	PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL C	APITAL										
Міпо	group .											
1	Food						12.1	13.9	12.0	10.1	10.5	_
Major	r group											сu)
1	Bakery products						12.5	11.9	13.3	14.1	13.8	2
2	Flour						10.6	9.7	8.9	8.8	10.1	Ľ

TABLE 62 (continued)

.

(D)	PERCENTAGE PROF	TT TO TOTAL C	APITAL									
Major	· group		1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	192 7	1938
3	Confectionery							16.7	11.9	7.5	16.4	8.0
5	Dairying							15.0	14.0	13.2	12.4	11.4
7	Meat packing							11.6	11.1	9.1	11.8	9.7
11-8	Miscellaneous food	products						13.2	17.0	11.3	11.9	11.5

(B) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 1: FOODS

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- Age in Each Class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- ACE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVB CLASSES
	19	19	19	20	19	21	19	22	19	23
Zero to 4	3.6	3.6	11.7	11.7	10.2	10.2	8.7	8.7	9.8	9.8
5 to 9	12.0	15.6	18.9	30.6	18.7	28.9	25.5	34.2	21.6	31.4
10 to 14	22.2	37.8	14.0	44.6	21.3	50.2	13.4	47.6	20.8	52.2
15 to 19	14.9	52.7	17.1	61.7	15.7	65.9	15.6	63.2	12.9	65.1
20 to 24	9.1	61.8	11.7	73.4	8.5	74.4	10.4	73.6	12.5	77.6
25 to 29	10.2	72.0	4.5	77.9	5.9	80.3	6.1	79.7	11.0	88.6
30 and over	28.0	100.0	22.1	100.0	19.7	100.0	20.3	100.0	11.4	100.0

AL PROFITS

[374]

		1	924	1	925	1	926	19	927	1	928	t
Zero	to 4	9.6	9.6	9.4	9.4	11.6	11.6	13.0	13.0	16.8	16.8	
5 1	to 9	22.2	31.8	20.4	29.8	28.3	39.9	23.9	26.9	21.4	38.2	G
10	to 14	25.9	57.7	17.3	47.1	21.4	61.3	21.2	58.1	20.4	58.6	2
15 1	o 19	12.6	70.3	18.8	65.9	14.3	75.6	14.0	72.1	12.7	71.3	þ
20 1	o 24	13.0	83.3	13.7	79.6	8.9	84.5	9.2	81.3	12.3	83.6	Ŀ
25 1	o 29	6.1	89.4	7.5	87.1	2.7	87.2	5.1	86.4	5.0	88.6	- t
30 an	1 over	10.6	100.0	12.9	100.0	12.8	100.0	13.6	100.0	11.4	100.0	

MALL CORPORATIONS

TABLE 63

.

DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, FOODS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES (companies with net incomes only)

(A) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 1: FOODS

		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-	
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATEE	•	MULATED		MULATED		MULATED	
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	ČESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	
TALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	
	19.	19	19	20	19	21	19	22	19	23	
Zero to 4	1.9	1.9	13.7	13.7	10.1	10.1	6.8	6.8	9.0	9.0	
5 to 9	5.3	7.2	20.0	33.7	15.3	25.4	14.5	21.3	16.5	25.5	
10 to 14	15.9	23.1	18.4	52.1	19.6	45.0	16.9	38.2	24.5	50.0	E E
15 to 19	12.6	35.7	13.7	65.8	14.8	59.8	12.1	50.3	16.0	66.0	- X
20 to 24	10.6	46.3	8.4	74.2	10.6	70.4	15.0	65.3	12.3	78.3	2
25 to 29	13.5	59.8	7.4	81.6	6.3	76.7	11.6	76.9	9.0	87.3	ŝ
30 and over	40.2	100.0	18.4	100.0	23.3	100.0	23.1	100.0	12.7	100.0	T
											RI
(B) FREQU	ENCY DIST	IBUTION	S OF PERCI	INTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT TO	O TOTAL CA	APITAL, I	NDIVIDUAI	CORPO-	ΑL
RATION	NS, 1924–2	8. MAJO	R GROUP I	: FOODS							н
	19.	24	19	25	19	26	19.	27	19	28	RC
Zero to 4	5.2	5.2	10.1	10.1	8.6	8.6	9.7	9.7	10.9	10.9	- 5
5 to 9	15.8	21.0	21.7	31.8	20.7	29.3	25.7	35.4	25.6	36.5	<u> </u>
10 to 14	24.9	45.9	24.2	56.0	27.4	56.7	21.8	57.2	26.5	63.0	ΤS

[376]

15 to 19	20.6	66.5	17.4	73.4	13.0	69.7	18.5	75.7	17.1	80.1	P.
20 to 24	16.3	82.8	12.6	86.0	19.7	89.4	14.1	89.8	10.4	90.5	
25 to 29	6.7	89.5	5.8	91.8	3.4	92.8	3.9	93.7	3.8	94.3	<u></u>
30 and over	10.5	160.0	8.2	100.0	7.2	100.0	6.3	100.0	5.7	100.0	5

CHAPTER 30

.

.

TEXTILES AND TEXTILE PRODUCTS

THE major group Textiles is composed of ten minor groups. For several, however, no small corporations are available. Descriptions of the groups appeared in Ch. 11.

•

[378]

				Tab	11E 64		•						T H
TEV:	- -	DOND	5 5 M A		N.IDPI	TICAL	MAN	JTTFAC'	TURIN	G			×
I EA I		ROUFS	, amn.		MONE (5 Mina	vorne		0			Ĥ
			COR	PUKAI	TONS 3	ERIES		•					-
()													
(A) SIZE AND CHARACT	ER OF S	AMPLE											5
										Α'	VERAGE C	APITAL	S
										PE	R CORPOR	ATION	
											(Ingusa	nas	5
			N	UMBERC	OF CORPO	CATIONS					oj aom	ars j	<u> </u>
	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928 AR	THMETI	C MBAN	2
Major group													- 5
2 Textiles	247	161	232	200	215	199 *	209	206	247	191	194	+	5
Minor aroup													0
18 Men's clothing	20	13	20	18	29.	18	7	15	30	21	224	ŀ	0
19 Knit goods	89	82	93	84	96	88	85	91	97	89	213)	R
20 Miscellaneous clothing	59	45	49	41	66	58	43	66	71	54	98	\$	Å
21 Miscellaneous textiles	73	40	62	56	53	59	55	51	68	71	216	i	S S
¹ Total capital (i.e., incl (B) PERCENTAGE INCOM	udës fu 1E TO S	nded de SALES	bt) as c	of Dece	mber 31	, 1928.							ATIONS
			1919	1920	1921	<i>1922</i>	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
Major group													
2 Textiles			6.8	4.4	5.4	5.6	5.1	4.3	4.3	3.6	4.1	3.7	
Minor group													
18 Men's clothing			6.1	3.4	4.3	3.9	3.1	2.2	4.8	1.9	3.0	2.9	
<u> </u>													
19 Knit goods			6.1	3.7	5.0	5.4	4.8	4.5	5.2	5.4	4.5	5.6	ີພ
19 Knit goods 20 Miscellaneous clothing	:		6.1 6.0	3.7 2.9	5.0 3.5	5.4 4.3	4.8 3.8	4.5 4.2	5.2 4.5	5.4 3.7	4.5 3.2	5.6 3.8	[379

TABLE 64 (continued)

•

(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION

	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Major group										
2 Textiles	20.0	12.5	12.6	14.5	12.8	11.0	11.5	9.6	11.7	9.8
Minor group										
18 Men's clothing	24.8	14.4	11.9	13.3	8.9	6.2	14.5	8.6	9.8	8.9
19 Knit goods	15.0	11.0	12.9	14.0	11.0	10.3	12.1	13.6	10.5	13.7
20 Miscellaneous clothing	30.3	13.7	12.9	18.8	14.6	16.9	18.6	15.7	12.1	17.7
21 Miscellaneous textiles	20.9	14.4	14.3	16.3	16.5	12.6	11.1	10.9	14.5	8.1

(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL

•

Major group 2 Textiles Minor group	10.7	11.3	9.6	11.6	9.8	''
18 Men's clothing	6.2	14.3	8.6	9.7	8.9	Ð
19 Knit goods	10.0	11.8	13.4	10.4	13.5	¢
20 Miscellaneous clothing	16.7	18.6	15.7	12.1	17.7	്പ
21 Miscellaneous textiles	11.9	11.0	10.8	14.2	8.0	2
						2
						>

-

PROFITS

19. 3.6 7.7 17.0	19 3.6 11.3	19. 9.9	20	19.	21	10	22	4/	
3.6 7.7 17.0	3.6 11.3	9.9					66	15	23
7.7 17.0	11.3		9.9	13.4	13.4	10.5	10.5	7.9	7.9
17.0	A + - 2	19.3	29.2	18.5	31.9	18.5	19.0	21.4	29.3
	28.3	22.4	51.6	19.4	51,3	18.5	37.5	22.8	52.1
15.4	43.7	14.9	66.5	14.2	65.5	16.0	53.5	13.0	65.1
15.0	58.7	8.1	74.6	10.4	75.9	7.5	61.0	13.5	78.6
10.5	69.2	9.3	83.9	7.3	83.2	5.0	66.0	2.8	81.4
BNCY DIST	RIBUTION	S OF PERCI	INTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT T	O TOTAL CA	APITAL, II	NDIVIDUAI	L CORPO-
10	.o. MAJU 14	K GROUP A	5, IEAH 95	10.53	27	10	37		
14.1	24 14.1	0 4 19	6J 06	17.0	170	14.6	6/ 14.6	12 6	12.6
24 1	38.2	26.8	36.4	21.8	38.8	27.1	41.7	24.1	37.7
	61.8	16.7	53.1	20.9	59.7	23.9	65.6	24.1	61.8
23.6	UI. 0								
23.6 14.6	76.4	18.7	71.8	12.6	72.3	12.1	77.7	14.7	76 5
23.6 14.6 10.1	76.4 86.5	18.7 10.0	71.8 81.8	12.6 9.7	72.3 82.0	12.1 6.9	77.7 84.6	14.7 6.8	76.5 83.3
23.6 14.6 10.1 5.0	76.4 86.5 91.5	18.7 10.0 6.2	71.8 81.8 88.0	12.6 9.7 4.4	72.3 82.0 86.4	12.1 6.9 5.3	77.7 84.6 89.9	14.7 6.8 5.2	76.5 83.3 88.5
	10.5 30.8 BNCY DISTINS, 1924-2 19 14.1 24.1	19,0 98.7 10.5 69.2 30.8 100.0 VENCY DISTRIBUTION NS, 1924-28. MAJO 1924 14.1 14.1 24.1 38.2	19.0 36.7 5.1 10.5 69.2 9.3 30.8 100.0 16.1 VENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCHNS, 1924–28. MAJOR GROUP 2 1924 19 14.1 14.1 9.6 24.1 38.2 26.8	13.5 50.7 5.7 5.1 77.5 10.5 69.2 9.3 83.9 30.8 100.0 16.1 100.0 VENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES NS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 2: TEXT 1924 1925 14.1 14.1 9.6 9.6 24.1 38.2 26.8 36.4	13.0 30.7 5.1 74.0 10.4 10.5 69.2 9.3 83.9 7.3 30.8 100.0 16.1 100.0 16.8 VENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 2: TEXTILES 1924 1925 19 14.1 9.6 9.6 17.0 24.1 38.2 26.8 36.4 21.8	13.0 36.7 6.1 74.0 10.7 75.7 10.5 69.2 9.3 83.9 7.3 83.2 30.8 100.0 16.1 100.0 16.8 100.0 VENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT T NS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 2: TEXTILES 1924 1924 1925 1926 14.1 14.1 9.6 9.6 17.0 24.1 38.2 26.8 36.4 21.8 38.8	13.0 36.7 5.1 74.6 10.4 73.5 7.3 10.5 69.2 9.3 83.9 7.3 83.2 5.0 30.8 100.0 16.1 100.0 16.8 100.0 24.0 VENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CANS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 2: TEXTILES 1924 1925 1926 19.1 14.1 14.1 9.6 9.6 17.0 14.6 24.1 38.2 26.8 36.4 21.8 38.8 27.1	13.0 36.7 6.1 74.6 10.7 75.7 75.3 61.0 10.5 69.2 9.3 83.9 7.3 83.2 5.0 66.0 30.8 100.0 16.1 100.0 16.8 100.0 24.0 100.0 VENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INNS, 1924–28. MAJOR GROUP 2: TEXTILES 1924 1925 1926 1927 14.1 14.1 9.6 9.6 17.0 14.6 14.6 24.1 38.2 26.8 36.4 21.8 38.8 27.1 41.7	13.0 36.7 6.1 74.0 10.4 75.5 7.3 61.0 13.5 10.5 69.2 9.3 83.9 7.3 83.2 5.0 66.0 2.8 30.8 100.0 16.1 100.0 16.8 100.0 24.0 100.0 18.6 VENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL NS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 2: TEXTILES 1924 1925 1926 1927 15 14.1 14.1 9.6 9.6 17.0 14.6 14.6 13.6 24.1 38.2 26.8 36.4 21.8 38.8 27.1 41.7 24.1

TABLE 65

.

DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, TEXTILES, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(companies with net incomes only)

(A) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 2: TEXTILES

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATEE BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY 9UC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	
	19.	19	19	20	19	21	19.	22	19	23	
Zero to 4	0.7	0.7	12.6	12.6	11.8	11.8	4.6	4.6	2.1	2.1	
5 to 9	0.7	1.4	21.1	33.7	22.1	33.9	14.8	19.4	14.5	16.6	<u> </u>
10 to 14	3.8	5.2	10.2	43.9	20.2	54.1	16.5	35.9	23.0	39.6	z
15 to 19	8.7	13.9	13.0	56.9	12.6	66.7	16.8	52.7	27.6	67.2	Ū
20 to 24	12.1	26.0	9.0	65.9	11.8	78.5	11.9	64.6	13.8	81.0	ď
25 to 29	10.0	36.0	9.3	75.2	6.9	85,4	11.2	75.8	8.1	89.1	Ś
30 and over	64.0	100.0	24.8	100.0	14.6	100.0	24.2	100.0	10.9	100.0	TRI
(B) FREQUE RATION	ENCY DISTR NS, 1924–2	UBUTION 8. MAJO	S OF PERCE R GROUP 2	NTAGES 2: TEXTI	OF TOTAL	PROFIT T	O TOTAL CA	APITAL, I	NDIVIDUAI	CORPO-	ALP
	<u>19</u> 2	24	192	25	19	26	192	27	19	28	RO
Zero to 4	13.5	13.5	9.5	9.5	19.4	19.4	11.6	11.6	26.0	26.0	F
5 to 9	30.4	43.9	28.5	38.0	29.3	48.7	26.3	38.9	30.0	56.0	11
10 to 14	22.2	66.1	26.4	64.4	21.2	69.9	27.4	65.3	22.7	78.7	ŝ

[382]

15 to 19	18.8	84.9	13.4	77.8	12.1	82.0	20.7	86.0	11.8	90.5
20 to 24	5.3	90.2	9.9	87.7	7.3	89.3	7.7	93.7	3.7	94.2
25 to 29	3.8	94.0	6.0	93.7	4.8	94.1	3.2	96.9	4.0	98.2
30 and over	6.0	100.0	6.3	100.0	5.9	100.0	3.1	100.0	1.8	100.0

TEXTILES: SMALL CORPORATIONS

[383]

CHAPTER 31

LEATHER AND LEATHER PRODUCTS

THE major group Leather is made up of but two minor groups, Boots and Shoes, and Leather and Miscellaneous Leather Products. In the latter only can the data for small corporations be shown separately. A description of the groups appeared in Ch. 12.

[384]

				Tae	le 66								LE
LEAT	CHER . N	AND L Manui	EATHE ACTUI	R PRO	DUCTS ORPOF	5, SMA Ration	LL NO NS SER	N-IDEN IES	NTICA	L			ATH
(A) SIZE AND CHARACT	TER OF	' SAMP	LB N	UMBER O	F CORPO	RATIONS				A1 PE	VERAGE C R CORPOR (thousa of dolla	APITAL ATION Inds (rs)	IER: SM.
	<i>1919</i>	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	<i>1925</i>	1926	1927	1928 ar	ITHMETI	C MEAN	ΑL
Major group 3 Leather Minor group	57	36	45	42	48	39	44	40	49	40	154	ŀ	L C
23 Miscellaneous leather products	29	23	21	22	31	6	19	17	23	21	144	Ļ	מאכ
¹ Total capital (i.e., inclu	udes fui	nded de	bt) as o	of Decer	mber 31	, 1928.							OR
			1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	Ат
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOM	IE TO S	SALES											10
Major group 3 Leather			6.3	3.7	5.5	5.5	4.0	3.7	5.3	3.5	4.5	4.0	NS
Minor group 23 Miscellaneous leather			7.9	3.6	6.3	6.4	5.1	1.5	5.5	3.9	5.1	5.7	
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOM	1B TO C	CAPITA	LIZATIO	N									
Major group 3 Leather			23.3	9.9	12.7	17.0	11.0	14.4	18.9	9.2	14.6	11.0	[3]
23 Miscellaneous leather			22.6	9.1	11.0	13.3	9.6	3.6	18.9	7.9	13.9	13.3	[58

TABLE 66 (continued)						[3]
(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	[98
Major group 3 Leather Misses annua	13.9	18.7	9.0	14.5	10. 9	
23 Miscellaneous leather	3.8	18.4	7,8	13.8	13.2	

.

(E) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 3: LEATHER AND LEATHER PRODUCTS

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN Each CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES						
	19.	19	197	20	19	21	19	22	19	23
Zero to 4	0.0	0.0	2.8	2.8	17.8	17.8	7.2	7.2	12.5	12.5
5 to 9	3.5	3.5	30.5	33.3	17.8	35.6	19.0	26.2	27.1	39.6
10 to 14	14.0	17.5	25.0	58.3	11.1	46.7	16.7	42.9	20.8	60.4
15 to 19	24.6	42.1	5.6	63.9	24.4	71.1	19.0	61.9	14.6	75.0
20 to 24	19.3	61.4	2.8	66.7	15.5	86.6	2.4	64.3	2.1	77.1
25 to 29	1.8	62.2	11.1	77.8	6.7	93.3	14.3	78.6	4.1	81.2
30 and over	36.8	100.0	22.2	100.0	6.7	100.0	21.4	100.0	18.8	100.0

L PROFITS

		ACCU-								
PERCENTAGE		MULATED								
PROFIT TO TOTAL	ACR IN	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	CESSIVE	ACR IN	BY SUC-	AGR IN	BY SUC-	ACR IN	BY SUC-
CAPITAL	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES
	192	24	19	25	19	26	19	27	19	28
Zero to 4	10.3	10.3	6.8	6.8	20.0	20.0	8.1	8.1	12.5	12,5
5 to 9	25.6	35.9	20.5	27.3	30.0	50.0	28.6	36.7	30.0	42.5
10 to 14	17.9	53.8	13.6	40.9	20.0	70.0	18.4	55.1	20.0	62.5
15 to 19	23.1	76.9	27.3	68.2	7.5	77.5	18.4	73.5	20.0	82.5
20 to 24	7.7	84.6	6.8	75.0	2.5	80.0	14.3	87.8	5.0	87.5
25 to 29	5.1	89.7	6.8	81.8	5.0	85.0	4.1	91.9	2.5	90.0
0 and over	10.3	100.0	18.2	100.0	15.0	100.0	8.1	100.0	10.0	100.0

RATIONS

[387]

TABLE 67

.

DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, LEATHER, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(companies with net incomes only)

(A) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 3: LEATHER AND LEATHER PRODUCTS

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- ACE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	
	1919		1920		19	1921		22	19		
Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19	0.0 1.8 1.8 13.0	0.0 1.8 3.6 16.6	15.0 27.5 22.5 10.0	15.0 42.5 65.0 75.0	25.0 20.0 22.5 15.0	25.0 45.0 67.5 82.5	5.8 25.0 13.5 23.1	5.8 30.8 44.3 67.4	10.2 26.5 24.5 16.3	10.2 36.7 61.2 77.5	IND
20 to 24 25 to 29 30 and over	14.8 5.6 63.0	31.4 37.0 100.0	5.0 10.0 10.0	80.0 90.0 100.0	7.5 0.0 10.0	90.0 90.0 100.0	7.7 11.5 13.4	75.1 86.6 100.0	14.3 0.0 8.2	91.8 91.8 100.0	USTRI
(B) FREQUE RATION	ENCY DISTR JS, 1924-2	IBUTION: B. Major	S OF PERC R GROUP 3	ENTAGES 3: Leath	OF TOTAL Er and L	PROFIT T EATHER F	0 TOTAL CA PRODUCTS	APITAL, I 27	NDIVIDUAL	. CORPO-	AL PR
	1764		1763		13	1920		1721		20	Ö
Zero to 4 5 to · 9 10 to 14	13.2 28.3 34.0	13.2 41.5 75.5	17.0 26.4 22.6	17.0 43.4 66.0	25.0 17.3 28.8	25.0 42.3 71.1	9.4 20.8 30.2	9.4 30.2 60.4	12.2 30.6 32.7	12.2 42.8 75.5	FITS

15 to 19	11.3	86.8	18.8	84.8	13.5	84.6	24.5	84.9	20.4	95.9
20 to 24	7.5	94.3	5.7	90.5	9.6	94.2	9.4	94.3	4.1	100.0
25 to 29	3.8	98.1	5.7	96.2	3.9	98.1	3.8	98.1	0.0	100.0
30 and over	1.9	100.0	3.8	100.0	1.9	100.0	1.9	100.0	0.0	100.0

.

LEATHER: SMALL CORPORATIONS

[389]

CHAPTER 32

RUBBER AND RUBBER PRODUCTS

THE major group Rubber is not susceptible of division into smaller groups. The corporations included produce both wearing apparel, such as overshoes and raincoats, and mechanical rubber goods, such as tires and garden hose.

[390]

TABLE 68												R		
RUBBER AND RUBBER PRODUCTS, SMALL NON-IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES														
(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SAMPLE AVERAGE CAPITAL PER CORPORATION (thousands of dollars)												R: SMA		
1919	1920	1921	1922	192 3	<u>1924</u>	1925	1926	1927	<i>1928</i> ar	ITHMETI	C MEAN	Ë		
Major group 4 (minor group 24) Rubber and rubber products 12 'Total capital (i.e., includes fun	8 ded del	11 bt) as o	11 f Dece	9 mber 31,	15 , 1928,	13	11	12	11	13	9	CORI		
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SA	ALBS	1919	1920	1921	1922	192 3	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	PORA		
Major group 4 (minor group 24) Rubber and rubber products		4.5	2.1	4.6	.5.6	3.9	3.5	5.9	6.8	6.0	8.3	TION		
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO C.	APITAL	IZATIO	N									6		
Major group 4 (minor group 24) Rubber and rubber products		10.4	10.0	8.2	7.4	8.4	10.0	15.0	16.2	12.3	12.7			
(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TO	TAL CA	PITAL					·							
Major group 4 (minor group 24) Rubber and rubber products							9.7	14.7	16.2	12.0	12.4	391]		
TABLE 68 (continued)

(E) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 4: RUBBER AND RUBBER PRODUCTS

		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED	I.	MULATED		MULATED		MULATED
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE
TALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLAS	CLASSES
	19	19	19	20	19	21	19	22	1	223
Zero to 4	8.3	8.3	12.5	12.5	27.2	27.2	36.4	36.4	11.1	11.1
5 to 9	8.3	16.6	37.5	50.0	18.2	45.4	27.2	63.6	11.1	22.2
10 to 14	16.7	33.3	25.0	75.0	9.1	54.5	0.0	63.6	22.2	44.4
15 to 19	8.3	41.6	12.5	87.5	9.1	63.6	9.1	72.7	22.2	66.6
20 to 24	8.3	49.9	0.0	87.5	9.1	72.7	9.1	81.8	22.2	88.8
25 to 29	16.7	66.6	12.5	100.0	18.2	90.9	0.0	81.8	0.0	88.8
30 and over	33.4	100.0	0.0	100.0	9.1	100.0	18.2	100.0	11.2	100.0
(F) FREQU RATIO	ENCY DIST	RIBUTION	S OF PERCI	ENTAGES BURBER	OF TOTAL	PROFIT T	O TOTAL C.	APITAL, I	NDIVIDUA	L CORPO-

30 and over	33.4	100.0	0.0	100.0	9.1	100.0	18.2	100.0	11.2	100.0
(F) FREQUEN	CY DIST	RIBUTION	S OF PERC	ENTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT TO) TOTAL C	APITAL, II	NDIVIDUA	L CORPO-
RATIONS	, 1924—	28. MAJOR	GROUP 4	: RUBBER	AND RUB	BER PRODI	UCTS			
	i	1924	j	1925	19	26	19	27	1	928
Zero to 4	13.3	13.3	0.0	0.0	18.2	18.2	25.0	25.0	9.1	9.1
5 to 9	13.3	26.6	7.7	7.7	9.1	27.3	25.0	50.0	9.1	18.2
10 to 14	46.7	73.3	53.8	61.5	18.2	45.5	8.3	58.3	27.3	45.5
15 to 19	13.3	86.6	15.4	76.9	36.3	81.8	25.0	83.3	0.0	45.5
20 to 24	0.0	86.6	7.7	84.6	9.1	90.9	0.0	83.3	27.3	72.8
25 to 29	0.0	86.6	0.0	84.6	0.0	90.9	8.3	91.6	0.0	72.8
30 and over	13.4	100.0	15.4	100.4	9.1	100.0	8.4	100.0	27.2	100.0

[392]

(A) FREQU	ENCY DISTR	DISTRI IDENT	BUTIONS FICAL MAN (comp Is of perce	T OF EAR NUFACT banies w INTAGES	ABLE 69 NINGS RA URING CO ith net inco OF TOTAL	TES, RUI RPORAT o <i>mes only</i> NET INC	BBER, LAR IONS SERI)) OME TO CA	GE ES Pitaliza	TION, IND	IVIDUAL	R U B B E R :
CORPO	RATIONS, 19	919-23.	MAJOR GRO	OUP 4:1	RUBBER AN	ID RUBBE	R PRODUCT	S			S
		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-	2
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED		MULATED		MULATED		MULATED	<u>ه</u> ر
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	E H
TO CAPI-	ACE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	ACE IN	CESSIVE	•
TALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	0
a	191	9	192	<i>:</i> 0	194	~	192	2		23	0
Zero to 4	0.0	0.0	25.0	25.0	14.3	14.3	8.3	8.3	8.3	8.3	R
5 to 9	0.0	0.0	20.0	45.0	21.4	35.7	25.0	33.3	16.6	24.9	P
10 to 14	19.2	19.2	15.0	60.0	35.7	71.4	8.3	41.6	37.5	62.4	2
15 to 19	15.4	34.6	20.0	80.0	14.3	85.7	25.0	66.6	25.0	87.4	20
20 to 24	11.6	46.2	10.0	90.0	14.3	100.0	16.7	83.3	4.2	91.6	هر ت
25 to 29	19.2	65.4	10.0	100.0	0.0	100.0	4.2	87.5	4.2	95.8	Ĩ
30 and over	34.6	100.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	100.0	12.5	100.0	4.2	100.0	0
											z
(B) FREQU	ENCY DISTR	IBUTION	S OF PERCE	NTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT TO	O TOTAL CA	PITAL, I	NDIVIDUAI	CORPO-	Ś
RATIO	NS, 1924-28	B. MAJOR	GROUP 4:	RUBBER	AND RUBE	BER PROD	UCTS	•			
	192	4	192	25	19	26	. 192	7	19	28	
Zero to 4	8.3	8.3	3.8	3.8	18.2	18.2	4.8	4.8	20.0	20.0	
5 to 9	29.2	37.5	11.5	15.3	13.6	31.8	19.0	23.8	25.0	45.0	
10 to 14	20.8	58.3	27.0	42.3	27.3	59.1	33.3	\$7.1	35.0	80.0	
15 to 19	33.4	91.7	27.0	69.3	27.3	86.4	19.0	76.1	10.0	90.0	
20 to 24	8.3	100.0	23.1	92.4	4.5	90.9	4.8	80.9	0.0	90.0	
25 to 29	0.0	100.0	3.8	96.2	9.1	100.0	9.5	90.4	5.0	95.0	Š
30 and over	0.0	100.0	3.8	100.0	0.0	100.0	9.6	100.0	5.0	100.0	LΩ

LUMBER AND LUMBER PRODUCTS

THE major group Lumber is made up of 5 minor groups, although no small corporations samples are available for several. Descriptions appeared in Ch. 14.

.

.

.

.

[394]

				Tae	BLE 70								נו
LUM	IBER G	ROUPS	, SMAI COR	LL NON PORAT	N-IDEN 'IONS S	ITICAL SERIES	. MAN	UFACT	URING	3			JMBI
(A) SIZE AND CHARACT	TER OF 1919	SAMPL: 1920	в N 1921	UMBER 0 <i>1922</i>	F CORPO	RATIONS 1924	1925	1926	1927	р Р 1928 а	AVERAGE C PER CORPOR (thousa of doll RITHMETI	APITAL ATION ¹ Inds 775) C MEAN	ER: SMALI
Major group 5 Lumber	206	207	194	189	204	205	169	112	177	146	17	i	Q
Minor group 25 Lumber manufacture 28 Furniture	81 90	90 96	89 96	88 87	87 97	91 87	89 100	93 94	90 95	86 98	201 242	3	ORPC
¹ Total capital (i.e., inclu	ides fun	ided deb	t) as of	Decem	ber 31,	1928.	1022	1024	1025	1024	1027	1078	RATIO
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOM	1E TO S	ALES	1919	1920	1761	1726	1723	1724	1725	1720	1761	1720	N S
Major group 5 Lumber Minor group			9.0	7.7	6.8	7.9	7.6	6.6	6.2	5.9	6.0	6.8	
25 Lumber manufacture 28 Furniture			8.8 10.6	6.7 6.9	5.3 6.2	. 6.5 7.7	7.1 7.3	7.4 6.2	9.0 6.3	4.9 5.5	5.8 5.5	6.1 4.9	_
													395]

	T	ABLE 7	0 (contin	ued)				
	1919	9 192	0 1921	1922 1	923 1924	1925	1926 19	27 1928
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO	CAPITALIZATI	ON						
Major group								
5 Lumber	18.2	2 17.	0 11.0	13.8 1	6.8 10.4	7.9	10.7 11	.0 11.6
Minor group								
25 Lumber manufacture	15.1	1 12.	4 5.7	6.4 1	1.7 10.5	8.5	8.3 10	.1 10.0
28 Furniture	22.0	6 19.	6 10.2	15.3 1	6.6 11.5	13.0	11.4 9	.9 8.4
(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TO	TAL CAPITAL							
Major group 5 Lumber					10.3	7.8	10.5 10	.8 11.3
Minor group					10.4	0 1	9 1 10	
25 Lumber manuracture					10.4	8.1 107	0.1 IU	.0 9.9
					11.3	14.1	11.0 9	./ 0.3
(E) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTION CORPORATIONS, 1919–23.	S OF PERCENT MAJOR GROUT	TAGES (P 5: L)	OF TOTAL Umber	NBT INC	оме то са	PITALIZA	ATION, IN	DIVIDUAL
ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-
PERCENTAGE MULATED	M	ULATED		MULATED		MULATED)	MULATED
INCOME PERCENT- BY SUC-	PERCENT- B	IY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT	- BY SUC-
TALIZATION BACH CLASS CLASSES	BACH CLASS C	LASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLA	SS CLASSES
1919	1920		19	21	19.	22		1923
7	0 4	07	00	0 0	60	4 0	0 2	0 9
Zero to 4 3.9 3.9	8.7	8.7	9.8 27 3	9.8 17 1	6.9 23 8	6.9 20.7	8.3 15.7	8.3 24.0
Zero to 4 3.9 3.9 5 to 9 15.0 18.9 10 to 14 18.0 36.9	8.7 15.0 10.1	8.7 23.7 33.8	9.8 27.3 20.1	9.8 37.1 57.2	6.9 23.8 16.9	6.9 30.7 47.6	8.3 15.7 15.2	8.3 24.0 39.2

20 to 24	12.6	63.6	15.5	53.3	5.7	81.4	8.5	69.8	11.8	66.7
25 to 29	10.7	74.3	6.8	60.1	5.7	87.1	6.9	76.7	8.8	75.5
30 and over	25.7	100.0	29.9	100.0	12.9	100.0	23.3	100.0	24.5	100.0
(F) FREOUT	RNCV DISTR	IRUTION	S OF PERCE	NTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT T		APITAL I	NDIVIDUAI	CORPO-
TY PREQU	TE 1034 3	0 36470		7 713/05	D IOIMA					COMO
RATIO	85, 1924-2	o. MAJU	K GROUP 5	LOWRE	ĸ					
		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED)	MULATED		MULATED		MULATED
PROFIT	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-
TO TOTAL	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE
CAPITAL	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSE5
	192	24	19/	25	19	26	19,	27	19	28
Zero to 4	13.2	13.2	11.2	11.2	14.3	14.3	17.5	17.5	16.4	16.4
5 to 9	18.0	31.2	28.4	39.6	25.9	40.2	29.4	46.9	16.4	32.8
10 to 14	25.4	56.6	16.6	56.2	16.1	56.3	24.9	71.8	26.0	58.8
15 to 19	18.0	74.6	14.8	71.0	17.9	74.2	9.6	81.4	15.8	74.6
20 to 24	8.8	83.4	9.5	80.5	9.8	84.0	6.8	88.2	9.6	84.2
25 to 29	2.9	86.3	8.9	89.4	6.2	90.2	4.5	92.7	5.5	89.7
30 and over	13.7	100.0	10.6	100.0	9.8	100.0	7.3	100.0	10.3	100.0

.

[397]

[398]

DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, LUMBER, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(companies with net incomes only)

(A) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 5: LUMBER

PERCENTAGE INCOMB TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 70	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 70	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 10	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES
	19.	.,	17	20	17	61	19	66	19	23
Zero to 4	1.6	1.6	3.8	3.8	24.5	24.5	3.8	3.8	3.7	3.7
5 to 9	7.4	9.0	5.4	9.2	25.7	50.2	14.0	17.8	10.0	13.7
10 to 14	9.5	18.5	13.5	22.7	20.9	71.1	16.7	34.5	14.7	28.4
15 to 19	13.8	32.3	14.1	36.8	16.0	87.1	12.9	47.4	22.6	51.0
20 to 24	13.2	45.5	10.3	47.1	4.9	92.0	16.7	64.1	17.4	68.4
25 to 29	9.5	55.0	12.4	59.5	3.7	95.7	8.6	72.7	13.7	82.1
30 and over	45.0	100.0	40.5	100.0	4.3	100.0	27.3	100.0	17. 9	100.0
(B) FREQUI RATION	ENCY DISTR IS, 1924-2	IBUTION 8. MAJOR	S OF PERCE GROUP 5:	NTAGES Lumbe	OF TOTAL R	PROFIT T	D TOTAL CA	PITAL, I	NŅIVIDUAL	CORPO-
	192	24	192	25	19	26	192	27	19	28
Zero to 4 5 to 9	9.6 17.6	9.6 27.2	11.8 15.0	11.8 26.8	12.8 24.5	12.8 37.3	17.6 34.3	17.6 51.9	19.1 28.2	19.1 47.3

10 to 14	26.6	53.8	30.5	57.3	26.6	63.9	19.8	71.7	25.5	72.8	1
15 to 19	17.0	70.8	14.4	71.7	11.7	75.6	11.8	83.5	13.3	86.1	
20 to 24	14.3	85.1	9.1	80.8	13.3	88.9	5.9	89.4	8.0	94.1	
25 to 29	4.8	89.9	9.6	90.4	6.9	95.8	5.3	94.7	3.2	97.3	
30 and over	10.1	100.0	9.6	100.0	4.2	100.0	5.3	100.0	2.7	100.0	

LUMBER: SMALL CORPORATIONS

[399]

PAPER AND PAPER PRODUCTS

THE major group Paper and Paper Products is made up of four minor groups. Descriptions appeared in Ch. 15.

[400]

				TAB	ILE 72								ΡA
P	APER GI	ROUPS,	SMAL COR	L NON PORAT	-IDEN' 'IONS	TICAL SERIES	MANU	IFACTI	URING				PER
(A) SIZE AND CHARA	ACTER OI	? SAMI	°LB N	UMBER C	F CORPO	RATIONS				A) Pe	VBRAGE C R CORPOR (thousa of dolla	APITAL ATION Inds ars)	SMAL
	1919	1920	192 <u>1</u>	1922	1923	<u>1924</u>	1925	1926	1927	<i>1928</i> ar	ITHMETI	C MEAN	H
Major group 6 Paper Migor group	44	49	41	42	48	54	36	48	57	44	16	l	COR
30 Blank paper	45	47	46	44	43	41	41	49	48	48	278	ł	Å
31 Cardboard boxes	45	46	47	46	47	45	47	45	49	48	150	5	<u> </u>
32 Stationery	49	45	47	46	46	49	47	47	49	48	224	F	ŝ
¹ Total capital, (i.e., in	cludes fu	nded de	bt) as o	of Decer	nber 31	, 1928.							TIGNS
· · ·			1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
(B) PERCENTAGE INCO	ME TO S	ALES	•										
Major group 6 Paper Minor group			7.3	6.9	6.2	7.0	8.1	5.0	5.4	6.8	5.9	6.6	
30 Blank paper			5.5	4,7	5.8	5.3	5.0	4.0	3.6	4.2	5,4	5.3	
31 Cardboard boxes			8.5	6.4	8,5	8.5	7.0	7.2	6.1	4.4	6.9	5.8	
32 Stationery			5.8	6. 9	4.7	5.6	5.2	5.0	5.4	5.7	5.1	6.5	[401]

				Table	72 (contin	nued)					
			1	919 19	20 1921	1922	923 1924	1925	1926	19 27	1928
(c) PERCE	NTAGE INC	OME TO O	CAPITALIZA	TION							
Major grouj	þ										
6 Paper			:	19.0 2:	3.2 11.3	16.6	13.3 6.4	8.4	13.0	10.1	14.9
Minor grouf	þ										
30 Blank p	aper			10.9 12	2.0 6.2	11.7	8.8 5.9	7.5	7.0	9.6	10.2
31 Cardboa	ard boxes		1	18.5 2	3.6 14.7	13.2	11.4	12.3	7.3	11.7	12.4
32 Statione	гу		:	17.3 2	5.5 8.3	12.0	.0.4 8.9	9.9	11.5	9.6	12.2
(D) PERCE	NTAGE PROI	FIT TO TO	TAL CAPIT.	AL			•				
Major grouj	þ										
6 Paper							6.4	8.2	12.5	9.7	14.1
Minor group	P								4 0		10.0
30 Diank p	aper and hower						5.9	7.4	0.8	9.5	10.0
32 Stationa	aru Doxes						11.3	11.8	11 2	11.4	11.7
JZ STATIONE	i y						8.0	3.7	11.3	7.3	11.0
(E) FREQU	ENCY DISTR	RIBUTION	S OF PERCE	NTAGES	OF TOTAL	NET INC	оме то с	APITALIZ	ATION,	, INDI	VIDUAL
CORPO	RATIONS, 1	919-23.	MAJOR GR	OUP 6:	PAPER						
		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-			ACCU-
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATE	>	MULATED		MULATE	D	3	NÜLATED
INCOME TO CARL	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERC	ENT-	BY SUC-
TALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	RACH CLASS	CLASSES	RACH CLAS	S CLASSES	RACH	CLASS	CLASSES
	10	10	10	20		21	1	022	0	102	22.00000
			-//				-			476	
Zero to 4	9.1	9.1	8.2	8.2	12.2	12.2	9.5	9.5	12	2.5	12.5

10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 29 30 and over	20.5 15.9 6.8 9.1 31.8	36.4 52.3 59.1 68.2 100.0	2.0 14.3 18.4 10.2 36.7	20.4 34.7 53.1 63.3 100.0	24.4 17.1 12.2 4.9 7.3	58.5 75.6 87.8 92.7 100.0	23.8 16.7 11.9 4.8 21.4	45.2 61.9 73.8 78.6 100.0	12.5 18.8 6.2 10.4 14.6	50.0 68.8 75.0 85.4 100.0
(F) FREQUE	NCY DIST	RIBUTION	S OF PERC	ENTAGES (OF TOTAL	PROFIT TO) TOTAL C	APITAL, II	NDIVIDUA	L CORPO-
RATIONS	5, 1924—:	28. MAJOR 024	GROUP 6	PAPER	10	24	1/	17		010
RATIONS	5, 1924—: 19	28. MAJOR 924	GROUP 6	925	19	26	15	27	.1	928
RATIONS Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14	5, 1924—) 19 22.2 33.3 18.5	28. MAJOR 924 22.2 55.5 74.0	GROUP 6 19 5.5 30.6 16.7	5.5 5.5 36.1 53.8	2.1 31.2 20.8	226 2.1 33.3 54.1	10.5 29.8 26.3	27 10.5 40.3 66.6	1 2.3 18.2 29.5	928 2.3 20.5 50.0

đ -) -ON S

[403]

٠

4 -

•

-2 5

eí i

≻

DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, PAPER, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(companies with net incomes only)

(A) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 6: PAPER

PERCENTAGE		ACCU- MULATED		AČCU- MULATEI)	ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATED		ACCU- MULATED
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-								
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CESSIVE								
TALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLA83E8	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES
	19	19	19	20	19	21	19.	22	· 19	23
Zero to 4	2.7	2.7	0.9	0.9	22.7	22.7	9.5	9.5	10,9	10.9
5 to 9	8.2	10.9	1.8	2.7	21.3	44.0	19.0	28.5	22.7	33.6
10 to 14	12.7	23.6	5.5	8.2	22.7	66.7	17.2	45.7	22.7	56.3
15 to 19	10.0	33.6	10.9	19.1	18.7	85.4	21.0	66.7	13.6	69.9
20 to 24	16.4	50.0	10.9	30.0	6.7	92.1	5.7	72.4	11.8	81.7
25 to 29	5.5	55.5	9.1	39.1	1.3	93.4	9.5	82.9	4.6	86.3
30 and over	44.5	100.0	60.9	100.0	6.6	100.0	18.1	100.0	13.7	100.0
(B) FREQU	ENCY DIST	RIBUTION	S OF PERCI	INTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT T	O TOTAL C	APITAL, I	NDIVIDUAL	CORPO-
KATIO	NS, 1824-2	a. MAJUI	K GROUP 0	; рарек						
	19	24	19	25	19	26	19.	27	19	28
Zero to 4	10.0	10.0	11.0	11.0	11.9	11.9	12.7	12.7	12.8	12.8
5 to 9	30.0	40.0	24.8	35.8	30.3	42.2	26.3	39.0	35.8	48.6
10 to 14	25.5	65.5	33.0	68.8	22.9	65.1	25.5	64.5	24.8	73.4

[404]

15 to 19	13.6	79.1 85.5	13.8	82.6 87.2	15.6 9.2	80.7 89.9	18.2 5.5	82.7 88.2	10.1 7.3	83.5 90.8
25 to 29	3.6	89.1	6.4	93.6	3.7	93.6	5.5	93.7	4.6	95.4
30 and over	10.9	100.0	6.4	100.0	6.4	100.0	6.3	100.0	4.6	100.0

-

PAPER: SMALL CORPORATIONS

PRINTING AND PUBLISHING

THE major group Printing and Publishing is made up of four minor groups. Descriptions appeared in Ch. 16.

×

.

[406]

.

PRINT	ING . N	AND PU Manuf/	UBLISH ACTUR	Tab IING C IING C	le 74 Group Corpor	S, SMA Ration	ALL NO NS SER	ON-IDE RIES	NTICA	L		
(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER	R OF S	AMPLE	N	UMBER O	F CORPO	RATIONS				AV Pe	VERAGE C R CORPOR (thousa of dolla	APITAL ATION ¹ Inds ars)
	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928 ar	ITHMETI	C MEAN
Major group 7 Printing and publishing	144	184	203	162	152	154	145	146	. 179	153	120	5
Minor group 34 Newspapers	18	88	80	89	61	64	56	119	54	59	112	,
35 Job printing 37 Miscellaneous printing	93	90	96	88	93	88	85	93	96	95	136	;
and publishing	29	29	26	8	18	12	26	27	31	36	129)
¹ Total capital (i.e., includ	ies fu	nded deb	ot) as o	of Decen	mber 31	, 1928.						
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOM	E TO S	SALES	1919	<i>1920</i>	<i>1921</i>	<i>1922</i>	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Major group			44.5									
7 Printing and publishing Minor group			10.9	10.8	9.1	11.1	9.1	9.6	9.9	10.9	8.0	6.8
34 Newspapers			18.5	17.6	13.3	15.4	11.4	20.0	16.5	11.4	11.6	9.2
36 Job printing			7.5	7.7	5.5	7.6	7.0	7.4	5.7	6.7	7.2	6.8
37 Miscellaneous printing a	ind pu	blishing	9.3	10.5	4.3	6.7	12.6	7.8	6.4	9.2	6.2	7.1

	Тав	Le 74	(contin	nued)					[
	1919	1920	<i>1921</i>	1922	1923 1924	1925	1926 19	27 1928	0
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITAL	IZATION								
Major group									
7 Printing and publishing	22.1	21.1	16.2	16.3	14.4 14.2	13.2	14.4 13	.2 12.3	
Minor group									
34 Newspapers	18.5	22.2	18.4	19.0	16.0 15.3	15.5	13.6 13	.8 15.0	
36 Job printing	16.6	22.9	12.6	15.1	14.6 12.4	11.2	13.9 13	.8 14.5	
37 Miscellaneous printing and publishing	35.0	30.0	13.3	20.0	25.3 20.0	13.6	20.4 16	.4 11.8	
(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL C	APITAL								
Major group									
7 Printing and publishing					14.0	12.6	13.9 12	.8 11.9	
Minor group									
34 Newspapers					15.2	15.2	13.1 13	.0 14.3	-
36 Job printing					12.0	· 10.9	13.6 13	.4 14.3	2
37 Miscellaneous printing and publishing	i				20.0	13.6	19.8 16	.4 11.6	
									<u> </u>
(E) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PE	RCENTA	GES OF	' TOTAL	NET INC	OME TO CA	APITALIZ/	ATION, IN	DIVIDUAL	
CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR	GROUP	7: PR	INTING	AND PU	BLISHING				RI
ACCU-	ACC	: U -		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-	Þ
PERCENTAGE MULATED	MUL	ATED		MULATED	•	MULATED	ı	MULATED	F
INCOME PERCENT- BY SUC- PERCEN	T- BY S	UC- P	BRCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT	- BY SUC-	н
TO CAPI- AGE IN CESSIVE AGE I	N CESS	IVE /	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	Ř
TALIZATION EACH CLASS CLASSES BACH C	LASS CLA	SSES EA	CH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLAS	S CLASSES	EACH CLA	33 CLASSES	Ö
1919	1920		19	21	19	22		1923	ł
Zero to 4 1.4 1.4 3.3	3	.3	4.4	4.4	7.4	7.4	9.2	9.2	1
5 to 9 9.7 11.1 4.9	8	.2	11.3	15.7	17.9	25.3	15.1	24.3	<u></u>

10	to 14	16.0	27.1	13.0	21.2	25.2	40.9	21.0	46.3	23.7	48.0
15	to 19	13.9	41.0	13.6	34.8	19.7	60.6	16.1	62.4	11.2	59.2
20	to 24	10.4	51.4	14.1	48.9	12.8	73.4	9.9	72.3	13.2	72.4
25	to 29	9.7	61.1	14.1	63.0	7.4	80.8	8.6	80.9	5.9	78.3
30 ai	nd over	38.9	100. 0	37.0	100.0	19.2	100.0	19.1	100.0	21.7	100.0
(F)	FREQUE	NCY DIST	RIBUTION	S OF PERC	ENTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT TO) TOTAL C	APITAL, IN	DIVIDUA	L CORPO-
	RATIONS	, 1924—	28. MAJOR	GROUP 7	I: PRINTIN	IG AND P	UBLISHIN	G			
		1	924	1	925	15	26	19	27	1	928
Zего	to 4	19 5.2	924 5.2	1 6.9	925 6.9	15 8.9	926 8.9	19 8.9	927 8.9	1 12.4	928 12.4
Zero 5	to 4 to 9	19 5.2 27.3	924 5.2 32.5	1 6.9 24.1	925 6.9 31.0	19 8.9 19.9	8.9 28.8	19 8.9 23.5	8.9 32.4	1 12.4 23.5	928 12.4 35.9
Zего 5 10	to 4 to 9 to 14	19 5.2 27.3 21.4	924 5.2 32.5 53.9	1 6.9 24.1 23.4	925 6.9 31.0 54.4	8.9 19.9 21.2	8.9 28.8 50.0	<i>1</i> 9 8.9 23.5 21.8	8.9 32.4 54.2	1 12.4 23.5 24.2	928 12.4 35.9 60.1
Zero 5 10 15	to 4 to 9 to 14 to 19	5.2 27.3 21.4 11.7	924 5.2 32.5 53.9 65.6	1 6.9 24.1 23.4 14.5	925 6.9 31.0 54.4 68.9	8.9 19.9 21.2 16.4	8.9 8.9 28.8 50.0 66.4	8.9 23.5 21.8 15.1	8.9 32.4 54.2 69.3	12.4 23.5 24.2 13.7	928 12.4 35.9 60.1 73.8
Zero 5 10 15 20	to 4 to 9 to 14 to 19 to 24	5.2 27.3 21.4 11.7 14.3	924 5.2 32.5 53.9 65.6 79.9	1 6.9 24.1 23.4 14.5 8.3	925 6.9 31.0 54.4 68.9 77.2	8.9 19.9 21.2 16.4 13.7	8.9 28.8 50.0 66.4 80.1	8.9 23.5 21.8 15.1 9.5	8.9 32.4 54.2 69.3 78.8	12.4 23.5 24.2 13.7 7.9	928 12.4 35.9 60.1 73.8 81.7
Zero 5 10 15 20 25	to 4 to 9 to 14 to 19 to 24 to 29	5.2 27.3 21.4 11.7 14.3 3.2	924 5.2 32.5 53.9 65.6 79.9 83.1	1 6.9 24.1 23.4 14.5 8.3 6.9	925 6.9 31.0 54.4 68.9 77.2 84.1	8.9 19.9 21.2 16.4 13.7 6.9	226 8.9 28.8 50.0 66.4 80.1 87.0	8.9 23.5 21.8 15.1 9.5 8.4	8.9 32.4 54.2 69.3 78.8 87.2	12.4 23.5 24.2 13.7 7.9 3.3	928 12.4 35.9 60.1 73.8 81.7 85.0

DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, PRINTING AND PUBLISH-ING, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(companies with net incomes only)

(A) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 7: PRINTING AND PUBLISHING

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	,
	19.	19	19	20	19	21	19.	22	19	23	
Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 29 30 and over	0.0 11.1 14.1 11.1 15.2 9.1 39.4	0.0 11.1 25.2 36.3 51.5 60.6 100.0	3.0 8.0 7.0 9.0 11.0 7.0 55.0	3.0 11.0 18.0 27.0 38.0 45.0 100.0	4.2 15.8 17.9 13.7 10.5 16.8 21.1	4.2 20.0 37.9 51.6 62.1 78.9 100.0	2.0 14.1 14.1 13.1 17.2 4.1 35.4	2.0 16.1 30.2 43.3 60.5 64.6 100.0	5.1 13.1 18.2 22.2 11.1 11.1 19.2	5.1 18.2 36.4 58.6 69.7 80.8 100.0	INDUSTRIA
(B) FREQUE RATIO	ENCY DISTR NS, 1924—2	IBUTION: 8. MAJO	S OF PERCE R GROUP 7	NTAGES : printi	OF TOTAL Ng and P	PROFIT T Ublishin	o total ca G	APITAL, I	NDIVIDUAL	. CORPO-	L PR
	19	24	19	25	19	26	19,	27	19	28	0 1
Zero to 4 5 to 9	4.0 18.0	4.0 22.0	6.0 20.0	6.0 26.0	9.1 13.1	9.1 22.2	15.0 22.0	15.0 37.0	6.0 18.0	6.0 24.0	° I T S

[410]

10 to 14	20.0	42.0	17.0	43.0	23.2	45.4	20.0	57.0	30.0	54.0	
15 to 19	100	61.0	18.0	61.0	20.2	65.6	16.0	73.0	21.0	75.0	
20 to 24	15.0	76.0	15.0	76.0	10.1	75.7	8.0	81.0	6.0	81.0	
26 to 29	10.0	86.0	8.0	84.0	9.1	84.8	8.0	89.0	8.0	89.0	
30 and over	14.0	100.0	16.0	100.0	15.2	100.0	11.0	100.0	11.0	100.0	

. .

[411]

CHEMICALS

THE major group Chemicals is made up of seven minor groups Descriptions appeared in Ch. 17.

•

[412]

				TAB	sle 76							
C	CHEMICAL	GROUI	PS, SMA COR	ALL NO PORAT	N-IDE	NTICA SERIES	L MAN	NUFAC	TURIN	G		
(A) SIZE AND CHAR	RACTER OF S	AMPLE	N	UMBER O	F CORPO	RATIO NS				a Pe	VERAGE C R CORPOI (thouse of doll	CAPITAL RATION ¹ Inds ars)
	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	<i>1928</i> ar	ITHMETI	C MEAN
Major group 8 Chemicals Minor group	77	76	61	84	86	108	91	84	10 9	110	21	3
39 Paints	46	47	47	41	48	46	47	46	48	50	19:	2
40 Petroleum	45	47	41	40	44	43	41	42	47	43	25	6
¹ Total capital (i.e.,	, includes fur	nded de	bt) as c <i>191</i> 9	of Decer 1920	nber 31 <i>1921</i>	, 1928. <i>1922</i>	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
(B) PERCENTAGE II	NCOME TO S	SALES						•				
Major group 8 Chemicals Minor group			6.2	6.1	6.4	7.3	5.7	, 7.6	. 7.1	8.6	8.2	6.5
39 Paints			9.3	5.7	6.0	7.5	7.5	6.9	5.2	5.9	6.2	7.0
40 Petroleum			٢.4	3.1	1.9	4.0	6.4	4.0	8.3	4.8	4.9	5.6
	·											

	TABLE 76 (continued)										
			1	919 19	20 1921	1922 1	923 1924	1925	1926 192	7 1928	14
(C) PERCEN	TAGE INCO	ме то с	APITALIZA	TION							
Major group											
8 Chemical Minor group	5		1	.8.4 13	.9 11.4	13.0 1	1.8 15.6	13.3	14.0 13.3	9.8	
39 Paints			2	3.5 19	.4 10.9	19.7	5.0 11.2	11.5	12.3 13.0	11.9	
40 Petroleun	n		1	.0.9 5	0.5 5.0	7.9	9.0 7.0	9.0	9.1 6.1	10.5	
(D) PERCEN	TAGE PRO	FIT TO TO	OTAL CAPIT	AL							
Major group											
8 Chemical Minor arout							15.3	13.2	13.8 12.0	9.7	
39 Paints							10.6	. 11.3	11.8 12.7	11.6	_
40 Petroleur	n						7.0	9.0	8.7 6.1	10.3	z
	DNOV DISTR	IDIUTION				NER DIO	AND TA A	1) I M A T T 77		TUTINTTAT	g
CORPOR	RATIONS, I	919-23. 3	MAIOR GRO	DUP 8: 0	CHEMICAL	S NET INC	OME TO CA	1 F 11ALI <i>LI</i>	TION, INL	IVIDUAL	L S
		ACCII-	0	ACCII		ACCTI-		ACCII-		ACCTI-	R
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATEI)	MULATED	i	MULATED	I	MULATED	IA
INCOME	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	F
TALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLAS	CLASSES	ŗ
	19	19	192	20	1	921	19	22	1	923	1
Zero to 4	2.6	2.6	10.5	10.5	16.4	16.4	16.7	16.7 -	14.0	14.0	ॅम्
5 to 9	16.9	19.5	13.2	23.7	22.9	39.3	21.4	38.1	18.6	32.6	II
10 to 14	18.2	37.7	18.4	42.1	19.7	59.0	8.3	46.4	19.8	52.4	တ်

15 to 19	16.9	54.6	18.4	60.5	18.0	77.0	13.1	59.5	16.3	68.7	0
20 to 24	15.6	70.2	15.8	76.3	4.9	81.9	14.3	73.8	8.1	76.8	Ē
25 to 29	11.6	81.8	6.6	82.9	6.6	88.5	6.0	79.8 ·	2.3	79.1	E
30 and over	18.2	100.0	17.1	100.0	11.5	100.0	20.2	100.0	20.9	100.0	<u> </u>
											C A
(F) FREQUE	NCY DIST	RIBUTION	S OF PERC	ENTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT TO	D TOTAL C	APITAL, IN	IDIVIDUA	L CORPO-	H
RATION	s, 1924—2	28. MAJOR	GROUP 8	: CHEMICA	ALS						\$
	15	924	1	925	19	26	19	27	1	928	Ś
Zero to 4	13.9	13.9	6.6	6.6	19.0	19.0	11.0	11.0	15.5	15.5	_ ≍
5 to 9	17.6	31.5	18.7	25.3	21.4	40.4	16.5	27.5	17.3	32.8	₽
10 to 14	16.7	48.2	21.9	47.2	15.5	55.9	21.1	48.6	23.6	56.4	۰Þ
15 to 19	11.1	59.3	16.5	63.7	11.9	67.8	17.4	66.0	12.7	69.1	- ۲
20 to 24	12.0	71.3	13.2	76.9	8.3	76.1	13.8	79.8	12.7	. 81.8	~
25 to 29	8.3	79.6	4.4	81.3	7.2	83.3	3.7	83.5	2.7	84.5	20
20 and over				100.0	1/7	100.0	168	100.0	16.6	100.0	_ <u>~</u>
JU AILL UVEL	20.4	100.0	18.7	100.0	10./	100.0	10.3	100.0	13.3	100.0	20

DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, CHEMICALS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(companies with net incomes only)

(A) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 8: CHEMICALS

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- AGE IN Each Class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT~ Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	
	1 92	19	19	20	19	21	19	22	19	23	
Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 29 30 and over	4.3 8.7 11.1 14.4 12.5 10.1 38.9	4.3 13.0 24.1 38.5 51.0 61.1 100.0	12.2 17.2 15.2 14.7 9.3 6.9 24.5	12.2 29.4 44.6 59.3 68.6 75.5 100.0	22.5 24.2 16.0 8.9 8.3 3.0 17.1	22.5 46.7 62.7 71.6 79.9 82.9 100.0	11.8 14.7 12.8 13.7 11.3 7.8 27.9	11.8 26.5 39.3 53.0 64.3 72.8 100.0	10.6 18.8 19.3 15.2 11.2 5.6 19.3	10.6 29.4 48.7 63.9 75.1 80.7 100.0	INDUSTRI
(B) FREQU RATIO	ENCY DISTE NS, 1924—2 10	RIBUTION 8. Majoi 24	S OF PERCI R GROUP 8 : 70	ENTAGES Chemic 25	OF TOTAL Cals	PROFIT T	O TOTAL C	APITAL, I	NDIVIDUAI	CORPO-	AL PR
Zero to A	04	04	27	07		74	14.0	14.0	100	100	0
5 to 9 10 to 14	25.2 19.3	34.6 53.9	23.2 20.8	31.9 52.7	19.6 24.0	27.0 51.0	14.2 18.3 22.8	14.2 32.5 55.3	12.8 18.7 23.2	12.8 \$1.5 54.7	FIT

15 to 19	8.9	62.8	13.0	65.7	15.2	66.2	15.7	71.0	11.8	66.5
20 to 24	12.9	75.7	8.7	74.4	10.3	76.5	7.6	78.6	13.3	79.8
25 to 29	5.0	80.7	6.3	80.7	4.4	80 .9	4.6	83.2	4.4	84.2
30 and over	19.3	100.0	19.3	100.0	19.1	100.0	16.8	100.0	15.8	100.0

CHEMICALS: SMALL CORPORATIONS

[417]

STONE, CLAY AND GLASS

THE major group Stone, Clay and Glass is made up of four minor groups. Descriptions appeared in Ch. 18.

[418]

										•			
				TA	BLE 78								ŝ
													7
STC	ONE, C	LAY A	ND GL	ASS G	ROUPS,	, SMAI	LL NON	N-IDEN	TICAL				2
	N	IANUF	ACTUR	UNG C	ORPOR	IOLTAS	NS SER	IES					2
(A) SIZE AND CHARACT	ER OF S	SAMPLE	:										
• /													2
										41	VERAGE C	APITAL	4
										PE	R CORPOR	ATION .	\triangleright
											(thousa	inds	Ľ
			N	UMBER C	F CORPO	RATIONS					of dolla	a rs)	۲
	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928 AR	ітнметі	C MBAN	~
Major aroup									2				ă
9 Stone clay and glass	70	81	04	76	84	68	21	01	83	67	214	L	H
Vince energy and grass	10		41		ΨŦ		•••	<i>7</i>			4 • 1		10
Minor group				~~	64				07	02	20	,	Å
45 Ceramica	AG	73	82	73	93	90	90	88	97	¥4	280		ň
48 Miscellaneous clay and								_				_	5
stone products	31	37	38	39	41	36	55	47	50	34	192	2	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>
I Tratal applied (in ind)				.f. 15		1040							i iii
Total capital (i.e., inclu	lacs Iu	nasa as	DC) 88 C	DI Decei	mper 31	, 1928.							0
													Z,
			1010	*000	1001			1001	1001	1001		4000	Ś
1			1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1920	1927	1928	
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOM	IB TO S	ALES											
Major growt													
9 Stone clay and class			10.2	62	7 A	00	11.0	0 11	Q 2	27	9.6	7 A	
7 olone, cray and grass			10.2	3.4	7.4	9.9	11.0	ð.7	9.D	ð./	9.0	1.4	
Minor group													
45 Ceramica			11.4	11.1	8.7	10.9	12.6	9.8	9.2	8.6	8.9	9.4	
48 Miscellaneous clay and	ļ										•	,	
stone products			10.0	6.6	6.1	11.0	11.9	7.5	8.5	8.6	9.3	6.9	F
• • • • • • • • •													Ť.
													<u>,</u> 0

	TABL	е 78	(continu	ed)						[42
	191 9	1920	1921	1922 1	23 192	4 1925	1926	1927	1928	Ö
(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITA	LIZATION									
Major group										
9 Stone, clay and glass	9.0	13.3	7.4	13.9 1	5.0 10.1	12.7	13.2	11.6	8.8	
Minor group										
45 Ceramics	12.8	14.5	11.5	13.0 1	11.6	5 10.1	12.0	8.9	9.6	
48 Miscellaneous clay and							104		60	
stone products	16.5	15.0	17.1	14.2 1	5.2 8.0	5 13,3	13.4	15.3	0.7	
(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL C	PITAL									
Major group 9 Stone, clay and glass					9.9	9 11.9	12.6	11.3	8.6	
45 Ceremice					11	c 10.0	11 7	87	0 1	Ĩ
48 Miscellaneous clay and stone product	•				8.	5 12.9	13.2	14.8	6.9	- Z
in the product					•••					ĕ
								* *>***		Ś
(B) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PI	RCENTAC	SES OI	F TOTAL	NET INC	DWE TO	CAPITAL	ZATIO	N, INDI	VIDUAL	T
CORPORATIONS, 1919-25. MAJOR	GROUP	A: 2.1	ONE, CL	AI AND	LA33					្ព
ACCU-	ACC	U -		ACCU-		ACCI	1-		ACCU-	2
	MTIL.	TED		MULATED		MULAT	ED		MULATED	7
PERCENTAGE MULATED				DT 47/0	000000000					
PERCENTAGE MULATED INCOME PERCENT- BY SUC- PERCE TO CAPI- AGE IN CESSIVE AGE	NT- BY SI	UC- 1 IVR	PERCENT-	BY SUC- CESSIVE	PERCENT ACE IN	CESSI	C- PER	GE IN	CESSIVE	7
PERCENTAGE MULATED INCOME PERCENT- BY SUC- PERCE: TO CAPI- AGE IN CESSIVE AGE TALIZATION BACH CLASS CLASSES BACH C	NT- BY SI IN CESS LASS CLAS	UC- 1 IVE ISES E/	PFRCENT- AGE IN ACH CLASS	BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT AGE IN EACH CL/	CE391 CE391 185 CLA39	C- PER Ve A Es Eac	GE IN H CLASS	CESSIVE CLASSE	PRO
PERCENTAGE MULATED INCOME PERCENT- BY SUC- PERCE TO CAPI- AGE IN CESSIVE AGE TALIZATION EACH CLASS CLASSES EACH C 1010	NT- BY SI IN CESS LASS CLAS 1020	UC- 1 IVE ISES E/	PIRCENT- Age IN Ach Class 10	BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT AGE IN EACH CL/	- BY SU CESSI ASS CLASS 1022	C- PER Ve A Es Eac	GE IN H CLASS	CESSIVE CLASSE	PROF
PERCENTAGE MULATED INCOME PERCENT- BY SUC- PERCE TO CAPI- AGE IN CESSIVE AGE TALIZATION EACH CLASS CLASSES EACH C 1919 Zero to 4 11.4 11.4 2.4	NT- BY SI IN CESS LASS CLAS 1920 I 2.	UC- 1 IVE ISES E.	PURCENT- AGE IN ACH CLASS 19, 19,2	BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES 21 19.2	PERCENT AGE IN EACH CL/ 5.3	- BY SU CESST ASS CLASS 1922 5.3	C- PER Ve A Es Eac	GE IN GE IN H CLASS 19 8.3	CESSIVE CLASSER 23 8.3	PROFI

10 to 14	11.4	38.6	20.5	44.6	18.1	59.6	21.0	50.0	17.9	47.6	
15 to 19	21.4	60.0	20.5	65.1	8.5	68.1	11.8	61.8	11.9	59.5	
20 to 24	10.0	70.0	6.0	71.1	12.8	80.9	9.2	71.0	13.1	72.6	
25 to 29	10.0	80.0	8.4	79.5	7.4	88.3	5.3	76.3	7.2	79.8	1
30 and over	20.0	100.0	20.5	100.0	11.7	100.0	23.7	100.0	20.2	100.0	•
(F) FREQUE	NCY DIST	RIBUTION	S OF PERC	ENTAGES (OF TOTAL	PROFIT TO	TOTAL C	APITAL, IN	DIVIDUA	L CORPO-	2
(F) FREQUE RATION	NCY DIST 5, 1924-	RIBUTION: 28. Major	S OF PERC GROUP 9	ENTAGES (: Stone, C	OF TOTAL	PROFIT TO GLASS	TOTAL C	APITAL, IN	IDIVIDUA	L CORPO-	1 1 1 L
(F) FREQUE RATION:	NCY DIST 5, 1924– 1	RIBUTION: 28. Major 924	S OF PERC GROUP 9	ENTAGES (: Stone, C 925	DF TOTAL LAY AND 19	PROFIT TO GLASS	9 TOTAL C. 19	APITAL, IN 927	IDIVIDUA	L CORPO- 928	1 V F F
(F) FREQUE RATION: Zero to 4	NCY DIST 5, 1924— <i>1</i> 15.9	RIBUTION: 28. Major 924 15.9	S OF PERC GROUP 9 19 9.9	ENTAGES (: STONE, C 925 9.9	DF TOTAL Lay and <i>1</i> 9 1 2 .1	PROFIT TO GLASS 26 12.1	15.7 TOTAL C	APITAL, IN 927 15.7	101VIDUA 20.9	L CORPO- 928 20.9	1011 C
(F) FREQUE RATION: Zero to 4 5 to 9	NCY DIST 5, 1924— 1 15.9 17.0	RIBUTION: 28. Major 924 15.9 32.9	S OF PERC GROUP 9 <u>1</u> 9 9.9 19.7	ENTAGES (: STONE, C 925 9.9 29.6	OF TOTAL LAY AND 12.1 23.0	PROFIT TO GLASS • 26 12.1 35.1	15.7 15.7 21.7	APITAL, IN 27 15.7 37.4	19 19 20.9 23.9	L CORPO- 928 20.9 44.8	40FF C0.
(F) FREQUE RATION: Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14	NCY DIST 5, 1924— 15.9 17.0 21.6	RIBUTION: 28. MAJOR 924 15.9 32.9 54.5	S OF PERC GROUP 9 9.9 19.7 21.0	ENTAGES (: STONE, C 925 9.9 29.6 50.6	DF TOTAL CLAY AND 12.1 23.0 20.9	PROFIT TO GLASS • 226 12.1 35.1 56.0	19 15.7 21.7 25.3	APITAL, IN 227 15.7 37.4 62.7	101V1DUA 20.9 23.9 16.4	L CORPO- 928 20.9 44.8 61.2	
(F) FREQUE RATION: Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19	NCY DIST 5, 1924- 15.9 17.0 21.6 9.1	RIBUTION: 28. MAJOR 924 15.9 32.9 54.5 63.6	S OF PERC GROUP 9 9.9 19.7 21.0 21.0	ENTAGES (: STONE, C 925 9.9 29.6 50.6 71.6	DF TOTAL LAY AND 12.1 23.0 20.9 14.3	PROFIT TO GLASS • 226 12.1 35.1 56.0 70.3	19 15.7 21.7 25.3 12.0	APITAL, IN 127 15.7 37.4 62.7 74.7	19 20.9 23.9 16.4 4.5	L CORPO- 928 20.9 44.8 61.2 65.7	
(F) FREQUE RATION: Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24	NCY DIST 5, 1924— 15.9 17.0 21.6 9.1 9.1	RIBUTION: 28. MAJOR 924 15.9 32.9 54.5 63.6 72.7	S OF PERC GROUP 9 9.9 19.7 21.0 21.0 9.9	ENTAGES (: STONE, C 925 9.9 29.6 50.6 71.6 81.5	DF TOTAL CLAY AND 12.1 23.0 20.9 14.3 8.8	PROFIT TO GLASS 726 12.1 35.1 56.0 70.3 79.1	19 15.7 21.7 25.3 12.0 6.0	APITAL, IN 127 15.7 37.4 62.7 74.7 80.7	101V1DUA 20.9 23.9 16.4 4.5 11.9	20.9 928 20.9 44.8 61.2 65.7 77.6	
(F) FREQUE RATION: Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 29	NCY DIST 5, 1924 15.9 17.0 21.6 9.1 9.1 9.1	RIBUTION: 28. MAJOR 924 15.9 54.5 63.6 72.7 81.8	S OF PERC GROUP 9 9.9 19.7 21.0 21.0 9.9 6.2	ENTAGES (: STONE, C 925 9.9 29.6 50.6 71.6 81.5 87.7	DF TOTAL 2LAY AND 12.1 23.0 20.9 14.3 8.8 7.7	PROFIT TO GLASS • 226 12.1 35.1 56.0 70.3 79.1 86.8	19 15.7 21.7 25.3 12.0 6.0 3.6	APITAL, IN 227 15.7 37.4 62.7 74.7 80.7 84.3	101V1DUA 20.9 23.9 16.4 4.5 11.9 6.0	228 20.9 44.8 61.2 65.7 77.6 83.6	1911 COAROA

S N O

[422]

DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, STONE, CLAY AND GLASS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

(companies with net incomes only)

(A) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 9: STONE, CLAY AND GLASS

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- ÇESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	
	19.	[7	19	20	19	61	19	66	17	63	
Zero to 4	6.1	6.1	3.5	3.5	25.5	25.5	10.5	10.5	2.7	2.7	
5 to 9	17.5	23.6	12.4	15.9	19.4	44.9	17.5	28.0	11.4	14.1	
10 to 14	18.4	42.0	22.1	38.0	17.3	62.2	19.3	47.3	14.0	28.1	z
15 to 19	13.2	55.2	15.9	53.9	16.3	78.5	8.8	56.1	17.5	45.6	
20 to 24	9.7	64.9	8.0	61.9	7.2	85.7	6.1	62.2	17.5	63.1	ā
25 to 29	7.0	71.9	7.1	69.0	8.2	93.9	16.7	78.9	13.2	76.3	Ś
30 and over	28.1	100.0	31.0	100.0	6.1	100.0	21.1	100.0	23.7	100.0	TR
(B) FREQUE RATION	ENCY DISTE IS, 1924—2	BUTION 8. MAJOI	S OF PERCI C GROUP 9:	ENTAGES Stone,	OF TOTAL CLAY AND	PROFIT T GLASS	O TOTAL CA	APITAL, I	NDIVIDUAI	. CORPO-	IAL P
	19.	24	19	25	19	26	19	27	19	28	R
Zero to 4	8.0	8.0	5.3	5.3	5.3	5.3	12.4	12.4	11.7	11.7	ų,
5 to 9	16.8	24.8	16.8	22.1	22.8	28.1	29.2	41.6	29.7	41.4	, H
10 to 14	18.6	43.4	22.1	44.2	21.1	49.2	26.6	68.2	20.7	62.1	ТS

								-		
15 to 19	24.7	68.1	19.5	63.7	24.6	73.8	11.5	79.7	13.6	75.7
20 to 24	11.5	79.6	14.2	77.9	10.5	84.3	8.8	88,5	9.0	84.7
25 to 29	8.0	. 87.6	8.8	86.7	6.1	90.4	2.7	91.2	5.4	90.1
30 and over	12.4	100.0	13.3	100.0	9.6	100.0	8.8	100.0	9.9	100.0

•

• .

.

-

.

STONE: SMALL CORPORATIONS

[423]

METALS

THE major group Metals is made up of twenty-two minor groups. Descriptions appeared in Ch. 19.

-

[424]

				Tai	ble 80								M
METAI	.s G	ROUPS,	SMAI COR	LL NO PORAT	N-IDEN TIONS	NTICAI Series	L MAN	NUFAC'	TURIN	G			ETAI
(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER	LOF S	AMPLE	к	UMBER (OF CORPO	RATIONS				A' Pr	VERAGE C R CORPOR (thousa of dolla	APITAL ATION ¹ Inds Irs)	S: SM
	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	<i>1928</i> ar	ITHMETI	C MEAN	A
Major group 10 Metals	357	387	271	332	359	336	352	372	373	369	160	i	LT 0
49 Castings and forgings 50 Sheet metal	99 90	98 93	96 95	92 90	93 93	88 97	91 92	93 90	97 96	95 94	234 162	+ 2	OR
52 Heating machinery 53 Electrical machinery	49 19	48 21	48 34	46 29	46 31	46 30	45 19	46 31	47 40	43 36	186 156	5 5	POI
62 Motor vehicles 65 Tools	90 46	88 49	90 47	84 46	87 48	90 42	79 48	91 45	95 49	82 46	147 23(r S	۲AT
67 Miscellaneous machinery 70 Miscellaneous metals	, 35 41	59 40	23 25	23 37	48 39	22 55	64 24	50 33	35 39	35 22	148 22(3.)	101
¹ Total capital (i.e., includ	es fui	nded del	bt) 28 (of Dece	m'>er 31	, 1928.							S
			1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME Major group 10 Metals	10 1	SALES	7.6	6.3	7.8	7.7	8.1	7.7	6.5	7.1	7.0	7.5	[42.
													<u> </u>

	TAB	LE 80	(contir	ued)							. ه
	1919	1920	1 921	<i>1922</i>	1923	1924	<i>1925</i>	1926	19 <i>2</i> 7	1928	26
Minor group											
49 Castings and forgings	8.2	5.2	6.0	9.2	6.6	5.9	6.4	6.9	6.4	6.2	
50 Sheet metal	8.4	6.6	5.1	6.8	6.4	6.3	7.1	5.9	6.0	6.6	
52 Heating and ventilating machinery	9.0	6.3	6.5	10.1	10.1	6.1	7.3	6.1	5.3	6.1	
53 Electrical machinery	7.3	5.8	5.7	6.5	8.3	5.5	6.9	4.8	6.6	8.0	
62 Motor vehicles	5.5	3.8	4.5	5.8	7.4	6.5	7.0	5.9	6.1	6.4	
65 Tools	9.7	10.0	6.9	5.7	7.5	7.1	9.3	6.9	7.5	8.6	
67 Miscellaneous machinery	10.6	7.4	7.2	10.7	8.2	10.9	10.8	8.7	6.2	8.6	
70 Miscellaneous metals	7.5	4.9	10.4	11.4	8.5	6.8	6.0	7.7	7.7	11.3	

(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION

Major group											
10 Metals	14.8	12.7	10.6	12.4	14.4	10.8	10.8	11.3	11.4	13.5	H
Minor group											Z
49 Castings and forgings	16.0	12.4	8.6	16.4	11.7	10.0	13.1	14.6	12.3	10.9	ā
50 Sheet metal	19.7	16.6	9.1	13.5	12.3	13.1	14.7	11.9	12.9	12.7	q
52 Heating and ventilating machinery	17.4	13.9	9.6	16.0	17.1	9.6	12.4	9.3	8.9	9.4	L S
53 Electrical machinery	15.9	13.5	9.8	11.1	18.0	12.3	19.2	11.1	13.8	15.0	×
62 Motor vehicles	10.2	9.7	6.9	6.7	13.8	12.9	10.5	11.9	12.5	15.5	H
65 Toola	18.2	17.2	6.6	8.8	11.1	11.9	12.4	11.6	10.9	12.8	≥
67 Miscellaneous machinery	20.8	15.5	9.3	13.3	10.2	9.1	9.6	12.4	8.7	12.0	H
70 Miscellaneous metals	12.8	8.9	11.5	10.7	12.5	10.7	13.6	13.9	9.2	16.2	ъ

(D) PERCE	NTAGE PRO	דוד הס הו	OTAL CAPIT	FAT.			1924	1925	1926	1927	7 1928
(2) 1 2::02											
Major grou	P						10.6	10.4	11.2	11.1	12 1
Ninon arou	4						10.0	10.0	11.4	11.1	13.1
49 Casting	» and forgin	()'A					9.8	12.6	14.1	12.1	10.3
50 Sheet rt	etal						12.9	14.3	11.6	12.3	12.4
52 Heating	and ventila	ting mach	inery				9.5	12.3	9.2	8.7	9.4
53 Electric	al machinery	,					12.1	18.8	10.8	13.0	14.6
62 Motor	vehicles						12.5	10.3	11.5	12.3	15.1
65 Tools							11.5	12.2	11.3	10.7	11.2
67 Miscella	aneous machi	inery					9.1	9.6	12.1	8.7	11.0
70 Miscella	neous metals	8					10.5	12.9	13.5	8.9	15.9
CORPO	RATIONS, I	ų1 4 −23.	MAJUK GR	008 10:	METALS						
		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-			ACCU-
INCOMP	PERCENT-	BY SIIC-	PERCENT-	BY AUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	DEPCENT-	BV STIC-	ית שמי		NULATED
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE		CESSIVE
ALIZATION	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH	CLA38	CLASSES
-	193	19	192	20	19	21	192	22		192	23
Cero to 4	7:0	7.0	7.8	7.8	17.4	17.4	13.8	13.8	10	.8	10.8
5 to 9	12.9	19.9	19.6	27.4	26.9	44.3	20.5	34.3	15	.9	26.7
10 to 14	22.7	42.6	19.6	47.0	19.9	64.2	16.3	50.6	19	.8	46.5
15 to 19	16.5	59.1	14.5	61.5	11.1	75.3	14.8	65.4	15	.9	62.4
20 to 24	11.7	70.8	10.8	72.3	8.5	83.8	9.3	74.7	9	.5	71.9
25 to 29	9.0	79.8	7.8	80.1	3.7	87.5	5.7	80.4	5	.0	76.9
0 and over	20.2	100.0	19.9	100.0	12.5	100.0	19.6	100.0	23	.1	100.0
TABLE 80 (continued)

(F) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1924-28. MAJOR GROUP 10: METALS

		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-
PERCENTAGE		MULATED		MULATED		MULATED		MULATED		MULATED
PROFIT	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-
TO TOTAL	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE
CAPITAL	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	ZACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES
	19.	24	19	25	19	26	19	27	19	28
Zero to 4	14.0	14.0	12.8	12.8	9.7	9.7	17.7	17.7	11.4	11.4
5 to 9	23.5	37.5	22.2	35.0	23.4	33.1	23.3	41.0	23.0	34.4
10 to 14	22.0	59.5	21.9	56.9	22.6	55.7	19.3	60.3	20.3	54.7
15 to 19	12.8	72.3	14.8	71.7	14.0	69.7	9.4	69.7	15.2	69.9
20 to 24	8.9	81.2	11.9	83.6	11.5	81. 2	8.6	78.3	7.9	77.8
25 to 29	5.1	86.3	5.1	88.7	4.0	85.2	6.4	84.7	4.9	82.7
30 and over	13.7	100.0	11.3	100.0	14.8	100.0	15.3	100.0	17.3	100.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[428]

TABLE 81 DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, METALS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES (companies with net incomes only) (A) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919–23. MAJOR GROUP 10: METALS												
	F	ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-		ACCU-	M	
PERCENTAGE	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	MULATED BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	PERCENT-	MULATED BY SUC-	PERCENT-	BY SUC-	ц Ч	
TO CAPI-	AGE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CESSIVE	ACE IN	CESSIVE	ACE IN	CESSIVE	AGE IN	CE38IVE	F	
TALIZATION	BACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	BACH CLA89	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	0	
1919 1920 1921 1922 1923												
Zero to 4	2.7	2.7	5.0	5.6	27.6	27.6	15.1	15.1	7.5	7.5	Ř	
5 to 9	6.4	9.1	13.9	19.5	30.2	57.8	17.8	32.9	15.3	22.8	P	
10 to 14	11.7	20.8	16.6	36.1	16.4	74.2	18.2	51.1	17.6	40.4	0	
15 to 19	14.1	34.9	13.9	50.0	10.7	84.9	13.6	64.7	20.7	61.1	R	
20 to 24	11.9	46.8	12.9	62.9	5.1	9 0.0	9.1	73.8	13.7	74.8 ·	A	
25 to 29	8.7	55.5	9.1	72.0	3.0	93.0	8.8	82.6	10.4	85.2	H	
30 and over	44.5	100.0	28.0	100.0	7.0	100.0	17.4	100.0	14.8	100.0	10	
											ž	
(B) FREQUE	NCY DISTR	IBUTION	S OF PERCE	NTAGES	OF TOTAL	PROFIT TO	D TOTAL CA	PITAL.	NDIVIDUAL	CORPO-	S	
RATION	s, 192428	8. MAJOR	GROUP IC	: META	LS							
	102	24	192	5	192	26	192	7	19:	28		
Zero to 4	13.1		6.6	6.6	8.6	8.6	12.7	. 12.7	9.2	9.2		
5 to 9	26.5	39.6	21.8	28.4	22.3	30.9	28.1	40.8	26.3	35.5		
10 to 14	21.8	61.4	27.9	56.3	24.4	55.3	24.9	65.7	20.9	564		
15 to 19	15.4	76.8	14.0	70.3	16.6	71.9	14.1	79.8	18.4	74.9		
20 to 74	84	85.2	10.5	80.8	10.7	82.6	7.5	87.4	10.4	85.2		
26 to 29	5 8	91 0	71	87 9	52	87.8	4.0	Q1 3	6 2	07.2	5	
47 LU 47	0.0	100.0	121	100.0	12.2	100.0	97	100.0	3.3	70.3	õ	
30 and 0ver	7.0	100.0	14.1	100.0		100.0	0,1	×00.0	7.3	100.0		

CHAPTER 39

SPECIAL MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES

THE major group Special Manufacturing Industries is made up of four minor groups. Descriptions appeared in Ch. 20. For only one group, however, can a small corporations sample be presented.

.

[430]

•

SF	PECIAL	. MANU NON-I	UFACT DENTI	Tai uring cal co	BLE 82 INDU ORPOR	STRIES ATION	GROI S SERI	JPS, SM ES	IALL				SPECIAL:
(A) SIZE AND CHARACT	ER OF	SAMPL	e N	UMBER ()F CORPO	RATIONS		·		AV PE	verage C r corpor (thousa of dolla	CAPITAL CATION ¹ Inds ars)	SMALI
Major group 11 Special manufacturing	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	192 6	1927	<i>1928</i> ar	ITHMETI	IC MEAN	C 0
industries Minor group 74 Miscellaneous special	73	74	82	71	76	69	66	100	86	70	153	3	RPOR
manufacturing	42	41	49	32	49	57	41	74	59	56	149	9	À
¹ Total capital (i.e., inclu	udes fui	nded de	bt) as a	of Dece	mber 31	l, 1928.							FION
(B) PERCENTAGE INCOM	E TO S.	ALES	191 9	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	60
Major group 11 Special manufacturing	industr	ies	7.9	6.8	7.3	7.7	6.7	5.7	7.8	6.1	7.7	5.5	
Minor group 74 Miscellaneous special n	nanufac	turing	8.6	6.9	7.1	8.6	7.4	5.3	9.3	5.7	7.8	5.0	[431]

1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 1927 (C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION Major group 11 Special manufacturing industries 16.8 13.1 6.1 15.8 10.7 10.3 13.1 11.7 13.4 Minor group 74 Miscellaneous special manufacturing 17.7 13.9 9.2 20.0 13.3 9.0 13.6 11.8 12.3 (D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL III A	?6 1927 1928			TABLE 82 (continued)								
 (C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION Major group Special manufacturing industries 16.8 13.1 6.1 15.8 10.7 10.3 13.1 11.7 13.4 Minor group 74 Miscellaneous special manufacturing 17.7 13.9 20.0 13.3 13.6 11.8 (D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL 		5 192	1925	1924	1923	1922) 1921	9 192	19			
Major group 11 Special manufacturing industries 16.8 13.1 6.1 15.8 10.7 10.3 13.1 11.7 13.4 Minor group 74 Miscellaneous special manufacturing 17.7 13.9 9.2 20.0 13.3 9.0 13.6 11.8 12.3 (D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL								N	APITALIZAT	мв то с	NTAGE INCO	(C) PERCEN
 (D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL 	7 13.4 12.7	L 11.	13.1	10.3	10.7	15.8	6.1	13.	ies 10	g industri	manufacturiz	Major group 11 Special n Minor group
(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	8 12.3 12.5	5 11.	13.6	9 .0	13.3	20.0	9.2	/ 13.	turing 17	manufac	neous special	74 Miscellar
(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL												
									TAL CAPITA	ит то то	NTAGE PROI	(D) PERCEN
Major group 11 Special manufacturing industries 10.1 12.7 11.5 12.7 12.7 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 10.1 10.2 <td>5 13.0 12.3</td> <td>7 11.</td> <td>12.7</td> <td>10.1</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>ies</td> <td>ig industi</td> <td>manufacturii</td> <td>Major group 11 Special 1 Minor group</td>	5 13.0 12.3	7 11.	12.7	10.1					ies	ig industi	manufacturii	Major group 11 Special 1 Minor group
74 Miscellaneous special manufacturing 9.0 12.9 11.6 12.0	6 12.0 12.2	9 11.	12.9	9.0					turing	manufac	neous specia	74 Miscellar
(E) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVID	ON, INDIVIDUAI	LIZATI	PITALI	5 TO CA	ICOME	NET IN	F TOTAL	AGES (S OF PERCEN	BUTION	ENCY DISTR	(B) FREQU
CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 11: SPECIAL MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES	···, ····	RIES	IDUSTR	UNG IN	ACTUR	IANUF	PECIAL N	• ii: s	MAJOR GROU	19-23. 1	RATIONS, 1	CORPOR
ACCU- ACU- A	ACCU- MULATED ERCENT- BY SUC- AGE IN CESSIVE	CU- ATED UC- P IVE	ACCU MULAT BY SUC CESSIV	RCENT-	- 'ED C- PE 'B A	ACCU MULAT BY SU CESSIV	PERCENT- Age in	CCU- ILATED Y SUC- Essive) Percent- Age In	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE	PERCENT- Age in	PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI-
TALIZATION EACH CLASS CLASSES EACH CLASS CLASSES EACH CLASS CLASSES EACH CLASS CLASSES EACH CLASS CLA	CH CLASS CLASSES	ses e <i>i</i>	CLASSE	CH CLASS	ES EAC	CLASSI	ACH CLASS	ASSES	EACH CLASS	CLASSES	EACH CLASS	TALIZATION
1919 1920 1921 1922 1923	1923		22	192		21	19.		1920	9	191	
Zero to 4 5.5 5.5 9.5 9.5 11.0 11.0 8.4 8.4 7.9	7.9 7.9	.4	8.4	8.4		11.0	11.0	9.5	9.5	5.5	5.5	Zero to 4
5 to y 12.3 17.8 17.5 27.0 19.5 30.5 21.1 29.5 30.3 30 10 to 14 15.1 32.9 14.9 41.9 24.4 54.9 9.9 39.4 14.5 55	30.3 38.2	.s .4	29.5 39.4	21.1 9.9		30.5 54.9	19.5	27.0 41.9	17.5	17.8 32.9	12.3	5 to 9 10 to 14

15 to	19	13.7	46.6	9.5	51.4	17.1	72.0	14.1	53.5	11.8	64.5
20 to	24	16.4	63.0	8.1	59.5	12.2	84.2	14.1	67.6	11.8	76.3
25 to	29	13.7	76.7	8.1	67.6	6.1	90.3	5.6	73.2	10.5	86.8
30 and 0	over	23.3	100.0	32.4	100.0	9.7	100.0	26.8	100.0	13.2	100.0
(F) FR	EQUEN	ICY DIST	RIBUTIONS	OF PER	ENTAGES OF	TOTAL	PROFIT TO) TOTAL C	APITAL, II	IDIVIDUA	L CORPO-
RA	TIONS	1924-	28. MAJOR	GROUP	11: SPECIAL	MANU	JFACTURIN	G INDUS	rries		
		19	924	1	925	1	926	19	27	1	928
Zero to	4	15.9	15.9	10.6	10.6	18.0	18.0	14.0	14.0	11.4	11.4
5 to	9	24.6	40.5	21.2	31.8	25.0	43.0	19.7	33.7	18.6	30.0
10 to	14	15.9	56.4	27.3	59.1	16.0	59.0	12.8	46.5	18.6	48.6
15 to	19	13.1	69.5	4.5	63.6	19.0	78.0	16.3	63.8	24.3	72.9
20 to	24	5.8	75.3	15.2	78.8	7.0	85.0	14.0	77.8	8.6	81.5
25 to	29	4.4	79.7	9.1	87.9	7.0	92.0	5.8	83.6	5.7	87.2
30 and	over	20.3	100.0	12.1	100.0	8.0	100.0	17.4	100.0	12.8	100.0

RATIONS

· · · · · ·

[433]

TABLE 83

DISTRIBUTIONS OF EARNINGS RATES, SPECIAL MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES GROUPS, LARGE IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES

[434]

(companies with net incomes only)

(A) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1919-23. MAJOR GROUP 11: SPECIAL MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPI- TALIZATION	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- ACE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU MULATED BY SUC- CESSIVE CLASSES	
	191	19	19	20	19	21	19	22	19	23	
Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 29 30 and over	0.0 7.9 9.0 13.5 15.7 10.1 43.8	0.0 7.9 16.9 30.4 46.1 56.2 100.0	3.4 13.6 19.3 20.5 10.2 12.5 20.5	3.4 17.0 36.3 56.8 67.0 79.5 100.0	17.1 21.1 13.1 9.2 7.9 10.5	17.1 38.2 59.3 72.4 81.6 89.5 100.0	10.1 5.6 27.0 20.2 10.1 6.8 20.2	40.1 15.7 42.7 62.9 73.0 79.8 100.0	1.1 12.5 22.7 23.9 11.4 13.6 14.8	1.1 13.6 36.3 60.2 71.6 85.2 100.0	INDUSTRI
(B) FREQU RATION	BNCY DISTR NS, 1924—2 <i>19</i> .	BUTION 8. Majoi 24	S OF PERC R GROUP 1	ENTAGES 1: SPECI 925	OF TOTAL	PROFIT T Facturii 26	O TOTAL C. NG INDUST 19	APITAL, I Ries 27	NDIVIDUA	L CORPO-	AL PRO
Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14	5.7 20.5 23.9	5.7 26.2 50.1	5.7 16.1 33.3	5.7 21.8 55.1	6.7 21.4 25.8	6.7 28.1 53.9	12.4 25.8 21.4	12.4 38.2 59.6	11.5 23.0 29.9	11.5 34.5 64.4	OFITS

15 to 19	20.4	70.5	11.5	66.6	15.8	69.7	15.7	75.3	9.2	73.6
20 to 24	10.2	80.7	11.5	78.1	14.6	84.3	14.6	89.9	16.1	89.7
25 to 29	11.3	92.0	10.4	88.5	9.0	93.3	5.6	95.5	6.9	96.6
30 and over	8.0	100.0	11.5	100.0	6.7	100.0	4.5	100.0	3.4	100.0

.

•

.

SPECIAL: SMALL CORPORATIONS

[435]

CHAPTER 40

TRADE AND ITS MAJOR GROUPS

1. EARNINGS UPON INVESTMENT

THE small Trading corporations sample contains between approximately 1,300 and 1,500 corporations in different years of the period 1924–28. Frequency distributions for the earnings of individual corporations are available for the last four of these five years, but general arithmetic mean figures for the return upon investment are to be had for only two major groups separately and for only 1924 and 1928.¹ No data are available for the return upon sales for the Trade division or its major groups.

In 1924 the return upon investment for All Trade was 12.1 per cent; in 1928 the figure was almost exactly the same: 12.0 per cent. These returns correspond closely with comparable figures for the large Trading corporations sample in the same years: 13.6 per cent and 12.6 per cent respectively.²

Only very slight deviations from these figures for All Trade are evidenced by Retail Trade and Wholesale Trade. In Retail Trade the small corporations series shows a net return of 12.5 per cent on investment in 1924 and 12.4 per cent in 1928. In Wholesale Trade, the two figures are 12.6 per cent and 11 per cent respectively. Table 84 shows the number of corporations in each group as well as their average size.

¹ The five-year series for the several minor groups in Retail Trade and Wholesale Trade given in Ch. 41 and 42 are based upon samples that do not 'add up' so as to form major groups. The reasons for this are given in Ch. 27 and 44.

³These figures for the large corporations series are for corporations with net incomes only.

[436]

TRADE: SMALL CORPORATIONS

[437]

2. EARNINGS OF INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS

We may now inquire into the variation of individual rates of income received upon investment by the companies belonging to the small Trading corporations series in the years 1925–28. No general arithmetic mean return figures are available, however, for the first three of these four years: thus the comparisons will be of the median return with the rates earned by the corporations standing at the upper and lower quartiles of the distribution.

In all three years the median return was approximately 13 per cent. But, in all three years, a quarter of all the corporations earned in excess of 21 per cent while the lowest quarter earned under 8 per cent.

In 1928, the arithmetic mean return for All Trade was 12 per cent. About three-fifths of the companies, however, earned in excess of this amount. One-quarter of them earned over 22 per cent, while the lowest quarter again earned under 8 per cent. Chart 65 shows the distribution from year to year by broad classes of earnings rates.

CHART 65



TRADE: SMALL CORPORATIONS

[439]

TABLE 84

TRADE AND ITS MAJOR GROUPS, SMALL NON-IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARA	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER CORPORATION ¹ (thousands of dollars)		
	1924	1928	ARITHMETIC MEAN
All trade	1,350	1,537	111
Major group	-	·	
12 Retail trade	742	858	89
13 Wholesale trade	397	308	138

¹Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928.

1924	1928
ZATION	
12.1	12.0
12.5	12.4
12.6	11.0
PITAL	
11.9	11.7
12.3	12.0
12.4	10.9
	1924 ZATION 12.1 12.5 12.6 PITAL 11.9 12.3 12.4

TABLE 84 (continued)

.

(D) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1925-28. ALL TRADE

PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	PERCENT- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY 8UCCESSIVE CLASSES
	19	25	1	926	19	27	· 1	928
Zero to 4	9.0	9.0	9.9	9.9	8.9	8.9	9.9	9.9
5 to 9	24.5	33.5	25.4	35.3	28.1	37.0	23.7	\$3.6
10 to 14	23.0	56.5	22.0	57.3	21.7	58.7	21.4	55.0
15 to 19	15.0	71.5	13.1	70.4	14.4	73.1	14.9	69.9
20 to 24	8.9	80.4	9.3	79.7	8.7	81.8	11.0	80.9
25 to 29	5.8	86.2	4.5	84.2	5.0	86.8	4.9	85.8
30 and over	13.8	100.0	15.8	100.0	13.2	100.0	14.2	100.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[440]

TABLE 85

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL 'PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1925-28. ALL TRADE

(large identical trading corporations with net incomes)

PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	PERCENT- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES
	19	25	1	926	19	27	1	928
Zero to 4	9.7	9.7	11.9	11.9	13.3	13.3	16.0	16.0
5 to 9	27.0	36.7	29.6	41.5	34.0	47.3	34.5	50.5
10 to 14	30.4	67.1	29.3	70.8	29.7	77.0	28.1	78.6
15 to 19	18.9	86.0	16.9	87.7	12.7	89.7	12.3	90.9
20 to 24	5.9	91.9	5.9	93.6	4.1	93.8	4.9	95.8
25 to 29	3.5	95.4	2.7	96.3	3.3	97.1	2.5	98.3
30 and over	4.6	100.0	3.7	100.0	2.9	100.0	1.7	100.0

.

.

CHAPTER 41

RETAIL TRADE

THE major group Retail Trade is divided into ten minor groups: Automobiles; Men's Clothing; Department Stores; Drygoods; Furniture; Groceries; Jewelry; Building Material and Hardware; Lumber and Coal; Miscellaneous Retail Trade. In addition to these ten divisions, it is possible in one case, Miscellaneous Retail Trade, to effect a further subdivision into several subgroups.

In both the minor groups and subgroups, however, the data for the small corporations series are available only for the five years 1924–28. The small corporations data for each minor group, as in preceding chapters, are compared with the data for the large corporations series over the same period, although in the several subgroups into which Miscellaneous Retail Trade is divided, this procedure is not possible.

[442]

TABLE 86												
RETAIL TR	ADE GROUP	S, SMALL I TIONS SER	NON-IDENT LIES	ICAL CORI	PORA-		1 I V					
(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF SA	MPLB	NUM	BER OF CORPOR	ATIONS		AVERAGE CAPITAL PER CORPORATION ¹ (thousands of dollars)	TRADE					
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	ARITHMETIC MEAN						
Major group			•				2					
12 Retail trade ¹	742	••	••	••	858	89	5					
Minor group							ĥ					
75 Automobiles	106	77	100	105	82	68	Ĥ					
76 Men's clothing	39	37	43	48	44	86	-					
77 Department stores	87	91	93	93	9 0	236	ō					
78 Drygoods	91	90	81	96	88	91	2					
79 Furniture	41	41	43	48	46	160	2					
80 Groceries	85	79	82	92	81	87	õ					
81 Jewelry	45	46	44	48	46	115	ž					
84 Miscellaneous retail trade							S					
i Automobile accessories	58	81	· 74	82	89	91	ί.					
ii Boots and shoes	46	44	44	47	41	70	H					
iii Drugs	86	77	81	86	88	42	2					
iv Haberdashery	36	44	43	49	46	83	Z					
v Hardware	41	48	44	46	45	· 81	00					

¹ Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928. ² Data available only for 1924 and 1928 (see text). [443]

		TABLE	: 86 (continu	ed)						7
÷	(B) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SALES				(C) PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION			OME ON	[44]		
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1924	1925	1926	[.] 1927	1928	
Major group										_	
14 Retail trade	••••	•••	•••	•••	•••*	12.5 ²	•••		•••	12.4ª	
76 Automobiles											
75 Man's electrics	3.4	3.0	2.2	2.5	2.0	21.7	19.6	15.8	17.0	14.6	
77 Department stores	5.1	5.1	4.5	4.9	4.0	14.1	9.9	13.4	10.2	10.5	
79 Devende	3.0	4.2	3.6	3.5	3.4	8.5	9.4	9.1	8.0	8.6	
70 Euroituce	4.5	4.5	4.6	5.1	3.6	14.9	15.9	14.8	14.2	13.3	
	7.1	7.5	7.0	6.1	5.2	10.8	10.1	11.7	10.4	7.3	
81 Jameler	2.4	1.7	1.9	1.9	2.3	16.2	9.0	13.2	9.3	13.4	
84 Mizellanaun minit ann às	8.1	7.2	6.9	6.7	6.7	10.9	10.7	11.7	10.4	12.0	
i Automobile accessories	4.5	5.0	2.9	3.0	3.9	17.6	22.6	14.2	9.7	14.2	m
I DOOTS AND SHOES	5.2	4.6	4.0	5.2	4.6	15.9	15.3	13.9	19.9	18.9	z
in Drugs	3.8	3.7	5.3	5.8	6.2	10.1	11.7	18.3	16.6	19.5	Ð
IV Haberdasnery	3.3	4.6	4.2	4.5	3.5	7.7	11.9	11.8	10.8	10.2	q
v naroware	3.8	5.7	5.6	4.8	5.5	8.7	11.4	11.0	9.5	10.6	\$
² Data not available. ² Data available only for 1924 and	l 1928 (ae	e text).									FRIAL
(D) PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TO	TAL CAP	ITAL		1924	1925	192	?6	1927		1928	PROF
12 Retail trade ¹				12.3	•••	•	•	•••		12.0	ITS

NC A									R
/> Automobiles	1			20.6	18.7	14.9	16.1	14.3	E
76 Men'a clothi	ing			13.8	9.9	13.3	10.1	10.1	Ţ
77 Department	stores			8.4	9.1	8.8	7.8	8.4	2
78 Drygoods				14.7	15.5	14.4	14.1	13.3	H
79 Furniture				10.7	10.2	11.2	10.4	7.2	
80 Groceries				16.0	8.9	13.0	9.1	13.1	T
81 Jewelry				10.9	10.6	11.7	10.2	11.9	~
84 Miscellaneou	us retail trade	•							2
i Autom	obile accessor	ies		17.2	21.9	13.6	9.3	13.8	Ē
ii Boots	and shoes			15.0	15.2	13.6	19.5	18.6	
iii Druga				9.9	11.5	18.1	16.4	19.2	Ś
iv Haber	dashery			7.8	11.0	11.6	10.9	10.3	2
v Hardv	аге			8.7	11.3	11.1	9.5	10.6	Ā
*Data availab	le only for 19	24 and 1928	(see text).						н
(E) FREQUENC RATIONS,	CY DISTRIBUT 1925—28. M.	TIONS OF PEI Ajor group	RCENTAGES 12: RETAI	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE	ROFIT TO TO	TAL CAPITAI	L, INDIVIDU	JAL CORPO-	CORI
(E) FREQUENC RATIONS, PERCENTAGE	CY DISTRIBUT 1925–28. M.	TIONS OF PER Ajor group Accu-	RCENTAGES 12: RETA	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU-	ROFIT TO TO	TAL CAPITAI	L, INDIVIDI	ACCU-	. CORPC
(B) FREQUENC RATIONS, PERCENTAGE PROFIT	CY DISTRIBUT 1925-28. M. PERCENT-	TIONS OF PER AJOR GROUP ACCU- MULATED BY	RCENTAGES 12: RETA PERCENT-	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU- MULATED BY	ROFIT TO TO Percent-	TAL CAPITAI ACCU- MULATED BY	L, INDIVIDU Percent-	ACCU- MULATED BY	. CORPOR
(B) FREQUENC RATIONS, PERCENTACE PROFIT TO TOTAL	CY DISTRIBUT 1925-28. M. PERCENT- AGE IN	TIONS OF PER AJOR GROUP ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE	CENTAGES 12: RETA PERCENT- AGE IN	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE	ROFIT TO TO PERCENT- AGB IN	TAL CAPITAI ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE	L, INDIVIDU PERCENT- AGB IN	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE	. CORPORA
(B) FREQUENC RATIONS, Percentage Profit to total Capital	CY DISTRIBUT 1925–28. M. PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	TIONS OF PEH AJOR GROUP ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	RCENTAGES 12: RETA PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	ROFIT TO TO PERCENT- AGB IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	L, INDIVIDU Percent- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	. CORPORAT
(B) FREQUENC RATIONS, Percentage Profit to total Capital	CY DISTRIBUT 1925–28. M. PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 19	TIONS OF PEH AJOR GROUP ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 25	RCENTAGES 12: RETA PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 926	ROFIT TO TO PERCENT- AGB IN EACH CLASS 19	TAL CAPITAI ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 27	L, INDIVIDU Percent- Age in BACH CLASS 1	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 928	. CORPORATIO
(B) FREQUENC RATIONS, PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL Zero to 4	CY DISTRIBUT 1925–28. M. PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 8.1	NONS OF PER AJOR GROUP ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 225 8.1	RCENTAGES 12: RETAI PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 1 8.8	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 926 8.8	ROFIT TO TO PERCENT- AGB IN EACH CLASS 6.8	TAL CAPITAI ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 27 6.8	L, INDIVIDU Percent- age in Bach class <i>1</i> 8.0	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 928 8.0	. CORPORATION
(E) FREQUENC RATIONS, PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL Zero to 4 5 to 9	CY DISTRIBUT 1925–28. M. PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 8.1 23.1	NONS OF PER AJOR GROUP ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 225 8.1 31.2	RCENTAGES P 12: RETAI PERCENT- ACE IN BACH CLASS 12 8.8 25.1	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 926 8.8 33.9	ROFIT TO TO PERCENT- AGB IN EACH CLASS 6.8 26.9	TAL CAPITAI ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 27 6.8 33.7	L, INDIVIDU PERCENT- AGB IN BACH CLASS 1 8.0 22.8	AL CORPO- ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 928 8.0 30.8	CORPORATIONS
(E) FREQUENC RATIONS, PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14	CY DISTRIBUT 1925–28. M. PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 19 8.1 23.1 23.0	NONS OF PER AJOR GROUP ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 25 8.1 31.2 54.2	RCENTAGES P 12: RETAI PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 12 8.8 25.1 22.6	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 926 8.8 33.9 56.5	PERCENT- AGB IN EACH CLASS 6.8 26.9 23.6	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 27 6.8 33.7 57.3	L, INDIVIDU PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 1 8.0 22.8 22.0	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 928 8.0 30.8 52.8	CORPORATIONS
(E) FREQUENC RATIONS, PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19	CY DISTRIBUT 1925–28. M. PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 19 8.1 23.1 23.0 15.0	NONS OF PEH AJOR GROUP ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 25 8.1 31.2 54.2 69.2	RCENTAGES PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 12 8.8 25.1 22.6 14.0	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 926 8.8 33.9 56.5 70.5	PERCENT- AGB IN EACH CLASS 6.8 26.9 23.6 14.5	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 27 6.8 33.7 57.3 71.8	L, INDIVIDU PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 1 8.0 22.8 22.0 15.2	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 928 8.0 30.8 52.8 68.0	CORPORATIONS
 (E) FREQUENC RATIONS, PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 	CY DISTRIBUT 1925–28. M. PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 19 8.1 23.1 23.1 23.0 15.0 9.5	TIONS OF PEH AJOR GROUP ACCU- MULATED BY 8UCCESSIVE CLASSES 25 8.1 31.2 54.2 69.2 78.7	RCENTAGES 12: RETAI PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 12: 8.8 25.1 22.6 14.0 10.5	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 926 8.8 33.9 56.5 70.5 81.0	ROFIT TO TO PERCENT- AGB IN EACH CLASS 6.8 26.9 23.6 14.5 9.0	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 27 6.8 33.7 57.3 71.8 80.8	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 22.8 22.0 15.2 11.3	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 928 8.0 30.8 52.8 68.0 79.3	CORPORATIONS [4
 (E) FREQUENC RATIONS, PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 29 	CY DISTRIBUT 1925–28. M. PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 8.1 23.1 23.1 23.0 15.0 9.5 5.7	TIONS OF PEH AJOR GROUP ACCU- MULATED BY 8UCCESSIVE CLASSES 25 8.1 31.2 54.2 69.2 78.7 84.4	RCENTAGES 12: RETAI PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 1: 8.8 25.1 22.6 14.0 10.5 4.4	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 926 8.8 33.9 56.5 70.5 81.0 85.4	ROFIT TO TO PERCENT- AGB IN EACH CLASS 6.8 26.9 23.6 14.5 9.0 5.3	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 27 6.8 33.7 57.3 71.8 80.8 86.1	L, INDIVIDU PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 1 8.0 22.8 22.0 15.2 11.3 5.4	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 928 8.0 30.8 52.8 68.0 79.3 84.7	CORPORATIONS [44]
 (E) FREQUENC RATIONS, PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL Zero to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 29 30 and over 	CY DISTRIBUT 1925–28. M. PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS 19 8.1 23.1 23.0 15.0 9.5 5.7 15.6	TIONS OF PEH AJOR GROUP MULATED BY 8UCCESSIVE CLASSES 25 8.1 31.2 54.2 69.2 78.7 84.4 100.0	RCENTAGES 12: RETAI PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 12: 8.8 25.1 22.6 14.0 10.5 4.4 14.6	OF TOTAL P IL TRADE ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 926 8.8 33.9 56.5 70.5 81.0 85.4 100.0	PERCENT- AGB IN EACH CLASS 6.8 26.9 23.6 14.5 9.0 5.3 13.9	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 27 6.8 33.7 57.3 71.8 80.8 86.1 100.0	L, INDIVIDU PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS 1 8.0 22.8 22.0 15.2 11.3 5.4 15.3	AL CORPO- ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES 928 8.0 30.8 52.8 68.0 79.3 84.7 100.0	CORPORATIONS [445]

PROFITS

TABLE 87

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1925-28. MAJOR GROUP 12: RETAIL TRADE (large identical trading corporations with net incomes)

PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	PERCENT- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	
	19	25	1	926	19	27	1	1928	
Zero to 4	5.7	5.7	6.1	6.1	11.4	11.4	11.5	11.5	н
5 to 9	20.8	26.5	21.8	27.9	27.9	39.3	30.5	42.0	z
10 to 14	28.3	54.8	31.4	59.3	28.9	68.2	27.0	69.0	þ
15 to 19	23.7	78.5	22.5	81.8	16.8	85.0	16.9	85.9	q
20 to 24	8.1	86.6	9.3	91.1	5.4	90.4	7.6	93.5	Ś
25 to 29	4.6	91.2	3.6	94.7	4.6	95.0	4.3	97.8	- 2
30 and over	8.8	100.0	5.3	100.0	5.0	100.0	2.2	100.0	RIAI

CHAPTER 42

WHOLESALE TRADE

THE major group Wholesale Trade contains eight minor groups: Drugs; Drygoods; Groceries; Hardware; Importers and Exporters; Building Material and Lumber; Paper; Miscellaneous Wholesale Trade. In addition to these eight divisions, it is possible in one case, Miscellaneous Wholesale Trade, to effect a further division into subgroups. Again, in both the minor groups and subgroups, data for the small corporations series are available only for the five years 1924-28.

[447]

.

TABLE 88

.

WHOLESALE TRADE GROUPS, SMALL NON-IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES

(A) SIZE AND CHARACTER OF	AVERAGE CAPITAL PER CORPORATION ¹ (thousands of dollars)					
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	ARITHMETIC MEAN
Major group						
13 Wholesale trade ³	397	••	••	••	308	138
Minor group						
86 Drugs	43	29	42	49	43	316
87 Drygoods	39	45	47	49	47	241
88 Groceries	84	78	85	97	91	157
89 Hardware	49	49	48	48	48	229
99-85 Miscellaneous wholesale	rade					
i Furniture	26	46	48	47	46	185
ii Jewelry	46	48	48	50	46	152
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						

¹ Total capital (i.e., includes funded debt) as of December 31, 1928. ³ Data available only for 1924 and 1928 (see text).

WHOLESALE: SMALL CORPORATIONS

[449]

TABLE 88 (continued)

		1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
(B) F	PERCENTAGE INCOME TO SALE	S				
Major	group					
13	Wholesale Trade 1	•••	•••	• • •	•••	•••
Minor	group		•			
86	Drugs	2.5	3.3	2.9	3.3	2.9
87	Drygoods	2.8	2.7	2.0	3.3	2.2
88	Groceries	1.9	1.9	1.3	1.7	1.5
89	Hardware	3.3	3.0	2.9	3.0	4.0
93-85	Miscellaneous wholesale trade					
	i Furniture	3.7	3.4	3.9	2.4	4.1
	ii Jewelry	4.2	4.2	4.4	3.7	3.2
(c) p	ERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPIT	FALIZAT	ION			
Major	group					
13	Wholesale trade ¹	12.6				11.0
Minor	group					
86	Drugs	7.8	10.4	10.6	12.6	8.9
87	Drygoods	10.1	11.4	7.6	8.7	6.8
88	Groceries	9.9	10.3	9.0	8.8	11.0
89	Hardware	8.9	8.3	7.8	8.1	9.6
93-85	Miscellaneous wholesale trade					
	i Furniture	9.8	11.6	14.7	7.9	11.8
	ii Jewelry	10.7	9.6	12.5	9.6	9.1
(D) P	ERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL	CAPITA	L			
Major	group					
13	Wholesale trade ³	12.4				10.9
Minor	aroup				•••	
86	Drugs	7.7	10.4	10.5	12.4	8.8
					A.M. 1	0.0

••			4011	AU-3	AM. T	0.0
87	Drygoods	10.1	11.4	7.6	8.6	6.8
88	Groceries	9.9	10.3	9.0	8.7	10.9
89	Hardware	8.9	8.2	7.7	8.0	9.4
93-85	Miscellaneous wholesale trade					
	i Furniture	9.6	11.6	14.5	7.9	11.2
	ii Jewelry	10.7	9.6	12.4	9.6	9.0

¹ Data not available. ² Data available only for 1924 and 1928 (see text).

TABLE 88 (continued)

(E) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPO-RATIONS, 1925-28. MAJOR GROUP 13: WHOLESALE TRADE

PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Bach Class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN BACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES
	19	025	1	926	19	27	. 1	928
Zero to 4	12.2	12.2	11.9	11.9	14.4	14.4	15.0	15.0
5 to 9	26.5	38.7	25.9	37.8	29.7	44.1	26.3	41.3
10 to 14	23.4	62.1	20.1	57.9	17.6	61.7	18,8	60.1 -
15 to 19	15.7	77.8	12.8	70.7	14.1	75.8	12.3	72.4
20 to 24	7.7	85.5	5.5	76.2	8.1	83.9	9.4	81.8
25 to 29	3.7	89.2	4.3	80.5	4.0	87.9	3.2	85.0
30 and over	10.8	100.0	19.5	100.0	12.1	100.0	15.0	100.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[450]

TABLE 89

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS, 1925-28. MAJOR GROUP 13: WHOLESALE TRADE

	INOI	1925–28. MA	JOR GROU	UP 13: WH	DLESALE T	RADE	,	
	(large identic	al trading	corporations	with net is	ncomes)		
PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	PERCENT- AGE 1N EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Each Class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- AGE IN EACH CLASS	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES	PERCENT- Age in Bach class	ACCU- MULATED BY SUCCESSIVE CLASSES
	1	925	1	926	19	27	1	928
Zero to 4	13.7	13.7	16.7	16.7	14.4	14.4	18.6	18.6
5 to 9	32.5	46.2	37.0	53.7	41.2	55.6	39.3	57.9
10 to 14	32.2	78.4	27.5	81.2	28.9	84.5	29.1	87.0
15 to 19	15.4	93.8	13.3	94.5	9.0	93.5	9.1	96.1
20 to 24	3.1	96.9	1.7	96.2	2.7	96.2	2.1	98.2
25 to 29	2.8	· 99.7	2.1	98.3	24	98.6	1.1	99.3
30 and over	.3	100.0	1.7	100.0	1.4	100.0	0.7	100.0

WHOLESAL

Ð

BOOK IV PROBLEMS OF ESTIMATION AND INTERPRETATION

.

CHAPTER 43

PROBLEMS OF SAMPLING AND WEIGHTING

1. NECESSITY OF RESORTING TO SAMPLES

THERE are in the United States about half a million corporations—the exact number reporting to the Bureau of Internal Revenue in 1928 was 495,892.¹ Of these, some 95,000 engage in Manufacture, 130,000 in Trade, 19,000 in Mining, 120,000 in Finance. The remainder are classified in industrial divisions not treated in this volume, such as Railroads and Public Utilities, Agriculture, Construction, and Service (for example, laundries, hotels and moving picture theatres).

Of the 365,000 engaged in Manufacture, Trade, Finance and Mining in 1928, about 25,000 were 'inactive', that is, they reported no income data. For the remaining 340,000 active corporations in these four fields, no complete tabulations, involving the types of data presented in this volume, have ever been made. Whether based upon Government data or materials collected by other agencies, every statistical study of profits that has essayed to divide such a field as Manufacture into numerous minor industrial groups, to cover more than a one- or two-year period, and to present frequency distributions for the earnings rates of individual

[455]

¹This figure really is for the number of corporate income tax returns, which varies from about 320,000 to 495,000 in the different years between 1919 and 1928. The number of corporations is somewhat larger, since some of these tax returns are for consolidated companies. See Ch. 46.

corporations, has had to rely upon samples of one sort or another. We have done likewise throughout the greater part of this volume. Accordingly, even though our data constitute a more comprehensive set of detailed materials than those heretofore available, we still have to ask, how large, both absolutely and relatively, how representative, how typical, are our several samples?

In doing so, it will be necessary not only to discuss the samples already presented, but also to introduce others which because of their smaller size, or for technical reasons, have not been discussed in the parts of the volume intended for general readers. In some instances, these new sets of samples either correspond with or overlap upon some portions of those previously presented, and may thus serve as a check upon their validity. Also, the methods by which some of the earlier samples already presented have in several instances been combined, in order to yield certain estimates and results contained in other parts of the volume, need here to be explained.

2. DIVISION OF TOTAL FIELD OR UNIVERSE: MANUFACTURING AS AN ILLUSTRATION

The 90,000 active corporations in the country engaged in manufacture, of course, include enterprises that are large or small, that in a given year have net incomes or deficits, that have been engaged in business for many years or for only a few years, that are consistently successful or unsuccessful, or that have enjoyed neither conspicuously good nor conspicuously bad fortune.

Of this hybrid and complex universe or total, the corporations of our samples constitute but a small percentage by number. But the manner in which each sample has been drawn, or the relation it bears to the general aggregate of

[456]

the original materials, affects greatly its representativeness and significance. For no one of the samples is so heterogeneous as is the whole of which each is a part. Each typifies rather, to a degree more or less accurate, a particular portion or segment of the entire universe of manufacturing corporations, meaning by 'entire universe' the approximately 70,000 to 90,000 manufacturing corporations of the country in each year between 1919 and 1928. It will be desirable first to comment more specifically upon the character of this 'general universe', then to relate our samples quantitatively, as best we can, to its several segments.

For this purpose, we first divide the entire universe of manufacturing corporations into two broad portions: corporations with net incomes and those without net incomes. The 'with net' group amounts to roughly 60 per cent of the total number. Thus in all years from 1919 to 1928 the number of manufacturing corporations with net incomes runs from about 50,000 to 55,000 a year, except in 1921 when the figure was slightly less than 40,000.

We may further divide the 'with net' group into various segments according to the amount of income received by each of the corporations comprising it. Absolute amount of net income is not by any means the best index of size amount of sales, capital or even total assets would be a better basis—but it is the only one available in the data for all of the country's corporations.² However, while not the best index of *size*, it affords one important criterion by which the representativeness of our samples may be judged; and for this purpose the corporations earning net incomes

² In the analysis in this chapter the data for all corporations in the country, or broad segments thereof, are taken from the annual reports of the Bureau of Internal Revenue, *Statistics of Income*. The 1931 volume happily has begun the practice of classifying income and balance sheet data by size of assets; that volume, however, became available only at the end of 1933.

may be further divided into three broad groups: those with incomes of less than \$2,000; those with incomes between \$2,000 and \$50,000; and those with incomes of over \$50,000.^a

These net incomes, as classified in the data for all corporations in the country, are *taxable net incomes*.⁴ They thus exclude both interest receipts upon tax-exempt securities and intercorporate dividends, that is, dividends received by one corporation upon the capital stocks that it owns in other corporations. The net income items in our several samples, however, are so computed as to include these tax-exempt items: interest on Government, state and municipal securities and dividends received from other corporations (exempted from taxation under the income tax law because the tax on such dividends is already paid by the corporation earning the income originally). Thus our income comparisons in later sections will be of somewhat different items. But the discrepancy here, while great in the case of certain individual corporations having substantial intercorporate

³Strictly speaking, incomes of from \$2,000 to \$49,999, and of \$50,000 or over. The reports of the Bureau of Internal Revenue, however, in some years show class intervals in which the upper limit of one class appears as the lower limit of the next class; with respect to this point there is here no need to be meticulous.

"This statement is subject to two qualifications, neither of which is important for our purposes here. One is that the incomes contained in the frequency distributions of *Statistics of Income* for any year are actual or current year net carnings, and in the case of corporations which had *net losses* in the year previous, the whole of the current year income is not taxable, but only the amount of the income after deduction of the 'prior year loss'. In some years, the losses of more than one year back have been deductible. Another qualification is that domestic corporations with net incomes of \$25,000 or less may deduct \$2,000 as a special credit or exemption, before determining the income on which a tax liability is incurred. But except for these two types of case, the net incomes shown in the *Statistics of Income* distributions discussed in this chapter are taxable incomes, i.e., unlike the net incomes shown for corporations of our various samples, they exclude non-taxable items, chiefly those of dividends received and interest on tax-exempt securities.

[458]

holdings, is probably not serious by and large. It is certainly not serious, at least, so far as our general arithmetic mean calculations of the return upon investment are concerned. For the entire universe of manufacturing corporations of the country with net incomes, the sum of tax-exempt interest and dividends received amounted (in 1928) to 11.3 per cent of the net income reckoned without those two items. Thus, related to an investment base of 46 billion dollars, the return without the inclusion of the two items is 10.4 per cent as compared with 11.6 per cent when they are included.

As said, in considering the return earned by any particular corporation, the inclusion or exclusion of tax-exempt income may make a large difference. But it probably makes slight difference with respect to the frequency distributions of the rates of earnings upon investment received by individual corporations; for the proportion of individual corporations receiving tax-exempt incomes that are at all substantial relative to their taxable incomes is guite small. That this is so follows from the generally low ratio of aggregate tax-exempt income to the aggregate taxable income of all corporations combined. The proportion is so small that for any list of even a few dozen companies the relative standing in terms of earnings rates is probably about the same taking either set of figures.⁸ Evidence supporting this a priori reasoning is available in data for two manufacturing groups, chosen quite at random and in which an experiment was undertaken to check upon this point. For the group, Bakery Products,⁶ containing 18 corporations each possessing some tax-exempt income, but each having a

⁴ This could, of course, also be so, theoretically, if all corporations received tax-exempt incomes in exactly the same proportion to the taxable incomes—but we know this is not the case.

⁶ Sub-code No. 0290 in the *Source-Book*, corresponding in classification with Minor group No. 1, the experimental data for which are given on p. 201 of that volume.

total net income of over \$100,000, there were computed for each corporation the percentages of earnings upon capitalization both with and without the inclusion of the taxexempt items. The rank correlation between the two series was perfect: +1.0. For 32 other corporations of the same group but with total net incomes of from \$2,000 to \$100,-000 each, the rank correlation coefficient was again perfect. The second group similarly analyzed, Radio manufacturing, yielded almost exactly the same results.7 That the same thing is true of most other individual industrial groups is not, of course, established by these experiments, but they afford presumptive evidence that probably no serious error is made upon this score in comparing distributions of the two types of net income for large groups of corporations. In other words, we are justified in saying in this, as in many other connections, that the presence of individually inadequate items of data, taken en masse, often may not interfere with fairly accurate final results-not because the errors happily cancel one another, but because the individual anomalies constitute too small a part of the aggregate to cause any great general distortion.

With these preliminary observations in mind, we may now examine our several samples, *seriatim*.⁸

3. SAMPLES FOR THE MANUFACTURING DIVISION

a. Large Manufacturing Corporation Series

i. Fragmentary descriptions of this sample have been given in previous chapters, but we have now to describe it

[460]

⁷ For 62 corporations with incomes of over \$100,000 the coefficient was +.9907, while for 35 corporations with incomes of from \$2,000 to \$100,000 it was +.9995.

⁸All that has been said in this section concerning the definition of net income applies to the Trade, Finance and Mining samples discussed in later sections quite as much as to Manufacturing.

more precisely and to evaluate it in detailed terms. The sample consists of identical corporations numbering 2,046 in every year of the period 1919–28. Consequently all the corporations included are at least ten years old, and many, of course, have been engaged in business much longer. Containing identical corporations throughout the period, the sample in every year consists of some corporations with negative and some with positive incomes, although, as will appear shortly, the number of deficits in any one year other than 1921 is slight.

Similarly, the effect of industrial mergers is in no way eliminated. Any growth in the size of a given corporation because of combination with other corporations during the period is reflected in the absolute data for sales, investment and net income, either for the sample as a whole (that is, All Manufacturing) or for the major or minor group in which the corporation is classified. Although impairing somewhat the significance of the absolute figures *per se*, this factor does not at all invalidate either comparisons between the growth rates of the absolute data or the time comparison of the percentages of earnings upon investment, as the effect of a merger is to increase the sales and income as well as the capital investment of a company.

As regards industrial classification, each corporation has been kept in exactly the same minor group throughout the period; the reason for this, and the bearing of mergers upon it, are discussed in Ch. 46.

The large corporations series contains only a small proportion of the entire universe of 70,000 to 90,000 manufacturing corporations—from 2.1 to 3.0 per cent in different years. But the total net income of the sample runs from 57 to 66 per cent of that for all manufacturing corporations of the country between 1922 and 1928.⁹ In terms of volume of business, sales for the large corporations sample amount to from 42 to 46 per cent in different years of the same period. In terms of investment, the sample contains from 43 to 47 per cent of that for all manufacturing corporations in the country during the years 1926–28.¹⁰ All in all, our large corporations series therefore constitutes a very large proportion of the activities of all manufacturing corporations in the country.

But so far as profitableness is concerned, the sample is somewhat biased in an upward direction. The fact that it is composed exclusively of corporations that have been in business for ten years or more exercises a kind of commercial or financial natural selection—the great numbers of corporations that constantly go in and out of business, each lasting but a few years, are not even touched. This qualification is not so important in manufacturing as in trading, where the length of business life, particularly for the smaller enterprises, is proverbially short; nevertheless it must be said that both are better samples of successful large corporations than of unsuccessful.

This is not to say that 'large corporations earn more than small ones', for whether this is so depends upon one's definition of 'large' and 'small'. The analysis of earnings rates by size of corporation *within* the large corporations sample, as presented in Chapter 5, showed that corporations with capitals of over \$500,000 earn profits at lower rates than

⁹ Comparable data between sample and universe prior to 1922 are not available.

¹⁰ The investment figures for all manufacturing corporations in the country are estimates, subject, however, to rather small margins of error, as explained in Appendix A. Closely comparable data for other years on investment for all manufacturing corporations in the country are not available, but the ratios in question are doubtless not very different; we are justified in inferring this because of the figures for sales just cited for a longer period.

do those of smaller size. That analysis was not in terms of minor groups, but probably in nearly every specific industry there is an optimum beyond which it does not pay most enterprises to expand—at least, so far as the rates at which their capitals earn profits are concerned. But the entire group of all manufacturing corporations in the country (including those which fail to earn net incomes as well as those which do so) undoubtedly contains numerous enterprises of such small size that they enjoy the economies of large-scale production, relatively speaking, hardly at all, while our large corporations sample may include many companies operating at or near the peak of efficiency as well as those which have passed it. Then, too, many of the very small corporations ¹¹ -often they are 'close corporations' owned and operated by members of a family-deduct charges for officers' salaries which are much larger relative to the income before such deductions than is the case with the generally larger concerns. Frequently these deductions, combined with other factors, may cause nominal deficits to be shown by such very small corporations. The proportion of deficits among all manufacturing corporations in the country is, of course, far higher than in our large corporations sample. For all manufacturing corporations of the country no data are available that divide the universe into any groups according to size of capital, or into any size groups in relation to the profitableness of operations upon any basis of assets or net worth; but we can obtain some general inkling as to the size of the corporations which showed net incomes as compared with those which reported deficits by computing the average sales per enterprise for each class of corporation. In 1928 this figure for all manufacturing corporations in the

¹¹ The expression 'very small corporations' is used here so as to avoid any identification with our 'small corporations' sample (which includes corporations with net incomes only) discussed in the following section.

country with net incomes was almost exactly one million dollars, whereas for all corporations reporting deficits it was only \$258,000.

Indeed, in our large corporations series the proportion of enterprises with deficits is in most years very low. It runs less than 4 per cent of the companies in all years except 1920 and 1921, when it is 6 and 21 per cent respectively. As a result, our large corporations series as a whole (the corporations with deficits combined with those with net incomes) between 1924 and 1928 earns the following rates of net income to capitalization:

1924	1925	1926	19 <i>2</i> 7	1928
10%	12%	12%	10%	11%

whereas all of the manufacturing corporations in the country for which we have estimated data for those same years show:

1924	1925	1926	<i>192</i> 7	1928
8%	9%	9%	7%	9%

As a sample of *all* manufacturing corporations in the country, therefore, the large corporations series must be accepted with this clear qualification: the arithmetic mean rate of return is too high. There is, however, no evidence to indicate that *fluctuations* in the data of the large corporations series over the period 1919–28 do not satisfactorily reflect the relative *changes* that take place in the data for all manufacturing corporations in the data of the large corporations series sample when subdivided into minor groups are representative of changes for other than such large corporations is, however, a matter which we shall not discuss until later in this chapter when other samples are compared with the one in question.

ii. But as representative of all of the manufacturing

[464]

corporations in the country with net incomes, the large corporations series, so far as we can tell, seems indeed to be an excellent sample, at least in terms of the calculation of arithmetic mean ratios for manufacture as a whole. If we exclude the corporations with deficits from both sets of figures, our large corporations sample, in respect of number, again constitutes a small proportion of all the manufacturing corporations in the country; the representation in the various years of the period is only 3.6 to 4.4 per cent, although in terms of the amount of net income received. the large corporations sample accounts for from 49 to 56 per cent of that received by all the 'with net' manufacturing corporations in the country between 1922 and 1928. Although containing only a 4 per cent representation by number the generally representative character of the sample's 'with net' corporations is evidenced by the closeness with which the earnings rates shown by it correspond with those for all such corporations in the country, in the three years of the period for which the latter data are available. The percentages of net income to capitalization shown by the sample in 1926, 1927 and 1928 are:

while those for all manufacturing corporations in the country are:

12.3 10.9

12.0

iii. All that has been said thus far, however, relates to the degree of validity attaching to the large corporations sample for purposes of arithmetic mean results. We may now go somewhat beyond this and inquire into its representativeness with respect to certain frequency distributions. The two inquiries are in a mathematical sense, of course,
related, but it is quite conceivable that a sample might yield fairly good arithmetic mean data and yet not be typical in terms of the distribution of its component items. Accordingly we may compare the composition of our sample as best we can with that of the particular segment of all manufacturing corporations from which it is drawn and which it most nearly typifies.

It will be recalled that earlier in this chapter it was stated that a frequency distribution by size of net income is available for all of the country's corporations. This net income figure does not, however, include the tax-exempt items contained in the income of our samples. It will further be recalled that, for purposes of comparison with our samples, the manufacturing corporations of the country earning net incomes can be broadly classed into three groups: less than \$2,000; \$2,000 to \$50,000; and over \$50,000. Our large corporations sample is predominantly of incomes of \$50,000 or over; in all years except 1921 approximately 90 per cent of the corporations of the sample have incomes of over this amount; and even in 1921 about 80 per cent have such incomes. We may thus regard it as belonging to the 'over-\$50,000' category. Both by number and by income received, the 'with net' corporations of the sample constitute a substantial proportion of this 'over \$50,000 universe'. In no year does the number of corporations constitute less than a 23 per cent representation, while in several years it runs over 25 per cent. In terms of the amount of income the sample contains from 55 to 68 per cent of the total income received by all of the country's manufacturing corporations with over \$50,000 incomes.

But 'the incomes above \$50,000' includes a broad range; and we may now ask exactly how their relative distributions in our sample correspond with that for all manufacturing

[466]

corporations in the country with such incomes, in the years 1920–28.¹²

For this purpose we set up six class intervals for size of income (it is to be noted that they are uneven): \$50,000-\$100,000; \$100,000-\$250,000; \$250,000-\$500,000; \$500,000 to \$1,000,000; \$1,000,000 to \$5,000,000; and \$5,000,000 and over. In all of these classes combined there are in most years approximately 8,000 corporations in the 'all manufacturing corporations of the country' distribution and approximately 1,800 corporations in each year in the distribution for the large corporations sample.¹³

The two distributions, for 1928, are given in Tables 90 and 91. But in all years the general results are much the

TABLE 90

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF NET INCOMES FOR ALL MANU-FACTURING CORPORATIONS IN THE UNITED STATES WITH INCOMES OF OVER \$50,000 IN 1928

SIZE OF INCOME	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL
\$50,000- 100,000	3,284	40.0
100,000- 250,000	2,647	32.3
250,000- 500,000	1,049	12.8
500,000-1,000,000	627	7.6
1,000,000-5,000,000	499	6.1
5,000,000 and over	101	1.2
Total	8,207	100.0

same. In the case of all manufacturing corporations of the country approximately 40 per cent of the total frequencies

¹² Data are not available to make comparisons for 1919.

¹⁰ The number of corporations is not exactly the same in each year for the sample, first, because deficits in successive years are not, of course, necessarily repeated by the identical corporations; second, because the few incomes of under \$50,000 are in each year omitted from the calculations. (They belong, of course, to no one of the brackets above \$50,000. The extent to which their exclusion affects the results may be seen by examining Table 100.)

TABLE 91

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF TOTAL NET INCOMES FOR COMPANIES WITH INCOMES OF OVER \$50,000, IN THE LARGE MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SAMPLE, 1928

SIZE OF INCOME	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGI OF TOTAL
\$50,000- 100,000	290	17.0
100,000- 250,000	500	29.3
250,000- 500,000	354	20.8
500,000-1,000,000	256	15.0
1,000,000-5,000,000	222	13.0
5,000,000 and over	84	4.9
Total	1,706	100.0

are found in the \$50,000-\$100,000 class interval; but in the case of the large corporations sample, in most years only about 16 or 17 per cent of the frequencies are found in this class.

The next class, the \$100,000-\$250,000 interval, contains approximately 32 per cent of the total frequencies in both cases.

The third class, the \$250,000-\$500,000 interval, contains about 13 per cent of the frequencies in the case of all manufacturing corporations in the country, but about 20 per cent of them in the case of the sample.

The next bracket, the \$500,000-\$1,000,000 class, contains about 7 per cent of the frequencies for all corporations in the country, but about 15 per cent for the sample; and the next class, the \$1,000,000-\$5,000,000 group, contains about 5 per cent of the frequencies for all corporations of the country, but about 12 per cent for the sample. The highest class, the \$5,000,000 and over bracket, contains about 1 per cent of the frequencies for all corporations of the country, but about 4 per cent for the sample.

The correspondence between the two distributions is therefore far from close. Each set of distributions in itself

[468]

[469]

shows a high degree of consistency from year to year. In nearly all years, however, the proportion of frequencies in the \$50,000 to \$100,000 interval is more than twice as great for all corporations of the country as for the large corporations series; while the proportion of frequencies in all of the brackets above \$250,000 is substantially less for all manufacturing corporations in the country than for the sample. This may be partly explained by the difference in the definition of 'net income'. The inclusion of tax-exempt income in the sample figures undoubtedly results in some 'pushing-up' effect: it may take frequencies that would otherwise be in the lowest class and place them in the next higher one, and so on successively up through the brackets. The highest class interval, the open-end category of \$5 million and over, includes relatively four or five times as many in the sample as in all manufacturing corporations. It is quite probable that the very largest corporations receive relatively the highest amounts of tax-exempt income, particularly in the form of intercorporate dividends. But with all due respect to this factor it still remains true that our large corporations sample possesses a substantial measure of bias in the direction of 'bigness'. As of 1928 the arithmetic mean capital per corporation for the sample (companies with net incomes) is \$12 million, whereas that for all manufacturing corporations with net incomes (no figure is available for just those with incomes of over \$50,000). is only \$800,000.

In Tables 92 and 93 are given the quartiles for both the size of capital per corporation and the amount of income per corporation, for the 2,046 companies of the sample, in all years.

iv. We may now, with somewhat less elaboration, indicate the character of the large corporations sample when it is divided into major manufacturing groups.

TABLE 92

QUARTILES FOR SIZE OF CAPITAL ¹ PER CORPORATION. IN LARGE MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SAMPLE, 1919--28

Q 1	<i>1919</i> \$435,585	<i>1920</i> \$555.000	<i>1921</i> \$632,699	<i>1922</i> \$617.411	1923 \$756,799
Q2	951,389	1,196,121	1,313,953	1,299,257	1,487,762
Q3	2,672,297	3,286,232	3,457,692	3,488,095	3,995,536
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Q1	\$799,665	\$846,201	\$871,114	\$902,624	\$925,578
92	1,600,575	1,714,660	1,793,814	1,880,435	1,972,222
Q3	4,335,366	4,618,750	4,695,946	4,914,474	5,322,967

¹ For 1924-28, this item includes bonded debt.

TABLE 93

QUARTILES FOR SIZE OF NET INCOME' PER CORPORATION IN LARGE MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SAMPLE, 1919-28

Q 1	<i>191</i> 9 \$138,753	<i>1920</i> \$104,985	<i>1921</i> \$14,250	<i>1922</i> \$93,101	<i>1923</i> \$116,406
Q2	245,613	218,316	87,833	219,847	242,599
Q3	660,088	495,013	240,245	495,937	625,000
	1924	1925	<i>1926</i>	19 <i>2</i> 7	1928
Q1	\$89,134	\$101,696	\$91,508	\$83,422	\$76,855
Q2	210,513	235,130	226,444	215,470	217,900
Q3	495,474	588,102	591,236	538,174	572,977

¹ In all years, this item includes non-taxable income.

It has been stated that by number the large corporations sample constitutes only a 2.1 to 3.0 per cent representation of all manufacturing corporations in the country. Divided into its 11 major groups and each of these then related to the figures for all manufacturing corporations in the country in each group, the ratios prevailing in the several groups in different years range from about 1 to about 7 per cent. In the Food group the range is from 1.4 to 1.7 per cent; in Metals from 3.0 to 4.9 per cent; in Paper from 5.5 to 7.3 per cent.

The sales of the corporations of the sample, however,

in 1928 amounted to from 18 to 69 per cent of the total business done by all the country's corporations in each major group; and the net income received in the same year constituted from 34 to 88 per cent. The data are given in Tables 94 and 95.

If only companies with net incomes in both the sample and for all manufacturing corporations of the country be

TABLE 94

SALES OF THE LARGE MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SAMPLE COMPARED WITH THE SALES OF ALL CORPORA-TIONS IN THE UNITED STATES, BY MAJOR GROUPS, 1928

(in millions of dollars)

			PERCENTAGE OF
	ALL		SAMPLE TO ALL
τ	INITED STATES	SAMPLE	UNITED STATES
Major group			
1 Foods	\$13,955	\$7,026	50
2 Textiles	7,675	1,389	18
3 Leather	1,686	380	23
4 Rubber	1,350	935	69
5 Lumber	2,731	541	20
6 Paper	1,665	501	30
7 Printing and publishing	2,455	623	25
8 Chemicals	8,634	4,469	52
9 Clay, stone and glass	1,605	550	34
10 Metals	20,266	11,266	56
11 Special manufacturing			
industries	2,340	539	23
Total, all manufacture	\$64,361	\$28,219	44

taken, the representation by number for the several major groups in the various years of the period ranges from somewhat over 1 per cent to about 10 per cent. In Foods the range is from 2.2 to 2.6 per cent; in Metals from 5.0 to 7.9 per cent; in Paper from 7.9 to 10.3 per cent. Although data are not available with which to segregate the figures for the corporations of the sample with net incomes only,

TABLE 95

NET INCOME OF THE LARGE MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SAMPLE COMPARED WITH THE NET INCOME OF ALL CORPORA-TIONS IN THE UNITED STATES, BY MAJOR GROUPS, 1928

			PERCENTAGE OF
	ALL		SAMPLE TO ALL
τ	INITED STATES	SAMPLE	UNITED STATES
Major group			
1 Foods	\$598	\$307	51
2 Textiles	216	80	37
3 Leather	53	29	55
4 Rubber	8	7	88
5 Lumber	82	44	54
6 Paper	121	41	34
7 Printing and publishing	242	98	40
8 Chemicals	1,081	780	72
9 Clay, stone and glass	147	89	61
10 Metals	1,768	1,175	66
11 Special manufacturing	-		
industries	164	85	52
Total, all manufacture	\$4,480	\$2,735	61

(in millions of dollars)

by major groups, the representation in such terms of course runs much larger.

v. It has been noted, however, that the large manufacturing corporations series is predominently a sample of corporations with net incomes of over \$50,000, in most years, the corporations included in it constituting by number approximately 25 per cent of all manufacturing corporations in the country with such incomes. Among major groups the range of such representation in different years is from 12 to 38 per cent.¹⁴ In the Food group it is from 20

¹⁴ Except for the Special Manufacturing Industries group, which shows 10 per cent in one year. The ranges given above are for the several groups in the various years from 1920 to 1928, but exclude the figures for 1921, which are in most groups by far the highest percentages of all years, running to about 50 per cent in several groups. They are, of course, so high because in 1921 the number of corporations in the country with net incomes of over \$50,000 showed a more substantial decline than did the to 27 per cent; in Metals from 25 to 40 per cent; in Paper from 23 to 40 per cent.

vi. Just as we compared the frequency distributions of the sample and of all corporations in the country for All Manufacturing, so may we also compare (Tables 96 and 97) similar distributions (again for companies with net incomes of over \$50,000) by major groups for 1928. The group numbers correspond, of course, with those used in Book II.

The ratios are much the same as in the distribution for All Manufacturing. In every group the relative number of frequencies in the \$50,000-\$100,000 class is far lower for the sample than for all corporations in the country, in some instances only one-half or one-third as great. In the next interval, the \$100,000-\$250,000 class, the relative numbers are about the same; while in the upper brackets the proportions of frequencies in the samples in the various groups are considerably higher than those for all manufacturing corporations in the country.

In part these discrepancies are explicable upon the grounds already set forth in connection with those noted above for All Manufacturing; but again the samples in nearly all of our major groups are somewhat biased in the direction of 'bigness'.¹⁸

number in the sample, thus making the sample relatively a much larger one; and it seems fairer to omit this exceptional year in characterizing the samples' representativeness for the period 1920–28 in general. As stated previously, data for 1919 are not available.

³⁸ The reasoning of this and preceding passages does not imply the existence of any exact correlation between the amount of a corporation's income and the size of its capital. Probably no close correlation exists--and to assume one would beg the whole question of differences in earnings rates between corporations and industries. But this is not to say that very *broad* differences in the size of incomes, by and large, cannot serve to point differences in the size of capital which take the same direction. It is not necessarily true that a corporation with an income of \$500,000 will have any larger capital than one with an income of \$400,000; but it *is* generally

TABLE 96

NET INCOMES FOR ALL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS WITH INCOMES OF OVER \$50,000 IN THE UNITED STATES, 1928

	MAJOR (GROUP 1	MAJOR	GROUP 2	MAJOR (GROUP 3	MAJOR	ROUP 4	
	NUMBER OF	PERCENTAGE	NUMBER OF	PERCENTAGE	NUMBER OF	PERCENTAGE	NUMBER OF P	ERCENTAGE	
SIZE OF INCOME	CORPORATIONS	OF TOTAL							
\$50,000- 100,000	432	41.1	452	42.5	77	40.2	22	28.2	
100,000- 250,000	350	33.4	351	33.0	66	34.2	23	29.5	
250,000- 500,000	110	10.5	145	13.6	26	13.5	14	17.9	
500,000-1,000,000	71	6.8	79	7.4	18	9.4	12	15.4	
1,000,000-5,000,000	67	6.4	35	3.3	5	2.6	6	7.7	
5,000,000 and ove	r 19	1.8	2 ·	0.2	1	0.1	1	1.3	
Total	1,049	100.0	1,064	100.0	193	100.0	78	100.0	
•	MAJOR C	TROUP 5	MAJOR	GROUP 6	MAJOR (CROUP 7	MAJOR	ROUP 8	
\$50,000- 100,000	278	48.5	119	36.8	290	45.2	306	36.3	
100,000- 250,000	205	35.8	101	31.2	209	32.6	235	27.9	-
250,000- 500,000	51	8.9	52	16.0	70	10.9	128	15.2	Z
500,000-1,000,000	27	4.7	31	9.5	41	6.4	75	8.9	9
1,000,000-5,000,000	12	2.1	21	6.5	31	4.8	76	9 .0	_ <u>G</u>
5,000,000 and ove	r 0	0.0	0	0.0	3	0.1	23	2.7	T S
Total	573	100.0	324	100.0	644	100.0	843	100.0	×
•	MAJOR C	GROUP 9	MAJOR	GROUP 10	MAJOR G	ROUP 11			Ā
\$50,000- 100,000) 174	43.5	908	36.0	226	44.0			Ē
100,000- 250,000	126	31.5	817	32.3	164	31.9			
250,000- 500,000	39	9.8	350	13.9	64	12.5			면
500,000-1,000,000	25	6.3	218	8.6	30	5.8			~
1,000,000-5,000,000) 31	7.8	187	7.4	28	5.4			
5,000,000 and ove	r 4	1.0	46	1.8	2	0.4			
Total	399	100.0	2,526	100.0	514	100.0			ΤS

TABLE 97

TOTAL NET INCOMES FOR COMPANIES WITH INCOMES OF OVER \$50,000 IN THE LARGE MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SAMPLE, 1928

	MAJOR GROUP 1		MAJOR GROUP 2		MAJOR GROUP 3		MAJOR GROUP 4		-
	NUMBER OF	PERCENTAGE	NUMBER OF 1	PERCENTAGE	NUMBER OF	PERCENTAGE	NUMBER OF P	ERCENTAGE	z
SIZE OF INCOME	CORPORATIONS	OF TOTAL	CORPORATIONS	OF TOTAL	CORPORATIONS	OF TOTAL	CORPORATIONS	OF TOTAL	୍କର
\$50,000- 100,000	25	13.4	46	21.7	6	15.0	2	11.1	~
100,000- 250,000) 61	32.8	65	30.6	15	37.5	4	22.3	5
250,000- 500,000) 28	15.1	47	22.2	12	30.0	8	44.5	4
500,000-1,000,000	30	16.1	39	18.4	5	12.5	1	5.5	<u> </u>
1,000,000-5,000,000	28	15.1	15	7.1	1	2.5	2	11.1	\$
5,000,000 and ove.	r 14	7.5	0	0.0	1	2.5	1	5.5	Ē
Total	186	100.0	212	100.0	40	100.0	18	100.0	IG
	MAJOR C	ROUP 5	MAJOR	GROUP 6	MATOR	ROUP 7	MATOR	BOUP 8	Ξ
\$50,000- 100,000) 50	33.5	18	19.6	18	20.3	18	9.8	H
100,000- 250,000) 54	36.3	31	33.7	33	37.1	43	23.5	- mi
250,000- 500,000) 28	18.8	21	22.8	15	16.8	44	24.0	Z
500,000-1,000,000) 11	7.4	14	15.2	10	11.2	27	14.8	ନ
1,000,000-5,000,000) 6	4.0	8	8.7	10	11.2	31	17.0	
5,000,000 and ove	r 0	0.0	0	0.0	3	3.4	20	10.9	
Total	149	100.0	92	100.0	89	100.0	183	100.0	
	MAJOR C	ROUP 9	MAJOR (ROUP 10	MAJOR G	ROUP 11			
\$50,000- 100,000) 24	25.0	71	12.7	12	15.0			
100,000- 250,000	20	20.8	153	27.3	21	26.2			
250,000- 500,000) 14	14.6	117	20.8	20	25.0			
500,000-1,000,000) 15	15.6	89	15.9	15	18.8			
1,000,000-5,000,000) 19	19.8	92	16.4	10	12.5			
5,000,000 and ove	г 4	4.2	39	6.9	2	2.5			4
Total	96	100.0	561	100.0	80	100.0			5

AMPL

Ś

b. Small Manufacturing Corporations Series

i. This is a sample which contributed data for manufacturing as a whole, for all of the major groups, and for some of the minor groups discussed in Book III. It consists of non-identical corporations for the ten-year period, from 1,421 to 1,665 in each year. All have positive incomes, the majority between \$2,000 and \$50,000 per corporation. Just as in the large corporations sample it was stated that only about 10 per cent of the companies had incomes below \$50,-000, so here it may be said that of the small corporations in the present sample only 11 or 12 per cent in any year (other than 1921) have incomes that exceed \$50,000; and none have incomes below \$2,000. The small manufacturing corporations sample is therefore predominently representative of that segment of the universe containing corporations with incomes ranging from \$2,000 to \$50,000, and may be so regarded for purposes of comparison and appraisal.

By number the sample contains from 5 to 6 per cent of the manufacturing corporations in the country with such net incomes. In terms of income received, however, the proportion in various years runs from 8 to 10 per cent. As representative of all of the country's manufacturing corporations with net income, in terms of arithmetic mean earnings rates, the small manufacturing corporations sample comes almost as close to perfect correspondence as did the large corporations series. Again data are available to make this comparison in three years. The percentages of income to capitalization shown by the small corporations sample in 1926, 1927 and 1928 are:

true that companies which in most years have incomes of \$5,000,000 will have larger capitals than those with incomes of \$500,000. Upon this basis, therefore, it must be said that the data which have been reviewed at least suggest that our large corporations sample is biased in an upward direction with respect to the size of the corporations that compose it. The exact extent of this bias, is not, of course, susceptible of measurement.

[476]

11.5

11.7 11.6

while those for all manufacturing corporations in the country are:

ii. We may next compare the small corporations sample with its 'specific universe' (that is, with that segment of the universe containing corporations with net incomes of from \$2,000 to \$50,000) by examining the frequency distributions for the size of net incomes. These incomes can be classed for both the sample and the corporations of the country. For this purpose it is possible to obtain comparable distributions containing only three class intervals: incomes of \$2,000-\$5,000; those of \$5,000-\$10,000; and those of \$10,000-\$50,000.

Here, in nearly all years, a very close correspondence indeed is apparent between the two distributions for the sample and the universe. In nearly all years, both for the sample and for all manufacturing corporations in the country, between about 30 and 35 per cent of the total frequencies are found in the lowest class interval. In all years approximately 23 per cent of the frequencies, in both, are found in the middle interval. And in all years, between about 40 and 45 per cent of the frequencies, for both the sample and all manufacturing corporations in the country, appear in the highest class interval.¹⁶ The distributions appear in Tables 98 and 99.

iii. The small corporations sample may now be divided into major groups for characterization with respect to representativeness.

¹⁸ As in the similar analyses undertaken for the large corporations sample, the distribution of incomes for the sample excludes the relatively few corporations with incomes not falling within any of the class limits designated.

[478]

TABLE 98

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF NET INCOMES FOR ALL MANU-FACTURING CORPORATIONS IN THE UNITED STATES WITH INCOMES FROM \$2,000 TO \$50,000 IN 1923

SIZE OF INCOME	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL
\$2,000- 5,000	11,781	39.9
5,000-10,000	6,282	21.2
10,000-50,000	11,492	38.9
Total	29,555	100.0

TABLE 99

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF TOTAL NET INCOMES FOR COM-PANIES WITH INCOMES FROM \$2,000 TO \$50,000 IN THE SMALL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SAMPLE, 1928

SIZE OF INCOME	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL
\$2,000- 5,000	440	34.8
5,000-10,000	291	23.0
10,000-50,000	533	42.2
Total	1,264	100.0

For the Manufacturing division it has been said that the corporations of the sample afford a 5 to 6 per cent representation by number in nearly all years. For the several major groups this representation ranges from about 4 to 11 per cent.¹⁷ The sample in the Food group contains from 4.5 per cent to 8.5 per cent of all manufacturing corporations in the country with net incomes of from \$2,000-\$50,000; in the Metals group from 5.3 to 9.5 per cent; in the Paper group from 5.2 to 9.3 per cent. In terms of amount of net income received, the samples of the major groups show representations ranging in 1928 from 5.2 to 9.9 per cent.

¹⁷ Excluding figures of 2 and 3 per cent in several years for the Special Manufacturing Industries group.

The frequency distributions of net incomes for the several major groups of the sample in 1928 correspond rather closely with those for all manufacturing corporations in the country with incomes of from \$2,000-\$50,000. Where discrepancies are to be found, they are seldom excessive, and in large measure may probably be explained on grounds of the sort discussed in previous sections. A fairly typical group is Metals, in which the lowest interval of the sample shows 32 per cent of the frequencies as against 36 per cent in the universe; the middle bracket 22 per cent in both cases; and the highest interval, 46 per cent as against 42 per cent. The distributions for all groups, in 1928, are given in Tables 100 and 101.

c. Small Manufacturing Corporations Sample with Net Incomes under \$2,000

This is a sample of non-identical corporations with positive net incomes, most of which are less than \$2,000. Data are available in this sample for the five years 1924-28 only. The proportion of companies with incomes of \$2,000 or over amounts to no more than 5 per cent of the companies in the sample, in any year except 1928, when about onefifth have higher incomes. Virtually all of these larger incomes are, however, less than \$5,000. The number of corporations in the series varies in the five years as follows: 1924, 570; 1925, 406; 1926, 1,008, 1927, 703; 1928, 1,-118. Most of the corporations included are small, the arithmetic mean capitalization ranging from \$56,000 to \$89,000 in different years. In no year do more than 2 per cent of the corporations included have capitals of over \$500,000; and in all years at least 89 per cent have capitals under \$250.000.

By number the corporations of this sample constitute a 2.3 to 6.5 per cent representation of all manufacturing cor-

[480[]]

TABLE 100

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF NET INCOMES FOR ALL MANU-FACTURING CORPORATIONS IN THE UNITED STATES WITH INCOMES FROM \$2,000 TO \$50,000, BY MAJOR GROUPS, 1928

	MAJOR GROUP 1		MAJOR GROUP 2		MAJOR (ROUP 3	MAJOR GROUP 4		
	NUMBER OF	PERCENTAGE	NUMBER OF 1	PERCENTAGE	NUMBER OF	PERCENTAGE	NUMBER OF P	ERCENTAGE	
SIZE OF INCOME	CORPORATIONS	of total	CORPORATIONS	OF TOTAL	CORPORATIONS	OF TOTAL	CORPORATIONS	OF TOTAL	
\$2,000- 5,000	2,024	41.5	1,797	43.1	292	38.0	63	39.9	
5,000-10,000	1,032	21.1	843	20.3	153	19.9	37	23.4	
10,000-50,000	1,833	37.4	1,528	36.6	324	42.1	58	36.7	
Total	4,889	100.0	4,168	100.0	769	100.0	158	100.0	
	MAJOR GROUP S		MAJOR	MAJOR GROUP 6		MAJOR GROUP 7		CROUP 8	Ħ
\$2,000 5,000	937	36.3	233	31.1	1,698	45.5	714	34.9	z
5,000-10,000	570	22.1	151	20.2	838	22.4	439	21.4	Ð
10,000-50,000	1,074	41.6	365	48.7	1,194	32.1	895	43.7	d
Total	2,581	100.0	749	100.0	3,730	100.0	2,048	100.0	Ĩ
	MAJOR (GROUP 9	MAJOR GROUP 10		MAJOR GROUP 11				ĩ
\$2,000- 5,000	597	41.0	2,445	36.1	981	43.6			
5,000–10,000	307	21.1	1,460	21.6	452	20.1			н
10,000-50,000	552	37.9	2,853	42.3	816	36.3			ч
Total	1,456	100.0	6,758	100.0	2,249	100.0			R
			•						
									H
									6

Table 101FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF TOTAL NET INCOMES FOR COMPANIES IN THE SMALL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SAMPLE WITH INCOMES FROM \$2,000 TO \$50,000, BY MAJOR GROUPS, 1928									
SIZE OF INCOMB	MAJOR G NUMBER OF 2 CORPORATIONS	ROUP 1 PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL	MAJOR O NUMBER OF I CORPORATIONS	GROUP 2 PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL	MAJOR (NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	CROUP 3 Percentage OF Total	MAJOR (NUMBER OF F CORPORATIONS	FROUP 4 PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL	NDV
\$2.000- 5.000	71	357	63	37.1	12	32.4	4	40.0	2
\$.000-10.000	47	23.6	39	22.9	10	27.0	2	20.0	Ē
10,000-50,000	81	40.7	68	40.0	15	40.6	4	40.0	GE
Total	199	100.0	170	100.0	37	100.0	10	100.0	IT
	MATOR G	ROUP 5	MATOR	MATOR GROUP 6		MAJOR GROUP 7		ROUP 8	z
\$2,000- 5,000	45	34.6	11	28.9	56	39.1	29	30.5	ดี
5,000-10,000	29	22.3	9	23.7	36	25.2	21	22.1	
10,000-50,000	56	43.1	18	47.4	51	35.7	45	47.4	
Total	130	100.0	38	100.0	143	100.0	95	100.0	
	MATOR G	ROUP 9	MATOR C	MATOR CROTTP 10		MATOR GROUP 11			
\$2,000 5,000	24	40.7	104	32.4	21	33.8			
5,000-10,000	12	20.3	71	22.1	15	24.2			
10,000-50,000	23	39.0	146	45.5	26	42.0			
Total	59	100.0	321	100.0	62	100.0			[481]

porations in the country with net incomes under \$2,000. They account, however, for between 4.0 to 11.3 per cent of the total net income.

They are corporations not only of small absolute incomes, but also of low average earnings rates. In no year does any of the ten major groups into which the sample may be divided¹⁸ earn more than 4 per cent upon its capitalization, while most of the figures run about 2 per cent. A few of the 20 minor groups into which the sample may be divided¹⁹ show earnings rates of over 5 per cent in one year or another, but most earn only 2 or 3 per cent.

The percentages of net income to capitalization shown by the entire sample (all major groups combined) are as follows: 1924, 1.5; 1925, 2.0; 1926, 1.9; 1927, 1.4; 1928, 2.6. To be sure, these are but arithmetic mean figures, and the frequency distribution of the earnings rates of individual corporations indicates that many companies of the sample earned far higher rates of return. The distribution for 1928, for example, is given in Chart 66. The corporation standing at the upper quartile earns 10.2 per cent, and the median corporation earns 5.0 per cent. These returns on investment are, however, much lower than the corresponding data for the two other manufacturing corporations series already discussed.

It is not possible to undertake many of the tests of representativeness in connection with this sample which have been essayed in previous sections for other samples. We know, of course, that the profitableness of the corporations

¹⁸ The Leather and Rubber groups are combined, but the classification of the nine other major groups is the same as in previous samples.

¹⁹ The minor groups do not 'add up' to make major groups because many corporations belonging to various minor groups which were shown separately in other samples could not be so shown here. There is nevertheless included in the major groups some representation of all or most of the 73 minor groups found in other samples, but it is not possible to show each separately.

[482]

CHART 66

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTION OF EARNINGS RATES OF INDIVIDUAL CORPORATIONS FOR 1928



of this sample is much lower than that for all manufacturing corporations in the country taken *en masse*, but we are not able to compare this average figure with that for all of the manufacturing corporations of the country with incomes between \$1 and \$2,000. Nor is there available any distribution of incomes for all manufacturing corporations in the country with absolute incomes of this amount, with which to compare the income distributions of the corporations in this sample. Because of the absence of any assurance in these matters we have made but slight use of this sample throughout the volume, the only instance of its employment being the preparation of the frequency distributions of the earnings of individual corporations with positive net incomes

[483]

as presented in Chapter 2. This utilization of the sample is discussed in the following section.

Although we have no information on the comparative distribution of incomes, in most years the sample contains much the same proportion of its 'specific universe' as does the small corporations sample (from about 4 to 6 per cent in 1926–28) and a somewhat larger proportion than the large corporations sample. Primarily upon the basis of this representation in each year, the combination of its frequencies for individual corporations' earnings rates with those of other samples, now about to be described, has been essayed.

d. Combination of Samples-

Frequency Distributions of Earnings Rates

According to the annual reports of the Bureau of Internal Revenue, roughly 50,000 manufacturing corporations have net incomes in any one of the years 1925, 1926, 1927 and 1928. The publications of the Bureau of Internal Revenue give no information on the distribution of earnings rates or of capitals among these individual corporations, but, as has already been noted, they do give frequency distributions for the absolute size of the incomes alone. By first using these distributions in conjunction with our several samples and then expanding the latter, we are able to approximate a complete distribution of earnings rates for all of the country's corporations.

For this purpose, we employ three sets of data: (1) our 'large corporations' series already described both in this chapter and in Book II; (2) the 'small corporations' series described in this chapter and in Book III; (3) the 'small corporations with positive incomes of less than \$2,000' series mentioned in the immediately preceding section of this chapter. Our problem is now to define as carefully as

[484]

possible—without being so meticulous as to give a specious impression of the accuracy of our results—the ratios existing between the sizes of these three samples and their respective universes; then by appropriate weighting, to combine and expand the three samples so as to obtain a fairly good picture of the entire universe of manufacturing corporations with net incomes. The procedure will assume a certain degree of 'representativeness' within each sample; and the extent to which this assumption is justified is something concerning which the reader who has considered the preceding sections of this chapter may himself judge.

The data for 1928 will afford an illustration. In 1928 the tabulations of the Bureau of Internal Revenue indicate that of the 55,007 manufacturing corporations in the country with net incomes:

17,245 earned under \$2,000; 29,555 earned from \$2,000 to \$49,999; 8,207 earned \$50,000 or more.

Taking first the sample for 'small corporations with positive incomes under \$2,000', the 1,118 corporations of our sample are seen to amount to 6.5 per cent of the total number in the country having such incomes. There are thus actually about 16 times as many manufacturing corporations in the country with net incomes of from \$1 to \$1,999 as in our sample. Upon the assumption that the sample is fairly representative (an assumption probably not so well founded in the case of this sample as in that of the two others), we may therefore say that the proper frequency for any class interval of the distribution of earnings rates for *all* corporations in the country (with incomes of from \$1 to \$1,999 in 1928) is 16 times the number shown by the corresponding class interval in our sample (that is, 100 per cent, divided by 6.5 per cent, equals roughly 16). The 561 corporations which, in the sample, were found to have earned under 5 per cent upon their capitals are thus multiplied by 16 and appear as 8,976 corporations, in the 'Under five per cent' class interval, in the work-sheets which we now use to build up the new estimated distribution for the entire country.

Similarly, our 'small corporations' sample consists mainly of corporations with incomes between \$2,000 and \$49,999. It contains 1,421 corporations, or 4.8 per cent of the total number reported by the Bureau of Internal Revenue for those income classes. The frequencies for each class interval of the sample here are each multiplied by 20.

In the same manner our large corporations series, with 1,970 corporations in 1928, the incomes of which are mainly over \$50,000, are seen to constitute a 24 per cent representation of all manufacturing enterprises in the country with incomes of over that amount in 1928. Frequencies in all class intervals of the sample distribution here are thus multiplied by four, in order to give an approximately correct picture of the actual numbers of large corporations in each class, in the entire universe—again upon the assumption that the sample is fairly representative.

Finally, the three new sets of (expanded) frequencies for each class interval are added together to give the completed estimated distribution for all sizes of corporations combined. The resulting totals are thus weighted by the relative numbers of small and large corporations belonging to each earnings rates class, and the bias that would attach to any simple combination of the original frequencies for the three samples—were the distributions of earnings rates different as between the three samples—is thus eliminated.

In other years different weights are used, but the method is the same. Table 102 gives the basic data for all years,

[486]

	BASIC D. EMPLOY TRIBUTI	ATA U ED IN	NDERLYIN PREPARAT	TABL G THE TION OF	e 102 Deteri F Estim Indivit	MINATION Ated fr	I OF W EQUEN	EIGHTS CY DIS FURING	\$ -		SAMPI
	co	RPORA	TIONS IN	THE U	NITED S Th	TATES, 1 ree San	925–1928 nples	1			, I N G
SIZE OF NET INCOME	NUMBER OF MANU- FACTURING CORPORATIONS IN THE COUNTRY	SM WIT TI NO. OF CORPO- RATIONS	ALL CORPORAT TH INCOMES OI IAN \$2,000 SE PERCENT OF ALL CORPORATION IN THE COUNTRY	TIONS F LESS RIES NS WEIGHT	SMA NO. OF CORPO- RATIONS	LL CORPORAT SERIES PERCENT OF ALL CORPORATION IN THE COUNTRY	IONS IS WEIGHT	NO. OF CORPO- RATIONS	ARGE CORPORATI SERIES PERCENT OF ALL CORPORATIONS IN THE COUNTRY	ONS WEIGHT	AND WEIG
1925 Under \$2,000 2,000 to 49,999 50,000 and over Total	17,756 27,986 8,395 54,137	406	2.3	43	1,461	5.2	19	2,016	24.0	4	HTING
1926 Under \$2,000 2,000 to 49,999 50,000 and over Total	19,460 27,548 8,086 55,094	1,008	5.2	18	1,468	5.3	19	1,996	24.7	4	
<i>1927</i> Under \$2,000 2,000 to 49,999 50,000 and over Total	19,435 26,470 7,715 53,620	703	3.6	25	1,665	6.3	16	1,984	25.7	4	[487]

.

TABLE 102 (continued)

.

,

BASIC DATA UNDERLYING EARNINGS OF CORPORATIONS

					<u> </u>	hree Sa	mples	<u>.</u>		
SIZE OF NET INCOME	NUMBER OF MANU- FACTURING CORPORATIONS IN THE COUNTRY	SM. WIT TH NO. OF CORPO- BATIONS	ALL CORPORA H INCOMES O IAN \$2,000 SF PERCENT OF ALL CORPORATION IN THE COUNTRY	TIONS F LESS RIES NS	SMA NO. OF CORPO- BATIONS	ALL CORPORAT SERIES PERCENT OF ALL CORPORATION IN THE COUNTRY	IONS IS WEIGHT	LA NO. OF CORPO- BATIONS	RGE CORPORAT SERIES PERCENT OF ALL CORPORATION IN THE COUNTRY	VIONS S WEICHT
1928 Under \$2,000 2,000 to 49,999 50,000 and over Total	17,245 29,555 8,207 55,007	1,118	6.5	16	1,421	4.8	20	1,970	24.0	4

¹ See text for explanation. The final estimated frequency distributions themselves are given in Chapter 2.

.

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[488]

together with the multiples or weights employed. The final distributions themselves appeared in Chapter 2.

4. SAMPLES FOR THE TRADING DIVISION

a. Large Trading Corporations Series

The number of corporations engaged in Trading in different years of the period 1919–28 range from 70,000 to 130,000. By number, our large corporations sample for Trade, which consists of 664 corporations in every year of the period, comprises in all years less than a 1 per cent representation, the figure varying from 0.5 per cent to 0.9 per cent. In terms of income, however, the 664 corporations of the sample in most years account for about 30 per cent of the total net income received by all trading corporations in the country.

As in the Manufacturing sample, however, the large corporations series for Trade contains relatively few companies with deficits, 2 per cent or less in most years.²⁰ In the entire country the number of Trading corporations with net incomes in 1928 was about 80,000 as compared with the total of 130,000. The number with net incomes in the sample in the various years comprises 0.8 per cent to 1.3 per cent of the universe of Trading corporations with net incomes. In terms of incomes received, the 'with net' corporations of the sample, however, in 1928 account for about 25 per cent of that for all Trading corporations in the country with such incomes.

Although not nearly so markedly as in Manufacturing, the large corporations series for Trading is principally a sample of enterprises with net incomes of over \$50,000.²¹

³⁰ In 1920 and 1921, however, the figures were 7 and 17 per cent respectively.

ⁿ In most years the number of companies with incomes of under \$50,000 is 20 per cent or less; but in 1928 the figure is 28 per cent, and in 1921,

In 1928 it contained 14 per cent of all such Trading corporations in the country.

As was done previously, we may compare the distribution of size of incomes for the sample and for all corporations in the country in the 'over \$50,000' class. Tables 103 and 104 give results for 1928. The figures for that year, which are typical, exhibit essentially the same characteristics as did those for the large corporations series in Manufacturing: a much smaller preponderance of incomes in the

TABLE 103

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF NET INCOMES FOR ALL TRAD-ING CORPORATIONS IN THE UNITED STATES WITH INCOMES OVER \$50,000 IN 1928

SIZE OF INCOME	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL
\$50,000- 100,000	1,857	53.5
100,000- 250,000	1,071	30.9
250,000- 500,000	312	9.0
500,000-1,000,000	132	3.8
1,000,000-5,000,000	85	2.4
5,000,000 and over	14	0.4
Total	3,471	100.0

TABLE 104

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF TOTAL NET INCOMES FOR COMPANIES WITH INCOMES OF OVER \$50,000 IN THE LARGE TRADING CORPORATIONS SAMPLE, 1928

SIZE OF INCOM B	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL
\$50,000- 100,000	130	27.1
100,000- 250,000	192	40.1
250,000- 500,000	78	16.3
500,000-1,000,000	36	7.5
1,000,000-5,000,000	34	7.1
5,000,000 and over	9	1.9
Total	479	100.0

43 per cent. The latter figure, however, includes the corporations with deficits.

[490]

lowest bracket in the sample than for all the corporations of the country, and relatively larger frequencies in the higher brackets. The reason is in part undoubtedly the same as in the case of Manufacturing—the inclusion of taxexempt income in the sample figures—and in part because the sample is biased in an upward direction with respect to the size of corporations.

b. Small Trading Corporations Series

This sample, like the small corporations series for Manufacturing, consists of non-identical corporations with positive net incomes most of which are between \$2,000 and \$50,000. It may be compared, therefore, with that segment of the universe of Trading corporations for the two years 1924 and 1928.

Of the 35,000 Trading corporations in the country with such net incomes (\$2,000-\$50,000) in 1924, the 1,350 corporations of the sample constituted only a 4 per cent representation. In 1928 the 1,337 corporations of the sample comprised a 3 per cent representation. In terms of net income received, however, the sample accounted for 5.5 per cent of the total in 1924 and 4.4 per cent in 1928.

Frequency distributions of the absolute net income amounts for the sample in these two years are not available.

5. SAMPLES FOR THE MINING DIVISION

a. Large Mining Corporations Series

Between 13,000 and 19,000 corporations were engaged in Mining in various years of the period 1919–28. The 88 corporations of our large corporations series constitute only about one-half of one per cent of these in every year. In terms of net income, however, they account for a widely varying proportion of the total.²² In terms of all Mining corporations of the country with net incomes, the sample constitutes about a one to one and one-half per cent representation by number in most years. In terms of net income the corresponding ratio is not available.²³

As in the cases of the two preceding industrial divisions, however, the large corporations sample for Mining is primarily one of corporations with net incomes of over \$50,-000. The corporations of the sample having such incomes constitute about 85 per cent of the total number in the sample in most years. We may accordingly compare the distributions of incomes for the sample and for all such corporations in the country.

The 1928 distributions are presented in Tables 105 and

TABLE 105

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF NET INCOMES FOR ALL MINING CORPORATIONS IN THE UNITED STATES WITH INCOMES OF OVER \$50,000 IN 1928

SIZE OF INCOME	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL
\$50,000- 100,000	252	40.1
100,000- 250,000	206	32.8
250,000 500,000	79	12.6
500,000-1,000,000	40	6.4
1,000,000-5,000,000	43	6.8
5,000,000 and over	8	1.3
Total	628	100.0

106. As in the other industrial divisions, the lower brackets show a smaller relative frequency in the sample than for all corporations in the country, while the four upper brackets all show the reverse. The reasons are doubtless the same

²⁹ For example, 19 per cent in 1923, and 85 per cent in 1927. In 1924 the figure exceeds 100 per cent.

²⁸ The Source-Book does not show separately the aggregate deficit for the Mining corporations with losses.

[492]

TABLE 106

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF TOTAL NET INCOMES FOR COMPANIES WITH INCOMES OF OVER \$50,000 IN THE LARGE MINING CORPORATIONS SAMPLE, 1928

SIZE OF INCOME	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL
\$50,000- 100,000	11	14.9
100,000- 250,000	17	23.0
250,000- 500,000	14	18.9
500,000-1,000,000	12	16.2
1,000,000-5,000,000	15	20.3
5,000,000 and over	5	6.7
Total	74	100.0

as in the cases of the large corporations series for Manufacturing and Trading.

6. SAMPLES FOR THE FINANCE DIVISION

a. Large Corporations Series

companies.

The total number of financial corporations in the country ranges from about 70,000 in 1919 to 130,000 in 1928. By number, our 346 identical large corporations constitute less than a 1 per cent representation of those totals in all years. In terms of net income the sample accounts for 12 to 21 per cent of the total during different years of the period 1922-28.²⁴

The number of financial corporations with net incomes ranges from about 50,000 to 80,000. Of this segment of the universe our sample constitutes again less than a 1 per cent representation by number, but in terms of net income it accounts for a much larger proportion, the 1928 figure being 11.1 per cent of the total.

Like the large corporations sample in the other indus-*As remarked elsewhere, our Finance sample excludes all life insurance

trial divisions, however, that in Finance constitutes principally corporations with net incomes of over \$50,000.²⁵ The distributions of net incomes for the sample and for all financial enterprises in the country with incomes in the 'over \$50,000' group in 1928 are given in Tables 107 and 108. They disclose the tendency that has been previously remarked in the large corporations series: a smaller relative number of frequencies in the \$50,000-\$100,000 in-

TABLE 107

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF NET INCOME FOR ALL FINAN-CIAL CORPORATIONS IN THE UNITED STATES WITH INCOMES OF OVER \$50,000 IN 1928

SIZE OF INCOME	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL
\$50,000- 100,000	2,110	45.7
100,000- 250,000	1,458	31.6
250,000- 500,000	512	11.1
500,000-1,000,000	274	6.0
1,000,000-5,000,000	222	4.8
5,000,000 and over	37	0.8
Total	4,613	100.0

TABLE 108

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF TOTAL NET INCOMES FOR COMPANIES WITH INCOMES OF OVER \$50,000 IN THE LARGE FINANCIAL CORPORATIONS SAMPLE,¹ 1928

SIZE OF INCOME	NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS	PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL
\$50,000- 100,000	32	9.6
100,000- 250,000	115	34.5
250,000- 500,000	79	23.7
500,000-1,000,000	45	13.4
1,000,000-5,000,000	49	14.6
5,000,000 and over	14	4.2
Total	334	100.0

¹The finance sample excludes life insurance companies.

²⁷ In all years, the corporations with net incomes of over \$50,000 comprise 94 per cent or more of the large corporations Finance sample.

[494]

SAMPLING AND WEIGHTING

[495]

come bracket than for all corporations in the country. The \$100,000-\$250,000 bracket again shows for the sample a much smaller relative frequency; while in all of the higher brackets the proportion of frequencies is far higher for the sample than for all corporations in the country. The explanation in terms of the inclusion of tax-exempt interest in the incomes of the sample is perhaps even more cogent in this group than in the other industrial divisions. To what extent the discrepancy is due mainly to this and to what extent to upward bias of the sample itself in respect of the size of corporations, we cannot say.

CHAPTER 44

COMPARISON OF MINOR GROUP SAMPLES

1. DESIRABILITY OF TESTING MINOR GROUP SAMPLES

ALL of the characterization and appraisal of our several samples undertaken in the preceding chapter was in terms of their representativeness either for industrial divisions as a whole or as major groups. We did not discuss their presumptive validity for minor groups. But it will be recalled that in the use of the large corporations series we subdivided Manufacturing into 73 minor groups, Trade into 22 groups, Mining into 6 groups, and Finance into 5 groups. The small corporations samples were not susceptible of division into so many separate categories, but still a substantial breakdown into minor industrial groups was made.

It might, of course, be assumed that if a sample is good for purposes of major groups, it is also satisfactory for the analysis of minor groups, since the major groups are made up of minor group classifications. This conclusion, however, follows only if the distribution of corporations by each minor group is as relatively uniform and representative as for the major group. The fact that, both by industrial divisions and by major groups, our samples have met certain tests of typicalness fairly well affords a *presumption* in favor of believing that many of the minor group samples that comprise it are probably also representative of their own specific universes; but it affords no certitude that this

[496]

is so. We ought, therefore, to spare no effort to verify or disprove, to the fullest extent possible, the accuracy of this presumption.

The only decisive way to check the validity of these minor group samples would be to compare the results obtained from their use with similar data relating to their several universes.¹ Obviously, this is an impossible procedure, for were data for all of these universes available there would be no need to take samples. We are, however, fortunate in possessing certain more comprehensive samples for many groups than those which were made use of in some of our analyses, and in the case of a few groups we do possess virtually complete universes for all corporations with net incomes in such industries. Analysis of these data may now throw valuable light upon the general question of the probable validity of the data in our more restricted samples. For this purpose we have two sets of test data available for manufacturing. The first set enables us to check the accuracy of certain minor group samples in the large Manufacturing corporations series, while the second set makes possible the testing of certain samples in the small Manufacturing corporations series.

2. A TEST OF SAMPLES: LARGE MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS

It will be recalled that our large corporations sample constitutes by number approximately a 4 per cent representation of the total number of manufacturing corpora-

¹ 'Universe' here is used, of course, in the sense of the complete minor group from which the sample is drawn: e.g., in the minor group, Bakery Products, comparison of the results in each of our samples would have to be made with the results for *all* corporations engaged in the manufacture of Bakery Products in the United States, similarly, with Package Foods, Castings and Forgings, etc., etc.

tions in the country with net incomes. For seven of the manufacturing minor groups we have available what amount to virtually complete universes of all the corporations in the country with net incomes in these groups. In some of these 'universes' the proportion of the total number of corporations in the country included runs as high as 95 per cent. The omissions are even slighter in terms of proportion of total investment and income represented than by number of corporations. Thus for practical purposes we may dismiss these deficiencies as negligible and may regard the 85 or 95 per cent representations that are available as constituting the whole of each of these seven industries.² The seven groups in question, together with the number of corporations in each for the sample and for the universe, are given below.⁸

	Number of	corporations
Minor group	In sample	In universe*
Tobacco	23	150
Cotton Spinning	12	141
Book and Music Publishing	17	180
Toilet Preparations	9	104
Textile Machinery	18	112
Engines and Parts	11	103
Railway Equipment	25	142
• Avera	ige yearly number	

^aThe sets of data which we shall here term 'universes' are described in the *Source-Book* (p. 102) as "Data for corporations in selected subgroups . . . samples which vary in the proportion in which they represent their respective universes, but . . . (referring to the samples we are now terming as universes) which range from 80 per centum to 95 per centum in this respect". Data for the minor groups to which the part of the supplementary caption here quoted pertains, appear on pp. 134 ff. of the *Source-Book*. The term 'subgroup' is not entirely synonymous with the term minor group throughout the tables of the *Source-Book* (see p. 6) but for the seven industries here discussed, the two terms are identical, i.e., the seven subgroups in question correspond with the seven minor groups that are being tested.

⁸The number of corporations in the sample is the same in each year, the large corporations series, the reader will recall, being one of identical corporations. That for the universe is not the same in each year; the number shown above is an annual average.

[498]

We may now undertake three comparisons of the two sets of data for the seven groups: (a) the absolute levels of profitableness in the sample and in the universe as measured by the percentage of net income to capitalization in each; (b) relative fluctuations in profitableness over a time period; (c) relative profitableness in terms of the standing of each group relative to the others.

a. Absolute Profitableness of Samples and Universes

If we examine the earnings rates on investment received by the corporations of the sample and those of the universe in each group,⁴ we find little or no discrepancy in most years of the period 1919–28 in some groups and fairly substantial discrepancies in others. To illustrate, the Tobacco group shows almost identical data in every year for the two series of figures. In the five years 1924–28, for example, the large corporations sample of 23 companies in this group showed the following rates of return:

13.5 15.0 14.7 16.0 15.6; while the figures for the universe were:

15.0 15.5 14.7 16.0 15.6.

On the other hand, in Toilet Preparations, which shows the greatest discrepancies, the returns for the nine corporations of the sample were:

37.6 32.4 28.8 28.1 25.4;

while for the universes the figures were:

25.1 24.0 23.5 18.5 19.7.

However, while the discrepancies are large the rate of return is consistently high in both the universe and the sample

⁴ It need not, of course, be said that the figures for the universes include the figures for the respective samples in all cases. as compared with that in most other manufacturing minor groups. This point will be touched upon again later.

Between these two extremes of a virtually perfect sample in the Tobacco group and a much less perfect one in Toilet Preparations, the other five of these seven groups are ranged. The two series of figures for the ten years for each group are given in Table 109. The critical reader should now ask: how serious are the several discrepancies, individually and *en masse*?

Perfect correspondence throughout, of course, was not to be expected, both because of the general law of probabilities and because the large corporations sample differs in several known respects from the universe from which it is drawn.⁵ Too great differences, however, if characteristic of most groups, would invalidate the sample for purposes of minor group analysis. But what is meant by 'too great'? What general criteria of the permissible limits of tolerance might be set up?

In passing judgment on the satisfactoriness of the sample, the specific purposes of the inquiry must govern any standards that are adopted (cf. Ch. 1). For purposes of ascertaining whether the return on investment in a given industry much exceeds, or falls short of, the interest rate on free capital or long-time loanable funds, one standard of accuracy might be adopted. For ascertaining whether the

[500]

⁶As we have elsewhere pointed out it contains: (1) corporations of greater than average size; (2) only corporations that remained in business for at least a ten-year period; and (3) in each year a small proportion of companies with deficits instead of positive net incomes. For the third reason, it is, of course, a somewhat better sample of all manufacturing in the country than it would otherwise be, but is a less typical sample of all the corporations in the country with net incomes. However, this third qualification is not very important in the years other than 1921, since the proportion of companies with deficits, as discussed in Ch. 8, is but slight, and essentially the sample may be regarded as one of corporations with net incomes of over \$50,000, as discussed in Ch. 43.

		1 001	56 107								
EARNING	GS RATES UPON	I INVE	STME	NT FO	R SEVI	en gr	OUPS,				Č
	SAMPLE A	AND U	NIVER	SE, 191	9-28						×
(samples from large corporations series) ¹										ດ	
GROUP	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	RO
Tobacco								2/20		1,00	ă
Sample	14.0	11.7	13.1	14.2	13.4	13.5	15.0	14.7	16.0	15.6	-
Universe	13.3	11.4	12.8	14.6	12.5	15.0	15.5	14.7	16.0	15.6	
Cotton spinning											2
Sample	47.0	37.4	10.4	16.0	13.8	7.6	12.3	10.1	10.4	9.5	س رو
Universe	32.3	25.8	9.5	12.3	12.4	8.2	9.4	7.9	9.5	9.6	2
Book and music publishing											H
Sample	17.6	13.8	13.5	20.4	18.3	18.9	16.9	14.9	11.4	12.1	È
Universe	14.5	14.7	12.2	23.2	15.6	15.2	15.7	13.0	13.9	14.4	0
Coilet preparations											
Sample	39.3	19.6	29.2	53.2	35.5	37.6	32.4	28.8	28.1	25.4	
Universe	20.5	15.7	18.4	25.7	20.3	25.1	24.0	23.5	18.5	19.7	
Textile machinery											
Sample	27.4	17.2	22.6	22.3	18.3	10.6	14.8	14.4	15.9	14.6	
Universe	25.2	21.3	19.0	17.4	18.1	13.7	16.2	15.8	14.3	13.0	
Ingines	,										
Sample	28.0	19.2	9.4	10.6	14.6	28.0	9.2	14.1	11.1	6.9	
Universe	26.6	13.0	10.8	11.9	10.2	10.0	13.7	12.7	21.0	13.5	
Railway equipment											
Sample	17.0	10.6	4.3	7.2	13.5	8.4	5.3	7.6	5.6	3.4	
Universe	16.1	10.6	7.4	10.5	14.1	9.7	10.5	11.6	9.2	7.5	
tendency towards an equality of profit rates in different industries over a period is realized, another standard might be adopted. For ascertaining such fluctuations in profits and profit rates as are significant in endeavoring to throw light upon the cyclical movements in the several industries, still other standards might serve; and so on.

But no one absolute arithmetical measure of difference between the sample datum and the universe datum for the rate of earnings will serve even a specific purpose. We could not, for example, say that in these percentages of income to capitalization figures a difference of two points (2 'per cent') would indicate that the sample was either satisfactory or unsatisfactory. In an industry that showed a 4 per cent return for the sample, but a 6 per cent return for the universe, a two-point discrepancy might be regarded as more than negligible; for not only is the 6 per cent return onehalf again as great as the 4 per cent, but also is equal to a so-called normal interest rate for capital employed in manufacturing industries, while the 4 per cent return is not. On the other hand, in an industry for which the sample data show a return of 22 per cent, whereas that for the universe is 20 per cent, the two-point discrepancy amounts to a difference of only one-tenth, instead of one-half, in profitableness and makes no real difference at all with respect to the economic and financial problems of the industry.

But if no absolute arithmetical measure of difference will serve, neither will a straight proportional or logarithmic formula suffice. One might, for example, be tempted to say that no discrepancy that approached anything like a 33 per cent difference in the datum of the sample and that of the universe should be permitted; yet again qualification is necessary. As between two such rates of return as 2 and 3 per cent upon investment, there is no significant difference; both are unsatisfactory returns; either datum shows that

[502]

the industry is unprofitable, stands relatively low in the scale, and does not earn as much as an ordinary interest rate on either working or permanent capital. But in the case of two such figures as 10 and 15 per cent, the one datum shows a very different situation than the other, even though their relation is exactly the same as that between 2 and 3 per cent. The industry earning 10 per cent, as we have seen in previous chapters, may be below the general average return, whether arithmetic mean or median be taken, for either the major group or industrial division to which it belongs; whereas the one earning 15 per cent may stand in most years in the forefront of the various industrial groups with which it is classed. Thus there is little to choose between an absolute measure or a straight proportional measure of the differences we are seeking to evaluate.

We therefore leave this question without an attempt at definite answer. We could set up an arbitrary scale of differences (an irregular, non-proportional sliding scale), apply it to the several samples, and thus summarize the situation quantitatively. This procedure has indeed been followed experimentally, on several bases. But the arithmetical results achieved depended mainly upon the assumptions made in drawing up such scales. The summarizing of the differences shown in Table 109, and the drawing of conclusions as to their significance, are therefore left to the reader.⁶

b. Time Fluctuations in Samples and Universes

But whether substantial absolute differences between the earnings rates of any particular sample and those of the

⁶ The significance of the samples might, of course, be more elaborately tested by an application of the calculus of probabilities to our data. No effort is made to apply such mathematical technique in these chapters; however, basic data that would make possible a partial analysis of samples and universes appear in Appendix B.

universe are present, we may inquire concerning the comparative trends of the two sets of figures during the period 1919–28.

In general the earnings rates of the sample show the same trend as those for the universe in nearly all groups. The only conspicuous exception is Engines and Parts, where a correspondence between the two series prevails for the first three years of the period, but none is evident between 1922 and 1927.

No extended comment is called for in connection with the conclusion that these samples are fairly satisfactory indicators of *fluctuations* in the earnings rates of the industries which they represent. This generalization holds somewhat less well for the Toilet Preparations and for the Book and Music Publishing groups during parts of the period than for the others; but the several curves of Chart 67 indicate that on the whole, in most of these seven groups, the sample data follow the same general direction as those for the universe.

c. Relative Profitableness of Samples and Universes

Having discussed the 'absolute profitableness' of each industry, as well as the trends of each series of figures, we may now ask how good or bad these seven samples are with respect to the relative profitableness of one minor group compared with the others. For it will be recalled that much of the analysis in the earlier chapters of this volume was concerned not with absolute profit rates, but with the standing of particular minor groups, in any one year and over a period, relative to other groups and to average figures for an industrial division as a whole.

First, as to the standing of the sample datum and the universe datum for each group in any one year, relative to the other groups. If we take an arithmetic average of the

[504]

[505]



INDUSTRIAL PROFITS



[506]



mean rates of return for each of our seven minor groups in, for example, 1928, we find that the average earnings rate upon investment for the seven universes is 13.3 per cent. We then compute the deviations of the individual figures for the seven universes from this average. Similarly, the average figure in the same year for the seven samples is 12.5 per cent; and we compute the deviations of the several samples from it. The results are given below.

	Deviations*						
Group	Universe	Sample					
Tobacco	2.3	3.1					
Cotton Spinning	-3.7	-3.0					
Book and Music Publishing	1.1	-0.4					

[507]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

	Deviations *					
Group	Universe	Sample				
Toilet Preparations	6.4	12.9				
Textile Machinery	-0.3	2.1				
Engines and Parts	0.2	-5.6				
Railway Equipment	-5.8	-9.1				
* Absolute points or 'percentages'						

It is to be observed that in most instances a negative deviation in the universe is accompanied by a negative deviation in the sample; and a positive deviation in the universe by a positive deviation in the sample. Where this is not so. the deviation that is of the opposite sign is very slight; and in a longer array of groups the discrepancies involved, even where the signs are different, would probably not affect appreciably the common height above-or common level below-the median of the 73 manufacturing groups at which both sample datum and universe datum would stand. This conclusion may not hold entirely for Toilet Preparations in 1928; here the deviations are both positive, but that for the sample is larger than that for the universe. But in all other instances these comparative deviations, if a larger array were involved, suggest that no great discrepancies in the relative standing of the groups would take place as between the use of complete universe data (were they available) and the use of the sample data for the large corporations series, when cast into minor groups. The same general conclusion applies to the observations of most other years of the period, the deviations for which are given in Table 110.

But even greater interest attaches to summary figures for the period as a whole, in these same terms; for our inquiry in Chapter 3 concerned the equality or non-equality of profit rates in different industries over a time period. With this in mind, we may compare the deviation of the *average of the ten annual earnings rates* for each sample group from the

[508]

			Тав	LE 110)							MI
DEVIATI 1919-28	ONS FRON , AND FR	и меа Ом Т	N EAR EN-YEA MINOR	NINGS AR AG GROU	RATE GREG. JPS	UPON Ate R.	INVES Ate, s	STMEN SEVEN	Т,			NOR
(samples from large corporations series) ¹										GR		
CROUP	1919	1920	1921	1922	<u>1923</u>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919–28°	οu
						MEAN P	ATES					Þ
All seven groups												ŝ
Samples	27.2	18.5	14.6	20.6	18.2	17.8	15.1	14.9	14.1	12.5	17.4	A
Universes	21.2	16.1	12.9	16.5	14.7	13.8	15.0	14.2	14.6	13.3	15.2	MP
				D	EVIATIO	NS FROM	MEAN	RATES				Ē
Tobacco												1
Sample	-13.2	-6.8	-1.5	-6.4	-4.8	-4.3	-0.1	-0.2	1.9	3.1	-3.3	ŝ
Universe	-7.9	-4.7	-0.1	-1.9	-2.2	1.2	0.5	0.5	1.4	2.3	-1.1	
Cotton spinning												
Sample	19.8	18.9	-4.2	-4.6	- 4.4	-10.2	-2.8	-4.8	-3.7	-3.0	0.1	
Universe	11.1	9.7	-3.4	-4.2	-2.3	-5.6	-5.6	-6.3	-5.1	-3.7	-1.5	
Book and music publishing												
Sample	-9.6	-4.7	-1.1	-0.2	0.1	1.1	1.8	0.0	-2.7	-0.4	-1.6	
Universe	-6.7	-1.4	-0.7	6.7	0.9	1.4	0.7	-1,2	-0.7	1.1	0.0	
Toilet preparations												
Sample	12.1	1.1	14.6	32.6	17.3	19.8	17.3	13.9	14.0	12.9	15.5	
Universe	-0.7	-0.4	5.5	9.2	5.6	11.3	9.0	9.3	3.9	6.4	5.9	
Textile machinery												5
Sample	0.2	-1.3	8.0	1.7	0.1	-7.2	-0.3	-0.5	1.8	2.1	0.4	0
Universe	4.0	5.2	6.1	0.9	3.4	-0.1	1.2	1.6	0.3	-0.3	2.2	<u>د</u> و

.

		TA	BLE 11	0 (con	tinued)							2
DEVI	ATIONS FROM	1 MEA	N EAR	NINGS	RATE	UPON	INVES	STMEN	т,			<u>[0</u>
19	919–28, AND FF	IOM T	EN-YE	AR AG	GREGA	TE RA	ATE, SI	EVEN				
	_		MINUI	K GROI	JPS							
	(sam)	bles fro	om larg	te corp	orations	series,)1					
GROUP	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919–28°	
					DEVIATIO	INS FRO	M MEAD	I RATES				
Engines												
Sample	0.8	0.7	-5.2	-10.3	-3.6	10.2	-5.9	-0.8	-3.0	-5.6	-2.3	
Universe	5.4	-3.1	-2.1	-4.6	-4.5	-3.8	-1.3	-1.5	6.4	0.2	-0.9	
Railway equipment												
Sample	-10.2	-7.9	-10.3	-13.4	-4.7	-9.4	-9.8	-7.3	-8.5	9.1	-9.1	
Universe	-5.1	-5.5	-5.5	-6.0	-0.6	-4.1	-4.5	-2.6	-5.4	-5.8	-4.5	
² Ten-year aggregate.												

•

-

'See text.

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

ten-year rates for each universe with a similar average of all seven universe groups.⁷ These deviations, from the tenyear average earnings rates of 15.2 per cent and 17.4 per cent for the seven universes and samples respectively, are:

Group	Deviations of ten-year Universe	averages Sample
Tobacco	-1.1	-3.3
Cotton Spinning	1.5	0.1
Book and Music Publishing	0.0	-1.6
Toilet Preparations	5.9	15.5
Textile Machinery	2.2	0.4
Engines and Parts	0.9	-2.3
Railway Equipment	-4.5	9.1

Much the same things are to be said of this comparison as of that for the single year 1928 which was undertaken above. Even the broad discrepancy in Toilet Preparations exercises but little effect upon its relative standing: in any array either of samples or of universes it would stand as one of the most profitable minor groups. We cannot, of course, present such an array for the universes of our 73 manufacturing groups in contrast with that for our samples; but study of the deviations—'median difference coefficients' —discussed in Chapter 3, in conjunction with the data of the present section, confirms the conclusion just set forth.

As of restricted interest in this connection, we may finally rank the seven minor groups under discussion in terms of the earnings rates of the samples and universes respectively. The earnings rates themselves for the ten-year period are given in Table 110, but these are the ranks:

⁷These are not strictly 'ten-year aggregates' of the sort employed in previous chapters in the measurement of earnings rates for the period, as they are averages of the annual percentages of return on investment and not derived from a ten-year accumulation of the original investment and original income data. It seems wiser here to avoid the weighting that would result from the latter procedure, since in no group would the universe consist of the same number of corporations in successive years in the period. The differences that result, however, probably will not be large in any case.

[512]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

	Rank among all seven groups, the most profitable being first					
Group	Universe	Sample				
Toilet Preparations	1	1				
Textile Machinery	2	2				
Book and Music Publishing	3	4				
Engines and Parts	4	5				
Tobacco	5	6				
Cotton Spinning	6	3				
Railway Equipment	7	7				

It is obviously unnecessary to compute a coefficient of rank correlation between these two series of ranks when ordinary inspection indicates the high positive character of the correspondence; but were arrays of this character available for all 73 manufacturing groups, the coefficient would be high indeed if the same general relationships prevailed. Our assumption that such is the case is, of course, based only upon our knowledge of these seven groups. But it may be pointed out that the groups are selected quite at random; they merely happen to be ones in which universe data are available and which, with respect to the industrial classification of corporations within each group, chance to correspond with specific minor groups of the large corporations series sample.

3. A TEST OF THE SMALL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

We may now proceed to test in the general manner of the preceding section several of the minor group samples in the small non-identical corporations series for Manufacturing. The number of minor groups for which 'universes' are available here chances again to be seven. But we must point out at the beginning that these seven universes are not of the same virtually complete character as those with which we compared the large corporations samples in the preceding section. As a matter of fact, they are simply greatly enlarged samples, to which we may impute a higher degree of stability and representativeness than to the samples of our small corporations series. This calls for some further explanation.

In originally compiling the small corporations sample for the Source-Book, it was sought first to isolate the manufacturing corporations with net incomes of more than approximately \$50,000;⁸ then, for each year of the period studied, to assemble about a 5 per cent representation of the manufacturing corporations in the country with net incomes of from \$2,000 to \$50,000. The manufacturing sample thus drawn was then divided into 73 minor groups. In originally drawing this 5 per cent sample, however, it was anticipated that because of the varying sizes of the specific universes in the several minor groups, the minor group samples would be less good for some groups than for others. To illustrate, there are fewer corporations engaged in the manufacture of Railway Equipment or Textile Machinery than in the manufacture of Men's Clothing or Hardware and Plumbers' Supplies. A 5 per cent sample in the case of minor groups in which the absolute number of corporations in the universe was as low as 150 or 200 corporations, and in which the concentration of industry was marked, might yield a very much less reliable result than one in which the absolute number of corporations was 1,500 or 2,000. For this reason, the general 5 per cent sample of All Manufacturing corporations in the country (with incomes of between \$2,000 and \$50,000) was supplemented by larger samples of from about 50 to 100 corporations each in 24 specific . manufacturing industries. Of these 24 specific manufacturing industries for which such larger samples were drawn (such industries being termed subgroups in the Source-

⁵This group was represented by the large corporations series.

Book), 17 represented—in terms of the industrial classification of activities included—less comprehensive divisions than the minor groups into which these activities were classified when the small corporations sample was later divided into 73 minor groups. The remaining seven, however, correspond exactly in this respect with certain minor groups of the small corporations sample; and we may accordingly subject them to the same processes of analysis that were employed in the preceding section.

Furthermore, these seven larger samples were actually employed in the minor group analyses of the earnings rates of small manufacturing corporations as presented in Book III, simply because they are presumably somewhat better samples than the smaller ones. Smaller samples were employed in Book III for minor groups for which such larger samples were not available-presumably in industries in which not the same need existed for bigger samples because of a larger number of corporations in the original universe or for other reasons such as a greater homogeneity of types of enterprise and activity within the minor group. It is, therefore, apparent that the comparison of these seven larger samples about to be undertaken is with samples that were not used in our analysis because they rest upon a more slender basis of probable accuracy than in the case of the several smaller samples (the 5 per cent representations) that were used, and that it was to safeguard against the probable defects in these seven samples that larger bodies of data were drawn for the same minor groups. We may thus feel quite certain that whatever the extent to which these small samples that were not used turn out to be representative of the larger bodies of data which they represent, this degree of excellence of 'fit' will be exceeded (or poorness of 'fit' will be lessened) in the smaller samples actually employed.

[514]

Our procedure now is to add together the original data for the corporations in the sample and in the larger sample in each of these seven groups, and for convenience to call the combination of these two sets of figures the 'universe' for the minor group in question. Actually it is in some instances not so large a proportion of the original total number of corporations in the industry as it was of the universes discussed in the preceding section; but comparison with those other data will be facilitated by adopting the same terminology. We then compare the data of the small samples with these 'universe' data.

The seven groups thus about to be discussed, together with the number of corporations in each for the sample and for the universe, are given below.

	Number of corporations*							
Minor group	In sample	In universe						
Bakery Products	25	114						
Flour	32	122						
Dairying	47	135						
Knit Goods	24	113						
Lumber	49	137						
Paints	20	66						
Castings and Forgings	46	140						
~ ~ ~	• •							

Average yearly number

a. Absolute Profitableness of Samples and Universes

Comparing the rates of return upon investment earned by the corporations of the samples and of the universes in the years between 1919 and 1928, we find that in some minor groups scarcely any differences are perceptible, whereas in others the absolute discrepancies in some years are substantial. As an example of nearly perfect correspondence, we may take the minor group Dairying, in which the earnings rates of the sample in the five years 1924-28 are:

15.6 14.6 16.2 13.5	13.2;
---------------------	-------

while the figures for the universe are:

15.4 14.6 14.7 13.0 12.0.

On the other hand, about the poorest case of correspondence is Bakery Products, where for the sample the figures are:

12.9 22.3 17.1 10.1 17.1; while in the case of the universe they are:

12.8 14.5 13.8 12.7 14.8.

It is to be observed that the figures given second in Bakery Products in both series (the 1925 figures) are far apart indeed, although the discrepancies are not so serious in the other four years. The correspondence of the two sets of figures for this minor group is somewhat better for the first five years of the period 1919–23, the figures for which, together with those for all other groups, are given in Table 111.

b. Time Fluctuations in Samples and Universes

But examining not merely the absolute levels of earnings rates in the small manufacturing corporations samples and the universes, we may observe the two sets of curves over the ten-year period and we may ask how well the trends in the one set correspond with those in the other (Chart 68).

In four of the seven minor groups the correspondence is quite close: in Flour, Dairying, Castings and Forgings, and Lumber. In a fifth group, Bakery Products, the correspondence in the direction taken by the curves is fairly close in all but two or three years. In the two remaining groups, Knit Goods and Paints, correspondence for most of the period is absent; but in Paints it happens that for the period as a whole—that is, from 1919 to the end of 1928—

[516]

	· · · ·		NIVER		<i>7-4</i> 8					
	(samples from	ı small	corpoi	rations	series)	•				
GROUP	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
lakery products										
Sample	26.5	10.0	12.6	9.0	15.4	12.9	22.3	17.1	10.1	17.1
Universe	16.6	14.6	11.6	11.4	15.4	12.8	14.5	13.8	12.7	14.8
lour										
Sample	20.2	6.3	8.6	9.8	11.5	8.1	8.9	9.7	8.7	10.8
Universe	21.0	8.5	9 .0	10.5	9.9	9.7	9.5	9.1	8.8	10.3
airying										
Sample	18.0	16.8	18.8	17.3	11.2	15.6	14.6	16.2	13.5	13.2
Universe	17.9	14.7	16.4	16.0	13.0	15.4	14.6	14.7	13.0	12.0
nit goods										
Sample	15.1	11.0	15.7	15.4	15.0	13.2	12.4	10.2	9.8	8.7
Universe	15.0	11.0	13.6	14.4	12.0	10.8	12.1	12.6	10.4	12.7
umber										
Sample	11.7	13.0	6.9	9.0	14.9	6.8	5.4	7.4	11.7	19.6
Universe	1,3.5	12.7	6.1	7.1	12.9	8.8	6.7	8.0	10.5	11.3
aints										
Sample	27.1	23.3	10.8	11.9	11.8	16.1	17.8	12.1	13.8	12.1
Universe	24.5	16.7	10.9	16.8	13.9	12.8	12.7	12.2	13.2	12.0
astings and forgings										
Sample	16.7	13.8	8.2	13.1	14.7	8.5	8.1	14.3	12.8	. 14.5
Universe	16.2	12.8	8.5	15.3	12.7	9.6	11.5	14.5	12.5	12.2

[518]







-[519]



the two curves record roughly the same general decline in the rate of earnings. The interim courses of the sample curve and of the universes are very different between 1921 and 1926, however.

c. Relative Profitableness of Samples and Universes

If we now survey the differences between these samples and the universes in relative rather than absolute terms, we shall obtain some indication of the probable validity or invalidity of the samples for purposes of minor group comparisons with the general average figures for the major groups and industrial divisions to which they belong. As in a preceding section, our first approach to the problem is to obtain an arithmetic average rate of return for all seven minor groups in the samples and in the universes, and compare the figures for the sample and the universes of each minor group with these averages. The year 1928 may be taken as an example.

For the seven universes the general average return on investment is 12.2 per cent. We compute the deviations of each of the seven minor group universes from this average. Data appear in Table 112.

It will be observed either that the deviations have the same sign or if one of them is negative, the other deviation is fractional in all instances save one, Lumber, in which the discrepancy chances to be greatest in 1928. What is true of 1928 holds generally for the other years of the period. In no instance is a marked positive deviation accompanied by a marked negative deviation; and in most instances the sizes of the two deviations accord fairly closely.

In a similar manner, we may summarize the situation with respect to the average earnings rates of each group for the period as a whole. The ten-year average return on investment for the seven universe is 12.7 per cent, while

[520]

			Tae	BLE 112	?							
	DEVIATIONS FROM 1919-28, AN	M MEA D FRON	N EAR A TEN	NINGS -YEAR	RATE Aggr	UPON EGAT	INVE 'E RAT	STMEN Fe,	т,			: (
	•	SEV	EN MI	NOR G	ROUPS			-				
	(sam)	oles fro	m sma	ll corp	oration	serie:	r)*					
GROUP	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	191928ª	1
					м	EAN RA	TE8					
All seven groups												
Samples	19.3	13.5	11.7	12.2	13.5	11.6	12.8	12.4	11.5	13.7	13.2	
Universes	17.8	13.0	10.9	13.1	12.8	11.4	11.7	12.1	11.6	12.2	12.7	
				DEV	IATIONS	FROM	MEAN	RATES				
Bakery products												
Sample	7.2	-3.5	0.9	-3.2	1.9	1.3	9.5	4.7	-1.4	3.4	2.1	
Universe	-1.2	1.6	0.7	-1.7	2.6	1.4	2.8	1.7	1.1	2.6	1.1	
Flour												
Sample	0.9	-7.2	-3.1	-2.4	-2.0	-3.5	-3.9	-2.7	-2.8	-2.9	-2.9	
Universe	3.2	-4.5	-1.9	-2.6	-2.9	-1.7	-2.2	-3.0	-2.8	-1.9	-2.1	
Dairvina												
Sample	-1.3	3.3	7.1	5.1	-2.3	4.0	1.8	3.8	2.0	-0.5	2.3	
Universe	0.1	1.7	5.5	2.9	0.2	4.0	2.9	2.6	1.4	-0.2	2.1	
Knit goods												
Sample	-4.2	-2.5	4.0	3.2	1.5	1.6	-0.4	-2.2	-1.7	5,0	-0.5	
Universe	-2.8	-2.0	2.7	1.3	-0.8	-0.6	0.4	0.5	-1.2	0.5	-0.2	
Lumber												
Sample	-7.6	-0.5	-4.8	-3.2	1.4	-4.8	-7.4	-5.0	0.2	5.9	-2.6	
Universe	-4.3	-0.3	-4.8	-6.0	0.1	-2.6	-5.0	-4.1	-1.1	-0.9	-2.9	.'

TABLE 112 (continued) DEVIATIONS FROM MEAN EARNINGS RATE UPON INVESTMENT, 1919–28, AND FROM TEN-YEAR AGGREGATE RATE, SEVEN MINOR GROUPS

(samples from small corporations series)¹

.

GROUP	1 919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1919-28
					DEVIATIO	ONS FRO	м мел	N RATI	ES	-	
Paints											
Sample	7.8	9.8	-0.9	-0.3	-1.7	4.5	5.0	0.3	2.3	-1.6	2.5
Universe	6.7	3.7	0.0	3.7	1.1	1.4	1.0	0.1	1.6	-0.2	1.9
Castings and forgings											
Sample	-2.6	0.3	-3.5	0.9	1.2	-3.1	-4.7	1.9	1.3	0.8	-0.7
Universe	1.6	-0.2	-2,4	2.2	-0.1	-1.8	-0.2	2.4	0.9	0.0	-0.1
¹ Ten-year aggregate.											

.

³ See text.

.

.

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

[522]

that for the seven samples is 13.2 per cent. Ten-year rates for each minor group are computed and the results given below.

	Deviations of Ten-year Average						
Minor group	Universe	Sample					
Bakery Products	1.1	2.1					
Flour	-2.1	-2.9					
Dairying	2.1	2.3					
Knit Goods	-0.2	-0.5					
Lumber	-2.9	-2.6					
Paints	1.9	2.5					
Castings and Forgings	-0.1	-0.7					

Again a close correspondence in both the direction and the extent of the deviations between samples and universes may be pointed out. Unquestionably, as in large corporations samples tested, any one of these samples would occupy much the same relative position in an array of 73 manufacturing groups as would the corresponding minor group universe, were it possible to obtain such an extended list of universe groups.

The final test relates to the rank of these seven group samples and universes respectively, among themselves. The arrangement by rank is given below.

	Rank among all seven groups,		
	the most profita	ble being first	
Minor group	Universe	Sample	
Dairying	1	2	
Paints	2	1	
Bakery Products	3	3 -	
Castings and Forgings	4	5 *	
Knit Goods	5	4	
Flour	6	7	
Lumber	7	6	

It may be reaffirmed that were series for 73 manufacturing groups available, the coefficient of rank correlation would be very high, if the rank relationships in the larger array were generally of the same sort as between these seven groups.

CHAPTER 45

THE VALUATION OF ASSETS: CAPITALIZATION PROBLEMS

1. THE NATURE OF THE PROBLEM

IN ALL of the analysis of earnings rates contained in this volume we have used as our base either the capitalization or total capital figures shown by the balance sheets of the corporations in the various samples. But the problems of accounting are complex, and the technique of keeping corporate books and preparing corporate statements is flexible, if not frequently capricious. To be sure, the data of nearly all of our samples comprise Government figures; and we may properly assume that most industrial data reported to the Government are in the main subject to fewer vagaries of accounting procedure than is the case with many figures compiled merely for the information of stockholders or the general public. Nevertheless, considerable variation of practice between individual corporations is possible; and it becomes necessary for us to ascertain the extent to which caprices of accounting procedure may influence our figures.

In all of this discussion, however, let it be clearly understood that our interest is in the individual corporation only in so far as its figures contribute to, or exercise any significant influence upon, the value of a general group average or the structure of a frequency distribution in which the cor-

[524]

poration is included. We fully recognize that in any individual case, no correspondence whatever between actual investment in terms of the capital contributed by security holders (both originally and through the reinvestment of earnings) and the reported balance sheet figures may obtain. But we are interested in such individual cases of gross understatement or overstatement of capital only for the light which estimates of their extent and prevalence may throw upon the probable defectiveness of our data for each industrial division, major group, and minor group, these several groups each being considered both in absolute terms and relative to one another.

Variations of accounting practice affect both our balance sheet and income account figures. Those affecting balance sheet items are of greater importance in our present problem than those which influence the income account; the operation of the income tax law has brought about a greater degree of standardization (although it is still far from exact) in general corporate accounting for income than for balance sheet items. We shall be concerned with both matters in this chapter, but shall approach the several problems involved from the point of view of the balance sheet and comment upon related charges to income as it becomes necessary to do so.

For our purposes, there are two principal sources of possible error (or if not of error, at least of the possession by our samples of heterogeneous accounting data blended in unknown proportions). Arbitrary policies of valuation make it possible for any company to carry either intangible items, such as patents and goodwill, or tangible capital assets, such as plant and equipment, upon either an ultraconservative or an extravagant basis. And, in the case of any individual corporation, it may be repeated that the widest variations of policy are possible in this respect. As George O. May has strikingly expressed it:

"Capital assets may be stated on the basis of cost or on the basis of a valuation. It may be a pre-war or a post-war basis. The cost may be a cost in cash or a cost in securities. If the latter, it may be a legal cost measured by a par value of a grossly inflated stock issue if the corporation was formed early in the century, or it may be greatly understated if the assets were acquired by a recent issue of stock without common [par] value."¹

We may examine in turn these questions of patents and goodwill and plant and equipment valuations, as they affect our data.

2. VALUATION AND ABSOLUTE EARNINGS RATES: PATENTS AND GOODWILL

One simple and well-known way to inflate or water the stock issue of a corporation, happily somewhat less frequently practiced by large companies today than in the past, is to offset a capital liability by a substantial and often largely fictitious patent or goodwill account. These two items are not of exactly the same character from either an economic or an accounting point of view. Many economists would not admit goodwill as an item of capital, although they would grant that it constitutes an item of 'individual capital' to the owner of the business if it results in an accretion of income. Most accountants doubtless would recognize either item if it had been purchased, although, if not purchased, goodwill might be looked upon with a somewhat more suspicious eye by the conservative accountant than would patents developed at substantial and specifically

¹American Statistical Association Journal (December 1929), p. 444.

[526]

ascertainable cost by the corporation itself. Frequently, of course, the development of new patented devices results in a decidedly higher rate of physical productiveness on the part of the enterprises that either perfect or eventually utilize them. A patent account in such cases is, of course, justified upon economic grounds whether the patent has been developed by the corporation in question or purchased by it from another company or persons. The extent to which patents may thus legitimately be capitalized is, of course, a moot question: no rule of valuation exists and, as the history of donated treasury stock witnesses, the courts will approve almost any value placed upon such an asset by vote of a board of directors, unless fraud can be established. Nevertheless, the presence of large patent and goodwill accounts-that is, large relative to the total of other assets -in industries in which the production process is not peculiarly one that makes large use of patented machinery, or of copyright materials, may be viewed with suspicion. No absolute proportion can be stated as being proper for patents and goodwill to bear to the capitalization or to total capital of an industry or enterprise; but there would perhaps be agreement that if, for an industrial group in which the conditions which have just been indicated do not generally prevail, the proportion of such intangibles to capital were more than 20 or 25 per cent this would constitute presumptive evidence of overcapitalization.²

Conversely, it perhaps will be agreed that if in industries of this kind (where peculiar conditions involving the use of patented machinery or copyrights are absent) *less* than 10 or 15 per cent of either capitalization or total capital

³ If a definition of 'overcapitalization' in this connection is necessary, let the term mean a capitalization figure substantially in excess of either the cost of the assets or, as the courts say, of the 'prudent investment' necessary for their acquisition.

is accounted for by the figures at which patents and goodwill are carried, then no substantial overcapitalization is present, upon the score of these two items. We may thus examine the data of our samples, both by industrial divisions and by major and minor groups, to check the situation in these terms. All data are for 1925, the latest year for which they are available.

The ratio used will be that of combined patents and goodwill to capitalization, the latter term, as defined in earlier chapters, constituting the total of the following balance sheet items: (i) preferred stock, (ii) common stock, (iii) surplus and undivided profits. Since in nearly all of our Manufacturing and Trading groups, capitalization is not very different from total capital (the latter defined as capitalization plus bonded debt), we may regard the one result as being substantially the same as that which would be obtained through the use of the other figure.

For our large corporations series (2,046 corporations in All Manufacture), total patents and goodwill amount to slightly over one billion dollars, while total capitalization is 21 billion dollars. The ratio of patents and goodwill to capitalization is thus 4.9 per cent.

Divided into 11 major groups, ratios of less than 5 per cent are found in Textiles, Leather, Lumber, Chemicals, Clay, Stone and Glass, and Metals. Ratios of from 5 to 10 per cent are found in Paper and Special Manufacturing Industries. The Food and Rubber groups show ratios of 11.1 and 12.0 per cent, respectively.

The only ratio above 12 per cent is found in the major group Printing, where the proportion of patents and goodwill to capitalization is 20.0 per cent. This figure is accounted for largely by the high ratio of 28.1 per cent which, as will appear when we discuss the several minor groups below, characterizes Newspaper and Magazine Pub-

[528]

lishing; and doubtless is to be justified in large part upon the basis of copyrights which give to such assets as plates and electrotypes a value (on the basis of either cost or market) that substantially exceeds the expense of setting up type or casting plates.

In order to ascertain the maximum possible effect that patents and goodwill items carried on the balance sheets of these corporations could have upon our final figures, let us, however, make an extreme assumption which is obviously not justified: namely, that *none* of the patents and goodwill shown by any major group represents an actual investment. If this were so, to what degree would the complete exclusion of patents and goodwill affect our computed earnings rates for each major group?

Obviously, to no very great extent. Take, for example, the Metals group in which the proportion of patents and goodwill to capitalization is 4 per cent. The rate of net income to investment in the Metals group for the year in question was 12.1 per cent. If we subtract the nearly 400 million dollars shown as patents and goodwill for this group from its nine billion of capitalization and then recompute the percentages of net income to this capitalization the new earnings rate is changed only to 12.5 per cent. Similarly, in Food Products where the proportion of patents and goodwill to capitalization is 11 per cent, the new earnings rate computed on the reduced capitalization becomes 11.4 instead of 10.1 per cent. Even in Printing, where the high 20 per cent ratio of patents and goodwill to capitalization obtains, the original earnings rate of 17.2 per cent is changed only to 21.5 per cent.

How different, if at all, is the case with the 73 minor manufacturing groups? Sixteen groups show proportions of patents and goodwill to capitalization of 10 per cent or over. The presence of this amount of patents and goodwill, however, makes no marked difference in the rates of return. But eight other groups show patents and goodwill items that are 20 per cent or more of capitalization—the highest ratio being 42 per cent. One of these groups, as has been previously remarked, is Newspaper and Magazine Publishing, while three others are Proprietary Preparations, Toilet Preparations and Printing Machinery. In them all, copyrights, secret formulae or patented special devices could readily justify at least a part of the patent and goodwill account carried on the books. But again assuming that none of the amount so carried is justified, and recomputing, we obtain the ratios given below.

Minor group	Original earnings rate (including intangibles)	New earnings rate (excluding intangibles)
Confectionery	18.4	22.9
Tobacco	15.0	20.3
Men's Clothing	12.0	15.7
Stationery	6.1	8.8
Newspaper Publishing	18.2	25.3
Proprietary Preparations	21.0	28.0
Toilet Preparations	32.4	54.0
Printing Machinery	9.1	12.1

It is clear that only in Toilet Preparations is this difference really significant. And even in this group it is to be remarked that the extreme assumption which we have made as to the utter worthlessness of patents and goodwill as a valid investment item is not in the least justified, and that were one-half to two-thirds of their stated values allowed and retained in the capitalization base, the resulting earnings rate would then not differ so very significantly from that originally computed. Our conclusion, therefore, in the case of our manufacturing corporations samples, is that patents and goodwill items in the balance sheet do not in any significant way invalidate our results.

With respect to the large series of trading corporations

the results are so similar that they need not here be reviewed in detail. For All Trade the proportion of patents and goodwill to capitalization is 8 per cent; for Retail Trade it is 10.2 per cent; for Wholesale Trade, 2.7 per cent; for Wholesale and Retail Trade, 7.1 per cent. Most minor groups show very small ratios indeed, and in only two do they run as high as 15 per cent.

The small Manufacturing corporations series samples show much the same results as the large corporations. The aggregate patents and goodwill figure for all manufacturing groups combined, however, is slightly higher: 6.1 against 4.9 per cent.

For the small corporations series in Trade, aggregate figures are not available, but of 18 Trading groups, only three showed proportions of patents and goodwill to capitalization that exceeded 10 per cent, the highest of these three being 20 per cent. Clearly, our general conclusion for Manufacturing likewise applies here.

3. VALUATION AND ABSOLUTE EARNINGS RATES: CAPITAL ASSETS

The second possible major source of invalidity in our balance sheet figures is the plant and property account. If assets are in some cases stated upon a cost (or cost less normal physical depreciation) basis, and in other cases on the basis of appraisals, then to this extent our data are of a hybrid character; and if those appraisals which are conservative do not exactly offset those which are extravagant, we have no assurance that our computed earnings rates reflect the actual returns upon the investment that really accrue to the security holders. We are unable to check this point in quantitative terms as definitely as we could check the items of goodwill and patents; but certain general observations may enable us to form an opinion with respect to the broad limits of such probable discrepancies.

Again, if we take only one company, we find that the amount at which the plant account is carried may bear no relation to the investment made. We do not undertake to say that it may bear no relation to the 'value' of the plant. What the value of any industrial plant is as of any given date (unless value is defined simply as cost and adequate records are available to disclose it) is something which cannot be determined with precision by anyone. The market value of a plant obviously depends upon its earnings but what these earnings will be for the future years of the plant's life and, even assuming a fair stability and permanence of earnings, what should be the 'number of years purchase' used in calculating the valuation are controversial economic, accounting and legal matters on which we do not here propose to enter. For present purposes, in appraising the effect of variations in accounting policy upon our data, it will be sufficient to regard original cost less depreciation as a norm, and to inquire concerning the possible discrepancy between the sum of the positive deviations above this norm and the sum of those below it, in the data for any industrial group.

Some very large companies are conservative with respect to depreciation charges and their plant accounts. One of the best-known instances is the General Electric Company, which as of the end of 1928 carried plants that cost \$205 million at \$47.5 million.³ This company not only makes an adequate annual charge for physical depreciation, but in addition charges a further generous portion of the value of its plant to an account called 'general plant reserve'. The two accounts, 'general plant reserve' and 'depreciation', are

* Annual Report for 1928, p. 6.

[532]

not separated in the published balance sheet; nor are charges to them shown separately in the published income statement. From various published figures that are given, however, it may be seen that the charge to this general plant reserve account can scarcely constitute any very great proportion of either net income or the amount that annual net income would be were this charge not made. The combined charge to the two accounts, in 1928 for example, was but \$7.5 million, whereas the net profit figure in 1928 was \$57 million.⁴

Our immediate interest is in seeing what influence such charges to 'plant reserves' have upon the stated earnings and asset figures of such corporations as the General Electric Company, in terms of specific problems of profits and profit rates discussed in this volume.

Charges to plant and equipment beyond what are regarded as normal depreciation rates proper may, of course, often be quite justified from both the economic and accounting points of view; certainly from the standpoint of business policy an excellent case can be made for the practice.⁵ But

⁴Before interest payments on funded debt. The net income figure after such charges was 54 million. The two terms 'profit' and 'income' are used in this chapter as in the other parts of the volume (i.e., not as used in the General Electric or any other particular corporation's statement), but both concepts are frequently had in mind in connection with the valuation problems under discussion.

⁸ In its 1926 report (from which paragraphs later published in the 1928 report are taken) the General Electric Company argues with cogency:

"Normal depreciation on buildings and equipment is based upon the estimated average effective life of each unit. It does not take into consideration the rapid obsolescence of plants and machinery in a rapidly developing industry like ours. The value of a plant, therefore, cannot safely be determined by first cost or by appraisal on the basis of reproduction cost less normal depreciation.

"It is for these reasons that your Company has followed the policy of providing a general plant reserve in excess of normal depreciation rates, so as to enable it to take promptly out of service buildings or equipment which, although not worn out physically, are inefficient and uneconomical. Failure to provide such a reserve would make the management much slower to abandon inefficient buildings and machinery, and would make the fairly or otherwise, the General Electric Company is regarded not only by the electrical machinery industry but also by the business and accounting world generally as constituting an extreme case of conservatism in accounting procedure. If, therefore, we are able to estimate within rather close limits what the maximum possible effect of the General Electric Company's exceptional practice—from the point of view of business policy, let it be repeated, perhaps the sound one—can have upon the consistency of its figures with the data for other corporations in the Electrical Machinery minor group of our sample, we may be able to form some

Company less able to meet new conditions and, therefore, less effective in economical production and in competition.

"An illustration of this necessity is provided by the experience of your Company during the past four years, during which time fifteen factory properties have been sold, having a first cost of \$3,727,749 against which normal depreciation reserves of \$1,005,930 had been set aside, leaving a book value of \$2,721,819. These properties were finally sold for \$2,410,028, or a loss from first cost of \$1,317,721, and a book loss of \$311,791 which was charged against the general plant reserve. This illustration does not include machinery and equipment, on which further loss was sustained."

Such reserve strength with which to meet unforeseen losses of this character might, of course, be built up without specific charges to a general plant reserve before the calculation of net income, if a larger proportion of net income were simply retained in the business as a part of general surplus account. This would, however, imply that they were a part of profits rather than expense. But were such charges to expense not specifically made, and the net income figure thus appeared as a larger amount, stockholders would regard the business as being more prosperous and might demand larger dividends. The General Electric Company feels that such larger dividends are not justified, and even if not paid, the 'income' in question should not even appear on the balance sheet as a profit surplusthe accounting philosophy involved being that the final determination of what actually has been earned as net income in any one year cannot be made with precision until the experience of other years shows what has really been the rate of plant and equipment obsolescence in the earlier year. This is quite consistent, of course, with the statement that the value of the plant cannot be determined either by first cost or by appraisal less normal (physical) depreciation.

I am indebted to Mr. J. W. Lewis of the General Electric Company for information concerning the company's accounting policy in several respects.

[534]

general conclusion concerning the significance of our figures in that, as well as other, minor groups.

As regards the possible effect on net profit figures, it is first to be observed that theoretically a very liberal policy of provision for depreciation and obsolescence might have no great effect upon the income statement. This would be true only if new plant construction each year approximately equalled in cost the value of the old plant and equipment retired from service during that year; and if the rate at which new construction were written off were kept the same from year to year. This situation seldom, if ever, prevails, although in an old established enterprise in which the demand for the product has become entirely stabilized, an approach to it might result. This, however, is by no means the case with most companies, and it is not true of General Electric. Nor does the General Electric Company, as is sometimes alleged, in any sense ever charge off all, one-half or one-third of the entire cost of a new plant's construction -or anything approaching these amounts-against the earnings of the particular year in which the plant is built."

Taking the 1928 figure as an example, we find that the charge to 'general plant reserve and depreciation' as before stated was seven and one-half million dollars, while the net profit for that year, reckoned after this charge, was 57 million. Let us assume that half of this charge had not been made. Net profit would then have been shown as about 61 million dollars instead of 57 million. Running similar calculations back to 1923, the results, in round numbers, are:

⁴The fact that in a particular year it may sometimes be observed that the Company's charge against general plant reserve and depreciation has amounted to either approximately the cost of new plant construction or to almost exactly half the cost is only a coincidence.

Year	One-half plant reserve and depreciation charge,	N et profit	Net profit plus one-half plant reserve and depreciation charge
1928	4	57	61
1927	5	52	57
1926	6	50	56
1925	5	43	48
1924	5	45	50
1923	4	37	41

Next we may see what effect such charges have upon a company's invested capital figures as shown by the balance sheet. Net figures shown for capital assets are, of course, lower because of these accumulated charges than would otherwise be the case. The capitalization figures that appear on the liability side of the balance sheet (or, alternatively, a net worth figure computed by the subtraction of liabilities to other than stockholders from the total assets figure) may or may not be materially reduced because of the lower valuation at which fixed plant and equipment are carried. If a company were habitually to pay out all of its reported earnings in dividends, then an exceptionally large charge against plant account would merely result in the retention in the business of revenues (we do not undertake to call them net) that would otherwise have appeared as profits and would have been disbursed to shareholders. Total assets would be larger, by the amount of the excess depreciation charge, than if the charge had not been made and the sum had been paid out as dividends. To be sure, the figure representing the amount thus retained in the business is not earmarked and has no separate entity as a specific asset. It.may be that the cash or United States Government securities account is larger in consequence, or it may be that inventories or other assets are greater-but in any event the figure is there. Unless a large truly secret reserve is created by charging new construction against the operations

[536]

of the year and not showing the asset upon the books at all, or unless the value of existing assets is written down more rapidly than they are being exhausted and an outstanding no-par stock issue is devaluated or capital surplus written down in consequence, no concealment of total assets —or of stockholders' equity or invested capital—would take place. This is, of course, true whether the method of recording depreciation on a balance sheet is by showing the original cost of the plant account, with the accumulated reserves against it entered as a subtraction and the net valuation extended, all on the asset side of the statement, or by showing the gross fixed investment figure as an asset and the reserve against it as a liability.⁷

The case is different, however, when, as is customary, a company regularly carries a part of its earnings to surplus. Here an excess charge against the plant account may result in appreciably smaller capitalization figures on the balance sheet and may fail to reflect assets retained in the business as reserves. In the General Electric Company, for example, we recall that the charge to plant reserve and depreciation in 1928 was \$7.5 million. If only, say, \$3.5 million had been charged and if out of the net profit figure (thus increased from \$57 to \$61 million) the same dividends were paid, then instead of approximately \$8 million being carried to surplus, about \$12 million would have been added.

⁷Under the second procedure, the depreciation reserve is shown as a liability item (as in published statements of the General Motors Corporation, for example), but presumably not in the 'Capital' or 'Net Worth' section of the liabilities side of the balance sheet (cf. R. B. Kester, Accounting Theory and Practice (1928), II, 188). If the valuations are at all sound from the point of view of the fairly correct appraisal of future earnings and the necessity for replacing depreciated and obsolete equipment, the reserve against plant has, of course, no proper place as a 'surplus' or 'profit' reserve and constitutes no part of capitalization. It does, however, increase the amount of total assets shown by the balance sheet. (To this extent, total assets would be a less reliable investment base than the capitalization or total capital figures employed in the present volume.)
But the total capital or capitalization figure would be far higher than that actually shown because the same procedure would have been followed in preceding years-in other words, these annual charges to plant reserve which for purposes of the present argument we regard as 'excess' charges would have accumulated over a period. As of the end of 1928, the General Electric accumulated general plant and depreciation reserve was 158 million dollars. What proportion of this represents a normal or customary depreciation reserve and what part conservative excess cannot be told from the published figures, but the annual 'excess' charge, in recent years at least, has been something less than the depreciation rate proper.8 Let us, however, again make an assumption more extreme than the known figures warrant, and arbitrarily say that half of this accumulated depreciation reserve belongs to the surplus account-that is. should be put there in order to construct a capitalization figure that reflects a more conventional (albeit quite possibly less correct) valuation figure for plant and equipment. Upon this basis, the total capital of the company as of 1928 becomes 437 million instead of 358 million-the hypothetical figure thus being 22 per cent larger than that shown by the published statement. This is a substantial difference. Let us, in the same way, run the calculations back to 1923.

Year	Capital ¹ as per books	Capital plus one-half plant and depreciation reserve ³
1078	359	437
1027	330	416
1747	310	+1J 401
1920	330	401
1925	303	370
1924	298	358
1923	304	360

¹ Includes general reserves, but not depreciation and plant reserves. ³ Accumulated reserve as of end of each year.

⁸ This has been stated to the writer by an official of the Company.

[538]

We may now employ this set of calculations in connection with the set of income figures previously computed, in which we added to each year's published profit figure one-half of the depreciation and plant reserve charge for that year; and in this way we can ascertain the difference in earnings rates as calculated with the two sets of income and capitalization figures. The results are given below (our computed figures being termed 'hypothetical').

	Earnings rates on basis of			
Year	Book figures	Hypothetical figures		
1928	15.9	14.0		
1927	15.3	13.7		
1926	15.2	14.0		
1925	14.1	13.0		
1924	15.1	14.0		
1923	12.2	11.4		

It thus becomes apparent that a conservative policy of valuation may result in a somewhat *higher* ratio of net earnings to capitalization. The differences, however, are not large.⁹ To what extent may we reasonably expect differences of this, or even of twice as serious a nature, to influence our general figures for an entire industry?

Taking as an example the minor group Electrical Machinery, we find that our large corporations series contains

⁶ Moreover, in the case of General Electric, we have not mentioned that its furniture and fixtures account (for furniture and appliances other than in its factories) is carried at \$1, as is also its patent account. However, these additional evidences of conservatism may not need to be considered in addition to the adjustment we have already made of the plant account, in calculating our hypothetical figures. The office furniture and appliances account would be small in comparison with the general plant account; while the patent account is not susceptible of any estimation. The practice of carrying patents at nominal sums is, however, fairly widespread among large corporations. In any event, we may perhaps be permitted to guess that our extreme procedure in adding as much as one-half of the general plant reserve to the surplus account constitutes a sufficiently generous adjustment of the figures to put the company upon a parity with most other large corporations that are distinguished neither for especial conservatism nor for recklessness in their accounting policies.

54 companies in this group. In 1928 the aggregate capitalization of these 54 companies is shown as 848 million dollars, while the combined net income is 140 million. Let us assume that the General Electric Company is one of these 54 companies.¹⁰ If so, its capitalization and income figures would exercise a considerable influence upon any totals or arithmetic averages derived from the data of the sample, for upon almost any basis of valuation that might be adopted its capitalization would account for from one-third to one-half of the total for the group. Suppose, therefore, that we recast the data of the sample by taking cognizance of an assumed undercapitalization for General Electricthat, in other words, we increase the group's capitalization by an amount equal to one-half of the General Electric Company's accumulated depreciation and plant reserve shown in its published report, and likewise increase the income of the group by one-half of the charge to that account made for 1928. If this is done, the total capital of the group becomes 980 instead of 901 million, and its total profit becomes 146 instead of 142 million. The percentage of profit to capital is decreased from 15.8 to 14.9 as a result of this revision. Had the amount by which the General Electric Company is regarded as being 'undercapitalized' been made twice as great in the calculations, the change in the final earnings rate for the group would still

²⁰ The Source-Book does not identify any of the corporations in the various samples, but the total capitalization—nearly a billion dollars—shown for this sample of large corporations in the electrical industry makes it fairly certain that none of the three or four leading corporations engaged in this field is omitted from the sample—just as the total of capitalization shown by the sample for the group Motor Vehicles (almost two billion dollars in 1928) makes it certain that both the General Motors Corporation and the Ford Motor Company are included in the figures for the Motor Vehicles group. Thus while no identification of corporations is possible, the reader who studies the figures for any minor group, and who is conversant with the general composition of the industry examined, can in most cases tell whether the very largest companies are included. have been reduced merely from 15.8 to 14.2 per cent; and were the assumed figure made three times as great, the change would be from 15.8 to 13.6 per cent.

It thus appears that no significant change in the results is likely to take place, in consequence of even a substantial measure of undervaluation by any one company in the industry. This, of course, assumes that the dominant or leading company is the only company in the industry for which the valuation figures deviate markedly from the customary accounting practice. But assume, however, that several large companies 'undervalue' their assets. Even if the number and size of the companies that do so are sufficient to bring as much as one-half of the industry's capitalization into question, but if the average extent of the deficiency is not much greater than in the General Electric Company, the difference between the two earnings rates involved would still not be appreciable. The effect would be to increase total capitalization by as much as one-seventh or one-sixth and somewhat to increase income, but in a much lower proportion; thus the newly derived earnings rate would in no case be significantly different from the old.

Much the same reasoning holds good for instances of overcapitalization. Even if, in a small minor group sample, one-third of the reported capitalization of the group belonged to firms which on an average reported *double* the amount of capital actually invested, a correction based upon this assumption would reduce the capitalization for the group by only one-sixth. If the earnings rate upon the capitalization as originally shown had been 15 per cent, it would become 18 per cent upon the reduced base; if it had been 10 per cent previously, it would become 12 per cent.

We have, however, made extreme assumptions. It is unlikely that, in any industrial group for which we have data, as much as one-third or one-half of the capitalization

is in error by as much as one-half of, or double, itself. Furthermore, it is even more unlikely that the deviations are all on one side-that is to say, it is just as improbable to assume that in a given industry all firms that do not carry their plants at actual investment less depreciation accumulated at the usual rate show them at more than this figure, as it is to assume that all corporations in the industry carry their plants at less than this amount. The very diversity of practice in this respect may let us feel sure that in nearly every industrial group some corporations do the one thing, some the other. This is not to assume that the two sets of discrepancies obligingly cancel each other. But it remains true that the influence of undervaluation by certain dominant firms in an industry upon the figures for the group as a whole is partially offset by whatever overvaluation is practiced by other firms in the group. To this extent, our limits of probable error are even narrower than the possible ones which were indicated above when the effects of over- and undervaluation were considered separately.

Undoubtedly, industries differ somewhat in the extent to which arbitrary accounting practices of one sort or another prevail. But there is no reason for assuming that the difference between industries in this respect is as marked as between different companies in any given industry. At least, there is no evidence whatever to show that, with respect to valuation policies, a conservative point of view, or the reverse, is the peculiar attribute of all or most of the executive personnel in one industry as compared with another. If anything, our assumption would be that the reverse is more true, that such conservatism, or its absence, constitutes an intellectual quality that varies with the temperament and personality of the individuals in every industry and that such differences as may chance to prevail generally, in one

[542]

industry as compared with another in this respect, can be neither of a broad nor of a well-defined nature.

As between the companies in any one industry, it may be reiterated, we know that variations of practice prevail, although we are unable to measure with any precision their general extent. But in concluding this part of the discussion, certain general observations, to which doubtless many competent observers among students of finance and accounting would agree, may be made.¹¹

The tendency towards overcapitalization on the part of large American corporations, so prevalent in the last decade of the nineteenth century and the first decade of the twentieth, has not only abated but in some instances reversed itself. Most of the old 'watered stock' corporations that have remained in business through the period to which our data pertain have 'grown up to' their capitalizations. If anything, the present tendency among large corporations is to undervalue rather than overvalue their capital assets. The General Electric Company, used for illustrative purposes in this chapter, although a conspicuous instance of conservatism in this respect, is only one of many.

Many smaller companies undoubtedly greatly overvalue their assets, especially their fixed property accounts. Partly this is because the smaller corporations in the main are those that make the least use of public accountants and outside

To 'prove' very much here—if proof means to establish beyond any doubt—is, of course, difficult. But the author desires to present Dr. Knauth's statement to the reader, as representing a more skeptical view than the conclusions of this chapter.

¹¹ Some keen critics would not. Dr. Oswald W. Knauth, who has read this chapter, holds that the age of an industry probably affects the general level of its plant and equipment valuations. He says: "I confess that I am not convinced by the argument . . . I simply don't believe that these variations in earnings rates in different industries represent the facts. I suggest that some industries with apparent high rates of return are industries in which the capital has been all written off, and *vice versa*. I can't prove it, but I don't think this proves anything either."

auditors. Often the inflation of property account may be undertaken with the deliberate purpose of making a more favorable impression upon the commercial banks which, in appraising a balance sheet as the basis of loan extensions, allow a given margin for excessive valuations before deciding upon the loan. It is perhaps not too hazardous a generalization to affirm that today large firms are apt to undervalue their plant accounts and small firms to overvalue them.¹² But while the validity of comparisons between individual corporations is often seriously affected as the result of the non-comparability of such valuations, our general conclusion is that no significant invalidation of the figures for most *industries* probably takes place as the result of such heterogeneity of accounting data in the Manufacturing and Trading divisions.

As to our samples for Finance and Mining, we can be far less certain. In certain fields of finance, where holding company pyramided upon holding company often gives the legerdemain of accounting full play, much is possible. While one minor group in our sample, Savings Banks, is doubtless entirely free from any such influence, two minor groups, Investments and All Other Finance, may reflect such arbitrary bookkeeping figures very greatly. The three other minor groups of the Finance sample, Commercial Banks, National Banks and Trust Companies, stand in an intermediate position in this respect. Most of the corporations in them doubtless carry their assets at reasonable figures (in this case, of course, the assets are mainly securities rather than physical property owned directly); but the affiliated investment companies of many such institutions bring up questions of valuation that cannot well be resolved

[544]

¹³ This conclusion relates primarily to the types of manufacturing and trading corporations for which data are discussed in this volume—not to holding companies in the financial and public utility fields.

in general terms from data of the sort that are contained in our samples of these groups. In the Mining division, problems of charges to depletion, as well as to depreciation and obsolescence, and in some Mining fields the question of discovery value (see Ch. 25), probably subject our samples to much larger limits of possible error than in the Manufacturing and Trading groups.

4. VALUATION AND RELATIVE EARNINGS RATES: TIME FLUCTUATIONS

We have in the preceding section attempted to indicate the degree to which arbitrary valuations of plant and equipment might affect the data of our samples. Our general conclusion was that neither the absolute earnings rate for any one industry nor the comparison of earnings rates between industries would be so greatly affected by this factor as to invalidate the comparison of different industries. The data of most of our samples, however, are for a ten-year period and while the comparison of earnings rates in different industries at any one time may not be at all significantly affected by discrepancies in valuation policies, there remains the possibility that any general shift in policies that took place over the period would affect the year-to-year comparison of the figures. To investigate this question, supplementary information has been obtained from 67 companies interviewed in the course of a field study.18

The companies interviewed are fairly large, but in most instances not dominant, corporations. Data were collected on capital assets for certain years of the period 1919-30;

¹³ This study was made for the National Bureau of Economic Research by Henry S. Dennison, with the collaboration of E. R. Burton. The information collected on capital assets and valuation policies was obtained specifically with a view to checking upon the problems presented by the material of our samples as discussed in the present chapter.

and each corporation was asked whether any *change* of policy with respect to the valuation of such assets took place during the period in question. In some instances, changes in policy or plant appraisals made in 1931 were reported, so the answers really relate to the thirteen-year period, 1919-31.

Fifty companies reported that 'no change' in policy took place; while 17 reported reappraisals of plant or changes of policy.

Of these 17 concerns,

a. Three reported reappraisals and the adoption of a valuation policy of cost-less-depreciation, either upon all property owned or upon all subsequent construction;

b. Seven reported reappraisals, but gave no information on the new valuations;

c. Six either wrote off all goodwill and intangibles, or substantially reduced these accounts;

d. One reported a change in depreciation and obsolescence policy that resulted in larger annual current charges, but gave no information on the revaluation of the accumulated reserve and property account.

We have here only 67 companies, but the diversity of industry is rather pronounced. There are included food products, rubber goods, electrical machinery, cotton spinning, men's clothing, machine tools, magazine publishing, writing paper and automobile manufacturing concerns as well as a few chain store companies. There are, of course, only one or a few companies in each group, but all major manufacturing groups, and the retail trade group, are represented. In size, as measured by sales, most of the companies involved do an annual volume of business ranging from approximately 2 to 20 million dollars each, although a few are much larger, having sales of 50 or 100 million. With 50 of these 67 companies reporting no change

[546]

VALUATION PROBLEMS

whatever in their valuation policy during the decade 1919–28, it seems not unlikely that this situation is typical of large manufacturing corporations that are not giant concerns and that, so far as this type of enterprise is concerned, the year-to-year comparability of at least our large Manufacturing and Trading corporations samples is not impaired because of any general changes in valuation policy during the period in question. It is interesting to find that of the companies reporting changes, most of those that gave specific information *reduced* their valuations of assets, thus confirming our earlier observation that the present tendency in the policy of large manufacturing concerns is in the direction of conservatism rather than of exaggeration in this respect.

[547]

CHAPTER 46

PROBLEMS OF CLASSIFICATION

1. CLASSIFICATION ON THE BASIS OF INDUSTRIAL OPERATIONS

ALL the analyses made of the earnings of different corporations and industrial groups in preceding chapters have presupposed certain classification principles. The basis of classification may have been industrial activity, financial ownership, the character of the net income, or some other criterion. But no such classification can be perfect. In the very nature of the case, to classify a corporation in this or that respect involves making a decision as to whether it belongs here or there; and all borderline cases need arbitrarily to be disposed of in one manner or another. While the classification difficulties involved, either explicitly or implicitly, in the several studies for which we have presented results may not be serious in most instances, they nevertheless are sufficiently important to require discussion.

The first problem relates both to the industrial classification of corporations as undertaken by the Bureau of Internal Revenue, in its published reports, *Statistics of Income*, and that adopted by the present writer in the original preparation of the various tables for the several samples in the Department of Commerce *Source-Book* upon which the analyses of the foregoing chapters rest.¹ In this connection,

¹Upon these problems, William L. Crum, Corporate Earning Power, Ch. [548] it will be convenient to utilize the work of J. Franklin Ebersole and his collaborators, originally published in the *Review of Economic Statistics.*² We should, however, state that our discussion in no way constitutes a review of that work. (That thoughtful study was concerned chiefly with the problem of forecasting income, which is not germane to our purposes.) We shall extract certain passages from Ebersole's study that relate to the classification of corporations. Although of major importance for us, some of the points treated were of minor importance in the Ebersole article (several even appeared in footnotes); and the reader is asked to bear in mind that our criticism is of these details of argument, and in no way of Professor Ebersole's contribution to the subject of income forecasting.

The Bureau of Internal Revenue's industrial classifications assign a corporation to a particular industrial division, such as Manufacturing or Mining, or to a major group, such as Foods or Textiles, upon the basis of the company's predominant activity. Thus the Standard Oil Company of New Jersey would be characterized as an oil refining enterprise and placed in the major group Chemicals, and if placed further under a minor group caption (in the terminology of this study) would go under Petroleum Refining although much of its activity is not manufacturing but mining (that is, drilling for oil). Similarly, the General Motors Corporation would be regarded as a motor vehicle producer; its manufacture of both electric refrigerators and

II, Classification Difficulties, and J. Franklin Ebersole, Susan S. Burr and George M. Peterson, Income Forecasting by the Use of Statistics of Income Data, *Review of Economic Statistics*, November 1929, may both be consulted to advantage. Ebersole *et al.* are much more skeptical of the validity of the industrial classifications employed by the Bureau of Internal Revenue than is Crum. Much seems to the present writer to hinge upon one's purpose in utilizing such data; likewise, the relative frequency with which a given type of error occurs is all-important, as will shortly be suggested.

sporting goods would be ignored. Because of this practice Ebersole. Burr and Peterson have contended that the overlapping between the Bureau of Internal Revenue's industrial classifications "is so great that each group, instead of adequately representing a single industry, merely represents a poor sample of all industry."³ This contention rests upon the fact that many income tax returns represent large corporations that either engage in several types of business or else, if they are combinations of one sort or another, may file consolidated returns, that is, make one tax return that includes all affiliated companies. Nor can it be assumed, declare the writers just quoted, that errors caused by this overlapping can cancel one another: "For instance, if an automobile manufacturer owns a railroad and includes its income in a single return which is tabulated in manufacturing, there is no assurance that this is offset by some . . . bus company . . . manufacturing automobiles and included in transportation" The writers even go so far as to say that: "Since 1918 the Statistics of Income tabulations show merely the number of returns routed to the Statistics Section [the statistical division of the Bureau of Internal Revenue], there being no data whatever as to the actual number of corporations."4

Concerning these devastating criticisms, several observations may be offered. Taking them up in reverse order, it would appear that the statement that the *Statistics of Income* tabulations contain "no data whatever" on the actual number of corporations rests upon a rather legalistic definition of the term 'corporation'. In much current industrial and financial analysis the word corporation is frequently used as synonymous with 'enterprise'; and in this sense such an integrated enterprise as the United States Steel Corpo-

*Ibid., p. 173.

⁴ Ibid., p. 172n. The italics are mine.

[550]

ration is spoken of as one corporation by the 'Street' quite as much as by the Bureau of Internal Revenue. Merely because, legally, the United States Steel Corporation may not necessarily be responsible for the actions of the numerous companies that it controls, is not to imply that, for many purposes, it should not be regarded as 'one corporation' or as 'the leading corporation' in the steel industry. While not indicating the number of *legally chartered corporations* in the country, the *Statistics of Income* tabulations undoubtedly indicate with reasonable accuracy the number of corporate *enterprises*, even though some of the larger ones own or control subsidiary concerns for which they report income data in their own returns.

As to the instance of the automobile manufacturer owning a railroad, the frequency of this occurrence is rather slight if by 'railroad' is meant anything more than a few switch tracks or loading spurs. The only real railroad that has ever been owned by an automobile manufacturer is a rather small carrier as railroad properties go, and the inclusion of its data under the heading of manufacture exercises an altogether insignificant effect upon the figures for that division. Here again the difference between data for an individual corporation and for a large group of corporations, several times remarked in the preceding chapter, should be borne in mind. Any one company's figures may be influenced by this, that or the other factor; but the quantitative effect thus exerted upon the total figures for the group is automatically less than that upon the single company's figures.

More serious is the overlapping between the manufacturing and mining divisions because many manufacturing corporations operate their own metal mines or oil wells. Here Ebersole, Peterson and Burr offer a criticism that is valid in many ways. We have, however, already touched upon this matter in Chapter 8 and pointed out that while the satisfactoriness of the mining data as adequately representative of mining activity is thus impaired, the satisfactoriness of the data for manufacturing activity is in some respects thereby enhanced. No adequate picture of the United States Steel Corporation, for example, as an integrated iron and steel enterprise could be obtained without including in its accounts such mining and transportation activities as are undertaken almost entirely for, and conduce directly to, the production of iron and steel products upon a large scale by the corporation in question. Again, everything depends upon the purpose of the investigation.⁵

Concerning, in this connection, the third count in the indictment of the Bureau of Internal Revenue's figures--that because of the consolidated report, each industrial group constitutes not merely a single set of industrial activities but a poor sample of all industries-the charge again seems too broad. First, the most egregious cases of conglomerate activities are the exceptions and not the rule. Ebersole, Peterson and Burr ask: "What is the main business of a company that owns, controls and files one return for operations covering . . . oil wells, pipe lines, refining, filling stations, electric light and gas plants and some investment companies?" 6 Presumably the corporation here in mind is the Cities Service Company, industrially an exceptionally diversified institution. If, however, 'electric light and gas plants' had been omitted from the list, the description of activities might well fit any one of several large oil companies other than Cities Service; and, if so, the answer

[552]

^{*}Our statement here assumes that the investigator's primary interest lies in the steel industry as a whole, not in the performance of the non-integrated iron and steel companies *per se*. An investigator might, of course, for some purposes be concerned with the non-integrated as distinguished from the integrated enterprises.

^{*}*Op. cit.*, p. 173n.

would simply be: the production of petroleum products, the several phases of the productive process being highly integrated. To be sure, the income arising from any one part of the process cannot be segregated in the data as given; but there is no really good reason to desire such a separation for purposes either of general economic analysis or of investment banking. An investor in the Standard Oil Company of New Jersey or the Texas Corporation invests his capital in these several activities, all of which are essential to the processing of oil for the final consumer. And waving aside Cities Service as representing an unusually diversified combination of activities, it is proper to regard a combination of oil wells, pipe lines, refineries, tank cars, and filling stations as constituting the normally related activities of oil production when carried on upon a large scale; and viewed in this way, the operation of pipe lines is just as much a part of the productive " activity of a large oil company as the operation of refineries and of filling stations.

This leads us to point out, in the second place, that a diversity of processes and activities is normally characteristic of many business enterprises whether incorporated or not. To take a trading group as an example, one would not object to the retention of the corner pharmacy—whether incorporated or otherwise—in a retail drug group because the enterprise deals in such items of hardware as alarm clocks and razors, in such foodstuffs as ice cream and candy, and in such drygoods as handkerchiefs, bandages and gauze —not to mention numerous articles other than drugs that such a store may often carry—for this conglomerate assemblage of products, traditionally and in reality, is a 'drug store'. To say that a datum showing the rate of return earned by such enterprises as compared with grocery or hardware stores can have no significance because the figure

'The term is, of course, employed in the economic sense.

represents income derived from the sale of heterogeneous products would be absurd. Similarly, to say that the enterprises denominated as 'department stores' do not constitute a particular type of business, the practices and earnings of which cannot be examined in comparison with other types of enterprise, would likewise be futile. The list could be extended.

But Ebersole presents an entirely valid criticism of the use of the consolidated return and its tendency to vitiate computations tlerived from Statistics of Income figures inpointing out that a given corporation may be not be kept in the same industrial classification in successive years. If, for example, a mail order house were at one time or another to begin the operation of retail stores and if the number of stores operated grew from year to year, a time might come when a very slight change in the nature of the enterprise might cause a complete change in classification. For example, at the start of the ten-year period, a corporation might derive 95 per cent of its gross revenues from mail order operations and 5 per cent or less from its one or several stores. If the proportion of business done by the retail stores so increased that, as of a given time, 49 per cent of the year's total business came from the stores and 51 per cent from the mail order trade, the corporation would still be classified as a mail order house. If, now, the next year 51 per cent of the gross revenues came from its stores, the corporation would then be shifted from the mail order group to another category. Not only would the character of the company's business have altered in no significant manner as between two years, but a distortion of the figures in both of the minor groups-that from which the corporation was taken and that into which it was put-would be effected. Thus, in any elaborate analysis of minor groups of industry, changes in classification that are made mechanically upon the basis of *predominant* activity are apt to affect disastrously the year-to-year comparability of the results for small minor groups. Whether or not sufficient distortion of this sort takes place as between *major* groups so as occasionally to vitiate such figures as are published in *Statistics of Income* is uncertain.

Our small corporations samples are somewhat subject to this qualification. There is no assurance that the same company (in so far as the samples may contain some of the same companies in successive years) is classified in the same minor group from year to year. In respect of small corporations, however, the qualification necessary on this score is far less serious than of large companies, as the influence of any one or two companies upon the total figures for an industrial group is slight.

All of our large corporations samples, however, consist of identical corporations from year to year; and these corporations have been kept in *exactly the same groups* throughout the entire ten-year period.

But there were several important instances in which to have kept a particular corporation in a particular group for the entire ten years would have meant closing one's eyes to the obvious fact that the nature of the corporation's business had substantially changed; for example, a company manufacturing crude chemicals might have undertaken the manufacture of paints and its paint business have grown to such a volume that it surpassed, not slightly but very greatly, the volume of its other chemical products. In a few such instances the company was not put into either classification but in a miscellaneous category; that is, in the particular instance just given, the company would have been placed neither in the Paints nor the Crude Chemicals group but in Miscellaneous Chemicals and Chemical Products, for the entire ten years. For in many such instances, blindly to keep corporations in the same group from year to year might effect as gross a distortion of results as to follow the rule of predominance.

It is clear that no completely satisfactory basis of classification is possible—any basis adopted must be in many respects arbitrary. Doubtless our practice of putting into miscellaneous categories the doubtful cases of our large corporations series solves the problem for purposes of sample studies that cover only ten or fifteen years. Probably no rule that could be employed continuously by the Bureau of Internal Revenue in its compilations would satisfy all users of the material. Over a long period of years, if the nature of a corporation's business indeed markedly changes it should be shifted out of one category into another. Perhaps a satisfactory working basis-although still arbitrary ---would be to throw the enterprise in question into a new group only when the proportion of gross revenues derived from such activities constituted as much as, say, 75 or 80 per cent of its total volume of operations. In any event, the Statistics of Income data that we have employed in this book have been only for industrial divisions and majornot minor-industrial groups; and we may assume that reservations are necessary upon the score of industrial classification in few instances.8 Our own large corporations

⁸ Professor Ebersole and his co-authors do well in the articles cited to call attention to the qualifications that ought to be borne in mind by anyone who uses the figures published by the Bureau of Internal Revenue. For some purposes doubtless certain of the imperfections of classification may invalidate the *Statistics of Income* data in question; but for many purposes of general economic analysis, we cannot believe that they seriously do so. The position taken in this chapter is substantially that of Professor Crum, who has made much use of *Statistics of Income* data—particularly those for the net return upon sales and gross revenues—by industrial divisions and major groups in much the way in which those and other data have been employed in the present volume. In his *Corporate Earning Power* (1929) Crum states:

"In spite of these imperfections in classification, it is believed that the

[556]

samples, to repeat, are not subject to any such reservations.⁹

2. INTERCORPORATE INCOME AND INVESTMENT

Many large corporations, whether consolidated or not, own stock interests in other corporations on which they receive dividends. These dividends constitute a part of the income of the corporation that receives them, although they are not taxable. The income amounts contained in some tables of *Statistics of Income* may be taken with or without the inclusion of such dividends; and in nearly all of the tables of our samples, they may be reckoned either way. But we are not, in the balance sheet data of our samples, able to segregate the intercorporate investment on which such dividends are earned. Thus the capitalization data of our samples, taken as absolute amounts, involve a certain duplication: the capitalization of some corporations reflects

aggregate figures for the various divisions, groups, and subgroups are significant and valuable. One of the chief reasons for this confidence is that many of the errors in classification are such that they tend to offset one another, and to have therefore a relatively small aggregate effect on the group total. Moreover, we are accustomed to use statistical data for which similar classification difficulties exist. Indeed, most statistical classification in economics and business is likely to be hazy and imperfect, and we are in the habit of making reservations in our reasoning from such figures. Reservations of this sort should be made in the study of these income data. Such reservations need not be more stringent, however, than in other like problems in economic and business of the figures for such analyses..." (p. 23).

⁹ This chapter, in unrevised form, was submitted to Professor Ebersole, who was good enough to make several valuable criticisms of which cognizance has been taken in the revision. However, of a part of Section 4, Professor Ebersole says, "Have you not overlooked two facts . . . the bias of the figures during a period of consolidation whereby a larger area of business comes under the control of the corporation (single or consolidated) bearing the same name, and the mortality of old corporations and the birth of new corporations within the same classification?" Possibly these two matters should be treated in this chapter; see, however, Ch. 34, 35, 43. the ownership not merely of its own assets but also a part of the assets of other corporations. For purposes of calculating the earnings rate of any corporation upon its invested capital, such dividends must be included in income; and it is thus proper to retain the investment (on which such dividends are received) in capitalization. But since some duplication is thus involved if either the income or investment figures be considered as absolute amounts, and since from the point of view of any given corporation the income thus received is in most instances to be classed as non-operating income, it is desirable to ascertain the extent to which such intercorporate holdings and revenues obtain. We have no data directly upon capital holdings, but the proportion of total income received upon such investments serves as a rough guide to the relative investments themselves.

It will be sufficient to analyze the data for the large manufacturing corporations series in 1928.¹⁰ For All Manufacture, the total of intercorporate income received by the 2,046 companies of the sample amounted to 12.7 per cent of the aggregate net income before the segregation of dividends received. The two largest major groups, Metals and Foods, show figures of only about 4 per cent each. The Chemicals group, however, has a ratio of 30 per cent.¹¹ The large proportion of intercorporate dividends present in this group must be regarded as a substantial qualification upon the significance of the absolute income and capital figures involved. Data for all groups are presented in Table 113.

[558]

¹⁰ The original data for other years are available in the Source-Book.

¹¹ This is the highest ratio of any major group except Rubber, in which the figure is anomalously 119 per cent because the net income derived from operations is a deficit that is converted into a positive figure when the intercorporate dividends are added to it. Dividends received in the Rubber group in 1928 amount to about \$9 million, while the aggregate total net income of the group (including such dividends) is \$7.5 million. The Rubber group, however, experienced an exceptionally poor year in 1928, so the illustration is not typical.

CLASSIFICATION

[559]

TABLE 113

DIVIDENDS RECEIVED IN RELATION TO NET INCOME: LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES, 1928

MINOR		PERCENTAGE OF DIVIDENDS
GROUP		RECEIVED TO NET INCOME
1	Bakery products	0.3
2	Flour	0.4
3	Confectionery	4.3
4	Package foods	2.0
5	Dairying	0.1
6	Canned goods	3.9
7	Meat packing	9.4
9	Beverages	3.1
10	Tobacco	4.6
11-8	Miscellaneous food products	• 7.6
12	Cotton spinning	0.1
13	Cotton converting	1.2
14	Cotton weaving	8.8
15	Weaving woolens	1.8
16	Silk weaving	1.1
17	Carpets	1.9
18	Men's clothing	0.4
19	Knit goods	1.0
20	Miscellaneous clothing	1.2
21	Miscellaneous textiles	0.6
22	Boots and shoes	0.3
23	Miscellaneous leather products	9.9
24	Rubber products	118.8
25	Lumber manufacture	5.2
26	Planing mills	5.5
27	Millwork	0.3
28	Furniture (non-metal)	4.0
29	Miscellaneous lumber products	0.6
30	Blank paper	20.4
31	Cardboard boxes	0.9
32	Stationery	1.0
33	Miscellaneous paper products	9.1
34	Newspapers and periodicals	23.5
35	Book and music publishing	0.5
36	Job printing	4.3
37	Miscellaneous printing and publishing	0.8
38	Urude chemicals	3.3
39	Faints	7.8 21 2
40	retroieum renning	31.4 0 f
42 42	Toilat propagations	1.4
72	Touct brebatanous	2.0

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

TABLE 113 (continued)

DIVIDENDS RECEIVED IN RELATION TO NET INCOME

MINOR		PERCENTAGE OF DIVIDENDS
GROUP		RECEIVED TO NET INCOME
43	Cleaning preparations	0.4
44	Miscellaneous chemicals	48.5
45	Ceramics	0.8
46	Glass	0.6
47	Portland cement	4.2
48	Miscellaneous stone and clay products	1.4
49	Castings and forgings	2.6
50	Sheet metal	6.1
51	Wire and nails	8.4
52	Heating machinery	7.1
53	Electrical machinery	6.1
54	Textile machinery	2.3
55	Printing machinery	0.1
56	Road machinery	1.3
57	Engines	3.0
58	Mining machinery	1.4
59	General factory machinery	3.2
60	Office machinery	2.0
61	Railway equipment	24.6
62	Motor vehicles	1.6
63	Firearms	2.5
64	Hardware	2.4
65	Tools	6.8
66	Bolts and nuts	2.9
67	Miscellaneous machinery	2.0
68	Non-ferrous metals	8.4
69	Jewelry	0.8
70	Miscellaneous metal products	1.5
71	Scientific instruments	35.8
72	Toys	1.1
73	Pianos	0.9
74	Miscellaneous special manufacturing	1.7
MAJOR		

GROUP

.

	-	
1	Foods	4.4
2	Textiles	2.2
3	Leather	1.8
4	Rubber	118.8
5	Lumber	3.1
6	Paper	12.1
7	Printing and publishing	18.5
8	Chemicals	30.1

TABLE 113 (continued)

DIVIDENDS RECEIVED IN RELATION TO NET INCOME

MINOR		PERCENTAGE OF DIVIDENDS
GROUP		RECEIVED TO NET INCOME
9	Stone, clay and glass	2.0
10	Metals	3.8
11	Special manufacturing industries	20.7
	All manufacturing	12.7

Only a few minor groups show high ratios of dividends received to total net income. All but eight of the 73 manufacturing industries have ratios of less than 10 per cent. The five which (apart from the Rubber group commented upon above) have ratios of 25 per cent or more are: Miscellaneous Chemicals, 48.5; Scientific Instruments, 35.8; Petroleum Refining, 31.2; Railroad Equipment, 24.6. In most minor groups, therefore, the proportion of intercorporate income and investments is not sufficiently large to modify greatly the absolute figures; and the earnings rates derived therefrom may be regarded substantially as earnings from operations.¹² In a few groups, such as those just listed, qualifications must, however, be made with respect to the interpretation of the absolute capital and income figures.

3. CONSOLIDATED AND NON-CONSOLIDATED REPORTS

Frequent reference has been made in the two preceding sections to consolidated corporations in contrast to those which report individual income and investment figures, either to the Bureau of Internal Revenue or otherwise. For neither the data published in *Statistics of Income* nor for the corporations of our samples have we precise information concerning the extent to which consolidated corporation

¹⁹ That is, from the point of view of each group as a whole, but not necessarily from that of a particular corporation within any group.

reports may effect a distortion in the figures as grouped by major or minor groups of industries. We are, however, able to ascertain the general extent to which consolidated corporations share in the business of the country from the published Statistics of Income figures; and for the data of our large corporations sample in Manufacturing and Trade, we may compare the rates of return received by the two types of enterprise. Both sets of comparisons are for 1928. First, as to all of the manufacturing corporations in the country. the consolidated corporations in manufacturing are shown by Statistics of Income as having sales of 33 billion dollars, or about one-half of the total of 64 billion for all corporations (consolidated and non-consolidated combined). The consolidated corporations account for 2,700 million out of a total net income¹³ of about 4,500 million. In Trade the proportion of business done by the consolidated corporations is much smaller. The consolidated enterprises show sales of about 7.5 billion as compared with sales of 42 billion by all Trading corporations of the country (consolidated and non-consolidated combined). The total income of the consolidated Trading corporations is about 400 million as compared with slightly over one billion for all Trading corporations.

Our large manufacturing corporations sample contains 2,046 corporations of which 127 are consolidated and 1,919 are not.¹⁴ The capitalization of the consolidated corporations equals about \$10.5 billion, while that for the two classes combined is \$25 billion. The income for the consoli-

¹⁸ Called 'compiled net profits before deduction of tax-exempt items in order to arrive at statutory or taxable income'.

¹⁴ The definition of consolidated corporation contained in the Source-Book is as follows: "Consolidated corporation means one which, in its accounting, merges the income account and balance sheet items of its subsidiaries with those of the parent company. Thus corporations 'not consolidated' may in some cases be affiliated with, may own or be owned by, other companies, but do not merge their financial data in their reports." dated corporations is about one billion, while that of the two classes combined is about \$2.75 billion.

Separating the two sets of figures, we may ask if the average rate of income received by the consolidated corporations as a group upon capitalization is larger than that for non-consolidated corporations. The difference is not significant: in the former group, 10.3 per cent; in the latter group 11.4 per cent.

This is for Manufacturing as a whole. The data may, however, be divided into several major groups. In some groups, the consolidated corporations doubtless earn more, in others less, than the non-consolidated. Just how significant these differences by major groups are cannot be said, as the absolute number of consolidated corporations is small in all groups except the large Metals group where the difference in the two figures is slight. The data are given for whatever they may be worth in Table 114. The data by minor indus-

TABLE 114

CLASSIFICATION OF 2,046 MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS: CONSOLIDATED OR NOT CONSOLIDATED, 1928

	NUMBER OF	TOTAL		PERCENTACE INCOME TO
	CORPORATIONS	NET INCOME	CAPITALIZATION	CAPITALIZATION
Major group 1				
Consolidated	23	\$114,467,190	\$1,376,535,540	8.3
Not consolidated	192	192,836,410	1,389,350,730	13.9
Total	215	307,303,600	2,765,886,270	11.1
Major group 2				
Consolidated	9	5,127,330	191,700,720	2.7
Not consolidated	280	75,144,500	1,021,134,010	7.4
Total	289	80.271.830	1.212.834.730	6.6
Major group 3				
Consolidated	6	19.660.470	117,293,920	16.8
Not consolidated	48	9.238.560	137,607,730	6.7
Total	54	28.899.030	254,901,650	11.4
Major aroup 5	-		,,	
Consolidated	5	1.106.870	30.131.660	3.7
Not consolidated	185	43,146,360	495,598,570	8.7
Total	190	44,253,230	525,730,230	8.4

TABLE 114 (continued)

CLASSIFICATION OF 2,046 MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS: CONSOLIDATED OR NOT CONSOLIDATED, 1928

				PERCENTACE
	NUMBER OF	TOTAL		INCOME TO
	CORPORATIONS	NET INCOME	CAPITALIZATION	CAPITALIZATION
Major group 7				
Consolidated	5	23,899,520	52,617,120	45.4
Not consolidated	95	74,474,620	405,872,910	' 18. 4
Total	100	98,374,140	458,490,030	21.5
Major group 8				
Consolidated	22	348,613,470	3,194,568,510	10.9
Not consolidated	188	431,289,550	3,548,596,880	12.2
Total	210	779,903,020	6,743,165,390	11.6
Major group 9				
Consolidated	8	15,890,130	150,791,350	10.6
Not consolidated	106	73,131,850	548,850,140	13.4
Total	114	89,021,980	699,641,490	12.8
Major group 10				
Consolidated	41	557,543,210	5,323,318,410	10.4
Not consolidated	607	617, 513, 790	5,313,580,140	11.6
Total	648	1,175,057,000	10,636,898,550	11.1
All manufacturing			• • •	
Consolidated	127	1,094,179,880	10,599,447,240	10.3
Not consolidated	1,919	1,642,649,750	14,379,550,490	11.4
Total	2,046	2,736,829,630	24,978,997,730	11.0

trial groups are not available; but it is fair to conclude that with most minor groups perhaps containing not more than one or two consolidated corporations, the effect of such differences in earning power as may prevail between consolidated and non-consolidated corporations in particular sets of related industrial classifications is not such as to distort the minor group figures in many instances.

In Trade, our large corporations sample contains 14 consolidated corporations and 650 non-consolidated corporations. The aggregate capitalization of the 14 consolidated corporations is 271 million while that of both classes combined is 2.5 billion. The income of the consolidated corporations is 48 million while that for the two classes combined is 307 million. Here a substantial difference in earnings rates for the two types of enterprise is found; the consolidated corporations earn 17.8 per cent upon capitalization, while the non-consolidated average 11.6 per cent. Data are not available by major groups. We may, however, conclude that if the consolidated corporations are at all widely distributed among the various Trading minor groups, the effect of overlapping industrial classifications is not at all significant, since the 14 consolidated corporations that earn this high return possess only about 10 per cent of the aggregate capitalization of the sample.

4. CALENDAR AND FISCAL YEAR RETURNS

The data of both *Statistics of Income* and of our samples contain, among the income accounts classified as belonging to any calendar year, certain corporations whose accounting period is a fiscal year ending in some month other than December. The proportion is not large. We have no figures showing the exact percentage they constitute in each industrial division or major group, but in the *Statistics of Income* data the percentage for all divisions combined runs from 4 to 11 at the most.¹⁵ In 1928 about 55,000 corporations filed tax returns for fiscal years ending not earlier than July 1, 1928 or later than June 31, 1929, out of a total of 496,000 corporations.

The fact that as many as ten per cent—or in some major or minor groups even a greater proportion—of the corporations for which data are classified as belonging to any one year do report income that is earned partly in months of the following calendar year undoubtedly has an effect upon the time fluctuations of our data. But again this influence

²⁶ Data available for the years 1925-28 yield the following percentages: 4.6, 5.1, 4.2, 11.1.

would not seem to be large. Of the 55,000 corporations that filed returns for fiscal years ending between the middle of 1928 and the middle of 1929, roughly as many have fiscal years ending in one month as in another, except January and June which were more popular as terminal points. The distribution as given in *Statistics of Income* is as follows:

Fiscal year ending	Number of returns	Fiscal year ending	Number of returns
July 1928	3,719	January 1929	6,538
August 1928	3,624	February 1929	3,851
September 1928	3,967	March 1929	5,230
October 1928	3,689	April 1929	4,779
November 1928	3,630	May 1929	5,132
		June 1929	10,661
	Total	54,820	

Many of the returns filed for fiscal years ending 'not later than June 30, 1929' thus report income of which a substantial proportion was actually earned in 1928. Probably no less than 80 or 85 per cent of the corporations in any major or minor group report calendar year data, and a portion of the fiscal year returns data belongs to the calendar year with which they are classified; therefore no very grave fear need be entertained that the inclusion of the fiscal year figures invalidates our time comparisons.¹⁶

¹⁰ Crum, who in the work already cited analyzes the fiscal year situation carefully for 1926, concludes with respect to the data of *Statistics of Income*: "... the really significant difficulty is that changing business conditions may have an apparent effect upon the current fortunes of corporations which report for fiscal years ending considerably before December, different from that for corporations reporting for fiscal years ending considerably after December. Furthermore, if it should turn out that the bulk of the early dates tend to apply to enterprises in a particular type of industry, and the bulk of the later dates tend to apply to enterprises in some other lines of business, there may be, on this ground also, a tendency towards bias. Under the actual circumstances, however, with the calendar year returns exceeding 94 per cent of the total (in 1926) it seems probable that these disparities even at the tabulated figures." (Ch. II, Classification Difficulties, p. 25; see also Crum's discussion in Appendix A, op. cit., pp. 317-8.)

[566]

Akin to this problem of the fiscal year for the income account is that of the date at which balance sheet figures are taken for corporations that do report calendar year data. In obtaining the capital figures for any given year the ideal practice would be to take an average of daily, weekly, or monthly figures for the amount of capital invested; but needless to say no such data are available. All that the statistical investigator can ordinarily obtain is a balance sheet figure as of either the beginning or the end of the year. Taking either the beginning or the end of the year figure biases the resulting earnings rate in the one direction or the other. An alternative would be to average the two capital figures, when samples made this feasible---in our large identical manufacturing corporations series, for example. But had we done this in our several analyses, our general arithmetic average earnings rates would not have been exactly comparable with the earnings rates of our frequency distributions of individual corporations in the various major groups, as the latter are available only upon single, and not average, bases.

Although an average base represents a theoretically better practice, the difference in result is not large in the case of our several data. If, for example, in any major or minor group the invested capital as of the beginning of the year were 100 and the net profit were 11, the rate of return computed upon the beginning of the year base would be 11 per cent; if at the end of the year the capital were 105, the rate of return based upon that figure would be 10.5 per cent, or rounded off, 11.0 per cent. It is thus apparent that even if the invested capital of a group were 10 or 15 per cent larger (instead of only 5 per cent as assumed in the illustration) during the year, the difference between the earnings rates as computed on an end-of-the-year basis and an average basis would not be serious. In our several samples the balance sheet data were taken (by necessity) as of January 1 in the years 1919-22; as of either January 1 or December 31 in 1923; and as of December 31 in the years 1924-28. All income account data are for the entire year ended December 31, except in the relatively few instances of corporations with fiscal years that run otherwise.

5. CLASSIFICATION OF CORPORATIONS WITH AND WITHOUT NET INCOME

The most frequent characterization of 'successful' and 'unsuccessful' corporations made upon the basis of the published Statistics of Income figures is to contrast the number of corporations reporting net incomes with the number reporting no net incomes. The result shows that nearly as many corporations annually fail to return an income as to report one. Such comparison, while striking, does not tell the whole story for at least two reasons. In the first place, as Crum has pointed out, while nearly half of the corporate enterprises report to the Bureau of Internal Revenue that they earn no net income, most corporations of this kind are very small; and nothing like one-half of the total corporate business of the country is carried on without a profit. Instead, only about 20 per cent of all corporate business is done at a loss, 80 per cent of the aggregate volume showing a net income even for income tax purposes.

In the second place, many of the corporations that show no net income for income tax purposes may have net incomes and may, as Ebersole, Peterson and Burr have stated, remain permanently in business. In certain instances the income is largely of the tax-exempt nature; in other instances, or occasionally even in the same case, a close corporation may well pay out substantial salaries to its officers, "and

[568]

thus have no taxable income remainder after deducting enough for depreciation to keep its capital intact."¹⁷

For these two reasons the Statistics of Income data although strictly correct in light of the definitions of terms underlying them—are to be interpreted with caution. Nevertheless, they point to the undoubtedly large proportion of corporate enterprises that annually receive no great income upon their invested capital; and a somewhat closer scrutiny of our several samples from this point of view is therefore needed.

Our several large corporations series, of course, each year contain corporations reporting deficits. These deficits are not deficits for purposes of income tax return as above discussed, but are true net deficits after counting in the two tax-exempt items of dividends received and interest upon Government securities. We are not able to segregate the sales of the corporations with deficits in our samples and ascertain what proportion of total business volume was done at a profit; but we are able to segregate the capitalization of the enterprises with true net losses ('true' in that taxexempt income is not waved aside) and to ascertain what proportion of all of the capitalization in the sample earned a profit. Taking our 2,046 large manufacturing corporations series as representative of large-scale manufacturing, we find in 1928 that a net income was earned on 94 per cent of the investment. In 1927 the figure is 90 per cent, while in 1926 it is 96 per cent. In a year of depression such as 1921 it is 70 per cent.

While our large corporations samples contain enterprises with deficits, our several small corporations series do not. The earnings rates computed for them enable us to ascertain what returns upon investment are received by small corporations that *do* earn net incomes; but no light is thus

[&]quot; Ebersole et al., op. cit., p. 171.

thrown upon the extent of the losses suffered by small corporations that *fail* to return such incomes. We have available (Table 115), however, a small sample of such corporations in Manufacture. Since the data relate only to the two years 1926 and 1928 and are susceptible of division into less than a score of minor groups, they were not introduced earlier.

This series we may call a sample of 'non-identical small manufacturing corporations with negative net incomes'. It contains 487 corporations in 1926, and 376 corporations in 1928. The incomes are 'net' in the same inclusive sense in which the term has been used in connection with our other samples. They include tax-exempt items such as corporate dividends received and interest on non-taxable securities. But they are not, of course, adjusted to take cognizance of such partly questionable deductions from income as relatively large officers' salaries, etc. that may be involved.¹⁸ Our immediate interest is in seeing what part of the capitalization of these companies the annual net loss thus computed represents.

For All Manufacturing, the negative earnings rate upon capitalization for this sample is 8.1 per cent in 1926 and 6.5 per cent in 1928. In the ten major groups into which the data may be divided (the Leather and Rubber groups are combined) the figures run as high as 22 per cent in 1926, but in no case exceed 12 per cent in 1928. The Paper group in both years, and the Leather and Rubber group in 1928, should be disregarded as the numbers of corporations in the samples are clearly too small to be of significance.

The division of the data into minor groups shows that

[570]

²⁸ Colonel M. C. Rorty observes that since the payment of salaries large in proportion to profits occurs mainly, although not exclusively, in small corporations, and is far from universal there, the proportion of aggregate corporate profits thus misclassified as payment for services must be a very small fraction of the whole.

h

in neither year did the net loss sustained by any group amount to more than about 13 per cent of the capitalization. In most instances the figure runs between 5 and 10 per cent. It is, however, to be observed that in many of these minor group samples the number of corporations is very small. While the distorting elements that would be occasioned in such small samples, were any very large corporations included, are here entirely absent, it is nevertheless to be remarked that possibly the only very valid figures of Table 115 are those for All Manufacturing---the 8.1 per cent and 6.5 per cent losses for 1926 and 1928 respectively ---and for the several major groups that contain more than a few corporations each.

TABLE 115

PERCENTAGE OF NET LOSS TO CAPITALIZATION: SMALL NON-IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS WITH NEGATIVE INCOMES IN 1926 AND 1928

		NUMI Corpoi	BER OF	PERCENTAC To Capita	E OF LOSS
		1926	1928	1926	1928
INOR G	ROUP				
1	Bakery products	9	11	9.6	9.5
2	Flour	25	17	7.4	4.9
5	Dairying	10	10	6.3	7.0
11	Miscellaneous food				
	products	21	13	10.8	6.9
18	Men's clothing	11	8	7.0	11.0
19	Knit goods	7	••	4.9	
20	Miscellaneous clothing	22	41	9.7	11.3
21	Miscellaneous textiles	8	26	0.5	7.2
25	Lumber manufacture	29	••	5.8	••
34	Newspapers	9	••	3.8	••
37	Miscellaneous printing				
	and publishing	6	9	6.5	11.0
48	Miscellaneous stone and				
	clay products	12·	7	5.6	4.7
49	Castings and forgings	17	11	8,4	7.1
53	Electrical machinery	9	6	4.2	4.6
67	Miscellaneous machinery	8	7	13.4	11.6

TABLE 115 (continued)

PERCENTAGE OF NET LOSS TO CAPITALIZATION

		NUMBER OF CORPORATIONS		PERCENTAGE OF LOSS TO CAPITALIZATION	
		1926	1928	1926	1928
MINOR G	ROUP				
70	Miscellaneous metal	•			
	products	11	6	9.9	5.0
74	Miscellaneous special				
	manufacturing	23	18	12.2	8.4
MAJOR GR	OUP				
1	Foods	98	74	8.3	5.4
2	Textiles	71	97	3.2	8.6
3-4	Leather and rubber	25	8	22.0	4.7
5	Lumber	71	27	7.7	7.7
6	Paper	7	7	10.8	7.2
7	Printing	33	25	4.9	12.1
8	Chemicals	34	37	19.1	4.4
9	Clay, stone and glass	17	11	6.5	3.7
10	Metals	99	67	5.7	7.9
11	Special manufacturing				
	industries	32	23	11.2	8.3
	All manufacturing	487	376	8.1	6.5

6. DEFICITS IN CAPITAL ACCOUNT

One problem of the classification of corporations for purposes of earnings rates analysis, which is present in the case of corporations both with and without net income, is the treatment of accumulated deficits in capitalization. If a corporation has sustained marked losses for several years, it is possible that not only will it fail to show a surplus but also that its original capitalization will have become to some extent impaired, perhaps substantially so. Among the small corporations this situation is far more common than is ordinarily realized, although to the public accountant it is a fairly familiar phenomenon.

So long as the amount of the deficit (in this section we use the term 'deficit' in reference to capital account) is

[572]

relatively small, it may be subtracted from the original capitalization and the net figure regarded as the amount of capital investment actually in the business. But when the amount of the accumulated deficit becomes large, such treatment is unsatisfactory and occasionally leads to grotesque results. A small corporation, for example, might begin business with an original capitalization of \$250,000, and over a period of years undergo successive losses so that at the end of the period in question its accumulated deficit amounted to \$240,000. The net capitalization or stockholders' equity remaining would thus amount to \$10,000. Such a corporation might, however, in the next year earn a positive net income of \$2,000. Reckoned upon a capitalization base of \$10,000, such an income would give an earnings rate of 20 per cent. Or, as a more extreme illustration, a good year might bring the corporation's income to \$10,000 or more; in this event the earnings rate would appear to be 100 per cent or over-an absurd result. For while the stockholders' equity in the corporation is indeed only \$10.000, there is far more than that amount of capital invested in the business; its ownership has merely been shifted from the stockholders to the creditors, who, should the enterprise be liquidated, would receive the bulk of the proceeds from the sale of the fixed and other assets liquidated. The figures of the illustration are hypothetical, but the proportions involved represent approximately the situation found in several actual cases. It is therefore of interest to ascertain the extent to which such deficits in capital account prevail, as well as necessary to explain the treatment accorded them in the data of our samples.

In each of the years 1925-28 the original data from which our small manufacturing corporations series (with positive incomes of from \$2,000 to \$50,000) was drawn consisted of approximately 1,650 corporations. Of these
1,650 corporations, in every year about 100 companies showed accumulated deficits. Thus *at least* 6 per cent of the small manufacturing corporations of the country (the sample is biased in that it contains only corporations with positive incomes) show an impairment of the original capital invested.

The range of these deficits is wide. The distribution in 1928, for example, discloses that 8 out of 107 corporations had accumulated deficits of over 100 per cent of their original capitalization; 26 had deficits of over 50 per cent; while 46 had deficits of over 20 per cent. There are thus roughly as many of these companies with deficits of over as of under 20 per cent. Upon this arbitrary basis—and because a subtraction of 20 per cent of the original capital in reckoning the remaining stockholders' equity provides a base that does not significantly distort the resulting earnings rate—the corporations having accumulated capital deficits of less than 20 per cent were retained in the sample, the amount of the deficit being subtracted from the total capital stock. All companies with deficits of 20 per cent or more were excluded from the sample.

The exclusion of such corporations is perhaps open to the objection that it puts aside certain enterprises that may merely for a time have lost money through the abandonment of processes or equipment that have not proved successful. Such corporations may, however, be engaged in activities of another sort which later prove to be profitable, and may therefore remain permanently in business.¹⁹ In this and perhaps in other ways, our small corporations sample therefore excludes certain types of corporation that undoubtedly constitute a part of nearly every industry. But since the corporations with deficits constituted only about 6 per

²⁹ I am indebted to Professor Roy B. Kester of Columbia University for several suggestions in connection with the present discussion.

[574]

cent of the original number of companies analyzed in the preparation of the samples, and since only about half of this number was excluded, less than 3 per cent of the corporations have been put aside for this reason.

As remarked earlier, the same phenomenon presents itself with corporations that show net losses in each year as well as with those that show positive incomes. Our two other small manufacturing corporations samples, that for 'small corporations with incomes of over \$2,000' and that for 'small corporations with negative net incomes', were treated similarly. Figures upon the prevalence of capital deficits for these two samples separately are not available; but for the two samples combined the frequency of such capital deficits is considerably higher than for the 'small corporations with net incomes of over \$2,000' discussed above. The percentage of companies excluded as the result of capital deficits of over 20 per cent in each of the four years 1925–28 is as follows: 1925, 11.4; 1926, 14.1; 1927, 20.6; 1928, 7.4.

7. REGIONAL CLASSIFICATION DIFFICULTIES

The classification of corporations upon the basis of their geographical location as undertaken in Chapter 5 requires further comment here. As was pointed out in the discussion of that chapter, the only regional classification that it was possible to make consisted of the assignment of corporations to this or that geographical region upon the basis of the location of their head offices. This is far from perfect procedure in any case, and with some corporations may result in an altogether meaningless allocation of capital and income to any particular geographical region. To some extent, of course, refuge may be taken in the view that a partial offsetting occurs. Some New England companies, may, for example, own plants in Pennsylvania, while certain Pennsyl-

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

vania companies may own plants located in New England. But while this may tend somewhat to balance the discrepancies in the amount of capital assigned to the several regions, there is no assurance that it effects any proper balance in earnings rates, and indeed to the extent that it takes place, really begs the question as to what the real differences in the earnings rates of different regions may be.

Less difficulty on this score is probably to be found in the Trading division where, except for chain stores, the several enterprises that may be owned by a given corporation are apt to be located either in the same state or at least within the same geographical region. But on the whole we should regard this classification by geographical regions as one of the least satisfactory in the entire volume; and any significance that the results may possess lies simply in the demarcation of corporations according to the locality of their 'organization headquarters', or, as Willard L. Thorp has expressed it, of their 'central office' managements ²⁰—not in differences of the regional profitableness of Manufacturing or Trading activities *per se.*²¹

²⁰ The Integration of Industrial Operation (Census Monograph III, 1924). ²¹ Here the writer is unable to agree with Crum that the geographically ramified activities of individual enterprises probably do not distort significantly the use of corporation data classified by regions. To be sure, the data that Crum has thus employed (classified by the several states of the union) are broad data for the entire universe of corporations and not for samples of the sort we are using; and undoubtedly the difficulties encountered with data for the entire universe are less serious than for samples. Nevertheless the argument that discrepancies tend to offset one another seems to the writer not so well proved in this particular instance as in other instances of classification discussed by Crum in the illuminating chapter, Classification Difficulties, of the book to which we have referred previously.

[576]

CHAPTER 47

PROFITS AND THE REGULATION OF PRODUCTION

1. DIVERSITY AND UNIFORMITY

THE various statistical analyses of the preceding chapters have established certain facts which have a bearing upon economic theory and economic policy alike. To these broader implications of our data we have thus far paid but scant attention, preferring to let the several findings stand by themselves, quite apart from whatever economic and social conclusions might follow from them. But in this concluding chapter we may draw together the main threads that have been spun at rather full length throughout the preceding pages and see in what direction they seem to lead.

In this resumé, attention is first to be called to the striking corroboration that the investigation affords of the presence of uniformities amid the wide diversities of economic phenomena. This tendency has been remarked by other investigators, notably by Mills in his *The Behavior of Prices*. Our data clearly confirm the view that, while the variations in economic data are so great as to preclude the quasi-mechanical treatment or prediction of individual events, out of the observation of a sufficient number of diversities, definite and significant uniformities emerge. To the superficial observer, economic phenomena either entirely defy analysis: that is,

[577]

seem to be characterized only by diversity; or else, present a specious uniformity: that is, when biased samples are viewed, fail to disclose the wide variations that exist. But neither of these simple conclusions is in most instances valid; certainly neither is in the present instance. The two significant facts remarked by Mills in his conclusion with respect to the system of prices stand out clearly with respect to the behavior of profit rates; on the one hand, the presence of the widest diversities; and, on the other hand, the prevalence of "just those uniformities for which the scientist searches in attempting to reduce masses of facts to understandable terms".

We need not here review our findings in formal summary; ¹ one or two illustrations of the presence of diversity and uniformity alike in the realm of business profits will suffice. It will be recalled that during the ten years 1919-28, the average earnings rates upon investment of our 2,046 large manufacturing corporations series varied between 2.9 and 18.3 per cent; and that in all these years a wide diversity was present in the individual earnings rates of the 2,046 companies. Yet despite these broad diversities, in every one of these ten years at least 45 per cent of the corporations earned over 10 per cent. In each of the five years 1924–28, the median corporation earned either 12 or 13 per cent (in one year, 13.6 per cent). And for the same five-year period, the earnings rate of the corporation at the upper quartile was in every year 18, 20, or 22 per cent. Similarly, in all years some large corporations earned profits at low rates and some at high rates; and in all years the smaller enterprises show a similar diversity in earning capacity. Yet consistently, year after year, the larger enterprises as a class show lower earnings rates than the smaller ones as a class.

¹A concise summary has appeared in Ch. 1, sec. 4.

[578]

In the parallel presence of uniformities and diversities such as these lie both our hope of understanding and our difficulties in controlling the economic system. To some of these difficulties we shall revert later in this chapter.

2. THE REWARD OF CAPITAL AND THE REGULATION OF PRODUCTION

It was indicated in Chapter 1 that from the point of view of economic principles, one of the most valuable contributions a comprehensive study of earnings and investment data could make to the understanding of profits is to determine whether 'in the long run' the rates of return upon capital approach an equality among different industries. Our findings (Ch. 3) are that whatever might happen under certain assumed conditions, actual profit rates in different industries manifest little tendency to become equal. There are, to be sure, uniformities in the distribution patterns from year to year (see the diagrams in Appendix D); but nothing like even a roughly uniform rate of return among different industries results over a period. How good are the data on which this very definite conclusion rests, and is the period considered a 'long run'?

As to the first question, the reader who has not read Chapters 43-46 must do so if he wishes to form a complete conclusion for himself. Most readers who have already done so will doubtless agree that our 2,046 large manufacturing corporations series is for the present purpose a rather representative sample of corporate activity. The fact that it is a sample of identical corporations gives it greater stability, that is, makes it less subject to erratic time fluctuations, than would otherwise be the case, and in some ways ought to aid rather than handicap an effort to disclose whatever 'tendency towards uniformity' exists in the actual world of

business. The ten-year data of these 2,046 corporations (amounting in all to 20,460 'corporation-year cases'), it is to be remembered, were tabulated according to the Marshallian precept: "from the aggregate profits of the successful [must be subtracted] the aggregate losses of those who failed."² Marshall included producers who have "perhaps disappeared from the trade", that is, withdrawn from business entirely, and the data for these corporations in each industry we could not obtain. But the scale and character of industry have changed materially since Marshall wrote. Today few very large enterprises that fail to earn profits for several years really go out of business entirely; they merge, reorganize or continue an independent existence but alter the character of their production, that is, shift to new products and activities (Ch. 3). All losses incurred by any of our 2,046 going concerns-and in time of depression, the amount of such losses was substantialwere subtracted from the net gains of the companies earning profits, and the resulting net income figure was then related to the combined aggregate capital of the several corporations. When so treated, the earnings rates for the 73 manufacturing industries, as represented by our samples. show no equality whatever for the ten-year period as a whole.

As to the question, is a ten-year period long enough, something has already been said in Chapter 3. It may be pointed out that the period 1919–28 includes several cycles. But an even longer period is available in the data of our 71 manufacturing companies. These cover a thirteen-year stretch, 1919–31. This series, it will be recalled, is a tested set of data closely representative of the larger series during the first ten of these 13 years (Ch. 6). We are unable to

² Principles of Economics, 1st ed., p. 658.

[580]

divide it into minor industrial groups, but we may be certain that if it could be so divided the discrepancies between minor groups would be even more marked than those between major groups; for our experience with averages in general and profit rate figures in particular indicates that the more purely homogeneous each group of items becomes, the greater becomes the average deviation of the several sets of items from the mean or median value of all the items taken together.

And among major groups, this thirteen-year series evidences no uniformity of earnings rates. A thirteen-year period, however, affords much opportunity for the exhaustion and withdrawal of fixed capital,³ and for the investment of new funds in this, that or the other direction. If it be contended that more than a ten- or thirteen-year period is essential for the tendency of profits towards an equality to work itself out in practice, then the 'long run' becomes, to say the least, a somewhat unrealistic concept as applied to the problems of modern industry. Economic theory is fast losing its character as a study of 'economic statics'; but it can scarcely afford to limit its consideration of 'dynamics' to phenomena that take place only over twenty-, thirty- or

⁸See, in this connection, the report on depreciation rates, Depreciation Studies, published by the Bureau of Internal Revenue (January 1931), in which normal depreciation rates on various types of new industrial equipment are shown to run in many instances as high as 10 per cent annually, thus providing for the replacement of the equipment in ten years' time. There are, of course, many variations from this figure, some types of equipment carrying rates of only 5.0, 6.6 or 8.0 per cent, others carrying rates of 12.5, 16.6 or even 33.3 per cent; but in most industries much machinery and equipment require replacement in ten years' time or less. Furthermore it may be noted that not all of the capital of the industries of our samples (either the larger ten-year series or the smaller 13-year one) was new in 1919; and that much of their capital, therefore, could have been withdrawn (i.e., not replaced as it wore out) in far less than ten years following 1919. Replacing many units of equipment, in other words, becomes (at the time of replacement) a variable, not a fixed, expense as of the year in which the replacement is contemplated. fifty-year periods. This is not to say that it would not be desirable to have a twenty-year series of profit rates in different industries. But none seems necessary to justify our present conclusions, which, as we have remarked elsewhere, are in some respects the more firmly established just because they are for a more limited period.⁴ The reader who seriously questions these general statements should, if he has not done so, read footnote 3 just preceding, and also examine the discussion in Chapter 3.

If we accept the conclusion that no equalization of profit rates between industries takes place, what does this then signify with respect to the functioning of the industrial system? Inevitably, it means that competition, as a regulator of the flow of productive resources, is a less efficient instrument than we have traditionally believed. It means that the mechanism of price and profit, which is supposed spontaneously and automatically to increase production here and decrease it there, works haltingly; that is, that long 'lags' and many 'maladjustments' occur. These lags and maladjustments are apparently present even in prosperous years. Then, however, they are not so remarked because they are less striking than in periods of severe depression.

Thus the goods which society wants, it gets, in normal years of prosperity, at least after a fashion; but competition between industries in no sense brings the rewards of the groups of producers who supply these different commodities to anything like a common level. These diverse earnings rates of different industries cannot be regarded as differentials due to the 'rent' of superior business abilities, or we should have to assume either that all the producers in some industries possessed greater managerial skill than all the producers in others; or, that the average degree of business

 ^{4}Cf . Ch. 3 and 46, on the difficulties of classification that would attend the analysis and use of any such extended series.

[582]

ability is markedly greater in the industries of higher earnings rates. The first assumption we know to be unfounded because of diversities in the earning power of different enterprises, and the second assumption seems very unlikely.⁵ Nor can the element of difference in either 'risks' or 'uncertainties' in various industries account for the persistent differentials in earnings rates; but this matter we have discussed sufficiently in Chapter 3.

3. FAILURE OF INVESTMENT TO FOLLOW MARKET DEMAND

Just as profit rates fail to approximate equality over periods of ten or thirteen years, so do they often fail to shut off the investment of new capital in fields already overcrowded. In more than one-sixth of the 73 manufacturing industries in which we analyzed the absolute course of sales, investment and income over the period 1922–28, it will be recalled, capital investment increased faster than did the volume of sales, in spite of the concurrent decline in profit rates in these industries.

[&]quot;We need not here discuss the changed character and definition of the entrepreneur as a productive factor in modern large-scale industry; but it is clear that Francis A. Walker's concept of the rent of individual talents has slight applicability to the problem of the profit rates earned upon the present invested capital of industries that include such enterprises as the United States Steel Corporation or the General Electric Company, not to mention hosts of smaller but still almost entirely publicly-owned concerns. The common stockholders, numbering hundreds of thousands in some industries, supply the bulk of the capital used; and no question of direct personal talents exercised by 'owner-managers' enters, except where the tantiéme (or bonus system) for the payment of the bulk of an executive's remuneration is employed. In this country, even in the cases of General Motors and Bethlehem Steel, bonuses of this sort constitute but a very small fraction of corporate net income. To speak, on the other hand, of the mass of common stockholders as exercising 'managerial judgment' in 'delegating' the direction of their capitals to others is a mere sophism, or at best, a legal explanation of the corporate phenomenon. Whoever has disposed of a proxy, whether he has returned it to the corporation or thrown it in the wastebasket, is aware of the correctness of this statement.

Several explanations of this condition present themselves. First, undoubtedly the decline in the general rate of return was not known to the entrepreneurs in every industry where it was taking place. Second, in several industries even the lowered rates of profit prevailing at the end of the period were far above the cost of new capital, either in the sense of borrowed capital or of an imputed interest rate upon the capital reinvested out of earnings. Of course, these fields of investment still seemed not to be overcrowded according to current standards of profitableness.

Two observations on this situation, however, are to be made. That the rate of earnings declined in several industries in which the investment of capital took place too rapidly ('too rapidly' in that it greatly outran the growth of sales volume) indicates that some competitive mechanism did automatically function. That is to say, a certain amount of 'unconscious control', in F. M. Taylor's phrase, was exercised upon profit rates. This, however, by no means arrested the investment of new funds which, in many instances at least, were not at all needed in these industries. But neither the actual cost of new capital (both long-term and increased short-term borrowings) nor the imputed interest rate upon the funds 'ploughed back' into these industries, when deducted from the declining profit rates in question, left as large a yield upon the shareholders' equities in these several industries as could have been received upon the reinvested funds had they been diverted to other industries in which the profit rates were either actually higher or increasing. In this sense, it must be repeated, the flow of investment funds by no means followed the competitive channels indicated by economic speculations about what would happen if business men knew the conditions prevailing in every trade, if investment encountered no obstacles

[584]

and if capital could be withdrawn readily from relatively unprofitable trades.

A third reason for the failure of these declining profit rates to check the flow of capital into the industries in question is found in the diversity of the earnings rates of individual enterprises. Even where some entrepreneurs do know that the trends of general sales and general profit rates are tapering off, or are actually declining, the willingness to make new commitments exists just because it is also well known that in any given industry individual fortunes vary widely. Any particular corporation may see that the sales curve is tapering off, yet, confident that it can not only maintain but actually increase its proportion of the total business done, it erects new plants or extends old ones. Thus what would be a desirable policy of expansion from the social point of view (assuming that no markedly improved or unique product that could not be manufactured by other producers results) is ignored; social and individual objectives here part company. Whether an expansion policy thus decided upon is desirable even from the individual point of view, of course, becomes clear only later. It may prove desirable or not; but because there is a possibility that it may, the uncertainty is chanced. The several sales and investment figures of the various industries presented in Chapter 7 and in the various chapters of Book II afford ample evidence of reckless policies of plant expansion on the part of many corporations in a number of industries.

To return to the relation between our findings and the traditional doctrine of the tendency of profits towards an equality: no doubt investors prefer a higher rate of return upon their capital to a lower rate, 'other things being equal'. In this very general sense there exists a 'tendency' towards an equalization of profit rates—not only among the different enterprises belonging to an industry but also among all the business enterprises in which investors might place their capital. But this 'tendency' cannot equalize profit rates in practice unless investors know what earnings their capital would realize in the near future if put into different enterprises. No economic theorist supposes that investors possess such knowledge in definite form. Hence no theorist supposes that profit rates are really equalized in fact. The serious matter is that no theorist can say how much or how little investors know about differences in profit rates. Hence no theorist knows how effective is the 'tendency' towards the equalization of these rates. On that important issue no one can say anything definite until he resorts to empirical investigation.⁶ What the present study of American corpo-

⁶ Note, for example, how cautiously John Stuart Mill states the 'tendency' in question: "On an average (whatever may be the occasional fluctuations) the various employments of capital are on such a footing as to hold out, not equal profits, but equal expectations of profit, to persons of average abilities and advantages." *Principles of Political Economy*, Book II, Ch. XV, p. 412 of Ashley's edition.

Needless to say, we can get no statistics of "expectations of profit". Nor can we segregate among investors "persons of average abilities and advantages". Presumably Mill's statements are valid under the conditions which he had in mind. But the fact remains that, under actual conditions, wide differences in the average rates of profits received by enterprises engaged in different branches of trade maintain themselves with little change for periods covering a decade or more.

The present findings do not conflict with those of Professor Horace Secrist's recent book, The Triumph of Mediocrity in Business (Ann Arbor, 1933). Using data for individual enterprises, Secrist arrays their profit rates on the basis of average size in initial periods of two or three years, follows the average rates for groups at given positions in his arrays through successively widening spans of years, compares these average ratios with those for the entire frequency distributions in successive periods, and finds (1) that the ratios which were initially low or high relatively to the mean tend to remain low or high relatively to the later means, but (2) that the ratios tend to diverge from the means by relatively smaller margins as longer and longer periods are brought under observation. Could the data underlying the present investigation be subjected to an elaborate analysis of Secrist's type, they might well show a tendency towards 'regression' in his sense. But that finding would not diminish the significance attaching to the demonstration offered above that the dispersion of the average profit rates in different industries maintains itself with slight change over periods

[586]

ration earnings data contributes is a series of measurements showing how wide and how enduring are the discrepancies among the profit rates actually realized over a decade or more by thousands of business enterprises engaged in a wide variety of money-making ventures. On the basis of this showing, the 'tendency' towards equalization of profit rates is not sufficiently strong to prevent differences exceeding 100 per cent between the *average* profit rates earned by considerable groups of corporations from appearing and maintaining themselves over a full decade.

4. 'BUSINESS PLANNING' AS A STATISTICAL PROBLEM"

What has been said concerning diversity and uniformity, together with what has been remarked concerning the fundamental weakness of competition as a regulator of production and productive capacity, indicates both the need for and the manifold difficulties of attempts deliberately to control the apportionment of capital and the rate of profit in competitive industry. It cannot be too strongly emphasized that the problem of control is not one of 'industry' but of 'industries'. Any agency that attempted to supplement the existing defective, lagging mechanism of unconscious competitive regulation with a completely conscious scheme of control would have to deal with at least one or two hundred separate industries. Our data for Manufacturing, Trade, Mining and Finance were divided into 106 fields;

as long as the available data cover. It is important practically and interesting theoretically to know that the profit rates both of fortunate and unfortunate enterprises drift towards mean rates in the long run rather than away from them. It is even more important practically and quite as interesting theoretically to know that despite this 'triumph of mediocrity in business', wide differences in actual profit rates remain substantially stable year after year.

^{&#}x27;This section was written before the passage of the National Industrial Recovery Act in June 1933, but the writer sees no occasion to alter the text.

and the wide diversities between them were noted. Doubtless many of these 106 fields-for purposes of this kindwould need to be subdivided still further; and as before remarked, all of our analyses have indicated that after the subdivision of larger groups into smaller groups, the ranges of variation never diminish but always increase. Even assuming that adequate data were available in time to be of use during a cyclical upswing in general business, the problem of deciding in which industries the expansion was going too far, and what the repercussions of a damper applied to some industries would be on each of the various other industries involved, would be extraordinarily difficult.⁸ Even in any one industry, the diversities of earning capacity, productive capacity and productive activities between different enterprises would present problems of accounting, cost accounting and production control of a varied and difficult character. Yet if competition alone does not regulate the economic machine as adequately even in normal years as we have been accustomed to believe-and it seems clear that it does not-then some attack upon these problems may be undertaken in the not distant future.

But one of the most important results of our findings is to suggest, let it be reiterated, that in any such attack no general average figures will suffice. The many diversities and uniformities alike must be marshalled and measured, both recognized as related and essential parts of any true industrial picture. If, for example, the comparative growths of sales and investment in *all* 73 manufacturing groups combined are examined, no appreciable discrepancy between

[588]

⁸ This is not to say that no attempts at central planning or control should be made. The writer, in fact, has elsewhere urged that partial experiments in this direction be undertaken. The purpose here is not, however, to undertake any full discussion of business planning, but merely to indicate how complex is the situation that any comprehensive *national* efforts at such planning would have to face.

them appears. One might say that "supply of capital and demand for products over the period 1923-28 approximately kept pace"; or, that "no undue expansion of manufacturing facilities is discernible".⁹ But entrepreneurs do not invest capital in manufacturing as a whole, nor are laborers employed by, or unemployed in, 'industry in general'. Business decisions are made, commitments are undertaken, poor adjustments occur between specific industrial groups, enterprises and commodities. General averages at best give only a notion of 'general drift', and the 'general drift' of all industries averaged together may in some respects be not the drift of the most important industries at all-important, that is, in their potential power to contribute to an upsetting of the economic equilibrium. Whether the question of industrial stabilization is approached from the point of view of the control of credit or of the allocation of physical production facilities, the need for more than merely average figures is exactly the same.¹⁰

⁹ The increase in the 1928 figure for sales in our 2,046 large manufacturing corporations over the 1923 figure is 25.2 per cent, and that in investment is 25.9 per cent.

¹⁰ Recent discussions of monetary and business cycle theory are beginning to stress this point of view. Cf. Hayek, who aptly remarks: "If monetary theory . . . still attempts to establish causal relations between aggregates or general averages, this means that monetary theory lags behind the development of economics in general . . . I would even go so far as to assert that, from the very nature of economic theory, averages can never form a link in its reasoning" (Prices and Production, pp. 4-5; London 1931). The latter statement may be too sweeping, but the first sentence is significant without question. Diversities of the sort that the present investigation has sought to measure, as well as of the kind that Hayek emphasizes, have been also stressed by Wesley C. Mitchell, in both the original edition of Business Cycles (1913) and in his later writings; likewise, F. W. Taussig, J. M. Clark, W. L. Crum and Horace Secrist, as well as other scholars, have called attention to the matter, while F. C. Mills, in his work on prices, has reviewed in that connection the entire question. The expression 'general drift as applied to the utility of index numbers is employed by Taussig.

5. THE PUBLICITY OF CORPORATE ACCOUNTS

Whatever the prospects for an improved control of industrial activities, it is at least clear that a primary essential is currently available information about the sales, investments and earnings of our various industries. The business world does not have adequate information of this kind now. And unless the Government should annually assemble and release, either through the Department of Commerce or the Treasury, sets of data at least as elaborate as those on which the present investigation is based (preferably more so), or unless all businesses suddenly become willing periodically to divulge in detail the results of their operations, we shall not have any such information during the next cyclical upswing.

The person who has not worked in the field of corporate earnings does not realize the paucity of published financial data. In hardly an industry are complete data released upon production, earnings, investment and the like by more than a very few companies. Even some of the leading corporations do not publish sales figures. Relatively few give with frankness their annual charges to both depreciation and obsolescence accounts. And probably not more than a dozen have released regularly, since 1919, their figures upon *all* of the items just enumerated.¹¹ These statements, of course, have no reference to the railroad and public utility fields, in

¹¹ The writer, in a study carried out for him by Miss Lillian Epstein at the National Bureau of Economic Research, endeavored to check various results of his Government study by smaller samples of the same industrial groups taken from published corporation reports. Fifty leading companies, in various manufacturing and trading industries, were studied. For only 15 out of these 50 corporations could continuous series for sales and capitalization figures be had over the period 1919–28, while the number furnishing depreciation charges and related data together with sales figures was even smaller.

which state or Federal authority compels the full publicity of accounts.

Why such publicity should not be forthcoming it is difficult to see. It would cost the corporations nothing, nor would it injure them. The advent of the modern trade association has done much to free the business world from the fear that trade secrets will be obtained by competitors. Several trade associations now collect confidential data from their members. As to why this practice could not be extended, and the data made available not only to all members of the associations but to the members of all other industries and to the general public as well, it is again difficult to give any convincing answer. Our concept of what constitutes an industry 'affected with a public interest', is constantly widening, and it would surely be a small price for the competitive system of private unregulated enterprise to pay for the privilege of continuing its existence were the country to require of it a full publicity of industrial accounts, rendered either in semi-standardized manner or with such completeness of detail as to enable adjustments that would permit one set of data to be assembled or compared with others.

For it is to be noted, in conclusion, that a competitive system of corporate enterprise would not be so wasteful as is often assumed, were it possible to keep industry operating approximately at capacity. While the mortality in certain fields, notably retail trading, is high, the loss of social capital occasioned by business ineptitude is doubtless not nearly so great as the misleading statement that "half the corporations lose money" would imply. To begin with, a money loss to the individual business unit may not always mean an economic loss to society; but even assuming that it does, there is no reason to believe that a large fraction of corporate enterprises really earn either no profits or profits at such low rates that they can scarcely manage to get along. Many close corporations, as we have earlier indicated, are really partnerships in all but a legal sense; and their owners often earn good livings out of them and efficiently produce goods and services upon a small scale, even though they report no net income for income tax purposes.¹² The larger corporations, on the other hand, carry on the great bulk of their activities at a profit—in most years, 90 per cent or more of their invested capital earns a net income. To be sure, the receipt of a profit is not always synonymous with efficient production; but in the absence of purely predatory activities, it may be assumed that the ability to market goods without loss indicates that the producer is at least successfully satisfying the demand of some portion of the community.

In other words, the "great numbers of enterprises which are dragging along with a very low rate of return on their property", as Crum has put it,¹⁸ by no means constitute the bulk of manufacturing or trading companies, especially if allowance is made for variation between the accounting practices of the close corporations and those not closely owned. It is only fair to note that Crum was thinking of averages derived from the total data published in the Treasury Department's volumes, *Statistics of Income*, which contain no frequency distributions of the earnings rates of individual corporations. And these averages, like so many others, prove to be misleading. Our distributions of individual earnings rates indicate that most fairly large corporations in both manufacture and trade, far from dragging along, in normal years earn over 10 per cent upon their

[592]

¹² See Ch. 1 and 43.

¹⁸ Op. cit., p. 193. Cf. the writer's earlier discussion of this point in the *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, February 1930, Statistical Light on Profits, pp. 330-3.

investments; and even in years of depression such as 1921, some 70 per cent of such companies earn the equivalent of an interest rate upon free capital. For the enterprises that succeed in remaining in business, Adam Smith's 'double interest' as a customary or satisfactory rate of profit is not at all exceptional. Concerning the earnings rates of the smaller and the 'close' corporations, we have, as has already been indicated, no good figures that are really comparable with those for the larger corporations; but it may perhaps be doubted if most of those which remain in business really earn less than normal interest upon their capital. It has never been supposed that all corporations would earn 'satisfactory' rates of return; for it is through their losses that inefficient enterprises are eliminated from a competitive economic system.

But even from the point of view of a competitive economy, losses of capital that are due mainly to inefficiency of management are one thing, and those caused by lack of correct information are another. Could current data concerning earnings rates, sales, investments and other operating results be made available to all entrepreneurs, whether in one industry or another, whether contemplating new ventures in different fields or the extension of already established ventures in old, many losses might be avoided. To be sure, such information would help only those not too blind to take heed or too confident of their own competitive survival. But fuller publicity of accounts would be a partial step towards better individual business planning at least; and it is one which could be taken by industry itself, were a sentiment for it sufficiently developed. Should the more difficult task of supplanting the competitive system with any type of centrally controlled economy ever be attemptedthe many complexities which all such proposals involve, [594]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

whether their sponsors are aware of them or not, have been indicated—complete statistical information of the kind mentioned, while not ensuring success, would be the first prerequisite.

GLOSSARY

THE principal technical terms employed in this volume are briefly defined below. The list is not complete, but will be helpful to readers who do not examine carefully the first few chapters of Books I, II and III. Ch. 1 and 47 employ several of the terms in their general economic and accounting senses; but the other chapters use them in their technical senses chiefly. For further definitions the reader is referred both to the several chapters of this volume and to pages 2-3 of the Source-Book for the Study of Industrial Profits, by R. C. Epstein in collaboration with F. M. Clark (Washington, Department of Commerce, 1932).

INCOME ACCOUNT ITEMS

- Income, net income or total net income. The net earnings of a corporation after the payment of all business expenses and fixed charges including interest on funded debt, but unless otherwise specified, before the payment of Federal income taxes. If the amount of funded debt is small, as is the case with most of the corporations and industries treated, then net income is not very different from profit or total profit as defined immediately below.
- Profit or total profit. Net income plus interest payments on funded debt, estimated as explained in Appendix A. In Chapter 1 net income and profit are used synonymously, since in all instances there the two figures virtually coincide.
- Earnings. A general term used to signify either net income or total profits, when the two terms are practically the same in amount.

BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Capitalization. The invested capital of a corporation as measured by the sum of its preferred stock, common stock, surplus and undivided profits. Special reserves are in most instances excluded. For

[595]

qualifications as to the time of the year for which the figure is taken, and for other discussion, see Ch. 45 and 46.

Total capital. Capitalization plus funded debt.

Investment or invested capital. A general term used to signify either total capital or capitalization when the two terms are virtually the same in amount.

RATIOS

- *Earnings rate.* The percentage of *net income* to *capitalization;* or, where the two ratios are not very different, either that percentage or the percentage of *total profit* to *total capital*. When a distinction between the two is necessary, the context makes clear which meaning is intended.
- Earnings rate, or return, on sales. The percentage of net income for the year to the dollar volume of output or merchandise stock disposed of during the year. The figure for dollar volume of business is after sales returns and allowances, but before the deduction of cost of goods sold or of any other element of business expense.
- Capital turnover. The item of sales divided by total capital; or, when total capital and capitalization are not very different in amount, by capitalization.

STATISTICAL EXPRESSIONS

- Series. A succession of figures for the same item, relating to different years, corporations or industries; e.g., a set of *income* data for 71 manufacturing corporations for each of the thirteen years, 1919 through 1931.
- Sample. A set of data representing some field, say, Food Products manufacture, but comprising only a *part* of the entire field; e.g., the income and capitalization data for 215 food manufacturing companies, which amount to only a part of the total income and capitalization of all food manufacturing enterprises in the United States.
- Universe. The complete field which sample data only represent, i.e., in the illustration just given, the aggregate income and capitalization of all food manufacturing companies.
- Array. A series of data arranged in order of magnitude; e.g., a list

[596]

GLOSSARY

[597]

of 215 food companies ranked according to the size of their capitalizations, from the smallest to the largest.

Median. The central or middle figure of an array; e.g., in the illustration above, the 108th food company counting from either the top or bottom of the list.

Upper or lower quartile. The figure standing, not in the center or middle of an array, but exactly one-fourth of the distance from the top or the bottom.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

EXPLANATIONS OF METHODS USED IN PREPARING CERTAIN CHARTS AND TABLES

TABLES 1, 3, 5, 6, CHAPTER 2

Estimate of Long-Time Interest

INTEREST payments on long- and short-term debt are not segregated in the reports of the Bureau of Internal Revenue. In order to determine the rate of returns on total capital (capital stock equity plus funded debt) it was necessary to estimate the amount of interest paid on the funded debt. A rate of $5\frac{1}{2}$ per cent was adopted as an average interest rate, and in each year interest, computed as $5\frac{1}{2}$ per cent of the funded debt, was added to income to determine the profit earned on total capital. See note, The Item of Interest on Funded Debt in the Several Samples.

'Stepping Up' Investment Data, Tables 1, 3, 5, 6

Each year the number of corporations submitting income statements to the Bureau of Internal Revenue is somewhat larger than the number submitting balance sheets. To obtain a more accurate figure for the return on capital, both 'capitalization' and 'total capital' have been estimated for those corporations submitting only income statements and added to the investment amounts reported by the corporations submitting balance sheets. These estimated or 'stepped up' capital and capitalization figures have been computed as follows. In 1928, for example, 81,748 manufacturing corporations submitted balance sheets, showing a total capitalization of \$38,537,804,973, while 86,803 (106.2 per cent of this number) submitted income statements. This involves the assumption that the average capitalization per company of the companies that filed balance sheets is no

[601]

larger or smaller than of those that did not. We may estimate the capitalization of the 86,803 corporations to be \$40,927,148,881 (106.2 per cent of \$38,537,804,973). But since it is probably true that most of the 5,055 corporations that failed to file balance sheets are relatively small, the rate of return computed on the 'stepped up' capitalization figures to this extent understates the actual rate of return, just as that computed on the simple 'not stepped up' figures overstates the actual situation. For this reason, means between the ratios of income or profit to the 'stepped up' and 'not stepped up' capitalization or total capital figures are used as the most accurate available measurement of the aggregate return on capital for all corporations in the country, in the Manufacturing, Trading, Mining and Financial divisions.

TABLE 2, CHAPTER 2

The ten-year series of data for the 3,144 identical corporations were in their original form compiled by separate industrial divisions: i.e., Manufacturing, Trade, Finance, Mining. In obtaining composite figures comparable with the total amounts reported for all manufacturing, trade, finance and mining corporations in the United States, it is necessary that each of these four industrial groups be given the same relative importance in the sample of 3,144 corporations as in the actual data for the country as a whole, otherwise, the composite figures might be quite inaccurate because of the undue preponderance of one industrial division in the sample. For example, the Mining division shows a much lower mean return than the other divisions. It happens that Mining contains a tenth or less of the total capitalization of the four divisions (for all corporations in the country), but if the Mining division did constitute any very large proportion of the total capitalization of the sample, then the composite return for the sample could not well be compared, in its unweighted form, with the return for the United States as a whole. Upon theoretical grounds, weighting of the investment and income data is therefore indicated.

As a matter of technique, in making this adjustment—or in weighting the four divisions of our sample—it is more feasible to adjust the income figures than the investment data. (For purposes of further analysis and comparison it is desirable to keep the capitalization and total capital figures as actually reported for the 3,144 corporations.) To obtain the desired weighting in the final computed ratios through

APPENDICES

adjustment of the income data, the following procedure is employed. The total capital (or capitalization) for the 3,144 corporations in each year is redistributed among the four industrial groups in the same proportion in which the data for the country as a whole are distributed among such industrial groups in that year.¹ The ratio of the *actual* amount of capitalization reported by each division of the sample to the amount it would have had if the distribution of capital in the sample had been 'correct' is then determined; and this ratio is applied to the income as actually reported for each industrial division of the sample. Thus the ratio of the sum of the computed amounts of income to the actual total capitalization is accurately comparable with the rate of return computed for all corporations in the four industrial groups in the country as a whole. The following example will show more clearly the several steps involved in computing this ratio.

In 1928 the total capitalization for manufacturing, trade, finance and mining corporations of the country reported in *Statistics of Income* was distributed among the industrial groups as follows: manufacturing corporations, 49.3 per cent of the total; trade, 13.4 per cent; finance, 29.6 per cent; mining, 7.7 per cent. If the total capitalization for the 3,144 corporations of our sample (\$32,031,200,000) had been distributed in those same proportions in that year, each industrial division in our sample would have reported the capitalization listed in column (b) below instead of the actual data for each division recorded in column (a).

	(a) Actual capitalization	(b) Computed capitalization	(c) Ratio of com- puted to actual capitalization
Manufacturing	\$24,925,000,000	\$15,791,381,600	0.63
Trade	2,502,500,000	4,292,180,800	1.72
Finance	2,931,700,000	9,481,235,200	3.23
Mining	1,672,000,000	2,466,402,400	1.48
Total	\$32,031,200,000	\$32,031,200,000	

¹This is done in each of the years 1924-28. For the years 1919-23, however, data for the entire United States are not available. The relationships prevailing in 1926 are applied, in the manner set forth below, to the capitalization data of the sample in each of these years. The year 1926 is chosen because the data in *Statistics of Income* are probably somewhat more suited to the purpose at hand than those of 1924, as in 1924 the capital stock tax returns, instead of income tax returns, were utilized as the basis for the published balance sheet figures. The ratio of the computed to the actual capitalization is given in column (c). Thus, if the total capitalization reported for the 3,144 corporations were distributed among the four industrial groups in the same proportion as the total capitalization for these same groups in the country as a whole is distributed in that year, the Manufacturing corporations of the sample would have reported only 63 per cent of their actual capitalization figure. Similarly, (assuming such a smaller sample to have been as representative as the larger one) they would have reported 63 per cent of the actual income amount. Applying this ratio of computed to actual capitalization to the actual income as given in column (d) below, the computed income figure listed in column (e) is obtained:

	(d) Actual income	(e) Computed income
Manufacture	\$2,736,450,000	\$1,723,963,500
Trade	306,900,000	527,868,000
Finance	303,600,000	980,628,000
Mining	132,400,000	195,952,000
Total	\$3,479,350,000	\$3,428,411,500

The properly weighted rate of return on the capitalization of the 3,144 corporations, which gives to each industrial group the same relative importance that it has in the data for the entire United States, is, then, the ratio between the total computed income (\$3,428,411,500) and the actual total capitalization (\$32,031,200,000), or 10.7 per cent. There are shorter methods of obtaining the same result, but the redistribution of the absolute figures effected above seems most clearly to illustrate the logic of the weighting process.

TABLE 7, CHAPTER 2

Data are not available in the annual reports of the Bureau of Internal Revenue for the computation of the rate of return on the capitalization of all manufacturing corporations with net incomes of over \$2,000 for the entire ten-year period 1919–28. Assuming, however, that our sample of 'small corporations' with incomes of \$2,000 to \$50,000, and our sample of 'large corporations' with incomes of \$50,000 or more are fairly representative, we may, by proper weighting, expand these data so as to give a picture of the entire universe.²

[604]

² For comment upon the character of these two samples, see Ch. 43.

APPENDICES

In this process of weighting, three steps are involved. The first is to determine the ratio between the size of each of the samples and the number of corporations with the same sizes of net income³ for the country as a whole. The second, to determine from this ratio the appropriate weighting. The third, to weight the actual data and combine them.

For example, in 1928 the Bureau of Internal Revenue reported 29,555 manufacturing corporations in the entire country with net incomes of \$2,000 to \$50,000, and 8,207 with net incomes of \$50,000 or more. In the same year in our small corporations sample there were 1,421 corporations, or 4.8 per cent of the total number in the country with net incomes of \$2,000-\$50,000; and in our large corporations sample there were 1,970 corporations, or 24.0 per cent of the total number in the country with net incomes of \$50,000 or over. Thus, in that year, there were actually in the United States, with incomes of \$2,000 to \$50,000, just about 20 times the number of corporations in the one sample and just about 4 times the number with incomes of \$50,000 or more as in the other sample. Applying these weights of 20 and 4 respectively to the data of the two samples and combining them, we obtain a total net income for manufacturing corporations with incomes of over \$2,000 in 1928 amounting to \$11,973,800,000 and a total capitalization of \$98,448,000,000. These estimates possess no validity as absolute figures; because the average size of the corporations in our large corporations sample is greater than that of most typical corporations with incomes in the 'over \$50,000' grouping, these weighted absolute figures are far larger than those which actually prevail. But although they are even absolutely higher than the actual data obtained from Statistics of Income for that year and presented in Table 6 (for all manufacturing corporations in the country with net incomes, including those under \$2,000), the rate of return computed for the estimated data of Table 7 is only slightly different from that for the actual data of Table 6: 12.2 per cent as against 12.0 per cent.

As in the case of Table 2, a shorter method to attain the same results could be employed by directly adjusting the ratios themselves and in this instance avoiding the use of the 'fictitious' absolute figures; but the logic of the adjustment is perhaps seen better by weighting the absolute data.

*For qualifications concerning definition, again see Ch. 43.

ESTIMATED EARNINGS RATES FOR ALL MANUFAC-TURING IN THE COUNTRY, 1921 AND 1931, GIVEN IN CHAPTER 1

The earnings rates for the 71 companies series described in Ch. 6 were compared with the figures for all manufacturing corporations in the country, for the five years 1924–28. It was found that the latter rates averaged 63.0 per cent of the former. This ratio was then applied to the earnings figures of the 71 companies for 1921 and 1931, and the resulting figures, 2.4 and 2.3 per cent respectively were called rough estimates for all manufacturing corporations in the country in those years. No decimal points are made use of in the text, as the margin of possible error is very large. The figures should be regarded as the broadest of estimates, since the assumption that underlies them is, of course, that the earnings rates of these 71 companies bore the same relation to those for all manufacturing corporations in the country in 1921 and 1931 as they did on an average in the years 1924–28.

The five annual ratios in 1924–28, for which the mean ratio is 63.0 per cent, are as follows: 62.6; 58.5; 56.4; 64.6; 73.1.

71 COMPANIES SERIES DATA FOR 1931, GIVEN IN CHAPTER 6

The Lumber figure for 1931 is preliminary, the earnings rate of one corporation in the group being estimated; but the possible error involved is very slight. Upon the total figures for all groups the triffing amount of possible error in the data for this company, which is a relatively small concern, can have no effect whatever. The total estimated capitalization of the Stone and Lumber groups (the two are combined, as explained earlier) in 1931 is 233 million dollars, while that for all 71 companies is just over six billion. The capitalization of the one corporation in question in 1930 was less than 20 million; so that even if an error of as much as 50 per cent were involved in estimating its 1931 figure, the difference in the 233 million figure could not be over 5 per cent either way, and in the 6 billion figure would be only one-third of 1 per cent.

[606]

THE ITEM OF INTEREST ON FUNDED DEBT IN THE SEVERAL SAMPLES

The distinction between net income and total profit as drawn throughout this volume lies in the inclusion of interest charges upon funded debt in the latter. As elsewhere remarked, however, these interest amounts are estimated. The statement of the Source-Book (p. 3) is as follows: "Estimated interest upon bonded debt is, in the case of the corporations for which data are presented in Parts I and VI, the equivalent of five per centum of the amount of all funded or long-time obligations, while for the corporations in other parts of the book it is the equivalent of six per centum of such funded obligations." By the corporations in Parts 1 and VI are meant the several large identical corporations series discussed in the present volume. Upon the funded debts of the corporations of all other samples discussed in the present volume the rate of 6 per cent has been applied.

The basis on which 5 and 6 per cent were selected as the respective interest rates for 'large' and 'small' corporations in the original calculations of the data published in the *Source-Book* may be stated briefly. For large corporations there seemed to be little question that 5 per cent represented a very close approximation: the Standard Statistics Company's index of the average yield of fifteen high-grade industrial bonds between 1922 and 1928 (annual averages of monthly figures) ranged only between 4.8 and 5.3 per cent. (In 1920 and 1921 the figure was 6.0 per cent.)

For small corporations no general indexes are published by the Standard Statistics Company or other agencies for the period in question. The writer, however, investigated conditions in four banking centers: New York City, Buffalo, Cleveland and San Francisco. In New York City the consensus among the persons interviewed seemed to be that while the rate of interest paid by small industrials (corporations too small for public financing) varied greatly, it ran higher in most instances than for the larger companies; and 7 or 8 per cent was thought to be a more usual figure. In Buffalo, of ten small industrial enterprises with bond issues, nine paid 6 per cent and one paid 5.5 per cent. In Cleveland it was stated by a banker that "such financing . . . has been carried on . . . during the past ten years at rates that were almost never below six per cent, and which in almost every case carried in addition a bank charge that

•

would amount roughly to an additional one-half per cent. In other words this kind of financing has cost the smaller companies about 6½ per cent per year as a minimum, and more frequently 7 per cent or $7\frac{1}{2}$ per cent. Nevertheless, while these are the general facts, it is also true that each business of financing has been an individual deal. both in our institution and in other banks, with various collateral considerations involved . . . [and] . . . the banks do not compile massed records or make index numbers of such transactions." In San Francisco no adequate information on which to generalize was obtained except for the savings bank rate applied to real estate mortgages which a banker there states "has been, during the period 1919-1928, uniformly 6 per cent. However, in the case of small industrials . . . in need of working capital . . . [where] the value of their property did not justify a savings bank loan at the abovementioned rate and other assets had to be pledged to enable brokers to float a small bond issue, the rate would, of course, have been much higher because of the heavy costs that such bond issue would have inevitably to undergo,"

There is not space here to discuss the sale of bonds at a discount and the collateral considerations affecting the real cost of financing these small industrials through long-term borrowed capital. But disregarding the undoubtedly great variations in individual instances, it is probably fair to conclude that most of these small companies *pay out* 6 per cent or more annually as interest upon their funded debt, and that this rate represents a sufficiently satisfactory figure for our purposes, namely, to ascertain the rate of net return upon total capital before the payment of fixed charges, as well as that upon capitalization after their deduction.

EARNINGS RATES BEFORE AND AFTER TAXES

It was pointed out in Chapter 1 that for all years after 1921 the difference between earnings rates before and after payment of Federal income taxes is only slight. The statement related to arithmetic mean averages, but is also true of the frequency distributions for the earnings rates of individual corporations, as shown by experiments conducted for two industrial groups, Bakery Products and Radios and Parts. The individual corporations in each group were arrayed according to their rates of earnings before and after taxes, and the correlation is either perfect or almost perfect. Data from p. 201 of

APPENDICES

[609]

the Source-Book are as follows. (Four cases are presented, large corporations and small corporations being treated separately in both groups.)

•

			Description of sample: corporations with total net incomes	Coeffi- cients of rank	Data for percentage of net income to capitalization (before taxes)			
S		No. of	which, before taxes, range ap-	correla- tion (all	Arith- metic	Me-	Upper quar-	Lower quar-
Subgro	up	corps.	proximately from:	posuivej	mean	aian	me	<i>ine</i>
Bakery	Products	32	\$2,000-\$100,000	.9989	12.2	14.0	30.0	6.7
11	"	18	All over \$100,000	1.0000	16.6	15.0	22.5	9.2
Radios	and Parts	35	\$2,000-\$100,000	.9969	14.4	12.3	23.7	6.5
~	« «	62	All over \$100,000	.9997	12.2	15.0	24.7	8.0

APPENDIX B.

ABSOLUTE DATA UNDERLYING CERTAIN CHARTS AND TABLES

APPENDIX TABLE 1

ABSOLUTE DATA UNDERLYING TEXT TABLE 1¹

	1924	1925	1926	<i>192</i> 7	1928	
Net income						
before tax	\$5,082,498,150	\$7,265,056,676	\$7,108,391,872	\$6,383,238,998	\$8,168,188,016	
after tax	4,394,363,215	6,337,968,093	6,165,838,961	5,520,872,122	7,246,929,777	
² Capitalization						
not stepped up	80,899,555,431	89,207,935,711	87,853,383,955	93,962,040,536	101,476,040,078	
stepped up	91,096,068,588	98,758,296,316	106,629,953,741	103,115,303,552	114,610,810,975	
^a Total profit						
before tax						
not stepped up	5,679,677,273	7,889,556,411	7,695,321,957	7,076,795,179	9,024,475,226	
stepped up	5,766,909,170	7,968,172,064	7,845,796,552	7,156,544,369	9,153,806,934	
after tax			,			-
not stepped up	4,991,542,338	6,962,467,828	6,752,769,046	6,214,428,303	8,103,216,987	5
stepped up	5,078,774,235	7,041,083,481	6,903,243,641	6,294,177,493	8,232,548,695	Ê
² Total capital						C
not stepped up	91.757.357.665	100.562.476.342	98.524,840,054	106,572,152,910	117,044,898,444	
stepped up	103,539,905,320	111,542,212,473	120,037,311,558	117,175,401,214	132,531,154,932	ž
¹ Compiled from Sta	stictics of Income					2

¹ Compiled from Statistics of Income.

H * In all text discussions involving the capitalization, total capital, or profit figures of this table, the means between the 'not stepped up' and the 'stepped up' figures are used. See Appendix A for an explanation of the method of ы 'stepping up'. The 'stepped up' capitalization and 'stepped up' total capital figures in this table were obtained by ㅋ the addition of the corresponding items for each of the four industrial divisions shown in Table 3. The results obtained Ö by this addition are slightly different from those which would be obtained by applying the stepping up process to the ㅋ IT capitalization or total capital shown above. This difference (ranging from about 200 million to about one and one-half billion, on capitalization amounts of 100 billion) is due to the fact that the four industrial divisions, which have, of (A)
Appendix Table 2

ABSOLUTE DATA UNDERLYING TEXT TABLE 21

	1919	1920	1921	<i>1922</i>	1923
Net income					
* before tax	\$2,907,255,700	\$2,415,264,800	\$973,331,700	\$2,358,788,300	\$2,724,273,800
after tax	2,186,662,400	1,935,849,700	752,597,100	2,129,658,000	2,451,657,800
Capitalization	17,030,700,000	20,793,100,000	22,161,800,000	22,186,000,000	25,012,300,000
	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Net income					
before tax	2,450,994,000	3,027,897,400	3,252,057,700	2,954,223,000	3,428,411,500
² after tax	2,193,499,300	2,691,838,000	2,884,804,500	2,616,828,200	3,085,838,800
Capitalization	25, 584, 800,000	26,830,600,000	28,227,200,000	30,155,800,000	32,031,200,000
<u> </u>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
Total profit					
before tax	2,602,430,575	3,182,169,585	3,406,583,425	3,155,973,230	3,613,090,970
after tax	2,349,365,805	2,847,392,685	3,040,203,525	2,815,511,030	3,271,696,470
Total Capital	28,290,910,000	29,784,240,000	31,190,450,000	33,440,020,000	35,495,780,000

course, different capitalization amounts, do not have the same proportionate numbers of incomplete items, i.e., numbers of corporations not reporting balance sheets. It is also to be noted that all balance sheet data for 1924 and 1925 rest upon capital stock tax returns and not income tax returns.

¹ Compiled from Source-Book figures.

.

² Income and profit figures weighted as explained in Appendix A.

[613]

AP

PENDIC

ES

[614]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

APPENDIX TABLE 3

ABSOLUTE DATA UNDERLYING TEXT TABLE 51

	<i>1926</i>	1927	1928
Net income			
before tax	\$8,623,311,960	\$8,065,343,000	\$9,801,827,651
after tax	7,680,759,049	7,203,652,492	8,880,569,412
² Capitalization			
not stepped up	69,535,775,729	72,066,881,010	82,077,763,229
stepped up	77,469,634,805	78,863,460,747	90,720,375,480
² Profit			
before tax			
not stepped up	9,033,643,685	8,491,148,440	10,354,999,658
stepped up	9,090,382,882	8,539,663,595	10,421,994,787
after tax			
not stepped up	8,091,090,774	7,629,457,932	9,433,741,419
stepped up	8,147,829,971	7,677,973,087	9,500,736,548
² Total capital			
not stepped up	76,996,352,542	79,808,798,100	92,135,436,089
stepped up	85,961,833,393	87,487,471,547	101,996,141,514

¹ Compiled from Statistics of Income.

² In all text discussions involving the capitalization, total capital or profit figures of this table, the means between the 'not stepped up' and the 'stepped up' figures are used. See Appendix A for an explanation of the method of 'stepping up'. The 'stepped up' capitalization and 'stepped up' total capital figures were obtained by the addition of the corresponding items for each of the four industrial divisions shown in Table 6. See Appendix Table 1, note 2 for an explanation of the slight differences between these totals and the results obtained by applying the 'stepping up' method to the capitalization or total capital shown above.

		Appendix 7	TABLE 4		
	ABSOLUTE	DATA UNDERL	YING TEXT TAP	BLE 7 ¹	
	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923
Net income [*] Capitalization [*]	\$10,640,440,000 55,820,000,000	\$8,851,960,000 64,081,000,000	\$3,069,630,000 39,315,000,000	\$7,921,7 60,000 69,41 3 ,000,000	\$9,571,760,000 78,701,000,000
Net income ⁴ Capitalization ³	<i>1924</i> 8,826,360,000 82,324,000,000	<i>1925</i> 10,860,560,000 86,947,000,000	<i>1926</i> 11,652,040,000 90,518,000,000	<i>192</i> 7 9,779,680,000 89,796,000,000	<i>1928</i> 11,973,800,000 98,448,000,000

¹ Compiled from Source-Book.

^{*}Income and capitalization figures weighted as explained in Appendix A.

Appendix Table 5

DATA FOR CHARTS 35 TO 381

(A) PERCENTAGE TOTAL NET INCOME AFTER TAX TO CAPITALIZATION

Group	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1931	
1 Foods	2	4.5	4.9	8.3	8.3	7.9	8.3	9.8	8.4	9.2	10.5	11.6	9.5	
2 Textiles	18.0	5.0	7.4	11.7	12.2	5.7	7.4	7.0	7.6	5.7	7.2	7	-2.3	
3 Chemicals	14.0	8.3	2.4	9.3	5.4	8.5	11.7	12.2	7.5	12.2	11.6	7.5	3.1	
4 Metals	22.3	12.3	7.0	18.4	14.4	13.7	16.2	16.2	11.2	11.1	16.8	10.4	3.2	
5 Paper and printing	10.5	14.7	6.4	17.0	15.4	19.9	20.9	21.0	23.6	29.0	26.7	22.3	13.7	
6 Stone and lumber	12.7	14.3	6.7	12.5	17.3	12.4	11.3	10.9	8.4	9.1	11.5	3.7	5	
7 Leather and rubber	13.4	2.7	-7.4	5.7	4.6	6.7	12.2	10.2	6.1	2.3	4.5	-3.7	-3.4	
8 Special manufacturing industries	17.2	9.2	5.3	18.4	19.3	17.0	16.4	17.8	18.5	16.5	11.9	8.2	4.3	
All manufacturing	13.4	8.4	3.8	12.1	10.3	10.7	13.0	13.3	9.6	10.4	13.2	8.3	3.6	<u>г</u>

¹ Data for 1919-28 rest on Tables 49 and 51 of the Source Book; for 1929-30, on Tables 50 and 52 of the Source Book; for 1931, on Errata and Addenda Sheet to Source Book. See Ch. 6 of present volume for explanation.

[613]

APPENDIX TABLE 5 (continued)

(B) ABSOLUTE NET INCOME AND CAPITALIZATION

• •				(in million	s of dollar	s)				i
		191	19	. 192	o [.]	1921	,	192	2	
		Total	A 1 1	Total	a	Total	a	Total	0:1	
G70	up.	after tax	Capital- ization	after tax	Capital- ization	after tax	Capital- ization	after tax	ization	
1	Foods	-1.16	611.75	30.42	673.15	34.42	703.11	55.62	670.0 2	
2	Textiles	25.03	138.99	9.32	187.91	12.64	169.85	21.78	185.69	
3	Chemicals	90.88	649.06	65.31	788.42	25.89	1,069.99	89.48	965.04	
- 4	Metals	189.61	850.76	134.06	1,086.19	77.87	1,110.44	216.43	1,173.28	
- 5	Paper and printin	g 8.41	80.11	12.74	86.41	6.08	94.95	15.41	90.71	
6	Stone and lumber	15.75	124.34	19.85	139.25	10.47	155.93	19.41	155.25	
7	Leather and rubbe	r 46.33	345.43	11.06	411.14	-28.82	388.62	20.59	361.13	
8	Special manufactur	ring								
	industries	8.29	48.19	5.84	63.24	3.79	71.95	13.23	71.95	Ĩ
All	manufacturing	383.14	2,848.63	288.60	3,435.71	142.34	3,764.84	451.95	3,673.07	Ð
		192	?3	192	¢	1925	•	192	б	SD
1	Foods	63.00	757.61	58.60	738.15	62.15	748.54	79.40	812.80	ΤI
2	Textiles	26.50	216.58	12.51	220.54	15.86	213.87	14.07	200.66	ĩ
3	Chemicals	56.18	1,059.05	90.71	1,063.92	126.47	1,082.13	143.78	1,179.39	A
- 4	Metals	239.39	1,666.25	229.19	1,672.46	291.76	1,797.53	340.52	2,096.03	H
- 5	Paper and printing	g 14.23	92.31	18.35	92.06	19.46	93.33	20.11	95.59	H
6	Stone and lumber	32.84	189.72	24.15	194.49	24.59	217.96	24.41	223.31	Å
7	Leather and rubbe	r 17.52	379.14	25.59	384.02	48.13	395.85	40.79	400.03	Ö
8	Special manufactur	ing								벽
	industries	16.11	83.60	16.21	95.44	15.07	91.63	18.03	101.32	11
All	manufacturing	465.77	4,444.26	475.31	4,461.08	603.49	4,640.84	681.11	5,109.13	5

[616]

	1	927	1	928	19	29	19	30	193	81
Group	Total net income after tax	Capital- ization	Total - net income after tax	Capital- ization	Total - net income after tax	Capital- ization	Total net income after tax	Capital- ization	Total net income after tax	Capital- ization
1 Foods	65.11	778.67	73.58	802.85	84.69	807.26	97.84	840.89	81.30	855.65
2 Textiles	16.83	221.22	12.13	214.36	18.37	256.38	-1.64	238.69	-5.00	217.72
3 Chemicals	96.30	1,291.50	179.14	1,469.05	201.29	1,736.16	135.66	1,800.52	52.24	1,691.93
4 Metals	243.88	2,182.47	246.28	2,215.47	444.16	2,649.57	281.42	2,718.64	81.95	2,577.67
5 Paper and printin	g 23.97	101.38	26.39	90.89	30.63	114.61	25.73	115.61	15.21	111.37
6 Stone and lumber	18.73	223.12	20.91	229.46	29.04	253.36	9.25	248.51	-1.20	233.34
7 Leather and rubbe	r 25.33	415.76	9.13	404.29	20.55	452.49	-15.52	420.13	-10.91	324.70
8 Special manufactu:	r-									
ing industries	21.75	101.80	20.18	122.42	15.83	133.06	9.17	111.35	3.40	79.46
All manufacturing	511.90	5,315.92	587.74	5,648.79	844.56	6,402.89	541.91	6,494.34	216.99	6,091.84

Appendix Table 6

•

ABSOLUTE DATA UNDERLYING TABLES IN BOOK II¹

(Key to group numbers shown in Text Table 12)

(A) SALES, 1919-28, 2,046 MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS (in millions of dollars)

Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
1	17	233	304	236	228	260	271	284	\$15	323	320	
2	32	256	292	200	181	185	208	231	228	235	228	
3	21	150	144	98	98	116	118	123	127	i15	114	6
4	19	229	204	129	136	159	182	200	201	201	212	Ë.
5	26	330	345	293	282	329	339	368	382	403	435	1

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

Minor araup	Number of	1010	1920	1021	1022	1027	1074	1025	1076	1027	1079	18
y		1/1/	1700	1701	1766	1745	1767	1725	1720	1741	1720	
0	16	151	125	105	124	121	131	139	148	147	169	
7	23	3302	3170	2097	2014	2210	3349	3860	3550	3802	3991	
ð 0	*1			~~								
, y	11	19	22	23	15	18	19	23	24	24	25	
10	23	637	824	792	758	799	840	878	922	972	979	
11-8	27	707	819	407	451	512	500	498	503	553	553	
12	12	13	17	7	11	14	13	16	14	13	15	
13	18	66	81	54	62	76	61	64	62	63	62	
14	49	319	358	220	248	289	267	303	278	284	271	
15	31	226	211	184	209	237	204	212	204	187	168	
16	17	130	113	98	103	123	114	138	136	129	128	
17	18	62	81	· 61	88	99	85	93	90	87	76	
18	25	178	225	165	162	190	174	176	180	183	184	
19	42	108	140	103	130	146	137	148	163	165	159	H
20	23	69	91	64	68	80	75	83	89	89	92	z
21	54	212	249	158	196	239	225	253	241	235	234	Ð
22	25	199	213	182	206	227	217	248	231	243	236	d
23	29	237	182	107	128	138	130	136	138	149	144	ŝ
2 4	26	770	1079	580	678	763	727	1030	1035	948	935	1
25	64	137	158	93	128	159	144	148	154	131	152	ĩ
26	26	122	34	22	30	37	34	37	34	32	31	Þ
27	17	31	42	25	34	41	37	36	34	32	34	F
28	55	67	81	60	72	84	84	92	95	93	91	_
29	28	99	126	86	126	185	193	218	220	180	233	2
30	35	159	251	153	161	187	180	210	204	227	276	õ
31	33	50	81	37	46	60	58	64	65	63	65	Ť
32	20	62	100	53	60	66	64	65	68	68	67	Ĥ
33	23	87	120	76	89	106	106	100	96	89	93	ΤS

[61

34	20	105	144	134	147	179	198	222	275	302	436	A
35	17	32	38	36	38	42	45	46	45	47	47	2
36	46	81	118	91	90	98	103	108	115	118	182	P H
37	17	11	18	13	14	14	15	16	17	18	18	19 19
38	9	82	101	58	75	85	79	87	95	91	100	
39	42	133	152	103	125	139	138	154	157	151	152	ĭ
40	52	2041	2895	2150	2154	2244	2383	2752	3201	3608	3197	0
41	56	160	176	140	156	177	186	201	212	216	214	
42	9	9	13	14	14	16	16	17	18	19	20	S
43	16	233	181	180	189	202	234	261	271	288	272	
44	26	474	460	299	344	413	436	480	524	512	514	
45	48	61	9 0	63	81	103	99	108	113	105	103	
46	18	119	176	113	134	175	157	170	166	149	153	
47	21	55	80	72	87	111	115	125	123	122	119	
48	27	109	144	82	106	136	136	157	168	167	175	
49	99	2683	3405	1681	1997	3278	2801	3087	3472	2881	3044	
50	20	51	61	27	42	60	58	64	65	63	66	
51	20	94	117	55	72	98	83	87	91	78	83	
52	42	125	161	103	125	167	165	165	181	176	187	
53	54	632	789	592	552	726	787	799	916	860	899	
54	18	52	71	61	50	54	44	51	49	52	49	
55	12	23	28	21	24	29	29	33	33	31	31	
56	22	90	103	81	75	104	109	122	139	139	147	
57	11	16	18	12	12	18	20	20	26	28	34	
58	12	137	153	92	121	142	112	127	160	135	141	
59	23	107	121	84	72	87	76	89	95	91	101	
60	13	73	9 0	69	75	91	92	104	106	110	126	
61	25	507	486	283	316	609	397	333	385	323	251	
62	32	1477	1864	1178	1612	2343	2143	2631	3145	3058	3639	
63	11	34	49	29	36	43	45	46	47	46	51	<u>6</u>
64	40	243	316	192	254	222	326	355	374	344	347	9
•••		ытэ	310	1/2	<i>23</i> 77	555	0.0	ورد	<i></i>	244	277	L

Minor	Number of	Appendix	с. Тав	LE 6 (contin	ued)						[6]
group	corporations	<i>1</i> 919	1920	<i>1921</i>	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	192 7	<i>1928</i>	[02
65	30	99	105	39	58	76	69	78	85	78	90	
66	15	24	30	11	20	27	23	28	28	27	32	
67	32	112	125	75	82	105	102	121	132	130	138	
68	48	780	911	495	658	824	830	1001	940	908	1066	
69	24	50	51	31	36	41	38	40	42	43	45	
70	45	541	634	280	328	413	407	507	554	557	699	
71	23	134	136	107	122	144	146	153	161	164	172	
72	12	16	21	15	18	23	25	27	28	28	31	
73	11	38	48	35	42	51	48	53	54	47	43	
74	43	206	264	214	228	263	249	237	270	282	293	

Major group	Number oj corporations	f 1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	IN
1 Foods	215	6014	6249	4380	4287	4709	5957	6604	6400	6775	7026	A
2 Textiles	289	1383	1566	1114	1277	1493	1355	1486	1457	1435	1389	G
3 Leather	54	436	395	289	334	365	347	384	369	392	380	L S
4 Rubber	26	770	1079	580	678	763	727	1030	1035	948	935	5
5 Lumber	190	456	441	286	390	506	492	531	537	468	541	Ĥ
6 Paper	111	358	5552	319	356	419	408	439	433	447	501	
7 Printing and publishing	100	229	318	274	289	333	361	392	452	485	623	H
8 Chemicals	210	3132	3978	2944	3057	3276	3472	3952	4478	4885	44.69	H
9 Stone, clay and glass	114	344	490	330	408	525	507	560	570	543	550	ਸ਼
10 Metals	648	7950	9688	5491	6617	9668	8756	9888	11065	10158	11266	ò
11 Special manufacturing in	dustries 89	394	469	371	410	481	468	470	513	521	539	FI
All manufacturing	2046	21466	25225	16378	18103	22538	22850	25736	27309	27057	28219	ΤS

	•			·		17					
			{	in millio	ns of ac	llars)					
Minor	Number of										
group	corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
1	17	19.78	18.45	24.17	27.92	29.22	33.75	33.67	40.58	43.54	41.22
2	32	12.41	1.98	5.15	4.58	6.03	10.68	6.41	6.62	7.94	7.78
3	21	28.06	11.45	5.60	13.47	15.90	18.62	18.58	18.81	17.66	16.51
4	19	10.90	2.423	9.66	13.86	11.89	15.33	12.48	17.40	16.14	15.85
5	26	13.63	5.22	7.28	14.03	15.64	12.71	17.38	18.41	18.72	19.46
6	16	18.99	7.05	7.04	15.79	12.67	15.17	12.80	12.53	11.36	14.51
7	23	17.98 [±]	1.64	40.65*	10.23	25.11	30.23	21.87	44.00	15.37	31.81
8											
9	11	.88 ²	.05	.44	1.45	2.62	1.29	3.00	3.14	2.31	3.95
10	23	63.89	64.88	77.08	83.31	87.13	84.27	95.42	102.92	109.60	109.52
118	27	72.65	33.49	21.96 ^ª	33.39	43.32	42.01	30.02	40.82	33.47	46.64
12	12	2.35	2.62	.83	1.12	1.24	.61	1.23	1.01	1.04	.95
13	18	9.15	1.40	4.42	7.24	7.54	3.09	4.72	2.81	5.14	4.29
14	49	62.03	27.23	20.64	26.98	30.25	3.38	11.42	8.31	28.22	12.46
15	31	36.07	.67	21.65	30.25	24.88	4.30	8.64	2.83	7.90	2.95
16	17	24.55	1.15	6.81	10.98	11.74	6.37	13.45	7.85	4.65	4.90
17	18	12.97	7.43	10.64	22.86	20.87	10.02	9.50	7.28	8.41	5.54
18	25	23.23	11.93	7.96	13.12	17.71	11.25	14.62	14.03	16.45	14.40
19	42	17.13	7.32	9.59	16.47	12.07	9.13	15.62	16.08	12.73	12.78
20	23	8.67	2.60	1.51	6.08	6.77	4.46	6.33	7.25	7.45	6.55
21	54	37.05	15.05	15.95	26.41	30.52	20.58	21.37	12.55	18.28	15.42
22	25	23.53	16.38	11.03	21.84	20.70	22.51	21.69	21.18	26.90	24.42
23	29	29.01	7.70 ³	6.44 ²	8.84	3.97	6.72	7.35	5.74	10.41	4.47
24	26	93.14	12.09	76.51 ²	19.59	32.63	40.63	114.91	53.79	45.40	7.50
25	64	25.39	34.54	5.30	21.80	35.96	20.10	20.77	21.00	13.90	15.91
26	26	3.47	5.75	1 89	5.22	6.07	5.02	4.76	3.45	2.60	2.29

Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	. 1924	1925	1926	1927
17	4.84	4.96	.60	4.46	6.13	3.05	2.51	2.77	2.85
55	11.48	11.47	4.53	10.78	11.90	9.87	11.41	10.99	8.53
28	11.49	7.94	5.76	13.54	16.89	22.31	22.44	19.97	8.49
35	19.67	48.64	3.78	12.16	22.17	23.83	19.30	19.27	19.30
33	7.08	12.17	.31	4.23	6.12	4.72	5.63	5.49	7.69
20	5.90	10.88	1.53°	3.51	2.35	2.85	3.68	3.96	5.73
23	12.12	17.19	3.53	7.29	8.10	9.10	9.08	9.64	7.01
20	20.33	27.06	23.01	38.10	36.73	43.20	36.37	56.40	63.66
17	4.04	4.00	4.05	6.33	6.78	7.54	7.25	6.69	5.91
46	11.51	17.79	10.33	13.16	13.89	13.80	13.96	14.66	13.13
17	1.87	3.65	2.20	2.35	1.88	1.77	2.14	2.10	1.99
9	12.28	10.96	6.11	17.05	10.43	9.42	11.97	11.41	12.64
42	17.15	13.03	4.20	16.22	17.24	14.92	17.21	17.47	14.84
52	301.39	417.30	40.13	254.72	155.67	256.87	420.52	470.03	235.97
56	30.46	22.93	16.15	35.48	34.66	36.03	41.28	46.24	49.19

3.19

19.18

49.30

13.23

15.06

16.91

13.38

65.24

2.75

8.77

18.20

80.34

14.70

2.84

18.03

68.00

19.89

27.64

29.47

22.21

239.22

5.54

13.50

30.52

121.76

11.00

3.38

22.01

84.39

16.01

19.68

27.25

20.72

4.59

9.21

25.75

8.35

120.10

164.24

3.24

23.37

90.75

17.44

19.25

30.67

27.32

5.07

9.27

24.72

11.81

127.30

201.53

3.45

29.08

18.39

17.15

30.84

29.13

5.91

9.73

26.06

143.06

11.34

255.20

122.90

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

Minor group

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

9

16

26

48

18

21

27

99

20

20

42

54

18

1.57

11.57

65.37

12.07

17.83

15.51

311.37

8.02

4.99

11.98

21.69

108.35

13.14

.98

7.07²

37.59

15.32

23.46

9.65

15.81

4.68

11.56

15.81

77.51

10.86

331.85

1.75

10.34

30.73

7.19

8.26

9.01

1.54

11.761

4.95*

.343

6.66

42.45

14.02

[622]

1928

3.14

7.66

15.23

19.80

6.52

5.79

8.60

74.59

6.55

15.16

2.05

15.90

17.96

515.58

50.69

4.07

27.77

147.91

13.58

15.87

27.81

31.77

236.25

6.25

11.76

17.55

139.82

12.09

3.65

28.51

121.73

15.43

12.20

26.55

27.16

4.44

8.02

18.21

13.18

114.68

171.09

INDUSTRIAL

AL PR

0

FIT

Ś

	10				e 10	6.05	4.61	4.00		4.07	£ 0.2	
55	12	5.86	5.17	3.47	5.18	0.05	4.51	3.99	5.40	4,9/	3.74	- F
56	22	15.31	10.96	6.85	11.00	17.84	17.93	18.74	19.43	1/.5/	61.76 A 40	Ē
57	11	3.36	2.88	1.60	1.81	3.07	7.00	3.42	5.35	0.09	4.48	Ē
58	12	20.67	19.34	3.17	11.99	15.91	6.16	11.61	18.26	13.65	13.13	Z
59	23	23.84	16.79	6.77	13.54	21.02	14.36	22.94	23.10	19.94	25.25	Ð
60	13	13.29	11.22	4.78	7.20	9.67	10.23	15.23	15.13	19.47	21.42	Ē
61	25	68.31	51.50	21.00	31.29	70.74	41.09	24.62	39.62	29.43	17.42	<u></u>
62	32	274.22	172.54	78.19	258.77	270.89	246.19	366.80	372.39	299.53	314.57	(P)
63	11	4.09	3.68	.78	4.0 9	5.59	4.79	5.11	6.13	6.07	10.17	
64	40	42.64	43.02	4.45	32.71	55.74	42.28	45.51	40.91	32.40	36.19	
65	30	25.06	19.73	3.24 ²	8.15	12.55	7.94	11.77	14.06	10.48	17.07	
66	15	3.73	4.58	.37²	3.50	4.47	2.54	4.06	4.48	3.62	5.51	
67	32	20.59	13.17	2.84°	10.04	15.11	11.80	15.77	19.37	14.47	17.83	
68	48	78.21	44.00	12.57	65.73	81.45	81.80	116.49	99.85	96.99	130.50	
69	24	6.98	4.04	.57	3.41	4.25	3.24	2.98	3.50	4.10	4.37	
70	45	88.48	56.93	17.61 ²	17.15	55.41	46.79	79.45	91.83	85.21	105.41	
71	23	35.11	27.41	17.62	43.36	45.14	26.40	46.80	48.16	43.67	47.71	
72	12	2.63	2.71	1.68	2.23	3.14	3.14	3.40	3.37	3.72	4.35	
73	11	5.16	5.29	.95	5.02	6.99	5.63	6.61	6.56	4.21	3.35	
74	43	29.31	25.05	16.68	31.00	31.90	22.08	13.84	32.01	28.66	30.08	
Maior	Number of											
group	corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
1 Foods	215	221.45	141.79	73.81	218.03	249.53	264.06	251.63	305.23	276.11	307.25	
2 Textiles	289	233.20	77.40	100.00	161.51	163.59	73.19	106.90	80.00	110.27	80.24	
3 Leather	54	52.54	8.68	4.59	30.68	24.67	29.23	29.04	26.92	37.31	28.89	
4 Rubber	26	93.14	12.09	76.51ª	19.59	32.63	40.63	114.91	53.79	45.40	7.50	
5 Lumber	190	56.67	64.66	18.08	55.80	76.95	60.35	61.89	58.18	36.37	44.23	
6 Paper	111	44.77	88.88	6.09	27.19	38.74	40.50	37.69	38.36	39.73	40.71	്ര
7 Printing as	n d											Ň
		AN 84	10.10	20.00	60.04	FO 20	11 01	£0.70	70.07	04.70	00.00	

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

	Appendix Table 6 (continued)												
Majo grouj	r þ	Number corporati	of ons 1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	24]
8 9	Chemicals Stone, clay a	210 and	439.79	495.72	109.41	395.14	306.87	427.02	608.34	700.58	466.53	779.88	
	glass	114	53.43	64.24	26.00	58.58	99.21	83.66	94.68	95.51	81.34	89.03	
10	Metals	648	1,166.16	937.82	166.22	675.62	1,071.30	880.89	1,128.19	1,229.99	993.91	1,174.88	
11	Special man	ufac-	-				•		-				
	turing ind	ustries 89	71.21	60 .46	36.93	81.61	87.17	57.25	70.65	90.10	80.26	85.49	
All n	nanufacturin	g 2,046	2,471.11	2,004.24	504.21	1,783.69	2,209.94	2,023.09	2,563.64	2,758.51	2,251.92	2,736.45	

(C) CAPITALIZATION, 1919-28, 2,046 MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS

(in millions of dollars)

Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	192 5	1926	1927	1928	I
1	17	130	153	161	155	195	181	208	216	229	236	z
2	32	49	61	58	51	64	66	65	67	67	65	Ð
3	21	67	87	85	79	89	97	101	108	104	109	q
4	19	55	70	65	67	71	74	78	86	90	90	്
5	26	66	78	88	90	76	105	134	139	146	200	7
6	16	65	81	77	77	95	103	103	103	112	114	–
7	23	505	554	581	542	656	694	675	693	681	699	⋗
8												F
9	11	47	46	47	45	43	43	45	48	51	46	H
10	23	457	556	588	588	648	625	637	701	684	704	ž
11-8	27	418	483	409	433	464	434	441	449	469	498	õ
12	12	5	7	8	7	9	8	10	10	10	10	÷
13	18	33	39	37	49	45	46	48	48	51	52	H
14	49	191	225	219	236	275	264	264	258	278	263	ſs

15	31	160	173	190	199	215	205	209	184	207	197	A
16	17	64	97	82	77	89	79	94	95	97	105	ы
17	18	49	61	67	63	85	82	83	82	84	83	P
18	25	92	127	118	116	125	124	122	120	124	126	E
19	42	45	58	58	64	76	83	93	98	109	114	z
20	23	25	34	35	33	41	41	46	48	51	53	<u> </u>
21	54	108	136	131	134	165	168	189	182	210	201	5
22	25	71	90	97	107	128	137	135	139	153	165	E.
23	29	83	114	97	91	92	91	93	83	90	87	6
24	26	489	589	607	538	546	560	607	629	660	583	
25	64	159	195	210	214	227	224	237	224	234	233	
26	26	13	16	19	19	25	27	28	28	27	27	
27	17	26	32	34	34	39	39	39	39	39	38	
28	55	37	47	54	53	65	66	69	72	73	73	
29	. 28	62	70	72	74	98	116	129	140	139	151	
30	35	149	178	199	185	227	227	281	291	341	389	
31	33	23	32	37	35	38	40	42	42	43	51	
32	20	12	56	62	65	61	58	60	61	51	55	
33	23	46	56	66	62	80	83	85	92	91	96	
34	20	77	90	107	106	137	177	200	190	270	282	
35	17	23	29	30	31	37	40	43	45	52	54	
36	46	58	68	79	79	89	89	94	101	103	109	
37	17	6	8	9	9	10	10	10	11	11	12	
38	9	82	92	92	93	107	109	114	119	123	134	
39	42	63	79	85	81	100	101	108	113	114	121	
40	52	1641	2112	2769	3230	3384	3496	3812	4561	4896	5257	
41	56	110	134	142	136	180	184	197	208	218	233	
42	9	4	5	6	6	8	9	10	12	13	16	
43	16	83	118	124	141	115	119	120	119	126	143	
44	26	464	464	576	606	684	671	642	681	715	833	6
45	4 8	98	105	112	123	131	135	144	151	155	160	N
46	18	61	73	87	86	116	114	124	126	122	134	Ľ

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

•

Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	26]
47	21	86	99	111	112	142	160	179	203	214	217	
48	27	75	92	102	94	116	127	139	149	170	186	
49	99	2698	3149	3216	3043	3544	3511	3572	3297	3762	3964	
50	20	31	37	40	38	42	44	43	45	50	53	
51	20	67	74	77	71	84	81	81	83	81	85	
52	42	106	124	130	121	140	149	160	153	192	191	
53	54	496	642	665	600	737	719	756	800	809	848	
54	18	48	63	62	66	60	79	80	79	83	83	
55	12	33	39	41	40	44	44	44	50	52	48	
56	22	57	77	79	79	93	95	103	110	114	129	
57	11	12	15	17	17	21	25	37	38	55	65	
58	12	57	77	93	86	105	100	104	114	118	129	
59	23	151	177	176	175	186	176	177	174	178	189	
60	13	59	71	75	80	75	89	88	96	102	121	m
61	25	401	487	493	435	523	488	466	519	527	520	z
62	32	707	937	927	1023	1302	1425	1545	1801	1859	1948	Θ
63	11	35	39	37	36	45	46	49	50	51	52	G
64	40	147	198	236	209	267	280	287	300	311	329	S
65	30	84	101	104	96	101	100	102	96	109	112	5
66	15	19	21	21	20	24	24	24	26	27	29	Î
67	32	85	103	111	101	112	108	118	125	126	132	Þ
68	48	628	748	656	761	732	835	823	794	862	882	H
69	24	19	26	27	27	31	32	33	34	35	36	ਸ਼
70	45	521	596	610	566	618	580	614	624	642	674	×
71	23	106	124	135	141	158	157	162	163	173	175	0
72	12	10	11	15	17	2 0	20	22	24	25	27	H
73	11	30	38	42	42	49	48	50	55	56	57	LI
74	43	112	139	157	153	179	187	183	2 04	217	243	ŝ

[62

Major	Number	r of										Þ
group	corporati	ons 1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	<i>192</i> 7	1928	ਮੁ
1 Foods	215	1859	2169	2159	2127	2401	2422	2487	2610	2633	2761	P
2 Textiles	289	772	957	945	978	1125	1100	1158	1125	1221	1204	
3 Leather	54	154	204	194	198	220	228	228	222	243	252	z
4 Rubber	26	489	589	607	538	546	560	607	629	660	583	Ä
5 Lumber	190	297	360	389	394	454	472	502	503	512	522	5
6 Paper	111	270	322	364	347	406	408	468	486	526	591	E.
7 Printing and publishing	100	164	195	225	225	273	316	347	347	436	457	Ś
8 Chemicals	210	2447	3004	3794	4293	4578	4689	5003	5813	6205	6737	
9 Stone, clay and glass	114	320	369	412	415	505	536	586	629	661	697	
10 Metals	648	6461	7801	7893	7690	8886	9 030	9306	9 408	10145	10619	
11 Special manufacturing												
industries	89	258	312	349	353	406	412	417	446	471	502	
All manufacturing	2046	13491	16282	17331	17558	19800	20173	21109	22218	23713	24925	

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

(D) BONDED DEBT, 1924-28, 2,046 MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS (in millions of dollars)

M INOT	ivumper oj					
group	corporations	1924	1925	1926	<i>192</i> 7	1928
1	17	11.16	10.48	7.06	6.46	6.62
2	32	.06		1.50	1.40	1.30
3	21	3.67	4.06	3.52	3.32	3.21
4	19	3.16	2.93	3.05	6.04	6.04
5	26	5.22	12.63	4.09	5.85	9.58
6	16	.69	.64	.71	.68	.65
7	23	253.88	313.96	223.63	273.39	258.88
8						
9	11	.08	.43	.40	.42	.42
10	23	59.81	61.66	37.57	71.79	70.58
11-8	27	39.99	46.19	49.23	52.44	54.27
12	12	.02	• •		• •	
13	18	2.46	2.27	.10	2.16	2.22
14	49	.03	4.07	25.63	23.95	4.48
15	31	2.65	2.57	2.53	2.55	3.59
16	17	6.20	.69	4.53	7.68	13.15
17	18	.31	.38	.37	.33	.33
18	25	2.53	2.57	1.86	1.28	1.22
19	42	2.31	8.22	7.31	7.14	7.13
20	- 23	1.20	1.18	1.07	1.22	1.20
21	54	8.62	7.52	5.96	4.89	6.09
22	25	2.22	2.27	2.61	2.89	1.92
23	29	5.64	5.25	2.25	4.62	7.93
24	26	149.79	180.12	224.07	231.85	223.69
25	64	14.18	15.47	3.26	16.96	17.12
26	26	.20	.04	.49	.46	.33
27	17	.01	2.82	1.53	.78	1.03
28	55	.82	.69	3.77	7.55	7.75
29	28	6.78	9.41	7.82	5.74	12.02
30	35	33.12	70.70	105.38	114.48	60.11
31	33	1.71	1.49	.07	1.14	1.00
32	20	10.84	10.56	11.41	7.04	6.66
33	23	7.75	10.49	8.19	10.35	7.24
34	20	31.46	48.04	59.47	97.45	102.63
35	17	.36	1.09	1.07	1.01	•••
36	46	3.19	4.04	4.01	12.35	8.99
37	17	•••	.11		.19	.29
38	9.	.05	.09	.08	.07	.05
39	42	4.30	3.75	1.09	.85	1.02
40	52	223.43	236.06	377.52	453.80	460.75
41	56	7.04	7.83	5.07	6.22	4.38
42	9	.02				

[628]

APPENDICES

•

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

Minor	Number	of					
group	corporatio	ns 1924	1925	19	26	1927	1928
43	16	.70	.75		.55	.55	.13
44	26	39,03	7.79	1	7.13	15.23	28.66
45	48	2.49	1.75		3.28	7.11	5.88
- 46	18	3.93	2.20		1.37	2.00	1.20
47	21	10.29	8.77	:	8.85	10.99	29.29
'48	27	.61	.53		.40	.47	5.03
49	. 99	951.59	928.03	93	1.30	898.06	914.11
50	20	5.02	5.46	(5.33	2.67	8.90
51	20	.43	.39		.33	.42	1.19
52	42	5.67	. 4.98	:	3.90	16.30	15.33
53	54	55.98	41.47	4:	2.52	52.49	52.53
54	18		5.56	:	1.56	6.06	6.07
55	12	6.18	6.08		6.03	6.31	11.68
56	22	.13	.08		.08	3.95	5.07
57	11	.53	.44	,	.48	1.01	.75
58	. 12	2.29	.26	:	1.87	••	••
59	23	5.08	3.88	1	3.20	2.75	2.36
60	13	1.29	1.24		1.13	.94	.93
61	25	21.67	. 37.24	. 34	4.36	23.95	22.63
62	32	34.93	39.14	3	1.09	36.22	34.45
63	11	.17	.13		.01	.10	.13
64	40	5.97	16.47	1:	5.55	17.06	15.14
65	30	2.17	1.88		1.04	3.87	3.53
66	15	• •			• •		
67	32	1.36	1.32	;	3.89	10.56	14.53
68	48	79.65	66.08	6	8.07	70.32	94.42
69	24	.37	.52		.21	.51	.60
70	45	37.65	40.63	2	9.34	36.98	40.99
71	23	.56	.25		.10	.04	3.76
72	12	• •			.07	1.32	1.32
73	11	2.10	2.19		.26	2.48	2.18
74	43	8.47	7.38		3.10	.02	2.45
Major		Number of					
group		corporations	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
1 Foo	da	215	377.72	452.98	330.74	421 70	411 55
2 Te	xtiles	289	26.33	29.47	49.34	51.20	10 41
3 Lea	ther	54	7.86	7.52	4.84	7.51	37.71
4 Ru	bber	26	149.79	180.12	224.07	231.85	223 60
5 Lu	nber	190	21.99	28.43	16.87	31 49	18 25
6 Pa	Эег	111	53.42	93.24	125.05	111 01	75 01
				2 a 1 m T	100.00	133.01	75.01

[630]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

Major group	Number of corporations	192 4	1925	1926	1927	1928
7 Printing and						
publishing	100	35.01	53.28	64.55	111.00	111.91
8 Chemicals	210	274.57	256.27	401.44	476.72	494.99
9 Stone, clay an	đ					
glass	114	17.32	13.25	13.90	20.57	41.40
10 Metals	648	1218.13	1201.28	1182.29	1190.53	1245.34
11 Special manuf	actur-					
ing industri	es 89	11.13,	9.82	3.53	3.86	9.71
All manufacturing	2046	2193.27	2325.66	2416.68	2679.53	2701.11

		•	(in millio	ns of do	llars)					
Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920		1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	19
1	17	4.09	3.93	5.80	3.34	3.52	4.09	4.26	5.32	5.77	4.
2	32	3.51	.39	.93	.92	.72	1.31	.84	.82	1.09	
3	21	9.78	2.51	2.49	1.55	1.82	2.18	2.28	2.42	2.27	1.
4	ʻ 19	2.40	.59	2.38	1.63	1.44	1.86	1.55	2.24	2.05	1.
Ś	26	3.11	1.44	1.57	1.70	1.92	1.56	2.22	2.42	2.39	2.
6	16	3.71	1.24	1.18	1.91	1.55	1.87	1.60	1.60	1.35	1.
7	23	2.59	.80	1.71	2.68	2.88	3.37	2.36	5.01	2.06	3.
8											
9	11	.36	.58	.44	.23	.23	.25	.35	.32	.33	
10	23	11.05	10.22	15.64	9.75	10.02	9.98	11.82	13.15	14.00	12.
11-8	27	14.42	6.10	1.75	2.91	3.88	4.54	3.76	4.94	4.05	5.
12	12	.73	.84	.10	.13	.15	.07	.15	.13	.13	
13	18	2.61	.35	1.09	.91	.84	.35	.59	.35	.66	
14	49	17.96	8.10	3.52	3.14	3.37	1.09	1.39	1.41	3.06	1
15	31	8.34	1.35	4.39	3.57	2.96	1.33	1.02	.95	.92	
16	17	7.86	.81	1.71	1.11	1.41	.77	1.72	1.09	.86	,
17	18	3.46	4.23	2.48	2.52	2.48	1.20	1.18	.92	1.08	
18	25	6.99	3.89	1.73	1.55	2.12	1.45	1.85	1.83	2.16	1.
19	42	5.60	1.59	2.89	2.03	1.45	1.19	1.97	2.12	1.68	1.
20	23	2.58	.97	.63	.65	.73	.58	.77	.87	.98	
21	54	11.98	4.25	3.70	2.97	3.60	2.39	2.69	2.20	2.22	1.
22	25	7.51	4.14	1.93	2.58	2.52	2.76	2.79	2.83	3.63	3.
23	29	8.58	.65	.53	1.06	.71	.74	.90	.91	1.35	
24	26	22.25	1.82	•.53	1.13	1.11	3.78	12.00	2.61	5.82	2.
25	64	5.20	8.79	.75	2.54	4.33	2.43	2.57	2.59	1.83	1.

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

•

Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	32]
26	26	.94	1.85	.30	.62	.68	.58	.57	.41	.32	.25	
27	17	1.09	1.03	.14	.49	67	.38	.36	.33	.38	.37	
28	55	3.46	3.20	1.05	1.26	1.41	1.19	1.45	1.44	1.10	.89	
29	28	2.79	2.25	1.78	1.89	2.01	2.76	2.88	2.72	1.35	1.75	
30	35	3.55	13.49	1.60	2.13	2.47	2.45	2.49	2.49	2.33	1.90	
31	33	1.73	4.01	.28	.43	.64	.55	.71	.72	1.01	.75	
32	20	1.40	2.98	.48	.42	.55	.49	.59	.63	.71	.66	
33	23	3.32	5.05	.54	.85	.94	1.07	1.13	1.13	.82	1.06	
34	20	6.10	8.36	5.84	4.67	4.38	4.14	4.32	5.45	6.19	6.73	
35	17	.83	.85	.76	.77	.83	.92	.91	.87	.76	.73	
36	46	2.79	5.08	2.29	1.51	1.57	1.66	1.69	1.83	1.63	1.67	
37	17	.52	1.22	.63	.27	.22	.21	.26	.27	.25	.23	
38	9	2.44	2.15	.88	1.31	1.14	1.05	1.41	1.42	1.59	1.80	
39	42	4.82	2.95	.85	1.79	2.05	1.79	2.16	2.25	2.01	1.90	
40	52	63.42	83.14	6.37	21.22	14.35	27.26	40.07	46.13	18.30	40.88	Z
41	56	8.84	5.85	4.04	3.49	4.10	4.35	5.16	5.81	6.34	5.93	9
42	9	.46	.29	.52	.35	.34	.41	.40	.44	.47	.47	<u> </u>
43	16	2.16	1.41	2.58	2.29	2.21	2.69	3.01	3.87	3.65	3.32	5
44	26	7.92	4.52	2.64	4.11	5.09	5.36	7.03	9.62	9.21	9 .07	5
45	48	2.02	3.27	1.29	1.54	2.41	1.94	2.19	2.39	1.98	1.58	H
46	18	4.79	7.24	1.34	1.76	3.40	2.35	2.38	2.17	1.54	1.86	
47	21	1.04	1.29	1.20	2.04	3.57	3.33	3.90	4.03	3.43	3.11	н
48	27	3.46	3.22	.98	1.26	2.45	2.49	,3.45	3.82	3.52	3.78	ы
49	99	\$2.95	59.19	1.35	5.47	26.71	18.97	24.81	31.94	21.25	26.80	Ř
50	20	1.86	1.02	.32	.36	.41	.39	.59	.70	.52	.70	0
51	20	2.33	2.14	.25	.66	1.44	.95	1.07	1.17	.92	1.24	N
52	42	6.52	2.91	1.16	2.05	3.59	3.10	3.08	3.29	2.20	2.33	11
53	54	125.21	12.49	5.25	8.97	13.30	13.84	15.37	18.16	14.07	15.60	50

54	18	3.31	2.52	3.32	1.69	1.31	1.07	1.52	1.57	1.74	1.45	⋗
55	12	1.72	1.06	.62	.63	.70	.55	.62	.69	.70	.74	7
56	22	3.82	4.43	1.36	1.13	2.07	2.14	2.34	2.50	2.26	2.49	P
57	11	1.01	.69	.26	.20	.36	.42	.41	.50	.50	.50	Ē
58	12	5.61	5.02	.38	1.34	1.89	.75	1.48	2.43	1.80	1.64	21
59	23	4.84	2.95	1.41	1.69	2.15	1.86	2.31	2.76	2.56	2.76	IC
60	13	3.52	2.46	.89	.80	1.19	1.26	1.97	2.02	2.58	2.40	0
61	25	15.30	7.76	2.70	3.04	7.92	4.37	2.68	4.80	3.40	1.87	Ē
62	32	90.24	43.81	40.90	25.61	32.01	29.85	45.30	49.29	44.86	45.13	Ś
63	11	.64	.58	.19	.41	.67	.56	.62	.76	.77	1.18	
64	40	11.61	10.88	1.25	3.74	6.43	5.08	5.66	5.30	4.02	4.22	
65	30	7.09	4.97	.23	,93	1.13	.91	1.46	1.82	1.31	1.88	
66	15	.84	1.11	.04	.32	.56	.29	.49	.56	.48	.62	
67	32	5.50	2.30	.33	.82	1.50	1.41	2.09	2.37	1.85	2.03	
68	48	13.93	7.00	2.98	7.15	8.78	9.76	14.15	12.39	10.38	13.98	
69	24	2.16	.90	.32	.27	.47	.39	.37	.46	.54	.50	
70	45	28.09	8.81	2.77	2.11	3.39	5.14	9.96	12.03	11.33	12.72	
71	23	9.67	5.98	3.27	3.33	3.51	3.24	3.83	4.11	4.06	3.61	
72	12	.65	.66	.27	.27	.38	.38	.43	.44	.49	-51	
73	11	.99	1.07	.27	52	.79	.69	.85	.82	.55	.40	
74	43	7.60	6.30	4.00	3.17	3.84	2.68	2.46	3.41	3.75	3.50	
Maior	Number of											
group	corporations	1919	1920	<i>1921</i>	1922	1923	1924		1926	1927	1928	
1 Foods	215	55.02	27.80	33.89	26.62	27.98	31.01	31.04	38.24	35.36	34.46	
2 Textiles	289	68.11	26.38	22.24	18.58	19.11	10.42	13.33	11.87	13.75	9.61	
3 Leather	54	16.09	4.79	2.46	3.64	3.23	3.50	3.69	3.74	4.98	3.74	
4 Rubber	26	22.25	1.82	.53	1.13	1.11	3.78	12.00	2.61	5.82	2.70	
5 Lumber	190	13.48	17.12	4.02	6.80	9.10	7.34	7.83	7.49	4.98	5.08	
6 Paper	111	10.00	25.53	2.90	3.83	4.60	4.56	4.92	4.97	4.87	4.37	5
7 Printing an	nd											ω
publishin	g 100 ·	10.24	15.51	9.52	7.22	7.00	6.93	7.18	8.42	8.83	9.36	ت
-	-											

	•		
Appendix	TABLE	6	(continued)

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)													
Major group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	34]	
8 Chemicals 9 Stone, clay	210 and	90.06	100.31	17.88	34.56	29.28	42.91	59.24	69.54	41.57	63.37		
glass	114	11.31	15.02	4.81	6.60	11.83	10.11	11.92	12.41	· 10.47	10.33		
10 Metals 11 Special may	648 oufac-	388.10	185.00	68.28	69.39	117.98	103.06	138.35	157.51	130.04	142.78		
turing ind	lustries 89	18.91	14.01	7.81	7.29	8.52	6.99	7.57	8.78	8.85	8.02		
All manufacturin	ng 2046	703.57	433.29	174.34	185.66	239.74	230.61	297.07	325.58	269.52	293.82		

(F) SALES, 1919-28, 664 TRADING CORPORATIONS

(in millions of dollars)

(in millions of Zollars)												
Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926 ·	1927	1928	
75	15	48	57	50	63	83	86	113	114	110	107	Ξ
76	17	49	54	48	51	57	58	61	60	59	58	Z
77	93	880	1037	946	931	1062	1056	1123	1179	1188	1190	2
78	27	105	119	106	111	117	118	127	131	154	141	G
79	12	15	20	19	14	26	28	25	30	30	30	ñ
80	14	332	438	387	490	592	648	790	1022	1253	1530	
81	11	14	13	9	10	11	11	12	13	13	14	H
82	27	27	38	24	27	33	31	32	34	34	33	2
83	15	23	29	18	18	20	19	21	21	21	21	
84	52	725	808	688	747	855	962	1091	1185	1273	1438	Н
85												×
86	25	64	78	64	63	71	71	75	79	80	75	0
87	29	120	140	97	108	121	108	111	108	106	102	ㅋ
88	59	377	413	288	289	326	334	340	339	330	334	F
89	43	185	215	143	158	189	179	184	182	179	176	Ś
	Minor group 75 76 77 78 79 80 81 82 83 84 85 86 85 86 87 88 89	Minor Number of corporations 75 15 76 17 77 93 78 27 79 12 80 14 81 11 82 27 83 15 84 52 85 86 86 25 87 29 88 59 89 43	Minor Number of group 1919 75 15 48 76 17 49 77 93 880 78 27 105 79 12 15 80 14 332 81 11 14 82 27 27 83 15 23 84 52 725 85 86 25 64 87 29 120 377 89 43 185	Minor Number of group 1919 1920 75 15 48 57 76 17 49 54 77 93 880 1037 78 27 105 119 79 12 15 20 80 14 332 438 81 11 14 13 82 27 27 38 83 15 23 29 84 52 725 808 85 86 25 64 78 87 29 120 140 88 59 377 413 89 43 185 215	Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 75 15 48 57 50 76 17 49 54 48 77 93 880 1037 946 78 27 105 119 106 79 12 15 20 19 80 14 332 438 387 81 11 14 13 9 82 27 27 38 24 83 15 23 29 18 84 52 725 808 688 85 64 78 64 87 29 120 140 97 88 59 377 413 288 89 43 185 215 143	Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 75 15 48 57 50 63 76 17 49 54 48 51 77 93 880 1037 946 931 78 27 105 119 106 111 79 12 15 20 19 14 80 14 332 438 387 490 81 11 14 13 9 10 82 27 27 38 24 27 83 15 23 29 18 18 84 52 725 808 688 747 86 25 64 78 64 63 87 29 120 140 97 108 88 59 377 413 288 289 89 43	Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 81 11 14 13 9 10 11 82 27 27 38 24 27 33 83 15 23 29 18 18 20 84 52 725 808 688 747 855 85 86 25 64 78 64 63 71 87 29 120	Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 81 11 14 13 9 10 11 11 82 277 27 38 24 27 33 31 83 15 23 29 18 18 20 19 84 52 725 808 688 747 855 962 <td< td=""><td>Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 113 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 61. 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 1123 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 127 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 25 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 790 81 11 14 13 9 10 11 11 12 82 277 27 38 24 27 33 31 32 83 15 23 29 18 18 20 19 21 <td>Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 113 114 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 61 60 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 1123 1179 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 127 131 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 25 30 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 790 1022 81 11 14 13 9 10 11 11 12 13 82 277 27 38 24 27 33 31 32 34 8</td><td>Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 1927 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 113 114 110 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 61 60 59 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 1123 1179 1188 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 127 131 154 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 25 30 30 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 790 1022 1253 81 11 14 13 9 10 11 11 12 13 13 82 27</td><td>Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 1927 1928 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 113 114 110 107 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 61 60 59 58 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 1123 1179 1188 1190 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 127 131 154 141 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 20 30 30 30 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 790 1022 1253 1530 81 11 14 13 9 10 11</td></td></td<>	Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 113 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 61. 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 1123 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 127 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 25 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 790 81 11 14 13 9 10 11 11 12 82 277 27 38 24 27 33 31 32 83 15 23 29 18 18 20 19 21 <td>Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 113 114 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 61 60 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 1123 1179 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 127 131 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 25 30 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 790 1022 81 11 14 13 9 10 11 11 12 13 82 277 27 38 24 27 33 31 32 34 8</td> <td>Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 1927 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 113 114 110 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 61 60 59 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 1123 1179 1188 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 127 131 154 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 25 30 30 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 790 1022 1253 81 11 14 13 9 10 11 11 12 13 13 82 27</td> <td>Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 1927 1928 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 113 114 110 107 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 61 60 59 58 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 1123 1179 1188 1190 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 127 131 154 141 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 20 30 30 30 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 790 1022 1253 1530 81 11 14 13 9 10 11</td>	Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 113 114 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 61 60 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 1123 1179 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 127 131 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 25 30 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 790 1022 81 11 14 13 9 10 11 11 12 13 82 277 27 38 24 27 33 31 32 34 8	Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 1927 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 113 114 110 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 61 60 59 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 1123 1179 1188 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 127 131 154 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 25 30 30 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 790 1022 1253 81 11 14 13 9 10 11 11 12 13 13 82 27	Minor Number of group 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 1927 1928 75 15 48 57 50 63 83 86 113 114 110 107 76 17 49 54 48 51 57 58 61 60 59 58 77 93 880 1037 946 931 1062 1056 1123 1179 1188 1190 78 27 105 119 106 111 117 118 127 131 154 141 79 12 15 20 19 14 26 28 20 30 30 30 80 14 332 438 387 490 592 648 790 1022 1253 1530 81 11 14 13 9 10 11

90	23		84	111	123	122	142	125	143	120	129	112	A
91	13		32	42	25	37	50	46	46	45	41	41	P
92	18		140	202	141	148	160	156	157	147	152	151	Ы
93-85	82		566	582	435	435	538	517	531	560	545	529	H
.94													Z
95													2
96	10		39	50	42	42	60	52	46	52	44	39	6
97	16		35	40	27	30	36	36	37	38	37	36	H
98	11		11	20	14	17	20	16	16	16	16	15	Ś
9995	52		250	312	240	232	259	227	225	218	216	214	
Maior		Number of											
group		corporations	1919	1920	1921	<i>1922</i>	<i>1923</i>	1924	<i>1925</i>	1926	<i>192</i> 7	1928	
12 Retail trade		283	2 218	2613	2295	2462	2856	3017	3395	3789	4135	4562	
13 Wholesale tr	ade	292	1568	1783	1316	1360	1597	1536	1587	1580	1562	1520	
14 Retail and v	vholesale trad	e 89	335	422	323	321	375	331	324	324	313	304	
All trade		664	4121	4818	3934	4143	4828	4884	5 <u>3</u> 06	5693	6010	6386	

(G) TOTAL NET INCOME, 1919-28, 664 TRADING CORPORATIONS

(in millions of dollars)

Minor	Number of											
group	corporations	1919	1920	1921	<i>1922</i>	1923	1924	1925	1926 .	1927	1928	
75	15	3.6	2.8	.9	2.6	3.8	3.7	5.5	4.3	3.4	3.6	
76	17	6.3	2.0	1.8	3.9	4.4	4.2	4.9	3.6	4.0	4.3	
77	93	94.3	44.6	47.6	67.7	78.5	62.1	66.1	66.4	64.5	54.9	
78	27	11.1	7.2	5.6	7.9	7.7	6.3	7.7	7.9	8.0	8.4	F
79	12	1.1	2.3	1.2	2.2	2.4	2.1	1.4	1.3	1.7	1.8	<u>ည်</u>
80	14	11.6	8.6	15.9	19.9	23.4	27.9	28.9	35.2	39.5	47.7	2

Appendix Table 6 (continued)												
Minor	Number of	1010	1020	1011	1000							536
group a	corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	لسمعا
81	11	2.8	1.2	.4	.9	.9	.7	1.1	1.6	1.3	1.9	
82	27	1.5	3.6	1.2	2.3	2.7	2.4	2.6	2.5	2.1	2.3	
83	15	2.4	3.3	.6	1.6	1.3	1.4	1.7	1.5	1.7	1.9	
84	52	58.5	17.2	5.8	61.3	65.5	76.8	99.0	98.4	109.0	114.3	
85												
86	25	2.9	3.9	1.7	2.3	3.2	3.0	3.1	3.0	2.8	3.2	
87	29	12.2	2.2	2.2	4.6	5.4	3.2	4.0	3.0	4.0	\$.7	
88	59	14.6	3.7	2.1	9.3	9.5	9.1	8.1	6.8	7.0	6.7	
89	43	14.0	13.6	1.2*	7.1	11.5	6.2	8.0	7.1	7.1	8.0	
90	23	6.0	3.4	2.7	4.9	5.5	4.6	2.9	3.0	4.5	5.3	
91	13	1.6	2.6	.5	2.0	1.7	1.4	1.3	1.3	.9	.8	
92	18	4.9	9.2	.1*	3.4	4.8	3.8	4.0	3.2	3.2	4.1	
93-85	82	32.8	24.7	3.5	17.6	29.4	20.4	20.2	23.3	17.6	16.8	
94												1
95												4
96	10	1.2	1.8	.9	1.9	3.0	2.7	2.7	3.3	2.4	2.4	ă
97	16	2.8	2.6	.3	1.3	1.8	1.3	1.8	1.7	1.4	1.4	JS
98	11	.4	1.8	.6	1.4	1.7	1.2	.9	.8	-8	.6	T
99-95	52	19.6	17.3	12.7	16.7	19.4	15.9	14.0	16.0	14.0	12.8	RI
Major	Number of											Þ
group	corporations	1919	1920	1921	<i>1922</i>	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	H
12 Retail trade	283	193.2	92.8	81.0	170.3	190.6	187.6	218.9	222.7	235.2	241 1	P
13 Wholesale tr	ade 292	89.0	63.3	11.4	51.2	71.0	51.7	51.6	50.7	47.1	48.6	×
14 Retail and w	hole-								- •••	-/12		2
sale trade	89	24.0	23.5	14.5	21.3	25.9	21.1	19.4	21.8	18.6	17.2	
All trade	664	306.2	179.6	106.9	242.8	287.5	260.4	289.9	295.2	300.9	306.9	TS

.

				(in millio	ns of do	llars)					
	Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	192
	75	15	4.4	8.2	8.1	8.9	13.9	14.6	16.5	18.6	19.4	19.
	76	17	13.3	19.3	19.8	20.0	26.3	30.3	33.6	32.9	35.1	34.
	77	93	277.4	371.1	378.1	389.4	471.6	491.8	522.2	546.3	550.7	581.
	78	27	29.2	45.5	47.7	49.1	57.9	56.7	59.7	62.1	65.7	70.4
	79	12	8.4	10.0	11.7	11.5	14.6	14.6	17.7	17.4	19.0	18.4
·	80	14	39.2	53.4	60.9	72.8	105.8	118.6	137.3	162.3	179.5	221.
	81	11	6.4	9.4	8.6	9.0	10.1	10.6	10,9	11.3	11.6	12.
	82	27	11.3	15.6	17.6	16.9	19.8	22.4	22.4	25.0	25.6	27.
	83	15	9.0	13.7	14.4	13.5	14.3	14.5	14.9	14.8	15.9	18.0
	84	52	359.7	429.9	408.7	431.0	440.6	470.0	520.9	561.0	629.6	753.8
	85											
	86	25	16.1	19.8	22.3	22.6	24.3	25.4	27.0	27.2	28.2	30.1
	87	29	32.8	40.5	36.3	39.5	43.0	43.2	44.0	42.9	43.8	44.(
	88	59	67.4	79.1	81.6	80.6	86.5	84.2	86.7	88.2	89.8	91.0
	89	43	66.4	81.1	80.6	77.2	89.2	91.0	92.9	92.0	92.5	93.2
	90	23	24.1	27.8	29.3	30.0	40.7	41.6	44.7	44.4	46.5	49.
	91	13	5.7	18.3	19.7	18.1	20.1	20.8	20.9	19.5	18.6	17.6
i	92	18	27.0	32.4	37.0	34.5	36.2	35.9	38.1	38.1	38.2	40.3
	93-85	82	147.9	159.2	171.8	155.1	176.8	177.1	181.0	181.3	190.1	193.
	94											
:	95											
	96	10	10.3	11.0	12.9	12.7	16.9	18.3	19.7	21.3	22.4	22.3
	97	16	12.4	14.8	15.3	14.9	15.8	16.2	17.5	17.8	18.3	18.
÷	98	11	6.0	7.1	8.2	8.1	9.7	10.5	10.9	11.2	11.7	11.5

≻

, APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)													
Major group	Number of corporations		1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	<i>1928</i>	38]
12 Retail trade 13 Wholesale tra	ade 2	283 292	758.3 387.4	976.1 458.2	975.6 478.6	1022.1	1174.9 516.8	1244.1 519.2	1356.1 535.3	1451.7 533.6	1552.1 547.7	1757.5 559.9	
14 Retail and wl sale trade	hole-	89	121.1	138.6	154.8	149.0	173.9	175.9	183.5	189.6	190.2	185.1	
All trade		564	1266.8	1572.9	1609.0	1628.7	1865.6	1939.2	2074.9	2174.9	2290.0	2502.5	

•

APPENDICES

All trade

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

(1) BONDED DEBT, 1924–28, 664 TRADING CORPORATIONS (in millions of dollars) Minor Number of

1VI 1170F	Ivumber o	1024	1025	· ·	1026	1027	1020
group	corporation	1924	1963		1920	1921	1920
75	15	.87	3.96		3.81	3.37	4.77
76	17	• •	.05		••	••	
77	93	54.98	77.64	· (51.17	97.03	105.83
78	27	15.93	16.27	1	7.06	12.87	16.96
79	12	.04	.04		.34		.67
80	14	.08	.19	ł	.23	2.67	3.57
81	11	1.12	1.02	1	1.29	1.17	1.13
82	27	.16	.15		.14	.23	.44
83	15				••	••	.01
84	52	16.05	19.80	2	24.23	26.57	37.54
85							
86	25	.47	.45		.42	.43	.50
87	29	.31	.30	I	.26	.25	.33
88	59	-55	.88		.36	.81	.83
89	43	4.19	4.22		4.31	3.54	3.35
90	23	3.84	4.99	I	4.65	4.38	4.28
91	13	.05	.60	I	.05	.44	.43
92	18	2.34	.90	I	1.45	1.54	1.44
93-85	82	2.05	2.17	r	3.51	4.02	10.89
94							
95							
96	10	.20	.08		.10	.10	.14
97	16	.08	• •		.07	.07	.07
98	11	.11	.09	I	.12	.12	.25
99-95	52	8.79	9.55		8.54	7.99	6.07
Major		Number of					
group		corporations	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
12 Ret	ail trade	283	89.23	119.12	108.27	143.91	170.92
13 Wh 14 Ret	olesale trade ail and whole	292	13.80	14.51	15.01	15.41	22.05
8	ale trade	89	9.18	9.72	8.83	8.28	6.53

664 112.21 143.35 132.11 167.60 199.50

.

[639]

.

-

(J) FEDERAL INCOME TAX, 1919-28 (INCLUDING EXCESS PROFITS TAX, 1919-21), 664 TRADING CORPORATIONS

.

(in millions of dollars)

Minor	Number of	4040			···· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							
group	corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925 ,	1926	<i>1927</i>	1928	
75	15	1.38	.91	.21	.34	.46	.45	.71	56	46	42	
76	17	2.23	.36	.31	.47	.53	.51	62	46	52	40	
77	93	28.55	9.32	8.23	8.27	9.18	7.57	8 40	8 69	9 4 2	671	
78	27	3.57	1.57	1.01	.96	.94	.79	.00	1.05	1 06	1 00	
79	12	.56	.62	.21	.24	.29	26	18	17	22	2.00	
80	14	3.67	1.77	4.30	2.43	2.88	1 44	8 71	4 71	-43 6 20	.24	
81	11	.89	.24	.06	.11	.11	.10	3.71	7.71	3,20	3.03	
82	27	1.02	.96	.19	.28	.33	20	12	12	.10	-23	
83	15	.98	.64	.11	.18	.16	17	22	20	.4/	.40	
84	52	12.72	5.86	6.26	5.53	6 57	0 5 5	12 68	12.06	.66 1 A 6 2	-44	
85					5150	0.27	7.33	14.00	14.73	14.33	12.04	_
86	25	.79	.90	-28	.27	39	17	40	40	20	10	2
87	29	3.60	.46	.34	52	.36	.37	.TU 82	.40	.38	.59	9
88	59	3.63	.94	71	96	1 04	1 1 2	1.02	.37	.30	.43	ð
89	43	4.13	2.89	42	.70 74	1 10	1.14	1.02	.67	.90	.77	- S
90	23	1.98	.79	61	ι/ τ ξ4	4.10	./ 1	.77	.73	.93	.93	H
9 1	13	.52	.80	16	20	20		.33	.33	.37	.59	R
92	18	1.43	2.66	18	21	41	17	-10	.10	.11	.09	2
93-85	82	9.88	6 77	216	1 90		242	.43	.30	.33	.42	- E
94			0.77	4.13	1.07	3.41	6.4 4	2.50	2.96	2.25	1.92	
95												۳
96	10	.30	91	10	24	16		••				×
97	16	82	61	.13	·47 14	.30	.33	.34	.41	.30	.27	0
98	11	20	50	.07	.13	.17	.10	.23	.22	.20	.16	크
99-95	52	6.22	1 01	.IU 2 1 2	1 70	.21	-15	.11	.10	.11	.07	F
		V.64	3.71	4.12	1.78	2.11	1.57	1.58	1.59	1.47	1.15	တ်

Major group	Number o corporation	f 13 1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	A P F
12 Retail trade	283	55.57	22.25	20.89	18.81	21.45	23.13	27.99	29.32	31.10	27.22	ъ.
13 Wholesale t	rade 292	25.96	16.21	4.89	5.43	7.64	6.12	6.37	6.44	5.97	5.54	z
14 Retail and w	hole-											D
sale trade	89	7.63	5.83	2.46	2.31	2.85	2.21	2.26	2.32	2.08	1.65	IC
All trade	664	89.16	44.29	28.24	26.55	31.94	31.46	\$6.62	38.08	39.15	34.41	ES

(K) SALES, 83 MINING CORPORATIONS, 1919-28

(K) PALED, DO	MINING CONFORMITONS	4717-40									
(in millions of dollars)											
Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
100	33	91	136	104	79	108	82	85	106	97	85
101	11"	2	5	4	4	5	6	7	10	11	11
102	9	16	23	17	18	22	22	25	29	34	34
103	9	7	10	9	10	14	13	15	18	17	19
104	15	252	303	149	307	398	390	463	508	457	566
105	11	69	- 89	83	70	93	89 `	78	88	82	79
All mining	88	435	561	362	484	635	596	666	749	687	783

.

•

(L) TOTAL NET INCOME, 88 MINING CORPORATIONS, 1919-28

(in millions of dollars)

76			•		•	•					
Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
100	33	13.5	34.6	15.1	14.2	16.7	6.7	9.7	14.2	10.5	8.7
101	11	4.1	9.7	1.1	1.03	1.9	1.8	2.6	4.5	3.6	7.7
102	9	2.9	3.6	1.7	3.4	4.5	4.4	5.8	6.3	7.4	5.4
103	9	1.4	2.0	1.7	3.1	3.3	3.2	4.9	5.7	5.6	5.0
104	15	10.3	12.5	22.6°	5.8	30.7	26.9	51.9	53.1	41.2	94.4
105	11	15.01	17.9	15.6	13.0	21.2	14.6	11.3	18.1	12.8	11.2
All mining	88	47.3	80.3	12.6	38.5	74.5	57.6	86.2	101. 9	81.1	132.4

³Net loss.

.

		(in r	millions	of dol	llars)						
Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
100	33	128	147	167	176	185	186	186	185	195	195
101	11	82	89	104	91	104	142	129	115	120	133
102	9	22	28	29	31	34	36	40	44	47	50
103	9	15	20	21	22	25	27	29	31	31	40
104	15	717	949	976	956	1003	1083	1105	1081	1070	1112
105	11	90	106	120	74	102	103	104	124	127	142
nining	88	1054	1339	1417	1350	1453	1577	1593	1580	1590	1672

APPENDICES

[643]

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

(N) BONDED DEBT, 1924–28 (in millions of dollars); AND DEPLETION,⁸ 1924, 1926, 1928 (in dollars), 88 MINING CORPORATIONS Bonded debt

Minor group	Number of corporations	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
100	33	29.1	25.4	11.3	10.3	22.7
101	11	1.2	8.8	7.7	6.5	9.2
102	9	2.8	2.3	4.9	7.5	9.9
103	9	.9	.6	.5	1.2	4.2
104	15	215.9	233.7	255.0	254.8	203.1
105	11	40.9	35.0	28.5	32.1	27. 9
All minin	ng 88	290.8	305.8	3 07.9	312.4	277.0

Depletion

Minor group	Number of corporations	1924	1926	1928
100	33	1756540	1321427	910419
101 ⁸	113	1636121	1714201	1099695
102	1 9	249154	275771	294922
103	9	458585	185139	317959
104	15	33020075	37289664	45632181
105	11	3030608	1946750	2051535

				Appen	idix Ta	BLE 6 (continue	d)					[64
(0)	FEDERAL ING	COME TAX (IN	CLUDING	EXCESS PI	ofits tax in millio	k, 1919–21 ns of doi	l), 88 мі <i>llars)</i>	NING COR	Porations	, 1919–28	1		<u>4</u>
	Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
	100	33	2.20	9.37	2.33	1.60	1.96	.88	1.21	1.73	1.48	1.02	
	101	11	.60	1.99	.16	.07	.03	.11	.17	.49	.48	.66	
	102	9	.41	.72	.22	.41	.55	.54	.74	.84	.99	.64	
	103	9	.22	.36	.27	.38	.40	.39	.63	.74	.73	.58	
	104	15	1.39	2.24	.08	1.09	2.22	3.29	5.41	6.02	4.86	8,77	
	105	11	2.59	3.29	2.50	1.42	2.22	1.66	1.31	2.12	1.66	1.07	
All	mining	88	7.41	<u>.</u> 17.97	5.56	4.97	7.38	6.87	9.47	11.94	10.20	12.74	
(P)	TOTAL GROSS	INCOME. 1919-	-28, 346	FINANCIA	L CORPORA	TIONS							11
(-)		,	,	(in millio	ns of do	llars)						Ď
	Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	USI
	106	18	12.5	18.0	20.1	23.0	26.6	29.0	32.1	34.0	35.5	35.1	×
	107	30	33.6	49.2	51.5	48.8	53.9	60.2	63.8	78.9	100.9	109.8	Ā
	108	105	215.3	268.6	258.4	218.5	217.0	222.8	249.0	277.8	302.7	337.0	É.
	109	56	87.6	107.6	112.5	94.7	94.2	102.4	110.4	123.2	134.4	149.5	•
	110												H
	111-110	137	230.7	280.7	261.2	282.9	3 10.7	334.5	386.6	407.4	401.4	429.3	RO
All	finance	346	579.7	724.1	703.7	660.9	702.4	748.9	841.9	921.3	974.9	1060.7	FITS

		-	(in millio	ns of do	llars)					
Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
106	18	3.7	4.9	4.6	7.4	7.1	6.9	8.6	9.0	7.4	9.0
107	30	11.8	13.1	11.9	15.0	17.5	15.8	16.6	15.6	29.5	30.9
108	105	86.0	99.7	62.0	78.6	74.6	67.7	72.0	85.1	86.6	101.3
109 110	56	23.3	30.5	18.7	24.3	20.5	27.5	32.1	31.4	40.0	46.3
111-110	137	57.8	52.6	42.9	75.2	66.6	74.9	91.7	92.4	98.5	116.1
All finance	346	182.6	200.8	140.1	200.5	186.3	192.8	221.0	233.5	262.0	303.6

(R) CAPITALIZATION, 1919-28, 346 FINANCIAL CORPORATIONS

.

				· ('in millio	ons of do	llars)					
	Minor group	Number of corporations	.1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
	106	18	31.0	35.0	40.3	45.5	53.2	57.7	64.3	67.7	75.3	80.2
	107	30	60.4	85.9	102.5	111.0	124.7	140.6	143.2	197.9	297.4	380.6
	108	105	487.2	596.4	691.6	650.6	750.5	738.6	789.0	879.8	956.7	1072.1
	109 110	56	145.6	220.6	258.3	260.3	270.4	279.4	302.7	312.9	335.3	425.3
	111-110	137	494.7	661.3	712.1	581.9	694.9	679.3	754.5	796.0	898.1	973.5
All	finance	346	1218.9	1599.2	1804.8	1649.3	1893.7	1895.6	2053.7	2254.3	2562.8	2931.7

Gokhale Institute of Pointies and Economics, Poona 4.

[645]

.

[646]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

.

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

(8) BONDED DEBT, 1924-28, 346 FINANCIAL CORPORATIONS

(in millions of dollars)

Minor group	Number of corporations	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
106	- 18	.09		.82		
107	30	2.50	2.81	3.42	3.23	2.50
108	105		.66	4.32		.47
109	56	3.13	4.92	4.69	.41	.25
110					-	
111-110	137	104.11	170.44	93.31	121.05	283.75
All financ	e 346	109.83	178.83	106.56	124.69	286.97

			Appen	DIX TA	BLE 6 (continue	d)					A
(T) FEDERAL INC	F) FEDERAL INCOME TAX, 1919-28, 346 FINANCIAL CORPORATIONS											P
			(in millio	ns of do	llars)						EZ
Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	19 <i>2</i> 7	1928	DIC
106	18	.30	.56	.50	.49	.60	.56	.73	.70	.74	.56	ES
107	30	1.60	1.73	1.05	.82	.79	.85	.94	1.11	2.38	1.62	
108	105	11.27	14.38	5.89	4.53	3.27	3.39	4.79	5.51	6.23	6.69	
109 110	56	1.89	4.02	1.42	1.69	1.39	1.70	2.64	2.63	3.91	4.02	
111-110	137	6.82	5.62	5.42	7.08	6.88	7.58	10.30	10.26	10.91	11.70	
All finance	346	21.88	26.31	14.28	14.61	12.93	14.08	19.40	20.21	24.17	24.59	

¹Absolute data for Book III appear in the Source-Book.

.

"Net loss.

^{*}Figures for minor group 101 include only 8 of the 11 corporations belonging to this group, because of lack of data for the other three corporations.

.

APPENDIX C

SUPPLEMENTARY FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS

APPENDIX TABLE 7

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF INDIVIDUAL TOTAL CAPITALS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

Size of capital	1924	1928
(thousands of dollars)		
Zero to 249	37	31
250 to 499	193	156
500 to 749	237 ·	203
750 to 999	224	173
1,000 to 1,499	297	290
1,500 to 1,999	174	180
2,000 to 2,499	125	137
2,500 to 2,999	104	105
3,000 to 3,499	59	99
3,500 to 3,999	57	61
4,000 to 4,499	41	43
4,500 to 4,999	49	43
5,000 to 9,999	179	2 0 9
10,000 to 14,999	71	89
15,000 to 19,999	43	46
20,000 to 24,999	22	32
25,000 to 49,999	68	67
50,000 and over	66	82
Total frequencies	2,046	2,046

[649]
FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGE OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL COMPANIES OF LARGE IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES, COMPARED WITH DISTRIBUTION OF PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, 1928 Major group 1

		Major g	roup 1	Major g	тоцр 2	Major g	group 3	Major	group 4	
CLASS Interval (Per Cent)		PERCENTAGE NET INCOME TO CAPITAL- IZATION	PERCENT- AGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	PERCENTAGE NET INCOME TO CAPITAL- IZATION	PERCENT- AGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	PERCENTAGE NET INCOME TO CAPITAL- IZATION	PERCENT- AGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL	PERCENTAGE NET INCOME TO CAPITAL- IZATION	PERCENT- AGE PROFIT "TO TOTAL CAPITAL	
Under 2	tero	4	4	16	16	5	5	6	6	
Zero to	4	22	23	70	71	6	6	4	4	
5 to	9	53	54	83	82	15	15	5	5	
10 to	14	53	56	60	62	16	16	6	7	
15 to	19	38	36	33	32	10	10	2	2	
20 to	24	24	22	9	10	2	2	1		
25 to	29	9	8	12	11	• •	• •	1	1	H
30 to	34	4	4	2	2	• •	• •	1	1	z
35 to	39	2	2	2	2	••				Θ
40 to	44	1	1	• •						q
45 to	49	1	1	2	1					0
50 to	54			• •			• •			77
55 to	59	2	2							_ ~
60 to	64		••			••	••			₽
65 to	69									H
70 to	74		• •				• •			<u> </u>
75 to	79					• •	• •			
80 to	84									- õ
85 to	89				••	• •				Ť
90 to	94	1	1			• •				-
95 to	99		-							H
••			••		• •		••	••	• •	ഗ

100 to 199	••	• •	• •			••			2
200 to 499	1	1	• •						ъ
500 and over	• •	••							P
Total frequencies	215	215	289	289	54	54	26	26	EZ
	Major	group 5	Major d	roup 6	Maior	aroup 7	Maior	arout 8	DI
Under zero	2	2	2	- 2	•		7	7	<u>c</u>
Zero to 4	36	36	14	14			26	26	(T)
5 to 9	53	53	37	30	16	18	27	20	Q,
10 to 14	47	48	28	27	29	30	41	47	
15 to 19	24	25	11	11	23	21	29	24	
20 to 24	17	15	9	8	7	6	29	27	
25 to 29	6	6	5	5	8	8	8	9	
30 to 34	2	2	2	2	4	4	10	9	
35 to 39	2	2	3	3			6	6	
40 to 44	• •	• •	• •		3	3	2	2	
45 to 49		• •	• •		1	1	3	3	
50 to 54		• •			1	1	3	3	
55 to 59		••	• •			1	1	1	
60 to 64	••	••			1	1			
65 to 69	1	1	••	••		• •			
70 to 74	• •			• •	1		2	2	
75 to 79	••	• •	• •	••		••			
80 to 84	• •	• •	• •	• • *	••				
85 to 89	••	• •			••	••			
90 to 94	••			• •	• •	••	1	1	
95 to 99	••	••	••		••	••	• •	1	
100 to 199	••		••	••	••	••	2	1	
200 to 499	• •	• •	••	• •	••		3	3	[6
500 and over	• •	••		• •	••	• •		• •	či.
Total frequencies	190	190	111	111	100	100	210	210	

	Арре	NDIX TABLE	8 (continued	d)			[6
	Major g	roup 9	Major	group 10	Major g	roup 11	ы N
	PERCENTAGE	PERCENT-	PERCENTAGE	PERCENT-	PERCENTAGE	PERCENT-	، تت
CLASS	NET INCOME	AGE PROFIT	NET INCOME	AGE PROFITS	NET INCOME	ACE PROFIT	
INTERVAL	TO CAPITAL-	TO TOTAL	TO CAPITAL-	TO TOTAL	TO CAPITAL-	TO TOTAL	
(PER CENT)	IZATION	CAPITAL	IZATION	CAPITAL	IZATION	CAPITAL	
Under zero	3	3	29	29	2	2	
Zero to 4	14	13	57	57	10	10	
5 to 9	30	33	156	163	20	20	
10 to 14	24	23	133	129	25	26	
15 to 19	15 <i>'</i>	15	110	114	8	8	
20 to 24	9	10	67	64	15	14	
25 to 29	6	6	33	33	6	6	
30 to 34	9	8	22	21	2	2	
35 to 39	1	1	15	12			
40 to 44	2	1	12	12	1	1	
45 to 49	••		2	2			I J
50 to 54	1	1	5	5			4
55 to 59	••	••	3	3			ž
60 to 64	••		1	1			S
65 to 69	••			••			Ĥ
70 to 74							×
75 to 79			1	1	••		Π.
80 to 84							2
85 to 89			1	1			C.
90 to 94							ч
95 to 99	••						R
100 to 199			1	1		••	0
200 to 499	••		-	-		••	벽
Total frequencies	114	114	648	648	89	80	Ŧ
			•••	0.0			60

.

Appendix D

BLOCK DIAGRAMS OF EARNINGS RATES

APPENDIX CHART 1 FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGE NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, 73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS .20 YEAR 1919 16 NUMBER OF GROUPS A.D. 7.792 COEFF.V. -348 Π 0 -10 - 5 10 15 25 30 AS AND 20 PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION 20 YEAR 1920 18 10 EKOUPS 51 A. D. 7.408 COEFF. V. .557 NUMBER OF 8 4 Q П -10 ò 5 9 15 20 25 30 35 OVER OVER PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION 20 YEAR 1921 16 NUMBER OF GROUPS A.D. 5.729 COEFF. V. .855 fim m ۵ -10 20 40 3 15 ß

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION

[654]

APPENDIX CHART 1 (CONT.) FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGE NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, 73 MANUFACTURING GROUPS 20 YEAR 1922 5 15 CROUPS 12 A. D. 5-896 COEFF. V. .421 NUMBER OF 8 0 -10 -5 ۵ 5 10 15 20 25 30 S AND PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION 20 YEAR 1923 NUMBER OF GROUPS A.D. 4.184 COEFF. V. -266 12 , 4 0 25 -10 10 30 5 15 20 PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION 20 YEAR 1924 NUMBER OF GROUPS A.D. 4.423 COEFF. V. -378 п o -10 30 - 5 ۵ 5 10 15 20 25 35 40

PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION



PERCENTAGE INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION



TABLES

BOOK I

1	Estimated Earnings Rates, All Corporations in Manufac-	
	turing, Trade, Finance and Mining, 1924–28	50
2	Earnings Rates, 3,144 Corporations in Manufacturing, Trade, Finance and Mining, 1919–28 and 1924–28	53
3	Estimated Earnings Rates, All Corporations by Indus- trial Divisions, 1924-28	54
4	Earnings Rates, 3,144 Corporations by Industrial Divi- sions, 1919-28 and 1924-28	56
5	Estimated Earnings Rates, All Corporations with Net Incomes in Manufacturing, Trade, Finance and Min-	
	ing, 1926–28	58
6	Estimated Earnings Rates, All Corporations with Net Incomes in Manufacturing, Trade, Finance and Min-	
	ing, by Industrial Divisions, 1926–28	58
7	Earnings Rates, Manufacturing Corporations with Net Incomes of over \$2,000, 1919-28	60
8	Frequency Distributions of Earnings Rates, Manufactur- ing Corporations with Net Incomes, 1925-28	63
9	Frequency Distributions of Earnings Rates, Trading Corporations with Net Incomes of over \$2,000, 1025 29	64
10	Frequency Distributions of Earnings Rates, Manufactur- ing Corporations with Net Incomes of over \$2,000, • 1925–28	65
11	Percentages of Manufacturing Corporations Earning	47
12	Minor Group Classification, 3,144 Corporations, Show-	07
	ing Size of Samples	72
13	Larnings Kates, 106 Minor Groups in 1921 and 1928,	
	לאנסן	

.

INDUSIKIAL PRO	ノド	Т.	1.2
----------------	----	----	-----

	Ranged in Order of Profitableness from the Lowest to the Highest Figures	75
14	Median Difference Coefficients for Relatively Profitable Industries	92
15	Median Difference Coefficients for Relatively Unprofit- able Industries	95
16	Average Deviations and Coefficients of Variation for Per- centages of Net Income to Capitalization, 27 Highest Minor Groups	99
17	Average Earnings Rate, 27 Highest Minor Groups in Each Year 1919–28, Traced through Successive Years and Run Back through 1919	102
18	Average Deviations and Coefficients of Variation for Per- centages of Net Income to Capitalization, 27 Highest	
19	Minor Groups Average Deviations and Coefficients of Variation for Per- centages of Net Income to Capitalization, 27 Lowest	104
20	Minor Groups Average Deviations and Coefficients of Variation for Per-	106
20	centages of Net Income to Capitalization, 10 Highest Minor Groups	108
2 1	Average Deviations and Coefficients of Variation for Per- centages of Net Income to Capitalization, 10 Lowest	
	Minor Groups	109
22	73 Manufacturing Groups, Return on Sales and Rate of Capital Turnover, 1928	118
23	73 Manufacturing Groups Ranked by Earnings Rates	122
24	22 Trading Groups, Return on Sales and Rate of Capi-	
	tal Turnover, 1928	125
25	22 Trading Groups Ranked by Earnings Rates	126
26	Earnings Rates, 2,046 Manufacturing Corporations by	122
07	Capital Classes, 1924 and 1928	133
21	Broad Capital Classes	136
28	Earnings Rates in Foods, Chemicals and Metals, by De- tailed Capital Classes	138
29	Code for Geographical Regions	141
30	Earnings Rates, 2,046 Manufacturing Corporations	
	Classified by Geographical Regions, 1924 and 1928	142

[660]

31	Earnings Rates, 664 Trading Corporations Classified by	
	Geographical Regions, 1924 and 1928	143
32	Earnings Rates, 71 Companies by Major Groups,	
	1919–31	156
33	71 Companies Series, Percentage Income to Capitaliza-	•
	tion after Tax, by Major Groups	157
34	Ranges in Percentages of Net Income to Capitalization,	
	for 15 Industries Showing Increasing Earnings Rates,	
	1922–28	166
35	Ranges in Percentages of Net Income to Capitalization,	
	for 28 Industries Showing Declining Earnings Rates,	
20		168
30	Condensed Composite Balance Sheets of 71 Companies	
	In All Major Manufacturing Groups as of December	107
37	Bank of 73 Manufacturing Groups in Salas Decline	107
57	Compared with Rank in Income Decline 1920-21	105
38	Rank of 73 Manufacturing Groups in Sales Increase	175
	Compared with Rank in Income Increase 1921-22	198
39	Rank of 73 Manufacturing Groups in Sales Decline.	
	1920-21, Compared with Rank in Sales Increase,	
	1921–22	200
40	Rank of 73 Manufacturing Groups in Income Decline,	
	1920-21, Compared with Rank in Income Increase,	
	1921–22	202
41	Average Income and Sales Declines, 1920-21, Ranged by	
	Sales Decline Classes, 67 Manufacturing Industries	205

BOOK II

Man	ufacturing—Large Identical Corporations Series:	
42	Manufacturing and Its Major Groups	241
43	Foods Groups	247
44	Textile Groups	252
45	Leather and Leather Products	258
46	Rubber and Rubber Products	262
47	Lumber Groups	266
48	Paper Groups	270
49	Printing and Publishing Groups	274
50	Chemical Groups	279

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

51	Stone, Clay and Glass Groups	283	
52	Metals Groups	289	
53	Special Manufacturing Industries Groups	296	
Trad	ing-Large Identical Corporations Series:	:	
54	Trade and Its Major Groups	309	
55	Retail Trade Groups	314	
56	Wholesale Trade Groups	318	
57	Wholesale and Retail Trade Groups	323	
58	Mining Groups, Large Identical Corporations Series	332	
59	Finance Groups, Large Identical Corporations Series	342	

[662]

BOOK III

60	Manufacturing and Its Major Groups, Small Non-	
	identical Corporations Series	364
61	Manufacturing and Its Major Groups, Large Identical Corporations Series	369
62	Foods Groups, Small Non-identical Manufacturing Cor- porations Series	372
63	Distributions of Earnings Rates, Foods, Large Identical Manufacturing Corporations Series	376
64	Textile Groups, Small Non-identical Manufacturing Corporations Series	379
65	Distributions of Earnings Rates, Textiles, Large Identi- cal Manufacturing Corporations Series	382
66	Leather and Leather Products, Small Non-identical Manufacturing Corporations Series	385
67	Distributions of Earnings Rates, Leather, Large Identi- cal Manufacturing Corporations Series	388
68	Rubber and Rubber Products, Small Non-identical Manufacturing Corporations Series	391
69	Distributions of Earnings Rates, Rubber, Large Identical Manufacturing Corporations Series	393
70	Lumber Groups, Small Non-identical Manufacturing Corporations Series	395
71	Distributions of Earnings Rates, Lumber, Large Identi- cal Manufacturing Corporations Series	398
72	Paper Groups, Small Non-identical Manufacturing Cor- porations Series	401

90	23		84	111	123	122	142	125	143	120	129	112	≥
91	13		32	42	25	37	50	46	46	45	41	41	P
92	18		140	202	141	148	160	156	157	147	152	151	P
93-85	82		566	582	435	435	538	517	531	560	545	529	E
94													Z
95													B
96	10		39	50	42	42	60	52	46	52	44	39	- 5
97	16		35	40	27	30	36	36	37	38	37	36	H
98	11		11	20	14	17	20	16	16	16	16	15	Ś
9995	52		250	312	240	232	259	227	225	218	216	214	
Maior		Number of											
group		corporations	1919	1920	<i>1921</i>	<i>1922</i>	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
12 Retail trade	ł	283	2218	2613	2295	2462	2856	3017	3395	3789	4135	4562	
13 Wholesale t	rade	292	1568	1783	1316	1360	1597	1536	1587	1580	1562	1520	
14 Retail and	wholesale trad	e 89	335	42 2	323	321	375	331	324	324	313	304	
All trade		664	4121	4818	3934	4143	4828	4884	5306	5693	6010	6386	

•

(G) TOTAL NET INCOME, 1919-28, 664 TRADING CORPORATIONS

(in millions of dollars)

Minor	Number of											
group	corporations	1919	1920	1921	<i>1922</i>	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
75	15	3.6	2.8	.9	2.6	3.8	3.7	5.5	4.3	3.4	3.6	
76	17	6.3	2.0	1.8	3.9	4.4	4.2	4.9	3.6	4.0	4.3	
77	93	94.3	44.6	47.6	67.7	78.5	62.1	66.1	66.4	64.5	54.9	
78	27	11.1	7.2	5.6	7.9	7.7	6.3	7.7	7.9	8.0	8.4	6
79	12	1.1	2.3	1.2	2.2	2.4	2.1	1.4	1.3	1.7	1.8	نٽ
80	14	11.6	8.6	15.9	19.9	23.4	27.9	28.9	35.2	39.5	47.7	5

Appendix Table 6 (continued)												
Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1028	636]
81	11	2.8	1.2	.4	.9	Q	7	11	1.6		1,00	
82	27	1.5	3.6	1.2	2.1	27	., 24	2.1	7.0	1.2	1.9	
83	15	2.4	3.3		1.6	1 3	14	4.0	4.) 1 E	4.1	2.3	
84	52	58.5	17.2	5 9	61 1	65 5	76.9	60.0	1.3	1./	1.9	
85		20.2		5.0	01.9	03.3	/0.0	77.0	98.4	103.0	114.3	
86	25	2.9	3.9	1.7	2.3	32	3.0	2 1	2.0		* 0	
87	29	12.2	2.2	2.2	4.6	5.4	12	3.1	3.0	4.5	3.4	
88	59	14.6	3.7	21	9.3	0 0	0.1	9.1	3.V Z o	4.U 7 A	3./	
89	43	14.0	13.6	1.2'	7.1	11 5	62	8 V 9 T	0.8	7.0	0.7	
90	23	6.0	3.4	27	4.9		4.6	30	7.1	7.1	8.0	
91	13	1.6	2.6	-5	2.0	17	14	1.2	3.0	4.3	5.3	
92	18	4.9	9.2	12	34	49	2.9	4.0	1.3	.9	.8	
93-85	82	32.8	24.7	2 5	17.6	294	20 A	20.2	3.6	3.2	4.1	
94				2,2		47. T	4V.T	40.4	23.3	. 17.6	16.8	H
95												z
96	10	1.2	1.8	9	1.0	10	27	27				Ð
97	16	2.8	2.6		1 1	1.0	4.7	4./	3.3	2.4	2.4	d
98	11	.4	1 8		14	1.0	1.3	1.0	1.7	1.4	1.4	8
99-95	52	19.6	17 1	127	167	10.4	150	14.0	.8	.8	0. 	5
				14.7		* 2.4	13.7	14.0	10.0	14.0	12.8	a
Major	Number of											≥
group	corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	F
12 Retail trade	283	193.2	92.8	81.0	170.3	190.6	187.6	218.9	222 7	215 2	241 1	Å
13 Wholesale t	rade 292	89.0	63.3	11.4	51.2	71.0	51.7	51.6	507	433.4 47 1	49 4	×
14 Retail and v	vhole-								30.7	77.4	70.0	0
sale trade	89	24.0	23.5	14.5	21.3	25.9	21.1	19.4	21.8	18.6	17 2	7
All trade	664	306.2	179.6	106.9	242.8	287.5	260.4	289.9	295.2	300.9	306.9	Τs

			(in millio	ns of do	llars)					
Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
75	15	4.4	8.2	8.1	8.9	13.9	14.6	16.5	18.6	19.4	19.8
76	. 17	13.3	19.3	19.8	20.0	26.3	30.3	33.6	32.9	35.1	34.2
77	93	277.4	371.1	378.1	389.4	471.6	491.8	522.2	546.3	550.7	581.7
78	27	29.2	45.5	47.7	49.1	57.9	56.7	59.7	62.1	65.7	70.4
79	12	8.4	10.0	11.7	11.5	14.6	14.6	17.7	17.4	19.0	18.4
80	14	39.2	53.4	60.9	72.8	105.8	118.6	137.3	162.3	179.5	221.3
81	11	6.4	9.4	8.6	9.0	10.1	10.6	10.9	11.3	11.6	12.6
82	27	11.3	15.6	17.6	16.9	19.8	22.4	22.4	25.0	25.6	27.3
83	15	9.0	13.7	14.4	13.5	14.3	14.5	14.9	14.8	15.9	18.0
84	52	359.7	429.9	408.7	431.0	440.6	470.0	520.9	561.0	629.6	753.8
85											
86	25	16.1	19.8	22.3	22.6	24.3	25.4	27.0	27.2	28.2	30.8
87	29	32.8	40.5	36.3	39.5	43.0	43.2	44.0	42.9	43.8	44.0
-88	59	67.4	79.1	81.6	80.6	86.5	84.2	86.7	88.2	89.8	91.0
89	43	66.4	81.1	80.6	77.2	89.2	91.0	92.9	92.0	92.5	93.2
9 0	23	24.1	27.8	29.3	30.0	40.7	41.6	44.7	44.4	46.5	49.5
91	. 13	5.7	18.3	19.7	18.1	20.1	20.8	20.9	19.5	18.6	17.6
92	18	27.0	32.4	37.0	34.5	36.2	35.9	38.1	38.1	38.2	40.3
93-85	82	147.9	159.2	171.8	155.1	176.8	177.1	181.0	181.3	190.1	193.5
94											
95											
96	10	10.3	11.0	12.9	12.7	16.9	18.3	19.7	21.3	22.4	22.3
97	16	12.4	14.8	15.3	14.9	15.8	16.2	17.5	17.8	18.3	18.5
98	11	6.0	7.1	8.2	8.1	9.7	10.5	10.9	11.2	11.7	11.8
9 995	52	92.4	105.7	118.4	113.3	131.5	130.9	135.4	139.3	137.8	132.5

⊳

Appendix	TABLE	6	(continued)
----------	-------	---	-------------

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)										[6]			
Major group	Nu corp	mber of orations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	38]
12 Retail trade 13 Wholesale tr	ade	283 292	758.3 387.4	976.1 458.2	975.6 478.6	1022.1 457.6	1174.9 516.8	1244.1 519.2	1356.1 535.3	1451.7 533.6	1552.1 547.7	1757.5 559.9	
14 Retail and w sale trade	hole	89	121.1	138.6	154.8	149.0	173.9	175.9	183.5	189.6	190.2	185.1	
All trade		664	1266.8	1572.9	1609.0	1628.7	1865.6	1939.2	2 07 4.9	2174.9	2290.0	2502.5	

APPENDICES

All trade

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

(1) BONDED DEBT, 1924–28, 664 TRADING CORPORATIONS (in millions of dollars)

664

		(·		
Minor group	Number o corporation	f 1s 1924	1925	i	1926	1927	1928
75	15	.87	3.96		3.81	3.37	4.77
76	17		.05				
77	93	54.98	77.64	6	1.17	97.03	105.83
78	27	15.93	16.27	1	7.06	12.87	16.96
79	12	.04	.04		.34	• •	.67
80	14	.08	.19		.23	2.67	3.57
81	11	1.12	1.02		1.29	1.17	1.13
82	27	.16	.15		.14	.23	.44
83	15				••	••	.01
84	52	16.05	19.80	2	4.23	26.57	37.54
85							
86	25	.47	.45		.42	.43	.50
87	29	.31	.30		.26	.25	.33
88	59	.55	.88		.36	.81	.83
89	43	4,19	4.22		4.31	3.54	3.35
90	23	3.84	4.99		4.65	4.38	4.28
91	13	.05	.60		.05	.44	.43
92	18	2.34	.90		1.45	1.54	1.44
93-85	82	2.05	2.17		3.51	4.02	10.8 9
94							
95					_		
96	10	.20	.08		.10	.10	.14
97	16	.08	• •		.07	.07	.07
98	11	.11	.09		.12	.12	.25
99-95	52	8.79	9.55		8.54	7.99	6.07
Major		Number of					
group		corporations	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
12 Ret	ail trade	283	89.23	119.12	108.27	143.91	170. 92
13 Wh 14 Ret	olesale trade ail and whole	292 e-	13.80	14.51	15.01	15.41	22.05
8	ale trade	89	9.18	9.72	8.83	8.28	6.53

112.21 143.35 132.11

[639]

199.50

167.60

(J) FEDERAL INCOME TAX, 1919-28 (INCLUDING EXCESS FROFITS TAX, 1919-21), 664 TRADING CORPORATIONS

(in millions of dollars)

Minor	Number of	1010										
group	corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	
75	15	1.38	.91	.21	.34	.46	.45	.71	56	46	42	
76	17	2.23	.36	.31	.47	.53	.51	62	46	.TU 62	40	
7 7	93	28.55	9.32	8.23	8.27	9.18	7.57	8 40	8 40	Q 4 2	.т., с.71	
78	27	3.57	1.57	1.01	.96	.94	79	60	1.05	0.TJ 1 04	1.00	
79	12	.56	.62	.21	.24	29	26	19	1.05	1.00	1.00	
80	14	3.67	1.77	4.30	2.43	2.88	2 44	2 71	4 71	.43	.44	
81	11	.89	.24	.06	11	11	3.11	3.71	4./1	3.20	3.03	
82	27	1.02	.96	19	28	22	.10	.15	.41	.18	.23	
83	15	.98	.64	11	19	.53	.47		.34	.27	.26	
84	52	12.72	5.96	6.26	6 6 2	.10	.1/	.44	.20	.22	.22	
85			5.00	0.40	3.33	0.37	9.33	12.08	12.95	14.53	12.02	
86	25	70	00	20	37	40		40				
87	29	1 60	.50	.20	.4/	.38	.37	.40	.40	.38	.39	4
88	59	3 62	.40	.34	.34	.00	.39	.52	.39	.50	.43	2
89	42	3.03	.74	./3	.90	1.04	1.12	1.02	-89	.90	.77	9
90	21	1.00	4.8Y	.42	.74	1.10	.71	.99	.93	.93	.93	Ť
91	11	1.78	.79	.63	.54	.62	.55	.33	.35	.57	.59	2
92	13	.52	.80	.16	.20	.20	.17	.16	.16	.11	.09	H
75	10	1.43	2.06	.18	.31	,43	.39	.45	.36	.33	.42	
73-83 94	82	9.88	6.77	2.15	1.89	3.21	2.42	2.50	2.96	2.25	1.92	H
95												ч
96	10	20	01	10	04			• •				ㅋ
97	16		.01	.15	.24	.30	.33	.34	.41	.30	.27	0
98	11	.02	.01	.09	.13	.17	.16	.23	.22	.20	.16	Ч
99_06	<u></u>	.47	.30	.10	.16	.21	.15	.11	.10	.11	.07	1
,,,,	34	0.22	5.91	2.12	1.78	2.11	1.57	1.58	1.59	1.47	1.15	ິທ

[640]

Major group	Number o corporation	f ur 1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	A P F
12 Retail trade	283	55.57	22.25	20.89	18.81	21.45	23.13	27.99	29.32	31.10	27.22	ਜ
13 Wholesale t	rade 292	25.96	16.21	4.89	5.43	7.64	6.12	6.37	6.44	5.97	5.54	Z
14 Retail and w	hole-											Ð
sale trade	89	7.63	5.83	2.46	2.31	2.85	2.21	2.26	2.32	2.08	1.65	Ö
All trade	664	89.16	44.29	28.24	26.55	31.94	31.46	36.62	38.08	39.15	34.41	ES

e.

(K) SALES, 88 MINING CORPORATIONS, 1919-28

Number of

Minor

(in millions of dollars) 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 1927

group	corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
100	33	91	136	104	79	108	82	85	106	97	85
101 [*]	11 [*]	2	5	4	4	5	6	7	10	11	11
102	9	16	23	17	18	22	22	25	29	34	34
103	9	7	10	9	10	14	13	15	18	17	19
104	15	252	303	149	307	398	390	463	508	457	566
105	11	69	89	83	70	93	89	78	88	82	79
All mining	88	435	561	362	484	635	596	66 6	749	687	783

(L) TOTAL NET INCOME, 88 MINING CORPORATIONS, 1919-28

(in millions of dollars)

Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
100	33	13.5	34.6	15.1	14.2	16.7	6.7	9.7	14.2	10.5	8.7
101	11	4.1	9.7	1.1	1.0 ⁹	1.9 ²	1.8	2.6	4.5	3.6	7.7
102	9	2.9	3.6	1.7	3.4	4.5	4.4	5.8	6.3	7.4	5.4
103	9	1.4	2.0	1.7	3.1	3.3	3.2	4.9	5.7	5.6	5.0
104	15	10.3	12.5	22.6ª	5.8	30.7	26.9	51.9	53.1	41.2	94.4
105	11	15.01	17.9	15.6	13.0	21.2	14.6	11.3	18.1	12.8	11.2
All mining	88	47.3	80.3	12.6	38.5	74.5	57.6	86.2	101.9	81.1	132.4
² Net loss.											

		(in r	million	s of dol	lars)						
Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	192
100	33	128	147	167	176	185	186	186	185	195	19
101	11	82	89	104	91	104	142	129	115	120	13
102	9	22	28	29	31	34	36	40	44	47	5
103	9	15	20	21	22	25	27	29	31	31	4
104	15	717	949	976	956	1003	1083	1105	1081	1070	111
105	11	90	106	120	74	102	103	104	124	127	14
All mining	88	1054	1330	1417	1350	1453	1577	1591	1580	1590	167

APPENDICES

[643]

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

(N) BONDED DEBT, 1924–28 (in millions of dollars); AND DEPLETION,³ 1924, 1926, 1928 (in dollars), 88 MINING CORPORATIONS Bonded debt

Minor group	Number of corporations	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
100	33	29.1	25.4	11.3	10.3	22.7
101	11	1.2	8.8	7.7	6.5	9.2
102	9	2.8	2.3	4.9	7.5	9.9
103	9	.9	.6	.5	1.2	4.2
104	15	215.9	233.7	255.0	254.8	203.1
105	11	40.9	35.0	28.5	32.1	27.9
All mining	z 88	290.8	305.8	307.9	312.4	277.0
		L	epletion			

Minor group	Number of corporations	1924	1926	1928
100	33	1756540	1321427	910419
101 ³	11*	1636121	1714201	1099695
102	9	249154	275771	294922
103	9	458585	185139	317959
104	15	33020075	37289664	45632181
105	11	3030608	1946750	2051535

J FEDERAL	INCOME INS (IN	CLUDING	EACESS PR	in millin	ne of doi	llare)		roka nong	, <i></i> a	•	
Minon	Number of		I.	*** *******	na 0j 401						
group	corporations	1919	<i>1920</i>	1921	1922	<i>1923</i>	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
100	33	2.20	9.37	2.33	1.60	1.96	.88	1.21	1.73	1.48	1.02
101	11	.60	1.99	.16	.07	.03	.11	.17	.49	.48	.66
102	9	.41	.72	.22	.41	.55	.54	.74	.84	.99	.64
103	9	.22	.36	.27	.38	.40	.39	.63	.74	.73	.58
104	15	1.39	2.24	.08	1.09	2.22	3.29	5.41	6.02	4.86	8.77
105	11	2.59	3.29	2.50	1.42	2.22	1.66	1,31	2.12	1.66	1.07
II mining	88	7.41	17.97	5.56	4.97	7.38	6.87	9.47	11.94	10.20	12.74
P) TOTAL G	035 INCOMB, 1919	-28, 346	FINANCIA	L CORPORA	TIONS						
P) TOTAL G	038 INCOMB, 1919	-28, 346	FINANCIA (L CORPORA in millio	NTIONS ns of doi	llars)					
P) TOTAL G Minor group	038 INCOMB, 1919 Number of corporations	-28, 346 <i>1919</i>	FINANCIA (1920	L CORPORA in millio 1921	ns of doi 1922	llars) 1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
e) TOTAL GI Minor group 106	088 INCOMB, 1919 Number of corporations 18	-28, 346 <i>1919</i> 12.5	FINANCIA (1920 18.0	L CORFORA in millio 1921 20.1	итіоня ns of doi 1922 23.0	llars) 1923 26.6	<i>1924</i> 29.0	<i>1925</i> 32.1	<i>1926</i> 34.0	<i>1927</i> 35.5	<i>1928</i> 35.1
P) TOTAL GI <i>Minor</i> group 106 107	OSS INCOME, 1919 Number of corporations 18 30	-28, 346 <i>1919</i> 12.5 33.6	FINANCIA (<i>1920</i> 18.0 49.2	L CORPORA in millio 1921 20.1 51.5	1922 1922 23.0 48.8	llars) 1923 26.6 53.9	<i>1924</i> 29.0 60.2	<i>1925</i> 32.1 63.8	<i>1926</i> 34.0 78.9	<i>1927</i> 35.5 100.9	<i>1928</i> 35.1 109.8
P) TOTAL GI <i>Minor</i> group 106 107 108	035 INCOMB, 1919 Number of corporations 18 30 105	-28, 346 <i>1919</i> 12.5 33.6 215.3	FINANCIA (1920 18.0 49.2 268.6	L CORPORA in millio 1921 20.1 51.5 258.4	1922 1922 23.0 48.8 211.5	llars) 1923 26.6 53.9 217.0	<i>1924</i> 29.0 60.2 222.8	<i>1925</i> 32.1 63.8 249.0	<i>1926</i> 34.0 78.9 277.8	<i>1927</i> 35.5 100.9 302.7	<i>1928</i> 35.1 109.8 337.0
 P) TOTAL GI Minor group 106 107 108 109 	035 INCOMB, 1919 Number of corporations 18 30 105 56	-28, 346 <i>1919</i> 12.5 33.6 215.3 87.6	FINANCIA (1920 18.0 49.2 268.6 107.6	L CORPORA in millio 1921 20.1 51.5 258.4 112.5	NTIONS <i>ns of doi</i> <i>1922</i> 23.0 48.8 211.5 94.7	<i>llars)</i> 1923 26.6 53.9 217.0 94.2	<i>1924</i> 29.0 60.2 222.8 102.4	<i>1925</i> 32.1 63.8 249.0 110.4	<i>1926</i> 34.0 78.9 277.8 123.2	<i>1927</i> 35.5 100.9 302.7 134.4	<i>1928</i> 35.1 109.8 337.0 149.5
 P) TOTAL GI Minor group 106 107 108 109 110 	035 INCOMB, 1919 Number of corporations 18 30 105 56	-28, 346 <i>1919</i> 12.5 33.6 215.3 87.6	FINANCIA (<i>1920</i> 18.0 49.2 268.6 107.6	L CORPORA in millio 1921 20.1 51.5 258.4 112.5	NTIONS ns of doi 1922 23.0 48.8 211.5 94.7	<i>llars)</i> 1923 26.6 53.9 217.0 94.2	<i>1924</i> 29.0 60.2 222.8 102.4	<i>1925</i> 32.1 63.8 249.0 110.4	<i>1926</i> 34.0 78.9 277.8 123.2	<i>1927</i> 35.5 100.9 302.7 134.4	<i>1928</i> 35.1 109.8 337.0 149.5
 *) TOTAL GI <i>Minor</i> group 106 107 108 109 110 111-1 	035 INCOMB, 1919 Number of corporations 18 30 105 56 10 137	-28, 346 <i>1919</i> 12.5 33.6 215.3 87.6 230.7	FINANCIA (<i>1920</i> 18.0 49.2 268.6 107.6 280.7	L CORFORA in millio 1921 20.1 51.5 258.4 112.5 261.2	лтіомя <i>ns of dol</i> <i>1922</i> 23.0 48.8 211.5 94.7 282.9	<i>llars)</i> 1923 26.6 53.9 217.0 94.2 310.7	<i>1924</i> 29.0 60.2 222.8 102.4 334.5	<i>1925</i> 32.1 63.8 249.0 110.4 386.6	<i>1926</i> 34.0 78.9 277.8 123.2 407.4	<i>1927</i> 35.5 100.9 302.7 134.4 401.4	<i>1928</i> 35.1 109.8 337.0 149.5 429.3

(a)	TOTAL NET	INCOME, 1919-	28, 346	FINANCIA	L CORPOR	TIONS							N
				(in millio	ns of do	llars)						ΡF
	Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	EN
	106	18	3.7	4.9	4.6	7.4	7.1	6.9	8.6	9.0	7.4	9.0	DI
	107	30	11.8	13.1	11.9	15.0	17.5	15.8	16.6	15.6	29.5	30.9	C
	108	105	86.0	99.7	62.0	78.6	74.6	67.7	72.0	85.1	86.6	101.3	E
	109 110	56	23.3	30.5	18.7	24.3	20.5	27.5	32.1	31.4	40.0	46.3	s
	111-110	137	57.8	52.6	42.9	75.2	66.6	74.9	91.7	92.4	98.5	116.1	
All f	finance	346	182.6	200.8	140.1	200.5	186.3	192.8	221.0	233.5	262.0	303.6	

(R) CAPITALIZATION, 1919-28, 346 FINANCIAL CORPORATIONS

			((in millio	ons of do	llars)					
Minor group	Number of corporations	<u>1919</u>	1920	1921	1922	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
106	18	31.0	35.0	40.3	45.5	53.2	57.7	64.3	67.7	75.3	80.2
107	30	60.4	85.9	102.5	111.0	124.7	140.6	143.2	197.9	297.4	380.6
108	105	487.2	596.4	691.6	650.6	750.5	738.6	789.0	879.8	956.7	1072.1
109	56	145.6	220.6	258.3	260.3	270.4	279.4	302.7	312.9	335.3	425.3
110											
111-110	137	494.7	661.3	712.1	581.9	694.9	679.3	754.5	796.0	898.1	973.5
All finance	346	1218.9	1599.2	1804.8	1649.3	1893.7	1895.6	2053.7	2254.3	2562.8	2931.7

[645]

[646]

INDUSTRIAL PROFITS

APPENDIX TABLE 6 (continued)

(\$) BONDED DEBT, 1924-28, 346 FINANCIAL CORPORATIONS

(in millions of dollars)

Minor group	Number of corporations	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928
106	- 18	.09		.82		
107	30	2.50	2.81	3.42	3.23	2.50
108	105	• •	.66	4.32		.47
109	56	3.13	4.92	4.69	.41	.25
110						
111-110	137	104.11	170.44	93.31	121.05	283.75
All financ	e 346	109.83	178.83	106.56	124.69	286.97

			Appen	dix Ta	BLE 6 (continue	d)					Þ
(T) FEDERAL INC	соме тах, 1919	-28, 346	FINANCIA	L CORPORA	TION8							ΡP
			(in millio	ns of do	llars)						EZ
Minor group	Number of corporations	1919	1920	1921	<i>1922</i>	1923	1924	1925	1926	1927	1928	DIC
106	18	.30	.56	-50	.49	.60	.56	.73	.70	.74	.56	ES
107	30	1.60	1.73	1.05	.82	.79	.85	.94	1.11	2.38	1.62	
108	105	11.27	14.38	5.89	4.53	3.27	3.39	4.79	5.51	6.23	-6.69	
109 110	56	1.89	4.02	1.42	1.69	1.39	1.70	2.64	2.63	3.91	4.02	
111-110	137.	6.82	5.62	5.42	7.08	6.88	7.58	10.30	10.26	10.91	11.70	
All finance	346	21.88	26.31	14.28	14.61	12.93	14.08	19.40	20.21	24.17	24.59	

³Absolute data for Book III appear in the Source-Book.

.

² Net loss.

⁴ Figures for minor group 101 include only 8 of the 11 corporations belonging to this group, because of lack of data for the other three corporations.

APPENDIX C

SUPPLEMENTARY FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS

.

.

APPENDIX TABLE 7

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF INDIVIDUAL TOTAL CAPITALS, LARGE IDENTICAL MANUFACTURING CORPORATIONS SERIES

Size of capital	1924	1928
(thousands of dollars)		
Zero to 249	37	31
250 to 499	193	156
500 to 749	237	203
750 to 999	224	173
1,000 to 1,499	297	290
1,500 to 1,999	174	180
2,000 to 2,499	125	137
2,500 to 2,999	104	105
3,000 to 3,499	59	99
3,500 to 3,999	57	61
4,000 to 4,499	41	43
4,500 to 4,999	49	43
5,000 to 9,999	179	209
10,000 to 14,999	71	89
15,000 to 19,999	43	46
20,000 to 24,999	22	32
25,000 to 49,999	68	67
50,000 and over	66	82
Total frequencies	2,046	2,046

[649]

FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF PERCENTAGE OF NET INCOME TO CAPITALIZATION, INDIVIDUAL COMPANIES OF LARGE IDENTICAL CORPORATIONS SERIES, COMPARED WITH DISTRIBUTION OF PERCENTAGE PROFIT TO TOTAL CAPITAL, 1928 Major grave 1

	Major y	group 1	Major g	тоцр 2	Major g	roup 3	Major	group 4	
CLASS INTERVAL	PERCENTAGE NET INCOME TO CAPITAL-	PERCENT- AGB PROFIT TO TOTAL	PERCENTAGE NET INCOME TO CAPITAL-	PERCENT- AGE PROFIT TO TOTAL	PERCENTAGE NET INCOME TO CAPITAL-	PERCENT- AGE PROFIT TO TOTAL	PERCENTAGE NET INCOME TO CAPITAL-	PERCENT- AGE PROFIT TO TOTAL	
(PER CENT)	IZATION	CAPITAL	IZATION	CAPITAL	12ATION	CAPITAL	IZATION	CAPITAL	
Under zero	4	4	16	16	5	5	6	б	
Zero to 4	22	23	70	71	6	6	4	4	
5 to 9	53	54	83	82	15	15	5	5	
10 to 14	53	56	60	62	16	16	6	7	
15 to 19	38	36	33	32	10	10	2	2	
20 to 24	24	22	9	10	2	2	1	••	
25 to 29	9	8	12	11	••		1*	1	H
30 to 34	4	4	2	2			1	1	Z
35 to 39	2	2	2	2		• •		• • •	Ð
40 to 44	1	1			• •	••			d
45 to 49	1	1	2	1				• •	ŝ
• 50 to 54			•						- 2
55 to 59	2	2							: 2
60 to 64					• • •				₽
65 to 69									E
70 to 74									
75 to 79									
80 to 84								••	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
85 to 89	•						• •	••	. ŭ
90 to 94	1		••		••	••	• •	••	Ē
95 to 99	•	•	••	••	••	••	••	••	ਸ
75 (0 77	• •	••	••		••	• •	• •	••	6

PUBLICATIONS OF THE

NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH

•1.	INCOME IN THE UNITED STATES	
	By WESLEY C. MITCHELL, WILLFORD I. KING, FREDE	RICK R. MACAULAY
	AND OSWALD W. KNAUTH	
	Volume I (1921) Summary	152 pp.
2.	Volume II (1922) Details .	440 pp.
3.	DISTRIBUTION OF INCOME BY STATES IN 191	g (1922)
	By Oswald W. Knauth	30 pp., \$1.30
•4.	BUSINESS CYCLES AND UNEMPLOYMENT (192	8)
-	By the NATIONAL BUREAU STAFF and 16 COLLABORAT	ORS 405 pp., \$4.10
•5	EMPLOYMENT, HOURS AND EARNINGS IN PE	OSPERITY AND
-	DEPRESSION, UNITED STATES, 1920-22 (1923)	
	By WILLFORD I. KING	147 PP.
6.	THE GROWTH OF AMERICAN TRADE UNIONS	, 1880-1923 (1924)
	By Leo Wolman	170 pp., \$2.50
7.	INCOME IN THE VARIOUS STATES: ITS SOU	RCES AND DIS-
•	TRIBUTION, 1919, 1920 AND 1921 (1925)	
	By MAURICE LEVEN	306 pp., \$3.50
8.	BUSINESS ANNALS (1926)	
	By WILLARD L. THORP, with an introductory chapt	er, Business Cycles
	as Revealed by Business Annals, by Wesley C. M	ITCHELL
	· · · /	380 pp., \$2.50
g.	MIGRATION AND BUSINESS CYCLES (1926)	• • • • •
•	By HARRY JEROME	256 pp., \$2.50
10.	BUSINESS CYCLES: THE PROBLEM AND ITS S	ETTING (1927)
	By WESLEY C. MITCHELL	489 pp., \$5.00
•11.	THE BEHAVIOR OF PRICES (1927)	
	By FREDERICK C. MILLS	598 pp.
12.	TRENDS IN PHILANTHROPY (1928)	
	By WILLFORD I. KING	78 pp., \$1.00
13.	RECENT ECONOMIC CHANGES (1929)	
•	By the NATIONAL BUREAU STAFF and 15 COLLABOR	ATORS
	2 vol., 950	pp., per set, \$7.50
14.	INTERNATIONAL MIGRATIONS	
	Volume I, Statistics (1929), compiled by IMRE FERE	NCZI of the Inter-
	national Labour Office, and edited by WALTER F.	WILLCOX
	•	1,112 pp., \$7.00
18.	Volume 11, Interpretations (1931), edited by WA	LTER F. WILLCOX
		715 pp., \$5.00
•15.	THE NATIONAL INCOME AND ITS PURCHASE	ING POWER
	(1930)	
	By WILLFORD I. KING	394 pp.
• /	Just of the int	
- (rut of print.	

16.	CORPORATION CONTRIBUTIONS TO ORGANIZE	D COMM	UN-
	ITY WELFARE SERVICES (1930)		
	By PIERCE WILLIAMS and FREDERICK E. CROXTON	347 PP., \$	2.00
17.	PLANNING AND CONTROL OF PUBLIC WORKS	(1930)	
	By Leo Wolman	260 pp., \$	2.50
19.	THE SMOOTHING OF TIME SERIES (1931)		•
	By FREDERICK R. MACAULAY	172 pp., \$	2.00
20.	THE PURCHASE OF MEDICAL CARE THROUGH	FIXED PE	ERI-
	ODIC PAYMENT (1932)		
	By PIERCE WILLIAMS	308 pp., \$	3.00
21.	ECONOMIC TENDENCIES IN THE UNITED STAT	ES: ASPE	ČTS
	OF PRE-WAR AND POST-WAR CHANGES (1932)		
	By FREDERICK C. MILLS	639 pp., \$	5.00
22.	SEASONAL VARIATIONS IN INDUSTRY AND TRA	DE (1933)	-
	By SIMON KUZNETS	455 pp., \$	4.00
23.	PRODUCTION TRENDS IN THE UNITED STATE	S SINCE	870
~	(1934)		
	By ARTHUR F. BURNS	363 pp., \$	3.50
24.	STRATEGIC FACTORS IN BUSINESS CYCLES (1934	4)	
	By John Maurice Clark	238 pp., \$	1.50
25.	GERMAN BUSINESS CYCLES, 1924–1933 (1934)		
	By CARL T. SCHMIDT	288 pp., \$	2.50
26.	INDUSTRIAL PROFITS IN THE UNITED STATES	(1934)	
	By Ralph C. Epstein	672 pp., \$	5.00
27.	MECHANIZATION IN INDUSTRY (1934)		
	By Harry Jerome	400 pp., \$	3.50

THE BULLETIN

Subscriptions to the National Bureau Bulletin (5 issues, \$1) may begin with any of the following numbers:

- 48. ASPECTS OF RECENT PRICE MOVEMENTS, F. C. MILLS (Oct. 31, 1933)
- 49. NATIONAL INCOME, 1929-32, SIMON KUZNETS (rev. ed., June 7, 1934)
- 50. RÉCENT CORPORATE PROFITS, SOLOMON FABRICANT (April 18, 1934)
- 51. RECENT CHANGES IN PRODUCTION, C. A. BLISS (June 28, 1934)
- 52. GROSS CAPITAL FORMATION, 1919-33, SIMON KUZNETS (Nov. 15, 1934)

